
Please Note:  Board Agendas, Back-up Documentation, and Attachments are Available at the Lakeside Union School District Office (12335 
Woodside Avenue, Lakeside, CA) in the Lobby or Upon Request or Can be Viewed at www.lsusd.net.

LLAAKKEESSIIDDEE  UUNNIIOONN  SSCCHHOOOOLL  DDIISSTTRRIICCTT  
Office of the Superintendent 

12335 Woodside Avenue 
Lakeside, California 92040 

(619) 390-2600
October 10, 2024 

Closed Session: 5:15 p.m. 
Open Session: 6:00 p.m. 

NOTICE OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

Members of the public who require disability modification or accommodation in order to participate in the meeting should contact the 
Superintendent’s Office at (619) 390-2606 or in writing, at least twenty-four (24) hours before the meeting.  (Government Code section 54954.2).  

If you wish to speak under Public Comment, complete the Public Comment Form. Advance written information regarding the subject will be 
appreciated so that all might be better informed regarding the matter. In the interest of time and order, presentations from the public are limited to 
four (4) minutes per person. 

A. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL – 5:15 PM

B. OPPORTUNITY FOR MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC TO ADDRESS THE BOARD ON ANY ITEM
DESCRIBED IN THIS NOTICE (GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 54954.3) Public Comment Form
Opportunity for Members of the Public to address the Board on any item on the agenda. In the interest of time and order,
presentations from the public are limited to four (4) minutes per person. An individual speaker's allotted time may not be
increased by a donation of time from members of the public in attendance. If you wish to speak under Public Comment
or Public Hearings, follow the directions for speaking to agenda items as listed above.

C. CLOSED SESSION

1. Conference with Labor Negotiator, Lisa Davis, regarding the California School Employees
Association and its Chapter 240, pursuant to Government Code §54957.6; and

2. Conference with Labor Negotiator, Lisa Davis, regarding the Lakeside Teachers Association,
pursuant to Government Code §54957.6; and

3. Conference with Legal Counsel-Anticipated Litigation, significant exposure to litigation pursuant
to paragraph (2) of subdivision (d) of Government Code Section §54956.9: (1 case)

4. Public Employee Evaluation, Superintendent, pursuant to Government Code §54957.

D. OPENING PROCEDURES – 6:00 PM

1. Reconvene
2. Welcome Visitors
3. Closed Session Report
4. The Pledge of Allegiance will be led by students from Lemon Crest. Following the pledge,

Principal, Jennifer Price, will share highlights from the school.

E. TRUSTEE REPORTS AND COMMENTS

Trustees will report and comment as desired.

F. OPPORTUNITY FOR MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC TO ADDRESS THE BOARD ON ANY ITEM
DESCRIBED IN THIS NOTICE (GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 54954.3) Public Comment Form
Opportunity for Members of the Public to address the Board on any item on the agenda. In the interest of time and order,
presentations from the public are limited to four (4) minutes per person. An individual speaker's allotted time may not be
increased by a donation of time from members of the public in attendance. If you wish to speak under Public Comment
or Public Hearings, follow the directions for speaking to agenda items as listed above.

http://www.lsusd.net/
https://docs.google.com/forms/d/1uO3kAFtNXcOvdsYA8LpoUYtWAnr6AsYuAVw86sKM0a8/edit
https://docs.google.com/forms/d/1uO3kAFtNXcOvdsYA8LpoUYtWAnr6AsYuAVw86sKM0a8/edit
https://docs.google.com/forms/d/1uO3kAFtNXcOvdsYA8LpoUYtWAnr6AsYuAVw86sKM0a8/edit


Lakeside Union School District  
Board of Trustees Agenda 
October 10, 2024 

“Igniting Passion in Today’s Students for Tomorrow’s Opportunities” 2 

G. PUBLIC HEARINGS/ACTION ITEMS

1. PUBLIC HEARING: At 6:30 p.m., the Governing Board will conduct a public hearing to receive
input from the public regarding the availability of textbooks and/or instructional materials for the
fiscal year 2024-2025.

2. Adoption is requested of Resolution No. 2024-05, determining that every pupil has sufficient
textbooks or instructional materials in each of the following subjects that are consistent with the
content and cycles of the curriculum and framework adopted by the State Board of Education:
Mathematics; Science, History-Social Science; and Reading/Language Arts.

H. ITEMS OF BUSINESS

1.1 Designate consent agenda items. 
Note: Consent agenda items are generally routine items of business. The Board will designate those 
items to be approved as a whole unless a member of the public requests consideration of an item on 
an individual basis. The Board will review and act on the remaining items of business. 

1.2 Discussion/adoption of consent agenda items. 

SUPERINTENDENT 

2.1 Adoption is requested of the minutes of the regular board meeting of September 12, 2024, and the 
special board meeting of September 16, 2024. 

2.2 Adoption is requested of Resolution No. 2025-07, authorizing the District to enter into a contract 
with the California Department of Education for Child Development Services and authorizing the 
Superintendent to sign the contract documents for the fiscal year 2024-25. 

2.3 Adoption is requested of Resolution No. 2025-05, declaring the week of October 21-25, 2024, as 
Red Ribbon Week in the Lakeside Union School District. The District encourages the community 
to participate in drug prevention education activities, making a visible statement that we are firmly 
committed to a drug-free, tobacco and alcohol-abuse-free community. 

HUMAN RESOURCES 

3.1 Approval/Ratification is requested of Personnel Assignment Order 2025-05. 

BUSINESS SERVICES 

4.1 Approval is requested of the following monthly business reports: A) Commercial Warrants; B) 
Revolving Cash; C) Purchase Orders and Change Orders; and D) Purchase Card Expenditures. 

4.2 Approval of amendment 1 and Resolution No. 2025-04 for RFQ 2024-008F, Gold Star Foods, as a 
secondary vendor.  

4.3 Approval of fresh produce award to American Produce through RFQ 2024-08F in the approximate 
amount of $100,000.  

4.4 Approval of Change Order #2, American Modular Systems (AMS), credit of $3,920 at Lakeside 
Farms Elementary ESS and credit of $3,290 at Lakeview Elementary ESS.  



Lakeside Union School District  
Board of Trustees Agenda 
October 10, 2024 

“Igniting Passion in Today’s Students for Tomorrow’s Opportunities” 3 

H. BUSINESS SERVICES (CONTINUED)

4.5 Approval of Change Orders #1-6 to GEM Technology Building Project in the amount of 
$28,180.23.  

4.6 Approval of Change Order #1R to GEM Industrial for Lakeside Farms ESS in the amount of 
$25,653.50.  

4.7 Approval of Change Order #1 to GEM Industrial for Lakeview ESS in the amount of $27,023.30. 

4.8 Approval of Change Orders #1-4 to GEM TDS Fence Project in the amount of $13,460.12. 

4.9 Approval of Change Order #7 to GEM Industrial Central Kitchen Project in the amount of 
$1,515.25.  

4.10 Approval of Settlement Agreement OAH Case No. 2024080040 in the amount of $8,800. 

4.11 Approval of Climatec Notice of Final Completion for solar and controls, lighting, mechanical, 
roofing and transformers.  

4.12 Approval is requested of the following annual contracts for the 2024-2025 school year: A) Sandy 
Hook Promise (Pupil Services), Cornerstone Educational Solutions (SPED), Global Captioning 
Solutions, Inc (SPED), Specialized Education of California-Sierra School of San Diego (SPED), 
Jostens PIX (LMS), TIEE-Children’s Workshop (SPED), TIEE-Mission Valley Academy (SPED), 
Helen Woodward Animal Center (Lindo Park), Amergis Healthcare Staffing (SPED), Oak Grove 
Institute (SPED), Ambrosia Travel, LLC (LMS), Soliant Health LLC (SPED), West Shield 
Adolescent Services (SPED), Empowerment Through Outreach & Urban Redevelopment 
(DETOUR) (Pupil Services), WestEd-CalSCHLS (SPED), Knotts Berry Farm (TDS/LMS), Gold 
Star Foods (Amendment No. 1) (Child Nutrition), Grossmont College Theater Arts (DREAM), 
Jostens (LMS), Atkinson, Andelson, Loya, Ruud & Romo (Business Services), Consulting & 
Inspection Services (MAINT), Jennifer Perrault (Pupil Services), Patrice Ruppel (Pupil Services).    

4.13 Approval for an out-of-county field trip for LMS and TDS for the Band and Orchestra to perform 
at Knotts Berry Farm on March 11, 2025.  

EDUCATION SERVICES 

5.1 Approval is requested for the 2024-25 School Plans for Student Achievement (SPSA), which were 
presented to the Board at a special board meeting on September 16, 2024. 

5.2 Approval is requested of the Comprehensive School Safety Plans (CSSP) for each school site for 
the 2024-25 school year. 

BOARD POLICIES, REGULATIONS, BYLAWS AND/OR EXHIBITS 

6.1 Adoption of Board Policy and Administrative Regulation 4030: Nondiscrimination in Employment 

6.2 Adoption of Board Policy and Administrative Regulation 4119.11/4219.11/4319.11: Sex 
Discrimination and Sex-Based Harassment  



Lakeside Union School District  
Board of Trustees Agenda 
October 10, 2024 

“Igniting Passion in Today’s Students for Tomorrow’s Opportunities” 4 

I. DISCUSSION ITEMS

1. Enrollment Report for Month 1 (8/19/24-9/13/24)
2. 2nd Reading, Board Policy 4033: Lactation Accommodation
3. 2nd Reading, Administrative Regulation and Exhibit E (1): 4119.12/4219.12/4319.12: Title IX Sex

Discrimination and Sex-Based Harassment Complaint Procedures
4. 1st Reading, Board Policy and Administrative Regulation 1114: District-Sponsored social media
5. 1st Reading, Administrative Regulation 3580: District Records
6. 1st Reading, Board Policy 6158: Independent Study

J. REPORTS TO THE BOARD

1. Union Representatives:
A. Kerry Strong, will present comments as the Lakeside Teachers Association President.
B. David Myers, will present comments as the California School Employees Association

President.

2. District Superintendents
A. Lisa Davis will present business and operations updates.
B. Robin Ballarin will present human resources updates.
C. Dr. Natalie Winspear will present educational services updates.
D. Dr. Rhonda Taylor will present closing comments.

K. ADJOURNMENT

Respectfully Submitted, 

Rhonda L. Taylor, Ed.D. 
Superintendent 



Administration: Board of Trustees: 

RHONDA L. TAYLOR, Ed.D. JIM BENNETT 
  Superintendent AUTUMN ELLENSON 
NATALIE WINSPEAR, Ed.D. ANDREW HAYES 
  Assistant Superintendent LARA HOEFER MOIR 
LISA DAVIS RON KASPER 
  Assistant Superintendent 
ROBIN BALLARIN 
 Assistant Superintendent 

Igniting Passion in Today's Students for Tomorrow's Opportunities! 
 12335 Woodside Avenue ● Lakeside, California  92040 

DISTRICT OFFICE 619.390.2600 ● FAX 619.561.7929 ● http://www.lsusd.net 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

For Sufficiency of Instructional Materials and Textbooks 
For the 2024-2025 School Year  

POSTED September 27, 2024 

PURPOSE: The Lakeside Union School District will conduct a Public Hearing for the Sufficiency of 
Instructional Materials and Textbooks required by Education Code 60119. 

The hearing gives the public an opportunity to comment on the sufficiency of textbooks and 
educational materials.  

DATE:  October 10, 2024 

TIME:  6:30 p.m.  

LOCATION:  Lakeside Union School District 
District Office  
12335 Woodside Ave.  
Lakeside, CA 92040  
Agenda to be published 10/4/2024 

Purpose: Public Hearing, Education Code 60119 

September 27, 2024 Rhonda L. Taylor, Ed.D. 
Secretary to the Board  

http://www.lusd.lsusd.net/




Administration: 

RHONDA L. TAYLOR, Ed.D. 
Superintendent 

NATALIE WINSPEAR, Ed.D. 
Assistant Superintendent 

LISA DAVIS 
Assistant Superintendent 

ROBIN BALLARIN 
Assistant Superintendent 

LAKESIDE 
I UNION SCHOOL DISTRICT! 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-06 

Board of Trustees: 

JIM BENNETT 
AUTUMN ELLENSON 

ANDREW HAYES 
LARA HOEFER MOIR 

RON KASPER 

RESOLUTION DETERMINING SUFFICIENCY OF INSTRUCTIONAL MATERIALS 
FISCAL YEAR 2024-2025 

WHEREAS, in order to receive state instructional materials funds, the Lakeside Union School District 
Governing Board is required by Education Code Section 60119 to hold a public hearing and adopt a resolution 
by the eighth week of the school year, determining that EVERY pupil has sufficient textbooks or instructional 
materials in each of the following subjects that are consistent with the content and cycles of the curriculum 
framework adopted by the State Board of Education: mathematics, science, history-social science, 
reading/language arts. 

WHEREAS, the Governing Board provided at least 10 days' notice of the public hearing posted in at 
least three public places within the district that stated the time, place and purpose of the hearing, and; 

WHEREAS, as part of the required hearing, the Governing Board must also make a written determination 
as to whether each pupil enrolled in a world language or health course has sufficient textbooks or instructional 
materials that are consistent with the content and cycles of the curriculum frameworks adopted by the state 
board for those subjects. 

WHEREAS, "sufficient textbooks or instructional materials," means that each pupil, including English 
learners, has a textbook or instructional materials, or both, to use in class and to take home to complete required 
homework assignments. This does not require two sets of textbooks or instructional materials for each pupil. 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that for the 2024-25 school year, the Governing Board hereby 
determines, as required by Education Code Section 60119, that the school district has provided each pupil with 
sufficient textbooks and instructional materials aligned to the academic content standards and consistent with 
the cycles and content of the curriculum frameworks in the following areas: 

1. Mathematics
2. Science
3. History-Social Science
4. Reading/Language Arts, including the English language development component of an adopted

program
5. Health
6. World Language

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Board of Trustees of the Lakeside Union School District at Lakeside, 
California, this 10"' day of October 2024 by the following vote: 

Igniting Passion in Today's Students for Tomorrow's Opportunities! 
12335 Woodside Avenue • Lakeside, California 92040 

DISTRICT OFFICE 619.390.2600 • FAX 619.561.7929 • http://www.lsusd.net 



AYES: 

NOES: 

ABSENT: 

I, Jim Bennett, Clerk of the Governing Board of the Lakeside Union School District of San Diego County, 
California, do hereby certify that the foregoing is a full and correct copy of a resolution duly passed and adopted 
by said board at the regularly called and conducted meeting held on said date. 

Clerk of the Governing Board 





Administration: Board of Trustees: 

RHONDA L. TAYLOR, Ed.D. 
Superintendent 

NATALIE WINSPEAR, Ed.D. 
Assistant Superintendent 

LISA DAVIS 

(. 
LAKESIDE 

JIM BENNETT 
AUTUMN ELLENSON 

ANDREW HA YES 
LARA HOEFER MOIR 

RON KASPER 
Assistant Superintendent 

ROBIN BALLARIN 
Assistant Superintendent 

f UNION SCHOOL DISTRICT! 

Minutes o f  the Regular Meeting o f  the Board o f  Trustees 
September 12, 2024 

District Administration Center 

A. The regular meeting of the Lakeside Union School District Board of Trustees was called to 
order at 5:00 p.m. by Andrew Hayes, President with the following members present: Lara
Hoefer Moir, Vice President; Jim Bennett, Clerk; Autumn Ellenson, Member; and Ron Kasper,
Member. Also in attendance were Dr. Natalie Winspear, Assistant Superintendent; Robin
Ballarin, Assistant Superintendent; and Lisa Davis, Assistant Superintendent. Rachel Camarero
was present to record the minutes. Dr. Rhonda Taylor was not present for the meeting.

Call to Order 

Public 
B. There were two requests to speak to the Board prior to Closed Session regarding closed Comments 

campuses and the language immersion programs and a thank you from the technology
department for the new building.

C. At 5:07 p.m., the Governing Board moved to a closed session to discuss the following: 1) Closed Session
Conference with Labor Negotiator, Lisa Davis, regarding the California School Employees
Association and its Chapter 240, pursuant to Government Code §54957.6; 2) Conference with
Labor Negotiator, Lisa Davis, regarding the Lakeside Teachers Association, pursuant to 
Government Code §54957.6; 3) Conference with Legal Counsel - Existing Litigation -
(paragraph 1 of subdivision D of Government Code § 54956.9 (CSEA Grievance).

D. The Board reconvened at 6:00 p.m. President Hayes welcomed visitors and stated the Board Reconvene 
would move back into closed session at the end of the meeting. Welcome Visitors 

Carly Camarero, a student from the Extended Student Services program, led the pledge of ESS Spotlight 
allegiance. Following the pledge, Manager Jerred Murphy shared highlights from the program, 
such as over 500 kids for summer, 15 different rotations, 1200 students enrolled this school 
year, a collaboration with The Art Dude: bringing art into ESS at the middle schools. Mr. 
Murphy wanted to recognize the Lakeside Farms and Lakeview staff for their help with the 
transition to the new ESS buildings. Mem her Ron Kasper commented on how great the program 
was for our families in the District. 

E. Clerk Bennett had no formal report. Trustee Reports 
and Comments 

Member Ellenson attended the District kick-off a few weeks ago and commented that speaker 
Devin Siebold was great. She also attended the "clap-out" for Todd Owens and commented 
that it was emotionally impactful. 

Member Kasper commented that the District kick-off was a great morale booster for the 
District. He mentioned he attended the annual 9-11 Memorial ceremony in Lakeside and 
encouraged the public to attend the upcoming Fire Department Open House on 9/28. 

Vice President Hoefer Moir attended the District's first Wellness Committee Meeting and 
commented that the District is looking at adding a middle school component this year. 



Lakeside Union School District 
Board of Trustees Regular Meeting 
September 12, 2024 

President Hayes expressed his thanks to District staff for attending the Kiwanis dinner to honor 
Principal Steve Mull. He also mentioned his thanks to Todd Owens for his faithful service to 
the District for so many years. President Hayes attended Lakeview's Back to School night as 
well as the 9-11 Memorial ceremony in Lakeside. He commented that we had not heard back 
from the Air Pollution District regarding the District's formal letter and would follow up. 

F. There were no requests to speak to the Board.

G. 1. Assistant Superintendent Lisa Davis presented information on the 2023-2024
Unaudited Actuals. The report contains the financial results for the fiscal year ending 
June 30, 2024, and is subject to audit by the District's independent auditor. She 
commented that the 3-year rolling average for ADA has helped the district. A new 
requirement of GASB 96, an internal accounting journal entry, was part of the 
financials this year. The Bond fund is officially at $0 at year-end, and the Developer 
Fee Fund is expected to grow this upcoming year with a new development in Lakeside. 

2. It was moved by Vice President Hoefer Moir and seconded by Member Ellenson to 
approve the 2023-2024 Unaudited Actuals reporting the financial results for the fiscal
year ending June 30, 2024. Motion carried unanimously 5:0 (Ayes: Bennett, Ellenson,
Hayes, Hoefer Moir, Kasper).

Public 
Comments 

Unaudited 
Actuals 

Presentation 

Approve the 
2023-24 

Unaudited 
Actuals 

H. 1t was moved by Member Ellenson and seconded by Vice President Hoefer Moir to designate Consent Agenda
all Items of  Business to the consent agenda with the exception ofltems 2.2, 4.4, 4.5 and 4.10.
The motion carried unanimously to designate Items of Business 2.1, 2.3, 3 .1, 4.1, 4.2, 4.3, 4.6,
4.7, 4.8, 4.9, 5.1, 5.2, 5.3, 6.1, 6.2. 6.3, and 6.4 to the consent agenda.

1.1 It was moved by Vice President Hoefer Moir and seconded by Member Ellenson to 
adopt the following items of business: 

1.2 There was no discussion on items. 

SUPERINTENDENT 

Items of 
Business 

Discussion 

2.1 A motion to adopt the minutes of  the regular board meeting of  August 1, 2024, and the Adopt Minutes 
regular board meeting of August 8, 2024. 

2.3 A motion to adopt the revised 2025-2026 school and employee calendar. This reflects 
a minor change to the report card dates and minimum days added to middle schools in 
March. 

HUMAN RESOURCES 

3 .1 A motion to approve/ratify Personnel Assignment Order 2025-03. 

BUSINESS SERVICES 

4.1 A motion to approve the following monthly business reports: A) Commercial Warrants; 
B) Revolving Cash C) Purchase Orders and Change Orders; and D) Purchase Card
Expenditures.

Adopt Revised 
2025-26 
Calendar 

Approve PAO 

Approve Bus 
Reports 

2 





















































































































































































































































 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 1 of 50 9/30/24 
 

 
 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 
 

2024-2025 
School Year 

 
 

School: Lakeside Union Alternative Education "DREAM Academy" 

CDS Code:  37 68189 6107742 

District: Lakeside Union Elementary School District 

Address:  11838 Valle Vista Rd. 
Lakeside, CA 92040 

Date of Adoption: 9/19/2024 

Date of Update:  

Date of Review:  

   - with Staff 8/16/2024 

   - with Law Enforcement  

   - with Fire Authority  
 

Approved by: 
Name Title Signature Date 

Brooke Dexheimer Principal 

 

 

Orit McConnell SSC Chairperson 

 

 

Kim Minden Classified Rep/Secretary 

 

 

Victoria Jones Teacher 

 

 

Theresa Gloss Parent 

 

 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2 of 50 9/30/24 
 

Name Title Signature Date 

Sarah Murray Parent 

 

 

 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 3 of 50 9/30/24 
 

 
Table of Contents 

 
Comprehensive School Safety Plan Purpose ..............................................................................................................................................5 

Safety Plan Vision .......................................................................................................................................................................................5 

(A) Child Abuse Reporting Procedures (EC 35294.2 [a] [2]; PC 11166) ..................................................................................................7 

(B) Disaster Procedures (EC 35295-35297; GC 8607 and 3100) .............................................................................................................8 

(C) School Suspension, Expulsion and Mandatory Expulsion Guidelines .............................................................................................19 

(D) Procedures to Notify Teachers of Dangerous Pupils (EC 49079) ....................................................................................................22 

(E) Sexual Harassment Policies (EC 212.6 [b]) ......................................................................................................................................23 

(F) School-wide Dress Code Relating to Gang-Related Apparel (EC 35183) .........................................................................................26 

(G) Procedure for Safe Ingress and Egress of Pupils, Parents, and Staff to and from School (EC 35294.2) .........................................27 

(I) School Discipline Rules and Consequences (EC 35291 and EC 35291.5) .........................................................................................27 

(J) Procedures to Prepare for Active Shooters .....................................................................................................................................30 

Procedures for Preventing Acts of Bullying and Cyber-bullying ...........................................................................................................30 

Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures .................................................................................................................31 

Safety Plan Appendices ............................................................................................................................................................................32 

Emergency Contact Numbers ..............................................................................................................................................................33 

Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures .............................................................................................................34 

Lakeside Union Alternative Education "DREAM Academy" Incident Command System .....................................................................35 

Incident Command Team Responsibilities ...........................................................................................................................................36 

Emergency Response Guidelines .........................................................................................................................................................37 

Step One: Identify the Type of Emergency ..........................................................................................................................................37 

Step Two: Identify the Level of Emergency ..........................................................................................................................................37 

Step Three: Determine the Immediate Response Action ....................................................................................................................37 

Step Four: Communicate the Appropriate Response Action ...............................................................................................................37 

Types of Emergencies & Specific Procedures .......................................................................................................................................38 

Armed Assault on Campus ...............................................................................................................................................................38 

Biological or Chemical Release .........................................................................................................................................................38 

Bomb Threat/ Threat Of violence ....................................................................................................................................................44 

Earthquake .......................................................................................................................................................................................45 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 4 of 50 9/30/24 
 

Fire in Surrounding Area ..................................................................................................................................................................45 

Fire on School Grounds ....................................................................................................................................................................46 

Loss or Failure Of Utilities ................................................................................................................................................................46 

Psychological Trauma .......................................................................................................................................................................47 

Tactical Responses to Criminal Incidents .........................................................................................................................................48 

Emergency Evacuation Map .................................................................................................................................................................50 

 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 5 of 50 9/30/24 
 

 
Comprehensive School Safety Plan Purpose 
 
Effective January 1, 2019, Assembly Bill 1747 (Rodriguez), School Safety Plans, became law. This bill requires that during the writing 
and development of the comprehensive school safety plan (CSSP), the school site council or safety committee consult with a fire 
department and other first responder entities in addition to currently required entities. It requires the CSSP and any updates made 
to the plan to be shared with the law enforcement agency, the fire department, and the other first responder entities. 
 
The California Education Code (sections 32280-32288) outlines the requirements of all schools operating any kindergarten and any 
grades 1 to 12, inclusive, to write and develop a school safety plan relevant to the needs and resources of that particular school. 
 
In 2004, the Legislature and Governor recast and renumbered the Comprehensive School Safety Plan provisions in SB 719 and AB 
115. It is the intent ofthe Legislature in enacting the provisions to support California public schools as they develop their mandated 
comprehensive safety plans that are the result of a systematic planning process, that include strategies aimed at the prevention of, 
and education about, potential incidents involving crime and violence on school campuses. 
 
The historical requirement of the Comprehensive School Safety Plan was presented in Senate Bill 187, which was approved by the 
Governor and chaptered in 1997. This legislation contained a sunset clause that stated that this legislation would remain in effect 
only until January I, 2000. Senate Bill 334 was approved and chaptered in 1999 and perpetuated this legislation under the 
requirement of the initial legislation. 
 
Comprehensive School Safety Plans are required under SB 719 & AB 115 and contains the following elements: 
 
Assessment of school crime committed on school campuses and at school-related functions 

• Child abuse reporting procedures 
• Disaster procedures 
• Suspension and expulsion policies 
• Procedures to notify teachers of dangerous pupils 
• Discrimination and harassment policies 
• School wide dress code policies 
• Procedures for safe ingress and egress 
• Policies enacted to maintain a safe and orderly environment 
• Rules and procedures on school discipline 
• Hate crime reporting procedures 

 
The Comprehensive School Safety Plan will be reviewed and updated by March 1st every year. In July of every year, the school will 
report on the status of its school safety plan including a description of its key elements in the annual school accountability report 
card. 
 
A copy of the Comprehensive School Safety Plan is available for review at . 
 
Safety Plan Vision 
The Comprehensive School Safety Plan Process & Templates is designed to be utilized as a school resource for 
prevention/mitigation, preparedness, response and recovery planning and training as well as functioning as a template for meeting 
the requirements for the annual Safety Plan Process under SB 187 and the National incident Management System. It is designed to 
be an electronic or hard-copy Safety Plan. The template is also designed as a living document to be updated as necessary to meet 
site, district and community needs, forms or requirements. 
 
Individual schools in districts over 2,500 students must adopt a comprehensive school safety plan by March 1, 2000, and must 
review and update the plan by March 1 of every year thereafter. (Amended Ed. Codes 35294.1 & 35294.6) 
 
Beginning July 1, 2000, each individual school must report on the status of its school safety plan, including a description of its key 
elements in the school accountability report card, and must continue to do so every July thereafter. (Amended Ed. Code 35294.6) 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 6 of 50 9/30/24 
 

The following guideline may be utilized to support the annual review and evaluation of the individual school safety plan. This guide 
will also provide a time line and related administrative tasks to provide a process to ensure compliance with the requirements of 
Senate Bill 187, Comprehensive School Safety Plan. 
 
The guideline/checklist has been organized into two parts: 
 
An assessment by the School Safety Planning Committee of the School Site Council, the School Site Council or equivalent of the 
school climate in relation to the current status of school crime committed on campus and at school related functions. Based on this 
assessment, safety goals will be set for the upcoming school year 
 
The annual review and evaluation of the school comprehensive safety plan which is certified by the members of the School Safety 
Planning Committee, the School Site Council President, and the school Principal before being presented to the Board of Trustees for 
final review and adoption. This review includes the following mandated components of Senate Bill 187: 
 
Child Abuse reporting procedures 
Policies pursuant to Education Code 48915(c) and other school-designated serious acts which would 
lead to suspension, expulsion, or mandatory expulsion recommendations 
Procedures to notify teachers and counselors of dangerous students 
Sexual Harassment Policy 
Safe ingress and egress to and from school 
Rules and procedures on school discipline in order to create a safe and orderly environment conducive to learning 
Dress Code 
Routine and emergency disaster procedures including natural disasters, human created disasters or power outages. 
 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 7 of 50 9/30/24 
 

 
(A) Child Abuse Reporting Procedures (EC 35294.2 [a] [2]; PC 11166) 
A. Definition of Child Abuse 
 
Child abuse means a physical injury that is inflicted by other than accidental on a child by another person. Child Abuse also means 
the sexual abuse of a child or any act or omission pertaining to child abuse reporting laws (willful cruelty, unjustifiable punishment of 
a child, unlawful corporal punishment or injury). Child abuse also means the physical or emotional neglect of a child or abuse in out-
of-home care. 
 
1. Child Abuse 
Injury inflicted by another person 
Sexual Abuse 
Neglect of child's physical, health, and emotional needs. 
Unusual and willful cruelty; unjustifiable punishment. Unlawful corporal punishment. 
 
2. Not Considered Child Abuse 
Mutual affray between minors 
Injury caused by reasonable and necessary force used by a peace officer: 
To quell a disturbance threatening physical injury to a person or damage property 
To prevent physical injury to another person or damage to property 
For purposes of self-defense 
To obtain possession of weapons or other dangerous objects within the control of a child To apprehend an escapee 
 
B. Mandated Child Abuse Reporting 
Any child care custodian, health practitioner, or employee of a child protective agency who has knowledge of or observes a child in 
his or her professional capacity or within the scope of his or her employment whom he or she knows or reasonably suspects has 
been the victim of child abuse shall report the known or suspected instance of child abuse to a child protective agency by telephone 
and written report: 
The telephone call must be made immediately or as soon as practicably possible by telephone. 
AND 
A written report must be sent within 36 hours of the telephone call to the child protective agency.   Any child care custodian, health 
practitioner, or employee of a child protective agency who has knowledge of or who reasonably suspects mental suffering has been 
inflicted on a child or his or her emotional well-being is endangered in any other way, may report such known or suspected instance 
of child abuse to a child protective agency. 
When two or more persons who are required to report are present and jointly knowledge of a known or suspected instance of child 
abuse, and when there is agreement among them, the telephone report may be made by a member of the team selected by mutual 
agreement and a single report may be made and signed by the selected member of the reporting team. Any member who has 
knowledge that the member designated to make the report failed to do so, shall thereafter make such a report. 
The intent and purpose of the law is to protect children from abuse. The definition of a child is any person under 18 years of age. 
This entire section on Child Abuse was been taken from California Laws Relating To Minors manual. 
 
C. Sexual Activity 
 
Child abuse laws change from time to time. Should you suspect that a student is engaged in unlawful sexual activity, please consult 
with the school social worker and campus officer to determine if particular provisions under this section are current and in effect. 
Involuntary sexual activity is always reportable. 
Incest, even if voluntary is always reportable. Incest is a marriage or act of intercourse between parents and children; ancestors and 
descendants of every degree; brothers and sisters of half and whole blood and uncles and nieces or aunts and nephews. (Family 
Code 2200). 
Voluntary Sexual Activity may or may not be reportable. Even if the behavior voluntary, there are circumstances where the behavior 
is abusive, either by Penal Code definition or because of an exploitative relationship, then this behavior must be reported. If there is 
reasonable suspicion of sexual abuse prior to the consensual activity, the abuse must be reported. 
 
Reportable Sexual Activity if a Child is 14 Years of Age and: 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 8 of 50 9/30/24 
 

Partner is younger than 14 years old, but there is a disparity in chronological or maturational age or indications of intimidation, 
coercion or bribery or other indications of an exploitative relationship. Partner is 14 years or older lewd & lascivious acts committed 
by a partner of any age partner is alleged spouse and over 14 years of age. 
 
Reportable Sexual Activity if the Child is 14 or 15 years and: 
There is unlawful sexual intercourse with a partner older than 14 but less than 21 years of age and there is no indication of abuse or 
evidence of an exploitative relationship there is unlawful sexual intercourse with a partner older than 21 years 
There is lewd and lascivious acts committed by a partner more than 10 years older than the child The partner is the alleged spouse 
and over 21 years of age 
 
Reportable Sexual Activity if the Child is 16 or 17 years and: 
The partner is less than 14 years of age 
There is unlawful sexual intercourse with a partner older than 14 and there is evidence of an exploitative relationship 
The partner is the alleged spouse and there is evidence of an exploitative relationship 
 
Reportable Sexual Activity if the Child is under 18 years: 
Sodomy, oral copulation, penetration of a genital or anal opening by a foreign object, even if consensual, with a partner of any age. 
 
Not Reportable Sexual Activity: 
Child is 14 years or younger and partner is younger than 14 years and of similar age or maturational age. Sexual behavior is voluntary 
and consensual. There are no indications of intimidation, coercion, bribery, or other indications of an exploitative relationship. 
Unlawful sexual intercourse of a child 14 to 15-years old with a partner older than 14 and less than 21 years of age and there is no 
indication of abuse or evidence of an exploitative relationship. 
Unlawful sexual intercourse with a child 16 or 17 years with a partner older than 14 and there is no indication of an exploitative 
relationship. 
 
Mandated reports of sexual activity must be reported to either the Department of Family & Children's Services (DFCS) or to the 
appropriate police jurisdiction. This information will then be cross-reported to the other legal agency. 
 
D. Failure to Report Known or Suspected Child Abuse 
 
Failure to report known or reasonable suspicion of child abuse, including sexual abuse, is a misdemeanor. Mandated reporters are 
provided with immunity from civil or criminal liability as a result of making a mandated report of child abuse. 
 
This information has been taken directly from the San Diego  County Child Abuse Council Informational Handout. 
 
E. Child Abuse Reporting Number: (800) 344-6000 
 
F. Staff Training: All staff engage in mandated child abuse reporting training annually. 
 
 
(B) Disaster Procedures (EC 35295-35297; GC 8607 and 3100) 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 9 of 50 9/30/24 
 

Disaster Plan (See Appendix C-F) 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 10 of 50 9/30/24 
 

Routine and Emergency Disaster Procedures: Drills 
The Basic Plan 
 
The Basic Plan addresses the Lakeside Union School District 's responsibilities in emergencies associated with natural disaster, 
human-caused emergencies and technological incidents. It provides a framework for coordination of response and recovery efforts 
within the District in coordination and with local, State, and Federal agencies. The Plan establishes an emergency organization to 
direct and control operations at all sites during a period of emergency by assigning responsibilities to specific personnel. The Basic 
Plan: 
 
 Conforms to the Federally mandated National Incident Management System (NIMS), State mandated Standardized Emergency 
Management System (SEMS) and effectively restructures emergency response at all levels in compliance with the Incident Command 
System (ICS). 
Establishes response policies and procedures, providing $district_name$ clear guidance for planning purposes. 
Describes and details procedural steps necessary to protect lives and property. 
Outlines coordination requirements. 
Provides a basis for unified training and response exercises to ensure compliance. 
 
Requirements 
 
The Plan meets the requirements of San Diego County's policies on Emergency Response and Planning, the Standardized Emergency 
Management System (SEMS) Operational Area Response, and defines the primary and support roles of the District and individual 
schools in after-incident damage assessment and reporting requirements. 
 
Protect the safety and welfare of students, employees and staff. 
Provide for a safe and coordinated response to emergencies. 
Protect the District's facilities and properties. 
Enable the District to restore normal conditions with minimal confusion in the shortest time possible. Provide for interface and 
coordination between sites and the District Emergency Operations Center (EOC). 
Provide for interface and coordination between sites and the County or city EOC in which they reside. Provide for the orderly 
conversion of pre-designated District sites to American Red Cross shelters, when necessary. 
 
Schools are required by both federal statute and state regulation to be available for shelters following a disaster. The American Red 
Cross (ARC) has access to schools in damaged areas to set up their mass care facilities, and local governments have a right to use 
schools for the same purposes. This requires close cooperation between school officials and ARC or local government 
representatives, and should be planned and arranged for in advance. 
 
Authorities and References - State of California 
 
California Emergency Services Act (Chapter 7, Division 1, Title 2, California Government Code). 
 
The Act provides the basic authorities for conducting emergency operations following a proclamation of Local Emergency, State of 
Emergency, or State of War Emergency by the Governor and/or appropriate local authorities, consistent with the provisions of this 
Act. 
 
California Government Code, Section 3100, Title 1, Division 4, Chapter 4. 
 
States that public employees are disaster service workers, subject to such disaster service activities as may be assigned to them by 
their superiors or by law. The term "public employees" includes all persons employed by the state or any county, city, city and 
county, state agency or public district, excluding aliens legally employed. 
 
California Emergency Plan 
 
Promulgated by the Governor, and published in accordance with the California Emergency Services Act, it provides overall statewide 
authorities and responsibilities, and describes the functions and operations of government at all levels during extraordinary 
emergencies, including wartime. Section 8568 of the Act states, in part, that "...the State Emergency Plan shall be in effect in each 
political subdivision of the state, and the governing body of each political subdivision shall take such action as may be necessary to 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 11 of 50 9/30/24 
 

carry out the provisions thereof." Therefore, local emergency plans are considered extensions of the California Emergency Plan. 
A. Earthquake Drills 
The earthquake emergency procedure system shall, but not be limited to, all of the following: 
 
A school building disaster plan, ready for implementation at any time, for maintaining the safety and care of students and staffs. 
 
A drop procedure. As used in this article, "drop procedure" means an activity whereby each student and staff member take cover 
under a table or desk, dropping to his or her knees, with the head protected by the arms, and the back to the windows. A drop 
procedure practice shall be held at least once each school quarter in elementary schools and at least once a semester in secondary 
schools. 
 
Protective measures to be taken before, during, and following an earthquake. A program to ensure that the students and that both 
the certificated and classified staff are aware of, and properly trained in, the earthquake emergency procedure system. 
(Code of Regulations, Section 35297) 
 
Whenever an earthquake alarm is sounded, all students, teachers and other employees shall immediately begin Duck, Cover and 
Hold procedures: 
 
DUCK, or DROP down on the floor. 
Take COVER under a sturdy desk, table or other furniture with backs to the windows. Protect head and neck with arms. 
HOLD onto the furniture and be prepared to move with it. 
Stay in this position for at least one minute or, in a real situation, until shaking stops. 
 
Evacuation. An Evacuation should NEVER be automatic. There may be more danger outside the building than there is inside. If 
administrative directions are not forthcoming, the teacher will be responsible for assessing the situation and determining if an 
evacuation is required. 
 
Pre-determined evacuation areas should be in open areas, without overhead hazards and removed from potential danger spots 
(covered walkways, large gas mains, chain linked fences [electric shock potential]). 
 
Make it clear that a post-earthquake route differs from a fire evacuation route, and that appropriate nonhazardous alternate routes 
may be needed. 
 
Practice evacuation using alternate routes to the assembly areas. 
 
Students are to remain with their teacher in the evacuation area. Teachers shall take their roll books, take roll once in the evacuation 
area and be prepared to identify missing students to administrators and/first responders. 
 
The principal or designee shall keep a copy of each drill conducted on the Emergency Drill Report form and file a copy with the 
Superintendent/designee. 
 
Standards for a Successful Earthquake Drill: 
 
The Earthquake Alarm can be heard by all staff and students. 
 
Immediately after the earthquake alarm sounds, all students, teachers and other employees shall: 
 
DUCK, or DROP down on the floor. 
Take COVER under a sturdy desk, table or other furniture with backs to the windows. Protect head and neck with arms. 
HOLD onto the furniture and be prepared to move with it. 
 
Evacuations shall occur when directed over the loud speaker by the Principal/designee. When evacuations are included as part of 
the drill, appropriate non-hazardous alternate routes, avoiding building overhangs, electrical wires, large trees, covered walkways, 
etc., shall be utilized by staff and students in order to reach the designated evacuation areas. 
 
Teachers have taken roll once in the evacuation area. Any missing students are immediately reported to the Principal/designee. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 12 of 50 9/30/24 
 

 
Upon sounding of the all clear students and staff return to their appropriate classroom and the teacher takes roll once more. Missing 
students are reported to the attendance office. 
B. Fire Drills 
Whenever the fire alarm is given, all students, teachers and other employees shall quickly leave the building in an orderly manner. 
Teachers shall ascertain that no student remains in the building. Designated evacuation routes shall be posted in each room. 
Teachers shall be prepared to select alternate exits and direct their classes to these exits in the event the designated evacuation 
route is blocked. 
Evacuation areas will be established away from fire lanes. 
Students are to remain with their teacher in the evacuation area. Teachers shall take their roll books, take roll once in the evacuation 
area and be prepared to identify missing students to administrators and/or fire marshals/designees. 
 The principal or designee shall keep a copy of each drill conducted on the Emergency Drill Report form and file a copy with the 
Superintendent/designee. 
 
Standards for a Successful Fire Drill: 
 
The Fire Alarm can be heard by all staff and students. 
Orderly evacuation begins immediately and is completed within 5 minutes of the initial alarm, with minimal congestion at exit gates. 
Evacuation areas will be established away from fire lanes. 
Teachers and students are staged in an orderly fashion away from fire lanes. 
Teachers have taken roll once in the evacuation area. Any missing students are immediately reported to the Principal/designee. 
Upon sounding of the all clear students and staff return to their appropriate classroom and the teacher takes roll once more. Missing 
students are reported to the attendance office. 
C. Active Shooter/Lockdown Drills 
For sites that have had Active shooter Training, conducting an Active shooter Lockdown Drill initially involves more pre-planning and 
organization than conducting other drills. Middle and high schools should conduct an annual drill, which should take no longer than 
40 minutes and impact class time by 20 minutes. Elementary schools should conduct drills every other year (or annually, if the local 
police department has the resources to support the drills). Drills need to be scheduled with your School Resource or Liaison Officers. 
 
There are a number of steps that are recommended in the Active shooter Training in order to successfully conduct your drill. They 
involve: 
 
 Conduct a staff meeting. Plan on a 20 minute timeframe to review expectations and standards in terms of: 
a. Locking doors 
b. Covering windows 
c. Turning off lights 
d. Building barricades 
e. Reviewing classroom and all clear procedures 
f. Reviewing off site evacuation locations 
Send a follow-up reminder memo to your staff. 
Organize your assessment team. This also provides an excellent opportunity for your Critical Response Team to work together with 
police participants in the drill. 
Conduct the assessment. 
Complete follow-up tasks. 
 
Remember, you are setting the tone for the importance of safety for students and staff on your campus. 
VI. Routine and Emergency Disaster Procedures: Overview 
The Basic Plan 
 
The Basic Plan addresses the Lakeside Union School District 's responsibilities in emergencies associated with natural disaster, 
human-caused emergencies and technological incidents. It provides a framework for coordination of response and recovery efforts 
within the District in coordination and with local, State, and Federal agencies. The Plan establishes an emergency organization to 
direct and control operations at all sites during a period of emergency by assigning responsibilities to specific personnel. The Basic 
Plan: 
 
 Conforms to the Federally mandated National Incident Management System (NIMS), State mandated Standardized Emergency 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 13 of 50 9/30/24 
 

Management System (SEMS) and effectively restructures emergency response at all levels in compliance with the Incident Command 
System (ICS). 
Establishes response policies and procedures, providing Lakeside Union School District clear guidance for planning purposes. 
Describes and details procedural steps necessary to protect lives and property. 
Outlines coordination requirements. 
Provides a basis for unified training and response exercises to ensure compliance. 
 
Requirements 
 
The Plan meets the requirements of San Diego County's policies on Emergency Response and Planning, the Standardized Emergency 
Management System (SEMS) Operational Area Response, and defines the primary and support roles of the District and individual 
schools in after-incident damage assessment and reporting requirements. 
 
Protect the safety and welfare of students, employees and staff. 
Provide for a safe and coordinated response to emergencies. 
Protect the District's facilities and properties. 
Enable the District to restore normal conditions with minimal confusion in the shortest time possible. Provide for interface and 
coordination between sites and the District Emergency Operations Center (EOC). 
Provide for interface and coordination between sites and the County or city EOC in which they reside. Provide for the orderly 
conversion of pre-designated District sites to American Red Cross shelters, when necessary. 
 
Schools are required by both federal statute and state regulation to be available for shelters following a disaster. The American Red 
Cross (ARC) has access to schools in damaged areas to set up their mass care facilities, and local governments have a right to use 
schools for the same purposes. This requires close cooperation between school officials and ARC or local government 
representatives, and should be planned and arranged for in advance. 
 
Authorities and References - State of California 
 
California Emergency Services Act (Chapter 7, Division 1, Title 2, California Government Code). 
 
The Act provides the basic authorities for conducting emergency operations following a proclamation of Local Emergency, State of 
Emergency, or State of War Emergency by the Governor and/or appropriate local authorities, consistent with the provisions of this 
Act. 
 
California Government Code, Section 3100, Title 1, Division 4, Chapter 4. 
 
States that public employees are disaster service workers, subject to such disaster service activities as may be assigned to them by 
their superiors or by law. The term "public employees" includes all persons employed by the state or any county, city, city and 
county, state agency or public district, excluding aliens legally employed. 
 
California Emergency Plan 
 
Promulgated by the Governor, and published in accordance with the California Emergency Services Act, it provides overall statewide 
authorities and responsibilities, and describes the functions and operations of government at all levels during extraordinary 
emergencies, including wartime. Section 8568 of the Act states, in part, that "...the State Emergency Plan shall be in effect in each 
political subdivision of the state, and the governing body of each political subdivision shall take such action as may be necessary to 
carry out the provisions thereof." Therefore, local emergency plans are considered extensions of the California Emergency Plan. 
A. Definition: Incidents, Emergencies, Disasters 
Incident 
 
An incident is an occurrence or event, either human-caused or caused by natural phenomena, that requires action by emergency 
response personnel to prevent or minimize loss of life or damage to property and/or natural resources. 
 
Incidents may result in extreme peril to the safety of persons and property and may lead to, or create conditions of disaster. 
Incidents may also be rapidly mitigated without loss or damage. Although they may not meet disaster level definition, larger 
incidents may call for managers to proclaim a "Local Emergency". 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 14 of 50 9/30/24 
 

 
Incidents are usually a single event that may be small or large. They occur in a defined geographical area and require local resources 
or, sometimes, mutual aid. There is usually one to a few agencies involved in dealing with an ordinary threat to life and property and 
to a limited population. Usually a local emergency is not declared and the jurisdictional EOC is not activated. Incidents are usually of 
short duration, measured in hours or, at most, a few days. Primary command decisions are made at the scene along with strategy, 
tactics, and resource management decisions 
 
Emergency 
 
The term emergency is used in several ways. It is a condition of disaster or of extreme peril to the safety of persons and property. In 
this context, an emergency and an incident could mean the same thing, although an emergency could have more than one incident 
associated with it. 
 
Emergency is also used in Standardized Emergency Management System (SEMS) terminology to describe agencies or facilities, e.g., 
Emergency Response Agency, Emergency Operations Center, etc. 
 
Emergency also defines a conditional state such as a proclamation of "Local Emergency". The California Emergency Services Act, of 
which SEMS is a part, describes three states of emergency: 
 
State of War Emergency 
State of Emergency 
State of Local Emergency 
 
Disaster 
 
A disaster is defined as sudden calamitous emergency event bringing great damage, loss, or destruction. Disasters may occur with 
little or no advance warning, e.g., an earthquake or a flash flood, or they may develop from one or more incidents, e.g., a major 
wildfire or hazardous materials discharge. 
 
Disasters are either single or multiple events that have many separate incidents associated with them. The resource demand goes 
beyond local capabilities and extensive mutual aid and support are needed. There are many agencies and jurisdictions involved 
including multiple layers of government. There is usually an extraordinary threat to life and property affecting a generally 
widespread population and geographical area. A disaster's effects last over a substantial period of time (days to weeks) and local 
government will proclaim a Local Emergency. Emergency Operations Centers are activated to provide centralized overall 
coordination of jurisdictional assets, departments and incident support functions. Initial recovery coordination is also a responsibility 
of the EOCs.  
 
B. Earthquake Overview 
Major Earthquake Threat Summary 
 
Earthquakes are sudden releases of strain energy stored in the earth's bedrock. The great majority of earthquakes are not dangerous 
to life or property either because they occur in sparsely populated areas or because they are small earthquakes that release 
relatively small amounts of energy. However, where urban areas are located in regions of high seismicity, damaging earthquakes are 
expectable, if not predictable, events. Every occupant and developer in San Diego County assumes seismic risk because the County is 
within an area of high seismicity. More than ten severe earthquakes have impacted San Francisco Bay Region during historic times. 
 
The major effects of earthquakes are ground shaking and ground failure. Severe earthquakes are characteristically accompanied by 
surface faulting. Flooding may be triggered by dam or levee failure resulting from an earthquake, or by seismically induced 
settlement or subsidence. All of these geologic effects are capable of causing property damage and, more importantly, risks to life 
and safety of persons. 
 
A fault is a fracture in the earth's crust along which rocks on opposite sides have moved relative to each other. Active faults have 
high probability of future movement. Fault displacement involves forces so great that the only means of limiting damage to man-
made structures is to avoid the traces of active faults. Any movement beneath a structure, even on the order of an inch or two, 
could have catastrophic effects on the structure and its service lines. 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 15 of 50 9/30/24 
 

The overall energy release of an earthquake is its most important characteristic. Other important attributes include an earthquake's 
duration, its related number of significant stress cycles, and its accelerations. 
C. Levels of Response 
Response Levels are used to describe the type of event: 
 
The area(s) affected, the extent of coordination or assistance needed, and the degree of participation expected from the School 
District. Response Levels are closely tied to Emergency Proclamations issued by the head of local government. 
 
Response Level 0 - Readiness & Routine Phase 
 
On-going routine response by the School District to daily emergencies or incidents. Stand-by and alert procedures issued in advance 
of an anticipated or planned event. 
 
Response Level 3 - Local Emergency 
 
A minor to moderate incident in which local resources are adequate and available. This level of emergency response occurs when an 
emergency incident, e.g., gas leak, sewer back-up, assaults, bomb threat, toxic spill, medical emergency, shooting, etc., occurs. A 
Level 3 response requires School/Site Coordinators to implement guidelines in the Emergency Standard Operating Procedures and 
interact with public agencies. 
 
Response Level 2 - Local Disaster 
 
A moderate to severe emergency in which resources are not adequate and mutual aid may be required on a regional, even 
statewide basis with coordination with local police and fire departments of the affected are working in concert with Lakeside Union 
School District to respond. The affected Cities and the County of 
San Diego will proclaim a local emergency. Then, the State of California may declare a state of emergency. 
 
Response Level 1 - Major Disaster 
 
Resources in or near the impacted areas are overwhelmed and extensive State and Federal resources are required. The cities and 
the County of San Diego will proclaim a local emergency. Then, the State of California will declare a State of Emergency. A 
Presidential Declaration of an Emergency or Major Disaster is requested by the State. Examples of major disasters are the Loma 
Prieta Earthquake of 1989 or the Oakland Hills Firestorm of 1991. When local jurisdictions declare a State of Emergency, the district 
board can declare the same. 
D. Emergency Phases 
Some emergencies will be preceded by a build-up or warning period, providing sufficient time to warn the population and 
implement mitigation measures designated to reduce loss of life and property damage. Other emergencies occur with little or no 
advance warning, thus requiring immediate activation of the emergency operations plan and commitment of resources. All 
employees must be prepared to respond promptly and effectively to any foreseeable emergency, including the provision and use of 
mutual aid. 
 
Emergency management activities during peacetime and national security emergencies are often associated with the phases 
indicated below. However, not every disaster necessarily includes all indicated phases. 
 
Prevention/Mitigation Phase 
 
Prevention/Mitigation is perhaps the most important phase of emergency management. However, it is often the least used and 
generally the most cost effective. Mitigation is often thought of as taking actions to strengthen facilities, abatement of nearby 
hazards, and reducing the potential damage either to structures or their contents, while prevention is taking steps to avoid potential 
problems. Both of these elements require education of parents, students and teachers. 
 
While it is not possible to totally eliminate either the destructive force of a potential disaster or its effects, doing what can be done 
to minimize the effects may create a safer environment that will result in lower response costs, and fewer casualties. 
 
Preparedness Phase 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 16 of 50 9/30/24 
 

The preparedness phase involves activities taken in advance of an emergency. These activities develop operational capabilities and 
responses to a disaster. Those identified in this plan as having either a primary or support mission relative to response and recovery 
review Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) or checklists detailing personnel assignments, policies, notification procedures, and 
resource lists. Personnel are acquainted with these SOPs and checklists and periodically are trained in activation and execution. 
 
Response Phase 
 
Pre-Impact: Recognition of the approach of a potential disaster where actions are taken to save lives and protect property. Warning 
systems may be activated, and resources may be mobilized, EOCs may be activated and evacuation may begin. 
 
Immediate Impact: Emphasis is placed on saving lives, controlling the situation, and minimizing the effects of the disaster. Incident 
Command Posts and EOCs may be activated, and emergency instructions may be issued. 
 
Sustained: As the emergency continues, assistance is provided to victims of the disaster and efforts are made to reduce secondary 
damage. Response support facilities may be established. The resource requirements continually change to meet the needs of the 
incident. 
 
Recovery Phase 
 
Recovery is taking all actions necessary to restore the area to pre-event conditions or better, if possible. 
Therefore, mitigation for future hazards plays an important part in the recovery phase for many emergencies. There is no clear time 
separation between response and recovery. In fact, planning for recovery should be a part of the response phase.  
E. First Things First 
Preparing your school for emergencies starts with staff preparedness. The backbone of school planning is dependent on the staff's 
willingness to stay at school during a major community emergency. Personal preparedness makes this much easier. 
 
Each staff member needs 
 
A 72-hour supply kit for the home 
A Car Kit, including comfortable clothes/shoes and medications 
To develop a plan to reunite with their family 
A neighborhood preparedness program 
 
Preparedness Brochures are available from the local chapter of the American Red Cross, San Diego County Office of Emergency 
Services, Lakeside Union School District website, www.redcross.org, www.prepare.org or www.ready.gov. 
 
If the disaster occurs during school time, Emergency Management recommends the child stay at school until the parent or a trusted 
friend (see Emergency Cards) picks up the child. We have no idea, especially in an earthquake, how impacted our neighborhoods 
may be. 
 
This means the school staff will need to stay with the children. You can only do this if you are prepared at home! You must feel that 
your family can activate your Family Plan without you. 
 
Disaster Service Worker Status: California Government Code Section 3100 declares that public employees are disaster services 
workers, subject to such disaster service activities as may be assigned to them by the superiors or by law. The term public employees 
include all persons employed by the state or any county, city, city & county, state agency or public district, excluding aliens legally 
employed. This law applies to public school employees in the following cases: 
 
When a local emergency has been proclaimed, When a state of emergency has been proclaimed, or When a federal disaster 
declaration has been made. 
F. District and Parent Responsibilities 
DISTRICT RESPONSIBILITY 
 
If the superintendent declares a district emergency during the school day, the following procedures will be followed: 
 
IN CASE OF A DECLARED EMERGENCY BY THE SUPERINTENDENT DURING SCHOOL HOURS, 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 17 of 50 9/30/24 
 

ALL STUDENTS WILL BE REQUIRED TO REMAIN AT SCHOOL OR AT AN ALTERNATE SAFE SITE UNDER THE SUPERVISION OF THE 
SCHOOL PRINCIPAL OR OTHER PERSONNEL ASSIGNED BY THE PRINCIPAL. 
 
Until regular dismissal time and released only then if it is considered safe, 
OR 
Until released to an adult authorized by the parent or legal guardian whose name appears on district records. 
a. If students are on their way to school, they will be brought to school if bussed, or they shouldproceed to school if walking. 
b. If students are on their way home from school, they are to continue home. 
 
During a Declared Emergency, those students who have not been picked up by their parents or other authorized person may be 
taken by district personnel to another site where consolidated care facilities can be provided. This information will be given to the 
media stations and posted at the site to keep parents informed. 
 
PARENT RESPONSIBILITY 
 
Parents and legal guardians of students will be provided with a Student Health/Emergency Form each year. 
In case of a Declared Emergency, students will be released ONLY to persons designated on this form. Parents are responsible for 
ensuring that information on the Student Health/Enrollment Form is current at all times. 
 
Parents are asked to share with the schools the responsibility for informing students of what they should do in case of a severe 
earthquake or other major emergency. Parents need to give specific directions to each student to follow the policy outlined above 
and to follow the directions of school personnel. 
 
School authorities will do everything possible to care for each student while he/she is under district supervision. 
 
It is critical that students do not have directions from parents that are contrary to the district's stated policy on retention at school 
and authorized release in case of a severe emergency.  
VII. Emergency Response Procedures 
Section 8 content  
A. Basic Actions 
Most emergency responses are covered by the following Basic Actions: 
 
A. Action: STAND BY 
 
Action: STAND BY consists of bringing students into the classroom or holding them in the classroom pending further instruction. 
 
B. Action: LEAVE BUILDING 
 
ACTION: LEAVE BUILDING consists of the orderly movement of students and staff from inside the school building to outside areas of 
safety or planned evacuation site. 
 
Action: LEAVE BUILDING is appropriate for-but not limited to-the following emergencies: 
 
Fire 
Peacetime Bomb Threat 
Chemical Accident 
Explosion or Threat of an Explosion 
Following an Earthquake 
Other similar occurrences that might make the building uninhabitable 
At the onset of an Active Shooter/Lockdown Alert, when teacher/supervisor has ascertained that leaving is the best option. 
 
C. Action: TAKE COVER 
 
Action: TAKE COVER consists of bringing/keeping students indoors if possible and sheltering in place as appropriate to the situation. 
 
If outdoors, Action: TAKE COVER consists of hiding behind any solid object (large tree, engine block of car, cement wall), in the event 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 18 of 50 9/30/24 
 

a sniper attack, armed intruder, rabid animal, or moving immediately to a location which is upwind and uphill in the event of a 
chemical or biological threat 
 
Action TAKE COVER is appropriate for, but not limited to, the following: 
 
Severe Windstorm (short warning) 
Biological or Chemical Threat 
Sniper Attack 
Rabid Animal on School Grounds 
 
D. Action: DROP 
 
WARNING: The warning for this type of emergency is the beginning of the disaster itself. 
 
Action: DROP consists of: 
 
 Inside school buildings 

• Immediately TAKE COVER under desks or tables and turn away from all windows 
• Remain in a sheltered position for at least 60 seconds silent and listening to/or for instructions Outside of School 

Buildings 
• Earthquake: move away from buildings -Take a protective position, if possible Explosion/Nuclear Attack: 
• Take protective position, OR, 
• Get behind any solid object (ditch, curb, tree, etc.); lie prone with head away from light or blast; cover head, face, and as 

much of the skin surface as possible; close eyes, and cover ears with forearms. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 19 of 50 9/30/24 
 

 
E. ACTION: DIRECTED MAINTENANCE 
 
No school personnel/students are allowed to enter a school facility until inspected by and authorized by appropriate school 
personnel: Maintenance and School Administrators, and if applicable, Police, Fire, or City Inspectors. 
 
In the event that drinking water is unsafe, water valves will be turned off and the drinking fountains sealed. 
 
Water, gas, and electrical shut-off valves will be shut-off for each applicable building under the join authorization of the 
administration and head custodian. 
 
F. ACTION: DIRECTED TRANSPORTATION 
 
WARNING: Under certain disaster conditions, authorized officials may attempt to move an entire community, or portion thereof, 
from an area of danger to another area of safety. 
 
Action: DIRECTED TRANSPORTATION consists of loading students and staff into school buses, cars and other means of 
transportation, and taking them from a danger area to a designated safety area. 
 
Action: DIRECTED TRANSPORTATION is considered appropriate only when directed by the 
Superintendent or designee, Site Administrator, Police, Fire, or OES. It may be appropriate for, but not limited to, movement away 
from: 
 
Fire 
Chemical & Biological Gas Alert 
Flood 
Fallout Area 
Blast Area 
Chemical & Biological Gas Alert 
Specific Man-Made Emergency (shooting, fire, etc.) 
 
G. ACTION: GO HOME 
 
Action: GO HOME consists of: 
 
Dismissal of all classes 
Return of students to their homes by the most expeditious 
 
Action: GO HOME is to be considered only if there is time for students to go safely to their homes and if buses or other 
transportation are available for students who live at a distance from the school. Notification of parents by radio broadcast, local 
television, ALERT website, phone distribution lists, or other means will be requested. 
 
H. ACTION: CONVERT SCHOOL 
 
Action: CONVERT SCHOOL to a Red Cross emergency facility will be initiated by City officials. 
 
 
 
Public Agency Use of School Buildings for Emergency Shelters 
 
 
(C) School Suspension, Expulsion and Mandatory Expulsion Guidelines 
C. Suspension and Expulsion Policies 
Grounds for suspension which fall under Education Code 48900 
Caused, attempted to cause, or threatened to cause physical injury to another person 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 20 of 50 9/30/24 
 

Possessed, sold, or otherwise furnished any firearm, knife, explosive, or other dangerous object unless, in the case of possession of 
any object of this type, the pupil had obtained written permission to possess the item from a certificated school employee, which is 
concurred in by the principal or the designee of the principal. 
Unlawfully possessed, used, sold, or otherwise furnished, or been under the influence of any controlled substance. 
Unlawfully offered, arranged, or negotiated to sell any controlled substance. 
Committed or attempted to commit robbery or extortion. 
Caused or attempted to cause damage to school property or private property. 
Stolen or attempted to steal school or private property. 
Possessed or used tobacco, or any products containing tobacco or 1nicotine products, including, but not limited to, cigarettes, cigars, 
miniature cigars, clove cigarettes, smokeless tobacco, snuff, chew packets, and betel. However, this section does not prohibit use or 
possession by a pupil of his or her own prescription products. 
Committed an obscene act or engaged in habitual profanity or vulgarity. 
Had unlawful possession of, or unlawfully offered, arranged or negotiated to sell any drug paraphernalia. 
Disrupted school activities or otherwise willfully defied the valid authority supervisors, teachers, administrators, school officials, or 
other school personnel engaged in the performance of their duties. 
Knowingly received stolen school property or private property. 
Possessed an imitation firearm. As used in this section, "imitation firearm" means a replica of a firearm as to substantially similar in 
physical properties to an existing firearm as to lead a reasonable person to conclude that the replica is a firearm. 
Committed or attempted to commit sexual assault. 
Harassed, threatened, or intimidated a pupil who is a complaining witness or witness in a school disciplinary proceeding for the 
purpose of either preventing that pupil from being a witness or retaliating against that pupil for being a witness, or both. 
 
A pupil may not be suspended or expelled for any of the acts listed above unless that act is related to school activity or school 
attendance occurring within a school under the jurisdiction of the superintendent or principal or occurring within any other school 
district. A pupil may be suspended or expelled for acts which are enumerated in this section and related to school activity or 
attendance that occur at any time, including but not limited to, any of the following: 
While on school grounds. 
While going to or coming from school. 
During the lunch period, whether on or off the campus. 
During, or in route to and from, a school sponsored activity. 
 
Expulsion Policies under Education Code 48915: 
 
The principal shall recommend the expulsion of a pupil for any of the following committed at school or school activity off school 
grounds, unless the principal or superintendent finds an expulsion is inappropriate, due to the particular circumstance: 
Causing serious physical injury to another person, except in self-defense. 
Possession of any knife, explosive, or other dangerous object of no reasonable use to the pupil. Unlawful possession of any 
controlled substance, as defined under Ed. Code. 
Robbery or extortion. 
Assault or battery on any school employee, as defined in Sections 240 and 242 of the Penal Code. 
 
The principal, or superintendent of schools shall immediately suspend, pursuant to Section 48911, and shall recommend expulsion 
of a pupil that he or she determines has committed any of the following acts at school or at a school activity off school grounds: 
Possessing, selling, or otherwise furnishing a firearm. This subdivision does not apply to an act of possessing a firearm if the pupil has 
obtained prior written permission to possess the firearm from a certificated school employee, which is concurred in by the principal 
or the designee of the principal. This subdivision applies to an act of possessing a firearm only if an employee of a school district 
verifies the possession. 
Brandishing a knife at another person. 
Unlawfully selling a controlled substance as defined by Education Code. 
Committing or attempting to commit a sexual assault as defined in the Education Code. 
 
LUSD has the following Board Policy related to Suspension and Expulsion of Students: BP 5144.1 
The Governing Board desires to provide district students access to educational opportunities in an orderly school environment that 
protects their safety and security, ensures their welfare and well-being, and promotes their learning and development. The Board 
shall develop rules and regulations setting the standards of behavior expected of district students and the disciplinary processes and 
procedures for addressing violations of those standards, including suspension and/or expulsion. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 21 of 50 9/30/24 
 

(cf. 5131 - Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.1 - Bus Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.2 - Bullying) 
 
The grounds for suspension and expulsion and the procedures for considering, recommending, and/or implementing suspension and 
expulsion shall be those specified in law, in policy, and in the accompanying administrative regulation. 
Except when otherwise permitted by law, a student may be suspended or expelled only when his/her behavior is related to a school 
activity or school attendance occurring within any district school or another school district, regardless of when it occurs, including, 
but not limited to, the following: (Education Code 48900(s)) 
 
1. While on school grounds 
2. While going to or coming from school 
3. During the lunch period, whether on or off the school campus 
(cf. 5112.5 - Open/Closed Campus) 
4. During, going to, or coming from a school-sponsored activity 
District staff shall enforce the rules concerning suspension and expulsion of students fairly, consistently, equally, and in accordance 
with the district's nondiscrimination policies. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
 
Appropriate Use of Suspension Authority 
Except when a student's act that violates Education Code 48900(a)-(e), as listed in items #1-5 under "Grounds for Suspension or 
Expulsion: Grades K-12" of the accompanying administrative regulation, or when his/her presence causes a danger to others, 
suspension shall be used only when other means of correction have failed to bring about proper conduct. (Education Code 
48900.5,48900.6) 
(cf. 1020 - Youth Services) 
(cf. 5138 - Conflict Resolution/Peer Mediation) 
(cf. 5144 - Discipline) 
(cf. 6142.4 - Service Learning/Community Service Classes) 
(cf. 6164.2 - Guidance/Counseling Services) 
(cf. 6164.5 - Student Success Teams) 
 
A student's parents/guardians shall be notified as soon as possible when there is an escalating pattern of misbehavior that could 
lead to removal on-campus or off-campus suspension. 
No student in grades K-3 may be suspended for disruption or willful defiance, except by a teacher pursuant to Education Code 
48910. (Education Code 48900) 
Students shall not be suspended or expelled for truancy, tardiness, or absenteeism from assigned school activities. 
(cf. 5113 - Absences and Excuses) 
(cf. 5113.1 - Chronic Absence and Truancy) 
 
On-Campus Suspension 
 
To ensure the proper supervision and ongoing learning of students who are suspended for any of the reasons enumerated in 
Education Code 48900 and 48900.2, but who pose no imminent danger or threat to anyone at school and for whom expulsion 
proceedings have not been initiated, the Superintendent or designee shall establish a supervised suspension classroom program 
which meets the requirements of law. 
Except where a supervised suspension is permitted by law for a student's first offense, supervised suspension shall be imposed only 
when other means of correction have failed to bring about proper conduct. (Education Code 48900.5) 
 
Authority to Expel 
A student may be expelled only by the Board. (Education Code 48918(j)) 
As required by law, the Superintendent or principal shall recommend expulsion and the Board shall expel any student found to have 
committed any of the following "mandatory recommendation and mandatory expulsion" acts at school or at a school activity off 
school grounds: (Education Code 48915) 
1. Possessing a firearm which is not an imitation firearm, as verified by a certificated employee, unless thestudent had obtained prior 
written permission to possess the item from a certificated school employee, with the principal or designee's concurrence 
(cf. 5131.7 - Weapons and Dangerous Instruments) 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 22 of 50 9/30/24 
 

2. Selling or otherwise furnishing a firearm 
3. Brandishing a knife at another person 
4. Unlawfully selling a controlled substance listed in Health and Safety Code 11053-11058 
5. Committing or attempting to commit a sexual assault as defined in Penal Code 261, 266c, 286, 288, 288a,or 289, or committing a 
sexual battery as defined in Penal Code 243.4 6. Possessing an explosive as defined in 18 USC 921 
 
For all other violations listed in the accompanying administrative regulation under "Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades K-
12" and "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 4-12," the Superintendent or principal shall have the discretion 
to recommend expulsion of a student. If expulsion is recommended, the Board shall order the student expelled only if it makes a 
finding of either or both of the following: (Education Code 48915(b) and (e)) 
 
1. That other means of correction are not feasible or have repeatedly failed to bring about proper conduct 
2. That due to the nature of the violation, the presence of the student causes a continuing danger to thephysical safety of the 
student or others 
A vote to expel a student shall be taken in public an open session of a Board meeting. 
The Board may vote to suspend the enforcement of the expulsion order pursuant to the requirements of law and the accompanying 
administrative regulation. (Education Code 48900). 
No student shall be expelled for disruption or willful defiance. (Education Code 48900) 
No child enrolled in a preschool program shall be expelled except under limited circumstances as specified in AR 5148.3 - 
Preschool/Early Childhood Education. 
(cf. 5148.3 - Preschool/Early Childhood Education) 
 
Due Process 
 
The Board shall provide for the fair and equitable treatment of students facing suspension and/or expulsion by affording them their 
due process rights under the law. The Superintendent or designee shall comply with procedures for notices, hearings, and appeals as 
specified in law and administrative regulation. (Education Code 48911, 48915, 48915.5) 
(cf. 5119 - Students Expelled from Other Districts) 
(cf. 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Individuals with Disabilities)) 
 
Maintenance and Monitoring of Outcome Data 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall maintain outcome data related to student suspensions and expulsions in accordance with 
Education Code 48900.8 and 48916.1, including, but not limited to, the number of students recommended for expulsion, the 
grounds for each recommended expulsion, the actions taken by the Board, the types of referral made after each expulsion, and the 
disposition of the students after the expulsion period. For any expulsion that involves the possession of a firearm, such data shall 
include the name of the school and the type of firearm involved, as required pursuant to 20 USC 7961. Suspension and expulsion 
data shall be reported to the Board annually and to the California Department of Education when so required. 
In presenting the report to the Board, the Superintendent or designee shall disaggregate data on suspensions and expulsions by 
school and by numerically significant student subgroups, including, but not limited to, ethnic subgroups, socioeconomically 
disadvantaged students, English learners, students with disabilities, foster youth, and homeless students. Based on the data, the 
Board shall address any identified disparities in the imposition of student discipline and shall determine whether and how the 
district is meeting its goals for improving school climate as specified in its local control and accountability plan. (cf. 0460 - Local 
Control and Accountability Plan) 
 
 
 
(D) Procedures to Notify Teachers of Dangerous Pupils (EC 49079) 
D. Staff Notification of Dangerous Students 
In order to fulfill the requirements made by Education Code 49079 and Welfare and Institutions Code 827 that state teachers must 
be notified of the reason(s) a student has been suspended. The District has incorporated this notification into the student 
information system so that it is easily accessible for teachers on any student level screen. On the flag bar there is a red flag: 49079. 
This flag indicates the student has been suspended under Ed Code 48900. The teacher can access more specific information by 
contacting their site administrator for additional details about the behavior. All information regarding suspension and expulsion is 
CONFIDENTIAL, is not to be shared with any student(s) or parent(s). Teachers are asked to secure the list so students and others may 
not view it. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 23 of 50 9/30/24 
 

The district is working with a program that notifies teachers of students in their class who have been suspended in the last three 
years. 
Additionally, Pursuant to Welfare & Institution Code 827(b) and Education Code 48267, the Court notifies the Superintendent of the 
Lakeside Union School District regarding students who have engaged in certain criminal conduct. This information is forwarded to 
the site Principal. The site Principal is responsible for prompt notification of the student's teachers. Per Education Code 49079, this 
information must be kept confidential. This information is also forwarded to all administrators and the student's counselor. 
 
 
(E) Sexual Harassment Policies (EC 212.6 [b]) 
B. Sexual Harassment Policy 
A. DEFINITION 
"Sexual Harassment includes 'unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, sexually motivated physical contact, or other 
verbal or physical conduct or communication of a sexual nature,' when any of four conditions are met: 
Submission to the conduct or communication is made a term or condition, either explicitly or implicitly, of obtaining education; 
Submission or rejection of the conduct or communication is used as a factor in decisions affecting that person's education; 
The conduct or communication has either the purpose or effect of 'substantially interfering' with a person's education; 
The conduct or communication creates an 'intimidating, hostile, or offensive' educational environment." 
 
B. Policy Pertaining to Sexual Harassment: LUSD has the following Board Policies on Sexual Harrasment, which can be viewed at 
www.lsusd.net, under Leadership, Board of Trustees, Board Policies: 
Board Poilicy 4119.91 
The following policy shall apply to all district employees, volunteers, contractors, job applicants, and other persons with an 
employment relationship with the district. 
The Governing is committed to providing a safe work environment that is free of harassment and intimidation.  The Board prohibits 
sexual harassment against district employees and retaliatory behavior or action against any persons who complain, testifies or 
otherwise participates in the complaint process established for the purpose of this policy. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
(cf. 4030 - Nondiscrimination in Employment) 
Sexual harassment includes, but is not limited to, harassment that is based on the sex, gender, gender identity, gender expression, 
or sexual orientation of the victim and harassment based on pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions. 
The Superintendent or designee shall take all actions necessary to ensure the prevention, investigation, and correction of sexual 
harassment, including but not limited to: 
1. Providing training to employees in accordance with law and administrative regulation 
2. Publicizing and disseminating the district's sexual harassment policy to employees and others to whom the policy may apply 
3. Ensuring prompt, thorough, fair, and equitable investigation of complaints 
4. Taking timely and appropriate corrective/remedial action(s), which may require interim separation ofthe complainant and the 
alleged harasser and subsequent monitoring of developments 
The Superintendent or designee shall periodically evaluate the effectiveness of the district's strategies to prevent and address 
harassment. Such evaluation may involve conducting regular anonymous employee surveys to assess whether harassment is 
occurring or is perceived to be tolerated, partnering with researchers or other agencies with the needed expertise to evaluate the 
district's prevention strategies, and using any other effective tool for receiving feedback on systems and/or processes. As necessary, 
changes shall be made to the harassment policy, complaint procedures, or training. 
Sexual Harassment Reports and Complaints 
District employees who feel that they have been sexually harassed in the performance of their district responsibilities or who have 
knowledge of any incident of sexual harassment by or against another employee shall immediately report the incident to their direct 
supervisor, a district administrator, or the district's Title IX Coordinator. Employees may bypass their supervisor in filing a complaint 
if the supervisor is the subject of the complaint. A supervisor or administrator who receives a harassment complaint shall promptly 
notify the Title IX Coordinator. 
Once notified, the Title IX Coordinator shall ensure the complaint or allegation is addressed through AR 
4119.12/4219.12/4319.12 - Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures or AR 4030 - 
Nondiscrimination in Employment, as applicable.  Because a complaint or allegation that is dismissed or denied under the Title IX 
complaint procedure may still be subject to consideration under state law, the Title IX Coordinator shall ensure that any 
implementation of AR 4119.12/4219.12/4319.12 concurrently meets the requirements of AR 4030. 
(cf. 4119.12/4219.12/4319.12 - Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaints) 
The Title IX Coordinator shall offer supportive measures to the complainant and respondent, as deemed appropriate under the 
circumstances. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 24 of 50 9/30/24 
 

Upon investigation of a sexual harassment complaint, any district employee found to have engaged or participated in sexual 
harassment or to have aided, abetted, incited, compelled, or coerced another to commit sexual harassment in violation of this policy 
shall be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal, in accordance with law and the applicable collective bargaining 
agreement. 
 
Board Policy 4219.11 
The Governing Board prohibits sexual harassment of district employees and job applicants. The Board also prohibits retaliatory 
behavior or action against district employees or other persons who complain, testify or otherwise participate in the complaint 
process established pursuant to this policy and administrative regulation. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) (cf. 4030 - Nondiscrimination in Employment) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall take all actions necessary to ensure the prevention, investigation, and correction of sexual 
harassment, including but not limited to: 
1. Providing training to employees in accordance with law and administrative regulation 
2. Publicizing and disseminating the district's sexual harassment policy to staff 
(cf. 4112.9/4212.9/4312.9 - Employee Notifications) 
3. Ensuring prompt, thorough, and fair investigation of complaints 
4. Taking timely and appropriate corrective/remedial action(s), which may require interim separation of thecomplainant and the 
alleged harasser and subsequent monitoring of developments 
All complaints and allegations of sexual harassment shall be kept confidential to the extent necessary to carry out the investigation 
or to take other subsequent necessary actions. (5 CCR 4964) 
Any district employee or job applicant who feels that he/she has been sexually harassed or who has knowledge of any incident of 
sexual harassment by or against another employee, a job applicant or a student, 
shall immediately report the incident to his/her supervisor, the principal, district administrator or Superintendent. 
A supervisor, principal or other district administrator who receives a harassment complaint shall promptly notify the Superintendent 
or designee. 
Complaints of sexual harassment shall be filed in accordance with AR 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment. 
An employee may bypass his/her supervisor in filing a complaint where the supervisor is the subject of the complaint. 
(cf. 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment) 
Any district employee who engages or participates in sexual harassment or who aids, abets, incites, compels, or coerces another to 
commit sexual harassment against a district employee, job applicant, or student is in violation of this policy and is subject to 
disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal. 
(cf. 4117.4 - Dismissal) 
(cf. 4118 - Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
(cf. 4218 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
 
Board Policy 4319.11 
The Governing Board prohibits sexual harassment of district employees and job applicants. The Board also prohibits retaliatory 
behavior or action against district employees or other persons who complain, testify or otherwise participate in the complaint 
process established pursuant to this policy and administrative regulation. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
(cf. 4030 - Nondiscrimination in Employment) 
The Superintendent or designee shall take all actions necessary to ensure the prevention, investigation, and correction of sexual 
harassment, including but not limited to: 
1. Providing training to employees in accordance with law and administrative regulation 
2. Publicizing and disseminating the district's sexual harassment policy to staff 
(cf. 4112.9/4212.9/4312.9 - Employee Notifications) 
3. Ensuring prompt, thorough, and fair investigation of complaints 
4. Taking timely and appropriate corrective/remedial action(s), which may require interim separation of thecomplainant and the 
alleged harasser and subsequent monitoring of developments 
All complaints and allegations of sexual harassment shall be kept confidential to the extent necessary to carry out the investigation 
or to take other subsequent necessary actions. (5 CCR 4964) 
Any district employee or job applicant who feels that he/she has been sexually harassed or who has knowledge of any incident of 
sexual harassment by or against another employee, a job applicant or a student, 
shall immediately report the incident to his/her supervisor, the principal, district administrator or Superintendent. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 25 of 50 9/30/24 
 

A supervisor, principal or other district administrator who receives a harassment complaint shall promptly notify the Superintendent 
or designee. 
Complaints of sexual harassment shall be filed in accordance with AR 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment. 
An employee may bypass his/her supervisor in filing a complaint where the supervisor is the subject of the complaint. 
(cf. 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment) 
Any district employee who engages or participates in sexual harassment or who aids, abets, incites, compels, or coerces another to 
commit sexual harassment against a district employee, job applicant, or student is in violation of this policy and is subject to 
disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal. 
 
Board Policy 5145.7 
The Governing Board is committed to maintaining a safe school environment that is free from harassment and discrimination. The 
Board prohibits, at school or at school-sponsored or school-related activities, sexual harassment targeted at any student by anyone. 
The Board also prohibits retaliatory behavior or action against any person who reports, files a complaint or testifies about, or 
otherwise supports a complainant in alleging sexual harassment. 
The district strongly encourages any student who feels that he/she is being or has been sexually harassed on school grounds or at a 
school-sponsored or school-related activity by another student or an adult who has experienced off-campus sexual harassment that 
has a continuing effect on campus to immediately contact his/her teacher, the principal, or any other available school employee. 
Any employee who receives a report or observes an incident of sexual harassment shall notify the principal or a district compliance 
officer. Once notified, the principal or compliance officer shall take the steps to investigate and address the allegation, as specified in 
the accompanying administrative regulations. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
(cf. 1312.1 - Complaints Concerning District Employees) 
(cf. 5131 - Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.2 - Bullying) 
(cf. 5137 - Positive School Climate) 
(cf. 5141.4 - Child Abuse Prevention and Reporting) 
(cf. 5145.3 - Nondiscrimination/Harassment) 
(cf. 6142.1 - Sexual Health and HIV/AIDS Prevention Instruction) 
The Superintendent or designee shall take appropriate actions to reinforce the district's sexual harassment  policy. 
Instruction/Information 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that all district students receive age-appropriate information on sexual harassment. 
Such instruction and information shall include: 
1. What acts and behavior constitute sexual harassment, including the fact that sexual harassment could occur between people of 
the same sex and could involve sexual violence 
2. A clear message that students do not have to endure sexual harassment under any circumstance 
3. Encouragement to report observed incidents of sexual harassment even where the alleged victim of the harassment has not 
complained 
4. A clear message that student safety is the district's primary concern, and that any separate rule violationinvolving an alleged 
victim or any other person reporting a sexual harassment incident will be addressed separately and will not affect the manner in 
which the sexual harassment complaint will be received, investigated, or resolved 
5. A clear message that, regardless of a complainant's noncompliance with the writing, timeline, or otherformal filing requirements, 
every sexual harassment allegation that involves a student, whether as the complainant, respondent, or victim of the harassment, 
shall be investigated and prompt action shall be taken to stop any harassment, prevent recurrence, and address any continuing 
effect on students 
6. Information about the district's procedure for investigating complaints and the person(s) to whom a reportof sexual harassment 
should be made 
7. Information about the rights of students and parents/guardians to file a civil or criminal complaint, asapplicable, including the 
right to file a civil or criminal complaint while the district investigation of a sexual harassment complaint continues 
8. A clear message that, when needed, the district will take interim measures to ensure a safe schoolenvironment for a student who 
is the complainant or victim of sexual harassment and/or other students during an investigation and that, to the extent possible, 
when such interim measures are taken, they shall not disadvantage the complainant or victim of the alleged harassment 
Complaint Process and Disciplinary Actions 
Sexual harassment complaints by and against students shall be investigated and resolved in accordance with law and district 
procedures specified in AR 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint Procedures. Principals are responsible for notifying students and 
parents/guardians that complaints of sexual harassment can be filed under AR 1312.3 and where to obtain a copy of the procedures. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 26 of 50 9/30/24 
 

Upon investigation of a sexual harassment complaint, any student found to have engaged in sexual harassment or sexual violence is 
in violation of this policy shall be subject to disciplinary action. For students in grades 4-12, disciplinary action may include 
suspension and/or expulsion, provided that, in imposing such discipline, the entire circumstances of the incident(s) shall be taken 
into account. 
(cf. 5144 - Discipline) 
(cf. 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process) 
(cf. 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Students with Disabilities)) 
Upon investigation of a sexual harassment complaint, any employee found to have engaged in sexual harassment or sexual violence 
toward any student shall have his/her employment terminated in accordance with laws, and the applicable collective bargaining 
agreement. 
(cf. 4117.4 - Dismissal) 
(cf. 4117.7 - Employment Status Report) 
(cf. 4118 - Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
(cf. 4218 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
(cf. 4119.11/4219.11/4319.11 - Sexual Harassment) 
Record-Keeping 
The Superintendent or designee shall maintain a record of all reported cases of sexual harassment to enable the district to monitor, 
address, and prevent repetitive harassing behavior in district schools. (cf. 3580 - District Records) 
 
 
C. Staff Training: All LUSD staff engage in mandated sexual harassment training annually. 
 
 
(F) School-wide Dress Code Relating to Gang-Related Apparel (EC 35183) 
A. Board Policies: 
BP 5132Students 
The Governing Board believes that appropriate dress and grooming contribute to a productive learning environment. The Board 
expects students to give proper attention to persona cleanliness and to wear clothes suitable for the school activities in which they 
participate. Students' clothing must not present a health or safety hazard or a distraction that would interfere with the educational 
process. (cf. 4119.22 Dress and Grooming) 
(cf. 5145.2 -Freedom of Speech/Expression) 
Students and parents/guardians shall be informed about dress and grooming standards at the beginning of the school year and 
whenever these standards are revised. Students who violate these standards shall be subject to appropriate disciplinary action. (cf. 
5144- Discipline) 
Gang-Related Apparel 
The principal, staff and parents/guardians at a school may establish a reasonable dress code prohibiting students from wearing 
gang-related apparel when there is evidence of a gang presence that disrupts or threatens to disrupt the school's activities. Such a 
dress code may be included as part of the school safety plan and must be presented to the Board for approval. The Board shall 
approve the plan upon determining that it is necessary to protect the health and safety of the school's students. (cf. 0450- 
Comprehensive Safety Plan)( cf. 5136- Gangs) 
 
Governing Board policy and administrative regulations. These school dress codes shall be regularly reviewed.(cf. 0420- School 
Plans/Site Councils) 
DRESS POLICY 
1. DREAM Academy is a place of learning, and our students' dress and appearance should reflect this image. 
2. Clothes should be neat, clean, and appropriate to the school learning environment. 
3. Clothes and Personal Belongings with inappropriate pictures or language or with beer, alcohol, drug,  or tobacco slogans are 
prohibited. Clothing or personal belongings with symbols or language that is offensive or derogatory to ethnicities or 
groups are not appropriate for school. Students who dress inappropriately will be asked to change clothes. 
4. Spaghetti-strap type tops, "belly" shirts, halter tops, "sagger" shorts/pants, and short shorts are inappropriate for school. 
Sleeveless tanks and shirts must be at least 1 ½ inches wide at the shoulder. 
5. Appropriate shoes must be worn at all times. Students must wear socks and closed-toed, full-heel shoes suitable for P.E. activities. 
Flip-flops, slippers, sandals, "heelies", high heels, or platform-style shoes are  NOT ALLOWED. If your child cannot 
tie his/her shoes, please use Velcro style closer or slip on tennis shoes. 
Each school shall allow students to wear sun-protective clothing, including but not limited to hats, for outdoor use during the school 
day. (Education Code 35183.5) 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 27 of 50 9/30/24 
 

(cf. 3260- Fees  and Charges) 
No grade of a student participating in a physical education class shall be adversely affected if the student does not wear 
standardized physical education apparel because of circumstances beyond the student's control . (Education Code 49066) 
(cf. 5121- Grades  /Evaluation of Student Achievement) 
The principal, staff, students and parent/guardians at each school may establish reasonable dress and grooming regulations when 
students are engaged in extracurricular or other special school activities. Gang-Related Apparel At individual schools that have a 
dress code prohibiting gang-related apparel at school or school activities, the principal, staff and parents/guardians participating in 
the development of the school safety plan shall define "gang-related apparel" and shall limit this definition to apparel that 
reasonably could be determined to threaten the health and safety of the school environment if it were worn or displayed on a 
school campus. (Education Code 32282)Because gang-related symbols are constantly changing, definitions of gang-related apparel 
shall be reviewed at least once each semester and updated whenever related information is received. 
 
 
(G) Procedure for Safe Ingress and Egress of Pupils, Parents, and Staff to and from School (EC 35294.2) 
Beyond planning for daily ingress/egress routes and emergency evacuation routes, assisting students, staff, and visitors with 
disabilities. Under the Americans, individuals who are deaf/hard of hearing, blind/partially sighted, mobility or 
cognitively/emotionally impaired must be assisted. 
Planning 
It is recommended that schools identify the location of potential evacuation sites based on the potential circumstances that may 
cause the school population to move or relocate. 
On-Campus Evacuation/Assembly Location 
Review your school site layout and determine where the safest outdoor location for your students and staff. 
The outdoor location will be the lower playground or the upper parking lot.  These are to be determined by the type and location of 
the emergency.  In the case of a building fire, we will evacuate to the upper parking lot. 
Before an event: 
Identify off-campus evacuation site(s). Establish a memorandum of agreement with the evacuation site(s). 
Due to our campus's location, no commercial property is available for evacuation by foot.  All students would need transportation 
out of the area.  We have made arrangements with a neighbor for students to assemble there in case of a need to evacuate the 
school campus. 
 
Provide the addresses of at least two off-campus locations that have agreed to your school population.  Primary Off-Site 
Evacuation/Assembly Location 
Organization: Shelly Friszell 
Address: 11734 Valle Vista Rd Lakeside, CA 92040 
Contact Shelly 
Phone Number: (619) 861-4957 
 
 
Organization: Lakeside National Little League 
Address: 10030 Marathon Pkwy, Lakeside, CA 92040 
Contact 
Phone Number: (619) 596-6926 
 
In the event of an airborne chemical or biological release, it is safest for s at the school site.  Follow the "Shelter-in-Place" 
procedures. 
Staff Training 
All staff have been trained on the evacuation locations. 
 
 
(I) School Discipline Rules and Consequences (EC 35291 and EC 35291.5) 
 
Lakeside Union Alternative Education "DREAM Academy" Student Conduct Code 
A. Statement of Rules and Procedures on School Discipline 
 
Education Code 44807: 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 28 of 50 9/30/24 
 

"Every teacher in the public schools shall hold Pupils to a strict account for their conduct on the way to and from school, on the 
playgrounds, or during recess. A teacher, vice principal, principal, or any other certificated employee of a school district, shall not be 
subject to criminal prosecution or criminal penalties for the exercise, during the performance of his duties, of the same degree of 
physical control over a pupil that a parent would be legally privileged to exercise but which in no event shall exceed the amount of 
physical control reasonably necessary to maintain order, protect property, or protect the health and safety of pupils, or to maintain 
proper and appropriate conditions conducive to learning." 
 
B. Notification to Students and Parents 
 
Education Code 35291: 
Parents and students shall be notified of the District and school site rules pertaining to student discipline at the beginning of the first 
semester, and at the time of enrollment for students who enroll thereafter. 
The discipline policy shall be reviewed annually with input from the Discipline Team, site administrators, campus security, staff, 
students, and parents. 
 
C. Staff Training 
DREAM Academy will review Safety Plans and Procedures with all staff in August/September 2024, Jan 2025, Mar 2025. Staff will 
participate in run/hide/fight training in Jan 2023 and every other year thereafter. 
The faculty meets regularly on Wednesdays to review student behavior as it affects learning in the classroom and the resources we 
have for students who need extra interventions to be successful. 
Our staff is trained to record minor incidents and to follow up with major incidents immediately. 
 
D. School Discipline Chart and/or Selected Disciplinary Policies and Procedures. 
Board Policies: BP5144 Discipline: The Governing Board is committed to providing a safe, supportive, and positive school 
environment which is conducive to student learning and achievement and desires to prepare students for responsible citizenship by 
fostering self-discipline and personal responsibility. The Board believes that high expectations for student behavior, use of effective 
school and classroom management strategies, provision of appropriate intervention and support, and parent/guardian involvement 
can minimize the need for disciplinary measures that exclude students from instruction as a means for correcting student 
misbehavior. 
Site-level rules shall be consistent with state law Board policies, and administrative regulations. In developing site-level disciplinary 
rules, the principal or designee shall solicit the participation, views, and advice of one representative selected by each of the 
following groups: (Education Code 35291.5) 
1. Parents/guardians 
2. Teachers 
3. School Administrators 
 
Annually, site-level discipline rules shall be reviewed and, if necessary, updated to align with any changes in state law, district 
discipline policies and regulations, and/or goals for school safety and climate as specified in the district's local control and 
accountability plan. A copy of the rules shall be filed with the Superintendent or designee for inclusion in the comprehensive safety 
plan. 
School rules shall be communicated to students clearly and in an age-appropriate manner. 
It shall be the duty of each employee of the school to enforce the school rules on student discipline. ( Education Code 35291.5) 
 
Disciplinary Strategies 
To the extent possible, staff shall use disciplinary strategies that keep students in school and participating in the instructional 
program. Except when students' presence causes a danger to themselves or others or they commit a single act of a grave nature or 
an offense for which suspension or expulsion is required by law, suspension or expulsion shall be used only when other means of 
correction have failed to bring about proper conduct. Disciplinary strategies may include, but are not limited to: 
1. Discussion or conference between school staff and the student and parents/guardians (cf. 5020 - Parent Rights and 
Responsibilities) 
(cf. 6020 - Parent Involvement) 
2. Referral of the student to the school counselor or other school support service personnel for case management and counseling 
(cf. 5138 - Conflict Resolution/Peer Mediation) (cf. 6164.2 - Guidance/Counseling Services) 
3. Convening of a study team, guidance team, resource panel, or other intervention-related team to assess the behavior and develop 
and implement an individual plan to address the behavior in partnership with the student and parents/guardians 
(cf. 6164.5 - Student Success Teams) 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 29 of 50 9/30/24 
 

4. When applicable, referral for a comprehensive psychosocial or psychoeducational assessment, 
including for purposes of creating an individualized education program or a Section 504 plan (cf. 6159 - Individualized Education 
Program) 
(cf. 6164.6 - Identification and Education under Section 504) 
5. Enrollment in a program for teaching prosocial behavior or anger management 
6. Participation in a restorative justice program 
7. A positive behavior support approach with tiered interventions that occur during the school day on 
campus 
8. Participation in a social and emotional learning program that teaches students the ability to understand 
and manage emotions, develop caring and concern for others, make responsible decisions, establish 
positive relationships, and handle challenging situations capably 
9. Participation in a program that is sensitive to the traumas experienced by students, focuses on students' 
behavioral health needs, and addresses those needs in a proactive manner 
10. After-school programs that address specific behavioral issues or expose students to positive activities and behaviors, including, 
but not limited to, those operated in collaboration with local parent and community groups 
(cf. 5148.2 - Before/After School Programs) 
11. Recess restriction as provided in the section below entitled "Recess Restriction" 
12. Detention after school hours as provided in the section below entitled "Detention After School" 
13. Community service as provided in the section below entitled "Community Service" 
14. In accordance with Board policy and administrative regulation, restriction or disqualification from 
participation in extracurricular activities 
(cf. 6145 - Extracurricular/Cocurricular Activities) 
15. Reassignment to an alternative educational environment (cf. 6158 - Independent Study) 
(cf. 6181 - Alternative Schools/Programs of Choice) 
(cf. 6184 - Continuation Education) 
(cf. 6185 - Community Day School) 
16. Suspension and expulsion in accordance with law, Board policy, and administrative regulation 
(cf. 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process) 
(cf. 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Students with Disabilities)) 
When, by law or district policy, other means of correction are required to be implemented before a student could be suspended or 
expelled, any other means of correction implemented shall be documented and retained in the student's records. (Education Code 
48900.5) 
(cf. 5125 - Student Records) 
Recess Restriction 
Teachers may restrict a student's recess time only when they believe that this action is the most effective way to bring about 
improved behavior. When recess restriction involves the withholding of physical activity from a student, teachers shall try other 
disciplinary measures before imposing the restriction. Recess restriction shall be subject to the following conditions: 
1. The student shall be given adequate time to use the restroom and get a drink or eat lunch, as appropriate. 
2. The student shall remain under a certificated employee's supervision during the period of restriction. 
3. The student's teacher shall inform the principal of any recess restrictions imposed. 
(cf. 5030 - Student Wellness) 
(cf. 6142.7 - Physical Education and Activity) 
Detention After School 
Students may be detained for disciplinary reasons for up to one hour after the close of the maximum school day, or until the 
departure of the school bus to which they have been 
assigned if applicable. 
(5 CCR 307, 353) 
The student shall not be detained unless the principal or designee notifies the parent/guardian. Students shall remain under the 
supervision of a certificated employee during the period of detention. Students may be offered the choice of serving their detention 
on Saturday rather than after school. (cf. 6176 - Weekend/Saturday Classes) 
Community Service 
As part of or instead of disciplinary action, the Board, Superintendent, principal, or principal's designee may require a student to 
perform community service during nonschool hours, on school grounds, or, with written permission of the student's 
parent/guardian, off school grounds. Such service may include, but is not limited to, community or school outdoor beautification, 
campus betterment, and teacher, peer, or youth assistance programs. (Education Code 48900.6) 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 30 of 50 9/30/24 
 

This community service option is not available for a student who has been suspended, pending expulsion, pursuant to Education 
Code 48915. However, if the recommended expulsion is not implemented or the expulsion itself is suspended, then a student may 
be required to perform community service for the resulting suspension. (Education Code 48900.6) 
Notice to Parents/Guardians and Students 
At the beginning of the school year, the Superintendent or designee shall notify parents/guardians, in writing 
, about the availability of district rules related to discipline. (Education Code 35291, 48980) (cf. 5145.6 - Parental Notifications) 
The Superintendent or designee shall also provide written notice of the rules related to discipline to transfer students at the time of 
their enrollment in the district. 
Regulation LAKESIDE UNION SCHOOL DISTRICT approved: September 17, 2012 Lakeside, California revised: June 27, 2019 
D. School Discipline Chart and/or Selected Disciplinary Policies and Procedures. 
Have Low-level Referrals and Office Referrels 
 
 
 
Conduct Code Procedures 
 
 
 
 
(J) Procedures to Prepare for Active Shooters 
Run/hide/fight training for staff in Jan 2023.  This training is done every other year. 
 
Procedures for Preventing Acts of Bullying and Cyber-bullying 
At DREAM Academy, we have cultivated a strong sense of community and kindness within our campus environment. We prioritize 
the development of meaningful relationships, not only within the classroom but also throughout the entire school community. 
 
To foster this sense of community, our students engage in various community-building activities where they are paired with buddies. 
These activities are designed to be enjoyable while promoting collaboration, patience, and kindness as students work together to 
accomplish shared tasks. 
 
Furthermore, our dedicated teachers incorporate Social and Emotional Learning (SEL) lessons into the curriculum, addressing topics 
such as bullying prevention, how to treat others with kindness, and the importance of empathy. 
 
For middle school students, we offer access to the P3 app, which allows them to report instances of bullying, ensuring that any 
concerns are promptly addressed. We encourage all our students to become up-standers rather than bystanders and to reach out to 
a trusted adult if they believe bullying is taking place. 
 
In addition to these initiatives, our 4/5 teacher has undergone training in the Hope Squad program and will establish a student Hope 
Squad on campus. We are also actively working towards the implementation of a peace patrol or a similar student support group. 
 
Our students engage in a Social-Emotional Learning (SEL) Project-Based Learning (PBL) unit focused on identity, community, and 
their roles within the DREAM community. This unit emphasizes kindness, acceptance, and nurtures a strong sense of belonging. 
 
Recognizing the importance of digital citizenship, all our students participate in Digital Citizenship lessons. These lessons cover topics 
such as cyberbullying, how to identify it, and what steps to take if they encounter it online. 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 31 of 50 9/30/24 
 

 
Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures 
 
The safety plan is developed through consultation with community safety personnel to craft a comprehensive strategy aimed at 
ensuring the security of DREAM Academy. Subsequently, this plan undergoes a thorough review by the School Site Council (SSC) and 
is communicated to the staff. Should any modifications be deemed necessary, the SSC will examine and grant approval for the 
required adjustments. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 32 of 50 9/30/24 
 

 
Safety Plan Appendices 
 
  



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 33 of 50 9/30/24 
 

 
Emergency Contact Numbers 
 
Utilities, Responders and Communication Resources 
 

Type Vendor Number Comments 

Law 
Enforcement/Fire/Paramed
ic 

 619-938-1360  

School District  619-390-2600  

Emergency Services  911  

Law 
Enforcement/Fire/Paramed
ic 

Lakeside Fire 619-390-2350  

Law 
Enforcement/Fire/Paramed
ic 

San Diego Sherriff Dispatch 858-565-5200  

Law 
Enforcement/Fire/Paramed
ic 

Ca Highway Patrol 800-835-5247  

Law 
Enforcement/Fire/Paramed
ic 

CAL Fire 619-590-3100  

 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 34 of 50 9/30/24 
 

 
Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures 
 

Activity Description 
(i.e. review steps, meetings conducted, approvals, etc) Date and Time Attached Document 

(description and location) 
Safety Plan Reviewed by SSC 9/19/24  

Safety Plan approved by SSC 9/19/24  

Safety Plan shared with staff 08/28/2024 10/02/2024  

Meet with Community safety officer   

 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 35 of 50 9/30/24 
 

 
Lakeside Union Alternative Education "DREAM Academy" Incident Command System 
 

--------     Incident Commander     

--------     Brooke Dexheimer--------     

--------           

--------   Safety Officer   Public Information Officer   

--------   Victoria Jones--------   
Rachel Camarero 

390-2610 
-------- 

  

--------           

--------   Scribe       

--------   Kim Minden--------       

--------           

--------           

Operations ------- Planning/ 
Intelligence  Logistics  Finance/Administration 

Kim Minden-------- ------- Elizabeth Upchurch--------  Aimee Carter--------  District Office/Kim-------- 

--------           

--------           

--------  First Aid & Search 
Teacher A        

--------  Matt White/Brenda Potts-------
-        

--------           

--------  
Student Release & 

Accountability 
TeacherB 

       

--------  Michelle Mikulanis-Brown------
--        

 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 36 of 50 9/30/24 
 

 
Incident Command Team Responsibilities 
 
Standardized Emergency Response Management System Overview 
The California Standardized Emergency Management System (SEMS) is designed to centralize and coordinate emergency response 
through the use of standardized terminology and processes. This greatly facilitates the flow of information and resources among the 
agencies participating in response to an emergency. SEMS consists of five functions: 
Incident Commander: Brooke Dexheimer 
Planning & Intelligence: Elizabeth Upchurch 
Operations: Kim Minden 
Logistics: Aimee Carter 
Finance & Administration: District Office/Kim 
 
 
Management 
During an emergency, the Incident Commander directs response actions from a designated Command Post. To effectively do this, 
the Incident Commander must constantly assess the situation, and develop and implement appropriate strategies. The Incident 
Commander must be familiar with the available resources, accurately document all response actions, and effectively communicate 
response strategies to others participating in the response. This function is typically filled by the school principal. The principal is 
assisted in carrying out this function by a Public Information & Liaison Officer and Safety Officer. 
 
Planning & Intelligence 
Planning and Intelligence involves the use of various methods to efficiently gather information, weigh and document the information 
for significance, and actively assess the status of the emergency. This understanding and knowledge about the situation at hand is 
vital to the effective management of a response. These activities are performed by a single person who reports directly to the 
Incident Commander. 
 
Operations 
All response actions are implemented under by Operations. This includes staff performing first aid, crisis intervention, search and 
rescue, site security, damage assessment, evacuations, and the release of students. 
 
Logistics 
Logistics supports the response by coordinating personnel; assembling and deploying volunteers; providing supplies, equipment, and 
services; and facilitating communications among emergency responders. 
 
Finance & Administration 
Finance & Administration involves the purchasing of all necessary materials, tracking financial records, timekeeping for emergency 
responders, and recovering school records following an emergency. These activities are performed by a single person who reports 
directly to the Incident Commander. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 37 of 50 9/30/24 
 

 
Emergency Response Guidelines 
 
Step One: Identify the Type of Emergency 
 
 
 
Step Two: Identify the Level of Emergency 
 
 
 
Step Three: Determine the Immediate Response Action 
 
 
 
Step Four: Communicate the Appropriate Response Action 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 38 of 50 9/30/24 
 

 
Types of Emergencies & Specific Procedures 
 
Armed Assault on Campus 
Lockdown: Active Shooter 
An Active shooter/Lockdown Alert is sounded if there is a sniper, armed intruder or active shooter on campus. Staff members have a 
very limited amount of time in which to commit to a course of action. Immediately assess both the situation and the surrounding 
environment and responds to the situation based upon the Active shooter Training and drills. This is also true for your students who 
may need to become resources for substitutes or who are alone when an event occurs. 
 
Remember, the Active shooter response is a partnership with local law enforcement. 
 
Immediate actions should include: 
 
Students and staff go into classrooms/buildings or run to off-site evacuation areas. 
LOCKDOWN includes building door barricades, internal barricades, covering windows and turning off/dimming lights. 
Notify administration 
Call 9-1-1 if you know the location of the shooter, the description or identity of the shooter or if you need medical direction for a 
victim. 
Administration notifies the Superintendent 
 
Intermediate activities: 
 
Place a red card under the door/in a window if you have a serious injury in the classroom. 
Take roll 
Conduct anxiety-reducing activities 
 
Evacuation: 
 
Prepare students and yourself for a quick evacuation 
Follow directions of law enforcement when they arrive 
 
 
Biological or Chemical Release 
Poisoning, Chemical Spills, Hazardous Materials 
POISONING: 
 
If a student ingests a poisonous substance: 
 
Call Poison Control Center Link Line 1-800-222-1222. Take appropriate first aid measures. Call parents. 
Notify the Health Services Office. 
 
Following any emergency, notify the District Superintendents' Office 
 
CHEMICAL SPILL ON SITE: 
 
The following are guidelines for Chemical Spills: 
 
Evacuate the immediate area of personnel 
Determine whether to initiate Shelter In Place Protocol 
Secure the area (block points of entry) 
Identify the chemical and follow the procedures for that particular chemical. Notify the District Office. 
 
CHEMICAL SPILL OFF SITE INVOLVING DISTRICT EQUIPMENT/PROPERTY 
 
 Notify the Todd Owens with the following information: 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 39 of 50 9/30/24 
 

• Date, time, and exact location of the release or threatened release 
• Name and telephone number of person reporting 
• Type of chemical involved and the estimated quantity 
• Description of potential hazards presented by the spill 
• Document time and date notification made 
• Other emergency personnel responding (Highway Patrol, CALTRANS, etc.) 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 40 of 50 9/30/24 
 

Locate a fire extinguisher and have present, should the need arise 
Place reflective triangles or traffic cones if in street or highway. DO NOT LIGHT FLARES! 
If spill response equipment is available use it to take the necessary measures to prevent the spill from spreading. 
 
Reporting Chemical Spills 
 
Once an emergency spill response has been completed, the person reporting the initial spill must complete a SPILL RESPONSE 
EVALUATION. The incident must be reported to the Superintendent WITHIN 24 HOURS OF THE SPILL. 
 
Spill Clean Up 
 
Chemical Spills may not be cleaned up by school personnel. Call the District Office at [Insert District Office Contact Name] and [Insert 
District Office Phone Number]. The cleanup will be coordinated through a designated contractor. 
 
HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES 
 
Hazardous Substances include the following, but is not limited to the following: 
 
Gasoline 
Solvents 
Motor Oil 
Diesel Fuel 
Kerosene 
Anti-Freeze 
Airborne Gases/Fumes 
Lacquer Thinner 
Paint 
Agricultural Spray 
Paint Thinner 
Stain 
Brake Fluid 
 
Always call for assistance and: 
 
Extinguish all ignition sources 
Shut off main emergency switch to fuel pump, if appropriate 
Move appropriate fire extinguishing equipment to area 
If possible, contain the spill to prevent further contamination 
Move people/personnel away or evacuate from contamination area 
 
If the spill is too great to handle, contact the District Office Todd Owens and (619) 390-2800 . 
 
Staff and students will evacuate the area immediately, if appropriate. Move uphill, upwind, upstream if possible. 
 
VEHICLE FUEL SPILL 
 
When a spill has occurred, the first thing to do is to keep the situation from worsening. Follow these steps: 
 
Shut off emergency switch 
Avoid skin contact 
Isolate the spill from people and vehicles by blocking all points of entry 
Stop and evaluate any hazards 
Prevent discharge into storm drains. Divert the flow by sealing off areas with absorbents. Prevent runoff. Use absorbent "socks" or 
"booms" to contain the spill 
Identify the source, estimated quantity spilled and stop further release(s) - IF IT CAN BE DONE 
SAFELY 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 41 of 50 9/30/24 
 

Take care of any injured Notify the District Office. 
If the spill is unmanageable, contact the Fire Department by calling 9-1-1 
 
If, after attempted containment, the release still poses either a present or a potential threat, notify the California Office of 
Emergency Services and local emergency assistance organizations (fire, police, etc.). Give the following information: 
 
Date, time, and exact location of the release 
Name and telephone number of persons reporting the release 
The type of fuel spilled and the estimated quantity 
Description of potential hazards presented by the fuel spill 
Document the time and date notification was made and the information provided 
A written report to the appropriate office of the California Department of Health Services is required within 15 days after the 
incident. Contact the District for assistance with this report. 
 
Bio Terrorism 
Anthrax Threat 
 
How to identify suspicious letters or packages 
 
Some characteristics of suspicious letters or packages include the following: 
 
Excessive postage 
Handwritten or poorly typed addresses 
Incorrect titles 
Title, but no name 
Misspellings of common words 
Oily stains, discolorations or odors 
No return address 
Excessive weight 
Lopsided or uneven envelop 
Protruding wires or aluminum foil 
Excessive security material such as masking tape, string, etc. 
Visual distractions 
Ticking sound 
Marked with restrictive endorsements, such as "Personal" or "Confidential." Shows a city or state in the postmark that does not 
match the return address. 
 
Suspicious unopened letter or package marked with threatening message such as "Anthrax" 
 
Do not shake or empty the contents of any suspicious envelop or package. 
Place the envelope or package in a plastic bag or some other type of container to prevent leakage of contents. 
If you do not have any container, then cover the envelope or package with anything (e.g., clothing, paper, trash can, etc.) and do not 
remove this cover. 
Then leave the room and close the door, or section off the area to prevent others from entering. 
Wash your hands with soap and water to prevent spreading any powder to your face. 
If you are at home, report the incident to the local police. If you are at work, report the incident to the local police and your site 
administrator. 
List all people who were in the room or area when this suspicious letter or package was recognized. Give the list to both the local 
public health authorities and law enforcement officials for follow-up investigations and advice. 
 
Envelope with powder or powder spills out onto a surface 
 
Do not try to clean up the powder. Cover the spilled contents immediately with anything and do not remove this cover. 
Leave the room and close the door or section off the area to prevent others from entering. 
Wash your hands with soap and water to prevent spreading any powder to your face. 
If you are at home, CALL 9-1-1 to report the incident. If you are at work, CALL 9-1-1 and your site administrator to report the 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 42 of 50 9/30/24 
 

incident. 
Remove heavily contaminated clothing as soon as possible and place in a plastic bag, or some other container that can be sealed. 
The clothing bag should be given to the emergency responders for proper disposal. 
Shower with soap and water as soon as possible. Do not use bleach or other disinfectant on your skin. If possible, list all people who 
were in the room or area, especially those who had actual contact with the powder. Give the list to both the local police and public 
health authorities so that proper instructions can be given for medical follow-up and further investigation. 
 
Possible room contamination by aerosol 
 
(Examples: small devices triggered warning that air handling systems is contaminated, or warning that a biological agent is released 
in a public space.) 
 
Turn off local fans or ventilation units in the area. 
Leave the area immediately. 
Close the door or section off the area to prevent others from entering. 
Move upwind, uphill, upstream. 
If you are at home, report the incident to the local police. If you are at work, report the incident to the local police and your site 
administrator. 
Shut down air handling systems in the building if possible. 
If possible, list all people who were in the room or area, especially those who had actual contact with the powder. Give the list to 
both the local police and public health authorities so that proper instructions can be given for medical follow-up and further 
investigation. 
 
DO NOT PANIC 
 
Anthrax organisms can cause infection in the skin, gastrointestinal system, or the lungs. In order for this to happen, the organism 
must be rubbed into abraded skin, swallowed, or inhaled as a fine, aerosolized mist. Disease can be prevented after exposure to the 
anthrax spores by early treatment with the appropriate antibiotics. Anthrax is not spread from one person to another person. 
 
For anthrax to be effective as a covert agent, it must be aerosolized into very small particles. This is difficult to do and requires a 
great deal of technical skill and special equipment. If these small particles are inhaled, life threatening lung infection can occur, but 
prompt recognition and treatment are effective. 
 
Botulism 
 
Botulism infection is extremely rare, with fewer than 200 cases reported in the U.S. each year. There are two forms of botulism 
which are associated with a terrorist act: 
 
Food Borne Botulism 
 
The bacterium is ingested with the contaminated food source. 
 
Symptoms begin within 6 hours to 2 weeks, but most commonly between 12 to 36 hours after eating contaminated foods. 
 
Double or blurred vision, drooping eyelids, slurred speck, difficulty swallowing, dry mouth, and a descending muscle weakness that 
affects the shoulders first, then upper arms, lower arms, thighs, calves, etc. 
 
These symptoms may be proceeded by gastrointestinal disorder such as abdominal cramps, nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea. 
Paralysis of the respiratory muscles will cause death unless the person is assisted by mechanical ventilation. Botulism toxin can occur 
naturally in undercooked food, but the frequency of this is extremely rare. 
 
Inhalational Botulism 
 
Inhalation botulism results from the inhalation of the aerosolized toxin. A small amount of aerosolized toxin released into the wind 
can have a devastating effect on the surrounding population. Notwithstanding, inhalational botulism could be inflicted upon a more 
limited number of victims by introducing a contaminated object into an enclosed area such as inside of a building. The symptoms are 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 43 of 50 9/30/24 
 

indistinguishable from those of food borne botulism, except that the gastrointestinal signs sometimes associated with food borne 
botulism may not occur. 
 
Botulism cannot be transmitted from one person to another. There is no vaccine for botulism treatment at this time. However, 
treatment consists of passive immunization with equine anti-toxins and supportive patient care. 
 
Smallpox 
 
Smallpox infection results from the variola virus. The disease was once worldwide in scope. Before people were vaccinated, almost 
everyone contracted the disease. The virus was effectively eradicated from the world in the late 1970's, and the World Health 
Organization recommended governments cease routine vaccinations in 1980. 
 
Vaccination has proven effective in preventing the disease in exposed persons if administered within 4 days of exposure. 
 
Smallpox is a highly contagious infectious disease that has a mortality rate of about 30%. Since the 
discontinuation of vaccination in the early 1980's, virtually no one is protected against the disease today. The U.S. government is 
currently working to address the need for vaccinations. There is no proven treatment should infection occur.  
 
Immunization and Mass Prophylaxis Pandemic and Bio Terrorism 
This Bio-Terrorism Support Plan (Plan) provides basic steps to guide designated Lakeside Union School District County Public Health 
Department, City of Lakeside and Health Services school district officials in establishing middle and high schools as immunization 
centers (mass prophylaxis centers) contingent upon a Memorandum of Understanding being signed. 
 
This Plan is a living document subject to periodic revisions when needed. 
 
In the event of a bio-terrorism outbreak and based upon the Metropolitan Medical Response Plan, local officials will have 
determined which areas within the city to be quarantined, hot and cold zones. A quarantined area is defined as a specified area 
where isolation is enforced. A hot zone is defined as a contaminated area. A cold zone is an unaffected area. 
 
Once the situation has been assessed and Public Health identifies the need to open an immunization center (mass prophylaxis 
center), then Public Health will contact the city. Subsequently, the City will contact the school district emergency contact to begin 
the process of coordinating the opening of an immunization center (mass prophylaxis center). 
 
Preparedness Steps 
 
The following provides guidelines for school district management in preparing, in advance, issues that need to be addressed during 
non-emergency times to ensure school district and school site readiness. 
Statement of Agreement signed by San Diego County Public Health Department, City and school district 
Examine the Public Health Department's Liability Coverage for using school district sites as mass prophylaxis centers. 
Establish that the City will provide security for the school district site 
Define how long the Immunization center (mass prophylaxis center) can be open and what type of furnishings are needed for the 
center. 
Ensure a manager is provided by the Public Health Department to oversee center operations Identify the need to train site personnel 
in administering inoculations and agree upon how these 
individuals will be compensated for their time by the Public Health Department Establish who will be responsible for clean up 
 
Public Health Department contacts City OES who then initiates contact with appropriate School district authorized contact (see 
emergency contact list for school district) 
 
1) Superintendent's Office: Lisa DeRosier  
 
2) School District Security: Todd Owens  
 
3) Custodial Services or Facilities: Todd Owens  
 
The City OES informs Police Department that authorization has been given to open the appropriate site(s). Only gymnasiums will be 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 44 of 50 9/30/24 
 

utilized. The school district official then follows the guidelines shown below: 
 
Authorized school official contact will inform Superintendent or designee of the opening of the school site(s) as an immunization 
center (mass prophylaxis center). 
If school is not in session or if mass prophylaxis center opening occurs after hours, school site personnel or authorized City Police 
Department will be present to actually unlock the site for Public Health Department 
Establish that the City will provide security for the school district site 
Contact principal of the school site being converted into an immunization center (mass prophylaxis center) 
Prior to turning school site over to the Public Health Department as a mass prophylaxis center, school site personnel will: 

• Perform a site check to record current condition of the area to be used as an immunization center (mass prophylaxis 
center) 

• Inventory usable materials within the center's designated area (see Site Inventory form in this section), i.e. toilet tissues, 
paper towels, soap 

• Ensure all other areas of the school site are not accessible to mass prophylaxis center personnel or public 
SCHOOL DISTRICT site personnel will unlock the school site upon arrival of Public Health Department and their staff 
 
Closing the Center 
 
Upon closing of the center, the Public Health Department ensures the site is secure and center manager has tracked school supplies 
and materials used. 
 
School site personnel compares supplies and materials used, physical property loss and damages 
Both Public Health Department City and school site personnel inspect shelter site for -Material and supplies used 

• Property loss 
• Property damage 

When inspection is completed, school site personnel gives Business Services Department a report of materials used and property 
damaged/loss (photograph) 
Business Services 

• Gives property loss/damage to Risk Management to determine cost of property loss and repair costs 
• Formalizes letter Public Health Department to file a claim covering loss and material usage 

 
 
 
Bomb Threat/ Threat Of violence 
Bomb Threat 
THE PERSON RECEIVING THE BOMB THREAT WILL: 
 
Attempt to gain as much information as possible when the threat is received. Do not hang up on the caller. 
Use the "bomb threat checklist" form (attached) as a guide to collect the information needed. Don't be bashful about asking direct, 
specific questions about the threat. Keep the caller on the phone as long as possible. If the threat is received by phone, attempt to 
gain more information. 
The most important information is: 
When will the bomb explode and where is the bomb located? 
Immediately after receiving the bomb threat, the person receiving the call will verbally notify the building administrator of the threat 
received. Complete the "bomb threat checklist" form (attached). Turn off cellular phones and/or walkie-talkie radios (transmits radio 
waves--could trigger a bomb). 
 
BUILDING ADMINISTRATOR WILL (IF NECESSARY): 
 
 Call 9-1-1. Give the following information: 

• Your name -Your call-back phone number 
• Exact street location with the nearest cross street 
• Nature of incident 
• Number and location of people involved and/or injured Notify Superintendent's Office. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 45 of 50 9/30/24 
 

Evacuate involved buildings using fire drill procedures. Principal must have Superintendent's permission to evacuate the entire site. 
Implement a systematic inspection of the facilities to determine if everyone is out. 
Fire Department or Police Officers shall organize a search team to check for suspicious objects; a bomb can be disguised to look like 
any common object. Site employees should be ready to assist as needed. 
Maintain an open telephone line for communications. 
Secure all exits to prevent re-entry to buildings during the search period. 
Be certain people stay clear of all buildings; a bomb(s) may be planted against an outside wall. The blast will be directed in large part 
away from the building. Re-occupy buildings only when proper authorities give clearance 
 
 
 
Earthquake 
B. Earthquake: Drop, Cover, and Hold 
Earthquake procedures in the classroom or office 
 
At the first indication of ground movement, you should DROP to the ground. It will soon be impossible to stand upright during the 
earthquake. Getting to the ground will prevent being thrown to the ground. 
 
You should seek protective COVER under or near desks, tables, or chairs in a kneeling or sitting position. 
 
You should HOLD onto the table or chair legs. Holding onto the legs will prevent it from moving away from you during the quake. 
Protect your eyes from flying glass and debris with your arm covering your eyes. 
 
You should remain in the DROP position until ground movement ends. Be prepared to DROP, COVER and HOLD during aftershocks. 
 
After ground movement ends, check for injuries and safely evacuate the building. Move to a safe, open area, away from power lines 
and other overhead hazards. 
 
Earthquake procedures in other parts of the building 
 
At the first indication of ground movement, you should DROP to the ground. 
 
Take COVER under any available desk, table, or bench. If in a hallway, drop next to an inside wall in a kneeling position and cover the 
back of the neck with your hands. 
 
After ground movement ends, check for injuries and safely evacuate the building. Move to a safe, open area, away from power lines 
and other overhead hazards. 
 
Earthquake procedures while outside 
 
At the first indication of ground movement, move away from overhead hazards such as power lines, trees, and buildings. DROP to 
the ground and COVER the back of the neck with your hands. Be aware of aftershocks. Do not enter buildings until it is determined 
safe to do so. 
 
If walking to or from school, DO NOT RUN. Stay in the open. If the student is going to school, continue to the school. If going home, 
the student should continue to home. 
 
While in a vehicle or school bus, pull over to the side of the road and stop. If on a bridge, overpass, or under power lines, continue 
on until the vehicle is away from the overhead dangers. Wait until the ground movement stops and check for injuries. Be aware of 
aftershocks, downed wires, or roads blocked by debris. The Bus Driver is legally responsible for the welfare of student riders. 
 
 
Fire in Surrounding Area 
Fire Near School 
 
The Principal or designee shall: 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 46 of 50 9/30/24 
 

 
Determine the need to execute an evacuation if nearby fire poses an immediate threat to the students or the building. 
Notify the Fire Department by calling 911. 
Notify the Superintendent's office. 
Notify students and staff when it is safe to return to the school site under the direction of the Fire Department and in consultation 
with the Superintendent or designee. 
 
 
 
Fire on School Grounds 
Fire 
All classrooms and offices shall have an Emergency Exit sign and Evacuation Chart posted in a prominent location. 
 
Fire Within A School Building: 
 
In the event that a fire is detected within a school building, use the following procedures: 
 
 The Principal or Designee will: 

• Order an evacuation if the fire alarm doesn't work 
• Call 9-1-1 
• Notify the superintendent 

Teachers will supervise the evacuation of the classrooms to the designated areas according to the Emergency Exit Plan posted in 
every classroom and office. 
Teachers will close doors upon evacuating. 
Teachers will take their roll books to the evacuation site and take roll. Teachers will report any missing student(s) to their Team 
Supervisor/Administrator. 
The Head Custodian or designees shall assist by shutting off gas valves, electricity, etc., or other if necessary for evacuating, putting 
out the fire, etc. 
The Head Custodian or designee shall open necessary gates for fire truck and other emergency vehicle access when appropriate. The 
Head Custodian or designee will also keep access entrances open for emergency vehicles. 
 Notify students and staff when it is safe to return to the school site under the direction of the Fire Department and in consultation 
with the Superintendent or designee. 
 
 
Loss or Failure Of Utilities 
Power Outage/Rolling Blackouts 
IT IS THE DISTRICT'S INTENT THAT SCHOOLS WILL REMAIN OPEN DURING A POWER OUTAGE. 
 
There are several stages of alerts that are being broadcast over the radio: 
 
STAGE 1 EMERGENCY indicates that the operating reserves in the real time market are forecasted to be less than the California 
Independent System Operator (CAISO) Minimum Operating Reserves criteria. 
STAGE 2 EMERGENCY indicates that the operating reserves in the real time market are forecasted to be less than five (5) percent. 
STAGE 3 EMERGENCY indicates that the operating reserves in the real time market are forecasted to be less than 1.5 percent. 
 
If the district is notified of a STAGE 3 EMERGENCY, possible-affected sites will be contacted as soon as practicable. Once notified, 
turn off PCs, monitors, printers, copiers, and lights when not in use or not needed. If you cannot turn off the whole computer, turn 
off the monitor and the printer. Shut off lights in unoccupied rooms. In spite of everyone's best effort to communicate, it is possible 
that an outage will occur with no notice to the district. To keep abreast of the daily situation, listen to 740AM (KCBS) radio station as 
you are driving into work for the status of the day. 
 
PREPARING FOR AN OUTAGE 
 
Update each student's emergency card. 
Determine availability of portable lighting at site, i.e. flashlights & batteries. 
Find out that when power is lost, do emergency lights go on and do the "Exit" signs remain lit? 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 47 of 50 9/30/24 
 

Clear away materials and boxes from hallways and pathways. 
Check school district's PG&E Block list to determine in which PG&E block your site is located. As a note, Block 50's power will not be 
interrupted. 
Ask your teachers to have alternative teaching methods and plans to be used at STAGE 3 only. Conduct a survey of your site for the 
classrooms and offices with no windows and prepare relocation plans. 
Plan alternative communication methods that suit your site, such as runners, cell phones, or radios. Develop a site plan such as a 
buddy system or chaperone, for restrooms or any other necessary leave during this period. 
Have flashlights & replacement batteries available for the restrooms and other locations with no windows. 
Ask your staff and students to have seasonal warm clothing available. 
Use surge protectors for all computer equipment, major appliances and electronic devices. If you have electric smoke detectors, use 
a battery-powered smoke detector as a backup. 
 
DURING AN OUTAGE 
 
CONTACT MAINTENANCE & OPERTIONS IMMEDIATELY IF YOUR SITE IS EXPERIENCING A BLACKOUT. 
According to SBC (Telephone Company), phones connected directly to a phone jack will be operable. 
Phones that require power from an electrical outlet will not work. 
If an outage lasts more than 30 minutes, have pre-designated people walk through the campus and check on the status of 
individuals in each building. 
Use a buddy system when going to the restrooms. 
DO NOT USE barbecues, Coleman-type stoves, hibachis and other outdoor-cooking devices indoors. 
DO NOT USE candles or gas lanterns. 
Turn off PCs, monitors, printers, copiers, major appliances and lights when not in use or not needed. If you cannot turn off the whole 
computer, turn off the monitor and the printer. Shut off lights in unoccupied rooms. 
 
The rolling outages should not last more than two hours, and, with some preparation, business can be conducted as close to normal 
as possible. 
 
If a power outage is prolonged, the principal should contact the Superintendent for directions (release students/staff, evacuation to 
another site, etc.). 
 
 
 
Psychological Trauma 
It is critical to provide a mental health response for students, staff and parents after a crisis that has impacted a school. Often, this 
can be provided by district or local community resources. 
 
Victims of a crisis experience a real need to return to normal, but normal as they once knew it is forever gone and changed. 
Counselors and crisis survivors find the concept of a "new normal" to be very reassuring and accurate. 
 
One of the most important actions is simply to listen and allow victims to express his/her own needs and feelings. Encouragement 
and support, while avoiding judgmental remarks, is the goal. 
 
When the needs of the victims exceed the immediate resources available to the school, San Diego County Mental Health and the 
agencies working under its umbrella is available to support schools. 
 
Numerous agencies under the San Diego County Mental Health Department umbrella currently provide ongoing mental health 
services to students and families both at schools and within the neighborhood communities. These services are provided by licensed 
therapists, social workers or supervised interns. The services typically involve a one-on-one or family-oriented approach requiring a 
different skill set than an emergency mental health response to a community or school crisis. 
 
JOINT PROTOCOLS: 
 
To best prepare for and manage the mental health recovery phase within the San Diego  County though Memorandums of 
Understanding with agencies who would provide crisis responses. The M.O.U. would include the followings: 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 48 of 50 9/30/24 
 

Schools and/or school districts require, as part of their Memorandums of Understanding with agencies and/or universities, all 
interns, therapists and mental health workers complete a crisis response training with the San Diego  County Mental Health 
Department before reporting to their assigned campuses.   In the event of a major crisis at a school site, or multiple school sites, the 
school district will determine if additional mental health support is required or anticipated. The District or School Logistics Officer or 
designee can notify the Ethnic Population Services Specialist at the San Diego  County Mental Health Department. A licensed mental 
health representative will immediately be sent to the incident location to conduct an initial assessment and make recommendations 
to the school/district and Mental Health Department and its partnering agencies as to the requirements for a responding mental 
health team(s). 
The lead supervisor will work in concert with the school/district representative to help identify appropriate teams/agencies that can 
best address the needs of students, staff and families. 
The lead supervisor will work in concert with the school/district representative to ensure that teams have the correct credentials, 
provide appropriate triage services that do not compromise police/fire investigations and are rotated to avoid fatigue. 
In police, fire or district debriefings with school staff, parents and impacted students, a representative from the San Diego  County 
Mental Health Department or one of the partnering agencies will be in attendance in order to make referrals for support services as 
required by the attendees. 
In keeping with research on the predictable response to crisis situations, call center numbers will be provided in order that members 
of the community can access necessary support in the days, weeks and months beyond the event. 
 
 
Tactical Responses to Criminal Incidents 
Shelter-In-Place 
Shelter in Place may be directed should there be a danger in the community that could present a danger to the school community or 
a situation at the school that could harm students or staff if they are outdoors. Incidents could include gas leaks, chemical spills, 
mountain lions or a predator in the neighborhood. 
 
When instructed or when an alerting system triggers a Shelter in Place: 
 
 SHELTER. Go inside the nearest building or classroom and remain there. Lock the door. You are looking for enclosed protection from 
the outside. Teachers should quickly check halls and get students into classrooms. Teachers will keep all students in the classroom 
until the emergency is resolved or directed to evacuate by the Principal and/or Public Safety Responders. 
SHUT. Close all doors and windows. The tighter and more complete the seal the better. Close as many windows and doors between 
the outside and your shelter-in-place room as possible. 
LISTEN. Remain quiet to hear critical instructions from school officials. 

• If there is no direction, continue instructional/work activities until the situation resolves or you directed to do otherwise. 
 
ADDITIONAL STEPS FOR TEACHERS AND STAFF IF APPROPRIATE: 
 
Advise students to cover mouth and nose with a damp cloth or handkerchief to protect from any airborne hazards. 
A school official (or student if no official present) should close all vents and turn off ventilation systems. The goal is to keep inside air 
in and outside air out. Air conditioners and heating systems bring outside air in. 
Turn off all motors and fans. Still, non-moving air is best. Turn off anything that creates wind, generates extra heat, or could 
generate sparks. 
Advise students to remain sheltered until the "all-clear" signal is given by a school or local official. 
 
Intruder on Campus 
The campus intruder is defined as a non-student or a student on suspension who loiters or creates disturbances on school property. 
Intruders are committing the crime of Criminal Trespass. Dangerous and/or concealed weapons are forbidden on school premises 
unless carried by law enforcement officers. 
 
Low Level: 
Have the person(s) under suspicion kept under constant covert surveillance. 
Approach and greet the intruder in a polite and non-threatening manner. 
Identify yourself as a school official. 
Ask the intruder for identification. 
Ask them what their purpose is for being on campus. 
Advise intruder of the trespass laws. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 49 of 50 9/30/24 
 

Ask the intruder to quietly leave the campus or invite him/her to accompany you to the office. If the intruder refuses to respond to 
your requests, inform him/her of your intention to summon law enforcement officers. 
If the intruder gives no indication of voluntarily leaving the premises, notify Police and Administration.  
H. Hostage Situation 
Staff and students should sit quietly if the situation is in their presence. TRY to remain calm. Staff should set the example if the 
armed intruder is in their presence by doing anything possible for the staff member and students to survive. If gun fire starts, staff 
and students should seek cover or begin rapid movement procedures. 
 
 Do not engage in a conversation or try to persuade the intruder to leave your classroom or school. Remember, you are in an illogical 
situation, so any logical argument may go unheard. The intruder is probably aware of the potential danger that he/she would be 
facing if he/she left the classroom. The intruder may perceive himself/herself as being sane. 
 If the intruder speaks to you or to your students, then answer him or her. Do not provoke him or her. Don't try to take matters into 
your own hands. Students should be told not to whisper to one-another, laugh, or to make fun of the intruder. Remember, the 
intruder is disturbed and probably mentally ill, and more than likely paranoid. Any whispering or laughter may be perceived by the 
intruder as directed at him or her. 
 Students should be taught to respond on their own when threatened. Incidents can occur which leave no time for signals. If 
students are outside unable to find access a room, they should, depending on the situation, initiate Action "TAKE COVER" position or 
run in a zig-zag fashion to the staging areas and 
STAY CALM. 
 If and when possible, call Administration and/or 9-1-1.  
 
Emergency Evacuation Procedures 
In an Emergency Building Evacuation all employees will: 
 
Upon emergency alert, secure work area and depart/report to assigned area. 
Perform duties as pre-assigned by the Principal in cooperation with emergency services personnel. 
DO NOT re-enter the building without permission or request of emergency service authorities. 
Remain in the general assembly areas and calm students if not assigned another duty. 
When signaled to re-enter safe areas of the school, quickly do so. 
Upon safe re-entry, report anything amiss to the Operations Chief. 
 
In an Emergency Building Evacuation teachers will also: 
 
Upon alert, assemble students for evacuation using designated routes and account for all students. 
Secure room. 
If possible, leave a note on the door advising where the class evacuated to if other than the standard assembly area. 
Upon arrival at the assembly area, account for all students. 
Secure medical treatment for injured students. 
Report any students missing or left behind because of serious injuries. 
Stay with and calm students. 
If signaled to re-enter school, assure students do so quickly and calmly. Account for all students. 
Check room and report anything amiss to the Team Leader and/or Operations Chief. Debrief students to calm fears about the 
evacuation. 
 
Emergency Campus Evacuation 
 
If it is necessary to evacuate the entire campus to another school or relief center, the Principal will: 
 
Notify the Superintendent of the Campus Evacuation. 
Cooperate with emergency authorities in enlisting students/staff with cars to help transport evacuees. Direct the evacuation, assure 
all students/staff are accounted for as they depart and arrive. 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 50 of 50 9/30/24 
 

 
Emergency Evacuation Map 
 



Lakeside Union School District Health Procedure Training – Opioid
Antagonist Naloxone Documentation at DREAM Academy

I, ______________________________ have read, been trained, and understand the following
(Print Full Name)

procedures for individuals with identified opioid overdose:

● Understanding and identifying of signs of overdose
● Administration of Intra-Nasal Naloxone
● Emergency Notification procedures
● Naloxone Administration Report Form

_____ I understand I need to maintain my skills and will be observed on an ongoing basis by
the Credentialed School Nurse

_____ I have had the opportunity to ask questions and have received satisfactory answers to
my questions.

_____ I possess a current CPR card, expiration date is: _________________

________________________________ __________________
(Signature) (Date)



 
1LUSD 2024-2025

Effective January 2024, CA Ed Code 49414.3 Comprehensive School Safety Plans for school 
sites that serve grades 7-12 must include a plan for a response to an opioid overdose.  
 
{SCHOOLNAME} PROCEDURES FOR PREVENTING 
OPIOID AND FENTANYL USE AND OVERDOSE 
{SchoolName} primary goal in the fight against opioids and fentanyl use is prevention.   
 
{SchoolName} will use the following prevention strategies:   

• Distribute materials to and/or discuss with students’ content conducive to preventing drug 
use/abuse such as, but not limited to:  

o How opioids and fentanyl affect the body’s systems. 
o Refusal strategies 
o The signs and symptoms of use/abuse 
o The science of addiction  

• Distribute safety advice to families regarding opioid overdose prevention.    
• Creating a supportive, safe and orderly environment conducive to learning by regularly 

assessing school climate and using data to develop goals and objectives to address gaps.   
• Providing training to staff on building protective factors in students, as well as 

recognizing the signs and symptoms of use/abuse. 
• Add additional strategies used at the school.  

 
{SchoolName} will follow CA Ed Code 49414.3; 49414.8; LUSD’s Administering Medication 
and Monitoring Health Conditions BP 5141.12; AR 5141.21  
 
  

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=EDC&sectionNum=49414.3.


 
2LUSD 2024-2025

FIVE ESSENTIAL STEPS FOR INDIVIDUALS 
RESPONDING TO POSSIBLE OVERDOSE 
The following was developed and taken from The Department of Health and Human Services, 
Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration document SAMHSA Opioid 
Overdose Prevention Toolkit.  
 
Overdose is common among persons who use illicit opioids such as heroin and among those who 
misuse medications prescribed for pain such as oxycodone, hydrocodone, methadone, 
buprenorphine, and morphine. The incidence of opioid overdose is rising nationwide. In 2016, 
more than 42,000 of the drug overdose deaths in the United States involved some type of opioid, 
including heroin.  
 
To address the problem, emergency medical personnel, health care professionals, school 
personnel, people who use drugs, and other community members who may witness and respond 
to an overdose are being trained in the use of the opioid antagonist medication naloxone, which 
can reverse the potentially fatal respiratory depression caused by opioid overdose. (Note that 
naloxone has no effect on non-opioid overdoses, such as those involving cocaine, 
benzodiazepines, or alcohol. 
 
The steps outlined in this section are recommended to reduce the number of deaths resulting 
from opioid overdoses. 
 
STEP 1: EVALUATE FOR SIGNS OF OPIOID OVERDOSE 
 
Signs of OVERDOSE, which often results in death if not treated, include: 

• Unconsciousness or inability to awaken. 
• Slow or shallow breathing or breathing difficulty such as choking sounds or a 

gurgling/snoring noise from a person who cannot be awakened. 
• Fingernails or lips turning blue/purple. 

 
If an opioid overdose is suspected, stimulate the person: 

• Call the person’s name. 
• If this doesn’t work, vigorously grind knuckles into the sternum (the breastbone in 

middle of chest) or rub knuckles on the person’s upper lip. 
• If the person responds, assess whether he or she can maintain responsiveness and 

breathing. 
• Continue to monitor the person, including breathing and alertness, and try to keep the 

person awake and alert. 
If the person does not respond, call 911, provide rescue breathing if the person is not breathing on 
their own, and administer one dose of naloxone. 
 
STEP 2: CALL 911 FOR HELP 
 
AN OPIOID OVERDOSE NEEDS IMMEDIATE MEDICAL ATTENTION.  

https://store.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/five-essential-steps-for-first-responders.pdf
https://store.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/five-essential-steps-for-first-responders.pdf
https://store.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/five-essential-steps-for-first-responders.pdf


 
3LUSD 2024-2025

An essential step is to get someone with medical expertise to see the person as soon as possible. 
If no emergency medical services (EMS) or other trained personnel is on the scene, activate the 
911 emergency system immediately. All you have to say is “Someone is unresponsive and not 
breathing.” Be sure to give a specific address and/or description of your location. After calling 
911, follow the dispatcher’s instructions. If appropriate, the 911 operator will instruct you to 
begin CPR (technique based on rescuer’s level of training). 
 

STEP 3: ADMINISTER NALOXONE 
If the person overdosing does not respond within 2 to 3 minutes after administering a dose of 
naloxone, administer a second dose of naloxone. 
 
Naloxone should be administered to anyone who presents with signs of opioid overdose or when 
opioid overdose is suspected. Naloxone is approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) 
and has been used for decades by EMS personnel to reverse opioid overdose and resuscitate 
individuals who have overdosed on opioids. Research has shown that women, older people, and 
those without obvious signs of opioid use disorder are undertreated with naloxone and, as a 
result, have a higher death rate. Therefore, it is also important to consider naloxone 
administration in women and the elderly found unresponsive with opioid overdose. 
 
Naloxone can be given by intranasal spray and by intramuscular (into the muscle), subcutaneous 
(under the skin), or intravenous injection. 
 
{SchoolName} uses intranasal spray.  
 
All naloxone products are effective in reversing opioid overdose, including fentanyl-involved 
opioid overdoses, although overdoses involving potent (e.g., fentanyl) or large quantities of 
opioids may require more doses of naloxone. 
 
DURATION OF EFFECT. The duration of effect of naloxone depends on dose, route of 
administration, and overdose symptoms and is shorter than the effects of some opioids. The goal 
of naloxone therapy should be to restore adequate spontaneous breathing, but not necessarily 
complete arousal. 
 
More than one dose of naloxone may be needed to revive someone who is overdosing. People 
who have taken longer acting or more potent opioids may require additional intravenous bolus 
doses or an infusion of naloxone. 
 
Comfort the person being treated, as withdrawal triggered by naloxone can feel unpleasant. 
Some people may become agitated or confused, which may improve by providing reassurance 
and explaining what is happening. 
 
SAFETY OF NALOXONE. The safety profile of naloxone is remarkably high, especially when 
used in low doses and titrated to effect. When given to individuals who are not opioid intoxicated 
or opioid dependent, naloxone produces no clinical effects, even at high doses. Moreover, 
although rapid opioid withdrawal in opioid-tolerant individuals may be unpleasant, it is not life 
threatening. 



 
4LUSD 2024-2025

 
Naloxone can be used in life-threatening opioid overdose circumstances in pregnant women. 
 
The FDA has approved an injectable naloxone, an intranasal naloxone, and a naloxone auto-
injector as emergency treatments for opioid overdose. People receiving naloxone kits that 
include a syringe and naloxone ampules or vials should receive brief training on how to assemble 
and administer the naloxone to the victim. The nasal spray is a prefilled, needle-free device that 
requires no assembly and that can deliver a single dose into one nostril. The auto-injector is 
injected into the outer thigh to deliver naloxone to the muscle (intramuscular) or under the skin 
(subcutaneous). Once turned on, the currently available device provides verbal instruction to the 
user describing how to deliver the medication, similar to automated defibrillators. Both the nasal 
spray and naloxone auto-injector are packaged in a carton containing two doses to allow for 
repeat dosing if needed. 
 
FENTANYL-INVOLVED OVERDOSES. Suspected opioid overdoses, including suspected 
fentanyl- involved overdoses, should be treated according to standard protocols. However, 
because of the higher potency of fentanyl and fentanyl analogs compared to that of heroin, 
multiple doses of naloxone may be required to reverse the opioid-induced respiratory depression 
from a fentanyl-involved overdose. 
Many anecdotes report more rapid respiratory depression with fentanyl than with heroin, 
although other reports do not reflect such rapid depression. 
 
Because of these effects, quicker oxygenation efforts and naloxone delivery may be warranted 
with fentanyl-involved overdoses compared with heroin-only overdoses. However, naloxone is 
an appropriate response for all opioid overdoses, including fentanyl-involved overdoses. 
 
STEP 4: SUPPORT THE PERSON’S BREATHING 
Ventilatory support is an important intervention and may be lifesaving on its own. Rescue 
breathing can be very effective in supporting respiration, and chest compressions can provide 
ventilatory support. 
 
Rescue breathing for adults involves the following steps: 

• Be sure the person’s airway is clear (check that nothing inside the person’s mouth or 
throat is blocking the airway). 

• Place one hand on the person’s chin, tilt the head back, and pinch the nose closed. 
• Place your mouth over the person’s mouth to make a seal and give two slow breaths. 
• Watch for the person’s chest (but not the stomach) to rise. 
• Follow up with one breath every 5 seconds. 

 
Chest compressions for adults involve the following steps: 



 
5LUSD 2024-2025

• Place the person on his or her back. 
• Press hard and fast on the center of the chest. 
• Keep your arms extended. 

 
STEP 5: MONITOR THE PERSON’S RESPONSE 
All people should be monitored for recurrence of signs and symptoms of opioid toxicity for at 
least 4 hours from the last dose of naloxone or discontinuation of the naloxone infusion. People 
who have overdosed on long-acting opioids should have more prolonged monitoring. 
 
Most people respond by returning to spontaneous breathing. The response generally occurs 
within 2 to 3 minutes of naloxone administration. (Continue resuscitation while waiting for the 
naloxone to take effect.) 
Because naloxone has a relatively short duration of effect, overdose symptoms may return. 
Therefore, it is essential to get the person to an emergency department or other source of medical 
care as quickly as possible, even if the person revives after the initial dose of naloxone and seems 
to feel better. 
 
SIGNS OF OPIOID WITHDRAWAL. The signs and symptoms of opioid withdrawal in an 
individual who is physically dependent on opioids may include body aches, diarrhea, 
tachycardia, fever, runny nose, sneezing, piloerection (gooseflesh), sweating, yawning, nausea or 
vomiting, nervousness, restlessness or irritability, shivering or trembling, abdominal cramps, 
weakness, tearing, insomnia, opioid craving, dilated pupils, and increased blood pressure. These 
symptoms are uncomfortable, but not life threatening. After an overdose, a person dependent on 
opioids should be medically monitored for safety and offered assistance to get into treatment for 
opioid use disorder. 
 
If a person does not respond to naloxone, an alternative explanation for the clinical symptoms 
should be considered. The most likely explanation is that the person is not overdosing on an 
opioid but rather some other substance or may be experiencing a non-overdose medical 
emergency. 
 
In all cases, support of ventilation, oxygenation, and blood pressure should be sufficient to 
prevent the complications of opioid overdose and should be given priority if the response to 
naloxone is not prompt. 
 



 
6LUSD 2024-2025

DO’S AND DON’TS WHEN RESPONDING TO OPIOID OVERDOSE 
• DO attend to the person’s breathing and cardiovascular support needs by 

administering oxygen or performing rescue breathing and/or chest compressions. 
• DO administer naloxone and utilize a second dose, if no response to the first dose. 
• DO put the person in the “recovery position” on the side, if you must leave the person 

unattended for any reason. 
• DO stay with the person and keep the person warm. 
• DON’T slap or forcefully try to stimulate the person; it will only cause further injury. If 

you cannot wake the person by shouting, rubbing your knuckles on the sternum 
(center of the chest or rib cage), or light pinching, the person may be unconscious. 

• DON’T put the person into a cold bath or shower. This increases the risk of falling, 
drowning, or going into shock. 

• DON’T inject the person with any substance (e.g., saltwater, milk, stimulants). The 
only safe and appropriate treatment is naloxone. 

• DON’T try to make the person vomit drugs that may have been swallowed. Choking 
or inhaling vomit into the lungs can cause a fatal injury. 

• NOTE: All naloxone products have an expiration date, so it is important to check the 
expiration date and obtain replacement naloxone as needed. 

  



 
7LUSD 2024-2025

  



 
8LUSD 2024-2025

OPIOID ANTAGONIST MEDICATION SPECIFICS 
 
TRAINING 
Training is required prior to the administration of Naloxone.  Education Code 49413.3 outlines 
training requirements for K-12 schools, which is required initially and then annually. Topics 
include: 

• Techniques for recognizing symptoms of an opioid overdose 
• Standards and procedures for the storage, restocking, and emergency use of Narcan 
• Basic emergency follow-up procedures, including but not limited to, a requirement for 

the school administration or designee to call emergency medical services and to 
contact the student’s parent/guardian.  Recommendations on the necessity of 
instruction and certification in cardiopulmonary resuscitation  

• Written materials covering the information required under this subdivision 
 
STORAGE 
Naloxone will be stored in accordance with manufacturer’s instructions to avoid extreme cold, 
heat, and direct sunlight. Naloxone has a shelf life of 18 months to two years and should be 
stored between 59 and 86 degrees Fahrenheit and should be kept away from direct sunlight.  It 
should be stored in a secured but unlocked location, where all trained personnel shall have access 
to the medication. Inspection of the naloxone shall be conducted at regular intervals. 
 
OPIOID ANTAGONIST NALOXONE PROCEDURE TRAINING DOCUMENTATION 
The Principal shall designate two more volunteer employees to receive initial and annual 
refresher training based on standards adopted by the SPI regarding the storage and emergency 
use of naloxone hydrochloride, or other opioid antagonist LUSD BP 5141.21, AR 5141.21.  
 
This training will be provided at no cost to the employee, conducted during regular work hours, 
and be provided by a school nurse or other qualified person designated by an authorized 
physician and surgeon. Written materials provided during the training shall be retained at the 
school office for reference CA Ed Code 49414.3 and CA Ed Code 49414.8.  
 
Each volunteer shall meet the minimum standards of training for the administration of an 
emergency opioid antagonist or shall have undergone opioid overdose prevention and treatment 
training and reviewed material available on the California Department of Public Health Website 
CA Ed Code 49414.8 
 
Employees and volunteers that render emergency treatment at the scene of an opioid overdose, or 
suspected opioid overdose, by administering an opioid antagonist shall not be liable for civil 
damages resulting from an act or omission, unless such act constitutes gross negligence or willful 
or wanton misconduct Health and Safety Code 1799.113. 
  



 
9LUSD 2024-2025

OPIOID ANTAGONIST NALOXONE PROCEDURE TRAINING DOCUMENTATION 
 
Lakeside Union School District has elected to make emergency naloxone hydrochloride or 
another opioid antagonist available at schools for the purpose of providing emergency medical 
aid to persons suffering, or reasonably believed to be suffering, from an opioid overdose 
(Administering Medication and Monitoring Health Conditions LUSD BP 5141.12; AR 5141.21 
in accordance with CA Ed Code 49414.3; 49414.8. 
The Principal shall designate two more volunteer employees to receive initial and annual 
refresher training based on standards adopted by the SPI regarding the storage and emergency 
use of naloxone hydrochloride or other opioid antagonist as per LUSD BP 5141.21, AR 5141.21.  
 
 

 
SAMPLE INDIVIDUAL DOCUMENTATION 
 

Lakeside Union School District Health Procedure Training – Opioid Antagonist Naloxone 
Documentation at {SchoolName} 

 
I, ______________________________ have read, been trained and understand the following  
    (Print Full Name)  
procedures for individual with identified opioid overdose:  
 

• Understanding and identifying of signs of overdose 
• Administration of Intra-Nasal Naloxone 
• Emergency Notification procedures 
• Naloxone Administration Report Form 

 
_____  I understand I need to maintain my skills and will be observed on an ongoing basis by the 
Credentialed School Nurse 
______ I have had the opportunity to ask questions and have received satisfactory answers to my 
questions.   
______ I possess a current CPR card, expiration date is: ________________________ 

 

Naloxone Trained Individuals 
NAME POSITION LOCATION (Classroom/Office) 

   

   

   

   

   

   



 
10LUSD 2024-2025

 
 
 



2LUSD 2024-2025

Effective January 2024, CA Ed Code 49414.3 Comprehensive School Safety Plans for school 
sites that serve grades 7-12 must include a plan for a response to an opioid overdose. 

DREAM Academy  PROCEDURES FOR PREVENTING OPIOID 

AND FENTANYL USE AND OVERDOSE

DREAM Academy  primary goal in the fight against opioids and fentanyl use is prevention.  

DREAM Academy will use the following prevention strategies:  
 Distribute materials to and/or discuss with students’ content conducive to preventing drug

use/abuse such as, but not limited to:
o How opioids and fentanyl affect the body’s systems.
o Refusal strategies
o The signs and symptoms of use/abuse
o The science of addiction

 Distribute safety advice to families regarding opioid overdose prevention.
 Creating a supportive, safe and orderly environment conducive to learning by regularly

assessing school climate and using data to develop goals and objectives to address gaps.
 Providing training to staff on building protective factors in students, as well as

recognizing the signs and symptoms of use/abuse.
 Add additional strategies used at the school.

DREAM Academy will follow CA Ed Code 49414.3; 49414.8; LUSD’s Administering 
Medication and Monitoring Health Conditions BP 5141.12; AR 5141.21 

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=EDC&sectionNum=49414.3.


2LUSD 2024-2025

FIVE ESSENTIAL STEPS FOR INDIVIDUALS RESPONDING TO 

POSSIBLE OVERDOSE
The following was developed and taken from The Department of Health and Human Services, 
Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration document SAMHSA Opioid 
Overdose Prevention Toolkit. 

Overdose is common among persons who use illicit opioids such as heroin and among those who 
misuse medications prescribed for pain such as oxycodone, hydrocodone, methadone, 
buprenorphine, and morphine. The incidence of opioid overdose is rising nationwide. In 2016, 
more than 42,000 of the drug overdose deaths in the United States involved some type of opioid, 
including heroin. 

To address the problem, emergency medical personnel, health care professionals, school 
personnel, people who use drugs, and other community members who may witness and respond 
to an overdose are being trained in the use of the opioid antagonist medication naloxone, which 
can reverse the potentially fatal respiratory depression caused by opioid overdose. (Note that 
naloxone has no effect on non-opioid overdoses, such as those involving cocaine, 
benzodiazepines, or alcohol.

The steps outlined in this section are recommended to reduce the number of deaths resulting 
from opioid overdoses.

STEP 1: EVALUATE FOR SIGNS OF OPIOID OVERDOSE

Signs of OVERDOSE, which often results in death if not treated, include:
 Unconsciousness or inability to awaken.
 Slow or shallow breathing or breathing difficulty such as choking sounds or a

gurgling/snoring noise from a person who cannot be awakened.
 Fingernails or lips turning blue/purple.

If an opioid overdose is suspected, stimulate the person:
 Call the person’s name.
 If this doesn’t work, vigorously grind knuckles into the sternum (the breastbone in

middle of chest) or rub knuckles on the person’s upper lip.
 If the person responds, assess whether he or she can maintain responsiveness and

breathing.
 Continue to monitor the person, including breathing and alertness, and try to keep

the person awake and alert.
If the person does not respond, call 911, provide rescue breathing if the person is not breathing on 
their own, and administer one dose of naloxone.

STEP 2: CALL 911 FOR HELP

AN OPIOID OVERDOSE NEEDS IMMEDIATE MEDICAL ATTENTION. 

https://store.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/five-essential-steps-for-first-responders.pdf
https://store.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/five-essential-steps-for-first-responders.pdf
https://store.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/five-essential-steps-for-first-responders.pdf
https://store.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/five-essential-steps-for-first-responders.pdf


2LUSD 2024-2025

An essential step is to get someone with medical expertise to see the person as soon as possible. 
If no emergency medical services (EMS) or other trained personnel is on the scene, activate the 
911 emergency system immediately. All you have to say is “Someone is unresponsive and not 
breathing.” Be sure to give a specific address and/or description of your location. After calling 
911, follow the dispatcher’s instructions. If appropriate, the 911 operator will instruct you to 
begin CPR (technique based on rescuer’s level of training).

STEP 3: ADMINISTER NALOXONE
If the person overdosing does not respond within 2 to 3 minutes after administering a dose of 
naloxone, administer a second dose of naloxone.

Naloxone should be administered to anyone who presents with signs of opioid overdose or when 
opioid overdose is suspected. Naloxone is approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) 
and has been used for decades by EMS personnel to reverse opioid overdose and resuscitate 
individuals who have overdosed on opioids. Research has shown that women, older people, and 
those without obvious signs of opioid use disorder are undertreated with naloxone and, as a 
result, have a higher death rate. Therefore, it is also important to consider naloxone 
administration in women and the elderly found unresponsive with opioid overdose.

Naloxone can be given by intranasal spray and by intramuscular (into the muscle), subcutaneous 
(under the skin), or intravenous injection.

DREAM Academy uses intranasal spray. 

All naloxone products are effective in reversing opioid overdose, including fentanyl-involved 
opioid overdoses, although overdoses involving potent (e.g., fentanyl) or large quantities of 
opioids may require more doses of naloxone.

DURATION OF EFFECT. The duration of effect of naloxone depends on dose, route of 
administration, and overdose symptoms and is shorter than the effects of some opioids. The goal 
of naloxone therapy should be to restore adequate spontaneous breathing, but not necessarily 
complete arousal.

More than one dose of naloxone may be needed to revive someone who is overdosing. People 
who have taken longer acting or more potent opioids may require additional intravenous bolus 
doses or an infusion of naloxone.

Comfort the person being treated, as withdrawal triggered by naloxone can feel unpleasant. 
Some people may become agitated or confused, which may improve by providing reassurance 
and explaining what is happening.

SAFETY OF NALOXONE. The safety profile of naloxone is remarkably high, especially when 
used in low doses and titrated to effect. When given to individuals who are not opioid intoxicated 
or opioid dependent, naloxone produces no clinical effects, even at high doses. Moreover, 
although rapid opioid withdrawal in opioid-tolerant individuals may be unpleasant, it is not life 
threatening.



2LUSD 2024-2025

Naloxone can be used in life-threatening opioid overdose circumstances in pregnant women.

The FDA has approved an injectable naloxone, an intranasal naloxone, and a naloxone auto-
injector as emergency treatments for opioid overdose. People receiving naloxone kits that 
include a syringe and naloxone ampules or vials should receive brief training on how to assemble 
and administer the naloxone to the victim. The nasal spray is a prefilled, needle-free device that 
requires no assembly and that can deliver a single dose into one nostril. The auto-injector is 
injected into the outer thigh to deliver naloxone to the muscle (intramuscular) or under the skin 
(subcutaneous). Once turned on, the currently available device provides verbal instruction to the 
user describing how to deliver the medication, similar to automated defibrillators. Both the nasal 
spray and naloxone auto-injector are packaged in a carton containing two doses to allow for 
repeat dosing if needed.

FENTANYL-INVOLVED OVERDOSES. Suspected opioid overdoses, including suspected 
fentanyl- involved overdoses, should be treated according to standard protocols. However, 
because of the higher potency of fentanyl and fentanyl analogs compared to that of heroin, 
multiple doses of naloxone may be required to reverse the opioid-induced respiratory depression 
from a fentanyl-involved overdose.
Many anecdotes report more rapid respiratory depression with fentanyl than with heroin, 
although other reports do not reflect such rapid depression.

Because of these effects, quicker oxygenation efforts and naloxone delivery may be warranted 
with fentanyl-involved overdoses compared with heroin-only overdoses. However, naloxone is 
an appropriate response for all opioid overdoses, including fentanyl-involved overdoses.

STEP 4: SUPPORT THE PERSON’S BREATHING
Ventilatory support is an important intervention and may be lifesaving on its own. Rescue 
breathing can be very effective in supporting respiration, and chest compressions can provide 
ventilatory support.

Rescue breathing for adults involves the following steps:
 Be sure the person’s airway is clear (check that nothing inside the person’s mouth 

or throat is blocking the airway).
 Place one hand on the person’s chin, tilt the head back, and pinch the nose closed.
 Place your mouth over the person’s mouth to make a seal and give two slow 

breaths.
 Watch for the person’s chest (but not the stomach) to rise.
 Follow up with one breath every 5 seconds.

Chest compressions for adults involve the following steps:
 Place the person on his or her back.
 Press hard and fast on the center of the chest.
 Keep your arms extended.



2LUSD 2024-2025

STEP 5: MONITOR THE PERSON’S RESPONSE
All people should be monitored for recurrence of signs and symptoms of opioid toxicity for at 
least 4 hours from the last dose of naloxone or discontinuation of the naloxone infusion. People 
who have overdosed on long-acting opioids should have more prolonged monitoring.

Most people respond by returning to spontaneous breathing. The response generally occurs 
within 2 to 3 minutes of naloxone administration. (Continue resuscitation while waiting for the 
naloxone to take effect.)
Because naloxone has a relatively short duration of effect, overdose symptoms may return. 
Therefore, it is essential to get the person to an emergency department or other source of medical 
care as quickly as possible, even if the person revives after the initial dose of naloxone and seems 
to feel better.

SIGNS OF OPIOID WITHDRAWAL. The signs and symptoms of opioid withdrawal in an 
individual who is physically dependent on opioids may include body aches, diarrhea, 
tachycardia, fever, runny nose, sneezing, piloerection (gooseflesh), sweating, yawning, nausea or 
vomiting, nervousness, restlessness or irritability, shivering or trembling, abdominal cramps, 
weakness, tearing, insomnia, opioid craving, dilated pupils, and increased blood pressure. These 
symptoms are uncomfortable, but not life threatening. After an overdose, a person dependent on 
opioids should be medically monitored for safety and offered assistance to get into treatment for 
opioid use disorder.

If a person does not respond to naloxone, an alternative explanation for the clinical symptoms 
should be considered. The most likely explanation is that the person is not overdosing on an 
opioid but rather some other substance or may be experiencing a non-overdose medical 
emergency.

In all cases, support of ventilation, oxygenation, and blood pressure should be sufficient to 
prevent the complications of opioid overdose and should be given priority if the response to 
naloxone is not prompt.

DO’S AND DON’TS WHEN RESPONDING TO OPIOID OVERDOSE
 DO attend to the person’s breathing and cardiovascular support needs by 

administering oxygen or performing rescue breathing and/or chest compressions.
 DO administer naloxone and utilize a second dose, if no response to the first dose.
 DO put the person in the “recovery position” on the side, if you must leave the 

person unattended for any reason.
 DO stay with the person and keep the person warm.
 DON’T slap or forcefully try to stimulate the person; it will only cause further injury. If 

you cannot wake the person by shouting, rubbing your knuckles on the sternum 
(center of the chest or rib cage), or light pinching, the person may be unconscious.

 DON’T put the person into a cold bath or shower. This increases the risk of falling, 
drowning, or going into shock.

 DON’T inject the person with any substance (e.g., saltwater, milk, stimulants). The 
only safe and appropriate treatment is naloxone.



2LUSD 2024-2025

 DON’T try to make the person vomit drugs that may have been swallowed. Choking 
or inhaling vomit into the lungs can cause a fatal injury.

 NOTE: All naloxone products have an expiration date, so it is important to check the 
expiration date and obtain replacement naloxone as needed.



2LUSD 2024-2025



2LUSD 2024-2025

OPIOID ANTAGONIST MEDICATION SPECIFICS

TRAINING
Training is required prior to the administration of Naloxone.  Education Code 49413.3 outlines 
training requirements for K-12 schools, which is required initially and then annually. Topics 
include:

 Techniques for recognizing symptoms of an opioid overdose
 Standards and procedures for the storage, restocking, and emergency use of 

Narcan
 Basic emergency follow-up procedures, including but not limited to, a requirement 

for the school administration or designee to call emergency medical services and to 
contact the student’s parent/guardian.  Recommendations on the necessity of 
instruction and certification in cardiopulmonary resuscitation 

 Written materials covering the information required under this subdivision

STORAGE
Naloxone will be stored in accordance with manufacturer’s instructions to avoid extreme cold, 
heat, and direct sunlight. Naloxone has a shelf life of 18 months to two years and should be 
stored between 59 and 86 degrees Fahrenheit and should be kept away from direct sunlight.  It 
should be stored in a secured but unlocked location, where all trained personnel shall have access 
to the medication. Inspection of the naloxone shall be conducted at regular intervals.

OPIOID ANTAGONIST NALOXONE PROCEDURE TRAINING 
DOCUMENTATION
The Principal shall designate two more volunteer employees to receive initial and annual 
refresher training based on standards adopted by the SPI regarding the storage and emergency 
use of naloxone hydrochloride, or other opioid antagonist LUSD BP 5141.21, AR 5141.21. 

This training will be provided at no cost to the employee, conducted during regular work hours, 
and be provided by a school nurse or other qualified person designated by an authorized 
physician and surgeon. Written materials provided during the training shall be retained at the 
school office for reference CA Ed Code 49414.3 and CA Ed Code 49414.8. 

Each volunteer shall meet the minimum standards of training for the administration of an 
emergency opioid antagonist or shall have undergone opioid overdose prevention and treatment 
training and reviewed material available on the California Department of Public Health Website 
CA Ed Code 49414.8

Employees and volunteers that render emergency treatment at the scene of an opioid overdose, or 
suspected opioid overdose, by administering an opioid antagonist shall not be liable for civil 
damages resulting from an act or omission, unless such act constitutes gross negligence or willful 
or wanton misconduct Health and Safety Code 1799.113.



2LUSD 2024-2025

OPIOID ANTAGONIST NALOXONE PROCEDURE TRAINING 
DOCUMENTATION

Lakeside Union School District has elected to make emergency naloxone hydrochloride or 
another opioid antagonist available at schools for the purpose of providing emergency medical 
aid to persons suffering, or reasonably believed to be suffering, from an opioid overdose 
(Administering Medication and Monitoring Health Conditions LUSD BP 5141.12; AR 5141.21 
in accordance with CA Ed Code 49414.3; 49414.8.
The Principal shall designate two more volunteer employees to receive initial and annual 
refresher training based on standards adopted by the SPI regarding the storage and emergency 
use of naloxone hydrochloride or other opioid antagonist as per LUSD BP 5141.21, AR 5141.21. 

Naloxone Trained Individuals
NAME POSITION LOCATION (Classroom/Office)

SAMPLE INDIVIDUAL DOCUMENTATION

Lakeside Union School District Health Procedure Training – Opioid Antagonist 
Naloxone Documentation at {SchoolName}

I, ______________________________ have read, been trained and understand the following 
    (Print Full Name) 
procedures for individual with identified opioid overdose: 

 Understanding and identifying of signs of overdose
 Administration of Intra-Nasal Naloxone
 Emergency Notification procedures
 Naloxone Administration Report Form

_____  I understand I need to maintain my skills and will be observed on an ongoing basis by the 
Credentialed School Nurse
______ I have had the opportunity to ask questions and have received satisfactory answers to my 
questions.  
______ I possess a current CPR card, expiration date is: ________________________



2LUSD 2024-2025











 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 1 of 47 9/30/24 
 

 
 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 
 

2024-2025 
School Year 

 
 

School: Lakeside Farms Elementary School 

CDS Code:  37681896038343 

District: Lakeside Union Elementary School District 

Address:  11915 Lakeside Ave 
Lakeside, CA 92040-0578 

Date of Adoption: 9/30/24 

Date of Update: 9/30/24 

Date of Review:  

   - with Staff 10/2/24 

   - with Law Enforcement  

   - with Fire Authority  
 

Approved by: 
Name Title Signature Date 

Jim Rosa Principal 

 

 

 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2 of 47 9/30/24 
 

 
Table of Contents 

 
Comprehensive School Safety Plan Purpose ..............................................................................................................................................4 

Safety Plan Vision .......................................................................................................................................................................................4 

(A) Child Abuse Reporting Procedures (EC 35294.2 [a] [2]; PC 11166) ..................................................................................................6 

(B) Disaster Procedures (EC 35295-35297; GC 8607 and 3100) .............................................................................................................7 

(C) School Suspension, Expulsion and Mandatory Expulsion Guidelines .............................................................................................18 

(D) Procedures to Notify Teachers of Dangerous Pupils (EC 49079) ....................................................................................................21 

(E) Sexual Harassment Policies (EC 212.6 [b]) ......................................................................................................................................22 

(F) School-wide Dress Code Relating to Gang-Related Apparel (EC 35183) .........................................................................................25 

(G) Procedure for Safe Ingress and Egress of Pupils, Parents, and Staff to and from School (EC 35294.2) .........................................25 

(I) School Discipline Rules and Consequences (EC 35291 and EC 35291.5) .........................................................................................26 

(J) Procedures to Prepare for Active Shooters .....................................................................................................................................27 

Procedures for Preventing Acts of Bullying and Cyber-bullying ...........................................................................................................27 

Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures .................................................................................................................28 

Safety Plan Appendices ............................................................................................................................................................................29 

Emergency Contact Numbers ..............................................................................................................................................................30 

Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures .............................................................................................................31 

Lakeside Farms Elementary School Incident Command System ..........................................................................................................32 

Incident Command Team Responsibilities ...........................................................................................................................................33 

Emergency Response Guidelines .........................................................................................................................................................34 

Step One: Identify the Type of Emergency ..........................................................................................................................................34 

Step Two: Identify the Level of Emergency ..........................................................................................................................................34 

Step Three: Determine the Immediate Response Action ....................................................................................................................34 

Step Four: Communicate the Appropriate Response Action ...............................................................................................................34 

Types of Emergencies & Specific Procedures .......................................................................................................................................35 

Armed Assault on Campus ...............................................................................................................................................................35 

Biological or Chemical Release .........................................................................................................................................................35 

Bomb Threat/ Threat Of violence ....................................................................................................................................................41 

Earthquake .......................................................................................................................................................................................42 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 3 of 47 9/30/24 
 

Fire in Surrounding Area ..................................................................................................................................................................42 

Fire on School Grounds ....................................................................................................................................................................43 

Loss or Failure Of Utilities ................................................................................................................................................................43 

Psychological Trauma .......................................................................................................................................................................44 

Tactical Responses to Criminal Incidents .........................................................................................................................................45 

Emergency Evacuation Map .................................................................................................................................................................47 

 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 4 of 47 9/30/24 
 

 
Comprehensive School Safety Plan Purpose 
 
Effective January 1, 2019, Assembly Bill 1747 (Rodriguez), School Safety Plans, became law. This bill requires that during the writing 
and development of the comprehensive school safety plan (CSSP), the school site council or safety committee consult with a fire 
department and other first responder entities in addition to currently required entities. It requires the CSSP and any updates made 
to the plan to be shared with the law enforcement agency, the fire department, and the other first responder entities. 
 
The California Education Code (sections 32280-32288) outlines the requirements of all schools operating any kindergarten and any 
grades 1 to 12, inclusive, to write and develop a school safety plan relevant to the needs and resources of that particular school. 
 
In 2004, the Legislature and Governor recast and renumbered the Comprehensive School Safety Plan provisions in SB 719 and AB 
115. It is the intent ofthe Legislature in enacting the provisions to support California public schools as they develop their mandated 
comprehensive safety plans that are the result of a systematic planning process, that include strategies aimed at the prevention of, 
and education about, potential incidents involving crime and violence on school campuses. 
 
The historical requirement of the Comprehensive School Safety Plan was presented in Senate Bill 187, which was approved by the 
Governor and chaptered in 1997. This legislation contained a sunset clause that stated that this legislation would remain in effect 
only until January I, 2000. Senate Bill 334 was approved and chaptered in 1999 and perpetuated this legislation under the 
requirement of the initial legislation. 
 
Comprehensive School Safety Plans are required under SB 719 & AB 115 and contains the following elements: 
 
Assessment of school crime committed on school campuses and at school-related functions 

• Child abuse reporting procedures 
• Disaster procedures 
• Suspension and expulsion policies 
• Procedures to notify teachers of dangerous pupils 
• Discrimination and harassment policies 
• School wide dress code policies 
• Procedures for safe ingress and egress 
• Policies enacted to maintain a safe and orderly environment 
• Rules and procedures on school discipline 
• Hate crime reporting procedures 

 
The Comprehensive School Safety Plan will be reviewed and updated by March 1st every year. In July of every year, the school will 
report on the status of its school safety plan including a description of its key elements in the annual school accountability report 
card. 
 
A copy of the Comprehensive School Safety Plan is available for review at the front office.. 
 
Safety Plan Vision 
The Comprehensive School Safety Plan Process & Templates is designed to be utilized as a school resource for 
prevention/mitigation, preparedness, response and recovery planning and training as well as functioning as a template for meeting 
the requirements for the annual Safety Plan Process under SB 187 and the National incident Management System. It is designed to 
be an electronic or hard-copy Safety Plan. The template is also designed as a living document to be updated as necessary to meet 
site, district and community needs, forms or requirements. 
 
Individual schools in districts over 2,500 students must adopt a comprehensive school safety plan by March 1, 2000, and must 
review and update the plan by March 1 of every year thereafter. (Amended Ed. Codes 35294.1 & 35294.6) 
 
Beginning July 1, 2000, each individual school must report on the status of its school safety plan, including a description of its key 
elements in the school accountability report card, and must continue to do so every July thereafter. (Amended Ed. Code 35294.6) 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 5 of 47 9/30/24 
 

The following guideline may be utilized to support the annual review and evaluation of the individual school safety plan. This guide 
will also provide a time line and related administrative tasks to provide a process to ensure compliance with the requirements of 
Senate Bill 187, Comprehensive School Safety Plan. 
 
The guideline/checklist has been organized into two parts: 
 
An assessment by the School Safety Planning Committee of the School Site Council, the School Site Council or equivalent of the 
school climate in relation to the current status of school crime committed on campus and at school related functions. Based on this 
assessment, safety goals will be set for the upcoming school year 
 
The annual review and evaluation of the school comprehensive safety plan which is certified by the members of the School Safety 
Planning Committee, the School Site Council President, and the school Principal before being presented to the Board of Trustees for 
final review and adoption. This review includes the following mandated components of Senate Bill 187: 
 
Child Abuse reporting procedures 
Policies pursuant to Education Code 48915(c) and other school-designated serious acts which would 
lead to suspension, expulsion, or mandatory expulsion recommendations 
Procedures to notify teachers and counselors of dangerous students 
Sexual Harassment Policy 
Safe ingress and egress to and from school 
Rules and procedures on school discipline in order to create a safe and orderly environment conducive to learning 
Dress Code 
Routine and emergency disaster procedures including natural disasters, human created disasters or power outages. 
 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 6 of 47 9/30/24 
 

 
(A) Child Abuse Reporting Procedures (EC 35294.2 [a] [2]; PC 11166) 
A. Definition of Child Abuse 
 
Child abuse means a physical injury that is inflicted by other than accidental on a child by another person. Child Abuse also means 
the sexual abuse of a child or any act or omission pertaining to child abuse reporting laws (willful cruelty, unjustifiable punishment of 
a child, unlawful corporal punishment or injury). Child abuse also means the physical or emotional neglect of a child or abuse in out-
of-home care. 
 
1. Child Abuse 
Injury inflicted by another person 
Sexual Abuse 
Neglect of child's physical, health, and emotional needs. 
Unusual and willful cruelty; unjustifiable punishment. Unlawful corporal punishment. 
 
2. Not Considered Child Abuse 
Mutual affray between minors 
Injury caused by reasonable and necessary force used by a peace officer: 
To quell a disturbance threatening physical injury to a person or damage property 
To prevent physical injury to another person or damage to property 
For purposes of self-defense 
To obtain possession of weapons or other dangerous objects within the control of a child To apprehend an escapee 
 
B. Mandated Child Abuse Reporting 
Any child care custodian, health practitioner, or employee of a child protective agency who has knowledge of or observes a child in 
his or her professional capacity or within the scope of his or her employment whom he or she knows or reasonably suspects has 
been the victim of child abuse shall report the known or suspected instance of child abuse to a child protective agency by telephone 
and written report: 
The telephone call must be made immediately or as soon as practicably possible by telephone. 
AND 
A written report must be sent within 36 hours of the telephone call to the child protective agency.   Any child care custodian, health 
practitioner, or employee of a child protective agency who has knowledge of or who reasonably suspects mental suffering has been 
inflicted on a child or his or her emotional well-being is endangered in any other way, may report such known or suspected instance 
of child abuse to a child protective agency. 
When two or more persons who are required to report are present and jointly knowledge of a known or suspected instance of child 
abuse, and when there is agreement among them, the telephone report may be made by a member of the team selected by mutual 
agreement and a single report may be made and signed by the selected member of the reporting team. Any member who has 
knowledge that the member designated to make the report failed to do so, shall thereafter make such a report. 
The intent and purpose of the law is to protect children from abuse. The definition of a child is any person under 18 years of age. 
This entire section on Child Abuse was been taken from California Laws Relating To Minors manual. 
 
C. Sexual Activity 
 
Child abuse laws change from time to time. Should you suspect that a student is engaged in unlawful sexual activity, please consult 
with the school social worker and campus officer to determine if particular provisions under this section are current and in effect. 
Involuntary sexual activity is always reportable. 
Incest, even if voluntary is always reportable. Incest is a marriage or act of intercourse between parents and children; ancestors and 
descendants of every degree; brothers and sisters of half and whole blood and uncles and nieces or aunts and nephews. (Family 
Code 2200). 
Voluntary Sexual Activity may or may not be reportable. Even if the behavior voluntary, there are circumstances where the behavior 
is abusive, either by Penal Code definition or because of an exploitative relationship, then this behavior must be reported. If there is 
reasonable suspicion of sexual abuse prior to the consensual activity, the abuse must be reported. 
 
Reportable Sexual Activity if a Child is 14 Years of Age and: 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 7 of 47 9/30/24 
 

Partner is younger than 14 years old, but there is a disparity in chronological or maturational age or indications of intimidation, 
coercion or bribery or other indications of an exploitative relationship. Partner is 14 years or older lewd & lascivious acts committed 
by a partner of any age partner is alleged spouse and over 14 years of age. 
 
Reportable Sexual Activity if the Child is 14 or 15 years and: 
There is unlawful sexual intercourse with a partner older than 14 but less than 21 years of age and there is no indication of abuse or 
evidence of an exploitative relationship there is unlawful sexual intercourse with a partner older than 21 years 
There is lewd and lascivious acts committed by a partner more than 10 years older than the child The partner is the alleged spouse 
and over 21 years of age 
 
Reportable Sexual Activity if the Child is 16 or 17 years and: 
The partner is less than 14 years of age 
There is unlawful sexual intercourse with a partner older than 14 and there is evidence of an exploitative relationship 
The partner is the alleged spouse and there is evidence of an exploitative relationship 
 
Reportable Sexual Activity if the Child is under 18 years: 
Sodomy, oral copulation, penetration of a genital or anal opening by a foreign object, even if consensual, with a partner of any age. 
 
Not Reportable Sexual Activity: 
Child is 14 years or younger and partner is younger than 14 years and of similar age or maturational age. Sexual behavior is voluntary 
and consensual. There are no indications of intimidation, coercion, bribery, or other indications of an exploitative relationship. 
Unlawful sexual intercourse of a child 14 to 15-years old with a partner older than 14 and less than 21 years of age and there is no 
indication of abuse or evidence of an exploitative relationship. 
Unlawful sexual intercourse with a child 16 or 17 years with a partner older than 14 and there is no indication of an exploitative 
relationship. 
 
Mandated reports of sexual activity must be reported to either the Department of Family & Children's Services (DFCS) or to the 
appropriate police jurisdiction. This information will then be cross-reported to the other legal agency. 
 
D. Failure to Report Known or Suspected Child Abuse 
 
Failure to report known or reasonable suspicion of child abuse, including sexual abuse, is a misdemeanor. Mandated reporters are 
provided with immunity from civil or criminal liability as a result of making a mandated report of child abuse. 
 
This information has been taken directly from the San Diego  County Child Abuse Council Informational Handout. 
 
E. Child Abuse Reporting Number: (800) 344-6000 
 
F. Staff Training: All staff engage in mandated child abuse reporting training annually. 
 
 
(B) Disaster Procedures (EC 35295-35297; GC 8607 and 3100) 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 8 of 47 9/30/24 
 

Disaster Plan (See Appendix C-F) 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 9 of 47 9/30/24 
 

. Routine and Emergency Disaster Procedures: Drills 
The Basic Plan 
 
The Basic Plan addresses the Lakeside Union School District 's responsibilities in emergencies associated with natural disaster, 
human-caused emergencies and technological incidents. It provides a framework for coordination of response and recovery efforts 
within the District in coordination and with local, State, and Federal agencies. The Plan establishes an emergency organization to 
direct and control operations at all sites during a period of emergency by assigning responsibilities to specific personnel. The Basic 
Plan: 
 
 Conforms to the Federally mandated National Incident Management System (NIMS), State mandated Standardized Emergency 
Management System (SEMS) and effectively restructures emergency response at all levels in compliance with the Incident Command 
System (ICS). 
Establishes response policies and procedures, providing $district_name$ clear guidance for planning purposes. 
Describes and details procedural steps necessary to protect lives and property. 
Outlines coordination requirements. 
Provides a basis for unified training and response exercises to ensure compliance. 
 
Requirements 
 
The Plan meets the requirements of San Diego County's policies on Emergency Response and Planning, the Standardized Emergency 
Management System (SEMS) Operational Area Response, and defines the primary and support roles of the District and individual 
schools in after-incident damage assessment and reporting requirements. 
 
Protect the safety and welfare of students, employees and staff. 
Provide for a safe and coordinated response to emergencies. 
Protect the District's facilities and properties. 
Enable the District to restore normal conditions with minimal confusion in the shortest time possible. Provide for interface and 
coordination between sites and the District Emergency Operations Center (EOC). 
Provide for interface and coordination between sites and the County or city EOC in which they reside. Provide for the orderly 
conversion of pre-designated District sites to American Red Cross shelters, when necessary. 
 
Schools are required by both federal statute and state regulation to be available for shelters following a disaster. The American Red 
Cross (ARC) has access to schools in damaged areas to set up their mass care facilities, and local governments have a right to use 
schools for the same purposes. This requires close cooperation between school officials and ARC or local government 
representatives, and should be planned and arranged for in advance. 
 
Authorities and References - State of California 
 
California Emergency Services Act (Chapter 7, Division 1, Title 2, California Government Code). 
 
The Act provides the basic authorities for conducting emergency operations following a proclamation of Local Emergency, State of 
Emergency, or State of War Emergency by the Governor and/or appropriate local authorities, consistent with the provisions of this 
Act. 
 
California Government Code, Section 3100, Title 1, Division 4, Chapter 4. 
 
States that public employees are disaster service workers, subject to such disaster service activities as may be assigned to them by 
their superiors or by law. The term "public employees" includes all persons employed by the state or any county, city, city and 
county, state agency or public district, excluding aliens legally employed. 
 
California Emergency Plan 
 
Promulgated by the Governor, and published in accordance with the California Emergency Services Act, it provides overall statewide 
authorities and responsibilities, and describes the functions and operations of government at all levels during extraordinary 
emergencies, including wartime. Section 8568 of the Act states, in part, that "...the State Emergency Plan shall be in effect in each 
political subdivision of the state, and the governing body of each political subdivision shall take such action as may be necessary to 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 10 of 47 9/30/24 
 

carry out the provisions thereof." Therefore, local emergency plans are considered extensions of the California Emergency Plan. 
A. Earthquake Drills 
The earthquake emergency procedure system shall, but not be limited to, all of the following: 
 
A school building disaster plan, ready for implementation at any time, for maintaining the safety and care of students and staffs. 
 
A drop procedure. As used in this article, "drop procedure" means an activity whereby each student and staff member take cover 
under a table or desk, dropping to his or her knees, with the head protected by the arms, and the back to the windows. A drop 
procedure practice shall be held at least once each school quarter in elementary schools and at least once a semester in secondary 
schools. 
 
Protective measures to be taken before, during, and following an earthquake. A program to ensure that the students and that both 
the certificated and classified staff are aware of, and properly trained in, the earthquake emergency procedure system. 
(Code of Regulations, Section 35297) 
 
Whenever an earthquake alarm is sounded, all students, teachers and other employees shall immediately begin Duck, Cover and 
Hold procedures: 
 
DUCK, or DROP down on the floor. 
Take COVER under a sturdy desk, table or other furniture with backs to the windows. Protect head and neck with arms. 
HOLD onto the furniture and be prepared to move with it. 
Stay in this position for at least one minute or, in a real situation, until shaking stops. 
 
Evacuation. An Evacuation should NEVER be automatic. There may be more danger outside the building than there is inside. If 
administrative directions are not forthcoming, the teacher will be responsible for assessing the situation and determining if an 
evacuation is required. 
 
Pre-determined evacuation areas should be in open areas, without overhead hazards and removed from potential danger spots 
(covered walkways, large gas mains, chain linked fences [electric shock potential]). 
 
Make it clear that a post-earthquake route differs from a fire evacuation route, and that appropriate nonhazardous alternate routes 
may be needed. 
 
Practice evacuation using alternate routes to the assembly areas. 
 
Students are to remain with their teacher in the evacuation area. Teachers shall take their roll books, take roll once in the evacuation 
area and be prepared to identify missing students to administrators and/first responders. 
 
The principal or designee shall keep a copy of each drill conducted on the Emergency Drill Report form and file a copy with the 
Superintendent/designee. 
 
Standards for a Successful Earthquake Drill: 
 
The Earthquake Alarm can be heard by all staff and students. 
 
Immediately after the earthquake alarm sounds, all students, teachers and other employees shall: 
 
DUCK, or DROP down on the floor. 
Take COVER under a sturdy desk, table or other furniture with backs to the windows. Protect head and neck with arms. 
HOLD onto the furniture and be prepared to move with it. 
 
Evacuations shall occur when directed over the loud speaker by the Principal/designee. When evacuations are included as part of 
the drill, appropriate non-hazardous alternate routes, avoiding building overhangs, electrical wires, large trees, covered walkways, 
etc., shall be utilized by staff and students in order to reach the designated evacuation areas. 
 
Teachers have taken roll once in the evacuation area. Any missing students are immediately reported to the Principal/designee. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 11 of 47 9/30/24 
 

 
Upon sounding of the all clear students and staff return to their appropriate classroom and the teacher takes roll once more. Missing 
students are reported to the attendance office. 
B. Fire Drills 
Whenever the fire alarm is given, all students, teachers and other employees shall quickly leave the building in an orderly manner. 
Teachers shall ascertain that no student remains in the building. Designated evacuation routes shall be posted in each room. 
Teachers shall be prepared to select alternate exits and direct their classes to these exits in the event the designated evacuation 
route is blocked. 
Evacuation areas will be established away from fire lanes. 
Students are to remain with their teacher in the evacuation area. Teachers shall take their roll books, take roll once in the evacuation 
area and be prepared to identify missing students to administrators and/or fire marshals/designees. 
 The principal or designee shall keep a copy of each drill conducted on the Emergency Drill Report form and file a copy with the 
Superintendent/designee. 
 
Standards for a Successful Fire Drill: 
 
The Fire Alarm can be heard by all staff and students. 
Orderly evacuation begins immediately and is completed within 5 minutes of the initial alarm, with minimal congestion at exit gates. 
Evacuation areas will be established away from fire lanes. 
Teachers and students are staged in an orderly fashion away from fire lanes. 
Teachers have taken roll once in the evacuation area. Any missing students are immediately reported to the Principal/designee. 
Upon sounding of the all clear students and staff return to their appropriate classroom and the teacher takes roll once more. Missing 
students are reported to the attendance office. 
C. Active Shooter/Lockdown Drills 
For sites that have had Active shooter Training, conducting an Active shooter Lockdown Drill initially involves more pre-planning and 
organization than conducting other drills. Middle and high schools should conduct an annual drill, which should take no longer than 
40 minutes and impact class time by 20 minutes. Elementary schools should conduct drills every other year (or annually, if the local 
police department has the resources to support the drills). Drills need to be scheduled with your School Resource or Liaison Officers. 
 
There are a number of steps that are recommended in the Active shooter Training in order to successfully conduct your drill. They 
involve: 
 
 Conduct a staff meeting. Plan on a 20 minute timeframe to review expectations and standards in terms of: 
a. Locking doors 
b. Covering windows 
c. Turning off lights 
d. Building barricades 
e. Reviewing classroom and all clear procedures 
f. Reviewing off site evacuation locations 
Send a follow-up reminder memo to your staff. 
Organize your assessment team. This also provides an excellent opportunity for your Critical Response Team to work together with 
police participants in the drill. 
Conduct the assessment. 
Complete follow-up tasks. 
 
Remember, you are setting the tone for the importance of safety for students and staff on your campus. 
VI. Routine and Emergency Disaster Procedures: Overview 
The Basic Plan 
 
The Basic Plan addresses the Lakeside Union School District 's responsibilities in emergencies associated with natural disaster, 
human-caused emergencies and technological incidents. It provides a framework for coordination of response and recovery efforts 
within the District in coordination and with local, State, and Federal agencies. The Plan establishes an emergency organization to 
direct and control operations at all sites during a period of emergency by assigning responsibilities to specific personnel. The Basic 
Plan: 
 
 Conforms to the Federally mandated National Incident Management System (NIMS), State mandated Standardized Emergency 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 12 of 47 9/30/24 
 

Management System (SEMS) and effectively restructures emergency response at all levels in compliance with the Incident Command 
System (ICS). 
Establishes response policies and procedures, providing Lakeside Union School District clear guidance for planning purposes. 
Describes and details procedural steps necessary to protect lives and property. 
Outlines coordination requirements. 
Provides a basis for unified training and response exercises to ensure compliance. 
 
Requirements 
 
The Plan meets the requirements of San Diego County's policies on Emergency Response and Planning, the Standardized Emergency 
Management System (SEMS) Operational Area Response, and defines the primary and support roles of the District and individual 
schools in after-incident damage assessment and reporting requirements. 
 
Protect the safety and welfare of students, employees and staff. 
Provide for a safe and coordinated response to emergencies. 
Protect the District's facilities and properties. 
Enable the District to restore normal conditions with minimal confusion in the shortest time possible. Provide for interface and 
coordination between sites and the District Emergency Operations Center (EOC). 
Provide for interface and coordination between sites and the County or city EOC in which they reside. Provide for the orderly 
conversion of pre-designated District sites to American Red Cross shelters, when necessary. 
 
Schools are required by both federal statute and state regulation to be available for shelters following a disaster. The American Red 
Cross (ARC) has access to schools in damaged areas to set up their mass care facilities, and local governments have a right to use 
schools for the same purposes. This requires close cooperation between school officials and ARC or local government 
representatives, and should be planned and arranged for in advance. 
 
Authorities and References - State of California 
 
California Emergency Services Act (Chapter 7, Division 1, Title 2, California Government Code). 
 
The Act provides the basic authorities for conducting emergency operations following a proclamation of Local Emergency, State of 
Emergency, or State of War Emergency by the Governor and/or appropriate local authorities, consistent with the provisions of this 
Act. 
 
California Government Code, Section 3100, Title 1, Division 4, Chapter 4. 
 
States that public employees are disaster service workers, subject to such disaster service activities as may be assigned to them by 
their superiors or by law. The term "public employees" includes all persons employed by the state or any county, city, city and 
county, state agency or public district, excluding aliens legally employed. 
 
California Emergency Plan 
 
Promulgated by the Governor, and published in accordance with the California Emergency Services Act, it provides overall statewide 
authorities and responsibilities, and describes the functions and operations of government at all levels during extraordinary 
emergencies, including wartime. Section 8568 of the Act states, in part, that "...the State Emergency Plan shall be in effect in each 
political subdivision of the state, and the governing body of each political subdivision shall take such action as may be necessary to 
carry out the provisions thereof." Therefore, local emergency plans are considered extensions of the California Emergency Plan. 
A. Definition: Incidents, Emergencies, Disasters 
Incident 
 
An incident is an occurrence or event, either human-caused or caused by natural phenomena, that requires action by emergency 
response personnel to prevent or minimize loss of life or damage to property and/or natural resources. 
 
Incidents may result in extreme peril to the safety of persons and property and may lead to, or create conditions of disaster. 
Incidents may also be rapidly mitigated without loss or damage. Although they may not meet disaster level definition, larger 
incidents may call for managers to proclaim a "Local Emergency". 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 13 of 47 9/30/24 
 

 
Incidents are usually a single event that may be small or large. They occur in a defined geographical area and require local resources 
or, sometimes, mutual aid. There is usually one to a few agencies involved in dealing with an ordinary threat to life and property and 
to a limited population. Usually a local emergency is not declared and the jurisdictional EOC is not activated. Incidents are usually of 
short duration, measured in hours or, at most, a few days. Primary command decisions are made at the scene along with strategy, 
tactics, and resource management decisions 
 
Emergency 
 
The term emergency is used in several ways. It is a condition of disaster or of extreme peril to the safety of persons and property. In 
this context, an emergency and an incident could mean the same thing, although an emergency could have more than one incident 
associated with it. 
 
Emergency is also used in Standardized Emergency Management System (SEMS) terminology to describe agencies or facilities, e.g., 
Emergency Response Agency, Emergency Operations Center, etc. 
 
Emergency also defines a conditional state such as a proclamation of "Local Emergency". The California Emergency Services Act, of 
which SEMS is a part, describes three states of emergency: 
 
State of War Emergency 
State of Emergency 
State of Local Emergency 
 
Disaster 
 
A disaster is defined as sudden calamitous emergency event bringing great damage, loss, or destruction. Disasters may occur with 
little or no advance warning, e.g., an earthquake or a flash flood, or they may develop from one or more incidents, e.g., a major 
wildfire or hazardous materials discharge. 
 
Disasters are either single or multiple events that have many separate incidents associated with them. The resource demand goes 
beyond local capabilities and extensive mutual aid and support are needed. There are many agencies and jurisdictions involved 
including multiple layers of government. There is usually an extraordinary threat to life and property affecting a generally 
widespread population and geographical area. A disaster's effects last over a substantial period of time (days to weeks) and local 
government will proclaim a Local Emergency. Emergency Operations Centers are activated to provide centralized overall 
coordination of jurisdictional assets, departments and incident support functions. Initial recovery coordination is also a responsibility 
of the EOCs.  
 
B. Earthquake Overview 
Major Earthquake Threat Summary 
 
Earthquakes are sudden releases of strain energy stored in the earth's bedrock. The great majority of earthquakes are not dangerous 
to life or property either because they occur in sparsely populated areas or because they are small earthquakes that release 
relatively small amounts of energy. However, where urban areas are located in regions of high seismicity, damaging earthquakes are 
expectable, if not predictable, events. Every occupant and developer in San Diego County assumes seismic risk because the County is 
within an area of high seismicity. More than ten severe earthquakes have impacted San Francisco Bay Region during historic times. 
 
The major effects of earthquakes are ground shaking and ground failure. Severe earthquakes are characteristically accompanied by 
surface faulting. Flooding may be triggered by dam or levee failure resulting from an earthquake, or by seismically induced 
settlement or subsidence. All of these geologic effects are capable of causing property damage and, more importantly, risks to life 
and safety of persons. 
 
A fault is a fracture in the earth's crust along which rocks on opposite sides have moved relative to each other. Active faults have 
high probability of future movement. Fault displacement involves forces so great that the only means of limiting damage to man-
made structures is to avoid the traces of active faults. Any movement beneath a structure, even on the order of an inch or two, 
could have catastrophic effects on the structure and its service lines. 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 14 of 47 9/30/24 
 

The overall energy release of an earthquake is its most important characteristic. Other important attributes include an earthquake's 
duration, its related number of significant stress cycles, and its accelerations. 
C. Levels of Response 
Response Levels are used to describe the type of event: 
 
The area(s) affected, the extent of coordination or assistance needed, and the degree of participation expected from the School 
District. Response Levels are closely tied to Emergency Proclamations issued by the head of local government. 
 
Response Level 0 - Readiness & Routine Phase 
 
On-going routine response by the School District to daily emergencies or incidents. Stand-by and alert procedures issued in advance 
of an anticipated or planned event. 
 
Response Level 3 - Local Emergency 
 
A minor to moderate incident in which local resources are adequate and available. This level of emergency response occurs when an 
emergency incident, e.g., gas leak, sewer back-up, assaults, bomb threat, toxic spill, medical emergency, shooting, etc., occurs. A 
Level 3 response requires School/Site Coordinators to implement guidelines in the Emergency Standard Operating Procedures and 
interact with public agencies. 
 
Response Level 2 - Local Disaster 
 
A moderate to severe emergency in which resources are not adequate and mutual aid may be required on a regional, even 
statewide basis with coordination with local police and fire departments of the affected are working in concert with Lakeside Union 
School District to respond. The affected Cities and the County of 
San Diego will proclaim a local emergency. Then, the State of California may declare a state of emergency. 
 
Response Level 1 - Major Disaster 
 
Resources in or near the impacted areas are overwhelmed and extensive State and Federal resources are required. The cities and 
the County of San Diego will proclaim a local emergency. Then, the State of California will declare a State of Emergency. A 
Presidential Declaration of an Emergency or Major Disaster is requested by the State. Examples of major disasters are the Loma 
Prieta Earthquake of 1989 or the Oakland Hills Firestorm of 1991. When local jurisdictions declare a State of Emergency, the district 
board can declare the same. 
D. Emergency Phases 
Some emergencies will be preceded by a build-up or warning period, providing sufficient time to warn the population and 
implement mitigation measures designated to reduce loss of life and property damage. Other emergencies occur with little or no 
advance warning, thus requiring immediate activation of the emergency operations plan and commitment of resources. All 
employees must be prepared to respond promptly and effectively to any foreseeable emergency, including the provision and use of 
mutual aid. 
 
Emergency management activities during peacetime and national security emergencies are often associated with the phases 
indicated below. However, not every disaster necessarily includes all indicated phases. 
 
Prevention/Mitigation Phase 
 
Prevention/Mitigation is perhaps the most important phase of emergency management. However, it is often the least used and 
generally the most cost effective. Mitigation is often thought of as taking actions to strengthen facilities, abatement of nearby 
hazards, and reducing the potential damage either to structures or their contents, while prevention is taking steps to avoid potential 
problems. Both of these elements require education of parents, students and teachers. 
 
While it is not possible to totally eliminate either the destructive force of a potential disaster or its effects, doing what can be done 
to minimize the effects may create a safer environment that will result in lower response costs, and fewer casualties. 
 
Preparedness Phase 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 15 of 47 9/30/24 
 

The preparedness phase involves activities taken in advance of an emergency. These activities develop operational capabilities and 
responses to a disaster. Those identified in this plan as having either a primary or support mission relative to response and recovery 
review Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) or checklists detailing personnel assignments, policies, notification procedures, and 
resource lists. Personnel are acquainted with these SOPs and checklists and periodically are trained in activation and execution. 
 
Response Phase 
 
Pre-Impact: Recognition of the approach of a potential disaster where actions are taken to save lives and protect property. Warning 
systems may be activated, and resources may be mobilized, EOCs may be activated and evacuation may begin. 
 
Immediate Impact: Emphasis is placed on saving lives, controlling the situation, and minimizing the effects of the disaster. Incident 
Command Posts and EOCs may be activated, and emergency instructions may be issued. 
 
Sustained: As the emergency continues, assistance is provided to victims of the disaster and efforts are made to reduce secondary 
damage. Response support facilities may be established. The resource requirements continually change to meet the needs of the 
incident. 
 
Recovery Phase 
 
Recovery is taking all actions necessary to restore the area to pre-event conditions or better, if possible. 
Therefore, mitigation for future hazards plays an important part in the recovery phase for many emergencies. There is no clear time 
separation between response and recovery. In fact, planning for recovery should be a part of the response phase.  
E. First Things First 
Preparing your school for emergencies starts with staff preparedness. The backbone of school planning is dependent on the staff's 
willingness to stay at school during a major community emergency. Personal preparedness makes this much easier. 
 
Each staff member needs 
 
A 72-hour supply kit for the home 
A Car Kit, including comfortable clothes/shoes and medications 
To develop a plan to reunite with their family 
A neighborhood preparedness program 
 
Preparedness Brochures are available from the local chapter of the American Red Cross, San Diego County Office of Emergency 
Services, Lakeside Union School District website, www.redcross.org, www.prepare.org or www.ready.gov. 
 
If the disaster occurs during school time, Emergency Management recommends the child stay at school until the parent or a trusted 
friend (see Emergency Cards) picks up the child. We have no idea, especially in an earthquake, how impacted our neighborhoods 
may be. 
 
This means the school staff will need to stay with the children. You can only do this if you are prepared at home! You must feel that 
your family can activate your Family Plan without you. 
 
Disaster Service Worker Status: California Government Code Section 3100 declares that public employees are disaster services 
workers, subject to such disaster service activities as may be assigned to them by the superiors or by law. The term public employees 
include all persons employed by the state or any county, city, city & county, state agency or public district, excluding aliens legally 
employed. This law applies to public school employees in the following cases: 
 
When a local emergency has been proclaimed, When a state of emergency has been proclaimed, or When a federal disaster 
declaration has been made. 
F. District and Parent Responsibilities 
DISTRICT RESPONSIBILITY 
 
If the superintendent declares a district emergency during the school day, the following procedures will be followed: 
 
IN CASE OF A DECLARED EMERGENCY BY THE SUPERINTENDENT DURING SCHOOL HOURS, 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 16 of 47 9/30/24 
 

ALL STUDENTS WILL BE REQUIRED TO REMAIN AT SCHOOL OR AT AN ALTERNATE SAFE SITE UNDER THE SUPERVISION OF THE 
SCHOOL PRINCIPAL OR OTHER PERSONNEL ASSIGNED BY THE PRINCIPAL. 
 
Until regular dismissal time and released only then if it is considered safe, 
OR 
Until released to an adult authorized by the parent or legal guardian whose name appears on district records. 
a. If students are on their way to school, they will be brought to school if bussed, or they shouldproceed to school if walking. 
b. If students are on their way home from school, they are to continue home. 
 
During a Declared Emergency, those students who have not been picked up by their parents or other authorized person may be 
taken by district personnel to another site where consolidated care facilities can be provided. This information will be given to the 
media stations and posted at the site to keep parents informed. 
 
PARENT RESPONSIBILITY 
 
Parents and legal guardians of students will be provided with a Student Health/Emergency Form each year. 
In case of a Declared Emergency, students will be released ONLY to persons designated on this form. Parents are responsible for 
ensuring that information on the Student Health/Enrollment Form is current at all times. 
 
Parents are asked to share with the schools the responsibility for informing students of what they should do in case of a severe 
earthquake or other major emergency. Parents need to give specific directions to each student to follow the policy outlined above 
and to follow the directions of school personnel. 
 
School authorities will do everything possible to care for each student while he/she is under district supervision. 
 
It is critical that students do not have directions from parents that are contrary to the district's stated policy on retention at school 
and authorized release in case of a severe emergency.  
VII. Emergency Response Procedures 
Section 8 content  
A. Basic Actions 
Most emergency responses are covered by the following Basic Actions: 
 
A. Action: STAND BY 
 
Action: STAND BY consists of bringing students into the classroom or holding them in the classroom pending further instruction. 
 
B. Action: LEAVE BUILDING 
 
ACTION: LEAVE BUILDING consists of the orderly movement of students and staff from inside the school building to outside areas of 
safety or planned evacuation site. 
 
Action: LEAVE BUILDING is appropriate for-but not limited to-the following emergencies: 
 
Fire 
Peacetime Bomb Threat 
Chemical Accident 
Explosion or Threat of an Explosion 
Following an Earthquake 
Other similar occurrences that might make the building uninhabitable 
At the onset of an Active Shooter/Lockdown Alert, when teacher/supervisor has ascertained that leaving is the best option. 
 
C. Action: TAKE COVER 
 
Action: TAKE COVER consists of bringing/keeping students indoors if possible and sheltering in place as appropriate to the situation. 
 
If outdoors, Action: TAKE COVER consists of hiding behind any solid object (large tree, engine block of car, cement wall), in the event 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 17 of 47 9/30/24 
 

a sniper attack, armed intruder, rabid animal, or moving immediately to a location which is upwind and uphill in the event of a 
chemical or biological threat 
 
Action TAKE COVER is appropriate for, but not limited to, the following: 
 
Severe Windstorm (short warning) 
Biological or Chemical Threat 
Sniper Attack 
Rabid Animal on School Grounds 
 
D. Action: DROP 
 
WARNING: The warning for this type of emergency is the beginning of the disaster itself. 
 
Action: DROP consists of: 
 
 Inside school buildings 

• Immediately TAKE COVER under desks or tables and turn away from all windows 
• Remain in a sheltered position for at least 60 seconds silent and listening to/or for instructions Outside of School 

Buildings 
• Earthquake: move away from buildings -Take a protective position, if possible Explosion/Nuclear Attack: 
• Take protective position, OR, 
• Get behind any solid object (ditch, curb, tree, etc.); lie prone with head away from light or blast; cover head, face, and as 

much of the skin surface as possible; close eyes, and cover ears with forearms. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 18 of 47 9/30/24 
 

 
E. ACTION: DIRECTED MAINTENANCE 
 
No school personnel/students are allowed to enter a school facility until inspected by and authorized by appropriate school 
personnel: Maintenance and School Administrators, and if applicable, Police, Fire, or City Inspectors. 
 
In the event that drinking water is unsafe, water valves will be turned off and the drinking fountains sealed. 
 
Water, gas, and electrical shut-off valves will be shut-off for each applicable building under the join authorization of the 
administration and head custodian. 
 
F. ACTION: DIRECTED TRANSPORTATION 
 
WARNING: Under certain disaster conditions, authorized officials may attempt to move an entire community, or portion thereof, 
from an area of danger to another area of safety. 
 
Action: DIRECTED TRANSPORTATION consists of loading students and staff into school buses, cars and other means of 
transportation, and taking them from a danger area to a designated safety area. 
 
Action: DIRECTED TRANSPORTATION is considered appropriate only when directed by the 
Superintendent or designee, Site Administrator, Police, Fire, or OES. It may be appropriate for, but not limited to, movement away 
from: 
 
Fire 
Chemical & Biological Gas Alert 
Flood 
Fallout Area 
Blast Area 
Chemical & Biological Gas Alert 
Specific Man-Made Emergency (shooting, fire, etc.) 
 
G. ACTION: GO HOME 
 
Action: GO HOME consists of: 
 
Dismissal of all classes 
Return of students to their homes by the most expeditious 
 
Action: GO HOME is to be considered only if there is time for students to go safely to their homes and if buses or other 
transportation are available for students who live at a distance from the school. Notification of parents by radio broadcast, local 
television, ALERT website, phone distribution lists, or other means will be requested. 
 
H. ACTION: CONVERT SCHOOL 
 
Action: CONVERT SCHOOL to a Red Cross emergency facility will be initiated by City officials. 
 
 
 
Public Agency Use of School Buildings for Emergency Shelters 
 
 
(C) School Suspension, Expulsion and Mandatory Expulsion Guidelines 
C. Suspension and Expulsion Policies 
Grounds for suspension which fall under Education Code 48900 
Caused, attempted to cause, or threatened to cause physical injury to another person 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 19 of 47 9/30/24 
 

Possessed, sold, or otherwise furnished any firearm, knife, explosive, or other dangerous object unless, in the case of possession of 
any object of this type, the pupil had obtained written permission to possess the item from a certificated school employee, which is 
concurred in by the principal or the designee of the principal. 
Unlawfully possessed, used, sold, or otherwise furnished, or been under the influence of any controlled substance. 
Unlawfully offered, arranged, or negotiated to sell any controlled substance. 
Committed or attempted to commit robbery or extortion. 
Caused or attempted to cause damage to school property or private property. 
Stolen or attempted to steal school or private property. 
Possessed or used tobacco, or any products containing tobacco or 1nicotine products, including, but not limited to, cigarettes, cigars, 
miniature cigars, clove cigarettes, smokeless tobacco, snuff, chew packets, and betel. However, this section does not prohibit use or 
possession by a pupil of his or her own prescription products. 
Committed an obscene act or engaged in habitual profanity or vulgarity. 
Had unlawful possession of, or unlawfully offered, arranged or negotiated to sell any drug paraphernalia. 
Disrupted school activities or otherwise willfully defied the valid authority supervisors, teachers, administrators, school officials, or 
other school personnel engaged in the performance of their duties. 
Knowingly received stolen school property or private property. 
Possessed an imitation firearm. As used in this section, "imitation firearm" means a replica of a firearm as to substantially similar in 
physical properties to an existing firearm as to lead a reasonable person to conclude that the replica is a firearm. 
Committed or attempted to commit sexual assault. 
Harassed, threatened, or intimidated a pupil who is a complaining witness or witness in a school disciplinary proceeding for the 
purpose of either preventing that pupil from being a witness or retaliating against that pupil for being a witness, or both. 
 
A pupil may not be suspended or expelled for any of the acts listed above unless that act is related to school activity or school 
attendance occurring within a school under the jurisdiction of the superintendent or principal or occurring within any other school 
district. A pupil may be suspended or expelled for acts which are enumerated in this section and related to school activity or 
attendance that occur at any time, including but not limited to, any of the following: 
While on school grounds. 
While going to or coming from school. 
During the lunch period, whether on or off the campus. 
During, or in route to and from, a school sponsored activity. 
 
Expulsion Policies under Education Code 48915: 
 
The principal shall recommend the expulsion of a pupil for any of the following committed at school or school activity off school 
grounds, unless the principal or superintendent finds an expulsion is inappropriate, due to the particular circumstance: 
Causing serious physical injury to another person, except in self-defense. 
Possession of any knife, explosive, or other dangerous object of no reasonable use to the pupil. Unlawful possession of any 
controlled substance, as defined under Ed. Code. 
Robbery or extortion. 
Assault or battery on any school employee, as defined in Sections 240 and 242 of the Penal Code. 
 
The principal, or superintendent of schools shall immediately suspend, pursuant to Section 48911, and shall recommend expulsion 
of a pupil that he or she determines has committed any of the following acts at school or at a school activity off school grounds: 
Possessing, selling, or otherwise furnishing a firearm. This subdivision does not apply to an act of possessing a firearm if the pupil has 
obtained prior written permission to possess the firearm from a certificated school employee, which is concurred in by the principal 
or the designee of the principal. This subdivision applies to an act of possessing a firearm only if an employee of a school district 
verifies the possession. 
Brandishing a knife at another person. 
Unlawfully selling a controlled substance as defined by Education Code. 
Committing or attempting to commit a sexual assault as defined in the Education Code. 
 
LUSD has the following Board Policy related to Suspension and Expulsion of Students: BP 5144.1 
The Governing Board desires to provide district students access to educational opportunities in an orderly school environment that 
protects their safety and security, ensures their welfare and well-being, and promotes their learning and development. The Board 
shall develop rules and regulations setting the standards of behavior expected of district students and the disciplinary processes and 
procedures for addressing violations of those standards, including suspension and/or expulsion. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 20 of 47 9/30/24 
 

(cf. 5131 - Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.1 - Bus Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.2 - Bullying) 
 
The grounds for suspension and expulsion and the procedures for considering, recommending, and/or implementing suspension and 
expulsion shall be those specified in law, in policy, and in the accompanying administrative regulation. 
Except when otherwise permitted by law, a student may be suspended or expelled only when his/her behavior is related to a school 
activity or school attendance occurring within any district school or another school district, regardless of when it occurs, including, 
but not limited to, the following: (Education Code 48900(s)) 
 
1. While on school grounds 
2. While going to or coming from school 
3. During the lunch period, whether on or off the school campus 
(cf. 5112.5 - Open/Closed Campus) 
4. During, going to, or coming from a school-sponsored activity 
District staff shall enforce the rules concerning suspension and expulsion of students fairly, consistently, equally, and in accordance 
with the district's nondiscrimination policies. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
 
Appropriate Use of Suspension Authority 
Except when a student's act that violates Education Code 48900(a)-(e), as listed in items #1-5 under "Grounds for Suspension or 
Expulsion: Grades K-12" of the accompanying administrative regulation, or when his/her presence causes a danger to others, 
suspension shall be used only when other means of correction have failed to bring about proper conduct. (Education Code 
48900.5,48900.6) 
(cf. 1020 - Youth Services) 
(cf. 5138 - Conflict Resolution/Peer Mediation) 
(cf. 5144 - Discipline) 
(cf. 6142.4 - Service Learning/Community Service Classes) 
(cf. 6164.2 - Guidance/Counseling Services) 
(cf. 6164.5 - Student Success Teams) 
 
A student's parents/guardians shall be notified as soon as possible when there is an escalating pattern of misbehavior that could 
lead to removal on-campus or off-campus suspension. 
No student in grades K-3 may be suspended for disruption or willful defiance, except by a teacher pursuant to Education Code 
48910. (Education Code 48900) 
Students shall not be suspended or expelled for truancy, tardiness, or absenteeism from assigned school activities. 
(cf. 5113 - Absences and Excuses) 
(cf. 5113.1 - Chronic Absence and Truancy) 
 
On-Campus Suspension 
 
To ensure the proper supervision and ongoing learning of students who are suspended for any of the reasons enumerated in 
Education Code 48900 and 48900.2, but who pose no imminent danger or threat to anyone at school and for whom expulsion 
proceedings have not been initiated, the Superintendent or designee shall establish a supervised suspension classroom program 
which meets the requirements of law. 
Except where a supervised suspension is permitted by law for a student's first offense, supervised suspension shall be imposed only 
when other means of correction have failed to bring about proper conduct. (Education Code 48900.5) 
 
Authority to Expel 
A student may be expelled only by the Board. (Education Code 48918(j)) 
As required by law, the Superintendent or principal shall recommend expulsion and the Board shall expel any student found to have 
committed any of the following "mandatory recommendation and mandatory expulsion" acts at school or at a school activity off 
school grounds: (Education Code 48915) 
1. Possessing a firearm which is not an imitation firearm, as verified by a certificated employee, unless thestudent had obtained prior 
written permission to possess the item from a certificated school employee, with the principal or designee's concurrence 
(cf. 5131.7 - Weapons and Dangerous Instruments) 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 21 of 47 9/30/24 
 

2. Selling or otherwise furnishing a firearm 
3. Brandishing a knife at another person 
4. Unlawfully selling a controlled substance listed in Health and Safety Code 11053-11058 
5. Committing or attempting to commit a sexual assault as defined in Penal Code 261, 266c, 286, 288, 288a,or 289, or committing a 
sexual battery as defined in Penal Code 243.4 6. Possessing an explosive as defined in 18 USC 921 
 
For all other violations listed in the accompanying administrative regulation under "Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades K-
12" and "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 4-12," the Superintendent or principal shall have the discretion 
to recommend expulsion of a student. If expulsion is recommended, the Board shall order the student expelled only if it makes a 
finding of either or both of the following: (Education Code 48915(b) and (e)) 
 
1. That other means of correction are not feasible or have repeatedly failed to bring about proper conduct 
2. That due to the nature of the violation, the presence of the student causes a continuing danger to thephysical safety of the 
student or others 
A vote to expel a student shall be taken in public an open session of a Board meeting. 
The Board may vote to suspend the enforcement of the expulsion order pursuant to the requirements of law and the accompanying 
administrative regulation. (Education Code 48900). 
No student shall be expelled for disruption or willful defiance. (Education Code 48900) 
No child enrolled in a preschool program shall be expelled except under limited circumstances as specified in AR 5148.3 - 
Preschool/Early Childhood Education. 
(cf. 5148.3 - Preschool/Early Childhood Education) 
 
Due Process 
 
The Board shall provide for the fair and equitable treatment of students facing suspension and/or expulsion by affording them their 
due process rights under the law. The Superintendent or designee shall comply with procedures for notices, hearings, and appeals as 
specified in law and administrative regulation. (Education Code 48911, 48915, 48915.5) 
(cf. 5119 - Students Expelled from Other Districts) 
(cf. 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Individuals with Disabilities)) 
 
Maintenance and Monitoring of Outcome Data 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall maintain outcome data related to student suspensions and expulsions in accordance with 
Education Code 48900.8 and 48916.1, including, but not limited to, the number of students recommended for expulsion, the 
grounds for each recommended expulsion, the actions taken by the Board, the types of referral made after each expulsion, and the 
disposition of the students after the expulsion period. For any expulsion that involves the possession of a firearm, such data shall 
include the name of the school and the type of firearm involved, as required pursuant to 20 USC 7961. Suspension and expulsion 
data shall be reported to the Board annually and to the California Department of Education when so required. 
In presenting the report to the Board, the Superintendent or designee shall disaggregate data on suspensions and expulsions by 
school and by numerically significant student subgroups, including, but not limited to, ethnic subgroups, socioeconomically 
disadvantaged students, English learners, students with disabilities, foster youth, and homeless students. Based on the data, the 
Board shall address any identified disparities in the imposition of student discipline and shall determine whether and how the 
district is meeting its goals for improving school climate as specified in its local control and accountability plan. (cf. 0460 - Local 
Control and Accountability Plan) 
 
 
 
(D) Procedures to Notify Teachers of Dangerous Pupils (EC 49079) 
D. Staff Notification of Dangerous Students 
In order to fulfill the requirements made by Education Code 49079 and Welfare and Institutions Code 827 that state teachers must 
be notified of the reason(s) a student has been suspended. The District has incorporated this notification into the student 
information system so that it is easily accessible for teachers on any student level screen. On the flag bar there is a red flag: 49079. 
This flag indicates the student has been suspended under Ed Code 48900. The teacher can access more specific information by 
contacting their site administrator for additional details about the behavior. All information regarding suspension and expulsion is 
CONFIDENTIAL, is not to be shared with any student(s) or parent(s). Teachers are asked to secure the list so students and others may 
not view it. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 22 of 47 9/30/24 
 

Additionally, Pursuant to Welfare & Institution Code 827(b) and Education Code 48267, the Court notifies the Superintendent of the 
Lakeside Union School District regarding students who have engaged in certain criminal conduct. This information is forwarded to 
the site Principal. The site Principal is responsible for prompt notification of the student's teachers. Per Education Code 49079, this 
information must be kept confidential. This information is also forwarded to all administrators and the student's counselor. 
 
 
(E) Sexual Harassment Policies (EC 212.6 [b]) 
B. Sexual Harassment Policy 
A. DEFINITION 
"Sexual Harassment includes 'unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, sexually motivated physical contact, or other 
verbal or physical conduct or communication of a sexual nature,' when any of four conditions are met: 
Submission to the conduct or communication is made a term or condition, either explicitly or implicitly, of obtaining education; 
Submission or rejection of the conduct or communication is used as a factor in decisions affecting that person's education; 
The conduct or communication has either the purpose or effect of 'substantially interfering' with a person's education; 
The conduct or communication creates an 'intimidating, hostile, or offensive' educational environment." 
 
B. Policy Pertaining to Sexual Harassment: LUSD has the following Board Policies on Sexual Harrasment, which can be viewed at 
www.lsusd.net, under Leadership, Board of Trustees, Board Policies: 
Board Poilicy 4119.91 
The following policy shall apply to all district employees, volunteers, contractors, job applicants, and other persons with an 
employment relationship with the district. 
The Governing is committed to providing a safe work environment that is free of harassment and intimidation.  The Board prohibits 
sexual harassment against district employees and retaliatory behavior or action against any persons who complain, testifies or 
otherwise participates in the complaint process established for the purpose of this policy. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
(cf. 4030 - Nondiscrimination in Employment) 
Sexual harassment includes, but is not limited to, harassment that is based on the sex, gender, gender identity, gender expression, 
or sexual orientation of the victim and harassment based on pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions. 
The Superintendent or designee shall take all actions necessary to ensure the prevention, investigation, and correction of sexual 
harassment, including but not limited to: 
1. Providing training to employees in accordance with law and administrative regulation 
2. Publicizing and disseminating the district's sexual harassment policy to employees and others to whom the policy may apply 
3. Ensuring prompt, thorough, fair, and equitable investigation of complaints 
4. Taking timely and appropriate corrective/remedial action(s), which may require interim separation ofthe complainant and the 
alleged harasser and subsequent monitoring of developments 
The Superintendent or designee shall periodically evaluate the effectiveness of the district's strategies to prevent and address 
harassment. Such evaluation may involve conducting regular anonymous employee surveys to assess whether harassment is 
occurring or is perceived to be tolerated, partnering with researchers or other agencies with the needed expertise to evaluate the 
district's prevention strategies, and using any other effective tool for receiving feedback on systems and/or processes. As necessary, 
changes shall be made to the harassment policy, complaint procedures, or training. 
Sexual Harassment Reports and Complaints 
District employees who feel that they have been sexually harassed in the performance of their district responsibilities or who have 
knowledge of any incident of sexual harassment by or against another employee shall immediately report the incident to their direct 
supervisor, a district administrator, or the district's Title IX Coordinator. Employees may bypass their supervisor in filing a complaint 
if the supervisor is the subject of the complaint. A supervisor or administrator who receives a harassment complaint shall promptly 
notify the Title IX Coordinator. 
Once notified, the Title IX Coordinator shall ensure the complaint or allegation is addressed through AR 
4119.12/4219.12/4319.12 - Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures or AR 4030 - 
Nondiscrimination in Employment, as applicable.  Because a complaint or allegation that is dismissed or denied under the Title IX 
complaint procedure may still be subject to consideration under state law, the Title IX Coordinator shall ensure that any 
implementation of AR 4119.12/4219.12/4319.12 concurrently meets the requirements of AR 4030. 
(cf. 4119.12/4219.12/4319.12 - Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaints) 
The Title IX Coordinator shall offer supportive measures to the complainant and respondent, as deemed appropriate under the 
circumstances. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 23 of 47 9/30/24 
 

Upon investigation of a sexual harassment complaint, any district employee found to have engaged or participated in sexual 
harassment or to have aided, abetted, incited, compelled, or coerced another to commit sexual harassment in violation of this policy 
shall be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal, in accordance with law and the applicable collective bargaining 
agreement. 
 
Board Policy 4219.11 
The Governing Board prohibits sexual harassment of district employees and job applicants. The Board also prohibits retaliatory 
behavior or action against district employees or other persons who complain, testify or otherwise participate in the complaint 
process established pursuant to this policy and administrative regulation. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) (cf. 4030 - Nondiscrimination in Employment) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall take all actions necessary to ensure the prevention, investigation, and correction of sexual 
harassment, including but not limited to: 
1. Providing training to employees in accordance with law and administrative regulation 
2. Publicizing and disseminating the district's sexual harassment policy to staff 
(cf. 4112.9/4212.9/4312.9 - Employee Notifications) 
3. Ensuring prompt, thorough, and fair investigation of complaints 
4. Taking timely and appropriate corrective/remedial action(s), which may require interim separation of thecomplainant and the 
alleged harasser and subsequent monitoring of developments 
All complaints and allegations of sexual harassment shall be kept confidential to the extent necessary to carry out the investigation 
or to take other subsequent necessary actions. (5 CCR 4964) 
Any district employee or job applicant who feels that he/she has been sexually harassed or who has knowledge of any incident of 
sexual harassment by or against another employee, a job applicant or a student, 
shall immediately report the incident to his/her supervisor, the principal, district administrator or Superintendent. 
A supervisor, principal or other district administrator who receives a harassment complaint shall promptly notify the Superintendent 
or designee. 
Complaints of sexual harassment shall be filed in accordance with AR 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment. 
An employee may bypass his/her supervisor in filing a complaint where the supervisor is the subject of the complaint. 
(cf. 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment) 
Any district employee who engages or participates in sexual harassment or who aids, abets, incites, compels, or coerces another to 
commit sexual harassment against a district employee, job applicant, or student is in violation of this policy and is subject to 
disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal. 
(cf. 4117.4 - Dismissal) 
(cf. 4118 - Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
(cf. 4218 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
 
Board Policy 4319.11 
The Governing Board prohibits sexual harassment of district employees and job applicants. The Board also prohibits retaliatory 
behavior or action against district employees or other persons who complain, testify or otherwise participate in the complaint 
process established pursuant to this policy and administrative regulation. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
(cf. 4030 - Nondiscrimination in Employment) 
The Superintendent or designee shall take all actions necessary to ensure the prevention, investigation, and correction of sexual 
harassment, including but not limited to: 
1. Providing training to employees in accordance with law and administrative regulation 
2. Publicizing and disseminating the district's sexual harassment policy to staff 
(cf. 4112.9/4212.9/4312.9 - Employee Notifications) 
3. Ensuring prompt, thorough, and fair investigation of complaints 
4. Taking timely and appropriate corrective/remedial action(s), which may require interim separation of thecomplainant and the 
alleged harasser and subsequent monitoring of developments 
All complaints and allegations of sexual harassment shall be kept confidential to the extent necessary to carry out the investigation 
or to take other subsequent necessary actions. (5 CCR 4964) 
Any district employee or job applicant who feels that he/she has been sexually harassed or who has knowledge of any incident of 
sexual harassment by or against another employee, a job applicant or a student, 
shall immediately report the incident to his/her supervisor, the principal, district administrator or Superintendent. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 24 of 47 9/30/24 
 

A supervisor, principal or other district administrator who receives a harassment complaint shall promptly notify the Superintendent 
or designee. 
Complaints of sexual harassment shall be filed in accordance with AR 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment. 
An employee may bypass his/her supervisor in filing a complaint where the supervisor is the subject of the complaint. 
(cf. 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment) 
Any district employee who engages or participates in sexual harassment or who aids, abets, incites, compels, or coerces another to 
commit sexual harassment against a district employee, job applicant, or student is in violation of this policy and is subject to 
disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal. 
 
Board Policy 5145.7 
The Governing Board is committed to maintaining a safe school environment that is free from harassment and discrimination. The 
Board prohibits, at school or at school-sponsored or school-related activities, sexual harassment targeted at any student by anyone. 
The Board also prohibits retaliatory behavior or action against any person who reports, files a complaint or testifies about, or 
otherwise supports a complainant in alleging sexual harassment. 
The district strongly encourages any student who feels that he/she is being or has been sexually harassed on school grounds or at a 
school-sponsored or school-related activity by another student or an adult who has experienced off-campus sexual harassment that 
has a continuing effect on campus to immediately contact his/her teacher, the principal, or any other available school employee. 
Any employee who receives a report or observes an incident of sexual harassment shall notify the principal or a district compliance 
officer. Once notified, the principal or compliance officer shall take the steps to investigate and address the allegation, as specified in 
the accompanying administrative regulations. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
(cf. 1312.1 - Complaints Concerning District Employees) 
(cf. 5131 - Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.2 - Bullying) 
(cf. 5137 - Positive School Climate) 
(cf. 5141.4 - Child Abuse Prevention and Reporting) 
(cf. 5145.3 - Nondiscrimination/Harassment) 
(cf. 6142.1 - Sexual Health and HIV/AIDS Prevention Instruction) 
The Superintendent or designee shall take appropriate actions to reinforce the district's sexual harassment  policy. 
Instruction/Information 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that all district students receive age-appropriate information on sexual harassment. 
Such instruction and information shall include: 
1. What acts and behavior constitute sexual harassment, including the fact that sexual harassment could occur between people of 
the same sex and could involve sexual violence 
2. A clear message that students do not have to endure sexual harassment under any circumstance 
3. Encouragement to report observed incidents of sexual harassment even where the alleged victim of the harassment has not 
complained 
4. A clear message that student safety is the district's primary concern, and that any separate rule violationinvolving an alleged 
victim or any other person reporting a sexual harassment incident will be addressed separately and will not affect the manner in 
which the sexual harassment complaint will be received, investigated, or resolved 
5. A clear message that, regardless of a complainant's noncompliance with the writing, timeline, or otherformal filing requirements, 
every sexual harassment allegation that involves a student, whether as the complainant, respondent, or victim of the harassment, 
shall be investigated and prompt action shall be taken to stop any harassment, prevent recurrence, and address any continuing 
effect on students 
6. Information about the district's procedure for investigating complaints and the person(s) to whom a reportof sexual harassment 
should be made 
7. Information about the rights of students and parents/guardians to file a civil or criminal complaint, asapplicable, including the 
right to file a civil or criminal complaint while the district investigation of a sexual harassment complaint continues 
8. A clear message that, when needed, the district will take interim measures to ensure a safe schoolenvironment for a student who 
is the complainant or victim of sexual harassment and/or other students during an investigation and that, to the extent possible, 
when such interim measures are taken, they shall not disadvantage the complainant or victim of the alleged harassment 
Complaint Process and Disciplinary Actions 
Sexual harassment complaints by and against students shall be investigated and resolved in accordance with law and district 
procedures specified in AR 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint Procedures. Principals are responsible for notifying students and 
parents/guardians that complaints of sexual harassment can be filed under AR 1312.3 and where to obtain a copy of the procedures. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 25 of 47 9/30/24 
 

Upon investigation of a sexual harassment complaint, any student found to have engaged in sexual harassment or sexual violence is 
in violation of this policy shall be subject to disciplinary action. For students in grades 4-12, disciplinary action may include 
suspension and/or expulsion, provided that, in imposing such discipline, the entire circumstances of the incident(s) shall be taken 
into account. 
(cf. 5144 - Discipline) 
(cf. 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process) 
(cf. 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Students with Disabilities)) 
Upon investigation of a sexual harassment complaint, any employee found to have engaged in sexual harassment or sexual violence 
toward any student shall have his/her employment terminated in accordance with laws, and the applicable collective bargaining 
agreement. 
(cf. 4117.4 - Dismissal) 
(cf. 4117.7 - Employment Status Report) 
(cf. 4118 - Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
(cf. 4218 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
(cf. 4119.11/4219.11/4319.11 - Sexual Harassment) 
Record-Keeping 
The Superintendent or designee shall maintain a record of all reported cases of sexual harassment to enable the district to monitor, 
address, and prevent repetitive harassing behavior in district schools. (cf. 3580 - District Records) 
 
 
C. Staff Training: All LUSD staff engage in mandated sexual harassment training annually. 
 
 
(F) School-wide Dress Code Relating to Gang-Related Apparel (EC 35183) 
Lakeside Farms adheres to Lakeside Union School Districts Board Policy 5132: Dress And Grooming. The Governing Board believes 
that appropriate dress and grooming contribute to a productive learning environment. The Board expects students to give proper 
attention to personal cleanliness and to wear clothes that are suitable for the school activities in which they participate. Students' 
clothing must not present a health or safety hazard or a distraction which would interfere with the educational process. 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall develop effective, age-appropriate strategies for maintaining a positive school climate and 
correcting student misbehavior at district schools. 
 
The strategies shall focus on providing students with needed supports; communicating clear, appropriate, and consistent 
expectations and consequences for student conduct; and ensuring equity and continuous improvement in the implementation of 
district discipline policies and practices. 
 
Board policies and administrative regulations shall outline acceptable student conduct and provide the basis for sound disciplinary 
practices. Each school shall develop disciplinary rules to meet the school's particular needs. 
 
Lakeside Farms follows the Board Policy and school district guidelines. 
 
 
(G) Procedure for Safe Ingress and Egress of Pupils, Parents, and Staff to and from School (EC 35294.2) 
Beyond planning for daily ingress/egress routes and emergency evacuation routes, schools must plan for assisting students, staff and 
visitors with disabilities. Under the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, individuals who are deaf/hard of hearing, blind/partially 
sighted, mobility impaired and/or cognitively/emotionally impaired must be assisted. 
 
B. Planning 
 
It is recommended that schools identify the location of potential evacuation sites based on the potential circumstances that may 
cause movement/relocation of the school population in the event of an emergency. 
 
On-Campus Evacuation/Assembly Location 
 
Review your school site layout and determine where the safest outdoor location is on campus to assemble your students and staff. 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 26 of 47 9/30/24 
 

Off-Campus Evacuation/Assembly Location 
 
Determine if there is a facility close to your school that can potentially house your staff and student body. 
 
Prior to an event: 
 
Identify off-campus evacuation site(s). 
Establish a memorandum of agreement with the evacuation site(s). 
 
Provide the addresses of at least two off-campus locations that have agreed to provide an assembly area for your school population. 
 
Primary Off-Site Evacuation/Assembly Location 
 
Organization: Willowbrook Golf Course 
Address: Lakeside, Ca 92040 
Contact: 
Phone Number: (619) 561-1061 
Date of Agreement: September 2023 
 
Organization: Lakeside Fire Station 
Address: 12216 Lakeside Ave. Lakeside, CA 92040 
Contact: 
Phone Number: (619) 390-2350 
Date of Agreement: September 2023 
 
In the event of an airborne chemical or biological release, it is safest for students and staff to remain indoors at the school site. 
 
Follow the "Shelter-in-Place" procedures. 
 
C. Staff Training 
 
 
(I) School Discipline Rules and Consequences (EC 35291 and EC 35291.5) 
 
Lakeside Farms Elementary School Student Conduct Code 
A. Statement of Rules and Procedures on School Discipline 
 
Education Code 44807: 
 
"Every teacher in the public schools shall hold Pupils to a strict account for their conduct on the way to and from school, on the 
playgrounds, or during recess. A teacher, vice principal, principal, or any other certificated employee of a school district, shall not be 
subject to criminal prosecution or criminal penalties for the exercise, during the performance of his duties, of the same degree of 
physical control over a pupil that a parent would be legally privileged to exercise but which in no event shall exceed the amount of 
physical control reasonably necessary to maintain order, protect property, or protect the health and safety of pupils, or to maintain 
proper and appropriate conditions conducive to learning." 
 
B. Notification to Students and Parents 
 
Education Code 35291: 
Parents and students shall be notified of the District and school site rules pertaining to student discipline at the beginning of the first 
semester, and at the time of enrollment for students who enroll thereafter. 
The discipline policy shall be reviewed annually with input from the Discipline Team, site administrators, campus security, staff, 
students, and parents. 
 
C. Staff Training 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 27 of 47 9/30/24 
 

Lakeside Farms Elementary School will review Safety Plans and Procedures with all staff in August 2022, Feb 2023, Mar 2023. 
Option-Based Safety Planning was provided in 2022. Tenets from training will be reviewed annually. REMS training was provided 
Adminstrative Staff on Dec. 2021. School Site Council was debriefed on REMS Training on Jan 2022. 
D. School Discipline Chart and/or Selected Disciplinary Policies and Procedures. 
(INSERT LOW LEVEL REFERRAL CHART) 
 
 
Conduct Code Procedures 
 
 
(J) Procedures to Prepare for Active Shooters 
SDCOE Training 
 
Procedures for Preventing Acts of Bullying and Cyber-bullying 
Expectations Assemblies 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 28 of 47 9/30/24 
 

 
Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures 
 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 29 of 47 9/30/24 
 

 
Safety Plan Appendices 
 
  



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 30 of 47 9/30/24 
 

 
Emergency Contact Numbers 
 
Utilities, Responders and Communication Resources 
 

Type Vendor Number Comments 

    
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 31 of 47 9/30/24 
 

 
Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures 
 

Activity Description 
(i.e. review steps, meetings conducted, approvals, etc) Date and Time Attached Document 

(description and location) 
Staff Meeting 10/2/24  

SSC 9/18/24  

Sheriff Safety Visit 9/20/23  

 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 32 of 47 9/30/24 
 

 
Lakeside Farms Elementary School Incident Command System 
 

--------     Incident Commander     

--------     Jim Rosa--------     

--------           

--------   Safety Officer   Public Information Officer   

--------   Lucretia Browning--------   Caroline Winter--------   

--------           

--------   Scribe       

--------   Jennifer Victor--------       

--------           

--------           

Operations ------- Planning/ 
Intelligence  Logistics  Finance/Administration 

Jim Rosa-------- ------- Caroline Winter--------  Jim Rosa--------  Jim Rosa-------- 

--------           

--------           

--------  First Aid & Search 
Teacher A        

--------  Custodian - Leah Celeste--------        

--------           

--------  
Student Release & 

Accountability 
TeacherB 

       

--------  Jennifer Victor--------        
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 33 of 47 9/30/24 
 

 
Incident Command Team Responsibilities 
 
Standardized Emergency Response Management System Overview 
The California Standardized Emergency Management System (SEMS) is designed to centralize and coordinate emergency response 
through the use of standardized terminology and processes. This greatly facilitates the flow of information and resources among the 
agencies participating in response to an emergency. SEMS consists of five functions: 
 
 
Management 
During an emergency, the Incident Commander directs response actions from a designated Command Post. To effectively do this, 
the Incident Commander must constantly assess the situation, and develop and implement appropriate strategies. The Incident 
Commander must be familiar with the available resources, accurately document all response actions, and effectively communicate 
response strategies to others participating in the response. This function is typically filled by the school principal. The principal is 
assisted in carrying out this function by a Public Information & Liaison Officer and Safety Officer. 
 
Planning & Intelligence 
Planning and Intelligence involves the use of various methods to efficiently gather information, weigh and document the information 
for significance, and actively assess the status of the emergency. This understanding and knowledge about the situation at hand is 
vital to the effective management of a response. These activities are performed by a single person who reports directly to the 
Incident Commander. 
 
Operations 
All response actions are implemented under by Operations. This includes staff performing first aid, crisis intervention, search and 
rescue, site security, damage assessment, evacuations, and the release of students. 
 
Logistics 
Logistics supports the response by coordinating personnel; assembling and deploying volunteers; providing supplies, equipment, and 
services; and facilitating communications among emergency responders. 
 
Finance & Administration 
Finance & Administration involves the purchasing of all necessary materials, tracking financial records, timekeeping for emergency 
responders, and recovering school records following an emergency. These activities are performed by a single person who reports 
directly to the Incident Commander. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 34 of 47 9/30/24 
 

 
Emergency Response Guidelines 
 
Step One: Identify the Type of Emergency 
 
 
 
Step Two: Identify the Level of Emergency 
 
 
 
Step Three: Determine the Immediate Response Action 
 
 
 
Step Four: Communicate the Appropriate Response Action 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 35 of 47 9/30/24 
 

 
Types of Emergencies & Specific Procedures 
 
Armed Assault on Campus 
. Lockdown: Active Shooter 
An Active shooter/Lockdown Alert is sounded if there is a sniper, armed intruder or active shooter on campus. Staff members have a 
very limited amount of time in which to commit to a course of action. Immediately assess both the situation and the surrounding 
environment and responds to the situation based upon the Active shooter Training and drills. This is also true for your students who 
may need to become resources for substitutes or who are alone when an event occurs. 
 
Remember, the Active shooter response is a partnership with local law enforcement. 
 
Immediate actions should include: 
 
Students and staff go into classrooms/buildings or run to off-site evacuation areas. 
LOCKDOWN includes building door barricades, internal barricades, covering windows and turning off/dimming lights. 
Notify administration 
Call 9-1-1 if you know the location of the shooter, the description or identity of the shooter or if you need medical direction for a 
victim. 
Administration notifies the Superintendent 
 
Intermediate activities: 
 
Place a red card under the door/in a window if you have a serious injury in the classroom. 
Take roll 
Conduct anxiety-reducing activities 
 
Evacuation: 
 
Prepare students and yourself for a quick evacuation 
Follow directions of law enforcement when they arrive 
 
 
Biological or Chemical Release 
Poisoning, Chemical Spills, Hazardous Materials 
POISONING: 
 
If a student ingests a poisonous substance: 
 
Call Poison Control Center Link Line 1-800-222-1222. Take appropriate first aid measures. Call parents. 
Notify the Health Services Office. 
 
Following any emergency, notify the District Superintendents' Office 
 
CHEMICAL SPILL ON SITE: 
 
The following are guidelines for Chemical Spills: 
 
Evacuate the immediate area of personnel 
Determine whether to initiate Shelter In Place Protocol 
Secure the area (block points of entry) 
Identify the chemical and follow the procedures for that particular chemical. Notify the District Office. 
 
CHEMICAL SPILL OFF SITE INVOLVING DISTRICT EQUIPMENT/PROPERTY 
 
 Notify the Todd Owens with the following information: 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 36 of 47 9/30/24 
 

• Date, time, and exact location of the release or threatened release 
• Name and telephone number of person reporting 
• Type of chemical involved and the estimated quantity 
• Description of potential hazards presented by the spill 
• Document time and date notification made 
• Other emergency personnel responding (Highway Patrol, CALTRANS, etc.) 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 37 of 47 9/30/24 
 

Locate a fire extinguisher and have present, should the need arise 
Place reflective triangles or traffic cones if in street or highway. DO NOT LIGHT FLARES! 
If spill response equipment is available use it to take the necessary measures to prevent the spill from spreading. 
 
Reporting Chemical Spills 
 
Once an emergency spill response has been completed, the person reporting the initial spill must complete a SPILL RESPONSE 
EVALUATION. The incident must be reported to the Superintendent WITHIN 24 HOURS OF THE SPILL. 
 
Spill Clean Up 
 
Chemical Spills may not be cleaned up by school personnel. Call the District Office at [Insert District Office Contact Name] and [Insert 
District Office Phone Number]. The cleanup will be coordinated through a designated contractor. 
 
HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES 
 
Hazardous Substances include the following, but is not limited to the following: 
 
Gasoline 
Solvents 
Motor Oil 
Diesel Fuel 
Kerosene 
Anti-Freeze 
Airborne Gases/Fumes 
Lacquer Thinner 
Paint 
Agricultural Spray 
Paint Thinner 
Stain 
Brake Fluid 
 
Always call for assistance and: 
 
Extinguish all ignition sources 
Shut off main emergency switch to fuel pump, if appropriate 
Move appropriate fire extinguishing equipment to area 
If possible, contain the spill to prevent further contamination 
Move people/personnel away or evacuate from contamination area 
 
If the spill is too great to handle, contact the District Office Todd Owens and (619) 390-2800 . 
 
Staff and students will evacuate the area immediately, if appropriate. Move uphill, upwind, upstream if possible. 
 
VEHICLE FUEL SPILL 
 
When a spill has occurred, the first thing to do is to keep the situation from worsening. Follow these steps: 
 
Shut off emergency switch 
Avoid skin contact 
Isolate the spill from people and vehicles by blocking all points of entry 
Stop and evaluate any hazards 
Prevent discharge into storm drains. Divert the flow by sealing off areas with absorbents. Prevent runoff. Use absorbent "socks" or 
"booms" to contain the spill 
Identify the source, estimated quantity spilled and stop further release(s) - IF IT CAN BE DONE 
SAFELY 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 38 of 47 9/30/24 
 

Take care of any injured Notify the District Office. 
If the spill is unmanageable, contact the Fire Department by calling 9-1-1 
 
If, after attempted containment, the release still poses either a present or a potential threat, notify the California Office of 
Emergency Services and local emergency assistance organizations (fire, police, etc.). Give the following information: 
 
Date, time, and exact location of the release 
Name and telephone number of persons reporting the release 
The type of fuel spilled and the estimated quantity 
Description of potential hazards presented by the fuel spill 
Document the time and date notification was made and the information provided 
A written report to the appropriate office of the California Department of Health Services is required within 15 days after the 
incident. Contact the District for assistance with this report. 
 
Bio Terrorism 
Anthrax Threat 
 
How to identify suspicious letters or packages 
 
Some characteristics of suspicious letters or packages include the following: 
 
Excessive postage 
Handwritten or poorly typed addresses 
Incorrect titles 
Title, but no name 
Misspellings of common words 
Oily stains, discolorations or odors 
No return address 
Excessive weight 
Lopsided or uneven envelop 
Protruding wires or aluminum foil 
Excessive security material such as masking tape, string, etc. 
Visual distractions 
Ticking sound 
Marked with restrictive endorsements, such as "Personal" or "Confidential." Shows a city or state in the postmark that does not 
match the return address. 
 
Suspicious unopened letter or package marked with threatening message such as "Anthrax" 
 
Do not shake or empty the contents of any suspicious envelop or package. 
Place the envelope or package in a plastic bag or some other type of container to prevent leakage of contents. 
If you do not have any container, then cover the envelope or package with anything (e.g., clothing, paper, trash can, etc.) and do not 
remove this cover. 
Then leave the room and close the door, or section off the area to prevent others from entering. 
Wash your hands with soap and water to prevent spreading any powder to your face. 
If you are at home, report the incident to the local police. If you are at work, report the incident to the local police and your site 
administrator. 
List all people who were in the room or area when this suspicious letter or package was recognized. Give the list to both the local 
public health authorities and law enforcement officials for follow-up investigations and advice. 
 
Envelope with powder or powder spills out onto a surface 
 
Do not try to clean up the powder. Cover the spilled contents immediately with anything and do not remove this cover. 
Leave the room and close the door or section off the area to prevent others from entering. 
Wash your hands with soap and water to prevent spreading any powder to your face. 
If you are at home, CALL 9-1-1 to report the incident. If you are at work, CALL 9-1-1 and your site administrator to report the 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 39 of 47 9/30/24 
 

incident. 
Remove heavily contaminated clothing as soon as possible and place in a plastic bag, or some other container that can be sealed. 
The clothing bag should be given to the emergency responders for proper disposal. 
Shower with soap and water as soon as possible. Do not use bleach or other disinfectant on your skin. If possible, list all people who 
were in the room or area, especially those who had actual contact with the powder. Give the list to both the local police and public 
health authorities so that proper instructions can be given for medical follow-up and further investigation. 
 
Possible room contamination by aerosol 
 
(Examples: small devices triggered warning that air handling systems is contaminated, or warning that a biological agent is released 
in a public space.) 
 
Turn off local fans or ventilation units in the area. 
Leave the area immediately. 
Close the door or section off the area to prevent others from entering. 
Move upwind, uphill, upstream. 
If you are at home, report the incident to the local police. If you are at work, report the incident to the local police and your site 
administrator. 
Shut down air handling systems in the building if possible. 
If possible, list all people who were in the room or area, especially those who had actual contact with the powder. Give the list to 
both the local police and public health authorities so that proper instructions can be given for medical follow-up and further 
investigation. 
 
DO NOT PANIC 
 
Anthrax organisms can cause infection in the skin, gastrointestinal system, or the lungs. In order for this to happen, the organism 
must be rubbed into abraded skin, swallowed, or inhaled as a fine, aerosolized mist. Disease can be prevented after exposure to the 
anthrax spores by early treatment with the appropriate antibiotics. Anthrax is not spread from one person to another person. 
 
For anthrax to be effective as a covert agent, it must be aerosolized into very small particles. This is difficult to do and requires a 
great deal of technical skill and special equipment. If these small particles are inhaled, life threatening lung infection can occur, but 
prompt recognition and treatment are effective. 
 
Botulism 
 
Botulism infection is extremely rare, with fewer than 200 cases reported in the U.S. each year. There are two forms of botulism 
which are associated with a terrorist act: 
 
Food Borne Botulism 
 
The bacterium is ingested with the contaminated food source. 
 
Symptoms begin within 6 hours to 2 weeks, but most commonly between 12 to 36 hours after eating contaminated foods. 
 
Double or blurred vision, drooping eyelids, slurred speck, difficulty swallowing, dry mouth, and a descending muscle weakness that 
affects the shoulders first, then upper arms, lower arms, thighs, calves, etc. 
 
These symptoms may be proceeded by gastrointestinal disorder such as abdominal cramps, nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea. 
Paralysis of the respiratory muscles will cause death unless the person is assisted by mechanical ventilation. Botulism toxin can occur 
naturally in undercooked food, but the frequency of this is extremely rare. 
 
Inhalational Botulism 
 
Inhalation botulism results from the inhalation of the aerosolized toxin. A small amount of aerosolized toxin released into the wind 
can have a devastating effect on the surrounding population. Notwithstanding, inhalational botulism could be inflicted upon a more 
limited number of victims by introducing a contaminated object into an enclosed area such as inside of a building. The symptoms are 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 40 of 47 9/30/24 
 

indistinguishable from those of food borne botulism, except that the gastrointestinal signs sometimes associated with food borne 
botulism may not occur. 
 
Botulism cannot be transmitted from one person to another. There is no vaccine for botulism treatment at this time. However, 
treatment consists of passive immunization with equine anti-toxins and supportive patient care. 
 
Smallpox 
 
Smallpox infection results from the variola virus. The disease was once worldwide in scope. Before people were vaccinated, almost 
everyone contracted the disease. The virus was effectively eradicated from the world in the late 1970's, and the World Health 
Organization recommended governments cease routine vaccinations in 1980. 
 
Vaccination has proven effective in preventing the disease in exposed persons if administered within 4 days of exposure. 
 
Smallpox is a highly contagious infectious disease that has a mortality rate of about 30%. Since the 
discontinuation of vaccination in the early 1980's, virtually no one is protected against the disease today. The U.S. government is 
currently working to address the need for vaccinations. There is no proven treatment should infection occur.  
 
Immunization and Mass Prophylaxis Pandemic and Bio Terrorism 
This Bio-Terrorism Support Plan (Plan) provides basic steps to guide designated Lakeside Union School District County Public Health 
Department, City of Lakeside and Health Services school district officials in establishing middle and high schools as immunization 
centers (mass prophylaxis centers) contingent upon a Memorandum of Understanding being signed. 
 
This Plan is a living document subject to periodic revisions when needed. 
 
In the event of a bio-terrorism outbreak and based upon the Metropolitan Medical Response Plan, local officials will have 
determined which areas within the city to be quarantined, hot and cold zones. A quarantined area is defined as a specified area 
where isolation is enforced. A hot zone is defined as a contaminated area. A cold zone is an unaffected area. 
 
Once the situation has been assessed and Public Health identifies the need to open an immunization center (mass prophylaxis 
center), then Public Health will contact the city. Subsequently, the City will contact the school district emergency contact to begin 
the process of coordinating the opening of an immunization center (mass prophylaxis center). 
 
Preparedness Steps 
 
The following provides guidelines for school district management in preparing, in advance, issues that need to be addressed during 
non-emergency times to ensure school district and school site readiness. 
Statement of Agreement signed by San Diego County Public Health Department, City and school district 
Examine the Public Health Department's Liability Coverage for using school district sites as mass prophylaxis centers. 
Establish that the City will provide security for the school district site 
Define how long the Immunization center (mass prophylaxis center) can be open and what type of furnishings are needed for the 
center. 
Ensure a manager is provided by the Public Health Department to oversee center operations Identify the need to train site personnel 
in administering inoculations and agree upon how these 
individuals will be compensated for their time by the Public Health Department Establish who will be responsible for clean up 
 
Public Health Department contacts City OES who then initiates contact with appropriate School district authorized contact (see 
emergency contact list for school district) 
 
1) Superintendent's Office: Lisa DeRosier  
 
2) School District Security: Todd Owens  
 
3) Custodial Services or Facilities: Todd Owens  
 
The City OES informs Police Department that authorization has been given to open the appropriate site(s). Only gymnasiums will be 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 41 of 47 9/30/24 
 

utilized. The school district official then follows the guidelines shown below: 
 
Authorized school official contact will inform Superintendent or designee of the opening of the school site(s) as an immunization 
center (mass prophylaxis center). 
If school is not in session or if mass prophylaxis center opening occurs after hours, school site personnel or authorized City Police 
Department will be present to actually unlock the site for Public Health Department 
Establish that the City will provide security for the school district site 
Contact principal of the school site being converted into an immunization center (mass prophylaxis center) 
Prior to turning school site over to the Public Health Department as a mass prophylaxis center, school site personnel will: 

• Perform a site check to record current condition of the area to be used as an immunization center (mass prophylaxis 
center) 

• Inventory usable materials within the center's designated area (see Site Inventory form in this section), i.e. toilet tissues, 
paper towels, soap 

• Ensure all other areas of the school site are not accessible to mass prophylaxis center personnel or public 
SCHOOL DISTRICT site personnel will unlock the school site upon arrival of Public Health Department and their staff 
 
Closing the Center 
 
Upon closing of the center, the Public Health Department ensures the site is secure and center manager has tracked school supplies 
and materials used. 
 
School site personnel compares supplies and materials used, physical property loss and damages 
Both Public Health Department City and school site personnel inspect shelter site for -Material and supplies used 

• Property loss 
• Property damage 

When inspection is completed, school site personnel gives Business Services Department a report of materials used and property 
damaged/loss (photograph) 
Business Services 

• Gives property loss/damage to Risk Management to determine cost of property loss and repair costs 
• Formalizes letter Public Health Department to file a claim covering loss and material usage 

 
 
 
Bomb Threat/ Threat Of violence 
Bomb Threat 
THE PERSON RECEIVING THE BOMB THREAT WILL: 
 
Attempt to gain as much information as possible when the threat is received. Do not hang up on the caller. 
Use the "bomb threat checklist" form (attached) as a guide to collect the information needed. Don't be bashful about asking direct, 
specific questions about the threat. Keep the caller on the phone as long as possible. If the threat is received by phone, attempt to 
gain more information. 
The most important information is: 
When will the bomb explode and where is the bomb located? 
Immediately after receiving the bomb threat, the person receiving the call will verbally notify the building administrator of the threat 
received. Complete the "bomb threat checklist" form (attached). Turn off cellular phones and/or walkie-talkie radios (transmits radio 
waves--could trigger a bomb). 
 
BUILDING ADMINISTRATOR WILL (IF NECESSARY): 
 
 Call 9-1-1. Give the following information: 

• Your name -Your call-back phone number 
• Exact street location with the nearest cross street 
• Nature of incident 
• Number and location of people involved and/or injured Notify Superintendent's Office. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 42 of 47 9/30/24 
 

Evacuate involved buildings using fire drill procedures. Principal must have Superintendent's permission to evacuate the entire site. 
Implement a systematic inspection of the facilities to determine if everyone is out. 
Fire Department or Police Officers shall organize a search team to check for suspicious objects; a bomb can be disguised to look like 
any common object. Site employees should be ready to assist as needed. 
Maintain an open telephone line for communications. 
Secure all exits to prevent re-entry to buildings during the search period. 
Be certain people stay clear of all buildings; a bomb(s) may be planted against an outside wall. The blast will be directed in large part 
away from the building. Re-occupy buildings only when proper authorities give clearance 
 
 
 
Earthquake 
B. Earthquake: Drop, Cover, and Hold 
Earthquake procedures in the classroom or office 
 
At the first indication of ground movement, you should DROP to the ground. It will soon be impossible to stand upright during the 
earthquake. Getting to the ground will prevent being thrown to the ground. 
 
You should seek protective COVER under or near desks, tables, or chairs in a kneeling or sitting position. 
 
You should HOLD onto the table or chair legs. Holding onto the legs will prevent it from moving away from you during the quake. 
Protect your eyes from flying glass and debris with your arm covering your eyes. 
 
You should remain in the DROP position until ground movement ends. Be prepared to DROP, COVER and HOLD during aftershocks. 
 
After ground movement ends, check for injuries and safely evacuate the building. Move to a safe, open area, away from power lines 
and other overhead hazards. 
 
Earthquake procedures in other parts of the building 
 
At the first indication of ground movement, you should DROP to the ground. 
 
Take COVER under any available desk, table, or bench. If in a hallway, drop next to an inside wall in a kneeling position and cover the 
back of the neck with your hands. 
 
After ground movement ends, check for injuries and safely evacuate the building. Move to a safe, open area, away from power lines 
and other overhead hazards. 
 
Earthquake procedures while outside 
 
At the first indication of ground movement, move away from overhead hazards such as power lines, trees, and buildings. DROP to 
the ground and COVER the back of the neck with your hands. Be aware of aftershocks. Do not enter buildings until it is determined 
safe to do so. 
 
If walking to or from school, DO NOT RUN. Stay in the open. If the student is going to school, continue to the school. If going home, 
the student should continue to home. 
 
While in a vehicle or school bus, pull over to the side of the road and stop. If on a bridge, overpass, or under power lines, continue 
on until the vehicle is away from the overhead dangers. Wait until the ground movement stops and check for injuries. Be aware of 
aftershocks, downed wires, or roads blocked by debris. The Bus Driver is legally responsible for the welfare of student riders. 
 
 
Fire in Surrounding Area 
Fire Near School 
 
The Principal or designee shall: 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 43 of 47 9/30/24 
 

 
Determine the need to execute an evacuation if nearby fire poses an immediate threat to the students or the building. 
Notify the Fire Department by calling 911. 
Notify the Superintendent's office. 
Notify students and staff when it is safe to return to the school site under the direction of the Fire Department and in consultation 
with the Superintendent or designee. 
 
 
 
Fire on School Grounds 
Fire 
All classrooms and offices shall have an Emergency Exit sign and Evacuation Chart posted in a prominent location. 
 
Fire Within A School Building: 
 
In the event that a fire is detected within a school building, use the following procedures: 
 
 The Principal or Designee will: 

• Order an evacuation if the fire alarm doesn't work 
• Call 9-1-1 
• Notify the superintendent 

Teachers will supervise the evacuation of the classrooms to the designated areas according to the Emergency Exit Plan posted in 
every classroom and office. 
Teachers will close doors upon evacuating. 
Teachers will take their roll books to the evacuation site and take roll. Teachers will report any missing student(s) to their Team 
Supervisor/Administrator. 
The Head Custodian or designees shall assist by shutting off gas valves, electricity, etc., or other if necessary for evacuating, putting 
out the fire, etc. 
The Head Custodian or designee shall open necessary gates for fire truck and other emergency vehicle access when appropriate. The 
Head Custodian or designee will also keep access entrances open for emergency vehicles. 
 Notify students and staff when it is safe to return to the school site under the direction of the Fire Department and in consultation 
with the Superintendent or designee. 
 
 
Loss or Failure Of Utilities 
Power Outage/Rolling Blackouts 
IT IS THE DISTRICT'S INTENT THAT SCHOOLS WILL REMAIN OPEN DURING A POWER OUTAGE. 
 
There are several stages of alerts that are being broadcast over the radio: 
 
STAGE 1 EMERGENCY indicates that the operating reserves in the real time market are forecasted to be less than the California 
Independent System Operator (CAISO) Minimum Operating Reserves criteria. 
STAGE 2 EMERGENCY indicates that the operating reserves in the real time market are forecasted to be less than five (5) percent. 
STAGE 3 EMERGENCY indicates that the operating reserves in the real time market are forecasted to be less than 1.5 percent. 
 
If the district is notified of a STAGE 3 EMERGENCY, possible-affected sites will be contacted as soon as practicable. Once notified, 
turn off PCs, monitors, printers, copiers, and lights when not in use or not needed. If you cannot turn off the whole computer, turn 
off the monitor and the printer. Shut off lights in unoccupied rooms. In spite of everyone's best effort to communicate, it is possible 
that an outage will occur with no notice to the district. To keep abreast of the daily situation, listen to 740AM (KCBS) radio station as 
you are driving into work for the status of the day. 
 
PREPARING FOR AN OUTAGE 
 
Update each student's emergency card. 
Determine availability of portable lighting at site, i.e. flashlights & batteries. 
Find out that when power is lost, do emergency lights go on and do the "Exit" signs remain lit? 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 44 of 47 9/30/24 
 

Clear away materials and boxes from hallways and pathways. 
Check school district's PG&E Block list to determine in which PG&E block your site is located. As a note, Block 50's power will not be 
interrupted. 
Ask your teachers to have alternative teaching methods and plans to be used at STAGE 3 only. Conduct a survey of your site for the 
classrooms and offices with no windows and prepare relocation plans. 
Plan alternative communication methods that suit your site, such as runners, cell phones, or radios. Develop a site plan such as a 
buddy system or chaperone, for restrooms or any other necessary leave during this period. 
Have flashlights & replacement batteries available for the restrooms and other locations with no windows. 
Ask your staff and students to have seasonal warm clothing available. 
Use surge protectors for all computer equipment, major appliances and electronic devices. If you have electric smoke detectors, use 
a battery-powered smoke detector as a backup. 
 
DURING AN OUTAGE 
 
CONTACT MAINTENANCE & OPERTIONS IMMEDIATELY IF YOUR SITE IS EXPERIENCING A BLACKOUT. 
According to SBC (Telephone Company), phones connected directly to a phone jack will be operable. 
Phones that require power from an electrical outlet will not work. 
If an outage lasts more than 30 minutes, have pre-designated people walk through the campus and check on the status of 
individuals in each building. 
Use a buddy system when going to the restrooms. 
DO NOT USE barbecues, Coleman-type stoves, hibachis and other outdoor-cooking devices indoors. 
DO NOT USE candles or gas lanterns. 
Turn off PCs, monitors, printers, copiers, major appliances and lights when not in use or not needed. If you cannot turn off the whole 
computer, turn off the monitor and the printer. Shut off lights in unoccupied rooms. 
 
The rolling outages should not last more than two hours, and, with some preparation, business can be conducted as close to normal 
as possible. 
 
If a power outage is prolonged, the principal should contact the Superintendent for directions (release students/staff, evacuation to 
another site, etc.). 
 
 
 
Psychological Trauma 
It is critical to provide a mental health response for students, staff and parents after a crisis that has impacted a school. Often, this 
can be provided by district or local community resources. 
 
Victims of a crisis experience a real need to return to normal, but normal as they once knew it is forever gone and changed. 
Counselors and crisis survivors find the concept of a "new normal" to be very reassuring and accurate. 
 
One of the most important actions is simply to listen and allow victims to express his/her own needs and feelings. Encouragement 
and support, while avoiding judgmental remarks, is the goal. 
 
When the needs of the victims exceed the immediate resources available to the school, San Diego County Mental Health and the 
agencies working under its umbrella is available to support schools. 
 
Numerous agencies under the San Diego County Mental Health Department umbrella currently provide ongoing mental health 
services to students and families both at schools and within the neighborhood communities. These services are provided by licensed 
therapists, social workers or supervised interns. The services typically involve a one-on-one or family-oriented approach requiring a 
different skill set than an emergency mental health response to a community or school crisis. 
 
JOINT PROTOCOLS: 
 
To best prepare for and manage the mental health recovery phase within the San Diego  County though Memorandums of 
Understanding with agencies who would provide crisis responses. The M.O.U. would include the followings: 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 45 of 47 9/30/24 
 

Schools and/or school districts require, as part of their Memorandums of Understanding with agencies and/or universities, all 
interns, therapists and mental health workers complete a crisis response training with the San Diego  County Mental Health 
Department before reporting to their assigned campuses.   In the event of a major crisis at a school site, or multiple school sites, the 
school district will determine if additional mental health support is required or anticipated. The District or School Logistics Officer or 
designee can notify the Ethnic Population Services Specialist at the San Diego  County Mental Health Department. A licensed mental 
health representative will immediately be sent to the incident location to conduct an initial assessment and make recommendations 
to the school/district and Mental Health Department and its partnering agencies as to the requirements for a responding mental 
health team(s). 
The lead supervisor will work in concert with the school/district representative to help identify appropriate teams/agencies that can 
best address the needs of students, staff and families. 
The lead supervisor will work in concert with the school/district representative to ensure that teams have the correct credentials, 
provide appropriate triage services that do not compromise police/fire investigations and are rotated to avoid fatigue. 
In police, fire or district debriefings with school staff, parents and impacted students, a representative from the San Diego  County 
Mental Health Department or one of the partnering agencies will be in attendance in order to make referrals for support services as 
required by the attendees. 
In keeping with research on the predictable response to crisis situations, call center numbers will be provided in order that members 
of the community can access necessary support in the days, weeks and months beyond the event. 
 
 
Tactical Responses to Criminal Incidents 
Shelter-In-Place 
Shelter in Place may be directed should there be a danger in the community that could present a danger to the school community or 
a situation at the school that could harm students or staff if they are outdoors. Incidents could include gas leaks, chemical spills, 
mountain lions or a predator in the neighborhood. 
 
When instructed or when an alerting system triggers a Shelter in Place: 
 
 SHELTER. Go inside the nearest building or classroom and remain there. Lock the door. You are looking for enclosed protection from 
the outside. Teachers should quickly check halls and get students into classrooms. Teachers will keep all students in the classroom 
until the emergency is resolved or directed to evacuate by the Principal and/or Public Safety Responders. 
SHUT. Close all doors and windows. The tighter and more complete the seal the better. Close as many windows and doors between 
the outside and your shelter-in-place room as possible. 
LISTEN. Remain quiet to hear critical instructions from school officials. 

• If there is no direction, continue instructional/work activities until the situation resolves or you directed to do otherwise. 
 
ADDITIONAL STEPS FOR TEACHERS AND STAFF IF APPROPRIATE: 
 
Advise students to cover mouth and nose with a damp cloth or handkerchief to protect from any airborne hazards. 
A school official (or student if no official present) should close all vents and turn off ventilation systems. The goal is to keep inside air 
in and outside air out. Air conditioners and heating systems bring outside air in. 
Turn off all motors and fans. Still, non-moving air is best. Turn off anything that creates wind, generates extra heat, or could 
generate sparks. 
Advise students to remain sheltered until the "all-clear" signal is given by a school or local official. 
 
Intruder on Campus 
The campus intruder is defined as a non-student or a student on suspension who loiters or creates disturbances on school property. 
Intruders are committing the crime of Criminal Trespass. Dangerous and/or concealed weapons are forbidden on school premises 
unless carried by law enforcement officers. 
 
Low Level: 
Have the person(s) under suspicion kept under constant covert surveillance. 
Approach and greet the intruder in a polite and non-threatening manner. 
Identify yourself as a school official. 
Ask the intruder for identification. 
Ask them what their purpose is for being on campus. 
Advise intruder of the trespass laws. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 46 of 47 9/30/24 
 

Ask the intruder to quietly leave the campus or invite him/her to accompany you to the office. If the intruder refuses to respond to 
your requests, inform him/her of your intention to summon law enforcement officers. 
If the intruder gives no indication of voluntarily leaving the premises, notify Police and Administration.  
H. Hostage Situation 
Staff and students should sit quietly if the situation is in their presence. TRY to remain calm. Staff should set the example if the 
armed intruder is in their presence by doing anything possible for the staff member and students to survive. If gun fire starts, staff 
and students should seek cover or begin rapid movement procedures. 
 
 Do not engage in a conversation or try to persuade the intruder to leave your classroom or school. Remember, you are in an illogical 
situation, so any logical argument may go unheard. The intruder is probably aware of the potential danger that he/she would be 
facing if he/she left the classroom. The intruder may perceive himself/herself as being sane. 
 If the intruder speaks to you or to your students, then answer him or her. Do not provoke him or her. Don't try to take matters into 
your own hands. Students should be told not to whisper to one-another, laugh, or to make fun of the intruder. Remember, the 
intruder is disturbed and probably mentally ill, and more than likely paranoid. Any whispering or laughter may be perceived by the 
intruder as directed at him or her. 
 Students should be taught to respond on their own when threatened. Incidents can occur which leave no time for signals. If 
students are outside unable to find access a room, they should, depending on the situation, initiate Action "TAKE COVER" position or 
run in a zig-zag fashion to the staging areas and 
STAY CALM. 
 If and when possible, call Administration and/or 9-1-1.  
 
Emergency Evacuation Procedures 
In an Emergency Building Evacuation all employees will: 
 
Upon emergency alert, secure work area and depart/report to assigned area. 
Perform duties as pre-assigned by the Principal in cooperation with emergency services personnel. 
DO NOT re-enter the building without permission or request of emergency service authorities. 
Remain in the general assembly areas and calm students if not assigned another duty. 
When signaled to re-enter safe areas of the school, quickly do so. 
Upon safe re-entry, report anything amiss to the Operations Chief. 
 
In an Emergency Building Evacuation teachers will also: 
 
Upon alert, assemble students for evacuation using designated routes and account for all students. 
Secure room. 
If possible, leave a note on the door advising where the class evacuated to if other than the standard assembly area. 
Upon arrival at the assembly area, account for all students. 
Secure medical treatment for injured students. 
Report any students missing or left behind because of serious injuries. 
Stay with and calm students. 
If signaled to re-enter school, assure students do so quickly and calmly. Account for all students. 
Check room and report anything amiss to the Team Leader and/or Operations Chief. Debrief students to calm fears about the 
evacuation. 
 
Emergency Campus Evacuation 
 
If it is necessary to evacuate the entire campus to another school or relief center, the Principal will: 
 
Notify the Superintendent of the Campus Evacuation. 
Cooperate with emergency authorities in enlisting students/staff with cars to help transport evacuees. Direct the evacuation, assure 
all students/staff are accounted for as they depart and arrive. 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 47 of 47 9/30/24 
 

 
Emergency Evacuation Map 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 1 of 50 9/30/24 
 

 
 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 
 

2024-2025 
School Year 

 
 

School: Lakeview Elementary School 

CDS Code:  37681896038368 

District: Lakeside Union Elementary School District 

Address:  9205 Lakeview Rd. 
Lakeside, CA 92040 

Date of Adoption: 9/23/2024 

Date of Update: 9/23/2024 

Date of Review:  

   - with Staff  

   - with Law Enforcement  

   - with Fire Authority  
 

Approved by: 
Name Title Signature Date 

Tiger Rowan Principal 

 

 

Bianca Stanley SSC President   

Cindy Hilliker LTA Rep   

Jackie Siragusa CSEA Rep   

Megan Abrams Parent Rep   
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2 of 50 9/30/24 
 

 
Table of Contents 

 
Comprehensive School Safety Plan Purpose ..............................................................................................................................................4 

Safety Plan Vision .......................................................................................................................................................................................4 

(A) Child Abuse Reporting Procedures (EC 35294.2 [a] [2]; PC 11166) ..................................................................................................6 

(B) Disaster Procedures (EC 35295-35297; GC 8607 and 3100) .............................................................................................................7 

(C) School Suspension, Expulsion and Mandatory Expulsion Guidelines .............................................................................................18 

(D) Procedures to Notify Teachers of Dangerous Pupils (EC 49079) ....................................................................................................21 

(E) Sexual Harassment Policies (EC 212.6 [b]) ......................................................................................................................................22 

(F) School-wide Dress Code Relating to Gang-Related Apparel (EC 35183) .........................................................................................25 

(G) Procedure for Safe Ingress and Egress of Pupils, Parents, and Staff to and from School (EC 35294.2) .........................................26 

(I) School Discipline Rules and Consequences (EC 35291 and EC 35291.5) .........................................................................................28 

(J) Procedures to Prepare for Active Shooters .....................................................................................................................................29 

Procedures for Preventing Acts of Bullying and Cyber-bullying ...........................................................................................................30 

Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures .................................................................................................................31 

Safety Plan Appendices ............................................................................................................................................................................32 

Emergency Contact Numbers ..............................................................................................................................................................33 

Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures .............................................................................................................34 

Lakeview Elementary School Incident Command System ....................................................................................................................35 

Incident Command Team Responsibilities ...........................................................................................................................................36 

Emergency Response Guidelines .........................................................................................................................................................37 

Step One: Identify the Type of Emergency ..........................................................................................................................................37 

Step Two: Identify the Level of Emergency ..........................................................................................................................................37 

Step Three: Determine the Immediate Response Action ....................................................................................................................37 

Step Four: Communicate the Appropriate Response Action ...............................................................................................................37 

Types of Emergencies & Specific Procedures .......................................................................................................................................38 

Armed Assault on Campus ...............................................................................................................................................................38 

Biological or Chemical Release .........................................................................................................................................................38 

Bomb Threat/ Threat Of violence ....................................................................................................................................................44 

Earthquake .......................................................................................................................................................................................45 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 3 of 50 9/30/24 
 

Fire in Surrounding Area ..................................................................................................................................................................45 

Fire on School Grounds ....................................................................................................................................................................46 

Loss or Failure Of Utilities ................................................................................................................................................................46 

Psychological Trauma .......................................................................................................................................................................47 

Tactical Responses to Criminal Incidents .........................................................................................................................................48 

Emergency Evacuation Map .................................................................................................................................................................50 

 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 4 of 50 9/30/24 
 

 
Comprehensive School Safety Plan Purpose 
 
Effective January 1, 2019, Assembly Bill 1747 (Rodriguez), School Safety Plans, became law. This bill requires that during the writing 
and development of the comprehensive school safety plan (CSSP), the school site council or safety committee consult with a fire 
department and other first responder entities in addition to currently required entities. It requires the CSSP and any updates made 
to the plan to be shared with the law enforcement agency, the fire department, and the other first responder entities. 
 
The California Education Code (sections 32280-32288) outlines the requirements of all schools operating any kindergarten and any 
grades 1 to 12, inclusive, to write and develop a school safety plan relevant to the needs and resources of that particular school. 
 
In 2004, the Legislature and Governor recast and renumbered the Comprehensive School Safety Plan provisions in SB 719 and AB 
115. It is the intent ofthe Legislature in enacting the provisions to support California public schools as they develop their mandated 
comprehensive safety plans that are the result of a systematic planning process, that include strategies aimed at the prevention of, 
and education about, potential incidents involving crime and violence on school campuses. 
 
The historical requirement of the Comprehensive School Safety Plan was presented in Senate Bill 187, which was approved by the 
Governor and chaptered in 1997. This legislation contained a sunset clause that stated that this legislation would remain in effect 
only until January I, 2000. Senate Bill 334 was approved and chaptered in 1999 and perpetuated this legislation under the 
requirement of the initial legislation. 
 
Comprehensive School Safety Plans are required under SB 719 & AB 115 and contains the following elements: 
 
Assessment of school crime committed on school campuses and at school-related functions 

• Child abuse reporting procedures 
• Disaster procedures 
• Suspension and expulsion policies 
• Procedures to notify teachers of dangerous pupils 
• Discrimination and harassment policies 
• School wide dress code policies 
• Procedures for safe ingress and egress 
• Policies enacted to maintain a safe and orderly environment 
• Rules and procedures on school discipline 
• Hate crime reporting procedures 

 
The Comprehensive School Safety Plan will be reviewed and updated by March 1st every year. In July of every year, the school will 
report on the status of its school safety plan including a description of its key elements in the annual school accountability report 
card. 
 
A copy of the Comprehensive School Safety Plan is available for review at . 
 
Safety Plan Vision 
The Comprehensive School Safety Plan Process & Templates is designed to be utilized as a school resource for 
prevention/mitigation, preparedness, response and recovery planning and training as well as functioning as a template for meeting 
the requirements for the annual Safety Plan Process under SB 187 and the National incident Management System. It is designed to 
be an electronic or hard-copy Safety Plan. The template is also designed as a living document to be updated as necessary to meet 
site, district and community needs, forms or requirements. 
 
Individual schools in districts over 2,500 students must adopt a comprehensive school safety plan by March 1, 2000, and must 
review and update the plan by March 1 of every year thereafter. (Amended Ed. Codes 35294.1 & 35294.6) 
 
Beginning July 1, 2000, each individual school must report on the status of its school safety plan, including a description of its key 
elements in the school accountability report card, and must continue to do so every July thereafter. (Amended Ed. Code 35294.6) 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 5 of 50 9/30/24 
 

The following guideline may be utilized to support the annual review and evaluation of the individual school safety plan. This guide 
will also provide a time line and related administrative tasks to provide a process to ensure compliance with the requirements of 
Senate Bill 187, Comprehensive School Safety Plan. 
 
The guideline/checklist has been organized into two parts: 
 
An assessment by the School Safety Planning Committee of the School Site Council, the School Site Council or equivalent of the 
school climate in relation to the current status of school crime committed on campus and at school related functions. Based on this 
assessment, safety goals will be set for the upcoming school year 
 
The annual review and evaluation of the school comprehensive safety plan which is certified by the members of the School Safety 
Planning Committee, the School Site Council President, and the school Principal before being presented to the Board of Trustees for 
final review and adoption. This review includes the following mandated components of Senate Bill 187: 
 
Child Abuse reporting procedures 
Policies pursuant to Education Code 48915(c) and other school-designated serious acts which would 
lead to suspension, expulsion, or mandatory expulsion recommendations 
Procedures to notify teachers and counselors of dangerous students 
Sexual Harassment Policy 
Safe ingress and egress to and from school 
Rules and procedures on school discipline in order to create a safe and orderly environment conducive to learning 
Dress Code 
Routine and emergency disaster procedures including natural disasters, human created disasters or power outages. 
 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 6 of 50 9/30/24 
 

 
(A) Child Abuse Reporting Procedures (EC 35294.2 [a] [2]; PC 11166) 
A. Definition of Child Abuse 
 
Child abuse means a physical injury that is inflicted by other than accidental on a child by another person. Child Abuse also means 
the sexual abuse of a child or any act or omission pertaining to child abuse reporting laws (willful cruelty, unjustifiable punishment of 
a child, unlawful corporal punishment or injury). Child abuse also means the physical or emotional neglect of a child or abuse in out-
of-home care. 
 
1. Child Abuse 
Injury inflicted by another person 
Sexual Abuse 
Neglect of child's physical, health, and emotional needs. 
Unusual and willful cruelty; unjustifiable punishment. Unlawful corporal punishment. 
 
2. Not Considered Child Abuse 
Mutual affray between minors 
Injury caused by reasonable and necessary force used by a peace officer: 
To quell a disturbance threatening physical injury to a person or damage property 
To prevent physical injury to another person or damage to property 
For purposes of self-defense 
To obtain possession of weapons or other dangerous objects within the control of a child To apprehend an escapee 
 
B. Mandated Child Abuse Reporting 
Any child care custodian, health practitioner, or employee of a child protective agency who has knowledge of or observes a child in 
his or her professional capacity or within the scope of his or her employment whom he or she knows or reasonably suspects has 
been the victim of child abuse shall report the known or suspected instance of child abuse to a child protective agency by telephone 
and written report: 
The telephone call must be made immediately or as soon as practicably possible by telephone. 
AND 
A written report must be sent within 36 hours of the telephone call to the child protective agency.   Any child care custodian, health 
practitioner, or employee of a child protective agency who has knowledge of or who reasonably suspects mental suffering has been 
inflicted on a child or his or her emotional well-being is endangered in any other way, may report such known or suspected instance 
of child abuse to a child protective agency. 
When two or more persons who are required to report are present and jointly knowledge of a known or suspected instance of child 
abuse, and when there is agreement among them, the telephone report may be made by a member of the team selected by mutual 
agreement and a single report may be made and signed by the selected member of the reporting team. Any member who has 
knowledge that the member designated to make the report failed to do so, shall thereafter make such a report. 
The intent and purpose of the law is to protect children from abuse. The definition of a child is any person under 18 years of age. 
This entire section on Child Abuse was been taken from California Laws Relating To Minors manual. 
 
C. Sexual Activity 
 
Child abuse laws change from time to time. Should you suspect that a student is engaged in unlawful sexual activity, please consult 
with the school social worker and campus officer to determine if particular provisions under this section are current and in effect. 
Involuntary sexual activity is always reportable. 
Incest, even if voluntary is always reportable. Incest is a marriage or act of intercourse between parents and children; ancestors and 
descendants of every degree; brothers and sisters of half and whole blood and uncles and nieces or aunts and nephews. (Family 
Code 2200). 
Voluntary Sexual Activity may or may not be reportable. Even if the behavior voluntary, there are circumstances where the behavior 
is abusive, either by Penal Code definition or because of an exploitative relationship, then this behavior must be reported. If there is 
reasonable suspicion of sexual abuse prior to the consensual activity, the abuse must be reported. 
 
Reportable Sexual Activity if a Child is 14 Years of Age and: 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 7 of 50 9/30/24 
 

Partner is younger than 14 years old, but there is a disparity in chronological or maturational age or indications of intimidation, 
coercion or bribery or other indications of an exploitative relationship. Partner is 14 years or older lewd & lascivious acts committed 
by a partner of any age partner is alleged spouse and over 14 years of age. 
 
Reportable Sexual Activity if the Child is 14 or 15 years and: 
There is unlawful sexual intercourse with a partner older than 14 but less than 21 years of age and there is no indication of abuse or 
evidence of an exploitative relationship there is unlawful sexual intercourse with a partner older than 21 years 
There is lewd and lascivious acts committed by a partner more than 10 years older than the child The partner is the alleged spouse 
and over 21 years of age 
 
Reportable Sexual Activity if the Child is 16 or 17 years and: 
The partner is less than 14 years of age 
There is unlawful sexual intercourse with a partner older than 14 and there is evidence of an exploitative relationship 
The partner is the alleged spouse and there is evidence of an exploitative relationship 
 
Reportable Sexual Activity if the Child is under 18 years: 
Sodomy, oral copulation, penetration of a genital or anal opening by a foreign object, even if consensual, with a partner of any age. 
 
Not Reportable Sexual Activity: 
Child is 14 years or younger and partner is younger than 14 years and of similar age or maturational age. Sexual behavior is voluntary 
and consensual. There are no indications of intimidation, coercion, bribery, or other indications of an exploitative relationship. 
Unlawful sexual intercourse of a child 14 to 15-years old with a partner older than 14 and less than 21 years of age and there is no 
indication of abuse or evidence of an exploitative relationship. 
Unlawful sexual intercourse with a child 16 or 17 years with a partner older than 14 and there is no indication of an exploitative 
relationship. 
 
Mandated reports of sexual activity must be reported to either the Department of Family & Children's Services (DFCS) or to the 
appropriate police jurisdiction. This information will then be cross-reported to the other legal agency. 
 
D. Failure to Report Known or Suspected Child Abuse 
 
Failure to report known or reasonable suspicion of child abuse, including sexual abuse, is a misdemeanor. Mandated reporters are 
provided with immunity from civil or criminal liability as a result of making a mandated report of child abuse. 
 
This information has been taken directly from the San Diego  County Child Abuse Council Informational Handout. 
 
E. Child Abuse Reporting Number: (800) 344-6000 
 
F. Staff Training: All staff engage in mandated child abuse reporting training annually. 
 
 
(B) Disaster Procedures (EC 35295-35297; GC 8607 and 3100) 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 8 of 50 9/30/24 
 

Disaster Plan (See Appendix C-F) 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 9 of 50 9/30/24 
 

. Routine and Emergency Disaster Procedures: Drills  
The Basic Plan 
 
The Basic Plan addresses the Lakeside Union School District 's responsibilities in emergencies associated with natural disaster, 
human-caused emergencies and technological incidents. It provides a framework for coordination of response and recovery efforts 
within the District in coordination and with local, State, and Federal agencies. The Plan establishes an emergency organization to 
direct and control operations at all sites during a period of emergency by assigning responsibilities to specific personnel. The Basic 
Plan: 
 
 Conforms to the Federally mandated National Incident Management System (NIMS), State mandated Standardized Emergency 
Management System (SEMS) and effectively restructures emergency response at all levels in compliance with the Incident Command 
System (ICS). 
Establishes response policies and procedures, providing $district_name$ clear guidance for planning purposes. 
Describes and details procedural steps necessary to protect lives and property. 
Outlines coordination requirements. 
Provides a basis for unified training and response exercises to ensure compliance.  
 
Requirements 
 
The Plan meets the requirements of San Diego County's policies on Emergency Response and Planning, the Standardized Emergency 
Management System (SEMS) Operational Area Response, and defines the primary and support roles of the District and individual 
schools in after-incident damage assessment and reporting requirements. 
 
Protect the safety and welfare of students, employees and staff. 
Provide for a safe and coordinated response to emergencies. 
Protect the District's facilities and properties. 
Enable the District to restore normal conditions with minimal confusion in the shortest time possible. Provide for interface and 
coordination between sites and the District Emergency Operations Center (EOC). 
Provide for interface and coordination between sites and the County or city EOC in which they reside. Provide for the orderly 
conversion of pre-designated District sites to American Red Cross shelters, when necessary. 
 
Schools are required by both federal statute and state regulation to be available for shelters following a disaster. The American Red 
Cross (ARC) has access to schools in damaged areas to set up their mass care facilities, and local governments have a right to use 
schools for the same purposes. This requires close cooperation between school officials and ARC or local government 
representatives, and should be planned and arranged for in advance. 
 
Authorities and References - State of California 
 
California Emergency Services Act (Chapter 7, Division 1, Title 2, California Government Code). 
 
The Act provides the basic authorities for conducting emergency operations following a proclamation of Local Emergency, State of 
Emergency, or State of War Emergency by the Governor and/or appropriate local authorities, consistent with the provisions of this 
Act. 
 
California Government Code, Section 3100, Title 1, Division 4, Chapter 4. 
 
States that public employees are disaster service workers, subject to such disaster service activities as may be assigned to them by 
their superiors or by law. The term "public employees" includes all persons employed by the state or any county, city, city and 
county, state agency or public district, excluding aliens legally employed. 
 
California Emergency Plan 
 
Promulgated by the Governor, and published in accordance with the California Emergency Services Act, it provides overall statewide 
authorities and responsibilities, and describes the functions and operations of government at all levels during extraordinary 
emergencies, including wartime. Section 8568 of the Act states, in part, that "...the State Emergency Plan shall be in effect in each 
political subdivision of the state, and the governing body of each political subdivision shall take such action as may be necessary to 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 10 of 50 9/30/24 
 

carry out the provisions thereof." Therefore, local emergency plans are considered extensions of the California Emergency Plan. 
A. Earthquake Drills 
The earthquake emergency procedure system shall, but not be limited to, all of the following: 
 
A school building disaster plan, ready for implementation at any time, for maintaining the safety and care of students and staffs. 
 
A drop procedure. As used in this article, "drop procedure" means an activity whereby each student and staff member take cover 
under a table or desk, dropping to his or her knees, with the head protected by the arms, and the back to the windows. A drop 
procedure practice shall be held at least once each school quarter in elementary schools and at least once a semester in secondary 
schools. 
 
Protective measures to be taken before, during, and following an earthquake. A program to ensure that the students and that both 
the certificated and classified staff are aware of, and properly trained in, the earthquake emergency procedure system. 
(Code of Regulations, Section 35297) 
 
Whenever an earthquake alarm is sounded, all students, teachers and other employees shall immediately begin Duck, Cover and 
Hold procedures: 
 
DUCK, or DROP down on the floor. 
Take COVER under a sturdy desk, table or other furniture with backs to the windows. Protect head and neck with arms. 
HOLD onto the furniture and be prepared to move with it. 
Stay in this position for at least one minute or, in a real situation, until shaking stops. 
 
Evacuation. An Evacuation should NEVER be automatic. There may be more danger outside the building than there is inside. If 
administrative directions are not forthcoming, the teacher will be responsible for assessing the situation and determining if an 
evacuation is required. 
 
Pre-determined evacuation areas should be in open areas, without overhead hazards and removed from potential danger spots 
(covered walkways, large gas mains, chain linked fences [electric shock potential]). 
 
Make it clear that a post-earthquake route differs from a fire evacuation route, and that appropriate nonhazardous alternate routes 
may be needed. 
 
Practice evacuation using alternate routes to the assembly areas. 
 
Students are to remain with their teacher in the evacuation area. Teachers shall take their roll books, take roll once in the evacuation 
area and be prepared to identify missing students to administrators and/first responders. 
 
The principal or designee shall keep a copy of each drill conducted on the Emergency Drill Report form and file a copy with the 
Superintendent/designee. 
 
Standards for a Successful Earthquake Drill: 
 
The Earthquake Alarm can be heard by all staff and students. 
 
Immediately after the earthquake alarm sounds, all students, teachers and other employees shall: 
 
DUCK, or DROP down on the floor. 
Take COVER under a sturdy desk, table or other furniture with backs to the windows. Protect head and neck with arms. 
HOLD onto the furniture and be prepared to move with it. 
 
Evacuations shall occur when directed over the loud speaker by the Principal/designee. When evacuations are included as part of 
the drill, appropriate non-hazardous alternate routes, avoiding building overhangs, electrical wires, large trees, covered walkways, 
etc., shall be utilized by staff and students in order to reach the designated evacuation areas. 
 
Teachers have taken roll once in the evacuation area. Any missing students are immediately reported to the Principal/designee. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 11 of 50 9/30/24 
 

 
Upon sounding of the all clear students and staff return to their appropriate classroom and the teacher takes roll once more. Missing 
students are reported to the attendance office. 
B. Fire Drills 
Whenever the fire alarm is given, all students, teachers and other employees shall quickly leave the building in an orderly manner. 
Teachers shall ascertain that no student remains in the building. Designated evacuation routes shall be posted in each room. 
Teachers shall be prepared to select alternate exits and direct their classes to these exits in the event the designated evacuation 
route is blocked. 
Evacuation areas will be established away from fire lanes. 
Students are to remain with their teacher in the evacuation area. Teachers shall take their roll books, take roll once in the evacuation 
area and be prepared to identify missing students to administrators and/or fire marshals/designees. 
 The principal or designee shall keep a copy of each drill conducted on the Emergency Drill Report form and file a copy with the 
Superintendent/designee. 
 
Standards for a Successful Fire Drill: 
 
The Fire Alarm can be heard by all staff and students. 
Orderly evacuation begins immediately and is completed within 5 minutes of the initial alarm, with minimal congestion at exit gates. 
Evacuation areas will be established away from fire lanes. 
Teachers and students are staged in an orderly fashion away from fire lanes. 
Teachers have taken roll once in the evacuation area. Any missing students are immediately reported to the Principal/designee. 
Upon sounding of the all clear students and staff return to their appropriate classroom and the teacher takes roll once more. Missing 
students are reported to the attendance office. 
C. Active Shooter/Lockdown Drills 
For sites that have had Active shooter Training, conducting an Active shooter Lockdown Drill initially involves more pre-planning and 
organization than conducting other drills. Middle and high schools should conduct an annual drill, which should take no longer than 
40 minutes and impact class time by 20 minutes. Elementary schools should conduct drills every other year (or annually, if the local 
police department has the resources to support the drills). Drills need to be scheduled with your School Resource or Liaison Officers. 
 
There are a number of steps that are recommended in the Active shooter Training in order to successfully conduct your drill. They 
involve: 
 
 Conduct a staff meeting. Plan on a 20 minute timeframe to review expectations and standards in terms of: 
a. Locking doors 
b. Covering windows 
c. Turning off lights 
d. Building barricades 
e. Reviewing classroom and all clear procedures 
f. Reviewing off site evacuation locations 
Send a follow-up reminder memo to your staff. 
Organize your assessment team. This also provides an excellent opportunity for your Critical Response Team to work together with 
police participants in the drill. 
Conduct the assessment. 
Complete follow-up tasks. 
 
Remember, you are setting the tone for the importance of safety for students and staff on your campus. 
VI. Routine and Emergency Disaster Procedures: Overview 
The Basic Plan 
 
The Basic Plan addresses the Lakeside Union School District 's responsibilities in emergencies associated with natural disaster, 
human-caused emergencies and technological incidents. It provides a framework for coordination of response and recovery efforts 
within the District in coordination and with local, State, and Federal agencies. The Plan establishes an emergency organization to 
direct and control operations at all sites during a period of emergency by assigning responsibilities to specific personnel. The Basic 
Plan: 
 
 Conforms to the Federally mandated National Incident Management System (NIMS), State mandated Standardized Emergency 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 12 of 50 9/30/24 
 

Management System (SEMS) and effectively restructures emergency response at all levels in compliance with the Incident Command 
System (ICS). 
Establishes response policies and procedures, providing Lakeside Union School District clear guidance for planning purposes. 
Describes and details procedural steps necessary to protect lives and property. 
Outlines coordination requirements. 
Provides a basis for unified training and response exercises to ensure compliance. 
 
Requirements 
 
The Plan meets the requirements of San Diego County's policies on Emergency Response and Planning, the Standardized Emergency 
Management System (SEMS) Operational Area Response, and defines the primary and support roles of the District and individual 
schools in after-incident damage assessment and reporting requirements. 
 
Protect the safety and welfare of students, employees and staff. 
Provide for a safe and coordinated response to emergencies. 
Protect the District's facilities and properties. 
Enable the District to restore normal conditions with minimal confusion in the shortest time possible. Provide for interface and 
coordination between sites and the District Emergency Operations Center (EOC). 
Provide for interface and coordination between sites and the County or city EOC in which they reside. Provide for the orderly 
conversion of pre-designated District sites to American Red Cross shelters, when necessary. 
 
Schools are required by both federal statute and state regulation to be available for shelters following a disaster. The American Red 
Cross (ARC) has access to schools in damaged areas to set up their mass care facilities, and local governments have a right to use 
schools for the same purposes. This requires close cooperation between school officials and ARC or local government 
representatives, and should be planned and arranged for in advance. 
 
Authorities and References - State of California 
 
California Emergency Services Act (Chapter 7, Division 1, Title 2, California Government Code). 
 
The Act provides the basic authorities for conducting emergency operations following a proclamation of Local Emergency, State of 
Emergency, or State of War Emergency by the Governor and/or appropriate local authorities, consistent with the provisions of this 
Act. 
 
California Government Code, Section 3100, Title 1, Division 4, Chapter 4. 
 
States that public employees are disaster service workers, subject to such disaster service activities as may be assigned to them by 
their superiors or by law. The term "public employees" includes all persons employed by the state or any county, city, city and 
county, state agency or public district, excluding aliens legally employed. 
 
California Emergency Plan 
 
Promulgated by the Governor, and published in accordance with the California Emergency Services Act, it provides overall statewide 
authorities and responsibilities, and describes the functions and operations of government at all levels during extraordinary 
emergencies, including wartime. Section 8568 of the Act states, in part, that "...the State Emergency Plan shall be in effect in each 
political subdivision of the state, and the governing body of each political subdivision shall take such action as may be necessary to 
carry out the provisions thereof." Therefore, local emergency plans are considered extensions of the California Emergency Plan. 
A. Definition: Incidents, Emergencies, Disasters 
Incident 
 
An incident is an occurrence or event, either human-caused or caused by natural phenomena, that requires action by emergency 
response personnel to prevent or minimize loss of life or damage to property and/or natural resources. 
 
Incidents may result in extreme peril to the safety of persons and property and may lead to, or create conditions of disaster. 
Incidents may also be rapidly mitigated without loss or damage. Although they may not meet disaster level definition, larger 
incidents may call for managers to proclaim a "Local Emergency". 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 13 of 50 9/30/24 
 

 
Incidents are usually a single event that may be small or large. They occur in a defined geographical area and require local resources 
or, sometimes, mutual aid. There is usually one to a few agencies involved in dealing with an ordinary threat to life and property and 
to a limited population. Usually a local emergency is not declared and the jurisdictional EOC is not activated. Incidents are usually of 
short duration, measured in hours or, at most, a few days. Primary command decisions are made at the scene along with strategy, 
tactics, and resource management decisions 
 
Emergency 
 
The term emergency is used in several ways. It is a condition of disaster or of extreme peril to the safety of persons and property. In 
this context, an emergency and an incident could mean the same thing, although an emergency could have more than one incident 
associated with it. 
 
Emergency is also used in Standardized Emergency Management System (SEMS) terminology to describe agencies or facilities, e.g., 
Emergency Response Agency, Emergency Operations Center, etc. 
 
Emergency also defines a conditional state such as a proclamation of "Local Emergency". The California Emergency Services Act, of 
which SEMS is a part, describes three states of emergency: 
 
State of War Emergency 
State of Emergency 
State of Local Emergency 
 
Disaster 
 
A disaster is defined as sudden calamitous emergency event bringing great damage, loss, or destruction. Disasters may occur with 
little or no advance warning, e.g., an earthquake or a flash flood, or they may develop from one or more incidents, e.g., a major 
wildfire or hazardous materials discharge. 
 
Disasters are either single or multiple events that have many separate incidents associated with them. The resource demand goes 
beyond local capabilities and extensive mutual aid and support are needed. There are many agencies and jurisdictions involved 
including multiple layers of government. There is usually an extraordinary threat to life and property affecting a generally 
widespread population and geographical area. A disaster's effects last over a substantial period of time (days to weeks) and local 
government will proclaim a Local Emergency. Emergency Operations Centers are activated to provide centralized overall 
coordination of jurisdictional assets, departments and incident support functions. Initial recovery coordination is also a responsibility 
of the EOCs.  
 
B. Earthquake Overview 
Major Earthquake Threat Summary 
 
Earthquakes are sudden releases of strain energy stored in the earth's bedrock. The great majority of earthquakes are not dangerous 
to life or property either because they occur in sparsely populated areas or because they are small earthquakes that release 
relatively small amounts of energy. However, where urban areas are located in regions of high seismicity, damaging earthquakes are 
expectable, if not predictable, events. Every occupant and developer in San Diego County assumes seismic risk because the County is 
within an area of high seismicity. More than ten severe earthquakes have impacted San Francisco Bay Region during historic times. 
 
The major effects of earthquakes are ground shaking and ground failure. Severe earthquakes are characteristically accompanied by 
surface faulting. Flooding may be triggered by dam or levee failure resulting from an earthquake, or by seismically induced 
settlement or subsidence. All of these geologic effects are capable of causing property damage and, more importantly, risks to life 
and safety of persons. 
 
A fault is a fracture in the earth's crust along which rocks on opposite sides have moved relative to each other. Active faults have 
high probability of future movement. Fault displacement involves forces so great that the only means of limiting damage to man-
made structures is to avoid the traces of active faults. Any movement beneath a structure, even on the order of an inch or two, 
could have catastrophic effects on the structure and its service lines. 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 14 of 50 9/30/24 
 

The overall energy release of an earthquake is its most important characteristic. Other important attributes include an earthquake's 
duration, its related number of significant stress cycles, and its accelerations. 
C. Levels of Response 
Response Levels are used to describe the type of event: 
 
The area(s) affected, the extent of coordination or assistance needed, and the degree of participation expected from the School 
District. Response Levels are closely tied to Emergency Proclamations issued by the head of local government. 
 
Response Level 0 - Readiness & Routine Phase 
 
On-going routine response by the School District to daily emergencies or incidents. Stand-by and alert procedures issued in advance 
of an anticipated or planned event. 
 
Response Level 3 - Local Emergency 
 
A minor to moderate incident in which local resources are adequate and available. This level of emergency response occurs when an 
emergency incident, e.g., gas leak, sewer back-up, assaults, bomb threat, toxic spill, medical emergency, shooting, etc., occurs. A 
Level 3 response requires School/Site Coordinators to implement guidelines in the Emergency Standard Operating Procedures and 
interact with public agencies. 
 
Response Level 2 - Local Disaster 
 
A moderate to severe emergency in which resources are not adequate and mutual aid may be required on a regional, even 
statewide basis with coordination with local police and fire departments of the affected are working in concert with Lakeside Union 
School District to respond. The affected Cities and the County of 
San Diego will proclaim a local emergency. Then, the State of California may declare a state of emergency. 
 
Response Level 1 - Major Disaster 
 
Resources in or near the impacted areas are overwhelmed and extensive State and Federal resources are required. The cities and 
the County of San Diego will proclaim a local emergency. Then, the State of California will declare a State of Emergency. A 
Presidential Declaration of an Emergency or Major Disaster is requested by the State. Examples of major disasters are the Loma 
Prieta Earthquake of 1989 or the Oakland Hills Firestorm of 1991. When local jurisdictions declare a State of Emergency, the district 
board can declare the same. 
D. Emergency Phases 
Some emergencies will be preceded by a build-up or warning period, providing sufficient time to warn the population and 
implement mitigation measures designated to reduce loss of life and property damage. Other emergencies occur with little or no 
advance warning, thus requiring immediate activation of the emergency operations plan and commitment of resources. All 
employees must be prepared to respond promptly and effectively to any foreseeable emergency, including the provision and use of 
mutual aid. 
 
Emergency management activities during peacetime and national security emergencies are often associated with the phases 
indicated below. However, not every disaster necessarily includes all indicated phases. 
 
Prevention/Mitigation Phase 
 
Prevention/Mitigation is perhaps the most important phase of emergency management. However, it is often the least used and 
generally the most cost effective. Mitigation is often thought of as taking actions to strengthen facilities, abatement of nearby 
hazards, and reducing the potential damage either to structures or their contents, while prevention is taking steps to avoid potential 
problems. Both of these elements require education of parents, students and teachers. 
 
While it is not possible to totally eliminate either the destructive force of a potential disaster or its effects, doing what can be done 
to minimize the effects may create a safer environment that will result in lower response costs, and fewer casualties. 
 
Preparedness Phase 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 15 of 50 9/30/24 
 

The preparedness phase involves activities taken in advance of an emergency. These activities develop operational capabilities and 
responses to a disaster. Those identified in this plan as having either a primary or support mission relative to response and recovery 
review Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) or checklists detailing personnel assignments, policies, notification procedures, and 
resource lists. Personnel are acquainted with these SOPs and checklists and periodically are trained in activation and execution. 
 
Response Phase 
 
Pre-Impact: Recognition of the approach of a potential disaster where actions are taken to save lives and protect property. Warning 
systems may be activated, and resources may be mobilized, EOCs may be activated and evacuation may begin. 
 
Immediate Impact: Emphasis is placed on saving lives, controlling the situation, and minimizing the effects of the disaster. Incident 
Command Posts and EOCs may be activated, and emergency instructions may be issued. 
 
Sustained: As the emergency continues, assistance is provided to victims of the disaster and efforts are made to reduce secondary 
damage. Response support facilities may be established. The resource requirements continually change to meet the needs of the 
incident. 
 
Recovery Phase 
 
Recovery is taking all actions necessary to restore the area to pre-event conditions or better, if possible. 
Therefore, mitigation for future hazards plays an important part in the recovery phase for many emergencies. There is no clear time 
separation between response and recovery. In fact, planning for recovery should be a part of the response phase.  
E. First Things First 
Preparing your school for emergencies starts with staff preparedness. The backbone of school planning is dependent on the staff's 
willingness to stay at school during a major community emergency. Personal preparedness makes this much easier. 
 
Each staff member needs 
 
A 72-hour supply kit for the home 
A Car Kit, including comfortable clothes/shoes and medications 
To develop a plan to reunite with their family 
A neighborhood preparedness program 
 
Preparedness Brochures are available from the local chapter of the American Red Cross, San Diego County Office of Emergency 
Services, Lakeside Union School District website, www.redcross.org, www.prepare.org or www.ready.gov. 
 
If the disaster occurs during school time, Emergency Management recommends the child stay at school until the parent or a trusted 
friend (see Emergency Cards) picks up the child. We have no idea, especially in an earthquake, how impacted our neighborhoods 
may be. 
 
This means the school staff will need to stay with the children. You can only do this if you are prepared at home! You must feel that 
your family can activate your Family Plan without you. 
 
Disaster Service Worker Status: California Government Code Section 3100 declares that public employees are disaster services 
workers, subject to such disaster service activities as may be assigned to them by the superiors or by law. The term public employees 
include all persons employed by the state or any county, city, city & county, state agency or public district, excluding aliens legally 
employed. This law applies to public school employees in the following cases: 
 
When a local emergency has been proclaimed, When a state of emergency has been proclaimed, or When a federal disaster 
declaration has been made. 
F. District and Parent Responsibilities 
DISTRICT RESPONSIBILITY 
 
If the superintendent declares a district emergency during the school day, the following procedures will be followed: 
 
IN CASE OF A DECLARED EMERGENCY BY THE SUPERINTENDENT DURING SCHOOL HOURS, 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 16 of 50 9/30/24 
 

ALL STUDENTS WILL BE REQUIRED TO REMAIN AT SCHOOL OR AT AN ALTERNATE SAFE SITE UNDER THE SUPERVISION OF THE 
SCHOOL PRINCIPAL OR OTHER PERSONNEL ASSIGNED BY THE PRINCIPAL. 
 
Until regular dismissal time and released only then if it is considered safe, 
OR 
Until released to an adult authorized by the parent or legal guardian whose name appears on district records. 
a. If students are on their way to school, they will be brought to school if bussed, or they shouldproceed to school if walking. 
b. If students are on their way home from school, they are to continue home. 
 
During a Declared Emergency, those students who have not been picked up by their parents or other authorized person may be 
taken by district personnel to another site where consolidated care facilities can be provided. This information will be given to the 
media stations and posted at the site to keep parents informed. 
 
PARENT RESPONSIBILITY 
 
Parents and legal guardians of students will be provided with a Student Health/Emergency Form each year. 
In case of a Declared Emergency, students will be released ONLY to persons designated on this form. Parents are responsible for 
ensuring that information on the Student Health/Enrollment Form is current at all times. 
 
Parents are asked to share with the schools the responsibility for informing students of what they should do in case of a severe 
earthquake or other major emergency. Parents need to give specific directions to each student to follow the policy outlined above 
and to follow the directions of school personnel. 
 
School authorities will do everything possible to care for each student while he/she is under district supervision. 
 
It is critical that students do not have directions from parents that are contrary to the district's stated policy on retention at school 
and authorized release in case of a severe emergency.  
VII. Emergency Response Procedures 
Section 8 content  
A. Basic Actions 
Most emergency responses are covered by the following Basic Actions: 
 
A. Action: STAND BY 
 
Action: STAND BY consists of bringing students into the classroom or holding them in the classroom pending further instruction. 
 
B. Action: LEAVE BUILDING 
 
ACTION: LEAVE BUILDING consists of the orderly movement of students and staff from inside the school building to outside areas of 
safety or planned evacuation site. 
 
Action: LEAVE BUILDING is appropriate for-but not limited to-the following emergencies: 
 
Fire 
Peacetime Bomb Threat 
Chemical Accident 
Explosion or Threat of an Explosion 
Following an Earthquake 
Other similar occurrences that might make the building uninhabitable 
At the onset of an Active Shooter/Lockdown Alert, when teacher/supervisor has ascertained that leaving is the best option. 
 
C. Action: TAKE COVER 
 
Action: TAKE COVER consists of bringing/keeping students indoors if possible and sheltering in place as appropriate to the situation. 
 
If outdoors, Action: TAKE COVER consists of hiding behind any solid object (large tree, engine block of car, cement wall), in the event 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 17 of 50 9/30/24 
 

a sniper attack, armed intruder, rabid animal, or moving immediately to a location which is upwind and uphill in the event of a 
chemical or biological threat 
 
Action TAKE COVER is appropriate for, but not limited to, the following: 
 
Severe Windstorm (short warning) 
Biological or Chemical Threat 
Sniper Attack 
Rabid Animal on School Grounds 
 
D. Action: DROP 
 
WARNING: The warning for this type of emergency is the beginning of the disaster itself. 
 
Action: DROP consists of: 
 
 Inside school buildings 

• Immediately TAKE COVER under desks or tables and turn away from all windows 
• Remain in a sheltered position for at least 60 seconds silent and listening to/or for instructions Outside of School 

Buildings 
• Earthquake: move away from buildings -Take a protective position, if possible Explosion/Nuclear Attack: 
• Take protective position, OR, 
• Get behind any solid object (ditch, curb, tree, etc.); lie prone with head away from light or blast; cover head, face, and as 

much of the skin surface as possible; close eyes, and cover ears with forearms. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 18 of 50 9/30/24 
 

 
E. ACTION: DIRECTED MAINTENANCE 
 
No school personnel/students are allowed to enter a school facility until inspected by and authorized by appropriate school 
personnel: Maintenance and School Administrators, and if applicable, Police, Fire, or City Inspectors. 
 
In the event that drinking water is unsafe, water valves will be turned off and the drinking fountains sealed. 
 
Water, gas, and electrical shut-off valves will be shut-off for each applicable building under the join authorization of the 
administration and head custodian. 
 
F. ACTION: DIRECTED TRANSPORTATION 
 
WARNING: Under certain disaster conditions, authorized officials may attempt to move an entire community, or portion thereof, 
from an area of danger to another area of safety. 
 
Action: DIRECTED TRANSPORTATION consists of loading students and staff into school buses, cars and other means of 
transportation, and taking them from a danger area to a designated safety area. 
 
Action: DIRECTED TRANSPORTATION is considered appropriate only when directed by the 
Superintendent or designee, Site Administrator, Police, Fire, or OES. It may be appropriate for, but not limited to, movement away 
from: 
 
Fire 
Chemical & Biological Gas Alert 
Flood 
Fallout Area 
Blast Area 
Chemical & Biological Gas Alert 
Specific Man-Made Emergency (shooting, fire, etc.) 
 
G. ACTION: GO HOME 
 
Action: GO HOME consists of: 
 
Dismissal of all classes 
Return of students to their homes by the most expeditious 
 
Action: GO HOME is to be considered only if there is time for students to go safely to their homes and if buses or other 
transportation are available for students who live at a distance from the school. Notification of parents by radio broadcast, local 
television, ALERT website, phone distribution lists, or other means will be requested. 
 
H. ACTION: CONVERT SCHOOL 
 
Action: CONVERT SCHOOL to a Red Cross emergency facility will be initiated by City officials. 
 
 
 
Public Agency Use of School Buildings for Emergency Shelters 
 
 
(C) School Suspension, Expulsion and Mandatory Expulsion Guidelines 
C. Suspension and Expulsion Policies 
Grounds for suspension which fall under Education Code 48900 
Caused, attempted to cause, or threatened to cause physical injury to another person 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 19 of 50 9/30/24 
 

Possessed, sold, or otherwise furnished any firearm, knife, explosive, or other dangerous object unless, in the case of possession of 
any object of this type, the pupil had obtained written permission to possess the item from a certificated school employee, which is 
concurred in by the principal or the designee of the principal. 
Unlawfully possessed, used, sold, or otherwise furnished, or been under the influence of any controlled substance. 
Unlawfully offered, arranged, or negotiated to sell any controlled substance. 
Committed or attempted to commit robbery or extortion. 
Caused or attempted to cause damage to school property or private property. 
Stolen or attempted to steal school or private property. 
Possessed or used tobacco, or any products containing tobacco or 1nicotine products, including, but not limited to, cigarettes, cigars, 
miniature cigars, clove cigarettes, smokeless tobacco, snuff, chew packets, and betel. However, this section does not prohibit use or 
possession by a pupil of his or her own prescription products. 
Committed an obscene act or engaged in habitual profanity or vulgarity. 
Had unlawful possession of, or unlawfully offered, arranged or negotiated to sell any drug paraphernalia. 
Disrupted school activities or otherwise willfully defied the valid authority supervisors, teachers, administrators, school officials, or 
other school personnel engaged in the performance of their duties. 
Knowingly received stolen school property or private property. 
Possessed an imitation firearm. As used in this section, "imitation firearm" means a replica of a firearm as to substantially similar in 
physical properties to an existing firearm as to lead a reasonable person to conclude that the replica is a firearm. 
Committed or attempted to commit sexual assault. 
Harassed, threatened, or intimidated a pupil who is a complaining witness or witness in a school disciplinary proceeding for the 
purpose of either preventing that pupil from being a witness or retaliating against that pupil for being a witness, or both. 
 
A pupil may not be suspended or expelled for any of the acts listed above unless that act is related to school activity or school 
attendance occurring within a school under the jurisdiction of the superintendent or principal or occurring within any other school 
district. A pupil may be suspended or expelled for acts which are enumerated in this section and related to school activity or 
attendance that occur at any time, including but not limited to, any of the following: 
While on school grounds. 
While going to or coming from school. 
During the lunch period, whether on or off the campus. 
During, or in route to and from, a school sponsored activity. 
 
Expulsion Policies under Education Code 48915: 
 
The principal shall recommend the expulsion of a pupil for any of the following committed at school or school activity off school 
grounds, unless the principal or superintendent finds an expulsion is inappropriate, due to the particular circumstance: 
Causing serious physical injury to another person, except in self-defense. 
Possession of any knife, explosive, or other dangerous object of no reasonable use to the pupil. Unlawful possession of any 
controlled substance, as defined under Ed. Code. 
Robbery or extortion. 
Assault or battery on any school employee, as defined in Sections 240 and 242 of the Penal Code. 
 
The principal, or superintendent of schools shall immediately suspend, pursuant to Section 48911, and shall recommend expulsion 
of a pupil that he or she determines has committed any of the following acts at school or at a school activity off school grounds: 
Possessing, selling, or otherwise furnishing a firearm. This subdivision does not apply to an act of possessing a firearm if the pupil has 
obtained prior written permission to possess the firearm from a certificated school employee, which is concurred in by the principal 
or the designee of the principal. This subdivision applies to an act of possessing a firearm only if an employee of a school district 
verifies the possession. 
Brandishing a knife at another person. 
Unlawfully selling a controlled substance as defined by Education Code. 
Committing or attempting to commit a sexual assault as defined in the Education Code. 
 
LUSD has the following Board Policy related to Suspension and Expulsion of Students: BP 5144.1 
The Governing Board desires to provide district students access to educational opportunities in an orderly school environment that 
protects their safety and security, ensures their welfare and well-being, and promotes their learning and development. The Board 
shall develop rules and regulations setting the standards of behavior expected of district students and the disciplinary processes and 
procedures for addressing violations of those standards, including suspension and/or expulsion. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 20 of 50 9/30/24 
 

(cf. 5131 - Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.1 - Bus Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.2 - Bullying) 
 
The grounds for suspension and expulsion and the procedures for considering, recommending, and/or implementing suspension and 
expulsion shall be those specified in law, in policy, and in the accompanying administrative regulation. 
Except when otherwise permitted by law, a student may be suspended or expelled only when his/her behavior is related to a school 
activity or school attendance occurring within any district school or another school district, regardless of when it occurs, including, 
but not limited to, the following: (Education Code 48900(s)) 
 
1. While on school grounds 
2. While going to or coming from school 
3. During the lunch period, whether on or off the school campus 
(cf. 5112.5 - Open/Closed Campus) 
4. During, going to, or coming from a school-sponsored activity 
District staff shall enforce the rules concerning suspension and expulsion of students fairly, consistently, equally, and in accordance 
with the district's nondiscrimination policies. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
 
Appropriate Use of Suspension Authority 
Except when a student's act that violates Education Code 48900(a)-(e), as listed in items #1-5 under "Grounds for Suspension or 
Expulsion: Grades K-12" of the accompanying administrative regulation, or when his/her presence causes a danger to others, 
suspension shall be used only when other means of correction have failed to bring about proper conduct. (Education Code 
48900.5,48900.6) 
(cf. 1020 - Youth Services) 
(cf. 5138 - Conflict Resolution/Peer Mediation) 
(cf. 5144 - Discipline) 
(cf. 6142.4 - Service Learning/Community Service Classes) 
(cf. 6164.2 - Guidance/Counseling Services) 
(cf. 6164.5 - Student Success Teams) 
 
A student's parents/guardians shall be notified as soon as possible when there is an escalating pattern of misbehavior that could 
lead to removal on-campus or off-campus suspension. 
No student in grades K-3 may be suspended for disruption or willful defiance, except by a teacher pursuant to Education Code 
48910. (Education Code 48900) 
Students shall not be suspended or expelled for truancy, tardiness, or absenteeism from assigned school activities. 
(cf. 5113 - Absences and Excuses) 
(cf. 5113.1 - Chronic Absence and Truancy) 
 
On-Campus Suspension 
 
To ensure the proper supervision and ongoing learning of students who are suspended for any of the reasons enumerated in 
Education Code 48900 and 48900.2, but who pose no imminent danger or threat to anyone at school and for whom expulsion 
proceedings have not been initiated, the Superintendent or designee shall establish a supervised suspension classroom program 
which meets the requirements of law. 
Except where a supervised suspension is permitted by law for a student's first offense, supervised suspension shall be imposed only 
when other means of correction have failed to bring about proper conduct. (Education Code 48900.5) 
 
Authority to Expel 
A student may be expelled only by the Board. (Education Code 48918(j)) 
As required by law, the Superintendent or principal shall recommend expulsion and the Board shall expel any student found to have 
committed any of the following "mandatory recommendation and mandatory expulsion" acts at school or at a school activity off 
school grounds: (Education Code 48915) 
1. Possessing a firearm which is not an imitation firearm, as verified by a certificated employee, unless thestudent had obtained prior 
written permission to possess the item from a certificated school employee, with the principal or designee's concurrence 
(cf. 5131.7 - Weapons and Dangerous Instruments) 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 21 of 50 9/30/24 
 

2. Selling or otherwise furnishing a firearm 
3. Brandishing a knife at another person 
4. Unlawfully selling a controlled substance listed in Health and Safety Code 11053-11058 
5. Committing or attempting to commit a sexual assault as defined in Penal Code 261, 266c, 286, 288, 288a,or 289, or committing a 
sexual battery as defined in Penal Code 243.4 6. Possessing an explosive as defined in 18 USC 921 
 
For all other violations listed in the accompanying administrative regulation under "Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades K-
12" and "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 4-12," the Superintendent or principal shall have the discretion 
to recommend expulsion of a student. If expulsion is recommended, the Board shall order the student expelled only if it makes a 
finding of either or both of the following: (Education Code 48915(b) and (e)) 
 
1. That other means of correction are not feasible or have repeatedly failed to bring about proper conduct 
2. That due to the nature of the violation, the presence of the student causes a continuing danger to thephysical safety of the 
student or others 
A vote to expel a student shall be taken in public an open session of a Board meeting. 
The Board may vote to suspend the enforcement of the expulsion order pursuant to the requirements of law and the accompanying 
administrative regulation. (Education Code 48900). 
No student shall be expelled for disruption or willful defiance. (Education Code 48900) 
No child enrolled in a preschool program shall be expelled except under limited circumstances as specified in AR 5148.3 - 
Preschool/Early Childhood Education. 
(cf. 5148.3 - Preschool/Early Childhood Education) 
 
Due Process 
 
The Board shall provide for the fair and equitable treatment of students facing suspension and/or expulsion by affording them their 
due process rights under the law. The Superintendent or designee shall comply with procedures for notices, hearings, and appeals as 
specified in law and administrative regulation. (Education Code 48911, 48915, 48915.5) 
(cf. 5119 - Students Expelled from Other Districts) 
(cf. 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Individuals with Disabilities)) 
 
Maintenance and Monitoring of Outcome Data 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall maintain outcome data related to student suspensions and expulsions in accordance with 
Education Code 48900.8 and 48916.1, including, but not limited to, the number of students recommended for expulsion, the 
grounds for each recommended expulsion, the actions taken by the Board, the types of referral made after each expulsion, and the 
disposition of the students after the expulsion period. For any expulsion that involves the possession of a firearm, such data shall 
include the name of the school and the type of firearm involved, as required pursuant to 20 USC 7961. Suspension and expulsion 
data shall be reported to the Board annually and to the California Department of Education when so required. 
In presenting the report to the Board, the Superintendent or designee shall disaggregate data on suspensions and expulsions by 
school and by numerically significant student subgroups, including, but not limited to, ethnic subgroups, socioeconomically 
disadvantaged students, English learners, students with disabilities, foster youth, and homeless students. Based on the data, the 
Board shall address any identified disparities in the imposition of student discipline and shall determine whether and how the 
district is meeting its goals for improving school climate as specified in its local control and accountability plan. (cf. 0460 - Local 
Control and Accountability Plan) 
 
 
 
(D) Procedures to Notify Teachers of Dangerous Pupils (EC 49079) 
D. Staff Notification of Dangerous Students 
In order to fulfill the requirements made by Education Code 49079 and Welfare and Institutions Code 827 that state teachers must 
be notified of the reason(s) a student has been suspended. The District has incorporated this notification into the student 
information system so that it is easily accessible for teachers on any student level screen. On the flag bar there is a red flag: 49079. 
This flag indicates the student has been suspended under Ed Code 48900. The teacher can access more specific information by 
contacting their site administrator for additional details about the behavior. All information regarding suspension and expulsion is 
CONFIDENTIAL, is not to be shared with any student(s) or parent(s). Teachers are asked to secure the list so students and others may 
not view it. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 22 of 50 9/30/24 
 

Additionally, Pursuant to Welfare & Institution Code 827(b) and Education Code 48267, the Court notifies the Superintendent of the 
Lakeside Union School District regarding students who have engaged in certain criminal conduct. This information is forwarded to 
the site Principal. The site Principal is responsible for prompt notification of the student's teachers. Per Education Code 49079, this 
information must be kept confidential. This information is also forwarded to all administrators and the student's counselor. 
 
 
(E) Sexual Harassment Policies (EC 212.6 [b]) 
B. Sexual Harassment Policy 
A. DEFINITION 
"Sexual Harassment includes 'unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, sexually motivated physical contact, or other 
verbal or physical conduct or communication of a sexual nature,' when any of four conditions are met: 
Submission to the conduct or communication is made a term or condition, either explicitly or implicitly, of obtaining education; 
Submission or rejection of the conduct or communication is used as a factor in decisions affecting that person's education; 
The conduct or communication has either the purpose or effect of 'substantially interfering' with a person's education; 
The conduct or communication creates an 'intimidating, hostile, or offensive' educational environment." 
 
B. Policy Pertaining to Sexual Harassment: LUSD has the following Board Policies on Sexual Harrasment, which can be viewed at 
www.lsusd.net, under Leadership, Board of Trustees, Board Policies: 
Board Poilicy 4119.91 
The following policy shall apply to all district employees, volunteers, contractors, job applicants, and other persons with an 
employment relationship with the district. 
The Governing is committed to providing a safe work environment that is free of harassment and intimidation.  The Board prohibits 
sexual harassment against district employees and retaliatory behavior or action against any persons who complain, testifies or 
otherwise participates in the complaint process established for the purpose of this policy. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
(cf. 4030 - Nondiscrimination in Employment) 
Sexual harassment includes, but is not limited to, harassment that is based on the sex, gender, gender identity, gender expression, 
or sexual orientation of the victim and harassment based on pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions. 
The Superintendent or designee shall take all actions necessary to ensure the prevention, investigation, and correction of sexual 
harassment, including but not limited to: 
1. Providing training to employees in accordance with law and administrative regulation 
2. Publicizing and disseminating the district's sexual harassment policy to employees and others to whom the policy may apply 
3. Ensuring prompt, thorough, fair, and equitable investigation of complaints 
4. Taking timely and appropriate corrective/remedial action(s), which may require interim separation ofthe complainant and the 
alleged harasser and subsequent monitoring of developments 
The Superintendent or designee shall periodically evaluate the effectiveness of the district's strategies to prevent and address 
harassment. Such evaluation may involve conducting regular anonymous employee surveys to assess whether harassment is 
occurring or is perceived to be tolerated, partnering with researchers or other agencies with the needed expertise to evaluate the 
district's prevention strategies, and using any other effective tool for receiving feedback on systems and/or processes. As necessary, 
changes shall be made to the harassment policy, complaint procedures, or training. 
Sexual Harassment Reports and Complaints 
District employees who feel that they have been sexually harassed in the performance of their district responsibilities or who have 
knowledge of any incident of sexual harassment by or against another employee shall immediately report the incident to their direct 
supervisor, a district administrator, or the district's Title IX Coordinator. Employees may bypass their supervisor in filing a complaint 
if the supervisor is the subject of the complaint. A supervisor or administrator who receives a harassment complaint shall promptly 
notify the Title IX Coordinator. 
Once notified, the Title IX Coordinator shall ensure the complaint or allegation is addressed through AR 
4119.12/4219.12/4319.12 - Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures or AR 4030 - 
Nondiscrimination in Employment, as applicable.  Because a complaint or allegation that is dismissed or denied under the Title IX 
complaint procedure may still be subject to consideration under state law, the Title IX Coordinator shall ensure that any 
implementation of AR 4119.12/4219.12/4319.12 concurrently meets the requirements of AR 4030. 
(cf. 4119.12/4219.12/4319.12 - Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaints) 
The Title IX Coordinator shall offer supportive measures to the complainant and respondent, as deemed appropriate under the 
circumstances. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 23 of 50 9/30/24 
 

Upon investigation of a sexual harassment complaint, any district employee found to have engaged or participated in sexual 
harassment or to have aided, abetted, incited, compelled, or coerced another to commit sexual harassment in violation of this policy 
shall be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal, in accordance with law and the applicable collective bargaining 
agreement. 
 
Board Policy 4219.11 
The Governing Board prohibits sexual harassment of district employees and job applicants. The Board also prohibits retaliatory 
behavior or action against district employees or other persons who complain, testify or otherwise participate in the complaint 
process established pursuant to this policy and administrative regulation. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) (cf. 4030 - Nondiscrimination in Employment) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall take all actions necessary to ensure the prevention, investigation, and correction of sexual 
harassment, including but not limited to: 
1. Providing training to employees in accordance with law and administrative regulation 
2. Publicizing and disseminating the district's sexual harassment policy to staff 
(cf. 4112.9/4212.9/4312.9 - Employee Notifications) 
3. Ensuring prompt, thorough, and fair investigation of complaints 
4. Taking timely and appropriate corrective/remedial action(s), which may require interim separation of thecomplainant and the 
alleged harasser and subsequent monitoring of developments 
All complaints and allegations of sexual harassment shall be kept confidential to the extent necessary to carry out the investigation 
or to take other subsequent necessary actions. (5 CCR 4964) 
Any district employee or job applicant who feels that he/she has been sexually harassed or who has knowledge of any incident of 
sexual harassment by or against another employee, a job applicant or a student, 
shall immediately report the incident to his/her supervisor, the principal, district administrator or Superintendent. 
A supervisor, principal or other district administrator who receives a harassment complaint shall promptly notify the Superintendent 
or designee. 
Complaints of sexual harassment shall be filed in accordance with AR 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment. 
An employee may bypass his/her supervisor in filing a complaint where the supervisor is the subject of the complaint. 
(cf. 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment) 
Any district employee who engages or participates in sexual harassment or who aids, abets, incites, compels, or coerces another to 
commit sexual harassment against a district employee, job applicant, or student is in violation of this policy and is subject to 
disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal. 
(cf. 4117.4 - Dismissal) 
(cf. 4118 - Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
(cf. 4218 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
 
Board Policy 4319.11 
The Governing Board prohibits sexual harassment of district employees and job applicants. The Board also prohibits retaliatory 
behavior or action against district employees or other persons who complain, testify or otherwise participate in the complaint 
process established pursuant to this policy and administrative regulation. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
(cf. 4030 - Nondiscrimination in Employment) 
The Superintendent or designee shall take all actions necessary to ensure the prevention, investigation, and correction of sexual 
harassment, including but not limited to: 
1. Providing training to employees in accordance with law and administrative regulation 
2. Publicizing and disseminating the district's sexual harassment policy to staff 
(cf. 4112.9/4212.9/4312.9 - Employee Notifications) 
3. Ensuring prompt, thorough, and fair investigation of complaints 
4. Taking timely and appropriate corrective/remedial action(s), which may require interim separation of thecomplainant and the 
alleged harasser and subsequent monitoring of developments 
All complaints and allegations of sexual harassment shall be kept confidential to the extent necessary to carry out the investigation 
or to take other subsequent necessary actions. (5 CCR 4964) 
Any district employee or job applicant who feels that he/she has been sexually harassed or who has knowledge of any incident of 
sexual harassment by or against another employee, a job applicant or a student, 
shall immediately report the incident to his/her supervisor, the principal, district administrator or Superintendent. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 24 of 50 9/30/24 
 

A supervisor, principal or other district administrator who receives a harassment complaint shall promptly notify the Superintendent 
or designee. 
Complaints of sexual harassment shall be filed in accordance with AR 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment. 
An employee may bypass his/her supervisor in filing a complaint where the supervisor is the subject of the complaint. 
(cf. 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment) 
Any district employee who engages or participates in sexual harassment or who aids, abets, incites, compels, or coerces another to 
commit sexual harassment against a district employee, job applicant, or student is in violation of this policy and is subject to 
disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal. 
 
Board Policy 5145.7 
The Governing Board is committed to maintaining a safe school environment that is free from harassment and discrimination. The 
Board prohibits, at school or at school-sponsored or school-related activities, sexual harassment targeted at any student by anyone. 
The Board also prohibits retaliatory behavior or action against any person who reports, files a complaint or testifies about, or 
otherwise supports a complainant in alleging sexual harassment. 
The district strongly encourages any student who feels that he/she is being or has been sexually harassed on school grounds or at a 
school-sponsored or school-related activity by another student or an adult who has experienced off-campus sexual harassment that 
has a continuing effect on campus to immediately contact his/her teacher, the principal, or any other available school employee. 
Any employee who receives a report or observes an incident of sexual harassment shall notify the principal or a district compliance 
officer. Once notified, the principal or compliance officer shall take the steps to investigate and address the allegation, as specified in 
the accompanying administrative regulations. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
(cf. 1312.1 - Complaints Concerning District Employees) 
(cf. 5131 - Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.2 - Bullying) 
(cf. 5137 - Positive School Climate) 
(cf. 5141.4 - Child Abuse Prevention and Reporting) 
(cf. 5145.3 - Nondiscrimination/Harassment) 
(cf. 6142.1 - Sexual Health and HIV/AIDS Prevention Instruction) 
The Superintendent or designee shall take appropriate actions to reinforce the district's sexual harassment  policy. 
Instruction/Information 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that all district students receive age-appropriate information on sexual harassment. 
Such instruction and information shall include: 
1. What acts and behavior constitute sexual harassment, including the fact that sexual harassment could occur between people of 
the same sex and could involve sexual violence 
2. A clear message that students do not have to endure sexual harassment under any circumstance 
3. Encouragement to report observed incidents of sexual harassment even where the alleged victim of the harassment has not 
complained 
4. A clear message that student safety is the district's primary concern, and that any separate rule violationinvolving an alleged 
victim or any other person reporting a sexual harassment incident will be addressed separately and will not affect the manner in 
which the sexual harassment complaint will be received, investigated, or resolved 
5. A clear message that, regardless of a complainant's noncompliance with the writing, timeline, or otherformal filing requirements, 
every sexual harassment allegation that involves a student, whether as the complainant, respondent, or victim of the harassment, 
shall be investigated and prompt action shall be taken to stop any harassment, prevent recurrence, and address any continuing 
effect on students 
6. Information about the district's procedure for investigating complaints and the person(s) to whom a reportof sexual harassment 
should be made 
7. Information about the rights of students and parents/guardians to file a civil or criminal complaint, asapplicable, including the 
right to file a civil or criminal complaint while the district investigation of a sexual harassment complaint continues 
8. A clear message that, when needed, the district will take interim measures to ensure a safe schoolenvironment for a student who 
is the complainant or victim of sexual harassment and/or other students during an investigation and that, to the extent possible, 
when such interim measures are taken, they shall not disadvantage the complainant or victim of the alleged harassment 
Complaint Process and Disciplinary Actions 
Sexual harassment complaints by and against students shall be investigated and resolved in accordance with law and district 
procedures specified in AR 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint Procedures. Principals are responsible for notifying students and 
parents/guardians that complaints of sexual harassment can be filed under AR 1312.3 and where to obtain a copy of the procedures. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 25 of 50 9/30/24 
 

Upon investigation of a sexual harassment complaint, any student found to have engaged in sexual harassment or sexual violence is 
in violation of this policy shall be subject to disciplinary action. For students in grades 4-12, disciplinary action may include 
suspension and/or expulsion, provided that, in imposing such discipline, the entire circumstances of the incident(s) shall be taken 
into account. 
(cf. 5144 - Discipline) 
(cf. 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process) 
(cf. 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Students with Disabilities)) 
Upon investigation of a sexual harassment complaint, any employee found to have engaged in sexual harassment or sexual violence 
toward any student shall have his/her employment terminated in accordance with laws, and the applicable collective bargaining 
agreement. 
(cf. 4117.4 - Dismissal) 
(cf. 4117.7 - Employment Status Report) 
(cf. 4118 - Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
(cf. 4218 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
(cf. 4119.11/4219.11/4319.11 - Sexual Harassment) 
Record-Keeping 
The Superintendent or designee shall maintain a record of all reported cases of sexual harassment to enable the district to monitor, 
address, and prevent repetitive harassing behavior in district schools. (cf. 3580 - District Records) 
 
 
C. Staff Training: All LUSD staff engage in mandated sexual harassment training annually. 
 
 
(F) School-wide Dress Code Relating to Gang-Related Apparel (EC 35183) 
A. Board Policies: 
BP 5132 Students 
The Governing Board believes that appropriate dress and grooming contribute to a productive learning environment. The Board 
expects students to give proper attention to personal cleanliness and to wear clothes that are suitable for the school activities in 
which they participate. Students' clothing must not present a health or safety hazard or a distraction which would interfere with the 
educational process. 
(cf. 4119.22 - Dress and Grooming) 
(cf. 5145.2 - Freedom of Speech/Expression) 
Students and parents/guardians shall be informed about dress and grooming standards at the beginning of the school year and 
whenever these standards are revised. A student who violates these standards shall be subject to appropriate disciplinary action. 
(cf. 5144 - Discipline) 
Gang-Related Apparel 
The principal, staff and parents/guardians at a school may establish a reasonable dress code that prohibits students from wearing 
gang-related apparel when there is evidence of a gang presence that disrupts or threatens to disrupt the school's activities. Such a 
dress code may be included as part of the school safety plan and must be presented to the Board for approval. The Board shall 
approve the plan upon determining that it is necessary to protect the health and safety of the school's students. 
(cf. 0450 - Comprehensive Safety Plan) 
(cf. 5136 - Gangs) 
Uniforms 
In order to promote student safety and discourage theft, peer rivalry and/or gang activity, the principal, staff and parents/guardians 
at a school may establish a reasonable dress code requiring students to wear uniforms. Such a dress code may be included as part of 
the school safety plan and must be presented to the Board for approval. The Board shall approve the plan upon determining that it is 
necessary to protect the health and safety of the school's students. 
If a school's plan to require uniforms is adopted, the Superintendent or designee shall establish procedures whereby 
parents/guardians may choose to have their children exempted from the school uniform policy. Students shall not be penalized 
academically, otherwise discriminated against or denied attendance to school if their parents/guardians so decide. 
(Education Code 35183) 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that resources are identified to assist economically disadvantaged students in obtaining 
uniforms. 
AR 5132 Students 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 26 of 50 9/30/24 
 

In cooperation with teachers, students and parents/guardians, the principal or designee shall establish school rules governing 
student dress and grooming which are consistent with law, Governing Board policy and administrative regulations. These school 
dress codes shall be regularly reviewed. 
(cf. 0420 - School Plans/Site Councils) 
Lakeview Elementary School Comprehensive Safety Plan 82 
Each school shall allow students to wear sun-protective clothing, including but not limited to hats, for outdoor use during the school 
day. (Education Code 35183.5) 
In addition, the following guidelines shall apply to all regular school activities: 
1. Shoes must be worn at all times. Sandals must have heel straps. Thongs or backlessshoes or sandals are not acceptable. 
2. Clothing, jewelry and personal items (backpacks, fanny packs, gym bags, water bottlesetc.) shall be free of writing, pictures or any 
other insignia which are crude, vulgar, profane or sexually suggestive, which bear drug, alcohol or tobacco company advertising, 
promotions and likenesses, or which advocate racial, ethnic or religious prejudice. 
3. Hats, caps and other head coverings shall not be worn indoors. 
4. Clothes shall be sufficient to conceal undergarments at all times. See-through or fish-netfabrics, halter tops, off-the-shoulder or 
low-cut tops, bare midriffs and skirts or shorts shorter than mid-thigh are prohibited. 
5. Gym shorts may not be worn in classes other than physical education. 
6. Hair shall be clean and neatly groomed. Hair may not be sprayed by any coloring thatwould drip when wet. 
Coaches and teachers may impose more stringent dress requirements to accommodate the special needs of certain sports and/or 
classes. 
(cf. 3260 - Fees and Charges) 
No grade of a student participating in a physical education class shall be adversely affected if the student does not wear 
standardized physical education apparel because of circumstances beyond the student's control. (Education Code 49066) 
(cf. 5121 - Grades/Evaluation of Student Achievement) 
The principal, staff, students and parent/guardians at each school may establish reasonable dress and grooming regulations for 
times when students are engaged in extracurricular or other special school activities. 
Gang-Related Apparel 
At individual schools that have a dress code prohibiting gang-related apparel at school or school activities, the principal, staff and 
parents/guardians participating in the development of the school safety plan shall define "gang-related apparel" and shall limit this 
definition to apparel that reasonably could be determined to threaten the health and safety of the school environment if it were 
worn or displayed on a school campus. (Education Code 32282) Because gang-related symbols are constantly changing, definitions of 
gang-related apparel shall be reviewed at least once each semester and updated whenever related information is received. 
Uniforms 
In schools where a schoolwide uniform is required, the principal, staff and parents/guardians of the individual school shall jointly 
select the specific uniform to be worn. (Education Code 35183) 
At least six months before a school uniform policy is implemented, the principal or designee 
shall notify parents/guardians of this policy. (Education Code 35183) 
Parents/guardians shall also be informed of their right to have their child exempted. The principal or designee shall also repeat this 
notification at the end of the school year so that parents/guardians are reminded before school clothes are likely to be purchased. 
The Superintendent or designee shall establish criteria for determining student eligibility for financial assistance when purchasing 
uniforms. 
Lakeview Elementary School Comprehensive Safety Plan 83 
The Superintendent or designee shall establish a method for recycling or exchanging uniforms as students grow out of them. 
Students who participate in a nationally recognized youth organization shall be allowed to wear organization uniforms on days when 
the organization has a scheduled meeting. 
(Education Code 35183) 
Regulation LAKESIDE UNION SCHOOL DISTRICT 
approved: September 17, 2012 Lakeside, California 
 
 
(G) Procedure for Safe Ingress and Egress of Pupils, Parents, and Staff to and from School (EC 35294.2) 
Beyond planning for daily ingress/egress routes and emergency evacuation routes, schools must plan for assisting students, staff and 
visitors with disabilities. Under the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, individuals who are deaf/hard of hearing, blind/partially 
sighted, mobility impaired and/or cognitively/emotionally impaired must be assisted. 
 
B. Planning 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 27 of 50 9/30/24 
 

It is recommended that schools identify the location of potential evacuation sites based on the potential circumstances that may 
cause movement/relocation of the school population in the event of an emergency. 
 
On-Campus Evacuation/Assembly Location 
 
Grass Field on the Upper Playground 
 
Off-Campus Evacuation/Assembly Location 
 
Organization: Tierra Del Sol Middle School 
Address: 9611 Petite Ln, Lakeside, CA 92040 
Contact: Leslie Hardiman, Principal 
Phone Number: (619) 390-2670 
Date of Agreement: 10/3/2021 
 
Organization: Our Lady of Perpetual Help Catholic Church 
Address: 13208 Lakeshore Dr, Lakeside, CA 92040 
Contact: Father Ron Buchmiller 
Phone Number: (619) 443-1412 
Date of Agreement: 10/3/2021 
 
Prior to an event: 
 
Identify off-campus evacuation site(s). 
Establish a memorandum of agreement with the evacuation site(s). 
 
Organization: Tierra Del Sol Middle School 
Address: 9611 Petite Ln, Lakeside, CA 92040 
Contact: Leslie Hardiman, Principal 
Phone Number: (619) 390-2670 
Date of Agreement: 10/3/2021 
 
Organization: Our Lady of Perpetual Help Catholic Church 
Address: 13208 Lakeshore Dr, Lakeside, CA 92040 
Contact: Father Ron Buchmiller 
Phone Number: (619) 443-1412 Date of Agreement: 10/3/2021 
 
Primary Off-Site Evacuation/Assembly Location 
 
Organization: Tierra Del Sol Middle School 
Address: 9611 Petite Ln, Lakeside, CA 92040 
Contact: Leslie Hardiman, Principal 
Phone Number: (619) 390-2670 
Date of Agreement: 10/3/2021 
 
Organization: Our Lady of Perpetual Help Catholic Church 
Address: 13208 Lakeshore Dr, Lakeside, CA 92040 
Contact: Father Ron Buchmiller 
Phone Number: (619) 443-1412 
Date of Agreement: 10/3/2021 
In the event of an airborne chemical or biological release, it is safest for students and staff to remain indoors at the school site. 
 
Follow the "Shelter-in-Place" procedures. 
 
C. Staff Training 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 28 of 50 9/30/24 
 

 
(I) School Discipline Rules and Consequences (EC 35291 and EC 35291.5) 
 
Lakeview Elementary School Student Conduct Code 
A. Statement of Rules and Procedures on School Discipline 
 
Education Code 44807: 
 
"Every teacher in the public schools shall hold Pupils to a strict account for their conduct on the way to and from school, on the 
playgrounds, or during recess. A teacher, vice principal, principal, or any other certificated employee of a school district, shall not be 
subject to criminal prosecution or criminal penalties for the exercise, during the performance of his duties, of the same degree of 
physical control over a pupil that a parent would be legally privileged to exercise but which in no event shall exceed the amount of 
physical control reasonably necessary to maintain order, protect property, or protect the health and safety of pupils, or to maintain 
proper and appropriate conditions conducive to learning." 
 
B. Notification to Students and Parents 
 
Education Code 35291: 
Parents and students shall be notified of the District and school site rules pertaining to student discipline at the beginning of the first 
semester, and at the time of enrollment for students who enroll thereafter. 
The discipline policy shall be reviewed annually with input from the Discipline Team, site administrators, campus security, staff, 
students, and parents. 
 
C. Staff Training 
Lakeside Farms Elementary School will review Safety Plans and Procedures with all staff in August 2022, Feb 2023, Mar 2023. 
Option-Based Safety Planning was provided in 2022. Tenets from training will be reviewed annually. REMS training was provided 
Adminstrative Staff on Dec. 2021. School Site Council was debriefed on REMS Training on Jan 2022. 
D. School Discipline Chart and/or Selected Disciplinary Policies and Procedures. 
(INSERT LOW LEVEL REFERRAL CHART) 
 
 
Conduct Code Procedures 
A. Statement of Rules and Procedures on School Discipline 
 
Education Code 44807: 
 
"Every teacher in the public schools shall hold Pupils to a strict account for their conduct on the way to and from school, on the 
playgrounds, or during recess. A teacher, vice principal, principal, or any other certificated employee of a school district, shall not be 
subject to criminal prosecution or criminal penalties for the exercise, during the performance of his duties, of the same degree of 
physical control over a pupil that a parent would be legally privileged to exercise but which in no event shall exceed the amount of 
physical control reasonably necessary to maintain order, protect property, or protect the health and safety of pupils, or to maintain 
proper and appropriate conditions conducive to learning." 
 
B. Notification to Students and Parents 
 
Education Code 35291: 
 Parents and students shall be notified of the District and school site rules pertaining to student discipline at the beginning of the 
first semester, and at the time of enrollment for students who enroll thereafter. 
 The discipline policy shall be reviewed annually with input from the Discipline Team, site administrators, campus security, staff, 
students, and parents. 
 
C. Staff Training: 

• August return: PBIS review (including morning meeting); the "First 20 Days". Septmber: staff meeting review of majors 
and minors. 

D. School Discipline Chart and/or Selected Disciplinary Policies and Procedures: 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 29 of 50 9/30/24 
 

• Conflict Resolution, think sheets, alternative settings, time outs, loss of privileges, suspensions (last resort) sticker 
charts/positive rewards, self-&-match, CICO, counseling. 

 
 
(J) Procedures to Prepare for Active Shooters 
The campus intruder is defined as a non-student or a student on suspension who loiters or creates disturbances on school property. 
Intruders are committing the crime of Criminal Trespass. Dangerous and/or concealed weapons are forbidden on school premises 
unless carried by law enforcement officers. 
 
Low Level: 
Have the person(s) under suspicion kept under constant covert surveillance. 
Approach and greet the intruder in a polite and non-threatening manner. 
Identify yourself as a school official. 
Ask the intruder for identification. 
Ask them what their purpose is for being on campus. 
Advise intruder of the trespass laws. 
Ask the intruder to quietly leave the campus or invite him/her to accompany you to the office. 
If the intruder refuses to respond to your requests, inform him/her of your intention to summon law enforcement officers. 
If the intruder gives no indication of voluntarily leaving the premises, notify Police and Administration. 
 
Staff and students should sit quietly if the situation is in their presence. TRY to remain calm. Staff should set the example if the 
armed intruder is in their presence by doing anything possible for the staff member and students to survive. If gun fire starts, staff 
and students should seek cover or begin rapid movement procedures. 
 
Do not engage in a conversation or try to persuade the intruder to leave your classroom or school. Remember, you are in an illogical 
situation, so any logical argument may go unheard. The intruder is probably aware of the potential danger that he/she would be 
facing if he/she left the classroom. The intruder may perceive himself/herself as being sane. 
If the intruder speaks to you or to your students, then answer him or her. Do not provoke him or her. Don't try to take matters into 
your own hands. Students should be told not to whisper to one-another, laugh, or to make fun of the intruder. Remember, the 
intruder is disturbed and probably mentally ill, and more than likely paranoid. Any whispering or laughter may be perceived by the 
intruder as directed at him or her. 
Students should be taught to respond on their own when threatened. Incidents can occur which leave no time for signals. If students 
are outside unable to find access a room, they should, depending on the situation, initiate Action "TAKE COVER" position or run in a 
zig-zag fashion to the staging areas and STAY CALM. 
If and when possible, call Administration and/or 9-1-1. 
 
An Active shooter/Lockdown Alert is sounded if there is a sniper, armed intruder or active shooter on campus. Staff members have a 
very limited amount of time in which to commit to a course of action. Immediately assess both the situation and the surrounding 
environment and responds to the situation based upon the Active shooter Training and drills. This is also true for your students who 
may need to become resources for substitutes or who are alone when an event occurs. 
Remember, the Active shooter response is a partnership with local law enforcement. 
 
Immediate actions should include: 
Students and staff go into classrooms/buildings or run to off-site evacuation areas. 
LOCKDOWN includes building door barricades, internal barricades, covering windows and turning off/dimming lights. 
Notify administration 
Call 9-1-1 if you know the location of the shooter, the description or identity of the shooter or if you need medical direction for a 
victim. 
Administration notifies the Superintendent 
 
Intermediate activities: 
Place a red card under the door/in a window if you have a serious injury in the classroom. Take roll 
Conduct anxiety-reducing activities 
 
Evacuation: 
Prepare students and yourself for a quick evacuation Follow directions of law enforcement when they arrive 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 30 of 50 9/30/24 
 

 
 
Procedures for Preventing Acts of Bullying and Cyber-bullying 
Positive pupil interpersonal relations are fostered by teaching social-personal skills, encouraging pupils to feel comfortable assisting 
others to get help when needed and teaching pupils alternative, socially appropriate replacement responses to violence, including, 
but not limited to problem solving and anger control skills. When appropriate, staff members shall make referrals to recognized 
community agencies and/or counseling and mental health resources in the community to assist parents/students with issues 
prevention and intervention. The school uses a variety of methods to communicate to pupils, parents, and the greater community 
that all children are valued and respected. 
 
Lakeview has daily morning meetings.  Part of our PBIS plan’s “First 20 Days” involves discussions about bullying.   We also have 
lanyards (“caught you being good”) rewards systems to encourage expected behaviors.  Our counselor does class lessons (and also 
small group lessons) on preventing and bullying and dealing with bullying.  We have two Wellness Together counselors on site, who 
see “high-risk” students individually, as well as whole-class lessons.  Lastly, every staff member is committed to our positive behavior 
system, wherein we encourage expected behaviors and deal with bullying “in the moment” (conflict resolution). 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 31 of 50 9/30/24 
 

 
Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures 
 
The safety plan is reviewed every September and presented to the SSC, the LTA rep, a classified rep, and a parent.  Changes include 
updating the "buddy list" and "operations teams" ... and giving updated copies to each teacher (to place into their red folder).  Every 
other January, the "Hide, Run, Fight" training is to be given to the staff.  Fire drills, earthquake drills, and lockdown drills are 
practiced throughout the year (once per month, one type each month). 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 32 of 50 9/30/24 
 

 
Safety Plan Appendices 
 
  



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 33 of 50 9/30/24 
 

 
Emergency Contact Numbers 
 
Utilities, Responders and Communication Resources 
 

Type Vendor Number Comments 

Law 
Enforcement/Fire/Paramed
ic 

Sheriff 619-938-1360  

Law 
Enforcement/Fire/Paramed
ic 

Fire Dept 619-390-2350  

 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 34 of 50 9/30/24 
 

 
Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures 
 

Activity Description 
(i.e. review steps, meetings conducted, approvals, etc) Date and Time Attached Document 

(description and location) 
Entire plan updated by principal. September 2024  

Updated "Buddy Lists" and "Operation Teams" given to 
teachers. 

September 2024  

Safety Plan presented to SSC, LTA rep, CTA rep, and parent 
rep. 

September 2024  

 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 35 of 50 9/30/24 
 

 
Lakeview Elementary School Incident Command System 
 

--------     Incident Commander     

--------     --------     

--------           

--------   Safety Officer   Public Information Officer   

--------   --------   --------   

--------           

--------   Scribe       

--------   --------       

--------           

--------           

Operations ------- Planning/ 
Intelligence  Logistics  Finance/Administration 

Tiger Rowan-------- ------- Kelsey Thomas--------  

Sharon Armstrong 
Tonja Anderson 
Rosella Gonzalez 

Micki King 
-------- 

 n/a-------- 

--------           

--------           

--------  First Aid & Search 
Teacher A        

--------  Beth Woodill / Maria Wynns---
-----        

--------           

--------  
Student Release & 

Accountability 
TeacherB 

       

--------  Jackie Siragusa--------        
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 36 of 50 9/30/24 
 

 
Incident Command Team Responsibilities 
 
Standardized Emergency Response Management System Overview 
The California Standardized Emergency Management System (SEMS) is designed to centralize and coordinate emergency response 
through the use of standardized terminology and processes. This greatly facilitates the flow of information and resources among the 
agencies participating in response to an emergency. SEMS consists of five functions: 
 
 
Management 
During an emergency, the Incident Commander directs response actions from a designated Command Post. To effectively do this, 
the Incident Commander must constantly assess the situation, and develop and implement appropriate strategies. The Incident 
Commander must be familiar with the available resources, accurately document all response actions, and effectively communicate 
response strategies to others participating in the response. This function is typically filled by the school principal. The principal is 
assisted in carrying out this function by a Public Information & Liaison Officer and Safety Officer. 
 
Planning & Intelligence 
Planning and Intelligence involves the use of various methods to efficiently gather information, weigh and document the information 
for significance, and actively assess the status of the emergency. This understanding and knowledge about the situation at hand is 
vital to the effective management of a response. These activities are performed by a single person who reports directly to the 
Incident Commander. 
 
Operations 
All response actions are implemented under by Operations. This includes staff performing first aid, crisis intervention, search and 
rescue, site security, damage assessment, evacuations, and the release of students. 
 
Logistics 
Logistics supports the response by coordinating personnel; assembling and deploying volunteers; providing supplies, equipment, and 
services; and facilitating communications among emergency responders. 
 
Finance & Administration 
Finance & Administration involves the purchasing of all necessary materials, tracking financial records, timekeeping for emergency 
responders, and recovering school records following an emergency. These activities are performed by a single person who reports 
directly to the Incident Commander. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 37 of 50 9/30/24 
 

 
Emergency Response Guidelines 
 
Step One: Identify the Type of Emergency 
 
 
 
Step Two: Identify the Level of Emergency 
 
 
 
Step Three: Determine the Immediate Response Action 
 
 
 
Step Four: Communicate the Appropriate Response Action 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 38 of 50 9/30/24 
 

 
Types of Emergencies & Specific Procedures 
 
Armed Assault on Campus 
Lockdown: Active Shooter 
An Active shooter/Lockdown Alert is sounded if there is a sniper, armed intruder or active shooter on campus. Staff members have a 
very limited amount of time in which to commit to a course of action. Immediately assess both the situation and the surrounding 
environment and responds to the situation based upon the Active shooter Training and drills. This is also true for your students who 
may need to become resources for substitutes or who are alone when an event occurs. 
 
Remember, the Active shooter response is a partnership with local law enforcement. 
 
Immediate actions should include: 
 
Students and staff go into classrooms/buildings or run to off-site evacuation areas. 
LOCKDOWN includes building door barricades, internal barricades, covering windows and turning off/dimming lights. 
Notify administration 
Call 9-1-1 if you know the location of the shooter, the description or identity of the shooter or if you need medical direction for a 
victim. 
Administration notifies the Superintendent 
 
Intermediate activities: 
 
Place a red card under the door/in a window if you have a serious injury in the classroom. 
Take roll 
Conduct anxiety-reducing activities 
 
Evacuation: 
 
Prepare students and yourself for a quick evacuation 
Follow directions of law enforcement when they arrive 
 
 
Biological or Chemical Release 
Poisoning, Chemical Spills, Hazardous Materials  
POISONING: 
 
If a student ingests a poisonous substance: 
 
Call Poison Control Center Link Line 1-800-222-1222. Take appropriate first aid measures. Call parents. 
Notify the Health Services Office. 
 
Following any emergency, notify the District Superintendents' Office 
 
CHEMICAL SPILL ON SITE: 
 
The following are guidelines for Chemical Spills: 
 
Evacuate the immediate area of personnel 
Determine whether to initiate Shelter In Place Protocol 
Secure the area (block points of entry) 
Identify the chemical and follow the procedures for that particular chemical. Notify the District Office. 
 
CHEMICAL SPILL OFF SITE INVOLVING DISTRICT EQUIPMENT/PROPERTY 
 
 Notify the Todd Owens with the following information: 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 39 of 50 9/30/24 
 

• Date, time, and exact location of the release or threatened release 
• Name and telephone number of person reporting 
• Type of chemical involved and the estimated quantity 
• Description of potential hazards presented by the spill 
• Document time and date notification made 
• Other emergency personnel responding (Highway Patrol, CALTRANS, etc.) 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 40 of 50 9/30/24 
 

Locate a fire extinguisher and have present, should the need arise 
Place reflective triangles or traffic cones if in street or highway. DO NOT LIGHT FLARES! 
If spill response equipment is available use it to take the necessary measures to prevent the spill from spreading. 
 
Reporting Chemical Spills 
 
Once an emergency spill response has been completed, the person reporting the initial spill must complete a SPILL RESPONSE 
EVALUATION. The incident must be reported to the Superintendent WITHIN 24 HOURS OF THE SPILL. 
 
Spill Clean Up 
 
Chemical Spills may not be cleaned up by school personnel. Call the District Office at [Insert District Office Contact Name] and [Insert 
District Office Phone Number]. The cleanup will be coordinated through a designated contractor. 
 
HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES 
 
Hazardous Substances include the following, but is not limited to the following: 
 
Gasoline 
Solvents 
Motor Oil 
Diesel Fuel 
Kerosene 
Anti-Freeze 
Airborne Gases/Fumes 
Lacquer Thinner 
Paint 
Agricultural Spray 
Paint Thinner 
Stain 
Brake Fluid 
 
Always call for assistance and: 
 
Extinguish all ignition sources 
Shut off main emergency switch to fuel pump, if appropriate 
Move appropriate fire extinguishing equipment to area 
If possible, contain the spill to prevent further contamination 
Move people/personnel away or evacuate from contamination area 
 
If the spill is too great to handle, contact the District Office Todd Owens and (619) 390-2800 . 
 
Staff and students will evacuate the area immediately, if appropriate. Move uphill, upwind, upstream if possible. 
 
VEHICLE FUEL SPILL 
 
When a spill has occurred, the first thing to do is to keep the situation from worsening. Follow these steps: 
 
Shut off emergency switch 
Avoid skin contact 
Isolate the spill from people and vehicles by blocking all points of entry 
Stop and evaluate any hazards 
Prevent discharge into storm drains. Divert the flow by sealing off areas with absorbents. Prevent runoff. Use absorbent "socks" or 
"booms" to contain the spill 
Identify the source, estimated quantity spilled and stop further release(s) - IF IT CAN BE DONE 
SAFELY 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 41 of 50 9/30/24 
 

Take care of any injured Notify the District Office. 
If the spill is unmanageable, contact the Fire Department by calling 9-1-1 
 
If, after attempted containment, the release still poses either a present or a potential threat, notify the California Office of 
Emergency Services and local emergency assistance organizations (fire, police, etc.). Give the following information: 
 
Date, time, and exact location of the release 
Name and telephone number of persons reporting the release 
The type of fuel spilled and the estimated quantity 
Description of potential hazards presented by the fuel spill 
Document the time and date notification was made and the information provided 
A written report to the appropriate office of the California Department of Health Services is required within 15 days after the 
incident. Contact the District for assistance with this report. 
 
Bio Terrorism 
Anthrax Threat 
 
How to identify suspicious letters or packages 
 
Some characteristics of suspicious letters or packages include the following: 
 
Excessive postage 
Handwritten or poorly typed addresses 
Incorrect titles 
Title, but no name 
Misspellings of common words 
Oily stains, discolorations or odors 
No return address 
Excessive weight 
Lopsided or uneven envelop 
Protruding wires or aluminum foil 
Excessive security material such as masking tape, string, etc. 
Visual distractions 
Ticking sound 
Marked with restrictive endorsements, such as "Personal" or "Confidential." Shows a city or state in the postmark that does not 
match the return address. 
 
Suspicious unopened letter or package marked with threatening message such as "Anthrax" 
 
Do not shake or empty the contents of any suspicious envelop or package. 
Place the envelope or package in a plastic bag or some other type of container to prevent leakage of contents. 
If you do not have any container, then cover the envelope or package with anything (e.g., clothing, paper, trash can, etc.) and do not 
remove this cover. 
Then leave the room and close the door, or section off the area to prevent others from entering. 
Wash your hands with soap and water to prevent spreading any powder to your face. 
If you are at home, report the incident to the local police. If you are at work, report the incident to the local police and your site 
administrator. 
List all people who were in the room or area when this suspicious letter or package was recognized. Give the list to both the local 
public health authorities and law enforcement officials for follow-up investigations and advice. 
 
Envelope with powder or powder spills out onto a surface 
 
Do not try to clean up the powder. Cover the spilled contents immediately with anything and do not remove this cover. 
Leave the room and close the door or section off the area to prevent others from entering. 
Wash your hands with soap and water to prevent spreading any powder to your face. 
If you are at home, CALL 9-1-1 to report the incident. If you are at work, CALL 9-1-1 and your site administrator to report the 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 42 of 50 9/30/24 
 

incident. 
Remove heavily contaminated clothing as soon as possible and place in a plastic bag, or some other container that can be sealed. 
The clothing bag should be given to the emergency responders for proper disposal. 
Shower with soap and water as soon as possible. Do not use bleach or other disinfectant on your skin. If possible, list all people who 
were in the room or area, especially those who had actual contact with the powder. Give the list to both the local police and public 
health authorities so that proper instructions can be given for medical follow-up and further investigation. 
 
Possible room contamination by aerosol 
 
(Examples: small devices triggered warning that air handling systems is contaminated, or warning that a biological agent is released 
in a public space.) 
 
Turn off local fans or ventilation units in the area. 
Leave the area immediately. 
Close the door or section off the area to prevent others from entering. 
Move upwind, uphill, upstream. 
If you are at home, report the incident to the local police. If you are at work, report the incident to the local police and your site 
administrator. 
Shut down air handling systems in the building if possible. 
If possible, list all people who were in the room or area, especially those who had actual contact with the powder. Give the list to 
both the local police and public health authorities so that proper instructions can be given for medical follow-up and further 
investigation. 
 
DO NOT PANIC 
 
Anthrax organisms can cause infection in the skin, gastrointestinal system, or the lungs. In order for this to happen, the organism 
must be rubbed into abraded skin, swallowed, or inhaled as a fine, aerosolized mist. Disease can be prevented after exposure to the 
anthrax spores by early treatment with the appropriate antibiotics. Anthrax is not spread from one person to another person. 
 
For anthrax to be effective as a covert agent, it must be aerosolized into very small particles. This is difficult to do and requires a 
great deal of technical skill and special equipment. If these small particles are inhaled, life threatening lung infection can occur, but 
prompt recognition and treatment are effective. 
 
Botulism 
 
Botulism infection is extremely rare, with fewer than 200 cases reported in the U.S. each year. There are two forms of botulism 
which are associated with a terrorist act: 
 
Food Borne Botulism 
 
The bacterium is ingested with the contaminated food source. 
 
Symptoms begin within 6 hours to 2 weeks, but most commonly between 12 to 36 hours after eating contaminated foods. 
 
Double or blurred vision, drooping eyelids, slurred speck, difficulty swallowing, dry mouth, and a descending muscle weakness that 
affects the shoulders first, then upper arms, lower arms, thighs, calves, etc. 
 
These symptoms may be proceeded by gastrointestinal disorder such as abdominal cramps, nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea. 
Paralysis of the respiratory muscles will cause death unless the person is assisted by mechanical ventilation. Botulism toxin can occur 
naturally in undercooked food, but the frequency of this is extremely rare. 
 
Inhalational Botulism 
 
Inhalation botulism results from the inhalation of the aerosolized toxin. A small amount of aerosolized toxin released into the wind 
can have a devastating effect on the surrounding population. Notwithstanding, inhalational botulism could be inflicted upon a more 
limited number of victims by introducing a contaminated object into an enclosed area such as inside of a building. The symptoms are 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 43 of 50 9/30/24 
 

indistinguishable from those of food borne botulism, except that the gastrointestinal signs sometimes associated with food borne 
botulism may not occur. 
 
Botulism cannot be transmitted from one person to another. There is no vaccine for botulism treatment at this time. However, 
treatment consists of passive immunization with equine anti-toxins and supportive patient care. 
 
Smallpox 
 
Smallpox infection results from the variola virus. The disease was once worldwide in scope. Before people were vaccinated, almost 
everyone contracted the disease. The virus was effectively eradicated from the world in the late 1970's, and the World Health 
Organization recommended governments cease routine vaccinations in 1980. 
 
Vaccination has proven effective in preventing the disease in exposed persons if administered within 4 days of exposure. 
 
Smallpox is a highly contagious infectious disease that has a mortality rate of about 30%. Since the 
discontinuation of vaccination in the early 1980's, virtually no one is protected against the disease today. The U.S. government is 
currently working to address the need for vaccinations. There is no proven treatment should infection occur.  
 
Immunization and Mass Prophylaxis Pandemic and Bio Terrorism 
This Bio-Terrorism Support Plan (Plan) provides basic steps to guide designated Lakeside Union School District County Public Health 
Department, City of Lakeside and Health Services school district officials in establishing middle and high schools as immunization 
centers (mass prophylaxis centers) contingent upon a Memorandum of Understanding being signed. 
 
This Plan is a living document subject to periodic revisions when needed. 
 
In the event of a bio-terrorism outbreak and based upon the Metropolitan Medical Response Plan, local officials will have 
determined which areas within the city to be quarantined, hot and cold zones. A quarantined area is defined as a specified area 
where isolation is enforced. A hot zone is defined as a contaminated area. A cold zone is an unaffected area. 
 
Once the situation has been assessed and Public Health identifies the need to open an immunization center (mass prophylaxis 
center), then Public Health will contact the city. Subsequently, the City will contact the school district emergency contact to begin 
the process of coordinating the opening of an immunization center (mass prophylaxis center). 
 
Preparedness Steps 
 
The following provides guidelines for school district management in preparing, in advance, issues that need to be addressed during 
non-emergency times to ensure school district and school site readiness. 
Statement of Agreement signed by San Diego County Public Health Department, City and school district 
Examine the Public Health Department's Liability Coverage for using school district sites as mass prophylaxis centers. 
Establish that the City will provide security for the school district site 
Define how long the Immunization center (mass prophylaxis center) can be open and what type of furnishings are needed for the 
center. 
Ensure a manager is provided by the Public Health Department to oversee center operations Identify the need to train site personnel 
in administering inoculations and agree upon how these 
individuals will be compensated for their time by the Public Health Department Establish who will be responsible for clean up 
 
Public Health Department contacts City OES who then initiates contact with appropriate School district authorized contact (see 
emergency contact list for school district) 
 
1) Superintendent's Office: Rachel Camarero  
 
2) School District Security: Kristine Rosado  
 
3) Custodial Services or Facilities: Kristine Rosado  
 
The City OES informs Police Department that authorization has been given to open the appropriate site(s). Only gymnasiums will be 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 44 of 50 9/30/24 
 

utilized. The school district official then follows the guidelines shown below: 
 
Authorized school official contact will inform Superintendent or designee of the opening of the school site(s) as an immunization 
center (mass prophylaxis center). 
If school is not in session or if mass prophylaxis center opening occurs after hours, school site personnel or authorized City Police 
Department will be present to actually unlock the site for Public Health Department 
Establish that the City will provide security for the school district site 
Contact principal of the school site being converted into an immunization center (mass prophylaxis center) 
Prior to turning school site over to the Public Health Department as a mass prophylaxis center, school site personnel will: 

• Perform a site check to record current condition of the area to be used as an immunization center (mass prophylaxis 
center) 

• Inventory usable materials within the center's designated area (see Site Inventory form in this section), i.e. toilet tissues, 
paper towels, soap 

• Ensure all other areas of the school site are not accessible to mass prophylaxis center personnel or public 
SCHOOL DISTRICT site personnel will unlock the school site upon arrival of Public Health Department and their staff 
 
Closing the Center 
 
Upon closing of the center, the Public Health Department ensures the site is secure and center manager has tracked school supplies 
and materials used. 
 
School site personnel compares supplies and materials used, physical property loss and damages 
Both Public Health Department City and school site personnel inspect shelter site for -Material and supplies used 

• Property loss 
• Property damage 

When inspection is completed, school site personnel gives Business Services Department a report of materials used and property 
damaged/loss (photograph) 
Business Services 

• Gives property loss/damage to Risk Management to determine cost of property loss and repair costs 
• Formalizes letter Public Health Department to file a claim covering loss and material usage 

 
 
 
Bomb Threat/ Threat Of violence 
Bomb Threat 
THE PERSON RECEIVING THE BOMB THREAT WILL:  
 
Attempt to gain as much information as possible when the threat is received. Do not hang up on the caller. 
Use the "bomb threat checklist" form (attached) as a guide to collect the information needed. Don't be bashful about asking direct, 
specific questions about the threat. Keep the caller on the phone as long as possible. If the threat is received by phone, attempt to 
gain more information. 
The most important information is: 
When will the bomb explode and where is the bomb located? 
Immediately after receiving the bomb threat, the person receiving the call will verbally notify the building administrator of the threat 
received. Complete the "bomb threat checklist" form (attached). Turn off cellular phones and/or walkie-talkie radios (transmits radio 
waves--could trigger a bomb). 
 
BUILDING ADMINISTRATOR WILL (IF NECESSARY): 
 
 Call 9-1-1. Give the following information: 

• Your name -Your call-back phone number 
• Exact street location with the nearest cross street 
• Nature of incident 
• Number and location of people involved and/or injured Notify Superintendent's Office. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 45 of 50 9/30/24 
 

Evacuate involved buildings using fire drill procedures. Principal must have Superintendent's permission to evacuate the entire site. 
Implement a systematic inspection of the facilities to determine if everyone is out. 
Fire Department or Police Officers shall organize a search team to check for suspicious objects; a bomb can be disguised to look like 
any common object. Site employees should be ready to assist as needed. 
Maintain an open telephone line for communications. 
Secure all exits to prevent re-entry to buildings during the search period. 
Be certain people stay clear of all buildings; a bomb(s) may be planted against an outside wall. The blast will be directed in large part 
away from the building. Re-occupy buildings only when proper authorities give clearance 
 
 
 
Earthquake 
B. Earthquake: Drop, Cover, and Hold 
Earthquake procedures in the classroom or office 
 
At the first indication of ground movement, you should DROP to the ground. It will soon be impossible to stand upright during the 
earthquake. Getting to the ground will prevent being thrown to the ground. 
 
You should seek protective COVER under or near desks, tables, or chairs in a kneeling or sitting position. 
 
You should HOLD onto the table or chair legs. Holding onto the legs will prevent it from moving away from you during the quake. 
Protect your eyes from flying glass and debris with your arm covering your eyes. 
 
You should remain in the DROP position until ground movement ends. Be prepared to DROP, COVER and HOLD during aftershocks. 
 
After ground movement ends, check for injuries and safely evacuate the building. Move to a safe, open area, away from power lines 
and other overhead hazards. 
 
Earthquake procedures in other parts of the building 
 
At the first indication of ground movement, you should DROP to the ground. 
 
Take COVER under any available desk, table, or bench. If in a hallway, drop next to an inside wall in a kneeling position and cover the 
back of the neck with your hands. 
 
After ground movement ends, check for injuries and safely evacuate the building. Move to a safe, open area, away from power lines 
and other overhead hazards. 
 
Earthquake procedures while outside 
 
At the first indication of ground movement, move away from overhead hazards such as power lines, trees, and buildings. DROP to 
the ground and COVER the back of the neck with your hands. Be aware of aftershocks. Do not enter buildings until it is determined 
safe to do so. 
 
If walking to or from school, DO NOT RUN. Stay in the open. If the student is going to school, continue to the school. If going home, 
the student should continue to home. 
 
While in a vehicle or school bus, pull over to the side of the road and stop. If on a bridge, overpass, or under power lines, continue 
on until the vehicle is away from the overhead dangers. Wait until the ground movement stops and check for injuries. Be aware of 
aftershocks, downed wires, or roads blocked by debris. The Bus Driver is legally responsible for the welfare of student riders. 
 
 
Fire in Surrounding Area 
Fire Near School 
 
The Principal or designee shall: 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 46 of 50 9/30/24 
 

 
Determine the need to execute an evacuation if nearby fire poses an immediate threat to the students or the building. 
Notify the Fire Department by calling 911. 
Notify the Superintendent's office. 
Notify students and staff when it is safe to return to the school site under the direction of the Fire Department and in consultation 
with the Superintendent or designee. 
 
 
 
Fire on School Grounds 
Fire 
All classrooms and offices shall have an Emergency Exit sign and Evacuation Chart posted in a prominent location. 
 
Fire Within A School Building:  
 
In the event that a fire is detected within a school building, use the following procedures: 
 
 The Principal or Designee will: 

• Order an evacuation if the fire alarm doesn't work 
• Call 9-1-1 
• Notify the superintendent 

Teachers will supervise the evacuation of the classrooms to the designated areas according to the Emergency Exit Plan posted in 
every classroom and office. 
Teachers will close doors upon evacuating. 
Teachers will take their roll books to the evacuation site and take roll. Teachers will report any missing student(s) to their Team 
Supervisor/Administrator. 
The Head Custodian or designees shall assist by shutting off gas valves, electricity, etc., or other if necessary for evacuating, putting 
out the fire, etc. 
The Head Custodian or designee shall open necessary gates for fire truck and other emergency vehicle access when appropriate. The 
Head Custodian or designee will also keep access entrances open for emergency vehicles. 
 Notify students and staff when it is safe to return to the school site under the direction of the Fire Department and in consultation 
with the Superintendent or designee. 
 
 
Loss or Failure Of Utilities 
Power Outage/Rolling Blackouts 
IT IS THE DISTRICT'S INTENT THAT SCHOOLS WILL REMAIN OPEN DURING A POWER OUTAGE. 
 
There are several stages of alerts that are being broadcast over the radio: 
 
STAGE 1 EMERGENCY indicates that the operating reserves in the real time market are forecasted to be less than the California 
Independent System Operator (CAISO) Minimum Operating Reserves criteria. 
STAGE 2 EMERGENCY indicates that the operating reserves in the real time market are forecasted to be less than five (5) percent. 
STAGE 3 EMERGENCY indicates that the operating reserves in the real time market are forecasted to be less than 1.5 percent. 
 
If the district is notified of a STAGE 3 EMERGENCY, possible-affected sites will be contacted as soon as practicable. Once notified, 
turn off PCs, monitors, printers, copiers, and lights when not in use or not needed. If you cannot turn off the whole computer, turn 
off the monitor and the printer. Shut off lights in unoccupied rooms. In spite of everyone's best effort to communicate, it is possible 
that an outage will occur with no notice to the district. To keep abreast of the daily situation, listen to 740AM (KCBS) radio station as 
you are driving into work for the status of the day. 
 
PREPARING FOR AN OUTAGE 
 
Update each student's emergency card. 
Determine availability of portable lighting at site, i.e. flashlights & batteries. 
Find out that when power is lost, do emergency lights go on and do the "Exit" signs remain lit? 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 47 of 50 9/30/24 
 

Clear away materials and boxes from hallways and pathways. 
Check school district's PG&E Block list to determine in which PG&E block your site is located. As a note, Block 50's power will not be 
interrupted. 
Ask your teachers to have alternative teaching methods and plans to be used at STAGE 3 only. Conduct a survey of your site for the 
classrooms and offices with no windows and prepare relocation plans. 
Plan alternative communication methods that suit your site, such as runners, cell phones, or radios. Develop a site plan such as a 
buddy system or chaperone, for restrooms or any other necessary leave during this period. 
Have flashlights & replacement batteries available for the restrooms and other locations with no windows. 
Ask your staff and students to have seasonal warm clothing available. 
Use surge protectors for all computer equipment, major appliances and electronic devices. If you have electric smoke detectors, use 
a battery-powered smoke detector as a backup. 
 
DURING AN OUTAGE 
 
CONTACT MAINTENANCE & OPERTIONS IMMEDIATELY IF YOUR SITE IS EXPERIENCING A BLACKOUT. 
According to SBC (Telephone Company), phones connected directly to a phone jack will be operable. 
Phones that require power from an electrical outlet will not work. 
If an outage lasts more than 30 minutes, have pre-designated people walk through the campus and check on the status of 
individuals in each building. 
Use a buddy system when going to the restrooms. 
DO NOT USE barbecues, Coleman-type stoves, hibachis and other outdoor-cooking devices indoors. 
DO NOT USE candles or gas lanterns. 
Turn off PCs, monitors, printers, copiers, major appliances and lights when not in use or not needed. If you cannot turn off the whole 
computer, turn off the monitor and the printer. Shut off lights in unoccupied rooms. 
 
The rolling outages should not last more than two hours, and, with some preparation, business can be conducted as close to normal 
as possible. 
 
If a power outage is prolonged, the principal should contact the Superintendent for directions (release students/staff, evacuation to 
another site, etc.). 
 
 
 
Psychological Trauma 
It is critical to provide a mental health response for students, staff and parents after a crisis that has impacted a school. Often, this 
can be provided by district or local community resources. 
 
Victims of a crisis experience a real need to return to normal, but normal as they once knew it is forever gone and changed. 
Counselors and crisis survivors find the concept of a "new normal" to be very reassuring and accurate. 
 
One of the most important actions is simply to listen and allow victims to express his/her own needs and feelings. Encouragement 
and support, while avoiding judgmental remarks, is the goal. 
 
When the needs of the victims exceed the immediate resources available to the school, San Diego County Mental Health and the 
agencies working under its umbrella is available to support schools. 
 
Numerous agencies under the San Diego County Mental Health Department umbrella currently provide ongoing mental health 
services to students and families both at schools and within the neighborhood communities. These services are provided by licensed 
therapists, social workers or supervised interns. The services typically involve a one-on-one or family-oriented approach requiring a 
different skill set than an emergency mental health response to a community or school crisis. 
 
JOINT PROTOCOLS: 
 
To best prepare for and manage the mental health recovery phase within the San Diego  County though Memorandums of 
Understanding with agencies who would provide crisis responses. The M.O.U. would include the followings: 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 48 of 50 9/30/24 
 

Schools and/or school districts require, as part of their Memorandums of Understanding with agencies and/or universities, all 
interns, therapists and mental health workers complete a crisis response training with the San Diego  County Mental Health 
Department before reporting to their assigned campuses.   In the event of a major crisis at a school site, or multiple school sites, the 
school district will determine if additional mental health support is required or anticipated. The District or School Logistics Officer or 
designee can notify the Ethnic Population Services Specialist at the San Diego  County Mental Health Department. A licensed mental 
health representative will immediately be sent to the incident location to conduct an initial assessment and make recommendations 
to the school/district and Mental Health Department and its partnering agencies as to the requirements for a responding mental 
health team(s). 
The lead supervisor will work in concert with the school/district representative to help identify appropriate teams/agencies that can 
best address the needs of students, staff and families. 
The lead supervisor will work in concert with the school/district representative to ensure that teams have the correct credentials, 
provide appropriate triage services that do not compromise police/fire investigations and are rotated to avoid fatigue. 
In police, fire or district debriefings with school staff, parents and impacted students, a representative from the San Diego  County 
Mental Health Department or one of the partnering agencies will be in attendance in order to make referrals for support services as 
required by the attendees. 
In keeping with research on the predictable response to crisis situations, call center numbers will be provided in order that members 
of the community can access necessary support in the days, weeks and months beyond the event. 
 
 
Tactical Responses to Criminal Incidents 
Shelter-In-Place 
Shelter in Place may be directed should there be a danger in the community that could present a danger to the school community or 
a situation at the school that could harm students or staff if they are outdoors. Incidents could include gas leaks, chemical spills, 
mountain lions or a predator in the neighborhood. 
 
When instructed or when an alerting system triggers a Shelter in Place:  
 
 SHELTER. Go inside the nearest building or classroom and remain there. Lock the door. You are looking for enclosed protection from 
the outside. Teachers should quickly check halls and get students into classrooms. Teachers will keep all students in the classroom 
until the emergency is resolved or directed to evacuate by the Principal and/or Public Safety Responders. 
SHUT. Close all doors and windows. The tighter and more complete the seal the better. Close as many windows and doors between 
the outside and your shelter-in-place room as possible. 
LISTEN. Remain quiet to hear critical instructions from school officials. 

• If there is no direction, continue instructional/work activities until the situation resolves or you directed to do otherwise. 
 
ADDITIONAL STEPS FOR TEACHERS AND STAFF IF APPROPRIATE: 
 
Advise students to cover mouth and nose with a damp cloth or handkerchief to protect from any airborne hazards. 
A school official (or student if no official present) should close all vents and turn off ventilation systems. The goal is to keep inside air 
in and outside air out. Air conditioners and heating systems bring outside air in. 
Turn off all motors and fans. Still, non-moving air is best. Turn off anything that creates wind, generates extra heat, or could 
generate sparks. 
Advise students to remain sheltered until the "all-clear" signal is given by a school or local official. 
 
Intruder on Campus 
The campus intruder is defined as a non-student or a student on suspension who loiters or creates disturbances on school property. 
Intruders are committing the crime of Criminal Trespass. Dangerous and/or concealed weapons are forbidden on school premises 
unless carried by law enforcement officers. 
 
Low Level: 
Have the person(s) under suspicion kept under constant covert surveillance. 
Approach and greet the intruder in a polite and non-threatening manner. 
Identify yourself as a school official. 
Ask the intruder for identification. 
Ask them what their purpose is for being on campus. 
Advise intruder of the trespass laws. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 49 of 50 9/30/24 
 

Ask the intruder to quietly leave the campus or invite him/her to accompany you to the office. If the intruder refuses to respond to 
your requests, inform him/her of your intention to summon law enforcement officers. 
If the intruder gives no indication of voluntarily leaving the premises, notify Police and Administration.  
H. Hostage Situation 
Staff and students should sit quietly if the situation is in their presence. TRY to remain calm. Staff should set the example if the 
armed intruder is in their presence by doing anything possible for the staff member and students to survive. If gun fire starts, staff 
and students should seek cover or begin rapid movement procedures. 
 
 Do not engage in a conversation or try to persuade the intruder to leave your classroom or school. Remember, you are in an illogical 
situation, so any logical argument may go unheard. The intruder is probably aware of the potential danger that he/she would be 
facing if he/she left the classroom. The intruder may perceive himself/herself as being sane. 
 If the intruder speaks to you or to your students, then answer him or her. Do not provoke him or her. Don't try to take matters into 
your own hands. Students should be told not to whisper to one-another, laugh, or to make fun of the intruder. Remember, the 
intruder is disturbed and probably mentally ill, and more than likely paranoid. Any whispering or laughter may be perceived by the 
intruder as directed at him or her. 
 Students should be taught to respond on their own when threatened. Incidents can occur which leave no time for signals. If 
students are outside unable to find access a room, they should, depending on the situation, initiate Action "TAKE COVER" position or 
run in a zig-zag fashion to the staging areas and 
STAY CALM. 
 If and when possible, call Administration and/or 9-1-1.  
 
Emergency Evacuation Procedures 
In an Emergency Building Evacuation all employees will: 
 
Upon emergency alert, secure work area and depart/report to assigned area. 
Perform duties as pre-assigned by the Principal in cooperation with emergency services personnel. 
DO NOT re-enter the building without permission or request of emergency service authorities. 
Remain in the general assembly areas and calm students if not assigned another duty. 
When signaled to re-enter safe areas of the school, quickly do so. 
Upon safe re-entry, report anything amiss to the Operations Chief. 
 
In an Emergency Building Evacuation teachers will also: 
 
Upon alert, assemble students for evacuation using designated routes and account for all students. 
Secure room. 
If possible, leave a note on the door advising where the class evacuated to if other than the standard assembly area. 
Upon arrival at the assembly area, account for all students. 
Secure medical treatment for injured students. 
Report any students missing or left behind because of serious injuries. 
Stay with and calm students. 
If signaled to re-enter school, assure students do so quickly and calmly. Account for all students. 
Check room and report anything amiss to the Team Leader and/or Operations Chief. Debrief students to calm fears about the 
evacuation. 
 
Emergency Campus Evacuation 
 
If it is necessary to evacuate the entire campus to another school or relief center, the Principal will: 
 
Notify the Superintendent of the Campus Evacuation. 
Cooperate with emergency authorities in enlisting students/staff with cars to help transport evacuees. Direct the evacuation, assure 
all students/staff are accounted for as they depart and arrive. 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 50 of 50 9/30/24 
 

 
Emergency Evacuation Map 
 





EVACUATION: TEACHER “BUDDY” LIST

Listed below are “Buddy” teachers for emergency evacuation purposes.
Each teacher is responsible for assisting their “Buddy” teacher’s class with
the evacuation process, should the need arise. The classroom emergency
packet should contain current rosters for both classrooms.

BUDDY ASSIGNMENTS

TEACHER ROOM # TEACHER ROOM #

1. O’Sullivan K1 Hilliker K2

2. Barcellos K3 Gobiecki K4

3. Tourzani Speech OT Room & ESS OT / 2

4. Williams / Gries 1 / 3 Blum/McWay 2

5. Preciado 6 M.Martinez 4

6. Sardina Counselor Weldele/Wood 5

7. Stein 7 Stanley Library

8. Rodriguez 9 Woolsey 10

9. Bender/Hitchcock 11 Anderson 12

10. Elson 13 Garlin 15

11. Gonzalez/Cruz 17/19 Correia 21

12. Castañeda 16 R.Martinez 18

13. Gilchrist 20 Drake 22

14. Baca P1 Thomas P2

15. Smith P3 Galvez P4

16. King/Armstrong P5/P6 Mello P7



INCIDENT COMMAND SYSTEM: OPERATIONS TEAMS

OPERATIONS CHIEF ALTERNATE ALTERNATE
Tiger Rowan Jackie Siragusa Gelacio - AM

SEARCH AND RESCUE / SITE SECURITY
TEAM 1

(Check K Rooms &
K Playground)

TEAM 2
(Check Even #
Rooms & Lower
Playground)

TEAM 3
(Check Odd #

Rooms, Office &
Lounge)

TEAM 4
(Check Portables

on Upper
Playground)

TEAM
LEADER

Sharon
Armstrong

Tonja
Anderson

Rosella
Gonzalez

Micki
King

ALTERNATE Priscilla
Barcellos

PJ
Gilchrist

Monica
Gideon

Evy
Baca

MEMBER Janeth
Cruz

Rebeca
Martinez

Bianca
Stanley

Monica
Mello

MEDICAL
TEAM
LEADER

Beth Woodill / Maria Wynns (Campus LVN)

TEAM
MEMBERS

Monica
Gries

DeAnna
Rodriguez

Tamara
Drake



INCIDENT COMMAND SYSTEM: OPERATIONS TEAMS (Cont.)

STUDENT CARE AND SUPERVISION
TEAM

LEADERS
Shawn Williams / Josie Sardina

TEAM
MEMBERS

Amanda
Bender

Delaney
Pendleton

Griselda
Castañeda

Karen
Galvez

Sandra
Gobiecki

Erika
Woolsey

STUDENT RELEASE
TEAM
LEADER Jackie Siragusa

TEAM
MEMBERS

Jessica
Weldele

Anahita
Tourzani

Natalie
Wood

CRISIS RECOVERY
TEAM
LEADER

Kelsey Thomas

TEAM
MEMBERS

Lenny
Correia

Patricia
Smith

Amanda
Elson

ALTERNATES
Ashley

O’Sullivan
Emily

Okerlund
OT Staff

* ESS Staff
(If on campus)

* Playground Staff
(If Applicable)

* Kitchen Staff
(If Applicable)

* RSP Aides
(If Applicable)

* Instr. Assistants
(If Applicable)





 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 1 of 51 9/30/24 
 

 
 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 
 

2024-2025 
School Year 

 
 

School: Lemon Crest Elementary School 

CDS Code:  37681896110092 

District: Lakeside Union School District 

Address:  12463 Lemon Crest Dr. 
Lakeside, CA 92040 

Date of Adoption:  

Date of Update: 8/30/2024 

Date of Review:  

   - with Staff  

   - with Law Enforcement  

   - with Fire Authority  
 

Approved by: 
Name Title Signature Date 

Jennifer Price Principal 

 

 

Mike Dawson SSC Member (Teacher)   

Corie Flynn SSC Member (Teacher)   

Arianna Casas-Lara SSC Member (Teacher)   

Chrissie Sarff SSC Member 

 

 

Kip Frazer Site Safety Team 
(Intervention Teacher) 

  

Kelcy Sutton Site Safety Team (School 
Counselor) 

  

 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2 of 51 9/30/24 
 

 
Table of Contents 

 
Comprehensive School Safety Plan Purpose ..............................................................................................................................................4 

Safety Plan Vision .......................................................................................................................................................................................4 

(A) Child Abuse Reporting Procedures (EC 35294.2 [a] [2]; PC 11166) ..................................................................................................6 

(B) Disaster Procedures (EC 35295-35297; GC 8607 and 3100) .............................................................................................................7 

(C) School Suspension, Expulsion and Mandatory Expulsion Guidelines .............................................................................................18 

(D) Procedures to Notify Teachers of Dangerous Pupils (EC 49079) ....................................................................................................21 

(E) Sexual Harassment Policies (EC 212.6 [b]) ......................................................................................................................................22 

(F) School-wide Dress Code Relating to Gang-Related Apparel (EC 35183) .........................................................................................25 

(G) Procedure for Safe Ingress and Egress of Pupils, Parents, and Staff to and from School (EC 35294.2) .........................................26 

(I) School Discipline Rules and Consequences (EC 35291 and EC 35291.5) .........................................................................................27 

(J) Procedures to Prepare for Active Shooters .....................................................................................................................................30 

Procedures for Preventing Acts of Bullying and Cyber-bullying ...........................................................................................................30 

Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures .................................................................................................................32 

Safety Plan Appendices ............................................................................................................................................................................33 

Emergency Contact Numbers ..............................................................................................................................................................34 

Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures .............................................................................................................35 

Lemon Crest Elementary School Incident Command System ..............................................................................................................36 

Incident Command Team Responsibilities ...........................................................................................................................................37 

Emergency Response Guidelines .........................................................................................................................................................38 

Step One: Identify the Type of Emergency ..........................................................................................................................................38 

Step Two: Identify the Level of Emergency ..........................................................................................................................................38 

Step Three: Determine the Immediate Response Action ....................................................................................................................38 

Step Four: Communicate the Appropriate Response Action ...............................................................................................................38 

Types of Emergencies & Specific Procedures .......................................................................................................................................39 

Armed Assault on Campus ...............................................................................................................................................................39 

Biological or Chemical Release .........................................................................................................................................................39 

Bomb Threat/ Threat Of violence ....................................................................................................................................................45 

Earthquake .......................................................................................................................................................................................46 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 3 of 51 9/30/24 
 

Fire in Surrounding Area ..................................................................................................................................................................46 

Fire on School Grounds ....................................................................................................................................................................47 

Loss or Failure Of Utilities ................................................................................................................................................................47 

Psychological Trauma .......................................................................................................................................................................48 

Tactical Responses to Criminal Incidents .........................................................................................................................................49 

Emergency Evacuation Map .................................................................................................................................................................51 

 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 4 of 51 9/30/24 
 

 
Comprehensive School Safety Plan Purpose 
 
Effective January 1, 2019, Assembly Bill 1747 (Rodriguez), School Safety Plans, became law. This bill requires that during the writing 
and development of the comprehensive school safety plan (CSSP), the school site council or safety committee consult with a fire 
department and other first responder entities in addition to currently required entities. It requires the CSSP and any updates made 
to the plan to be shared with the law enforcement agency, the fire department, and the other first responder entities. 
 
The California Education Code (sections 32280-32288) outlines the requirements of all schools operating any kindergarten and any 
grades 1 to 12, inclusive, to write and develop a school safety plan relevant to the needs and resources of that particular school. 
 
In 2004, the Legislature and Governor recast and renumbered the Comprehensive School Safety Plan provisions in SB 719 and AB 
115. It is the intent ofthe Legislature in enacting the provisions to support California public schools as they develop their mandated 
comprehensive safety plans that are the result of a systematic planning process, that include strategies aimed at the prevention of, 
and education about, potential incidents involving crime and violence on school campuses. 
 
The historical requirement of the Comprehensive School Safety Plan was presented in Senate Bill 187, which was approved by the 
Governor and chaptered in 1997. This legislation contained a sunset clause that stated that this legislation would remain in effect 
only until January I, 2000. Senate Bill 334 was approved and chaptered in 1999 and perpetuated this legislation under the 
requirement of the initial legislation. 
 
Comprehensive School Safety Plans are required under SB 719 & AB 115 and contains the following elements: 
 
Assessment of school crime committed on school campuses and at school-related functions 

• Child abuse reporting procedures 
• Disaster procedures 
• Suspension and expulsion policies 
• Procedures to notify teachers of dangerous pupils 
• Discrimination and harassment policies 
• School wide dress code policies 
• Procedures for safe ingress and egress 
• Policies enacted to maintain a safe and orderly environment 
• Rules and procedures on school discipline 
• Hate crime reporting procedures 

 
The Comprehensive School Safety Plan will be reviewed and updated by March 1st every year. In July of every year, the school will 
report on the status of its school safety plan including a description of its key elements in the annual school accountability report 
card. 
 
A copy of the Comprehensive School Safety Plan is available for review at the Lemon Crest Office.. 
 
Safety Plan Vision 
The Comprehensive School Safety Plan Process & Templates is designed to be utilized as a school resource for 
prevention/mitigation, preparedness, response and recovery planning and training as well as functioning as a template for meeting 
the requirements for the annual Safety Plan Process under SB 187 and the National incident Management System. It is designed to 
be an electronic or hard-copy Safety Plan. The template is also designed as a living document to be updated as necessary to meet 
site, district and community needs, forms or requirements. 
 
Individual schools in districts over 2,500 students must adopt a comprehensive school safety plan by March 1, 2000, and must 
review and update the plan by March 1 of every year thereafter. (Amended Ed. Codes 35294.1 & 35294.6) 
 
Beginning July 1, 2000, each individual school must report on the status of its school safety plan, including a description of its key 
elements in the school accountability report card, and must continue to do so every July thereafter. (Amended Ed. Code 35294.6) 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 5 of 51 9/30/24 
 

The following guideline may be utilized to support the annual review and evaluation of the individual school safety plan. This guide 
will also provide a time line and related administrative tasks to provide a process to ensure compliance with the requirements of 
Senate Bill 187, Comprehensive School Safety Plan. 
 
The guideline/checklist has been organized into two parts: 
 
An assessment by the School Safety Planning Committee of the School Site Council, the School Site Council or equivalent of the 
school climate in relation to the current status of school crime committed on campus and at school related functions. Based on this 
assessment, safety goals will be set for the upcoming school year 
 
The annual review and evaluation of the school comprehensive safety plan which is certified by the members of the School Safety 
Planning Committee, the School Site Council President, and the school Principal before being presented to the Board of Trustees for 
final review and adoption. This review includes the following mandated components of Senate Bill 187: 
 
Child Abuse reporting procedures 
Policies pursuant to Education Code 48915(c) and other school-designated serious acts which would 
lead to suspension, expulsion, or mandatory expulsion recommendations 
Procedures to notify teachers and counselors of dangerous students 
Sexual Harassment Policy 
Safe ingress and egress to and from school 
Rules and procedures on school discipline in order to create a safe and orderly environment conducive to learning 
Dress Code 
Routine and emergency disaster procedures including natural disasters, human created disasters or power outages. 
 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 6 of 51 9/30/24 
 

 
(A) Child Abuse Reporting Procedures (EC 35294.2 [a] [2]; PC 11166) 
A. Definition of Child Abuse 
 
Child abuse means a physical injury that is inflicted by other than accidental on a child by another person. Child Abuse also means 
the sexual abuse of a child or any act or omission pertaining to child abuse reporting laws (willful cruelty, unjustifiable punishment of 
a child, unlawful corporal punishment or injury). Child abuse also means the physical or emotional neglect of a child or abuse in out-
of-home care. 
 
1. Child Abuse 
Injury inflicted by another person 
Sexual Abuse 
Neglect of child's physical, health, and emotional needs. 
Unusual and willful cruelty; unjustifiable punishment. Unlawful corporal punishment. 
 
2. Not Considered Child Abuse 
Mutual affray between minors 
Injury caused by reasonable and necessary force used by a peace officer: 
To quell a disturbance threatening physical injury to a person or damage property 
To prevent physical injury to another person or damage to property 
For purposes of self-defense 
To obtain possession of weapons or other dangerous objects within the control of a child To apprehend an escapee 
 
B. Mandated Child Abuse Reporting 
Any child care custodian, health practitioner, or employee of a child protective agency who has knowledge of or observes a child in 
his or her professional capacity or within the scope of his or her employment whom he or she knows or reasonably suspects has 
been the victim of child abuse shall report the known or suspected instance of child abuse to a child protective agency by telephone 
and written report: 
The telephone call must be made immediately or as soon as practicably possible by telephone. 
AND 
A written report must be sent within 36 hours of the telephone call to the child protective agency.   Any child care custodian, health 
practitioner, or employee of a child protective agency who has knowledge of or who reasonably suspects mental suffering has been 
inflicted on a child or his or her emotional well-being is endangered in any other way, may report such known or suspected instance 
of child abuse to a child protective agency. 
When two or more persons who are required to report are present and jointly knowledge of a known or suspected instance of child 
abuse, and when there is agreement among them, the telephone report may be made by a member of the team selected by mutual 
agreement and a single report may be made and signed by the selected member of the reporting team. Any member who has 
knowledge that the member designated to make the report failed to do so, shall thereafter make such a report. 
The intent and purpose of the law is to protect children from abuse. The definition of a child is any person under 18 years of age. 
This entire section on Child Abuse was been taken from California Laws Relating To Minors manual. 
 
C. Sexual Activity 
 
Child abuse laws change from time to time. Should you suspect that a student is engaged in unlawful sexual activity, please consult 
with the school social worker and campus officer to determine if particular provisions under this section are current and in effect. 
Involuntary sexual activity is always reportable. 
Incest, even if voluntary is always reportable. Incest is a marriage or act of intercourse between parents and children; ancestors and 
descendants of every degree; brothers and sisters of half and whole blood and uncles and nieces or aunts and nephews. (Family 
Code 2200). 
Voluntary Sexual Activity may or may not be reportable. Even if the behavior voluntary, there are circumstances where the behavior 
is abusive, either by Penal Code definition or because of an exploitative relationship, then this behavior must be reported. If there is 
reasonable suspicion of sexual abuse prior to the consensual activity, the abuse must be reported. 
 
Reportable Sexual Activity if a Child is 14 Years of Age and: 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 7 of 51 9/30/24 
 

Partner is younger than 14 years old, but there is a disparity in chronological or maturational age or indications of intimidation, 
coercion or bribery or other indications of an exploitative relationship. Partner is 14 years or older lewd & lascivious acts committed 
by a partner of any age partner is alleged spouse and over 14 years of age. 
 
Reportable Sexual Activity if the Child is 14 or 15 years and: 
There is unlawful sexual intercourse with a partner older than 14 but less than 21 years of age and there is no indication of abuse or 
evidence of an exploitative relationship there is unlawful sexual intercourse with a partner older than 21 years 
There is lewd and lascivious acts committed by a partner more than 10 years older than the child The partner is the alleged spouse 
and over 21 years of age 
 
Reportable Sexual Activity if the Child is 16 or 17 years and: 
The partner is less than 14 years of age 
There is unlawful sexual intercourse with a partner older than 14 and there is evidence of an exploitative relationship 
The partner is the alleged spouse and there is evidence of an exploitative relationship 
 
Reportable Sexual Activity if the Child is under 18 years: 
Sodomy, oral copulation, penetration of a genital or anal opening by a foreign object, even if consensual, with a partner of any age. 
 
Not Reportable Sexual Activity: 
Child is 14 years or younger and partner is younger than 14 years and of similar age or maturational age. Sexual behavior is voluntary 
and consensual. There are no indications of intimidation, coercion, bribery, or other indications of an exploitative relationship. 
Unlawful sexual intercourse of a child 14 to 15-years old with a partner older than 14 and less than 21 years of age and there is no 
indication of abuse or evidence of an exploitative relationship. 
Unlawful sexual intercourse with a child 16 or 17 years with a partner older than 14 and there is no indication of an exploitative 
relationship. 
 
Mandated reports of sexual activity must be reported to either the Department of Family & Children's Services (DFCS) or to the 
appropriate police jurisdiction. This information will then be cross-reported to the other legal agency. 
 
D. Failure to Report Known or Suspected Child Abuse 
 
Failure to report known or reasonable suspicion of child abuse, including sexual abuse, is a misdemeanor. Mandated reporters are 
provided with immunity from civil or criminal liability as a result of making a mandated report of child abuse. 
 
This information has been taken directly from the San Diego  County Child Abuse Council Informational Handout. 
 
E. Child Abuse Reporting Number: (800) 344-6000 
 
F. Staff Training: All staff engage in mandated child abuse reporting training annually. 
 
 
(B) Disaster Procedures (EC 35295-35297; GC 8607 and 3100) 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 8 of 51 9/30/24 
 

Disaster Plan (See Appendix C-F) 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 9 of 51 9/30/24 
 

. Routine and Emergency Disaster Procedures: Drills 
The Basic Plan 
 
The Basic Plan addresses the Lakeside Union School District 's responsibilities in emergencies associated with natural disaster, 
human-caused emergencies and technological incidents. It provides a framework for coordination of response and recovery efforts 
within the District in coordination and with local, State, and Federal agencies. The Plan establishes an emergency organization to 
direct and control operations at all sites during a period of emergency by assigning responsibilities to specific personnel. The Basic 
Plan: 
 
 Conforms to the Federally mandated National Incident Management System (NIMS), State mandated Standardized Emergency 
Management System (SEMS) and effectively restructures emergency response at all levels in compliance with the Incident Command 
System (ICS). 
Establishes response policies and procedures, providing $district_name$ clear guidance for planning purposes. 
Describes and details procedural steps necessary to protect lives and property. 
Outlines coordination requirements. 
Provides a basis for unified training and response exercises to ensure compliance. 
 
Requirements 
 
The Plan meets the requirements of San Diego County's policies on Emergency Response and Planning, the Standardized Emergency 
Management System (SEMS) Operational Area Response, and defines the primary and support roles of the District and individual 
schools in after-incident damage assessment and reporting requirements. 
 
Protect the safety and welfare of students, employees and staff. 
Provide for a safe and coordinated response to emergencies. 
Protect the District's facilities and properties. 
Enable the District to restore normal conditions with minimal confusion in the shortest time possible. Provide for interface and 
coordination between sites and the District Emergency Operations Center (EOC). 
Provide for interface and coordination between sites and the County or city EOC in which they reside. Provide for the orderly 
conversion of pre-designated District sites to American Red Cross shelters, when necessary. 
 
Schools are required by both federal statute and state regulation to be available for shelters following a disaster. The American Red 
Cross (ARC) has access to schools in damaged areas to set up their mass care facilities, and local governments have a right to use 
schools for the same purposes. This requires close cooperation between school officials and ARC or local government 
representatives, and should be planned and arranged for in advance. 
 
Authorities and References - State of California 
 
California Emergency Services Act (Chapter 7, Division 1, Title 2, California Government Code). 
 
The Act provides the basic authorities for conducting emergency operations following a proclamation of Local Emergency, State of 
Emergency, or State of War Emergency by the Governor and/or appropriate local authorities, consistent with the provisions of this 
Act. 
 
California Government Code, Section 3100, Title 1, Division 4, Chapter 4. 
 
States that public employees are disaster service workers, subject to such disaster service activities as may be assigned to them by 
their superiors or by law. The term "public employees" includes all persons employed by the state or any county, city, city and 
county, state agency or public district, excluding aliens legally employed. 
 
California Emergency Plan 
 
Promulgated by the Governor, and published in accordance with the California Emergency Services Act, it provides overall statewide 
authorities and responsibilities, and describes the functions and operations of government at all levels during extraordinary 
emergencies, including wartime. Section 8568 of the Act states, in part, that "...the State Emergency Plan shall be in effect in each 
political subdivision of the state, and the governing body of each political subdivision shall take such action as may be necessary to 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 10 of 51 9/30/24 
 

carry out the provisions thereof." Therefore, local emergency plans are considered extensions of the California Emergency Plan. 
A. Earthquake Drills 
The earthquake emergency procedure system shall, but not be limited to, all of the following: 
 
A school building disaster plan, ready for implementation at any time, for maintaining the safety and care of students and staffs. 
 
A drop procedure. As used in this article, "drop procedure" means an activity whereby each student and staff member take cover 
under a table or desk, dropping to his or her knees, with the head protected by the arms, and the back to the windows. A drop 
procedure practice shall be held at least once each school quarter in elementary schools and at least once a semester in secondary 
schools. 
 
Protective measures to be taken before, during, and following an earthquake. A program to ensure that the students and that both 
the certificated and classified staff are aware of, and properly trained in, the earthquake emergency procedure system. 
(Code of Regulations, Section 35297) 
 
Whenever an earthquake alarm is sounded, all students, teachers and other employees shall immediately begin Duck, Cover and 
Hold procedures: 
 
DUCK, or DROP down on the floor. 
Take COVER under a sturdy desk, table or other furniture with backs to the windows. Protect head and neck with arms. 
HOLD onto the furniture and be prepared to move with it. 
Stay in this position for at least one minute or, in a real situation, until shaking stops. 
 
Evacuation. An Evacuation should NEVER be automatic. There may be more danger outside the building than there is inside. If 
administrative directions are not forthcoming, the teacher will be responsible for assessing the situation and determining if an 
evacuation is required. 
 
Pre-determined evacuation areas should be in open areas, without overhead hazards and removed from potential danger spots 
(covered walkways, large gas mains, chain linked fences [electric shock potential]). 
 
Make it clear that a post-earthquake route differs from a fire evacuation route, and that appropriate nonhazardous alternate routes 
may be needed. 
 
Practice evacuation using alternate routes to the assembly areas. 
 
Students are to remain with their teacher in the evacuation area. Teachers shall take their roll books, take roll once in the evacuation 
area and be prepared to identify missing students to administrators and/first responders. 
 
The principal or designee shall keep a copy of each drill conducted on the Emergency Drill Report form and file a copy with the 
Superintendent/designee. 
 
Standards for a Successful Earthquake Drill: 
 
The Earthquake Alarm can be heard by all staff and students. 
 
Immediately after the earthquake alarm sounds, all students, teachers and other employees shall: 
 
DUCK, or DROP down on the floor. 
Take COVER under a sturdy desk, table or other furniture with backs to the windows. Protect head and neck with arms. 
HOLD onto the furniture and be prepared to move with it. 
 
Evacuations shall occur when directed over the loud speaker by the Principal/designee. When evacuations are included as part of 
the drill, appropriate non-hazardous alternate routes, avoiding building overhangs, electrical wires, large trees, covered walkways, 
etc., shall be utilized by staff and students in order to reach the designated evacuation areas. 
 
Teachers have taken roll once in the evacuation area. Any missing students are immediately reported to the Principal/designee. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 11 of 51 9/30/24 
 

 
Upon sounding of the all clear students and staff return to their appropriate classroom and the teacher takes roll once more. Missing 
students are reported to the attendance office. 
B. Fire Drills 
Whenever the fire alarm is given, all students, teachers and other employees shall quickly leave the building in an orderly manner. 
Teachers shall ascertain that no student remains in the building. Designated evacuation routes shall be posted in each room. 
Teachers shall be prepared to select alternate exits and direct their classes to these exits in the event the designated evacuation 
route is blocked. 
Evacuation areas will be established away from fire lanes. 
Students are to remain with their teacher in the evacuation area. Teachers shall take their roll books, take roll once in the evacuation 
area and be prepared to identify missing students to administrators and/or fire marshals/designees. 
 The principal or designee shall keep a copy of each drill conducted on the Emergency Drill Report form and file a copy with the 
Superintendent/designee. 
 
Standards for a Successful Fire Drill: 
 
The Fire Alarm can be heard by all staff and students. 
Orderly evacuation begins immediately and is completed within 5 minutes of the initial alarm, with minimal congestion at exit gates. 
Evacuation areas will be established away from fire lanes. 
Teachers and students are staged in an orderly fashion away from fire lanes. 
Teachers have taken roll once in the evacuation area. Any missing students are immediately reported to the Principal/designee. 
Upon sounding of the all clear students and staff return to their appropriate classroom and the teacher takes roll once more. Missing 
students are reported to the attendance office. 
C. Active Shooter/Lockdown Drills 
For sites that have had Active shooter Training, conducting an Active shooter Lockdown Drill initially involves more pre-planning and 
organization than conducting other drills. Middle and high schools should conduct an annual drill, which should take no longer than 
40 minutes and impact class time by 20 minutes. Elementary schools should conduct drills every other year (or annually, if the local 
police department has the resources to support the drills). Drills need to be scheduled with your School Resource or Liaison Officers. 
 
There are a number of steps that are recommended in the Active shooter Training in order to successfully conduct your drill. They 
involve: 
 
 Conduct a staff meeting. Plan on a 20 minute timeframe to review expectations and standards in terms of: 
a. Locking doors 
b. Covering windows 
c. Turning off lights 
d. Building barricades 
e. Reviewing classroom and all clear procedures 
f. Reviewing off site evacuation locations 
Send a follow-up reminder memo to your staff. 
Organize your assessment team. This also provides an excellent opportunity for your Critical Response Team to work together with 
police participants in the drill. 
Conduct the assessment. 
Complete follow-up tasks. 
 
Remember, you are setting the tone for the importance of safety for students and staff on your campus. 
VI. Routine and Emergency Disaster Procedures: Overview 
The Basic Plan 
 
The Basic Plan addresses the Lakeside Union School District 's responsibilities in emergencies associated with natural disaster, 
human-caused emergencies and technological incidents. It provides a framework for coordination of response and recovery efforts 
within the District in coordination and with local, State, and Federal agencies. The Plan establishes an emergency organization to 
direct and control operations at all sites during a period of emergency by assigning responsibilities to specific personnel. The Basic 
Plan: 
 
 Conforms to the Federally mandated National Incident Management System (NIMS), State mandated Standardized Emergency 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 12 of 51 9/30/24 
 

Management System (SEMS) and effectively restructures emergency response at all levels in compliance with the Incident Command 
System (ICS). 
Establishes response policies and procedures, providing Lakeside Union School District clear guidance for planning purposes. 
Describes and details procedural steps necessary to protect lives and property. 
Outlines coordination requirements. 
Provides a basis for unified training and response exercises to ensure compliance. 
 
Requirements 
 
The Plan meets the requirements of San Diego County's policies on Emergency Response and Planning, the Standardized Emergency 
Management System (SEMS) Operational Area Response, and defines the primary and support roles of the District and individual 
schools in after-incident damage assessment and reporting requirements. 
 
Protect the safety and welfare of students, employees and staff. 
Provide for a safe and coordinated response to emergencies. 
Protect the District's facilities and properties. 
Enable the District to restore normal conditions with minimal confusion in the shortest time possible. Provide for interface and 
coordination between sites and the District Emergency Operations Center (EOC). 
Provide for interface and coordination between sites and the County or city EOC in which they reside. Provide for the orderly 
conversion of pre-designated District sites to American Red Cross shelters, when necessary. 
 
Schools are required by both federal statute and state regulation to be available for shelters following a disaster. The American Red 
Cross (ARC) has access to schools in damaged areas to set up their mass care facilities, and local governments have a right to use 
schools for the same purposes. This requires close cooperation between school officials and ARC or local government 
representatives, and should be planned and arranged for in advance. 
 
Authorities and References - State of California 
 
California Emergency Services Act (Chapter 7, Division 1, Title 2, California Government Code). 
 
The Act provides the basic authorities for conducting emergency operations following a proclamation of Local Emergency, State of 
Emergency, or State of War Emergency by the Governor and/or appropriate local authorities, consistent with the provisions of this 
Act. 
 
California Government Code, Section 3100, Title 1, Division 4, Chapter 4. 
 
States that public employees are disaster service workers, subject to such disaster service activities as may be assigned to them by 
their superiors or by law. The term "public employees" includes all persons employed by the state or any county, city, city and 
county, state agency or public district, excluding aliens legally employed. 
 
California Emergency Plan 
 
Promulgated by the Governor, and published in accordance with the California Emergency Services Act, it provides overall statewide 
authorities and responsibilities, and describes the functions and operations of government at all levels during extraordinary 
emergencies, including wartime. Section 8568 of the Act states, in part, that "...the State Emergency Plan shall be in effect in each 
political subdivision of the state, and the governing body of each political subdivision shall take such action as may be necessary to 
carry out the provisions thereof." Therefore, local emergency plans are considered extensions of the California Emergency Plan. 
A. Definition: Incidents, Emergencies, Disasters 
Incident 
 
An incident is an occurrence or event, either human-caused or caused by natural phenomena, that requires action by emergency 
response personnel to prevent or minimize loss of life or damage to property and/or natural resources. 
 
Incidents may result in extreme peril to the safety of persons and property and may lead to, or create conditions of disaster. 
Incidents may also be rapidly mitigated without loss or damage. Although they may not meet disaster level definition, larger 
incidents may call for managers to proclaim a "Local Emergency". 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 13 of 51 9/30/24 
 

 
Incidents are usually a single event that may be small or large. They occur in a defined geographical area and require local resources 
or, sometimes, mutual aid. There is usually one to a few agencies involved in dealing with an ordinary threat to life and property and 
to a limited population. Usually a local emergency is not declared and the jurisdictional EOC is not activated. Incidents are usually of 
short duration, measured in hours or, at most, a few days. Primary command decisions are made at the scene along with strategy, 
tactics, and resource management decisions 
 
Emergency 
 
The term emergency is used in several ways. It is a condition of disaster or of extreme peril to the safety of persons and property. In 
this context, an emergency and an incident could mean the same thing, although an emergency could have more than one incident 
associated with it. 
 
Emergency is also used in Standardized Emergency Management System (SEMS) terminology to describe agencies or facilities, e.g., 
Emergency Response Agency, Emergency Operations Center, etc. 
 
Emergency also defines a conditional state such as a proclamation of "Local Emergency". The California Emergency Services Act, of 
which SEMS is a part, describes three states of emergency: 
 
State of War Emergency 
State of Emergency 
State of Local Emergency 
 
Disaster 
 
A disaster is defined as sudden calamitous emergency event bringing great damage, loss, or destruction. Disasters may occur with 
little or no advance warning, e.g., an earthquake or a flash flood, or they may develop from one or more incidents, e.g., a major 
wildfire or hazardous materials discharge. 
 
Disasters are either single or multiple events that have many separate incidents associated with them. The resource demand goes 
beyond local capabilities and extensive mutual aid and support are needed. There are many agencies and jurisdictions involved 
including multiple layers of government. There is usually an extraordinary threat to life and property affecting a generally 
widespread population and geographical area. A disaster's effects last over a substantial period of time (days to weeks) and local 
government will proclaim a Local Emergency. Emergency Operations Centers are activated to provide centralized overall 
coordination of jurisdictional assets, departments and incident support functions. Initial recovery coordination is also a responsibility 
of the EOCs.  
 
B. Earthquake Overview 
Major Earthquake Threat Summary 
 
Earthquakes are sudden releases of strain energy stored in the earth's bedrock. The great majority of earthquakes are not dangerous 
to life or property either because they occur in sparsely populated areas or because they are small earthquakes that release 
relatively small amounts of energy. However, where urban areas are located in regions of high seismicity, damaging earthquakes are 
expectable, if not predictable, events. Every occupant and developer in San Diego County assumes seismic risk because the County is 
within an area of high seismicity. More than ten severe earthquakes have impacted San Francisco Bay Region during historic times. 
 
The major effects of earthquakes are ground shaking and ground failure. Severe earthquakes are characteristically accompanied by 
surface faulting. Flooding may be triggered by dam or levee failure resulting from an earthquake, or by seismically induced 
settlement or subsidence. All of these geologic effects are capable of causing property damage and, more importantly, risks to life 
and safety of persons. 
 
A fault is a fracture in the earth's crust along which rocks on opposite sides have moved relative to each other. Active faults have 
high probability of future movement. Fault displacement involves forces so great that the only means of limiting damage to man-
made structures is to avoid the traces of active faults. Any movement beneath a structure, even on the order of an inch or two, 
could have catastrophic effects on the structure and its service lines. 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 14 of 51 9/30/24 
 

The overall energy release of an earthquake is its most important characteristic. Other important attributes include an earthquake's 
duration, its related number of significant stress cycles, and its accelerations. 
C. Levels of Response 
Response Levels are used to describe the type of event: 
 
The area(s) affected, the extent of coordination or assistance needed, and the degree of participation expected from the School 
District. Response Levels are closely tied to Emergency Proclamations issued by the head of local government. 
 
Response Level 0 - Readiness & Routine Phase 
 
On-going routine response by the School District to daily emergencies or incidents. Stand-by and alert procedures issued in advance 
of an anticipated or planned event. 
 
Response Level 3 - Local Emergency 
 
A minor to moderate incident in which local resources are adequate and available. This level of emergency response occurs when an 
emergency incident, e.g., gas leak, sewer back-up, assaults, bomb threat, toxic spill, medical emergency, shooting, etc., occurs. A 
Level 3 response requires School/Site Coordinators to implement guidelines in the Emergency Standard Operating Procedures and 
interact with public agencies. 
 
Response Level 2 - Local Disaster 
 
A moderate to severe emergency in which resources are not adequate and mutual aid may be required on a regional, even 
statewide basis with coordination with local police and fire departments of the affected are working in concert with Lakeside Union 
School District to respond. The affected Cities and the County of 
San Diego will proclaim a local emergency. Then, the State of California may declare a state of emergency. 
 
Response Level 1 - Major Disaster 
 
Resources in or near the impacted areas are overwhelmed and extensive State and Federal resources are required. The cities and 
the County of San Diego will proclaim a local emergency. Then, the State of California will declare a State of Emergency. A 
Presidential Declaration of an Emergency or Major Disaster is requested by the State. Examples of major disasters are the Loma 
Prieta Earthquake of 1989 or the Oakland Hills Firestorm of 1991. When local jurisdictions declare a State of Emergency, the district 
board can declare the same. 
D. Emergency Phases 
Some emergencies will be preceded by a build-up or warning period, providing sufficient time to warn the population and 
implement mitigation measures designated to reduce loss of life and property damage. Other emergencies occur with little or no 
advance warning, thus requiring immediate activation of the emergency operations plan and commitment of resources. All 
employees must be prepared to respond promptly and effectively to any foreseeable emergency, including the provision and use of 
mutual aid. 
 
Emergency management activities during peacetime and national security emergencies are often associated with the phases 
indicated below. However, not every disaster necessarily includes all indicated phases. 
 
Prevention/Mitigation Phase 
 
Prevention/Mitigation is perhaps the most important phase of emergency management. However, it is often the least used and 
generally the most cost effective. Mitigation is often thought of as taking actions to strengthen facilities, abatement of nearby 
hazards, and reducing the potential damage either to structures or their contents, while prevention is taking steps to avoid potential 
problems. Both of these elements require education of parents, students and teachers. 
 
While it is not possible to totally eliminate either the destructive force of a potential disaster or its effects, doing what can be done 
to minimize the effects may create a safer environment that will result in lower response costs, and fewer casualties. 
 
Preparedness Phase 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 15 of 51 9/30/24 
 

The preparedness phase involves activities taken in advance of an emergency. These activities develop operational capabilities and 
responses to a disaster. Those identified in this plan as having either a primary or support mission relative to response and recovery 
review Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) or checklists detailing personnel assignments, policies, notification procedures, and 
resource lists. Personnel are acquainted with these SOPs and checklists and periodically are trained in activation and execution. 
 
Response Phase 
 
Pre-Impact: Recognition of the approach of a potential disaster where actions are taken to save lives and protect property. Warning 
systems may be activated, and resources may be mobilized, EOCs may be activated and evacuation may begin. 
 
Immediate Impact: Emphasis is placed on saving lives, controlling the situation, and minimizing the effects of the disaster. Incident 
Command Posts and EOCs may be activated, and emergency instructions may be issued. 
 
Sustained: As the emergency continues, assistance is provided to victims of the disaster and efforts are made to reduce secondary 
damage. Response support facilities may be established. The resource requirements continually change to meet the needs of the 
incident. 
 
Recovery Phase 
 
Recovery is taking all actions necessary to restore the area to pre-event conditions or better, if possible. 
Therefore, mitigation for future hazards plays an important part in the recovery phase for many emergencies. There is no clear time 
separation between response and recovery. In fact, planning for recovery should be a part of the response phase.  
E. First Things First 
Preparing your school for emergencies starts with staff preparedness. The backbone of school planning is dependent on the staff's 
willingness to stay at school during a major community emergency. Personal preparedness makes this much easier. 
 
Each staff member needs 
 
A 72-hour supply kit for the home 
A Car Kit, including comfortable clothes/shoes and medications 
To develop a plan to reunite with their family 
A neighborhood preparedness program 
 
Preparedness Brochures are available from the local chapter of the American Red Cross, San Diego County Office of Emergency 
Services, Lakeside Union School District website, www.redcross.org, www.prepare.org or www.ready.gov. 
 
If the disaster occurs during school time, Emergency Management recommends the child stay at school until the parent or a trusted 
friend (see Emergency Cards) picks up the child. We have no idea, especially in an earthquake, how impacted our neighborhoods 
may be. 
 
This means the school staff will need to stay with the children. You can only do this if you are prepared at home! You must feel that 
your family can activate your Family Plan without you. 
 
Disaster Service Worker Status: California Government Code Section 3100 declares that public employees are disaster services 
workers, subject to such disaster service activities as may be assigned to them by the superiors or by law. The term public employees 
include all persons employed by the state or any county, city, city & county, state agency or public district, excluding aliens legally 
employed. This law applies to public school employees in the following cases: 
 
When a local emergency has been proclaimed, When a state of emergency has been proclaimed, or When a federal disaster 
declaration has been made. 
F. District and Parent Responsibilities 
DISTRICT RESPONSIBILITY 
 
If the superintendent declares a district emergency during the school day, the following procedures will be followed: 
 
IN CASE OF A DECLARED EMERGENCY BY THE SUPERINTENDENT DURING SCHOOL HOURS, 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 16 of 51 9/30/24 
 

ALL STUDENTS WILL BE REQUIRED TO REMAIN AT SCHOOL OR AT AN ALTERNATE SAFE SITE UNDER THE SUPERVISION OF THE 
SCHOOL PRINCIPAL OR OTHER PERSONNEL ASSIGNED BY THE PRINCIPAL. 
 
Until regular dismissal time and released only then if it is considered safe, 
OR 
Until released to an adult authorized by the parent or legal guardian whose name appears on district records. 
a. If students are on their way to school, they will be brought to school if bussed, or they shouldproceed to school if walking. 
b. If students are on their way home from school, they are to continue home. 
 
During a Declared Emergency, those students who have not been picked up by their parents or other authorized person may be 
taken by district personnel to another site where consolidated care facilities can be provided. This information will be given to the 
media stations and posted at the site to keep parents informed. 
 
PARENT RESPONSIBILITY 
 
Parents and legal guardians of students will be provided with a Student Health/Emergency Form each year. 
In case of a Declared Emergency, students will be released ONLY to persons designated on this form. Parents are responsible for 
ensuring that information on the Student Health/Enrollment Form is current at all times. 
 
Parents are asked to share with the schools the responsibility for informing students of what they should do in case of a severe 
earthquake or other major emergency. Parents need to give specific directions to each student to follow the policy outlined above 
and to follow the directions of school personnel. 
 
School authorities will do everything possible to care for each student while he/she is under district supervision. 
 
It is critical that students do not have directions from parents that are contrary to the district's stated policy on retention at school 
and authorized release in case of a severe emergency.  
VII. Emergency Response Procedures 
Section 8 content  
A. Basic Actions 
Most emergency responses are covered by the following Basic Actions: 
 
A. Action: STAND BY 
 
Action: STAND BY consists of bringing students into the classroom or holding them in the classroom pending further instruction. 
 
B. Action: LEAVE BUILDING 
 
ACTION: LEAVE BUILDING consists of the orderly movement of students and staff from inside the school building to outside areas of 
safety or planned evacuation site. 
 
Action: LEAVE BUILDING is appropriate for-but not limited to-the following emergencies: 
 
Fire 
Peacetime Bomb Threat 
Chemical Accident 
Explosion or Threat of an Explosion 
Following an Earthquake 
Other similar occurrences that might make the building uninhabitable 
At the onset of an Active Shooter/Lockdown Alert, when teacher/supervisor has ascertained that leaving is the best option. 
 
C. Action: TAKE COVER 
 
Action: TAKE COVER consists of bringing/keeping students indoors if possible and sheltering in place as appropriate to the situation. 
 
If outdoors, Action: TAKE COVER consists of hiding behind any solid object (large tree, engine block of car, cement wall), in the event 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 17 of 51 9/30/24 
 

a sniper attack, armed intruder, rabid animal, or moving immediately to a location which is upwind and uphill in the event of a 
chemical or biological threat 
 
Action TAKE COVER is appropriate for, but not limited to, the following: 
 
Severe Windstorm (short warning) 
Biological or Chemical Threat 
Sniper Attack 
Rabid Animal on School Grounds 
 
D. Action: DROP 
 
WARNING: The warning for this type of emergency is the beginning of the disaster itself. 
 
Action: DROP consists of: 
 
 Inside school buildings 

• Immediately TAKE COVER under desks or tables and turn away from all windows 
• Remain in a sheltered position for at least 60 seconds silent and listening to/or for instructions Outside of School 

Buildings 
• Earthquake: move away from buildings -Take a protective position, if possible Explosion/Nuclear Attack: 
• Take protective position, OR, 
• Get behind any solid object (ditch, curb, tree, etc.); lie prone with head away from light or blast; cover head, face, and as 

much of the skin surface as possible; close eyes, and cover ears with forearms. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 18 of 51 9/30/24 
 

 
E. ACTION: DIRECTED MAINTENANCE 
 
No school personnel/students are allowed to enter a school facility until inspected by and authorized by appropriate school 
personnel: Maintenance and School Administrators, and if applicable, Police, Fire, or City Inspectors. 
 
In the event that drinking water is unsafe, water valves will be turned off and the drinking fountains sealed. 
 
Water, gas, and electrical shut-off valves will be shut-off for each applicable building under the join authorization of the 
administration and head custodian. 
 
F. ACTION: DIRECTED TRANSPORTATION 
 
WARNING: Under certain disaster conditions, authorized officials may attempt to move an entire community, or portion thereof, 
from an area of danger to another area of safety. 
 
Action: DIRECTED TRANSPORTATION consists of loading students and staff into school buses, cars and other means of 
transportation, and taking them from a danger area to a designated safety area. 
 
Action: DIRECTED TRANSPORTATION is considered appropriate only when directed by the 
Superintendent or designee, Site Administrator, Police, Fire, or OES. It may be appropriate for, but not limited to, movement away 
from: 
 
Fire 
Chemical & Biological Gas Alert 
Flood 
Fallout Area 
Blast Area 
Chemical & Biological Gas Alert 
Specific Man-Made Emergency (shooting, fire, etc.) 
 
G. ACTION: GO HOME 
 
Action: GO HOME consists of: 
 
Dismissal of all classes 
Return of students to their homes by the most expeditious 
 
Action: GO HOME is to be considered only if there is time for students to go safely to their homes and if buses or other 
transportation are available for students who live at a distance from the school. Notification of parents by radio broadcast, local 
television, ALERT website, phone distribution lists, or other means will be requested. 
 
H. ACTION: CONVERT SCHOOL 
 
Action: CONVERT SCHOOL to a Red Cross emergency facility will be initiated by City officials. 
 
 
 
Public Agency Use of School Buildings for Emergency Shelters 
 
 
(C) School Suspension, Expulsion and Mandatory Expulsion Guidelines 
C. Suspension and Expulsion Policies 
Grounds for suspension which fall under Education Code 48900 
Caused, attempted to cause, or threatened to cause physical injury to another person 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 19 of 51 9/30/24 
 

Possessed, sold, or otherwise furnished any firearm, knife, explosive, or other dangerous object unless, in the case of possession of 
any object of this type, the pupil had obtained written permission to possess the item from a certificated school employee, which is 
concurred in by the principal or the designee of the principal. 
Unlawfully possessed, used, sold, or otherwise furnished, or been under the influence of any controlled substance. 
Unlawfully offered, arranged, or negotiated to sell any controlled substance. 
Committed or attempted to commit robbery or extortion. 
Caused or attempted to cause damage to school property or private property. 
Stolen or attempted to steal school or private property. 
Possessed or used tobacco, or any products containing tobacco or 1nicotine products, including, but not limited to, cigarettes, cigars, 
miniature cigars, clove cigarettes, smokeless tobacco, snuff, chew packets, and betel. However, this section does not prohibit use or 
possession by a pupil of his or her own prescription products. 
Committed an obscene act or engaged in habitual profanity or vulgarity. 
Had unlawful possession of, or unlawfully offered, arranged or negotiated to sell any drug paraphernalia. 
Disrupted school activities or otherwise willfully defied the valid authority supervisors, teachers, administrators, school officials, or 
other school personnel engaged in the performance of their duties. 
Knowingly received stolen school property or private property. 
Possessed an imitation firearm. As used in this section, "imitation firearm" means a replica of a firearm as to substantially similar in 
physical properties to an existing firearm as to lead a reasonable person to conclude that the replica is a firearm. 
Committed or attempted to commit sexual assault. 
Harassed, threatened, or intimidated a pupil who is a complaining witness or witness in a school disciplinary proceeding for the 
purpose of either preventing that pupil from being a witness or retaliating against that pupil for being a witness, or both. 
 
A pupil may not be suspended or expelled for any of the acts listed above unless that act is related to school activity or school 
attendance occurring within a school under the jurisdiction of the superintendent or principal or occurring within any other school 
district. A pupil may be suspended or expelled for acts which are enumerated in this section and related to school activity or 
attendance that occur at any time, including but not limited to, any of the following: 
While on school grounds. 
While going to or coming from school. 
During the lunch period, whether on or off the campus. 
During, or in route to and from, a school sponsored activity. 
 
Expulsion Policies under Education Code 48915: 
 
The principal shall recommend the expulsion of a pupil for any of the following committed at school or school activity off school 
grounds, unless the principal or superintendent finds an expulsion is inappropriate, due to the particular circumstance: 
Causing serious physical injury to another person, except in self-defense. 
Possession of any knife, explosive, or other dangerous object of no reasonable use to the pupil. Unlawful possession of any 
controlled substance, as defined under Ed. Code. 
Robbery or extortion. 
Assault or battery on any school employee, as defined in Sections 240 and 242 of the Penal Code. 
 
The principal, or superintendent of schools shall immediately suspend, pursuant to Section 48911, and shall recommend expulsion 
of a pupil that he or she determines has committed any of the following acts at school or at a school activity off school grounds: 
Possessing, selling, or otherwise furnishing a firearm. This subdivision does not apply to an act of possessing a firearm if the pupil has 
obtained prior written permission to possess the firearm from a certificated school employee, which is concurred in by the principal 
or the designee of the principal. This subdivision applies to an act of possessing a firearm only if an employee of a school district 
verifies the possession. 
Brandishing a knife at another person. 
Unlawfully selling a controlled substance as defined by Education Code. 
Committing or attempting to commit a sexual assault as defined in the Education Code. 
 
LUSD has the following Board Policy related to Suspension and Expulsion of Students: BP 5144.1 
The Governing Board desires to provide district students access to educational opportunities in an orderly school environment that 
protects their safety and security, ensures their welfare and well-being, and promotes their learning and development. The Board 
shall develop rules and regulations setting the standards of behavior expected of district students and the disciplinary processes and 
procedures for addressing violations of those standards, including suspension and/or expulsion. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 20 of 51 9/30/24 
 

(cf. 5131 - Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.1 - Bus Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.2 - Bullying) 
 
The grounds for suspension and expulsion and the procedures for considering, recommending, and/or implementing suspension and 
expulsion shall be those specified in law, in policy, and in the accompanying administrative regulation. 
Except when otherwise permitted by law, a student may be suspended or expelled only when his/her behavior is related to a school 
activity or school attendance occurring within any district school or another school district, regardless of when it occurs, including, 
but not limited to, the following: (Education Code 48900(s)) 
 
1. While on school grounds 
2. While going to or coming from school 
3. During the lunch period, whether on or off the school campus 
(cf. 5112.5 - Open/Closed Campus) 
4. During, going to, or coming from a school-sponsored activity 
District staff shall enforce the rules concerning suspension and expulsion of students fairly, consistently, equally, and in accordance 
with the district's nondiscrimination policies. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
 
Appropriate Use of Suspension Authority 
Except when a student's act that violates Education Code 48900(a)-(e), as listed in items #1-5 under "Grounds for Suspension or 
Expulsion: Grades K-12" of the accompanying administrative regulation, or when his/her presence causes a danger to others, 
suspension shall be used only when other means of correction have failed to bring about proper conduct. (Education Code 
48900.5,48900.6) 
(cf. 1020 - Youth Services) 
(cf. 5138 - Conflict Resolution/Peer Mediation) 
(cf. 5144 - Discipline) 
(cf. 6142.4 - Service Learning/Community Service Classes) 
(cf. 6164.2 - Guidance/Counseling Services) 
(cf. 6164.5 - Student Success Teams) 
 
A student's parents/guardians shall be notified as soon as possible when there is an escalating pattern of misbehavior that could 
lead to removal on-campus or off-campus suspension. 
No student in grades K-3 may be suspended for disruption or willful defiance, except by a teacher pursuant to Education Code 
48910. (Education Code 48900) 
Students shall not be suspended or expelled for truancy, tardiness, or absenteeism from assigned school activities. 
(cf. 5113 - Absences and Excuses) 
(cf. 5113.1 - Chronic Absence and Truancy) 
 
On-Campus Suspension 
 
To ensure the proper supervision and ongoing learning of students who are suspended for any of the reasons enumerated in 
Education Code 48900 and 48900.2, but who pose no imminent danger or threat to anyone at school and for whom expulsion 
proceedings have not been initiated, the Superintendent or designee shall establish a supervised suspension classroom program 
which meets the requirements of law. 
Except where a supervised suspension is permitted by law for a student's first offense, supervised suspension shall be imposed only 
when other means of correction have failed to bring about proper conduct. (Education Code 48900.5) 
 
Authority to Expel 
A student may be expelled only by the Board. (Education Code 48918(j)) 
As required by law, the Superintendent or principal shall recommend expulsion and the Board shall expel any student found to have 
committed any of the following "mandatory recommendation and mandatory expulsion" acts at school or at a school activity off 
school grounds: (Education Code 48915) 
1. Possessing a firearm which is not an imitation firearm, as verified by a certificated employee, unless thestudent had obtained prior 
written permission to possess the item from a certificated school employee, with the principal or designee's concurrence 
(cf. 5131.7 - Weapons and Dangerous Instruments) 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 21 of 51 9/30/24 
 

2. Selling or otherwise furnishing a firearm 
3. Brandishing a knife at another person 
4. Unlawfully selling a controlled substance listed in Health and Safety Code 11053-11058 
5. Committing or attempting to commit a sexual assault as defined in Penal Code 261, 266c, 286, 288, 288a,or 289, or committing a 
sexual battery as defined in Penal Code 243.4 6. Possessing an explosive as defined in 18 USC 921 
 
For all other violations listed in the accompanying administrative regulation under "Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades K-
12" and "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 4-12," the Superintendent or principal shall have the discretion 
to recommend expulsion of a student. If expulsion is recommended, the Board shall order the student expelled only if it makes a 
finding of either or both of the following: (Education Code 48915(b) and (e)) 
 
1. That other means of correction are not feasible or have repeatedly failed to bring about proper conduct 
2. That due to the nature of the violation, the presence of the student causes a continuing danger to thephysical safety of the 
student or others 
A vote to expel a student shall be taken in public an open session of a Board meeting. 
The Board may vote to suspend the enforcement of the expulsion order pursuant to the requirements of law and the accompanying 
administrative regulation. (Education Code 48900). 
No student shall be expelled for disruption or willful defiance. (Education Code 48900) 
No child enrolled in a preschool program shall be expelled except under limited circumstances as specified in AR 5148.3 - 
Preschool/Early Childhood Education. 
(cf. 5148.3 - Preschool/Early Childhood Education) 
 
Due Process 
 
The Board shall provide for the fair and equitable treatment of students facing suspension and/or expulsion by affording them their 
due process rights under the law. The Superintendent or designee shall comply with procedures for notices, hearings, and appeals as 
specified in law and administrative regulation. (Education Code 48911, 48915, 48915.5) 
(cf. 5119 - Students Expelled from Other Districts) 
(cf. 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Individuals with Disabilities)) 
 
Maintenance and Monitoring of Outcome Data 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall maintain outcome data related to student suspensions and expulsions in accordance with 
Education Code 48900.8 and 48916.1, including, but not limited to, the number of students recommended for expulsion, the 
grounds for each recommended expulsion, the actions taken by the Board, the types of referral made after each expulsion, and the 
disposition of the students after the expulsion period. For any expulsion that involves the possession of a firearm, such data shall 
include the name of the school and the type of firearm involved, as required pursuant to 20 USC 7961. Suspension and expulsion 
data shall be reported to the Board annually and to the California Department of Education when so required. 
In presenting the report to the Board, the Superintendent or designee shall disaggregate data on suspensions and expulsions by 
school and by numerically significant student subgroups, including, but not limited to, ethnic subgroups, socioeconomically 
disadvantaged students, English learners, students with disabilities, foster youth, and homeless students. Based on the data, the 
Board shall address any identified disparities in the imposition of student discipline and shall determine whether and how the 
district is meeting its goals for improving school climate as specified in its local control and accountability plan. (cf. 0460 - Local 
Control and Accountability Plan) 
 
 
 
(D) Procedures to Notify Teachers of Dangerous Pupils (EC 49079) 
D. Staff Notification of Dangerous Students 
In order to fulfill the requirements made by Education Code 49079 and Welfare and Institutions Code 827 that state teachers must 
be notified of the reason(s) a student has been suspended. The District has incorporated this notification into the student 
information system so that it is easily accessible for teachers on any student level screen. On the flag bar there is a red flag: 49079. 
This flag indicates the student has been suspended under Ed Code 48900. The teacher can access more specific information by 
contacting their site administrator for additional details about the behavior. All information regarding suspension and expulsion is 
CONFIDENTIAL, is not to be shared with any student(s) or parent(s). Teachers are asked to secure the list so students and others may 
not view it. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 22 of 51 9/30/24 
 

Additionally, Pursuant to Welfare & Institution Code 827(b) and Education Code 48267, the Court notifies the Superintendent of the 
Lakeside Union School District regarding students who have engaged in certain criminal conduct. This information is forwarded to 
the site Principal. The site Principal is responsible for prompt notification of the student's teachers. Per Education Code 49079, this 
information must be kept confidential. This information is also forwarded to all administrators and the student's counselor. 
 
 
(E) Sexual Harassment Policies (EC 212.6 [b]) 
B. Sexual Harassment Policy 
A. DEFINITION 
"Sexual Harassment includes 'unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, sexually motivated physical contact, or other 
verbal or physical conduct or communication of a sexual nature,' when any of four conditions are met: 
Submission to the conduct or communication is made a term or condition, either explicitly or implicitly, of obtaining education; 
Submission or rejection of the conduct or communication is used as a factor in decisions affecting that person's education; 
The conduct or communication has either the purpose or effect of 'substantially interfering' with a person's education; 
The conduct or communication creates an 'intimidating, hostile, or offensive' educational environment." 
 
B. Policy Pertaining to Sexual Harassment: LUSD has the following Board Policies on Sexual Harrasment, which can be viewed at 
www.lsusd.net, under Leadership, Board of Trustees, Board Policies: 
Board Poilicy 4119.91 
The following policy shall apply to all district employees, volunteers, contractors, job applicants, and other persons with an 
employment relationship with the district. 
The Governing is committed to providing a safe work environment that is free of harassment and intimidation.  The Board prohibits 
sexual harassment against district employees and retaliatory behavior or action against any persons who complain, testifies or 
otherwise participates in the complaint process established for the purpose of this policy. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
(cf. 4030 - Nondiscrimination in Employment) 
Sexual harassment includes, but is not limited to, harassment that is based on the sex, gender, gender identity, gender expression, 
or sexual orientation of the victim and harassment based on pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions. 
The Superintendent or designee shall take all actions necessary to ensure the prevention, investigation, and correction of sexual 
harassment, including but not limited to: 
1. Providing training to employees in accordance with law and administrative regulation 
2. Publicizing and disseminating the district's sexual harassment policy to employees and others to whom the policy may apply 
3. Ensuring prompt, thorough, fair, and equitable investigation of complaints 
4. Taking timely and appropriate corrective/remedial action(s), which may require interim separation ofthe complainant and the 
alleged harasser and subsequent monitoring of developments 
The Superintendent or designee shall periodically evaluate the effectiveness of the district's strategies to prevent and address 
harassment. Such evaluation may involve conducting regular anonymous employee surveys to assess whether harassment is 
occurring or is perceived to be tolerated, partnering with researchers or other agencies with the needed expertise to evaluate the 
district's prevention strategies, and using any other effective tool for receiving feedback on systems and/or processes. As necessary, 
changes shall be made to the harassment policy, complaint procedures, or training. 
Sexual Harassment Reports and Complaints 
District employees who feel that they have been sexually harassed in the performance of their district responsibilities or who have 
knowledge of any incident of sexual harassment by or against another employee shall immediately report the incident to their direct 
supervisor, a district administrator, or the district's Title IX Coordinator. Employees may bypass their supervisor in filing a complaint 
if the supervisor is the subject of the complaint. A supervisor or administrator who receives a harassment complaint shall promptly 
notify the Title IX Coordinator. 
Once notified, the Title IX Coordinator shall ensure the complaint or allegation is addressed through AR 
4119.12/4219.12/4319.12 - Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures or AR 4030 - 
Nondiscrimination in Employment, as applicable.  Because a complaint or allegation that is dismissed or denied under the Title IX 
complaint procedure may still be subject to consideration under state law, the Title IX Coordinator shall ensure that any 
implementation of AR 4119.12/4219.12/4319.12 concurrently meets the requirements of AR 4030. 
(cf. 4119.12/4219.12/4319.12 - Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaints) 
The Title IX Coordinator shall offer supportive measures to the complainant and respondent, as deemed appropriate under the 
circumstances. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 23 of 51 9/30/24 
 

Upon investigation of a sexual harassment complaint, any district employee found to have engaged or participated in sexual 
harassment or to have aided, abetted, incited, compelled, or coerced another to commit sexual harassment in violation of this policy 
shall be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal, in accordance with law and the applicable collective bargaining 
agreement. 
 
Board Policy 4219.11 
The Governing Board prohibits sexual harassment of district employees and job applicants. The Board also prohibits retaliatory 
behavior or action against district employees or other persons who complain, testify or otherwise participate in the complaint 
process established pursuant to this policy and administrative regulation. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) (cf. 4030 - Nondiscrimination in Employment) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall take all actions necessary to ensure the prevention, investigation, and correction of sexual 
harassment, including but not limited to: 
1. Providing training to employees in accordance with law and administrative regulation 
2. Publicizing and disseminating the district's sexual harassment policy to staff 
(cf. 4112.9/4212.9/4312.9 - Employee Notifications) 
3. Ensuring prompt, thorough, and fair investigation of complaints 
4. Taking timely and appropriate corrective/remedial action(s), which may require interim separation of thecomplainant and the 
alleged harasser and subsequent monitoring of developments 
All complaints and allegations of sexual harassment shall be kept confidential to the extent necessary to carry out the investigation 
or to take other subsequent necessary actions. (5 CCR 4964) 
Any district employee or job applicant who feels that he/she has been sexually harassed or who has knowledge of any incident of 
sexual harassment by or against another employee, a job applicant or a student, 
shall immediately report the incident to his/her supervisor, the principal, district administrator or Superintendent. 
A supervisor, principal or other district administrator who receives a harassment complaint shall promptly notify the Superintendent 
or designee. 
Complaints of sexual harassment shall be filed in accordance with AR 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment. 
An employee may bypass his/her supervisor in filing a complaint where the supervisor is the subject of the complaint. 
(cf. 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment) 
Any district employee who engages or participates in sexual harassment or who aids, abets, incites, compels, or coerces another to 
commit sexual harassment against a district employee, job applicant, or student is in violation of this policy and is subject to 
disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal. 
(cf. 4117.4 - Dismissal) 
(cf. 4118 - Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
(cf. 4218 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
 
Board Policy 4319.11 
The Governing Board prohibits sexual harassment of district employees and job applicants. The Board also prohibits retaliatory 
behavior or action against district employees or other persons who complain, testify or otherwise participate in the complaint 
process established pursuant to this policy and administrative regulation. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
(cf. 4030 - Nondiscrimination in Employment) 
The Superintendent or designee shall take all actions necessary to ensure the prevention, investigation, and correction of sexual 
harassment, including but not limited to: 
1. Providing training to employees in accordance with law and administrative regulation 
2. Publicizing and disseminating the district's sexual harassment policy to staff 
(cf. 4112.9/4212.9/4312.9 - Employee Notifications) 
3. Ensuring prompt, thorough, and fair investigation of complaints 
4. Taking timely and appropriate corrective/remedial action(s), which may require interim separation of thecomplainant and the 
alleged harasser and subsequent monitoring of developments 
All complaints and allegations of sexual harassment shall be kept confidential to the extent necessary to carry out the investigation 
or to take other subsequent necessary actions. (5 CCR 4964) 
Any district employee or job applicant who feels that he/she has been sexually harassed or who has knowledge of any incident of 
sexual harassment by or against another employee, a job applicant or a student, 
shall immediately report the incident to his/her supervisor, the principal, district administrator or Superintendent. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 24 of 51 9/30/24 
 

A supervisor, principal or other district administrator who receives a harassment complaint shall promptly notify the Superintendent 
or designee. 
Complaints of sexual harassment shall be filed in accordance with AR 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment. 
An employee may bypass his/her supervisor in filing a complaint where the supervisor is the subject of the complaint. 
(cf. 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment) 
Any district employee who engages or participates in sexual harassment or who aids, abets, incites, compels, or coerces another to 
commit sexual harassment against a district employee, job applicant, or student is in violation of this policy and is subject to 
disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal. 
 
Board Policy 5145.7 
The Governing Board is committed to maintaining a safe school environment that is free from harassment and discrimination. The 
Board prohibits, at school or at school-sponsored or school-related activities, sexual harassment targeted at any student by anyone. 
The Board also prohibits retaliatory behavior or action against any person who reports, files a complaint or testifies about, or 
otherwise supports a complainant in alleging sexual harassment. 
The district strongly encourages any student who feels that he/she is being or has been sexually harassed on school grounds or at a 
school-sponsored or school-related activity by another student or an adult who has experienced off-campus sexual harassment that 
has a continuing effect on campus to immediately contact his/her teacher, the principal, or any other available school employee. 
Any employee who receives a report or observes an incident of sexual harassment shall notify the principal or a district compliance 
officer. Once notified, the principal or compliance officer shall take the steps to investigate and address the allegation, as specified in 
the accompanying administrative regulations. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
(cf. 1312.1 - Complaints Concerning District Employees) 
(cf. 5131 - Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.2 - Bullying) 
(cf. 5137 - Positive School Climate) 
(cf. 5141.4 - Child Abuse Prevention and Reporting) 
(cf. 5145.3 - Nondiscrimination/Harassment) 
(cf. 6142.1 - Sexual Health and HIV/AIDS Prevention Instruction) 
The Superintendent or designee shall take appropriate actions to reinforce the district's sexual harassment  policy. 
Instruction/Information 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that all district students receive age-appropriate information on sexual harassment. 
Such instruction and information shall include: 
1. What acts and behavior constitute sexual harassment, including the fact that sexual harassment could occur between people of 
the same sex and could involve sexual violence 
2. A clear message that students do not have to endure sexual harassment under any circumstance 
3. Encouragement to report observed incidents of sexual harassment even where the alleged victim of the harassment has not 
complained 
4. A clear message that student safety is the district's primary concern, and that any separate rule violationinvolving an alleged 
victim or any other person reporting a sexual harassment incident will be addressed separately and will not affect the manner in 
which the sexual harassment complaint will be received, investigated, or resolved 
5. A clear message that, regardless of a complainant's noncompliance with the writing, timeline, or otherformal filing requirements, 
every sexual harassment allegation that involves a student, whether as the complainant, respondent, or victim of the harassment, 
shall be investigated and prompt action shall be taken to stop any harassment, prevent recurrence, and address any continuing 
effect on students 
6. Information about the district's procedure for investigating complaints and the person(s) to whom a reportof sexual harassment 
should be made 
7. Information about the rights of students and parents/guardians to file a civil or criminal complaint, asapplicable, including the 
right to file a civil or criminal complaint while the district investigation of a sexual harassment complaint continues 
8. A clear message that, when needed, the district will take interim measures to ensure a safe schoolenvironment for a student who 
is the complainant or victim of sexual harassment and/or other students during an investigation and that, to the extent possible, 
when such interim measures are taken, they shall not disadvantage the complainant or victim of the alleged harassment 
Complaint Process and Disciplinary Actions 
Sexual harassment complaints by and against students shall be investigated and resolved in accordance with law and district 
procedures specified in AR 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint Procedures. Principals are responsible for notifying students and 
parents/guardians that complaints of sexual harassment can be filed under AR 1312.3 and where to obtain a copy of the procedures. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 25 of 51 9/30/24 
 

Upon investigation of a sexual harassment complaint, any student found to have engaged in sexual harassment or sexual violence is 
in violation of this policy shall be subject to disciplinary action. For students in grades 4-12, disciplinary action may include 
suspension and/or expulsion, provided that, in imposing such discipline, the entire circumstances of the incident(s) shall be taken 
into account. 
(cf. 5144 - Discipline) 
(cf. 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process) 
(cf. 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Students with Disabilities)) 
Upon investigation of a sexual harassment complaint, any employee found to have engaged in sexual harassment or sexual violence 
toward any student shall have his/her employment terminated in accordance with laws, and the applicable collective bargaining 
agreement. 
(cf. 4117.4 - Dismissal) 
(cf. 4117.7 - Employment Status Report) 
(cf. 4118 - Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
(cf. 4218 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
(cf. 4119.11/4219.11/4319.11 - Sexual Harassment) 
Record-Keeping 
The Superintendent or designee shall maintain a record of all reported cases of sexual harassment to enable the district to monitor, 
address, and prevent repetitive harassing behavior in district schools. (cf. 3580 - District Records) 
 
 
C. Staff Training: All LUSD staff engage in mandated sexual harassment training annually. 
 
 
(F) School-wide Dress Code Relating to Gang-Related Apparel (EC 35183) 
Lemon Crest abides by the dress code policy established in the LUSD Board Policy BP 5132. 
The Governing Board believes that appropriate dress and grooming contribute to a productive learning environment. The Board 
expects students to give proper attention to personal cleanliness and to wear clothes that are suitable for the school activities in 
which they participate. Students' clothing must not present a health or safety hazard or a distraction which would interfere with the 
educational process. 
(cf. 4119.22 - Dress and Grooming) 
(cf. 5145.2 - Freedom of Speech/Expression) 
Students and parents/guardians shall be informed about dress and grooming standards at the beginning of the school year and 
whenever these standards are revised. A student who violates these standards shall be subject to appropriate disciplinary action. 
(cf. 5144 - Discipline) 
Gang-Related Apparel 
The principal, staff and parents/guardians at a school may establish a reasonable dress code that prohibits students from wearing 
gang-related apparel when there is evidence of a gang presence that disrupts or threatens to disrupt the school's activities. Such a 
dress code may be included as part of the school safety plan and must be presented to the Board for approval. The Board shall 
approve the plan upon determining that it is necessary to protect the health and safety of the school's students. 
(cf. 0450 - Comprehensive Safety Plan) 
(cf. 5136 - Gangs) 
Uniforms 
In order to promote student safety and discourage theft, peer rivalry and/or gang activity, the principal, staff and parents/guardians 
at a school may establish a reasonable dress code requiring students to wear uniforms. Such a dress code may be included as part of 
the school safety plan and must be presented to the Board for approval. The Board shall approve the plan upon determining that it is 
necessary to protect the health and safety of the school's students. 
If a school's plan to require uniforms is adopted, the Superintendent or designee shall establish procedures whereby 
parents/guardians may choose to have their children exempted from the school uniform policy. Students shall not be penalized 
academically, otherwise discriminated against or denied attendance to school if their parents/guardians so decide. (Education Code 
35183) 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that resources are identified to assist economically disadvantaged students in obtaining 
uniforms. 
 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 26 of 51 9/30/24 
 

(G) Procedure for Safe Ingress and Egress of Pupils, Parents, and Staff to and from School (EC 35294.2) 
Beyond planning for daily ingress/egress routes and emergency evacuation routes, schools must plan for assisting students, staff and 
visitors with disabilities. Under the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, individuals who are deaf/hard of hearing, blind/partially 
sighted, mobility impaired and/or cognitively/emotionally impaired must be assisted. 
At Lemon Crest Elementary, students enter the school through the playground via the carpool loop, or via the walking gates. 
Students are picked up at the same place. For students who need assistance with mobility, ADA spaces are available, as are curbside 
spaces to exit their vehicles, and students are assisted in through the main gate. 
B. Planning 
 
It is recommended that schools identify the location of potential evacuation sites based on the potential circumstances that may 
cause movement/relocation of the school population in the event of an emergency. 
 
On-Campus Evacuation/Assembly Location 
 
In the event of an on-campus evacuation, students are evacuated to the north and south playgrounds. 
 
Off-Campus Evacuation/Assembly Location: 
 
Students will either be relocated to the Lakeside Union School District Office, or Tierra del Sol Middle School. 
 
Provide the addresses of at least two off-campus locations that have agreed to provide an assembly area for your school population. 
 
Primary Off-Site Evacuation/Assembly Location 
 
Organization: LUSD District Office 
Address: 12335 Woodside Drive Lakeside, CA 92040 
Contact: Rachel Camarero 
Phone Number: (619)390-2600 
Date of Agreement: September 28, 2022 
 
Organization: Tierra del Sol Middle School 
Address: 9611 Petite Lane Lakeside, CA 92040 
Contact:  Dr. Leslie Hardimann 
Phone Number: (619)390-2670 
Date of Agreement: September 28, 2022 
 
In the event of an airborne chemical or biological release, it is safest for students and staff to remain indoors at the school site. 
 
Follow the "Shelter-in-Place" procedures. 
 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 27 of 51 9/30/24 
 

(I) School Discipline Rules and Consequences (EC 35291 and EC 35291.5) 
 
Lemon Crest Elementary School Student Conduct Code 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 28 of 51 9/30/24 
 

A. Statement of Rules and Procedures on School Discipline 
 
Education Code 44807: 
 
"Every teacher in the public schools shall hold Pupils to a strict account for their conduct on the way to and from school, on the 
playgrounds, or during recess. A teacher, vice principal, principal, or any other certificated employee of a school district, shall not be 
subject to criminal prosecution or criminal penalties for the exercise, during the performance of his duties, of the same degree of 
physical control over a pupil that a parent would be legally privileged to exercise but which in no event shall exceed the amount of 
physical control reasonably necessary to maintain order, protect property, or protect the health and safety of pupils, or to maintain 
proper and appropriate conditions conducive to learning." 
 
B. Notification to Students and Parents 
 
Education Code 35291: 
 Parents and students shall be notified of the District and school site rules pertaining to student discipline at the beginning of the 
first semester, and at the time of enrollment for students who enroll thereafter. 
 The discipline policy shall be reviewed annually with input from the Discipline Team, site administrators, campus security, staff, 
students, and parents. 
 
C. Staff Training  
Lemon Crest Elementary School will review Safety Plans and Procedures with all staff in September 2024, February 2025, March 
2024. Option-Based Safety Planning was provided in Spring 2024. Tenets from training will be reviewed annually and as needed.  
 
D. Lemon Crest Unexpected Behavior Flow Chart to prevent and address Minor & Major Unexpected Behaviors:  
 
START WITH POSITIVE PREVENTION 
ALWAYS acknowledge & praise students who are following class & school expectations consistently 
Look for ways for the student displaying unexpected behaviors to have success. 
Use intrinsic/extrinsic motivation or incentives specific to the child displaying unexpected behaviors as part of long-term behavior 
modification. 
 
#1: VERBAL WARNING & REMINDER 
Remind student of expected behavior ROAR expectations.  
Repeat a minimum of 2 times 
 
#2: RETEACH + INTERVENTION 
If Minor Unexp. Behavior continues, discuss with student privately.  
Utilize Tier 1 intervention strategies from Intervention menu 
Repeat for a minimum of 2 times 
Document in a ABC format (Antecedent, Behavior, Consequence)  
Communicate to Parent/Caregiver  
 
#3: CLASS CONSEQUENCE EXAMPLES 
Loss of privilege: Sit out from game, lose Free Time, etc.  
Verbal or Written Apology  
Loss of access to misused material or tech for designated amount of time 
Bathroom Buddy  
Check-In/Check-Out 
Complete assignment during preferred activity time. 
Alternate Recess: Walk laps alone; no interaction with peers 
Teacher contacts parent/caregiver 
Temporary break from class in a Buddy Class - no more than 15min with Think Sheet. Utilize this no more than 2 times per week. Our 
goal is keeping kids in class and in school. 
 
#4: SEL Check-In 
If Minor Unexp. Behavior continues, walkie for School Counselor/Interns, School Psych or Case Managers to have a quick check-in 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 29 of 51 9/30/24 
 

with student 
Teacher/Staff talk with the student after the next block of time (ie snack, lunch or the next day) to check in 
 
#5: MINOR TO MAJOR WALKIE FOR SUPPORT 

• If minor behaviors are still occurring despite the above interventions, Staff Member walkie for Support 
• “Teacher in Room 16 needs assistance for XX - minor” - to get support to prevent the unexpected behavior from 

escalating further. OR 
• “Teacher in Room 16 needs assistance for XX - major/ASAP” 
• Office will dispatch support based on availability 

 
 
#6: MAJOR OFFICE REFERRAL TO PRINCIPAL 
Submit an Office Referral for:  
A Major Unexp. Behavior and/or 
Repeated minor behaviors 
Teacher to communicate to parent/caregiver of student’s Unexp. Behaviors and that there was an Office Referral 
Teacher to document Unexp. Behaviors 
Principal will review Office Referral and teacher/staff-provided documentation in determining progressive discipline: 
Consequences 
Corrective Action 
Restorative Practice 
 
 
Progressive Discipline looks like: 
Taking into account the type of behavior, frequency and severity.  
Reviewing teacher documentation of previous interventions and classroom-based consequences and corrective actions. 
Reviewing Behavior Incident Logs on IC 
Principal, School Counselor, MTSS TOSA and/or Admin Designee to consult if a Threat or Suicide Assessment is necessary 
Examples of Principal-designated Consequences:  
Conference with Principal 
Parent/caregiver phone call/email 
Loss of Privilege for a longer period of time (Ex, alternate recess for the remainder of the week) 
Campus beautification 
Loss of school events (Field Trips) 
Suspension (Note: this is reserved for severe major unexpected behaviors - Our goal is to keep kids in class and in school) 
Examples of Principal-designated Corrective Action/Restorative Practice:  
Principal Think sheet signed by parent/caregiver and returned 
Reflection Presentation or Essay: 6-slide/paragraph reflection on words/actions, effect on others and what was learned.  
Practicing expected behavior through role-play 
Practicing of problem-solving strategies or calming strategies 
Behavior Contract or Safety Plan 
Review of Responsible Tech Use policy 
Review of Anti-Bullying Policy 
Restorative conversation between student and person harmed (other student, staff, etc) 
 
 
 
 
 
Conduct Code Procedures 
A. Statement of Rules and Procedures on School Discipline 
 
Education Code 44807: 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 30 of 51 9/30/24 
 

"Every teacher in the public schools shall hold Pupils to a strict account for their conduct on the way to and from school, on the 
playgrounds, or during recess. A teacher, vice principal, principal, or any other certificated employee of a school district, shall not be 
subject to criminal prosecution or criminal penalties for the exercise, during the performance of his duties, of the same degree of 
physical control over a pupil that a parent would be legally privileged to exercise but which in no event shall exceed the amount of 
physical control reasonably necessary to maintain order, protect property, or protect the health and safety of pupils, or to maintain 
proper and appropriate conditions conducive to learning." 
 
B. Notification to Students and Parents 
 
Education Code 35291: 
Parents and students shall be notified of the District and school site rules pertaining to student discipline at the beginning of the first 
semester, and at the time of enrollment for students who enroll thereafter. 
The discipline policy shall be reviewed annually with input from the Discipline Team, site administrators, campus security, staff, 
students, and parents. 
 
C. Staff Training 
Staff are trained annually on the discipline code on the in-service days prior to the school year. Additionally, staff training is 
refreshed throughout the year on Wednesday PLC days. 
 
D. School Discipline Chart and/or Selected Disciplinary Policies and Procedures. 
Lemon Crest uses progressive discipline through the lens of MTSS with Consequences, Corrective Action and Restorative Practices in 
order to prevent future unexpected behaviors and teach/reteach appropriate and expected behaviors. 
 
 
(J) Procedures to Prepare for Active Shooters 
Lemon Crest Staff receive annual training to prepare for an Active Shooter. This training is created by the San Diego County Office of 
Education in partnership with local law enforcement. Lemon Crest takes preventive measures, such as operating a closed campus 
and ensuring that our campus is secure. 
 
Procedures for Preventing Acts of Bullying and Cyber-bullying 
BULLYING (Ed code 48900) 
Engaging in an act of bullying or cyberbullying, such as intimidation, harassment, or threats towards staff or students, will not be 
tolerated on campus or school events. All acts of bullying are taken seriously. Claiming that comments, gestures, or looks made in 
jest will not pardon the student from the consequences for such actions. Consequences for bullying/harassment may include 
suspension from school, referral to appropriate professional counseling, signing a Conflict Resolution Form, and recommendation for 
expulsion. 
 
BULLYING PREVENTION 
It is the belief of our school that every student and staff member is entitled to a safe school environment free from discrimination 
and bullying and in partnership with the District, it has an obligation to promote mutual respect, tolerance, and acceptance. To 
ensure bullying does not occur on our school campus, the District provides staff development training in bullying prevention and 
cultivates acceptance, belonging, inclusion, and understanding in all students and staff to build the school’s capacity to maintain a 
safe and healthy 
learning environment. 
 
Also, the school district has in place policies, procedures, and practices that are designed to reduce and 
eliminate bullying and harassment as well as processes and procedures to address incidents of bullying and harassment when they 
occur. Bullying or harassment based on race, color, creed, national origin, ethnicity, gender, gender identity, gender expression, 
language, perceived or actual sexual orientation, physical or mental disability, political or religious ideology, physical appearance, or 
economic status, or association with a person or group with one or more of these actual or perceived characteristics is not 
acceptable and will not be tolerated. 
 
This policy applies to all acts while on school grounds, at a school-sponsored activity,, on a school bus, during any activity related to 
school attendance. 
It is the expectation that teachers and the administration shall discuss policies, procedures, and practices with the students and will 
assure them that they need not endure any form of bullying. School administration and teaching staff are qualified to recognize, 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 31 of 51 9/30/24 
 

manage, and respond to unacceptable behaviors to support a safe and respectful learning environment. 
 
Lemon Crest School has established goals based on Responsive Classroom and the PBIS program that emphasize bully prevention to 
support character education, positive behavior, and 
classroom management practices. Staff recognizes students and provides incentives as part of an ongoing focus to build a healthy 
environment to reduce classroom disruptions, promote respect and responsibility, and motivate student learning. 
 
 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 32 of 51 9/30/24 
 

 
Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures 
 
Each year the School Site Council and Site Safety Committee reviews all aspects of the Safety Plan and Emergency Actions that may 
need to be taken. 
 
Throughout the reviewing and evaluation process, representatives from the different educational partner groups will have the 
opportunity to provide feedback and input. The plan is presented to the School Site Council and Site Safety Committee, and then 
shared with the District for review and approval.  The Superintendent receives consistent communication with the San Diego County 
Office of Education (SDCOE), which allows the school sites to know the very latest in law enforcement, and fire department policies. 
Ongoing consultation is provided by the San Diego County Sheriff's Department and the local law enforcement and first responder 
agencies. 
 
Lemon Crest Elementary's Comprehensive School Safety Plan is reviewed and approved by the different committees and agencies 
prior to the annual deadline, which is September 27, 2024 for the 2024-2025 school year. 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 33 of 51 9/30/24 
 

 
Safety Plan Appendices 
 
  



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 34 of 51 9/30/24 
 

 
Emergency Contact Numbers 
 
Utilities, Responders and Communication Resources 
 

Type Vendor Number Comments 

School District Lakeside Union School 
District (619)390-2600  

Law 
Enforcement/Fire/Paramed
ic 

San Diego Sheriff (619) 938-1360  

Law 
Enforcement/Fire/Paramed
ic 

Lakeside Fire Protection 
District (619) 390-2350  

Public Utilities Lakeside Water District (619) 443-3805  

Public Utilities San Diego Gas and Electric (619) 626-6628  

Local Hospitals Rady Children's Hospital (858)576-1700  

Local Hospitals Sharp Grossmont Hospital (619) 740-6000  
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 35 of 51 9/30/24 
 

 
Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures 
 

Activity Description 
(i.e. review steps, meetings conducted, approvals, etc) Date and Time Attached Document 

(description and location) 
CSSP was written/updated by the School Principal 
 
 

8/30/2024  

The CSSP was reviewed and approved by the School Site 
Council (SSC) team. 

  

The CSSP was reviewed and approved by the Site Safety 
Committee. 

  

CPTED visit with San Diego Sheriff   

The CSSP and Emergency Preparedness Plan was reviewed 
with Lemon Crest Staff. 

  

 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 36 of 51 9/30/24 
 

 
Lemon Crest Elementary School Incident Command System 
 

--------     Incident Commander     

--------     Jen Price--------     

--------           

--------   Safety Officer   Public Information Officer   

--------   Frank Sandoval--------   _________--------   

--------           

--------   Scribe       

--------   Deann Horn--------       

--------           

--------           

Operations ------- Planning/ 
Intelligence  Logistics  Finance/Administration 

Madina Rusboldt-------- ------- Beth Sandford--------  Michelle Dennis--------  Brandi Whitehurst-------- 

--------           

--------           

--------  First Aid & Search 
Teacher A        

--------  Kim Holt, Corie Flynn, ______--
------        

--------           

--------  
Student Release & 

Accountability 
TeacherB 

       

--------  Heather Taft, Georgina Perez, 
_________--------        

 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 37 of 51 9/30/24 
 

 
Incident Command Team Responsibilities 
 
Standardized Emergency Response Management System Overview 
The California Standardized Emergency Management System (SEMS) is designed to centralize and coordinate emergency response 
through the use of standardized terminology and processes. This greatly facilitates the flow of information and resources among the 
agencies participating in response to an emergency. SEMS consists of five functions: 
 
 
Management 
During an emergency, the Incident Commander directs response actions from a designated Command Post. To effectively do this, 
the Incident Commander must constantly assess the situation, and develop and implement appropriate strategies. The Incident 
Commander must be familiar with the available resources, accurately document all response actions, and effectively communicate 
response strategies to others participating in the response. This function is typically filled by the school principal. The principal is 
assisted in carrying out this function by a Public Information & Liaison Officer and Safety Officer. 
 
Planning & Intelligence 
Planning and Intelligence involves the use of various methods to efficiently gather information, weigh and document the information 
for significance, and actively assess the status of the emergency. This understanding and knowledge about the situation at hand is 
vital to the effective management of a response. These activities are performed by a single person who reports directly to the 
Incident Commander. 
 
Operations 
All response actions are implemented under by Operations. This includes staff performing first aid, crisis intervention, search and 
rescue, site security, damage assessment, evacuations, and the release of students. 
 
Logistics 
Logistics supports the response by coordinating personnel; assembling and deploying volunteers; providing supplies, equipment, and 
services; and facilitating communications among emergency responders. 
 
Finance & Administration 
Finance & Administration involves the purchasing of all necessary materials, tracking financial records, timekeeping for emergency 
responders, and recovering school records following an emergency. These activities are performed by a single person who reports 
directly to the Incident Commander. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 38 of 51 9/30/24 
 

 
Emergency Response Guidelines 
 
Step One: Identify the Type of Emergency 
This occurs on site or by EOC, depending on circumstances. 
 
 
Step Two: Identify the Level of Emergency 
The level of emergency will be determined by the Emergency Officer In Command. 
 
 
Step Three: Determine the Immediate Response Action 
In the previous sections, specific details were given as to the steps that are taking place 
to address specific emergencies. As circumstances change and protocols continue to evolve, adjustments and systems will change 
accordingly. 
 
 
 
Step Four: Communicate the Appropriate Response Action 
Professional Development Activities: 
All school personnel receive appropriate professional development that includes training on the implementation of a school safety 
plan, safe school strategies, crisis response training, consistent enforcement of school discipline and positive behavior interventions 
and supports policies, child abuse reporting, and identification and recognition of student mental health issues designed to 
determine an appropriate first response. 
Counseling and Wellness Services: 
Effective counseling and wellness services are available to all students (e.g., psychological and social services, attendance 
improvement, wellness support, and appropriate referral systems for different types of student support and 
counseling. 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 39 of 51 9/30/24 
 

 
Types of Emergencies & Specific Procedures 
 
Armed Assault on Campus 
. Lockdown: Active Shooter 
An Active shooter/Lockdown Alert is sounded if there is a sniper, armed intruder or active shooter on campus. Staff members have a 
very limited amount of time in which to commit to a course of action. Immediately assess both the situation and the surrounding 
environment and responds to the situation based upon the Active shooter Training and drills. This is also true for your students who 
may need to become resources for substitutes or who are alone when an event occurs. 
 
Remember, the Active shooter response is a partnership with local law enforcement. 
 
Immediate actions should include: 
 
Students and staff go into classrooms/buildings or run to off-site evacuation areas. 
LOCKDOWN includes building door barricades, internal barricades, covering windows and turning off/dimming lights. 
Notify administration 
Call 9-1-1 if you know the location of the shooter, the description or identity of the shooter or if you need medical direction for a 
victim. 
Administration notifies the Superintendent 
 
Intermediate activities: 
 
Place a red card under the door/in a window if you have a serious injury in the classroom. 
Take roll 
Conduct anxiety-reducing activities 
 
Evacuation: 
 
Prepare students and yourself for a quick evacuation 
Follow directions of law enforcement when they arrive 
 
 
Biological or Chemical Release 
Poisoning, Chemical Spills, Hazardous Materials 
POISONING: 
 
If a student ingests a poisonous substance: 
 
Call Poison Control Center Link Line 1-800-222-1222. Take appropriate first aid measures. Call parents. 
Notify the Health Services Office. 
 
Following any emergency, notify the District Superintendents' Office 
 
CHEMICAL SPILL ON SITE: 
 
The following are guidelines for Chemical Spills: 
 
Evacuate the immediate area of personnel 
Determine whether to initiate Shelter In Place Protocol 
Secure the area (block points of entry) 
Identify the chemical and follow the procedures for that particular chemical. Notify the District Office. 
 
CHEMICAL SPILL OFF SITE INVOLVING DISTRICT EQUIPMENT/PROPERTY 
 
 Notify the Todd Owens with the following information: 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 40 of 51 9/30/24 
 

• Date, time, and exact location of the release or threatened release 
• Name and telephone number of person reporting 
• Type of chemical involved and the estimated quantity 
• Description of potential hazards presented by the spill 
• Document time and date notification made 
• Other emergency personnel responding (Highway Patrol, CALTRANS, etc.) 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 41 of 51 9/30/24 
 

Locate a fire extinguisher and have present, should the need arise 
Place reflective triangles or traffic cones if in street or highway. DO NOT LIGHT FLARES! 
If spill response equipment is available use it to take the necessary measures to prevent the spill from spreading. 
 
Reporting Chemical Spills 
 
Once an emergency spill response has been completed, the person reporting the initial spill must complete a SPILL RESPONSE 
EVALUATION. The incident must be reported to the Superintendent WITHIN 24 HOURS OF THE SPILL. 
 
Spill Clean Up 
 
Chemical Spills may not be cleaned up by school personnel. Call the District Office at [Insert District Office Contact Name] and [Insert 
District Office Phone Number]. The cleanup will be coordinated through a designated contractor. 
 
HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES 
 
Hazardous Substances include the following, but is not limited to the following: 
 
Gasoline 
Solvents 
Motor Oil 
Diesel Fuel 
Kerosene 
Anti-Freeze 
Airborne Gases/Fumes 
Lacquer Thinner 
Paint 
Agricultural Spray 
Paint Thinner 
Stain 
Brake Fluid 
 
Always call for assistance and: 
 
Extinguish all ignition sources 
Shut off main emergency switch to fuel pump, if appropriate 
Move appropriate fire extinguishing equipment to area 
If possible, contain the spill to prevent further contamination 
Move people/personnel away or evacuate from contamination area 
 
If the spill is too great to handle, contact the District Office Todd Owens and (619) 390-2800 . 
 
Staff and students will evacuate the area immediately, if appropriate. Move uphill, upwind, upstream if possible. 
 
VEHICLE FUEL SPILL 
 
When a spill has occurred, the first thing to do is to keep the situation from worsening. Follow these steps: 
 
Shut off emergency switch 
Avoid skin contact 
Isolate the spill from people and vehicles by blocking all points of entry 
Stop and evaluate any hazards 
Prevent discharge into storm drains. Divert the flow by sealing off areas with absorbents. Prevent runoff. Use absorbent "socks" or 
"booms" to contain the spill 
Identify the source, estimated quantity spilled and stop further release(s) - IF IT CAN BE DONE 
SAFELY 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 42 of 51 9/30/24 
 

Take care of any injured Notify the District Office. 
If the spill is unmanageable, contact the Fire Department by calling 9-1-1 
 
If, after attempted containment, the release still poses either a present or a potential threat, notify the California Office of 
Emergency Services and local emergency assistance organizations (fire, police, etc.). Give the following information: 
 
Date, time, and exact location of the release 
Name and telephone number of persons reporting the release 
The type of fuel spilled and the estimated quantity 
Description of potential hazards presented by the fuel spill 
Document the time and date notification was made and the information provided 
A written report to the appropriate office of the California Department of Health Services is required within 15 days after the 
incident. Contact the District for assistance with this report. 
 
Bio Terrorism 
Anthrax Threat 
 
How to identify suspicious letters or packages 
 
Some characteristics of suspicious letters or packages include the following: 
 
Excessive postage 
Handwritten or poorly typed addresses 
Incorrect titles 
Title, but no name 
Misspellings of common words 
Oily stains, discolorations or odors 
No return address 
Excessive weight 
Lopsided or uneven envelop 
Protruding wires or aluminum foil 
Excessive security material such as masking tape, string, etc. 
Visual distractions 
Ticking sound 
Marked with restrictive endorsements, such as "Personal" or "Confidential." Shows a city or state in the postmark that does not 
match the return address. 
 
Suspicious unopened letter or package marked with threatening message such as "Anthrax" 
 
Do not shake or empty the contents of any suspicious envelop or package. 
Place the envelope or package in a plastic bag or some other type of container to prevent leakage of contents. 
If you do not have any container, then cover the envelope or package with anything (e.g., clothing, paper, trash can, etc.) and do not 
remove this cover. 
Then leave the room and close the door, or section off the area to prevent others from entering. 
Wash your hands with soap and water to prevent spreading any powder to your face. 
If you are at home, report the incident to the local police. If you are at work, report the incident to the local police and your site 
administrator. 
List all people who were in the room or area when this suspicious letter or package was recognized. Give the list to both the local 
public health authorities and law enforcement officials for follow-up investigations and advice. 
 
Envelope with powder or powder spills out onto a surface 
 
Do not try to clean up the powder. Cover the spilled contents immediately with anything and do not remove this cover. 
Leave the room and close the door or section off the area to prevent others from entering. 
Wash your hands with soap and water to prevent spreading any powder to your face. 
If you are at home, CALL 9-1-1 to report the incident. If you are at work, CALL 9-1-1 and your site administrator to report the 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 43 of 51 9/30/24 
 

incident. 
Remove heavily contaminated clothing as soon as possible and place in a plastic bag, or some other container that can be sealed. 
The clothing bag should be given to the emergency responders for proper disposal. 
Shower with soap and water as soon as possible. Do not use bleach or other disinfectant on your skin. If possible, list all people who 
were in the room or area, especially those who had actual contact with the powder. Give the list to both the local police and public 
health authorities so that proper instructions can be given for medical follow-up and further investigation. 
 
Possible room contamination by aerosol 
 
(Examples: small devices triggered warning that air handling systems is contaminated, or warning that a biological agent is released 
in a public space.) 
 
Turn off local fans or ventilation units in the area. 
Leave the area immediately. 
Close the door or section off the area to prevent others from entering. 
Move upwind, uphill, upstream. 
If you are at home, report the incident to the local police. If you are at work, report the incident to the local police and your site 
administrator. 
Shut down air handling systems in the building if possible. 
If possible, list all people who were in the room or area, especially those who had actual contact with the powder. Give the list to 
both the local police and public health authorities so that proper instructions can be given for medical follow-up and further 
investigation. 
 
DO NOT PANIC 
 
Anthrax organisms can cause infection in the skin, gastrointestinal system, or the lungs. In order for this to happen, the organism 
must be rubbed into abraded skin, swallowed, or inhaled as a fine, aerosolized mist. Disease can be prevented after exposure to the 
anthrax spores by early treatment with the appropriate antibiotics. Anthrax is not spread from one person to another person. 
 
For anthrax to be effective as a covert agent, it must be aerosolized into very small particles. This is difficult to do and requires a 
great deal of technical skill and special equipment. If these small particles are inhaled, life threatening lung infection can occur, but 
prompt recognition and treatment are effective. 
 
Botulism 
 
Botulism infection is extremely rare, with fewer than 200 cases reported in the U.S. each year. There are two forms of botulism 
which are associated with a terrorist act: 
 
Food Borne Botulism 
 
The bacterium is ingested with the contaminated food source. 
 
Symptoms begin within 6 hours to 2 weeks, but most commonly between 12 to 36 hours after eating contaminated foods. 
 
Double or blurred vision, drooping eyelids, slurred speck, difficulty swallowing, dry mouth, and a descending muscle weakness that 
affects the shoulders first, then upper arms, lower arms, thighs, calves, etc. 
 
These symptoms may be proceeded by gastrointestinal disorder such as abdominal cramps, nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea. 
Paralysis of the respiratory muscles will cause death unless the person is assisted by mechanical ventilation. Botulism toxin can occur 
naturally in undercooked food, but the frequency of this is extremely rare. 
 
Inhalational Botulism 
 
Inhalation botulism results from the inhalation of the aerosolized toxin. A small amount of aerosolized toxin released into the wind 
can have a devastating effect on the surrounding population. Notwithstanding, inhalational botulism could be inflicted upon a more 
limited number of victims by introducing a contaminated object into an enclosed area such as inside of a building. The symptoms are 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 44 of 51 9/30/24 
 

indistinguishable from those of food borne botulism, except that the gastrointestinal signs sometimes associated with food borne 
botulism may not occur. 
 
Botulism cannot be transmitted from one person to another. There is no vaccine for botulism treatment at this time. However, 
treatment consists of passive immunization with equine anti-toxins and supportive patient care. 
 
Smallpox 
 
Smallpox infection results from the variola virus. The disease was once worldwide in scope. Before people were vaccinated, almost 
everyone contracted the disease. The virus was effectively eradicated from the world in the late 1970's, and the World Health 
Organization recommended governments cease routine vaccinations in 1980. 
 
Vaccination has proven effective in preventing the disease in exposed persons if administered within 4 days of exposure. 
 
Smallpox is a highly contagious infectious disease that has a mortality rate of about 30%. Since the 
discontinuation of vaccination in the early 1980's, virtually no one is protected against the disease today. The U.S. government is 
currently working to address the need for vaccinations. There is no proven treatment should infection occur.  
 
Immunization and Mass Prophylaxis Pandemic and Bio Terrorism 
This Bio-Terrorism Support Plan (Plan) provides basic steps to guide designated Lakeside Union School District County Public Health 
Department, City of Lakeside and Health Services school district officials in establishing middle and high schools as immunization 
centers (mass prophylaxis centers) contingent upon a Memorandum of Understanding being signed. 
 
This Plan is a living document subject to periodic revisions when needed. 
 
In the event of a bio-terrorism outbreak and based upon the Metropolitan Medical Response Plan, local officials will have 
determined which areas within the city to be quarantined, hot and cold zones. A quarantined area is defined as a specified area 
where isolation is enforced. A hot zone is defined as a contaminated area. A cold zone is an unaffected area. 
 
Once the situation has been assessed and Public Health identifies the need to open an immunization center (mass prophylaxis 
center), then Public Health will contact the city. Subsequently, the City will contact the school district emergency contact to begin 
the process of coordinating the opening of an immunization center (mass prophylaxis center). 
 
Preparedness Steps 
 
The following provides guidelines for school district management in preparing, in advance, issues that need to be addressed during 
non-emergency times to ensure school district and school site readiness. 
Statement of Agreement signed by San Diego County Public Health Department, City and school district 
Examine the Public Health Department's Liability Coverage for using school district sites as mass prophylaxis centers. 
Establish that the City will provide security for the school district site 
Define how long the Immunization center (mass prophylaxis center) can be open and what type of furnishings are needed for the 
center. 
Ensure a manager is provided by the Public Health Department to oversee center operations Identify the need to train site personnel 
in administering inoculations and agree upon how these 
individuals will be compensated for their time by the Public Health Department Establish who will be responsible for clean up 
 
Public Health Department contacts City OES who then initiates contact with appropriate School district authorized contact (see 
emergency contact list for school district) 
 
1) Superintendent's Office: Lisa DeRosier  
 
2) School District Security: Todd Owens  
 
3) Custodial Services or Facilities: Todd Owens  
 
The City OES informs Police Department that authorization has been given to open the appropriate site(s). Only gymnasiums will be 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 45 of 51 9/30/24 
 

utilized. The school district official then follows the guidelines shown below: 
 
Authorized school official contact will inform Superintendent or designee of the opening of the school site(s) as an immunization 
center (mass prophylaxis center). 
If school is not in session or if mass prophylaxis center opening occurs after hours, school site personnel or authorized City Police 
Department will be present to actually unlock the site for Public Health Department 
Establish that the City will provide security for the school district site 
Contact principal of the school site being converted into an immunization center (mass prophylaxis center) 
Prior to turning school site over to the Public Health Department as a mass prophylaxis center, school site personnel will: 

• Perform a site check to record current condition of the area to be used as an immunization center (mass prophylaxis 
center) 

• Inventory usable materials within the center's designated area (see Site Inventory form in this section), i.e. toilet tissues, 
paper towels, soap 

• Ensure all other areas of the school site are not accessible to mass prophylaxis center personnel or public 
SCHOOL DISTRICT site personnel will unlock the school site upon arrival of Public Health Department and their staff 
 
Closing the Center 
 
Upon closing of the center, the Public Health Department ensures the site is secure and center manager has tracked school supplies 
and materials used. 
 
School site personnel compares supplies and materials used, physical property loss and damages 
Both Public Health Department City and school site personnel inspect shelter site for -Material and supplies used 

• Property loss 
• Property damage 

When inspection is completed, school site personnel gives Business Services Department a report of materials used and property 
damaged/loss (photograph) 
Business Services 

• Gives property loss/damage to Risk Management to determine cost of property loss and repair costs 
• Formalizes letter Public Health Department to file a claim covering loss and material usage 

 
 
 
Bomb Threat/ Threat Of violence 
Bomb Threat 
THE PERSON RECEIVING THE BOMB THREAT WILL: 
 
Attempt to gain as much information as possible when the threat is received. Do not hang up on the caller. 
Use the "bomb threat checklist" form (attached) as a guide to collect the information needed. Don't be bashful about asking direct, 
specific questions about the threat. Keep the caller on the phone as long as possible. If the threat is received by phone, attempt to 
gain more information. 
The most important information is: 
When will the bomb explode and where is the bomb located? 
Immediately after receiving the bomb threat, the person receiving the call will verbally notify the building administrator of the threat 
received. Complete the "bomb threat checklist" form (attached). Turn off cellular phones and/or walkie-talkie radios (transmits radio 
waves--could trigger a bomb). 
 
BUILDING ADMINISTRATOR WILL (IF NECESSARY): 
 
 Call 9-1-1. Give the following information: 

• Your name -Your call-back phone number 
• Exact street location with the nearest cross street 
• Nature of incident 
• Number and location of people involved and/or injured Notify Superintendent's Office. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 46 of 51 9/30/24 
 

Evacuate involved buildings using fire drill procedures. Principal must have Superintendent's permission to evacuate the entire site. 
Implement a systematic inspection of the facilities to determine if everyone is out. 
Fire Department or Police Officers shall organize a search team to check for suspicious objects; a bomb can be disguised to look like 
any common object. Site employees should be ready to assist as needed. 
Maintain an open telephone line for communications. 
Secure all exits to prevent re-entry to buildings during the search period. 
Be certain people stay clear of all buildings; a bomb(s) may be planted against an outside wall. The blast will be directed in large part 
away from the building. Re-occupy buildings only when proper authorities give clearance 
 
 
 
Earthquake 
B. Earthquake: Drop, Cover, and Hold 
Earthquake procedures in the classroom or office 
 
At the first indication of ground movement, you should DROP to the ground. It will soon be impossible to stand upright during the 
earthquake. Getting to the ground will prevent being thrown to the ground. 
 
You should seek protective COVER under or near desks, tables, or chairs in a kneeling or sitting position. 
 
You should HOLD onto the table or chair legs. Holding onto the legs will prevent it from moving away from you during the quake. 
Protect your eyes from flying glass and debris with your arm covering your eyes. 
 
You should remain in the DROP position until ground movement ends. Be prepared to DROP, COVER and HOLD during aftershocks. 
 
After ground movement ends, check for injuries and safely evacuate the building. Move to a safe, open area, away from power lines 
and other overhead hazards. 
 
Earthquake procedures in other parts of the building 
 
At the first indication of ground movement, you should DROP to the ground. 
 
Take COVER under any available desk, table, or bench. If in a hallway, drop next to an inside wall in a kneeling position and cover the 
back of the neck with your hands. 
 
After ground movement ends, check for injuries and safely evacuate the building. Move to a safe, open area, away from power lines 
and other overhead hazards. 
 
Earthquake procedures while outside 
 
At the first indication of ground movement, move away from overhead hazards such as power lines, trees, and buildings. DROP to 
the ground and COVER the back of the neck with your hands. Be aware of aftershocks. Do not enter buildings until it is determined 
safe to do so. 
 
If walking to or from school, DO NOT RUN. Stay in the open. If the student is going to school, continue to the school. If going home, 
the student should continue to home. 
 
While in a vehicle or school bus, pull over to the side of the road and stop. If on a bridge, overpass, or under power lines, continue 
on until the vehicle is away from the overhead dangers. Wait until the ground movement stops and check for injuries. Be aware of 
aftershocks, downed wires, or roads blocked by debris. The Bus Driver is legally responsible for the welfare of student riders. 
 
 
Fire in Surrounding Area 
Fire Near School 
 
The Principal or designee shall: 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 47 of 51 9/30/24 
 

 
Determine the need to execute an evacuation if nearby fire poses an immediate threat to the students or the building. 
Notify the Fire Department by calling 911. 
Notify the Superintendent's office. 
Notify students and staff when it is safe to return to the school site under the direction of the Fire Department and in consultation 
with the Superintendent or designee. 
 
 
 
Fire on School Grounds 
Fire 
All classrooms and offices shall have an Emergency Exit sign and Evacuation Chart posted in a prominent location. 
 
Fire Within A School Building: 
 
In the event that a fire is detected within a school building, use the following procedures: 
 
 The Principal or Designee will: 

• Order an evacuation if the fire alarm doesn't work 
• Call 9-1-1 
• Notify the superintendent 

Teachers will supervise the evacuation of the classrooms to the designated areas according to the Emergency Exit Plan posted in 
every classroom and office. 
Teachers will close doors upon evacuating. 
Teachers will take their roll books to the evacuation site and take roll. Teachers will report any missing student(s) to their Team 
Supervisor/Administrator. 
The Head Custodian or designees shall assist by shutting off gas valves, electricity, etc., or other if necessary for evacuating, putting 
out the fire, etc. 
The Head Custodian or designee shall open necessary gates for fire truck and other emergency vehicle access when appropriate. The 
Head Custodian or designee will also keep access entrances open for emergency vehicles. 
 Notify students and staff when it is safe to return to the school site under the direction of the Fire Department and in consultation 
with the Superintendent or designee. 
 
 
Loss or Failure Of Utilities 
Power Outage/Rolling Blackouts 
IT IS THE DISTRICT'S INTENT THAT SCHOOLS WILL REMAIN OPEN DURING A POWER OUTAGE. 
 
There are several stages of alerts that are being broadcast over the radio: 
 
STAGE 1 EMERGENCY indicates that the operating reserves in the real time market are forecasted to be less than the California 
Independent System Operator (CAISO) Minimum Operating Reserves criteria. 
STAGE 2 EMERGENCY indicates that the operating reserves in the real time market are forecasted to be less than five (5) percent. 
STAGE 3 EMERGENCY indicates that the operating reserves in the real time market are forecasted to be less than 1.5 percent. 
 
If the district is notified of a STAGE 3 EMERGENCY, possible-affected sites will be contacted as soon as practicable. Once notified, 
turn off PCs, monitors, printers, copiers, and lights when not in use or not needed. If you cannot turn off the whole computer, turn 
off the monitor and the printer. Shut off lights in unoccupied rooms. In spite of everyone's best effort to communicate, it is possible 
that an outage will occur with no notice to the district. To keep abreast of the daily situation, listen to 740AM (KCBS) radio station as 
you are driving into work for the status of the day. 
 
PREPARING FOR AN OUTAGE 
 
Update each student's emergency card. 
Determine availability of portable lighting at site, i.e. flashlights & batteries. 
Find out that when power is lost, do emergency lights go on and do the "Exit" signs remain lit? 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 48 of 51 9/30/24 
 

Clear away materials and boxes from hallways and pathways. 
Check school district's PG&E Block list to determine in which PG&E block your site is located. As a note, Block 50's power will not be 
interrupted. 
Ask your teachers to have alternative teaching methods and plans to be used at STAGE 3 only. Conduct a survey of your site for the 
classrooms and offices with no windows and prepare relocation plans. 
Plan alternative communication methods that suit your site, such as runners, cell phones, or radios. Develop a site plan such as a 
buddy system or chaperone, for restrooms or any other necessary leave during this period. 
Have flashlights & replacement batteries available for the restrooms and other locations with no windows. 
Ask your staff and students to have seasonal warm clothing available. 
Use surge protectors for all computer equipment, major appliances and electronic devices. If you have electric smoke detectors, use 
a battery-powered smoke detector as a backup. 
 
DURING AN OUTAGE 
 
CONTACT MAINTENANCE & OPERTIONS IMMEDIATELY IF YOUR SITE IS EXPERIENCING A BLACKOUT. 
According to SBC (Telephone Company), phones connected directly to a phone jack will be operable. 
Phones that require power from an electrical outlet will not work. 
If an outage lasts more than 30 minutes, have pre-designated people walk through the campus and check on the status of 
individuals in each building. 
Use a buddy system when going to the restrooms. 
DO NOT USE barbecues, Coleman-type stoves, hibachis and other outdoor-cooking devices indoors. 
DO NOT USE candles or gas lanterns. 
Turn off PCs, monitors, printers, copiers, major appliances and lights when not in use or not needed. If you cannot turn off the whole 
computer, turn off the monitor and the printer. Shut off lights in unoccupied rooms. 
 
The rolling outages should not last more than two hours, and, with some preparation, business can be conducted as close to normal 
as possible. 
 
If a power outage is prolonged, the principal should contact the Superintendent for directions (release students/staff, evacuation to 
another site, etc.). 
 
 
 
Psychological Trauma 
It is critical to provide a mental health response for students, staff and parents after a crisis that has impacted a school. Often, this 
can be provided by district or local community resources. 
 
Victims of a crisis experience a real need to return to normal, but normal as they once knew it is forever gone and changed. 
Counselors and crisis survivors find the concept of a "new normal" to be very reassuring and accurate. 
 
One of the most important actions is simply to listen and allow victims to express his/her own needs and feelings. Encouragement 
and support, while avoiding judgmental remarks, is the goal. 
 
When the needs of the victims exceed the immediate resources available to the school, San Diego County Mental Health and the 
agencies working under its umbrella is available to support schools. 
 
Numerous agencies under the San Diego County Mental Health Department umbrella currently provide ongoing mental health 
services to students and families both at schools and within the neighborhood communities. These services are provided by licensed 
therapists, social workers or supervised interns. The services typically involve a one-on-one or family-oriented approach requiring a 
different skill set than an emergency mental health response to a community or school crisis. 
 
JOINT PROTOCOLS: 
 
To best prepare for and manage the mental health recovery phase within the San Diego  County though Memorandums of 
Understanding with agencies who would provide crisis responses. The M.O.U. would include the followings: 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 49 of 51 9/30/24 
 

Schools and/or school districts require, as part of their Memorandums of Understanding with agencies and/or universities, all 
interns, therapists and mental health workers complete a crisis response training with the San Diego  County Mental Health 
Department before reporting to their assigned campuses.   In the event of a major crisis at a school site, or multiple school sites, the 
school district will determine if additional mental health support is required or anticipated. The District or School Logistics Officer or 
designee can notify the Ethnic Population Services Specialist at the San Diego  County Mental Health Department. A licensed mental 
health representative will immediately be sent to the incident location to conduct an initial assessment and make recommendations 
to the school/district and Mental Health Department and its partnering agencies as to the requirements for a responding mental 
health team(s). 
The lead supervisor will work in concert with the school/district representative to help identify appropriate teams/agencies that can 
best address the needs of students, staff and families. 
The lead supervisor will work in concert with the school/district representative to ensure that teams have the correct credentials, 
provide appropriate triage services that do not compromise police/fire investigations and are rotated to avoid fatigue. 
In police, fire or district debriefings with school staff, parents and impacted students, a representative from the San Diego  County 
Mental Health Department or one of the partnering agencies will be in attendance in order to make referrals for support services as 
required by the attendees. 
In keeping with research on the predictable response to crisis situations, call center numbers will be provided in order that members 
of the community can access necessary support in the days, weeks and months beyond the event. 
 
 
Tactical Responses to Criminal Incidents 
Shelter-In-Place 
Shelter in Place may be directed should there be a danger in the community that could present a danger to the school community or 
a situation at the school that could harm students or staff if they are outdoors. Incidents could include gas leaks, chemical spills, 
mountain lions or a predator in the neighborhood. 
 
When instructed or when an alerting system triggers a Shelter in Place: 
 
 SHELTER. Go inside the nearest building or classroom and remain there. Lock the door. You are looking for enclosed protection from 
the outside. Teachers should quickly check halls and get students into classrooms. Teachers will keep all students in the classroom 
until the emergency is resolved or directed to evacuate by the Principal and/or Public Safety Responders. 
SHUT. Close all doors and windows. The tighter and more complete the seal the better. Close as many windows and doors between 
the outside and your shelter-in-place room as possible. 
LISTEN. Remain quiet to hear critical instructions from school officials. 

• If there is no direction, continue instructional/work activities until the situation resolves or you directed to do otherwise. 
 
ADDITIONAL STEPS FOR TEACHERS AND STAFF IF APPROPRIATE: 
 
Advise students to cover mouth and nose with a damp cloth or handkerchief to protect from any airborne hazards. 
A school official (or student if no official present) should close all vents and turn off ventilation systems. The goal is to keep inside air 
in and outside air out. Air conditioners and heating systems bring outside air in. 
Turn off all motors and fans. Still, non-moving air is best. Turn off anything that creates wind, generates extra heat, or could 
generate sparks. 
Advise students to remain sheltered until the "all-clear" signal is given by a school or local official. 
 
Intruder on Campus 
The campus intruder is defined as a non-student or a student on suspension who loiters or creates disturbances on school property. 
Intruders are committing the crime of Criminal Trespass. Dangerous and/or concealed weapons are forbidden on school premises 
unless carried by law enforcement officers. 
 
Low Level: 
Have the person(s) under suspicion kept under constant covert surveillance. 
Approach and greet the intruder in a polite and non-threatening manner. 
Identify yourself as a school official. 
Ask the intruder for identification. 
Ask them what their purpose is for being on campus. 
Advise intruder of the trespass laws. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 50 of 51 9/30/24 
 

Ask the intruder to quietly leave the campus or invite him/her to accompany you to the office. If the intruder refuses to respond to 
your requests, inform him/her of your intention to summon law enforcement officers. 
If the intruder gives no indication of voluntarily leaving the premises, notify Police and Administration.  
H. Hostage Situation 
Staff and students should sit quietly if the situation is in their presence. TRY to remain calm. Staff should set the example if the 
armed intruder is in their presence by doing anything possible for the staff member and students to survive. If gun fire starts, staff 
and students should seek cover or begin rapid movement procedures. 
 
 Do not engage in a conversation or try to persuade the intruder to leave your classroom or school. Remember, you are in an illogical 
situation, so any logical argument may go unheard. The intruder is probably aware of the potential danger that he/she would be 
facing if he/she left the classroom. The intruder may perceive himself/herself as being sane. 
 If the intruder speaks to you or to your students, then answer him or her. Do not provoke him or her. Don't try to take matters into 
your own hands. Students should be told not to whisper to one-another, laugh, or to make fun of the intruder. Remember, the 
intruder is disturbed and probably mentally ill, and more than likely paranoid. Any whispering or laughter may be perceived by the 
intruder as directed at him or her. 
 Students should be taught to respond on their own when threatened. Incidents can occur which leave no time for signals. If 
students are outside unable to find access a room, they should, depending on the situation, initiate Action "TAKE COVER" position or 
run in a zig-zag fashion to the staging areas and 
STAY CALM. 
 If and when possible, call Administration and/or 9-1-1.  
 
Emergency Evacuation Procedures 
In an Emergency Building Evacuation all employees will: 
 
Upon emergency alert, secure work area and depart/report to assigned area. 
Perform duties as pre-assigned by the Principal in cooperation with emergency services personnel. 
DO NOT re-enter the building without permission or request of emergency service authorities. 
Remain in the general assembly areas and calm students if not assigned another duty. 
When signaled to re-enter safe areas of the school, quickly do so. 
Upon safe re-entry, report anything amiss to the Operations Chief. 
 
In an Emergency Building Evacuation teachers will also: 
 
Upon alert, assemble students for evacuation using designated routes and account for all students. 
Secure room. 
If possible, leave a note on the door advising where the class evacuated to if other than the standard assembly area. 
Upon arrival at the assembly area, account for all students. 
Secure medical treatment for injured students. 
Report any students missing or left behind because of serious injuries. 
Stay with and calm students. 
If signaled to re-enter school, assure students do so quickly and calmly. Account for all students. 
Check room and report anything amiss to the Team Leader and/or Operations Chief. Debrief students to calm fears about the 
evacuation. 
 
Emergency Campus Evacuation 
 
If it is necessary to evacuate the entire campus to another school or relief center, the Principal will: 
 
Notify the Superintendent of the Campus Evacuation. 
Cooperate with emergency authorities in enlisting students/staff with cars to help transport evacuees. Direct the evacuation, assure 
all students/staff are accounted for as they depart and arrive. 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 51 of 51 9/30/24 
 

 
Emergency Evacuation Map 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 1 of 49 9/30/24 
 

 
 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 
 

2024-2025 
School Year 

 
 

School: Lindo Park Elementary School 

CDS Code:  37-68189-6038376 

District: Lakeside Union School District 

Address:  12824 Lakeshore Dr. 
Lakeside, CA 92040 

Date of Adoption: October 2024 

Date of Update:  

Date of Review:  

   - with Staff  

   - with Law Enforcement  

   - with Fire Authority  
 

Approved by: 
Name Title Signature Date 

Becky Hill SSC President   

Tessa Green Principal   

Rachelle Rivers Parent Representative   

Sheila Florey Classified Association 
Representative 

  

Sharon Sullinger Teacher's Association 
Representation 

  

 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2 of 49 9/30/24 
 

 
Table of Contents 

 
Comprehensive School Safety Plan Purpose ..............................................................................................................................................4 

Safety Plan Vision .......................................................................................................................................................................................4 

(A) Child Abuse Reporting Procedures (EC 35294.2 [a] [2]; PC 11166) ..................................................................................................6 

(B) Disaster Procedures (EC 35295-35297; GC 8607 and 3100) .............................................................................................................7 

(C) School Suspension, Expulsion and Mandatory Expulsion Guidelines .............................................................................................18 

(D) Procedures to Notify Teachers of Dangerous Pupils (EC 49079) ....................................................................................................21 

(E) Sexual Harassment Policies (EC 212.6 [b]) ......................................................................................................................................22 

(F) School-wide Dress Code Relating to Gang-Related Apparel (EC 35183) .........................................................................................25 

(G) Procedure for Safe Ingress and Egress of Pupils, Parents, and Staff to and from School (EC 35294.2) .........................................27 

(I) School Discipline Rules and Consequences (EC 35291 and EC 35291.5) .........................................................................................28 

(J) Procedures to Prepare for Active Shooters .....................................................................................................................................29 

Procedures for Preventing Acts of Bullying and Cyber-bullying ...........................................................................................................29 

Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures .................................................................................................................30 

Safety Plan Appendices ............................................................................................................................................................................31 

Emergency Contact Numbers ..............................................................................................................................................................32 

Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures .............................................................................................................33 

Lindo Park Elementary School Incident Command System .................................................................................................................34 

Incident Command Team Responsibilities ...........................................................................................................................................35 

Emergency Response Guidelines .........................................................................................................................................................36 

Step One: Identify the Type of Emergency ..........................................................................................................................................36 

Step Two: Identify the Level of Emergency ..........................................................................................................................................36 

Step Three: Determine the Immediate Response Action ....................................................................................................................36 

Step Four: Communicate the Appropriate Response Action ...............................................................................................................36 

Types of Emergencies & Specific Procedures .......................................................................................................................................37 

Armed Assault on Campus ...............................................................................................................................................................37 

Biological or Chemical Release .........................................................................................................................................................37 

Bomb Threat/ Threat Of violence ....................................................................................................................................................43 

Earthquake .......................................................................................................................................................................................44 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 3 of 49 9/30/24 
 

Fire in Surrounding Area ..................................................................................................................................................................44 

Fire on School Grounds ....................................................................................................................................................................45 

Loss or Failure Of Utilities ................................................................................................................................................................45 

Psychological Trauma .......................................................................................................................................................................46 

Tactical Responses to Criminal Incidents .........................................................................................................................................47 

Emergency Evacuation Map .................................................................................................................................................................49 

 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 4 of 49 9/30/24 
 

 
Comprehensive School Safety Plan Purpose 
 
Effective January 1, 2019, Assembly Bill 1747 (Rodriguez), School Safety Plans, became law. This bill requires that during the writing 
and development of the comprehensive school safety plan (CSSP), the school site council or safety committee consult with a fire 
department and other first responder entities in addition to currently required entities. It requires the CSSP and any updates made 
to the plan to be shared with the law enforcement agency, the fire department, and the other first responder entities. 
 
The California Education Code (sections 32280-32288) outlines the requirements of all schools operating any kindergarten and any 
grades 1 to 12, inclusive, to write and develop a school safety plan relevant to the needs and resources of that particular school. 
 
In 2004, the Legislature and Governor recast and renumbered the Comprehensive School Safety Plan provisions in SB 719 and AB 
115. It is the intent ofthe Legislature in enacting the provisions to support California public schools as they develop their mandated 
comprehensive safety plans that are the result of a systematic planning process, that include strategies aimed at the prevention of, 
and education about, potential incidents involving crime and violence on school campuses. 
 
The historical requirement of the Comprehensive School Safety Plan was presented in Senate Bill 187, which was approved by the 
Governor and chaptered in 1997. This legislation contained a sunset clause that stated that this legislation would remain in effect 
only until January I, 2000. Senate Bill 334 was approved and chaptered in 1999 and perpetuated this legislation under the 
requirement of the initial legislation. 
 
Comprehensive School Safety Plans are required under SB 719 & AB 115 and contains the following elements: 
 
Assessment of school crime committed on school campuses and at school-related functions 

• Child abuse reporting procedures 
• Disaster procedures 
• Suspension and expulsion policies 
• Procedures to notify teachers of dangerous pupils 
• Discrimination and harassment policies 
• School wide dress code policies 
• Procedures for safe ingress and egress 
• Policies enacted to maintain a safe and orderly environment 
• Rules and procedures on school discipline 
• Hate crime reporting procedures 

 
The Comprehensive School Safety Plan will be reviewed and updated by March 1st every year. In July of every year, the school will 
report on the status of its school safety plan including a description of its key elements in the annual school accountability report 
card. 
 
A copy of the Comprehensive School Safety Plan is available for review at the school library and the main offices.. 
 
Safety Plan Vision 
The Comprehensive School Safety Plan Process & Templates is designed to be utilized as a school resource for 
prevention/mitigation, preparedness, response and recovery planning and training as well as functioning as a template for meeting 
the requirements for the annual Safety Plan Process under SB 187 and the National incident Management System. It is designed to 
be an electronic or hard-copy Safety Plan. The template is also designed as a living document to be updated as necessary to meet 
site, district and community needs, forms or requirements. 
 
Individual schools in districts over 2,500 students must adopt a comprehensive school safety plan by March 1, 2000, and must 
review and update the plan by March 1 of every year thereafter. (Amended Ed. Codes 35294.1 & 35294.6) 
 
Beginning July 1, 2000, each individual school must report on the status of its school safety plan, including a description of its key 
elements in the school accountability report card, and must continue to do so every July thereafter. (Amended Ed. Code 35294.6) 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 5 of 49 9/30/24 
 

The following guideline may be utilized to support the annual review and evaluation of the individual school safety plan. This guide 
will also provide a time line and related administrative tasks to provide a process to ensure compliance with the requirements of 
Senate Bill 187, Comprehensive School Safety Plan. 
 
The guideline/checklist has been organized into two parts: 
 
An assessment by the School Safety Planning Committee of the School Site Council, the School Site Council or equivalent of the 
school climate in relation to the current status of school crime committed on campus and at school related functions. Based on this 
assessment, safety goals will be set for the upcoming school year 
 
The annual review and evaluation of the school comprehensive safety plan which is certified by the members of the School Safety 
Planning Committee, the School Site Council President, and the school Principal before being presented to the Board of Trustees for 
final review and adoption. This review includes the following mandated components of Senate Bill 187: 
 
Child Abuse reporting procedures 
Policies pursuant to Education Code 48915(c) and other school-designated serious acts which would 
lead to suspension, expulsion, or mandatory expulsion recommendations 
Procedures to notify teachers and counselors of dangerous students 
Sexual Harassment Policy 
Safe ingress and egress to and from school 
Rules and procedures on school discipline in order to create a safe and orderly environment conducive to learning 
Dress Code 
Routine and emergency disaster procedures including natural disasters, human created disasters or power outages. 
 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 6 of 49 9/30/24 
 

 
(A) Child Abuse Reporting Procedures (EC 35294.2 [a] [2]; PC 11166) 
A. Definition of Child Abuse 
 
Child abuse means a physical injury that is inflicted by other than accidental on a child by another person. Child Abuse also means 
the sexual abuse of a child or any act or omission pertaining to child abuse reporting laws (willful cruelty, unjustifiable punishment of 
a child, unlawful corporal punishment or injury). Child abuse also means the physical or emotional neglect of a child or abuse in out-
of-home care. 
 
1. Child Abuse 
Injury inflicted by another person 
Sexual Abuse 
Neglect of child's physical, health, and emotional needs. 
Unusual and willful cruelty; unjustifiable punishment. Unlawful corporal punishment. 
 
2. Not Considered Child Abuse 
Mutual affray between minors 
Injury caused by reasonable and necessary force used by a peace officer: 
To quell a disturbance threatening physical injury to a person or damage property 
To prevent physical injury to another person or damage to property 
For purposes of self-defense 
To obtain possession of weapons or other dangerous objects within the control of a child To apprehend an escapee 
 
B. Mandated Child Abuse Reporting 
Any child care custodian, health practitioner, or employee of a child protective agency who has knowledge of or observes a child in 
his or her professional capacity or within the scope of his or her employment whom he or she knows or reasonably suspects has 
been the victim of child abuse shall report the known or suspected instance of child abuse to a child protective agency by telephone 
and written report: 
The telephone call must be made immediately or as soon as practicably possible by telephone. 
AND 
A written report must be sent within 36 hours of the telephone call to the child protective agency.   Any child care custodian, health 
practitioner, or employee of a child protective agency who has knowledge of or who reasonably suspects mental suffering has been 
inflicted on a child or his or her emotional well-being is endangered in any other way, may report such known or suspected instance 
of child abuse to a child protective agency. 
When two or more persons who are required to report are present and jointly knowledge of a known or suspected instance of child 
abuse, and when there is agreement among them, the telephone report may be made by a member of the team selected by mutual 
agreement and a single report may be made and signed by the selected member of the reporting team. Any member who has 
knowledge that the member designated to make the report failed to do so, shall thereafter make such a report. 
The intent and purpose of the law is to protect children from abuse. The definition of a child is any person under 18 years of age. 
This entire section on Child Abuse was been taken from California Laws Relating To Minors manual. 
 
C. Sexual Activity 
 
Child abuse laws change from time to time. Should you suspect that a student is engaged in unlawful sexual activity, please consult 
with the school social worker and campus officer to determine if particular provisions under this section are current and in effect. 
Involuntary sexual activity is always reportable. 
Incest, even if voluntary is always reportable. Incest is a marriage or act of intercourse between parents and children; ancestors and 
descendants of every degree; brothers and sisters of half and whole blood and uncles and nieces or aunts and nephews. (Family 
Code 2200). 
Voluntary Sexual Activity may or may not be reportable. Even if the behavior voluntary, there are circumstances where the behavior 
is abusive, either by Penal Code definition or because of an exploitative relationship, then this behavior must be reported. If there is 
reasonable suspicion of sexual abuse prior to the consensual activity, the abuse must be reported. 
 
Reportable Sexual Activity if a Child is 14 Years of Age and: 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 7 of 49 9/30/24 
 

Partner is younger than 14 years old, but there is a disparity in chronological or maturational age or indications of intimidation, 
coercion or bribery or other indications of an exploitative relationship. Partner is 14 years or older lewd & lascivious acts committed 
by a partner of any age partner is alleged spouse and over 14 years of age. 
 
Reportable Sexual Activity if the Child is 14 or 15 years and: 
There is unlawful sexual intercourse with a partner older than 14 but less than 21 years of age and there is no indication of abuse or 
evidence of an exploitative relationship there is unlawful sexual intercourse with a partner older than 21 years 
There is lewd and lascivious acts committed by a partner more than 10 years older than the child The partner is the alleged spouse 
and over 21 years of age 
 
Reportable Sexual Activity if the Child is 16 or 17 years and: 
The partner is less than 14 years of age 
There is unlawful sexual intercourse with a partner older than 14 and there is evidence of an exploitative relationship 
The partner is the alleged spouse and there is evidence of an exploitative relationship 
 
Reportable Sexual Activity if the Child is under 18 years: 
Sodomy, oral copulation, penetration of a genital or anal opening by a foreign object, even if consensual, with a partner of any age. 
 
Not Reportable Sexual Activity: 
Child is 14 years or younger and partner is younger than 14 years and of similar age or maturational age. Sexual behavior is voluntary 
and consensual. There are no indications of intimidation, coercion, bribery, or other indications of an exploitative relationship. 
Unlawful sexual intercourse of a child 14 to 15-years old with a partner older than 14 and less than 21 years of age and there is no 
indication of abuse or evidence of an exploitative relationship. 
Unlawful sexual intercourse with a child 16 or 17 years with a partner older than 14 and there is no indication of an exploitative 
relationship. 
 
Mandated reports of sexual activity must be reported to either the Department of Family & Children's Services (DFCS) or to the 
appropriate police jurisdiction. This information will then be cross-reported to the other legal agency. 
 
D. Failure to Report Known or Suspected Child Abuse 
 
Failure to report known or reasonable suspicion of child abuse, including sexual abuse, is a misdemeanor. Mandated reporters are 
provided with immunity from civil or criminal liability as a result of making a mandated report of child abuse. 
 
This information has been taken directly from the San Diego  County Child Abuse Council Informational Handout. 
 
E. Child Abuse Reporting Number: (800) 344-6000 
 
F. Staff Training: All staff engage in mandated child abuse reporting training annually. 
 
 
(B) Disaster Procedures (EC 35295-35297; GC 8607 and 3100) 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 8 of 49 9/30/24 
 

Disaster Plan (See Appendix C-F) 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 9 of 49 9/30/24 
 

. Routine and Emergency Disaster Procedures: Drills 
The Basic Plan 
 
The Basic Plan addresses the Lakeside Union School District 's responsibilities in emergencies associated with natural disaster, 
human-caused emergencies and technological incidents. It provides a framework for coordination of response and recovery efforts 
within the District in coordination and with local, State, and Federal agencies. The Plan establishes an emergency organization to 
direct and control operations at all sites during a period of emergency by assigning responsibilities to specific personnel. The Basic 
Plan: 
 
 Conforms to the Federally mandated National Incident Management System (NIMS), State mandated Standardized Emergency 
Management System (SEMS) and effectively restructures emergency response at all levels in compliance with the Incident Command 
System (ICS). 
Establishes response policies and procedures, providing $district_name$ clear guidance for planning purposes. 
Describes and details procedural steps necessary to protect lives and property. 
Outlines coordination requirements. 
Provides a basis for unified training and response exercises to ensure compliance. 
 
Requirements 
 
The Plan meets the requirements of San Diego County's policies on Emergency Response and Planning, the Standardized Emergency 
Management System (SEMS) Operational Area Response, and defines the primary and support roles of the District and individual 
schools in after-incident damage assessment and reporting requirements. 
 
Protect the safety and welfare of students, employees and staff. 
Provide for a safe and coordinated response to emergencies. 
Protect the District's facilities and properties. 
Enable the District to restore normal conditions with minimal confusion in the shortest time possible. Provide for interface and 
coordination between sites and the District Emergency Operations Center (EOC). 
Provide for interface and coordination between sites and the County or city EOC in which they reside. Provide for the orderly 
conversion of pre-designated District sites to American Red Cross shelters, when necessary. 
 
Schools are required by both federal statute and state regulation to be available for shelters following a disaster. The American Red 
Cross (ARC) has access to schools in damaged areas to set up their mass care facilities, and local governments have a right to use 
schools for the same purposes. This requires close cooperation between school officials and ARC or local government 
representatives, and should be planned and arranged for in advance. 
 
Authorities and References - State of California 
 
California Emergency Services Act (Chapter 7, Division 1, Title 2, California Government Code). 
 
The Act provides the basic authorities for conducting emergency operations following a proclamation of Local Emergency, State of 
Emergency, or State of War Emergency by the Governor and/or appropriate local authorities, consistent with the provisions of this 
Act. 
 
California Government Code, Section 3100, Title 1, Division 4, Chapter 4. 
 
States that public employees are disaster service workers, subject to such disaster service activities as may be assigned to them by 
their superiors or by law. The term "public employees" includes all persons employed by the state or any county, city, city and 
county, state agency or public district, excluding aliens legally employed. 
 
California Emergency Plan 
 
Promulgated by the Governor, and published in accordance with the California Emergency Services Act, it provides overall statewide 
authorities and responsibilities, and describes the functions and operations of government at all levels during extraordinary 
emergencies, including wartime. Section 8568 of the Act states, in part, that "...the State Emergency Plan shall be in effect in each 
political subdivision of the state, and the governing body of each political subdivision shall take such action as may be necessary to 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 10 of 49 9/30/24 
 

carry out the provisions thereof." Therefore, local emergency plans are considered extensions of the California Emergency Plan. 
A. Earthquake Drills 
The earthquake emergency procedure system shall, but not be limited to, all of the following: 
 
A school building disaster plan, ready for implementation at any time, for maintaining the safety and care of students and staffs. 
 
A drop procedure. As used in this article, "drop procedure" means an activity whereby each student and staff member take cover 
under a table or desk, dropping to his or her knees, with the head protected by the arms, and the back to the windows. A drop 
procedure practice shall be held at least once each school quarter in elementary schools and at least once a semester in secondary 
schools. 
 
Protective measures to be taken before, during, and following an earthquake. A program to ensure that the students and that both 
the certificated and classified staff are aware of, and properly trained in, the earthquake emergency procedure system. 
(Code of Regulations, Section 35297) 
 
Whenever an earthquake alarm is sounded, all students, teachers and other employees shall immediately begin Duck, Cover and 
Hold procedures: 
 
DUCK, or DROP down on the floor. 
Take COVER under a sturdy desk, table or other furniture with backs to the windows. Protect head and neck with arms. 
HOLD onto the furniture and be prepared to move with it. 
Stay in this position for at least one minute or, in a real situation, until shaking stops. 
 
Evacuation. An Evacuation should NEVER be automatic. There may be more danger outside the building than there is inside. If 
administrative directions are not forthcoming, the teacher will be responsible for assessing the situation and determining if an 
evacuation is required. 
 
Pre-determined evacuation areas should be in open areas, without overhead hazards and removed from potential danger spots 
(covered walkways, large gas mains, chain linked fences [electric shock potential]). 
 
Make it clear that a post-earthquake route differs from a fire evacuation route, and that appropriate nonhazardous alternate routes 
may be needed. 
 
Practice evacuation using alternate routes to the assembly areas. 
 
Students are to remain with their teacher in the evacuation area. Teachers shall take their roll books, take roll once in the evacuation 
area and be prepared to identify missing students to administrators and/first responders. 
 
The principal or designee shall keep a copy of each drill conducted on the Emergency Drill Report form and file a copy with the 
Superintendent/designee. 
 
Standards for a Successful Earthquake Drill: 
 
The Earthquake Alarm can be heard by all staff and students. 
 
Immediately after the earthquake alarm sounds, all students, teachers and other employees shall: 
 
DUCK, or DROP down on the floor. 
Take COVER under a sturdy desk, table or other furniture with backs to the windows. Protect head and neck with arms. 
HOLD onto the furniture and be prepared to move with it. 
 
Evacuations shall occur when directed over the loud speaker by the Principal/designee. When evacuations are included as part of 
the drill, appropriate non-hazardous alternate routes, avoiding building overhangs, electrical wires, large trees, covered walkways, 
etc., shall be utilized by staff and students in order to reach the designated evacuation areas. 
 
Teachers have taken roll once in the evacuation area. Any missing students are immediately reported to the Principal/designee. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 11 of 49 9/30/24 
 

 
Upon sounding of the all clear students and staff return to their appropriate classroom and the teacher takes roll once more. Missing 
students are reported to the attendance office. 
B. Fire Drills 
Whenever the fire alarm is given, all students, teachers and other employees shall quickly leave the building in an orderly manner. 
Teachers shall ascertain that no student remains in the building. Designated evacuation routes shall be posted in each room. 
Teachers shall be prepared to select alternate exits and direct their classes to these exits in the event the designated evacuation 
route is blocked. 
Evacuation areas will be established away from fire lanes. 
Students are to remain with their teacher in the evacuation area. Teachers shall take their roll books, take roll once in the evacuation 
area and be prepared to identify missing students to administrators and/or fire marshals/designees. 
 The principal or designee shall keep a copy of each drill conducted on the Emergency Drill Report form and file a copy with the 
Superintendent/designee. 
 
Standards for a Successful Fire Drill: 
 
The Fire Alarm can be heard by all staff and students. 
Orderly evacuation begins immediately and is completed within 5 minutes of the initial alarm, with minimal congestion at exit gates. 
Evacuation areas will be established away from fire lanes. 
Teachers and students are staged in an orderly fashion away from fire lanes. 
Teachers have taken roll once in the evacuation area. Any missing students are immediately reported to the Principal/designee. 
Upon sounding of the all clear students and staff return to their appropriate classroom and the teacher takes roll once more. Missing 
students are reported to the attendance office. 
C. Active Shooter/Lockdown Drills 
For sites that have had Active shooter Training, conducting an Active shooter Lockdown Drill initially involves more pre-planning and 
organization than conducting other drills. Middle and high schools should conduct an annual drill, which should take no longer than 
40 minutes and impact class time by 20 minutes. Elementary schools should conduct drills every other year (or annually, if the local 
police department has the resources to support the drills). Drills need to be scheduled with your School Resource or Liaison Officers. 
 
There are a number of steps that are recommended in the Active shooter Training in order to successfully conduct your drill. They 
involve: 
 
 Conduct a staff meeting. Plan on a 20 minute timeframe to review expectations and standards in terms of: 
a. Locking doors 
b. Covering windows 
c. Turning off lights 
d. Building barricades 
e. Reviewing classroom and all clear procedures 
f. Reviewing off site evacuation locations 
Send a follow-up reminder memo to your staff. 
Organize your assessment team. This also provides an excellent opportunity for your Critical Response Team to work together with 
police participants in the drill. 
Conduct the assessment. 
Complete follow-up tasks. 
 
Remember, you are setting the tone for the importance of safety for students and staff on your campus. 
VI. Routine and Emergency Disaster Procedures: Overview 
The Basic Plan 
 
The Basic Plan addresses the Lakeside Union School District 's responsibilities in emergencies associated with natural disaster, 
human-caused emergencies and technological incidents. It provides a framework for coordination of response and recovery efforts 
within the District in coordination and with local, State, and Federal agencies. The Plan establishes an emergency organization to 
direct and control operations at all sites during a period of emergency by assigning responsibilities to specific personnel. The Basic 
Plan: 
 
 Conforms to the Federally mandated National Incident Management System (NIMS), State mandated Standardized Emergency 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 12 of 49 9/30/24 
 

Management System (SEMS) and effectively restructures emergency response at all levels in compliance with the Incident Command 
System (ICS). 
Establishes response policies and procedures, providing Lakeside Union School District clear guidance for planning purposes. 
Describes and details procedural steps necessary to protect lives and property. 
Outlines coordination requirements. 
Provides a basis for unified training and response exercises to ensure compliance. 
 
Requirements 
 
The Plan meets the requirements of San Diego County's policies on Emergency Response and Planning, the Standardized Emergency 
Management System (SEMS) Operational Area Response, and defines the primary and support roles of the District and individual 
schools in after-incident damage assessment and reporting requirements. 
 
Protect the safety and welfare of students, employees and staff. 
Provide for a safe and coordinated response to emergencies. 
Protect the District's facilities and properties. 
Enable the District to restore normal conditions with minimal confusion in the shortest time possible. Provide for interface and 
coordination between sites and the District Emergency Operations Center (EOC). 
Provide for interface and coordination between sites and the County or city EOC in which they reside. Provide for the orderly 
conversion of pre-designated District sites to American Red Cross shelters, when necessary. 
 
Schools are required by both federal statute and state regulation to be available for shelters following a disaster. The American Red 
Cross (ARC) has access to schools in damaged areas to set up their mass care facilities, and local governments have a right to use 
schools for the same purposes. This requires close cooperation between school officials and ARC or local government 
representatives, and should be planned and arranged for in advance. 
 
Authorities and References - State of California 
 
California Emergency Services Act (Chapter 7, Division 1, Title 2, California Government Code). 
 
The Act provides the basic authorities for conducting emergency operations following a proclamation of Local Emergency, State of 
Emergency, or State of War Emergency by the Governor and/or appropriate local authorities, consistent with the provisions of this 
Act. 
 
California Government Code, Section 3100, Title 1, Division 4, Chapter 4. 
 
States that public employees are disaster service workers, subject to such disaster service activities as may be assigned to them by 
their superiors or by law. The term "public employees" includes all persons employed by the state or any county, city, city and 
county, state agency or public district, excluding aliens legally employed. 
 
California Emergency Plan 
 
Promulgated by the Governor, and published in accordance with the California Emergency Services Act, it provides overall statewide 
authorities and responsibilities, and describes the functions and operations of government at all levels during extraordinary 
emergencies, including wartime. Section 8568 of the Act states, in part, that "...the State Emergency Plan shall be in effect in each 
political subdivision of the state, and the governing body of each political subdivision shall take such action as may be necessary to 
carry out the provisions thereof." Therefore, local emergency plans are considered extensions of the California Emergency Plan. 
A. Definition: Incidents, Emergencies, Disasters 
Incident 
 
An incident is an occurrence or event, either human-caused or caused by natural phenomena, that requires action by emergency 
response personnel to prevent or minimize loss of life or damage to property and/or natural resources. 
 
Incidents may result in extreme peril to the safety of persons and property and may lead to, or create conditions of disaster. 
Incidents may also be rapidly mitigated without loss or damage. Although they may not meet disaster level definition, larger 
incidents may call for managers to proclaim a "Local Emergency". 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 13 of 49 9/30/24 
 

 
Incidents are usually a single event that may be small or large. They occur in a defined geographical area and require local resources 
or, sometimes, mutual aid. There is usually one to a few agencies involved in dealing with an ordinary threat to life and property and 
to a limited population. Usually a local emergency is not declared and the jurisdictional EOC is not activated. Incidents are usually of 
short duration, measured in hours or, at most, a few days. Primary command decisions are made at the scene along with strategy, 
tactics, and resource management decisions 
 
Emergency 
 
The term emergency is used in several ways. It is a condition of disaster or of extreme peril to the safety of persons and property. In 
this context, an emergency and an incident could mean the same thing, although an emergency could have more than one incident 
associated with it. 
 
Emergency is also used in Standardized Emergency Management System (SEMS) terminology to describe agencies or facilities, e.g., 
Emergency Response Agency, Emergency Operations Center, etc. 
 
Emergency also defines a conditional state such as a proclamation of "Local Emergency". The California Emergency Services Act, of 
which SEMS is a part, describes three states of emergency: 
 
State of War Emergency 
State of Emergency 
State of Local Emergency 
 
Disaster 
 
A disaster is defined as sudden calamitous emergency event bringing great damage, loss, or destruction. Disasters may occur with 
little or no advance warning, e.g., an earthquake or a flash flood, or they may develop from one or more incidents, e.g., a major 
wildfire or hazardous materials discharge. 
 
Disasters are either single or multiple events that have many separate incidents associated with them. The resource demand goes 
beyond local capabilities and extensive mutual aid and support are needed. There are many agencies and jurisdictions involved 
including multiple layers of government. There is usually an extraordinary threat to life and property affecting a generally 
widespread population and geographical area. A disaster's effects last over a substantial period of time (days to weeks) and local 
government will proclaim a Local Emergency. Emergency Operations Centers are activated to provide centralized overall 
coordination of jurisdictional assets, departments and incident support functions. Initial recovery coordination is also a responsibility 
of the EOCs.  
 
B. Earthquake Overview 
Major Earthquake Threat Summary 
 
Earthquakes are sudden releases of strain energy stored in the earth's bedrock. The great majority of earthquakes are not dangerous 
to life or property either because they occur in sparsely populated areas or because they are small earthquakes that release 
relatively small amounts of energy. However, where urban areas are located in regions of high seismicity, damaging earthquakes are 
expectable, if not predictable, events. Every occupant and developer in San Diego County assumes seismic risk because the County is 
within an area of high seismicity. More than ten severe earthquakes have impacted San Francisco Bay Region during historic times. 
 
The major effects of earthquakes are ground shaking and ground failure. Severe earthquakes are characteristically accompanied by 
surface faulting. Flooding may be triggered by dam or levee failure resulting from an earthquake, or by seismically induced 
settlement or subsidence. All of these geologic effects are capable of causing property damage and, more importantly, risks to life 
and safety of persons. 
 
A fault is a fracture in the earth's crust along which rocks on opposite sides have moved relative to each other. Active faults have 
high probability of future movement. Fault displacement involves forces so great that the only means of limiting damage to man-
made structures is to avoid the traces of active faults. Any movement beneath a structure, even on the order of an inch or two, 
could have catastrophic effects on the structure and its service lines. 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 14 of 49 9/30/24 
 

The overall energy release of an earthquake is its most important characteristic. Other important attributes include an earthquake's 
duration, its related number of significant stress cycles, and its accelerations. 
C. Levels of Response 
Response Levels are used to describe the type of event: 
 
The area(s) affected, the extent of coordination or assistance needed, and the degree of participation expected from the School 
District. Response Levels are closely tied to Emergency Proclamations issued by the head of local government. 
 
Response Level 0 - Readiness & Routine Phase 
 
On-going routine response by the School District to daily emergencies or incidents. Stand-by and alert procedures issued in advance 
of an anticipated or planned event. 
 
Response Level 3 - Local Emergency 
 
A minor to moderate incident in which local resources are adequate and available. This level of emergency response occurs when an 
emergency incident, e.g., gas leak, sewer back-up, assaults, bomb threat, toxic spill, medical emergency, shooting, etc., occurs. A 
Level 3 response requires School/Site Coordinators to implement guidelines in the Emergency Standard Operating Procedures and 
interact with public agencies. 
 
Response Level 2 - Local Disaster 
 
A moderate to severe emergency in which resources are not adequate and mutual aid may be required on a regional, even 
statewide basis with coordination with local police and fire departments of the affected are working in concert with Lakeside Union 
School District to respond. The affected Cities and the County of 
San Diego will proclaim a local emergency. Then, the State of California may declare a state of emergency. 
 
Response Level 1 - Major Disaster 
 
Resources in or near the impacted areas are overwhelmed and extensive State and Federal resources are required. The cities and 
the County of San Diego will proclaim a local emergency. Then, the State of California will declare a State of Emergency. A 
Presidential Declaration of an Emergency or Major Disaster is requested by the State. Examples of major disasters are the Loma 
Prieta Earthquake of 1989 or the Oakland Hills Firestorm of 1991. When local jurisdictions declare a State of Emergency, the district 
board can declare the same. 
D. Emergency Phases 
Some emergencies will be preceded by a build-up or warning period, providing sufficient time to warn the population and 
implement mitigation measures designated to reduce loss of life and property damage. Other emergencies occur with little or no 
advance warning, thus requiring immediate activation of the emergency operations plan and commitment of resources. All 
employees must be prepared to respond promptly and effectively to any foreseeable emergency, including the provision and use of 
mutual aid. 
 
Emergency management activities during peacetime and national security emergencies are often associated with the phases 
indicated below. However, not every disaster necessarily includes all indicated phases. 
 
Prevention/Mitigation Phase 
 
Prevention/Mitigation is perhaps the most important phase of emergency management. However, it is often the least used and 
generally the most cost effective. Mitigation is often thought of as taking actions to strengthen facilities, abatement of nearby 
hazards, and reducing the potential damage either to structures or their contents, while prevention is taking steps to avoid potential 
problems. Both of these elements require education of parents, students and teachers. 
 
While it is not possible to totally eliminate either the destructive force of a potential disaster or its effects, doing what can be done 
to minimize the effects may create a safer environment that will result in lower response costs, and fewer casualties. 
 
Preparedness Phase 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 15 of 49 9/30/24 
 

The preparedness phase involves activities taken in advance of an emergency. These activities develop operational capabilities and 
responses to a disaster. Those identified in this plan as having either a primary or support mission relative to response and recovery 
review Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) or checklists detailing personnel assignments, policies, notification procedures, and 
resource lists. Personnel are acquainted with these SOPs and checklists and periodically are trained in activation and execution. 
 
Response Phase 
 
Pre-Impact: Recognition of the approach of a potential disaster where actions are taken to save lives and protect property. Warning 
systems may be activated, and resources may be mobilized, EOCs may be activated and evacuation may begin. 
 
Immediate Impact: Emphasis is placed on saving lives, controlling the situation, and minimizing the effects of the disaster. Incident 
Command Posts and EOCs may be activated, and emergency instructions may be issued. 
 
Sustained: As the emergency continues, assistance is provided to victims of the disaster and efforts are made to reduce secondary 
damage. Response support facilities may be established. The resource requirements continually change to meet the needs of the 
incident. 
 
Recovery Phase 
 
Recovery is taking all actions necessary to restore the area to pre-event conditions or better, if possible. 
Therefore, mitigation for future hazards plays an important part in the recovery phase for many emergencies. There is no clear time 
separation between response and recovery. In fact, planning for recovery should be a part of the response phase.  
E. First Things First 
Preparing your school for emergencies starts with staff preparedness. The backbone of school planning is dependent on the staff's 
willingness to stay at school during a major community emergency. Personal preparedness makes this much easier. 
 
Each staff member needs 
 
A 72-hour supply kit for the home 
A Car Kit, including comfortable clothes/shoes and medications 
To develop a plan to reunite with their family 
A neighborhood preparedness program 
 
Preparedness Brochures are available from the local chapter of the American Red Cross, San Diego County Office of Emergency 
Services, Lakeside Union School District website, www.redcross.org, www.prepare.org or www.ready.gov. 
 
If the disaster occurs during school time, Emergency Management recommends the child stay at school until the parent or a trusted 
friend (see Emergency Cards) picks up the child. We have no idea, especially in an earthquake, how impacted our neighborhoods 
may be. 
 
This means the school staff will need to stay with the children. You can only do this if you are prepared at home! You must feel that 
your family can activate your Family Plan without you. 
 
Disaster Service Worker Status: California Government Code Section 3100 declares that public employees are disaster services 
workers, subject to such disaster service activities as may be assigned to them by the superiors or by law. The term public employees 
include all persons employed by the state or any county, city, city & county, state agency or public district, excluding aliens legally 
employed. This law applies to public school employees in the following cases: 
 
When a local emergency has been proclaimed, When a state of emergency has been proclaimed, or When a federal disaster 
declaration has been made. 
F. District and Parent Responsibilities 
DISTRICT RESPONSIBILITY 
 
If the superintendent declares a district emergency during the school day, the following procedures will be followed: 
 
IN CASE OF A DECLARED EMERGENCY BY THE SUPERINTENDENT DURING SCHOOL HOURS, 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 16 of 49 9/30/24 
 

ALL STUDENTS WILL BE REQUIRED TO REMAIN AT SCHOOL OR AT AN ALTERNATE SAFE SITE UNDER THE SUPERVISION OF THE 
SCHOOL PRINCIPAL OR OTHER PERSONNEL ASSIGNED BY THE PRINCIPAL. 
 
Until regular dismissal time and released only then if it is considered safe, 
OR 
Until released to an adult authorized by the parent or legal guardian whose name appears on district records. 
a. If students are on their way to school, they will be brought to school if bussed, or they shouldproceed to school if walking. 
b. If students are on their way home from school, they are to continue home. 
 
During a Declared Emergency, those students who have not been picked up by their parents or other authorized person may be 
taken by district personnel to another site where consolidated care facilities can be provided. This information will be given to the 
media stations and posted at the site to keep parents informed. 
 
PARENT RESPONSIBILITY 
 
Parents and legal guardians of students will be provided with a Student Health/Emergency Form each year. 
In case of a Declared Emergency, students will be released ONLY to persons designated on this form. Parents are responsible for 
ensuring that information on the Student Health/Enrollment Form is current at all times. 
 
Parents are asked to share with the schools the responsibility for informing students of what they should do in case of a severe 
earthquake or other major emergency. Parents need to give specific directions to each student to follow the policy outlined above 
and to follow the directions of school personnel. 
 
School authorities will do everything possible to care for each student while he/she is under district supervision. 
 
It is critical that students do not have directions from parents that are contrary to the district's stated policy on retention at school 
and authorized release in case of a severe emergency.  
VII. Emergency Response Procedures 
Section 8 content  
A. Basic Actions 
Most emergency responses are covered by the following Basic Actions: 
 
A. Action: STAND BY 
 
Action: STAND BY consists of bringing students into the classroom or holding them in the classroom pending further instruction. 
 
B. Action: LEAVE BUILDING 
 
ACTION: LEAVE BUILDING consists of the orderly movement of students and staff from inside the school building to outside areas of 
safety or planned evacuation site. 
 
Action: LEAVE BUILDING is appropriate for-but not limited to-the following emergencies: 
 
Fire 
Peacetime Bomb Threat 
Chemical Accident 
Explosion or Threat of an Explosion 
Following an Earthquake 
Other similar occurrences that might make the building uninhabitable 
At the onset of an Active Shooter/Lockdown Alert, when teacher/supervisor has ascertained that leaving is the best option. 
 
C. Action: TAKE COVER 
 
Action: TAKE COVER consists of bringing/keeping students indoors if possible and sheltering in place as appropriate to the situation. 
 
If outdoors, Action: TAKE COVER consists of hiding behind any solid object (large tree, engine block of car, cement wall), in the event 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 17 of 49 9/30/24 
 

a sniper attack, armed intruder, rabid animal, or moving immediately to a location which is upwind and uphill in the event of a 
chemical or biological threat 
 
Action TAKE COVER is appropriate for, but not limited to, the following: 
 
Severe Windstorm (short warning) 
Biological or Chemical Threat 
Sniper Attack 
Rabid Animal on School Grounds 
 
D. Action: DROP 
 
WARNING: The warning for this type of emergency is the beginning of the disaster itself. 
 
Action: DROP consists of: 
 
 Inside school buildings 

• Immediately TAKE COVER under desks or tables and turn away from all windows 
• Remain in a sheltered position for at least 60 seconds silent and listening to/or for instructions Outside of School 

Buildings 
• Earthquake: move away from buildings -Take a protective position, if possible Explosion/Nuclear Attack: 
• Take protective position, OR, 
• Get behind any solid object (ditch, curb, tree, etc.); lie prone with head away from light or blast; cover head, face, and as 

much of the skin surface as possible; close eyes, and cover ears with forearms. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 18 of 49 9/30/24 
 

 
E. ACTION: DIRECTED MAINTENANCE 
 
No school personnel/students are allowed to enter a school facility until inspected by and authorized by appropriate school 
personnel: Maintenance and School Administrators, and if applicable, Police, Fire, or City Inspectors. 
 
In the event that drinking water is unsafe, water valves will be turned off and the drinking fountains sealed. 
 
Water, gas, and electrical shut-off valves will be shut-off for each applicable building under the join authorization of the 
administration and head custodian. 
 
F. ACTION: DIRECTED TRANSPORTATION 
 
WARNING: Under certain disaster conditions, authorized officials may attempt to move an entire community, or portion thereof, 
from an area of danger to another area of safety. 
 
Action: DIRECTED TRANSPORTATION consists of loading students and staff into school buses, cars and other means of 
transportation, and taking them from a danger area to a designated safety area. 
 
Action: DIRECTED TRANSPORTATION is considered appropriate only when directed by the 
Superintendent or designee, Site Administrator, Police, Fire, or OES. It may be appropriate for, but not limited to, movement away 
from: 
 
Fire 
Chemical & Biological Gas Alert 
Flood 
Fallout Area 
Blast Area 
Chemical & Biological Gas Alert 
Specific Man-Made Emergency (shooting, fire, etc.) 
 
G. ACTION: GO HOME 
 
Action: GO HOME consists of: 
 
Dismissal of all classes 
Return of students to their homes by the most expeditious 
 
Action: GO HOME is to be considered only if there is time for students to go safely to their homes and if buses or other 
transportation are available for students who live at a distance from the school. Notification of parents by radio broadcast, local 
television, ALERT website, phone distribution lists, or other means will be requested. 
 
H. ACTION: CONVERT SCHOOL 
 
Action: CONVERT SCHOOL to a Red Cross emergency facility will be initiated by City officials. 
 
 
 
Public Agency Use of School Buildings for Emergency Shelters 
 
 
(C) School Suspension, Expulsion and Mandatory Expulsion Guidelines 
C. Suspension and Expulsion Policies 
Grounds for suspension which fall under Education Code 48900 
Caused, attempted to cause, or threatened to cause physical injury to another person 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 19 of 49 9/30/24 
 

Possessed, sold, or otherwise furnished any firearm, knife, explosive, or other dangerous object unless, in the case of possession of 
any object of this type, the pupil had obtained written permission to possess the item from a certificated school employee, which is 
concurred in by the principal or the designee of the principal. 
Unlawfully possessed, used, sold, or otherwise furnished, or been under the influence of any controlled substance. 
Unlawfully offered, arranged, or negotiated to sell any controlled substance. 
Committed or attempted to commit robbery or extortion. 
Caused or attempted to cause damage to school property or private property. 
Stolen or attempted to steal school or private property. 
Possessed or used tobacco, or any products containing tobacco or 1nicotine products, including, but not limited to, cigarettes, cigars, 
miniature cigars, clove cigarettes, smokeless tobacco, snuff, chew packets, and betel. However, this section does not prohibit use or 
possession by a pupil of his or her own prescription products. 
Committed an obscene act or engaged in habitual profanity or vulgarity. 
Had unlawful possession of, or unlawfully offered, arranged or negotiated to sell any drug paraphernalia. 
Disrupted school activities or otherwise willfully defied the valid authority supervisors, teachers, administrators, school officials, or 
other school personnel engaged in the performance of their duties. 
Knowingly received stolen school property or private property. 
Possessed an imitation firearm. As used in this section, "imitation firearm" means a replica of a firearm as to substantially similar in 
physical properties to an existing firearm as to lead a reasonable person to conclude that the replica is a firearm. 
Committed or attempted to commit sexual assault. 
Harassed, threatened, or intimidated a pupil who is a complaining witness or witness in a school disciplinary proceeding for the 
purpose of either preventing that pupil from being a witness or retaliating against that pupil for being a witness, or both. 
 
A pupil may not be suspended or expelled for any of the acts listed above unless that act is related to school activity or school 
attendance occurring within a school under the jurisdiction of the superintendent or principal or occurring within any other school 
district. A pupil may be suspended or expelled for acts which are enumerated in this section and related to school activity or 
attendance that occur at any time, including but not limited to, any of the following: 
While on school grounds. 
While going to or coming from school. 
During the lunch period, whether on or off the campus. 
During, or in route to and from, a school sponsored activity. 
 
Expulsion Policies under Education Code 48915: 
 
The principal shall recommend the expulsion of a pupil for any of the following committed at school or school activity off school 
grounds, unless the principal or superintendent finds an expulsion is inappropriate, due to the particular circumstance: 
Causing serious physical injury to another person, except in self-defense. 
Possession of any knife, explosive, or other dangerous object of no reasonable use to the pupil. Unlawful possession of any 
controlled substance, as defined under Ed. Code. 
Robbery or extortion. 
Assault or battery on any school employee, as defined in Sections 240 and 242 of the Penal Code. 
 
The principal, or superintendent of schools shall immediately suspend, pursuant to Section 48911, and shall recommend expulsion 
of a pupil that he or she determines has committed any of the following acts at school or at a school activity off school grounds: 
Possessing, selling, or otherwise furnishing a firearm. This subdivision does not apply to an act of possessing a firearm if the pupil has 
obtained prior written permission to possess the firearm from a certificated school employee, which is concurred in by the principal 
or the designee of the principal. This subdivision applies to an act of possessing a firearm only if an employee of a school district 
verifies the possession. 
Brandishing a knife at another person. 
Unlawfully selling a controlled substance as defined by Education Code. 
Committing or attempting to commit a sexual assault as defined in the Education Code. 
 
LUSD has the following Board Policy related to Suspension and Expulsion of Students: BP 5144.1 
The Governing Board desires to provide district students access to educational opportunities in an orderly school environment that 
protects their safety and security, ensures their welfare and well-being, and promotes their learning and development. The Board 
shall develop rules and regulations setting the standards of behavior expected of district students and the disciplinary processes and 
procedures for addressing violations of those standards, including suspension and/or expulsion. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 20 of 49 9/30/24 
 

(cf. 5131 - Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.1 - Bus Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.2 - Bullying) 
 
The grounds for suspension and expulsion and the procedures for considering, recommending, and/or implementing suspension and 
expulsion shall be those specified in law, in policy, and in the accompanying administrative regulation. 
Except when otherwise permitted by law, a student may be suspended or expelled only when his/her behavior is related to a school 
activity or school attendance occurring within any district school or another school district, regardless of when it occurs, including, 
but not limited to, the following: (Education Code 48900(s)) 
 
1. While on school grounds 
2. While going to or coming from school 
3. During the lunch period, whether on or off the school campus 
(cf. 5112.5 - Open/Closed Campus) 
4. During, going to, or coming from a school-sponsored activity 
District staff shall enforce the rules concerning suspension and expulsion of students fairly, consistently, equally, and in accordance 
with the district's nondiscrimination policies. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
 
Appropriate Use of Suspension Authority 
Except when a student's act that violates Education Code 48900(a)-(e), as listed in items #1-5 under "Grounds for Suspension or 
Expulsion: Grades K-12" of the accompanying administrative regulation, or when his/her presence causes a danger to others, 
suspension shall be used only when other means of correction have failed to bring about proper conduct. (Education Code 
48900.5,48900.6) 
(cf. 1020 - Youth Services) 
(cf. 5138 - Conflict Resolution/Peer Mediation) 
(cf. 5144 - Discipline) 
(cf. 6142.4 - Service Learning/Community Service Classes) 
(cf. 6164.2 - Guidance/Counseling Services) 
(cf. 6164.5 - Student Success Teams) 
 
A student's parents/guardians shall be notified as soon as possible when there is an escalating pattern of misbehavior that could 
lead to removal on-campus or off-campus suspension. 
No student in grades K-3 may be suspended for disruption or willful defiance, except by a teacher pursuant to Education Code 
48910. (Education Code 48900) 
Students shall not be suspended or expelled for truancy, tardiness, or absenteeism from assigned school activities. 
(cf. 5113 - Absences and Excuses) 
(cf. 5113.1 - Chronic Absence and Truancy) 
 
On-Campus Suspension 
 
To ensure the proper supervision and ongoing learning of students who are suspended for any of the reasons enumerated in 
Education Code 48900 and 48900.2, but who pose no imminent danger or threat to anyone at school and for whom expulsion 
proceedings have not been initiated, the Superintendent or designee shall establish a supervised suspension classroom program 
which meets the requirements of law. 
Except where a supervised suspension is permitted by law for a student's first offense, supervised suspension shall be imposed only 
when other means of correction have failed to bring about proper conduct. (Education Code 48900.5) 
 
Authority to Expel 
A student may be expelled only by the Board. (Education Code 48918(j)) 
As required by law, the Superintendent or principal shall recommend expulsion and the Board shall expel any student found to have 
committed any of the following "mandatory recommendation and mandatory expulsion" acts at school or at a school activity off 
school grounds: (Education Code 48915) 
1. Possessing a firearm which is not an imitation firearm, as verified by a certificated employee, unless thestudent had obtained prior 
written permission to possess the item from a certificated school employee, with the principal or designee's concurrence 
(cf. 5131.7 - Weapons and Dangerous Instruments) 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 21 of 49 9/30/24 
 

2. Selling or otherwise furnishing a firearm 
3. Brandishing a knife at another person 
4. Unlawfully selling a controlled substance listed in Health and Safety Code 11053-11058 
5. Committing or attempting to commit a sexual assault as defined in Penal Code 261, 266c, 286, 288, 288a,or 289, or committing a 
sexual battery as defined in Penal Code 243.4 6. Possessing an explosive as defined in 18 USC 921 
 
For all other violations listed in the accompanying administrative regulation under "Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades K-
12" and "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 4-12," the Superintendent or principal shall have the discretion 
to recommend expulsion of a student. If expulsion is recommended, the Board shall order the student expelled only if it makes a 
finding of either or both of the following: (Education Code 48915(b) and (e)) 
 
1. That other means of correction are not feasible or have repeatedly failed to bring about proper conduct 
2. That due to the nature of the violation, the presence of the student causes a continuing danger to thephysical safety of the 
student or others 
A vote to expel a student shall be taken in public an open session of a Board meeting. 
The Board may vote to suspend the enforcement of the expulsion order pursuant to the requirements of law and the accompanying 
administrative regulation. (Education Code 48900). 
No student shall be expelled for disruption or willful defiance. (Education Code 48900) 
No child enrolled in a preschool program shall be expelled except under limited circumstances as specified in AR 5148.3 - 
Preschool/Early Childhood Education. 
(cf. 5148.3 - Preschool/Early Childhood Education) 
 
Due Process 
 
The Board shall provide for the fair and equitable treatment of students facing suspension and/or expulsion by affording them their 
due process rights under the law. The Superintendent or designee shall comply with procedures for notices, hearings, and appeals as 
specified in law and administrative regulation. (Education Code 48911, 48915, 48915.5) 
(cf. 5119 - Students Expelled from Other Districts) 
(cf. 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Individuals with Disabilities)) 
 
Maintenance and Monitoring of Outcome Data 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall maintain outcome data related to student suspensions and expulsions in accordance with 
Education Code 48900.8 and 48916.1, including, but not limited to, the number of students recommended for expulsion, the 
grounds for each recommended expulsion, the actions taken by the Board, the types of referral made after each expulsion, and the 
disposition of the students after the expulsion period. For any expulsion that involves the possession of a firearm, such data shall 
include the name of the school and the type of firearm involved, as required pursuant to 20 USC 7961. Suspension and expulsion 
data shall be reported to the Board annually and to the California Department of Education when so required. 
In presenting the report to the Board, the Superintendent or designee shall disaggregate data on suspensions and expulsions by 
school and by numerically significant student subgroups, including, but not limited to, ethnic subgroups, socioeconomically 
disadvantaged students, English learners, students with disabilities, foster youth, and homeless students. Based on the data, the 
Board shall address any identified disparities in the imposition of student discipline and shall determine whether and how the 
district is meeting its goals for improving school climate as specified in its local control and accountability plan. (cf. 0460 - Local 
Control and Accountability Plan) 
 
 
 
(D) Procedures to Notify Teachers of Dangerous Pupils (EC 49079) 
D. Staff Notification of Dangerous Students 
In order to fulfill the requirements made by Education Code 49079 and Welfare and Institutions Code 827 that state teachers must 
be notified of the reason(s) a student has been suspended. The District has incorporated this notification into the student 
information system so that it is easily accessible for teachers on any student level screen. On the flag bar there is a red flag: 49079. 
This flag indicates the student has been suspended under Ed Code 48900. The teacher can access more specific information by 
contacting their site administrator for additional details about the behavior. All information regarding suspension and expulsion is 
CONFIDENTIAL, is not to be shared with any student(s) or parent(s). Teachers are asked to secure the list so students and others may 
not view it. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 22 of 49 9/30/24 
 

Additionally, Pursuant to Welfare & Institution Code 827(b) and Education Code 48267, the Court notifies the Superintendent of the 
Lakeside Union School District regarding students who have engaged in certain criminal conduct. This information is forwarded to 
the site Principal. The site Principal is responsible for prompt notification of the student's teachers. Per Education Code 49079, this 
information must be kept confidential. This information is also forwarded to all administrators and the student's counselor. 
 
 
(E) Sexual Harassment Policies (EC 212.6 [b]) 
B. Sexual Harassment Policy 
A. DEFINITION 
"Sexual Harassment includes 'unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, sexually motivated physical contact, or other 
verbal or physical conduct or communication of a sexual nature,' when any of four conditions are met: 
Submission to the conduct or communication is made a term or condition, either explicitly or implicitly, of obtaining education; 
Submission or rejection of the conduct or communication is used as a factor in decisions affecting that person's education; 
The conduct or communication has either the purpose or effect of 'substantially interfering' with a person's education; 
The conduct or communication creates an 'intimidating, hostile, or offensive' educational environment." 
 
B. Policy Pertaining to Sexual Harassment: LUSD has the following Board Policies on Sexual Harrasment, which can be viewed at 
www.lsusd.net, under Leadership, Board of Trustees, Board Policies: 
Board Poilicy 4119.91 
The following policy shall apply to all district employees, volunteers, contractors, job applicants, and other persons with an 
employment relationship with the district. 
The Governing is committed to providing a safe work environment that is free of harassment and intimidation.  The Board prohibits 
sexual harassment against district employees and retaliatory behavior or action against any persons who complain, testifies or 
otherwise participates in the complaint process established for the purpose of this policy. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
(cf. 4030 - Nondiscrimination in Employment) 
Sexual harassment includes, but is not limited to, harassment that is based on the sex, gender, gender identity, gender expression, 
or sexual orientation of the victim and harassment based on pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions. 
The Superintendent or designee shall take all actions necessary to ensure the prevention, investigation, and correction of sexual 
harassment, including but not limited to: 
1. Providing training to employees in accordance with law and administrative regulation 
2. Publicizing and disseminating the district's sexual harassment policy to employees and others to whom the policy may apply 
3. Ensuring prompt, thorough, fair, and equitable investigation of complaints 
4. Taking timely and appropriate corrective/remedial action(s), which may require interim separation ofthe complainant and the 
alleged harasser and subsequent monitoring of developments 
The Superintendent or designee shall periodically evaluate the effectiveness of the district's strategies to prevent and address 
harassment. Such evaluation may involve conducting regular anonymous employee surveys to assess whether harassment is 
occurring or is perceived to be tolerated, partnering with researchers or other agencies with the needed expertise to evaluate the 
district's prevention strategies, and using any other effective tool for receiving feedback on systems and/or processes. As necessary, 
changes shall be made to the harassment policy, complaint procedures, or training. 
Sexual Harassment Reports and Complaints 
District employees who feel that they have been sexually harassed in the performance of their district responsibilities or who have 
knowledge of any incident of sexual harassment by or against another employee shall immediately report the incident to their direct 
supervisor, a district administrator, or the district's Title IX Coordinator. Employees may bypass their supervisor in filing a complaint 
if the supervisor is the subject of the complaint. A supervisor or administrator who receives a harassment complaint shall promptly 
notify the Title IX Coordinator. 
Once notified, the Title IX Coordinator shall ensure the complaint or allegation is addressed through AR 
4119.12/4219.12/4319.12 - Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures or AR 4030 - 
Nondiscrimination in Employment, as applicable.  Because a complaint or allegation that is dismissed or denied under the Title IX 
complaint procedure may still be subject to consideration under state law, the Title IX Coordinator shall ensure that any 
implementation of AR 4119.12/4219.12/4319.12 concurrently meets the requirements of AR 4030. 
(cf. 4119.12/4219.12/4319.12 - Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaints) 
The Title IX Coordinator shall offer supportive measures to the complainant and respondent, as deemed appropriate under the 
circumstances. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 23 of 49 9/30/24 
 

Upon investigation of a sexual harassment complaint, any district employee found to have engaged or participated in sexual 
harassment or to have aided, abetted, incited, compelled, or coerced another to commit sexual harassment in violation of this policy 
shall be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal, in accordance with law and the applicable collective bargaining 
agreement. 
 
Board Policy 4219.11 
The Governing Board prohibits sexual harassment of district employees and job applicants. The Board also prohibits retaliatory 
behavior or action against district employees or other persons who complain, testify or otherwise participate in the complaint 
process established pursuant to this policy and administrative regulation. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) (cf. 4030 - Nondiscrimination in Employment) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall take all actions necessary to ensure the prevention, investigation, and correction of sexual 
harassment, including but not limited to: 
1. Providing training to employees in accordance with law and administrative regulation 
2. Publicizing and disseminating the district's sexual harassment policy to staff 
(cf. 4112.9/4212.9/4312.9 - Employee Notifications) 
3. Ensuring prompt, thorough, and fair investigation of complaints 
4. Taking timely and appropriate corrective/remedial action(s), which may require interim separation of thecomplainant and the 
alleged harasser and subsequent monitoring of developments 
All complaints and allegations of sexual harassment shall be kept confidential to the extent necessary to carry out the investigation 
or to take other subsequent necessary actions. (5 CCR 4964) 
Any district employee or job applicant who feels that he/she has been sexually harassed or who has knowledge of any incident of 
sexual harassment by or against another employee, a job applicant or a student, 
shall immediately report the incident to his/her supervisor, the principal, district administrator or Superintendent. 
A supervisor, principal or other district administrator who receives a harassment complaint shall promptly notify the Superintendent 
or designee. 
Complaints of sexual harassment shall be filed in accordance with AR 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment. 
An employee may bypass his/her supervisor in filing a complaint where the supervisor is the subject of the complaint. 
(cf. 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment) 
Any district employee who engages or participates in sexual harassment or who aids, abets, incites, compels, or coerces another to 
commit sexual harassment against a district employee, job applicant, or student is in violation of this policy and is subject to 
disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal. 
(cf. 4117.4 - Dismissal) 
(cf. 4118 - Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
(cf. 4218 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
 
Board Policy 4319.11 
The Governing Board prohibits sexual harassment of district employees and job applicants. The Board also prohibits retaliatory 
behavior or action against district employees or other persons who complain, testify or otherwise participate in the complaint 
process established pursuant to this policy and administrative regulation. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
(cf. 4030 - Nondiscrimination in Employment) 
The Superintendent or designee shall take all actions necessary to ensure the prevention, investigation, and correction of sexual 
harassment, including but not limited to: 
1. Providing training to employees in accordance with law and administrative regulation 
2. Publicizing and disseminating the district's sexual harassment policy to staff 
(cf. 4112.9/4212.9/4312.9 - Employee Notifications) 
3. Ensuring prompt, thorough, and fair investigation of complaints 
4. Taking timely and appropriate corrective/remedial action(s), which may require interim separation of thecomplainant and the 
alleged harasser and subsequent monitoring of developments 
All complaints and allegations of sexual harassment shall be kept confidential to the extent necessary to carry out the investigation 
or to take other subsequent necessary actions. (5 CCR 4964) 
Any district employee or job applicant who feels that he/she has been sexually harassed or who has knowledge of any incident of 
sexual harassment by or against another employee, a job applicant or a student, 
shall immediately report the incident to his/her supervisor, the principal, district administrator or Superintendent. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 24 of 49 9/30/24 
 

A supervisor, principal or other district administrator who receives a harassment complaint shall promptly notify the Superintendent 
or designee. 
Complaints of sexual harassment shall be filed in accordance with AR 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment. 
An employee may bypass his/her supervisor in filing a complaint where the supervisor is the subject of the complaint. 
(cf. 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment) 
Any district employee who engages or participates in sexual harassment or who aids, abets, incites, compels, or coerces another to 
commit sexual harassment against a district employee, job applicant, or student is in violation of this policy and is subject to 
disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal. 
 
Board Policy 5145.7 
The Governing Board is committed to maintaining a safe school environment that is free from harassment and discrimination. The 
Board prohibits, at school or at school-sponsored or school-related activities, sexual harassment targeted at any student by anyone. 
The Board also prohibits retaliatory behavior or action against any person who reports, files a complaint or testifies about, or 
otherwise supports a complainant in alleging sexual harassment. 
The district strongly encourages any student who feels that he/she is being or has been sexually harassed on school grounds or at a 
school-sponsored or school-related activity by another student or an adult who has experienced off-campus sexual harassment that 
has a continuing effect on campus to immediately contact his/her teacher, the principal, or any other available school employee. 
Any employee who receives a report or observes an incident of sexual harassment shall notify the principal or a district compliance 
officer. Once notified, the principal or compliance officer shall take the steps to investigate and address the allegation, as specified in 
the accompanying administrative regulations. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
(cf. 1312.1 - Complaints Concerning District Employees) 
(cf. 5131 - Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.2 - Bullying) 
(cf. 5137 - Positive School Climate) 
(cf. 5141.4 - Child Abuse Prevention and Reporting) 
(cf. 5145.3 - Nondiscrimination/Harassment) 
(cf. 6142.1 - Sexual Health and HIV/AIDS Prevention Instruction) 
The Superintendent or designee shall take appropriate actions to reinforce the district's sexual harassment  policy. 
Instruction/Information 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that all district students receive age-appropriate information on sexual harassment. 
Such instruction and information shall include: 
1. What acts and behavior constitute sexual harassment, including the fact that sexual harassment could occur between people of 
the same sex and could involve sexual violence 
2. A clear message that students do not have to endure sexual harassment under any circumstance 
3. Encouragement to report observed incidents of sexual harassment even where the alleged victim of the harassment has not 
complained 
4. A clear message that student safety is the district's primary concern, and that any separate rule violationinvolving an alleged 
victim or any other person reporting a sexual harassment incident will be addressed separately and will not affect the manner in 
which the sexual harassment complaint will be received, investigated, or resolved 
5. A clear message that, regardless of a complainant's noncompliance with the writing, timeline, or otherformal filing requirements, 
every sexual harassment allegation that involves a student, whether as the complainant, respondent, or victim of the harassment, 
shall be investigated and prompt action shall be taken to stop any harassment, prevent recurrence, and address any continuing 
effect on students 
6. Information about the district's procedure for investigating complaints and the person(s) to whom a reportof sexual harassment 
should be made 
7. Information about the rights of students and parents/guardians to file a civil or criminal complaint, asapplicable, including the 
right to file a civil or criminal complaint while the district investigation of a sexual harassment complaint continues 
8. A clear message that, when needed, the district will take interim measures to ensure a safe schoolenvironment for a student who 
is the complainant or victim of sexual harassment and/or other students during an investigation and that, to the extent possible, 
when such interim measures are taken, they shall not disadvantage the complainant or victim of the alleged harassment 
Complaint Process and Disciplinary Actions 
Sexual harassment complaints by and against students shall be investigated and resolved in accordance with law and district 
procedures specified in AR 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint Procedures. Principals are responsible for notifying students and 
parents/guardians that complaints of sexual harassment can be filed under AR 1312.3 and where to obtain a copy of the procedures. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 25 of 49 9/30/24 
 

Upon investigation of a sexual harassment complaint, any student found to have engaged in sexual harassment or sexual violence is 
in violation of this policy shall be subject to disciplinary action. For students in grades 4-12, disciplinary action may include 
suspension and/or expulsion, provided that, in imposing such discipline, the entire circumstances of the incident(s) shall be taken 
into account. 
(cf. 5144 - Discipline) 
(cf. 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process) 
(cf. 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Students with Disabilities)) 
Upon investigation of a sexual harassment complaint, any employee found to have engaged in sexual harassment or sexual violence 
toward any student shall have his/her employment terminated in accordance with laws, and the applicable collective bargaining 
agreement. 
(cf. 4117.4 - Dismissal) 
(cf. 4117.7 - Employment Status Report) 
(cf. 4118 - Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
(cf. 4218 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
(cf. 4119.11/4219.11/4319.11 - Sexual Harassment) 
Record-Keeping 
The Superintendent or designee shall maintain a record of all reported cases of sexual harassment to enable the district to monitor, 
address, and prevent repetitive harassing behavior in district schools. (cf. 3580 - District Records) 
 
 
C. Staff Training: All LUSD staff engage in mandated sexual harassment training annually. 
 
 
(F) School-wide Dress Code Relating to Gang-Related Apparel (EC 35183) 
 
LINDO PARK DRESS TO 
LEARN—STUDENT GROOMING/DRESS POLICY 
Lindo Park is a place of learning.  Student dress and appearance should reflect this image. Students should dress for success. 
Appropriate, modest clothing will not disrupt or detract from the educational process. We expect students to dress appropriately for 
school. Comfortable, sensible clothing will allow students to focus on learning, participate in P.E. activities, and play during recess. In 
an effort to help parents and students choose appropriate clothing, the following guidelines have been established: 
 
Students shall not wear any clothing that is offensive to others, or could harass, or have a negative impact on an individual’s 
performance. Clothing should not create an intimidating, hostile, or offensive educational environment. 
1. Attire and personal belongings may not depict offensive symbols, racial terms, tobacco, alcohol, drugs, weapons, profanity/ 
obscenity, violence, or gangs. Logos and clothing with double meanings and mixed messages are not permissible. 
2. Appropriate shoes must be worn at all times.  Students must wear socks and closed-toe, full-heel shoes, suitable for P.E. Activities.  
Flip-flops, sandals, high heels, slippers, and slides DO NOT allow students to participate fully in all school activities without the 
possibility of injury. 
3. Writing or drawing on skin or clothing is not allowed. 
4. Pants must fit and be worn at the waist and pajama apparel (tops/bottoms) are not allowed. 
5. Dresses, skirts, and shorts length must be modest and no shorter than the mid-thigh. 
6. No crop tops, bare midriffs, plunging necklines, sheer shirts, short shorts, tube/strapless tops, halters, muscle tank t-shirts with 
wide armholes, or spaghetti straps are allowed. Sleeveless tanks and shirts must be at least 1 1/2 inches wide at the shoulder. 
7. Underwear must not be visible. 
8. Hats and hoods are allowed outside for weather protection, and will be taken off inside school buildings. Hats are to be worn 
correctly, with the bill facing 
 
 
1. Board Policies: 
BP 5132 Students 
The Governing Board believes that appropriate dress and grooming contribute to a productive learning environment. The Board 
expects students to give proper attention to personal cleanliness and to wear clothes that are suitable for the school activities in 
which they participate. Students' clothing must not present a health or safety hazard or a distraction which would interfere with the 
educational process. 
(cf. 4119.22 - Dress and Grooming) 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 26 of 49 9/30/24 
 

(cf. 5145.2 - Freedom of Speech/Expression) 
Students and parents/guardians shall be informed about dress and grooming standards at the beginning of the school year and 
whenever these standards are revised. A student who violates these standards shall be subject to appropriate disciplinary action. 
(cf. 5144 - Discipline) 
Gang-Related Apparel 
The principal, staff and parents/guardians at a school may establish a reasonable dress code that prohibits students from wearing 
gang-related apparel when there is evidence of a gang presence that disrupts or threatens to disrupt the school's activities. Such a 
dress code may be included as part of the school safety plan and must be presented to the Board for approval. The Board shall 
approve the plan upon determining that it is necessary to protect the health and safety of the school's students. 
(cf. 0450 - Comprehensive Safety Plan) 
(cf. 5136 - Gangs) 
Uniforms 
In order to promote student safety and discourage theft, peer rivalry and/or gang activity, the principal, staff and parents/guardians 
at a school may establish a reasonable dress code requiring students to wear uniforms. Such a dress code may be included as part of 
the school safety plan and must be presented to the Board for approval. The Board shall approve the plan upon determining that it is 
necessary to protect the health and safety of the school's students. 
If a school's plan to require uniforms is adopted, the Superintendent or designee shall establish procedures whereby 
parents/guardians may choose to have their children exempted from the school uniform policy. Students shall not be penalized 
academically, otherwise discriminated against or denied attendance to school if their parents/guardians so decide. (Education Code 
35183) 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that resources are identified to assist economically disadvantaged students in obtaining 
uniforms. 
AR 5132 Students 
In cooperation with teachers, students and parents/guardians, the principal or designee shall establish school rules governing 
student dress and grooming which are consistent with law, Governing Board policy and administrative regulations. These school 
dress codes shall be regularly reviewed. 
(cf. 0420 - School Plans/Site Councils) 
Each school shall allow students to wear sun-protective clothing, including but not limited to hats, for outdoor use during the school 
day. (Education Code 35183.5) 
In addition, the following guidelines shall apply to all regular school activities: 
1. Shoes must be worn at all times. Sandals must have heel straps. Thongs or backless shoes or sandals are not acceptable. 
2. Clothing, jewelry and personal items (backpacks, fanny packs, gym bags, water bottles etc.) shall be free of writing, pictures or any 
other insignia which are crude, vulgar, profane or sexually suggestive, which bear drug, alcohol or tobacco company advertising, 
promotions and likenesses, or which advocate racial, ethnic or religious prejudice. 
3. Hats, caps and other head coverings shall not be worn indoors. 
4. Clothes shall be sufficient to conceal undergarments at all times. See-through or fish-net fabrics, halter tops, off-the-shoulder or 
low-cut tops, bare midriffs and skirts or shorts shorter than mid-thigh are prohibited. 
5. Gym shorts may not be worn in classes other than physical education. 
6. Hair shall be clean and neatly groomed. Hair may not be sprayed by any coloring that would drip when wet. 
Coaches and teachers may impose more stringent dress requirements to accommodate the special needs of certain sports and/or 
classes. 
(cf. 3260 - Fees and Charges) 
No grade of a student participating in a physical education class shall be adversely affected if the student does not wear 
standardized physical education apparel because of circumstances beyond the student's control. (Education Code 49066) 
(cf. 5121 - Grades/Evaluation of Student Achievement) 
The principal, staff, students and parent/guardians at each school may establish reasonable dress and grooming regulations for 
times when students are engaged in extracurricular or other special school activities. 
Gang-Related Apparel 
At individual schools that have a dress code prohibiting gang-related apparel at school or school activities, the principal, staff and 
parents/guardians participating in the development of the school safety plan shall define "gang-related apparel" and shall limit this 
definition to apparel that reasonably could be determined to threaten the health and safety of the school environment if it were 
worn or displayed on a school campus. 
(Education Code 32282) 
Because gang-related symbols are constantly changing, definitions of gang-related apparel shall be reviewed at least once each 
semester and updated whenever related information is received. 
Uniforms 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 27 of 49 9/30/24 
 

In schools where a schoolwide uniform is required, the principal, staff and parents/guardians of the individual school shall jointly 
select the specific uniform to be worn. (Education Code 35183) 
At least six months before a school uniform policy is implemented, the principal or designee shall notify parents/guardians of this 
policy. (Education Code 35183) 
Parents/guardians shall also be informed of their right to have their child exempted. 
The principal or designee shall also repeat this notification at the end of the school year so that parents/guardians are reminded 
before school clothes are likely to be purchased. 
The Superintendent or designee shall establish criteria for determining student eligibility for financial assistance when purchasing 
uniforms. 
The Superintendent or designee shall establish a method for recycling or exchanging uniforms as students grow out of them. 
Students who participate in a nationally recognized youth organization shall be allowed to wear organization uniforms on days when 
the organization has a scheduled meeting. (Education Code 35183) Regulation LAKESIDE UNION SCHOOL DISTRICT 
approved: September 17, 2012 Lakeside, California 
 
1. Staff Training 
Lindo Park was trained in Aug. 2024 on Dress Code 
 
 
(G) Procedure for Safe Ingress and Egress of Pupils, Parents, and Staff to and from School (EC 35294.2) 
E. Procedures for Safe Ingress and Egress 
Beyond planning for daily ingress/egress routes and emergency evacuation routes, schools must plan for assisting students, staff and 
visitors with disabilities. Under the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, individuals who are deaf/hard of hearing, blind/partially 
sighted, mobility impaired and/or cognitively/emotionally impaired must be assisted. 
 
B. Planning 
 
It is recommended that schools identify the location of potential evacuation sites based on the potential circumstances that may 
cause movement/relocation of the school population in the event of an emergency. 
 
On-Campus Evacuation/Assembly Location: Intermdiate blacktop, Classes stand behind class numbers. 
 
Review your school site layout and determine where the safest outdoor location is on campus to assemble your students and staff. 
 
Off-Campus Evacuation/Assembly Location 
 
Determine if there is a facility close to your school that can potentially house your staff and student body. 
 
Prior to an event: 
 
Identify off-campus evacuation site(s). 
Establish a memorandum of agreement with the evacuation site(s). 
 
Provide the addresses of at least two off-campus locations that have agreed to provide an assembly area for your school population. 
 
Primary Off-Site Evacuation/Assembly Location 
Organization: Lakeside Community Center main room Outside: Lakeside Community Center northwest parking lot in Lindo Lake 
County Park. 
Address: 9841 Vine Street, Lakeside, Ca 92040 
Contact: David Collins, Head Park Ranger (619) 540-1662 Kevin Romero, Interim Supervisor 
Phone Number: Community Center (619)443-9176 
Date of Agreement: September 2016 
 
Secondary Off-Site Evacuation/Assembly Location 
Organization: Tierra del Sol Multi-Purpose Room Outside: Tierra Del Sol Middle School parking lot 
Address: 9611 Petite Lane, Lakeside, Ca 92040 
Contact: Leslie Hardiman, Principal 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 28 of 49 9/30/24 
 

Phone Number:School Office number (619) 390-2670 
Date of Agreement: September 2012 
 
In the event of an airborne chemical or biological release, it is safest for students and staff to remain indoors at the school site. 
 
Follow the "Shelter-in-Place" procedures. 
 
C. Staff Training 
Lindo Park Staff training was held on September 2024 during a staff meeting 
 
 
(I) School Discipline Rules and Consequences (EC 35291 and EC 35291.5) 
 
Lindo Park Elementary School Student Conduct Code 
A. Statement of Rules and Procedures on School Discipline 
 
Education Code 44807: 
 
"Every teacher in the public schools shall hold Pupils to a strict account for their conduct on the way to and from school, on the 
playgrounds, or during recess. A teacher, vice principal, principal, or any other certificated employee of a school district, shall not be 
subject to criminal prosecution or criminal penalties for the exercise, during the performance of his duties, of the same degree of 
physical control over a pupil that a parent would be legally privileged to exercise but which in no event shall exceed the amount of 
physical control reasonably necessary to maintain order, protect property, or protect the health and safety of pupils, or to maintain 
proper and appropriate conditions conducive to learning." 
 
B. Notification to Students and Parents 
 
Education Code 35291: 
Parents and students shall be notified of the District and school site rules pertaining to student discipline at the beginning of the first 
semester, and at the time of enrollment for students who enroll thereafter. 
The discipline policy shall be reviewed annually with input from the Discipline Team, site administrators, campus security, staff, 
students, and parents. 
 
C. Staff Training 
Lindo Park Elementary School will review Safety Plans and Procedures with all staff in August 2024, Feb 2025, Mar 2025. Option-
Based Safety Planning was provided in 2022. Tenets from training will be reviewed annually. REMS training was provided 
Administrative Staff on Dec. 2021. School Site Council was debriefed on REMS Training on Jan 2022. 
D. School Discipline Chart and/or Selected Disciplinary Policies and Procedures. 
(INSERT LOW LEVEL REFERRAL CHART) 
 
 
Conduct Code Procedures 
F. School Discipline 
A. Statement of Rules and Procedures on School Discipline 
 
Education Code 44807: 
 
"Every teacher in the public schools shall hold Pupils to a strict account for their conduct on the way to and from school, on the 
playgrounds, or during recess. A teacher, vice principal, principal, or any other certificated employee of a school district, shall not be 
subject to criminal prosecution or criminal penalties for the exercise, during the performance of his duties, of the same degree of 
physical control over a pupil that a parent would be legally privileged to exercise but which in no event shall exceed the amount of 
physical control reasonably necessary to maintain order, protect property, or protect the health and safety of pupils, or to maintain 
proper and appropriate conditions conducive to learning." 
 
B. Notification to Students and Parents 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 29 of 49 9/30/24 
 

Education Code 35291: 
Parents and students shall be notified of the District and school site rules pertaining to student discipline at the beginning of the first 
semester, and at the time of enrollment for students who enroll thereafter. 
The discipline policy shall be reviewed annually with input from the Discipline Team, site administrators, campus security, staff, 
students, and parents. 
 
C. Staff Training 
Lindo Park Elementary School will review Safety Plans and Procedures with all staff in August 2024, Feb 2025, Mar 2025. Option-
Based Safety Planning was provided in 2022. Tenets from training will be reviewed annually. REMS training was provided 
Adminstrative Staff on Dec. 2021. School Site Council was debriefed on REMS Training on Jan 2022. 
D. School Discipline Chart and/or Selected Disciplinary Policies and Procedures. 
 
 
School Rules and Behavior 
We at Lindo Park SOAR high For Excellence 
School-Wide Behavior Expectations for Appropriate Conduct: 
 
S- Show Respect 
O- Own our Actions 
A- Accept Differences 
R- Responsible and Respectful 
 
The Governing Board believes that all students have the right to be educated in a positive learning environment free from 
disruptions. Students shall be expected to exhibit appropriate conduct that does not infringe upon the rights of others or interfere 
with the school program while on school grounds, going to or coming from school, at school activities, or using district 
transportation. 
 
Ms. Green’s Reminders: 
1. Maintain a high standard of integrity, honesty, and respect at all times. 
2. Students are to be courteous to others and respect others’ rights, property, and personal space.  In general, keep hands, feet, 
whole body and all objects to yourself. “Messing around” is not allowed. 
3. Students are to WALK, not run, in hallways, on pathways, and in the lunch area. 
4. Use appropriate, respectful language. Profanity and inappropriate language in writing, speech or action are not permitted. 
5. Items not required for academic purposes at school are not to be brought to campus. This includes, but is not limited to: toys, 
unauthorized electronic devices, laser pens, and perfumes. 
6. Cell phones are to be turned off and put away when a student is on campus. If not put away, they will be confiscated, and safely 
locked up for a parent to pick up. 
7. Because responsible use and care of cell phones is a student’s responsibility, the school is not responsible for lost or stolen items. 
8. Students are expected to behave respectfully to all adults on campus, including substitute teachers, noon duty supervisors, and 
parent volunteers. Students must follow directions the first time they are given. 
9. Substitute teachers are treated like guests. Students are to be ambassadors representing their school and parents. They are to 
follow all school and classroom rules, plans, and policies. 
10. As a sign of respect, all adults are to be addressed as Miss, Mrs., Ms., or Mr. and not by the first or last name. 
 
 
 
(J) Procedures to Prepare for Active Shooters 
 
 
Procedures for Preventing Acts of Bullying and Cyber-bullying 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 30 of 49 9/30/24 
 

 
Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures 
 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 31 of 49 9/30/24 
 

 
Safety Plan Appendices 
 
  



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 32 of 49 9/30/24 
 

 
Emergency Contact Numbers 
 
Utilities, Responders and Communication Resources 
 

Type Vendor Number Comments 

Law 
Enforcement/Fire/Paramed
ic 

Lakeside Sheriff Station 619-938-1360  

Law 
Enforcement/Fire/Paramed
ic 

Santee Sheriff Station 619-956-4000  

Law 
Enforcement/Fire/Paramed
ic 

Lakeside Fire Department 619-390-2350  

 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 33 of 49 9/30/24 
 

 
Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures 
 

Activity Description 
(i.e. review steps, meetings conducted, approvals, etc) Date and Time Attached Document 

(description and location) 
   

 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 34 of 49 9/30/24 
 

 
Lindo Park Elementary School Incident Command System 
 

--------     Incident Commander     

--------     Tessa Green--------     

--------           

--------   Safety Officer   Public Information Officer   

--------   Rachelle Rivers/Crissy Brown--
------   Suzie Smith/Erika Garcia--------   

--------           

--------   Scribe       

--------   Sheila Florey--------       

--------           

--------           

Operations ------- Planning/ 
Intelligence  Logistics  Finance/Administration 

Cesar Cahue/Sharon Sullinger-
------- ------- Barrett Braun--------  Noemi Urenda--------  Sheila Florey-------- 

--------           

--------           

--------  First Aid & Search 
Teacher A        

--------  Rachelle Rivers/Gloria Giles----
----        

--------           

--------  
Student Release & 

Accountability 
TeacherB 

       

--------  Lyndsey Clark/Sara Sprecco----
----        

 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 35 of 49 9/30/24 
 

 
Incident Command Team Responsibilities 
 
Standardized Emergency Response Management System Overview 
The California Standardized Emergency Management System (SEMS) is designed to centralize and coordinate emergency response 
through the use of standardized terminology and processes. This greatly facilitates the flow of information and resources among the 
agencies participating in response to an emergency. SEMS consists of five functions: 
 
 
Management 
During an emergency, the Incident Commander directs response actions from a designated Command Post. To effectively do this, 
the Incident Commander must constantly assess the situation, and develop and implement appropriate strategies. The Incident 
Commander must be familiar with the available resources, accurately document all response actions, and effectively communicate 
response strategies to others participating in the response. This function is typically filled by the school principal. The principal is 
assisted in carrying out this function by a Public Information & Liaison Officer and Safety Officer. 
 
Planning & Intelligence 
Planning and Intelligence involves the use of various methods to efficiently gather information, weigh and document the information 
for significance, and actively assess the status of the emergency. This understanding and knowledge about the situation at hand is 
vital to the effective management of a response. These activities are performed by a single person who reports directly to the 
Incident Commander. 
 
Operations 
All response actions are implemented under by Operations. This includes staff performing first aid, crisis intervention, search and 
rescue, site security, damage assessment, evacuations, and the release of students. 
 
Logistics 
Logistics supports the response by coordinating personnel; assembling and deploying volunteers; providing supplies, equipment, and 
services; and facilitating communications among emergency responders. 
 
Finance & Administration 
Finance & Administration involves the purchasing of all necessary materials, tracking financial records, timekeeping for emergency 
responders, and recovering school records following an emergency. These activities are performed by a single person who reports 
directly to the Incident Commander. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 36 of 49 9/30/24 
 

 
Emergency Response Guidelines 
 
Step One: Identify the Type of Emergency 
 
 
 
Step Two: Identify the Level of Emergency 
 
 
 
Step Three: Determine the Immediate Response Action 
 
 
 
Step Four: Communicate the Appropriate Response Action 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 37 of 49 9/30/24 
 

 
Types of Emergencies & Specific Procedures 
 
Armed Assault on Campus 
. Lockdown: Active Shooter 
An Active shooter/Lockdown Alert is sounded if there is a sniper, armed intruder or active shooter on campus. Staff members have a 
very limited amount of time in which to commit to a course of action. Immediately assess both the situation and the surrounding 
environment and responds to the situation based upon the Active shooter Training and drills. This is also true for your students who 
may need to become resources for substitutes or who are alone when an event occurs. 
 
Remember, the Active shooter response is a partnership with local law enforcement. 
 
Immediate actions should include: 
 
Students and staff go into classrooms/buildings or run to off-site evacuation areas. 
LOCKDOWN includes building door barricades, internal barricades, covering windows and turning off/dimming lights. 
Notify administration 
Call 9-1-1 if you know the location of the shooter, the description or identity of the shooter or if you need medical direction for a 
victim. 
Administration notifies the Superintendent 
 
Intermediate activities: 
 
Place a red card under the door/in a window if you have a serious injury in the classroom. 
Take roll 
Conduct anxiety-reducing activities 
 
Evacuation: 
 
Prepare students and yourself for a quick evacuation 
Follow directions of law enforcement when they arrive 
 
 
Biological or Chemical Release 
Poisoning, Chemical Spills, Hazardous Materials 
POISONING: 
 
If a student ingests a poisonous substance: 
 
Call Poison Control Center Link Line 1-800-222-1222. Take appropriate first aid measures. Call parents. 
Notify the Health Services Office. 
 
Following any emergency, notify the District Superintendents' Office 
 
CHEMICAL SPILL ON SITE: 
 
The following are guidelines for Chemical Spills: 
 
Evacuate the immediate area of personnel 
Determine whether to initiate Shelter In Place Protocol 
Secure the area (block points of entry) 
Identify the chemical and follow the procedures for that particular chemical. Notify the District Office. 
 
CHEMICAL SPILL OFF SITE INVOLVING DISTRICT EQUIPMENT/PROPERTY 
 
 Notify the Todd Owens with the following information: 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 38 of 49 9/30/24 
 

• Date, time, and exact location of the release or threatened release 
• Name and telephone number of person reporting 
• Type of chemical involved and the estimated quantity 
• Description of potential hazards presented by the spill 
• Document time and date notification made 
• Other emergency personnel responding (Highway Patrol, CALTRANS, etc.) 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 39 of 49 9/30/24 
 

Locate a fire extinguisher and have present, should the need arise 
Place reflective triangles or traffic cones if in street or highway. DO NOT LIGHT FLARES! 
If spill response equipment is available use it to take the necessary measures to prevent the spill from spreading. 
 
Reporting Chemical Spills 
 
Once an emergency spill response has been completed, the person reporting the initial spill must complete a SPILL RESPONSE 
EVALUATION. The incident must be reported to the Superintendent WITHIN 24 HOURS OF THE SPILL. 
 
Spill Clean Up 
 
Chemical Spills may not be cleaned up by school personnel. Call the District Office at [Insert District Office Contact Name] and [Insert 
District Office Phone Number]. The cleanup will be coordinated through a designated contractor. 
 
HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES 
 
Hazardous Substances include the following, but is not limited to the following: 
 
Gasoline 
Solvents 
Motor Oil 
Diesel Fuel 
Kerosene 
Anti-Freeze 
Airborne Gases/Fumes 
Lacquer Thinner 
Paint 
Agricultural Spray 
Paint Thinner 
Stain 
Brake Fluid 
 
Always call for assistance and: 
 
Extinguish all ignition sources 
Shut off main emergency switch to fuel pump, if appropriate 
Move appropriate fire extinguishing equipment to area 
If possible, contain the spill to prevent further contamination 
Move people/personnel away or evacuate from contamination area 
 
If the spill is too great to handle, contact the District Office Todd Owens and (619) 390-2800 . 
 
Staff and students will evacuate the area immediately, if appropriate. Move uphill, upwind, upstream if possible. 
 
VEHICLE FUEL SPILL 
 
When a spill has occurred, the first thing to do is to keep the situation from worsening. Follow these steps: 
 
Shut off emergency switch 
Avoid skin contact 
Isolate the spill from people and vehicles by blocking all points of entry 
Stop and evaluate any hazards 
Prevent discharge into storm drains. Divert the flow by sealing off areas with absorbents. Prevent runoff. Use absorbent "socks" or 
"booms" to contain the spill 
Identify the source, estimated quantity spilled and stop further release(s) - IF IT CAN BE DONE 
SAFELY 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 40 of 49 9/30/24 
 

Take care of any injured Notify the District Office. 
If the spill is unmanageable, contact the Fire Department by calling 9-1-1 
 
If, after attempted containment, the release still poses either a present or a potential threat, notify the California Office of 
Emergency Services and local emergency assistance organizations (fire, police, etc.). Give the following information: 
 
Date, time, and exact location of the release 
Name and telephone number of persons reporting the release 
The type of fuel spilled and the estimated quantity 
Description of potential hazards presented by the fuel spill 
Document the time and date notification was made and the information provided 
A written report to the appropriate office of the California Department of Health Services is required within 15 days after the 
incident. Contact the District for assistance with this report. 
 
Bio Terrorism 
Anthrax Threat 
 
How to identify suspicious letters or packages 
 
Some characteristics of suspicious letters or packages include the following: 
 
Excessive postage 
Handwritten or poorly typed addresses 
Incorrect titles 
Title, but no name 
Misspellings of common words 
Oily stains, discolorations or odors 
No return address 
Excessive weight 
Lopsided or uneven envelop 
Protruding wires or aluminum foil 
Excessive security material such as masking tape, string, etc. 
Visual distractions 
Ticking sound 
Marked with restrictive endorsements, such as "Personal" or "Confidential." Shows a city or state in the postmark that does not 
match the return address. 
 
Suspicious unopened letter or package marked with threatening message such as "Anthrax" 
 
Do not shake or empty the contents of any suspicious envelop or package. 
Place the envelope or package in a plastic bag or some other type of container to prevent leakage of contents. 
If you do not have any container, then cover the envelope or package with anything (e.g., clothing, paper, trash can, etc.) and do not 
remove this cover. 
Then leave the room and close the door, or section off the area to prevent others from entering. 
Wash your hands with soap and water to prevent spreading any powder to your face. 
If you are at home, report the incident to the local police. If you are at work, report the incident to the local police and your site 
administrator. 
List all people who were in the room or area when this suspicious letter or package was recognized. Give the list to both the local 
public health authorities and law enforcement officials for follow-up investigations and advice. 
 
Envelope with powder or powder spills out onto a surface 
 
Do not try to clean up the powder. Cover the spilled contents immediately with anything and do not remove this cover. 
Leave the room and close the door or section off the area to prevent others from entering. 
Wash your hands with soap and water to prevent spreading any powder to your face. 
If you are at home, CALL 9-1-1 to report the incident. If you are at work, CALL 9-1-1 and your site administrator to report the 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 41 of 49 9/30/24 
 

incident. 
Remove heavily contaminated clothing as soon as possible and place in a plastic bag, or some other container that can be sealed. 
The clothing bag should be given to the emergency responders for proper disposal. 
Shower with soap and water as soon as possible. Do not use bleach or other disinfectant on your skin. If possible, list all people who 
were in the room or area, especially those who had actual contact with the powder. Give the list to both the local police and public 
health authorities so that proper instructions can be given for medical follow-up and further investigation. 
 
Possible room contamination by aerosol 
 
(Examples: small devices triggered warning that air handling systems is contaminated, or warning that a biological agent is released 
in a public space.) 
 
Turn off local fans or ventilation units in the area. 
Leave the area immediately. 
Close the door or section off the area to prevent others from entering. 
Move upwind, uphill, upstream. 
If you are at home, report the incident to the local police. If you are at work, report the incident to the local police and your site 
administrator. 
Shut down air handling systems in the building if possible. 
If possible, list all people who were in the room or area, especially those who had actual contact with the powder. Give the list to 
both the local police and public health authorities so that proper instructions can be given for medical follow-up and further 
investigation. 
 
DO NOT PANIC 
 
Anthrax organisms can cause infection in the skin, gastrointestinal system, or the lungs. In order for this to happen, the organism 
must be rubbed into abraded skin, swallowed, or inhaled as a fine, aerosolized mist. Disease can be prevented after exposure to the 
anthrax spores by early treatment with the appropriate antibiotics. Anthrax is not spread from one person to another person. 
 
For anthrax to be effective as a covert agent, it must be aerosolized into very small particles. This is difficult to do and requires a 
great deal of technical skill and special equipment. If these small particles are inhaled, life threatening lung infection can occur, but 
prompt recognition and treatment are effective. 
 
Botulism 
 
Botulism infection is extremely rare, with fewer than 200 cases reported in the U.S. each year. There are two forms of botulism 
which are associated with a terrorist act: 
 
Food Borne Botulism 
 
The bacterium is ingested with the contaminated food source. 
 
Symptoms begin within 6 hours to 2 weeks, but most commonly between 12 to 36 hours after eating contaminated foods. 
 
Double or blurred vision, drooping eyelids, slurred speck, difficulty swallowing, dry mouth, and a descending muscle weakness that 
affects the shoulders first, then upper arms, lower arms, thighs, calves, etc. 
 
These symptoms may be proceeded by gastrointestinal disorder such as abdominal cramps, nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea. 
Paralysis of the respiratory muscles will cause death unless the person is assisted by mechanical ventilation. Botulism toxin can occur 
naturally in undercooked food, but the frequency of this is extremely rare. 
 
Inhalational Botulism 
 
Inhalation botulism results from the inhalation of the aerosolized toxin. A small amount of aerosolized toxin released into the wind 
can have a devastating effect on the surrounding population. Notwithstanding, inhalational botulism could be inflicted upon a more 
limited number of victims by introducing a contaminated object into an enclosed area such as inside of a building. The symptoms are 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 42 of 49 9/30/24 
 

indistinguishable from those of food borne botulism, except that the gastrointestinal signs sometimes associated with food borne 
botulism may not occur. 
 
Botulism cannot be transmitted from one person to another. There is no vaccine for botulism treatment at this time. However, 
treatment consists of passive immunization with equine anti-toxins and supportive patient care. 
 
Smallpox 
 
Smallpox infection results from the variola virus. The disease was once worldwide in scope. Before people were vaccinated, almost 
everyone contracted the disease. The virus was effectively eradicated from the world in the late 1970's, and the World Health 
Organization recommended governments cease routine vaccinations in 1980. 
 
Vaccination has proven effective in preventing the disease in exposed persons if administered within 4 days of exposure. 
 
Smallpox is a highly contagious infectious disease that has a mortality rate of about 30%. Since the 
discontinuation of vaccination in the early 1980's, virtually no one is protected against the disease today. The U.S. government is 
currently working to address the need for vaccinations. There is no proven treatment should infection occur.  
 
Immunization and Mass Prophylaxis Pandemic and Bio Terrorism 
This Bio-Terrorism Support Plan (Plan) provides basic steps to guide designated Lakeside Union School District County Public Health 
Department, City of Lakeside and Health Services school district officials in establishing middle and high schools as immunization 
centers (mass prophylaxis centers) contingent upon a Memorandum of Understanding being signed. 
 
This Plan is a living document subject to periodic revisions when needed. 
 
In the event of a bio-terrorism outbreak and based upon the Metropolitan Medical Response Plan, local officials will have 
determined which areas within the city to be quarantined, hot and cold zones. A quarantined area is defined as a specified area 
where isolation is enforced. A hot zone is defined as a contaminated area. A cold zone is an unaffected area. 
 
Once the situation has been assessed and Public Health identifies the need to open an immunization center (mass prophylaxis 
center), then Public Health will contact the city. Subsequently, the City will contact the school district emergency contact to begin 
the process of coordinating the opening of an immunization center (mass prophylaxis center). 
 
Preparedness Steps 
 
The following provides guidelines for school district management in preparing, in advance, issues that need to be addressed during 
non-emergency times to ensure school district and school site readiness. 
Statement of Agreement signed by San Diego County Public Health Department, City and school district 
Examine the Public Health Department's Liability Coverage for using school district sites as mass prophylaxis centers. 
Establish that the City will provide security for the school district site 
Define how long the Immunization center (mass prophylaxis center) can be open and what type of furnishings are needed for the 
center. 
Ensure a manager is provided by the Public Health Department to oversee center operations Identify the need to train site personnel 
in administering inoculations and agree upon how these 
individuals will be compensated for their time by the Public Health Department Establish who will be responsible for clean up 
 
Public Health Department contacts City OES who then initiates contact with appropriate School district authorized contact (see 
emergency contact list for school district) 
 
1) Superintendent's Office: Lisa DeRosier  
 
2) School District Security: Todd Owens  
 
3) Custodial Services or Facilities: Todd Owens  
 
The City OES informs Police Department that authorization has been given to open the appropriate site(s). Only gymnasiums will be 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 43 of 49 9/30/24 
 

utilized. The school district official then follows the guidelines shown below: 
 
Authorized school official contact will inform Superintendent or designee of the opening of the school site(s) as an immunization 
center (mass prophylaxis center). 
If school is not in session or if mass prophylaxis center opening occurs after hours, school site personnel or authorized City Police 
Department will be present to actually unlock the site for Public Health Department 
Establish that the City will provide security for the school district site 
Contact principal of the school site being converted into an immunization center (mass prophylaxis center) 
Prior to turning school site over to the Public Health Department as a mass prophylaxis center, school site personnel will: 

• Perform a site check to record current condition of the area to be used as an immunization center (mass prophylaxis 
center) 

• Inventory usable materials within the center's designated area (see Site Inventory form in this section), i.e. toilet tissues, 
paper towels, soap 

• Ensure all other areas of the school site are not accessible to mass prophylaxis center personnel or public 
SCHOOL DISTRICT site personnel will unlock the school site upon arrival of Public Health Department and their staff 
 
Closing the Center 
 
Upon closing of the center, the Public Health Department ensures the site is secure and center manager has tracked school supplies 
and materials used. 
 
School site personnel compares supplies and materials used, physical property loss and damages 
Both Public Health Department City and school site personnel inspect shelter site for -Material and supplies used 

• Property loss 
• Property damage 

When inspection is completed, school site personnel gives Business Services Department a report of materials used and property 
damaged/loss (photograph) 
Business Services 

• Gives property loss/damage to Risk Management to determine cost of property loss and repair costs 
• Formalizes letter Public Health Department to file a claim covering loss and material usage 

 
 
 
Bomb Threat/ Threat Of violence 
Bomb Threat 
THE PERSON RECEIVING THE BOMB THREAT WILL: 
 
Attempt to gain as much information as possible when the threat is received. Do not hang up on the caller. 
Use the "bomb threat checklist" form (attached) as a guide to collect the information needed. Don't be bashful about asking direct, 
specific questions about the threat. Keep the caller on the phone as long as possible. If the threat is received by phone, attempt to 
gain more information. 
The most important information is: 
When will the bomb explode and where is the bomb located? 
Immediately after receiving the bomb threat, the person receiving the call will verbally notify the building administrator of the threat 
received. Complete the "bomb threat checklist" form (attached). Turn off cellular phones and/or walkie-talkie radios (transmits radio 
waves--could trigger a bomb). 
 
BUILDING ADMINISTRATOR WILL (IF NECESSARY): 
 
 Call 9-1-1. Give the following information: 

• Your name -Your call-back phone number 
• Exact street location with the nearest cross street 
• Nature of incident 
• Number and location of people involved and/or injured Notify Superintendent's Office. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 44 of 49 9/30/24 
 

Evacuate involved buildings using fire drill procedures. Principal must have Superintendent's permission to evacuate the entire site. 
Implement a systematic inspection of the facilities to determine if everyone is out. 
Fire Department or Police Officers shall organize a search team to check for suspicious objects; a bomb can be disguised to look like 
any common object. Site employees should be ready to assist as needed. 
Maintain an open telephone line for communications. 
Secure all exits to prevent re-entry to buildings during the search period. 
Be certain people stay clear of all buildings; a bomb(s) may be planted against an outside wall. The blast will be directed in large part 
away from the building. Re-occupy buildings only when proper authorities give clearance 
 
 
 
Earthquake 
B. Earthquake: Drop, Cover, and Hold 
Earthquake procedures in the classroom or office 
 
At the first indication of ground movement, you should DROP to the ground. It will soon be impossible to stand upright during the 
earthquake. Getting to the ground will prevent being thrown to the ground. 
 
You should seek protective COVER under or near desks, tables, or chairs in a kneeling or sitting position. 
 
You should HOLD onto the table or chair legs. Holding onto the legs will prevent it from moving away from you during the quake. 
Protect your eyes from flying glass and debris with your arm covering your eyes. 
 
You should remain in the DROP position until ground movement ends. Be prepared to DROP, COVER and HOLD during aftershocks. 
 
After ground movement ends, check for injuries and safely evacuate the building. Move to a safe, open area, away from power lines 
and other overhead hazards. 
 
Earthquake procedures in other parts of the building 
 
At the first indication of ground movement, you should DROP to the ground. 
 
Take COVER under any available desk, table, or bench. If in a hallway, drop next to an inside wall in a kneeling position and cover the 
back of the neck with your hands. 
 
After ground movement ends, check for injuries and safely evacuate the building. Move to a safe, open area, away from power lines 
and other overhead hazards. 
 
Earthquake procedures while outside 
 
At the first indication of ground movement, move away from overhead hazards such as power lines, trees, and buildings. DROP to 
the ground and COVER the back of the neck with your hands. Be aware of aftershocks. Do not enter buildings until it is determined 
safe to do so. 
 
If walking to or from school, DO NOT RUN. Stay in the open. If the student is going to school, continue to the school. If going home, 
the student should continue to home. 
 
While in a vehicle or school bus, pull over to the side of the road and stop. If on a bridge, overpass, or under power lines, continue 
on until the vehicle is away from the overhead dangers. Wait until the ground movement stops and check for injuries. Be aware of 
aftershocks, downed wires, or roads blocked by debris. The Bus Driver is legally responsible for the welfare of student riders. 
 
 
Fire in Surrounding Area 
Fire Near School 
 
The Principal or designee shall: 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 45 of 49 9/30/24 
 

 
Determine the need to execute an evacuation if nearby fire poses an immediate threat to the students or the building. 
Notify the Fire Department by calling 911. 
Notify the Superintendent's office. 
Notify students and staff when it is safe to return to the school site under the direction of the Fire Department and in consultation 
with the Superintendent or designee. 
 
 
 
Fire on School Grounds 
Fire 
All classrooms and offices shall have an Emergency Exit sign and Evacuation Chart posted in a prominent location. 
 
Fire Within A School Building: 
 
In the event that a fire is detected within a school building, use the following procedures: 
 
 The Principal or Designee will: 

• Order an evacuation if the fire alarm doesn't work 
• Call 9-1-1 
• Notify the superintendent 

Teachers will supervise the evacuation of the classrooms to the designated areas according to the Emergency Exit Plan posted in 
every classroom and office. 
Teachers will close doors upon evacuating. 
Teachers will take their roll books to the evacuation site and take roll. Teachers will report any missing student(s) to their Team 
Supervisor/Administrator. 
The Head Custodian or designees shall assist by shutting off gas valves, electricity, etc., or other if necessary for evacuating, putting 
out the fire, etc. 
The Head Custodian or designee shall open necessary gates for fire truck and other emergency vehicle access when appropriate. The 
Head Custodian or designee will also keep access entrances open for emergency vehicles. 
 Notify students and staff when it is safe to return to the school site under the direction of the Fire Department and in consultation 
with the Superintendent or designee. 
 
 
Loss or Failure Of Utilities 
Power Outage/Rolling Blackouts 
IT IS THE DISTRICT'S INTENT THAT SCHOOLS WILL REMAIN OPEN DURING A POWER OUTAGE. 
 
There are several stages of alerts that are being broadcast over the radio: 
 
STAGE 1 EMERGENCY indicates that the operating reserves in the real time market are forecasted to be less than the California 
Independent System Operator (CAISO) Minimum Operating Reserves criteria. 
STAGE 2 EMERGENCY indicates that the operating reserves in the real time market are forecasted to be less than five (5) percent. 
STAGE 3 EMERGENCY indicates that the operating reserves in the real time market are forecasted to be less than 1.5 percent. 
 
If the district is notified of a STAGE 3 EMERGENCY, possible-affected sites will be contacted as soon as practicable. Once notified, 
turn off PCs, monitors, printers, copiers, and lights when not in use or not needed. If you cannot turn off the whole computer, turn 
off the monitor and the printer. Shut off lights in unoccupied rooms. In spite of everyone's best effort to communicate, it is possible 
that an outage will occur with no notice to the district. To keep abreast of the daily situation, listen to 740AM (KCBS) radio station as 
you are driving into work for the status of the day. 
 
PREPARING FOR AN OUTAGE 
 
Update each student's emergency card. 
Determine availability of portable lighting at site, i.e. flashlights & batteries. 
Find out that when power is lost, do emergency lights go on and do the "Exit" signs remain lit? 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 46 of 49 9/30/24 
 

Clear away materials and boxes from hallways and pathways. 
Check school district's PG&E Block list to determine in which PG&E block your site is located. As a note, Block 50's power will not be 
interrupted. 
Ask your teachers to have alternative teaching methods and plans to be used at STAGE 3 only. Conduct a survey of your site for the 
classrooms and offices with no windows and prepare relocation plans. 
Plan alternative communication methods that suit your site, such as runners, cell phones, or radios. Develop a site plan such as a 
buddy system or chaperone, for restrooms or any other necessary leave during this period. 
Have flashlights & replacement batteries available for the restrooms and other locations with no windows. 
Ask your staff and students to have seasonal warm clothing available. 
Use surge protectors for all computer equipment, major appliances and electronic devices. If you have electric smoke detectors, use 
a battery-powered smoke detector as a backup. 
 
DURING AN OUTAGE 
 
CONTACT MAINTENANCE & OPERTIONS IMMEDIATELY IF YOUR SITE IS EXPERIENCING A BLACKOUT. 
According to SBC (Telephone Company), phones connected directly to a phone jack will be operable. 
Phones that require power from an electrical outlet will not work. 
If an outage lasts more than 30 minutes, have pre-designated people walk through the campus and check on the status of 
individuals in each building. 
Use a buddy system when going to the restrooms. 
DO NOT USE barbecues, Coleman-type stoves, hibachis and other outdoor-cooking devices indoors. 
DO NOT USE candles or gas lanterns. 
Turn off PCs, monitors, printers, copiers, major appliances and lights when not in use or not needed. If you cannot turn off the whole 
computer, turn off the monitor and the printer. Shut off lights in unoccupied rooms. 
 
The rolling outages should not last more than two hours, and, with some preparation, business can be conducted as close to normal 
as possible. 
 
If a power outage is prolonged, the principal should contact the Superintendent for directions (release students/staff, evacuation to 
another site, etc.). 
 
 
 
Psychological Trauma 
It is critical to provide a mental health response for students, staff and parents after a crisis that has impacted a school. Often, this 
can be provided by district or local community resources. 
 
Victims of a crisis experience a real need to return to normal, but normal as they once knew it is forever gone and changed. 
Counselors and crisis survivors find the concept of a "new normal" to be very reassuring and accurate. 
 
One of the most important actions is simply to listen and allow victims to express his/her own needs and feelings. Encouragement 
and support, while avoiding judgmental remarks, is the goal. 
 
When the needs of the victims exceed the immediate resources available to the school, San Diego County Mental Health and the 
agencies working under its umbrella is available to support schools. 
 
Numerous agencies under the San Diego County Mental Health Department umbrella currently provide ongoing mental health 
services to students and families both at schools and within the neighborhood communities. These services are provided by licensed 
therapists, social workers or supervised interns. The services typically involve a one-on-one or family-oriented approach requiring a 
different skill set than an emergency mental health response to a community or school crisis. 
 
JOINT PROTOCOLS: 
 
To best prepare for and manage the mental health recovery phase within the San Diego  County though Memorandums of 
Understanding with agencies who would provide crisis responses. The M.O.U. would include the followings: 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 47 of 49 9/30/24 
 

Schools and/or school districts require, as part of their Memorandums of Understanding with agencies and/or universities, all 
interns, therapists and mental health workers complete a crisis response training with the San Diego  County Mental Health 
Department before reporting to their assigned campuses.   In the event of a major crisis at a school site, or multiple school sites, the 
school district will determine if additional mental health support is required or anticipated. The District or School Logistics Officer or 
designee can notify the Ethnic Population Services Specialist at the San Diego  County Mental Health Department. A licensed mental 
health representative will immediately be sent to the incident location to conduct an initial assessment and make recommendations 
to the school/district and Mental Health Department and its partnering agencies as to the requirements for a responding mental 
health team(s). 
The lead supervisor will work in concert with the school/district representative to help identify appropriate teams/agencies that can 
best address the needs of students, staff and families. 
The lead supervisor will work in concert with the school/district representative to ensure that teams have the correct credentials, 
provide appropriate triage services that do not compromise police/fire investigations and are rotated to avoid fatigue. 
In police, fire or district debriefings with school staff, parents and impacted students, a representative from the San Diego  County 
Mental Health Department or one of the partnering agencies will be in attendance in order to make referrals for support services as 
required by the attendees. 
In keeping with research on the predictable response to crisis situations, call center numbers will be provided in order that members 
of the community can access necessary support in the days, weeks and months beyond the event. 
 
 
Tactical Responses to Criminal Incidents 
Shelter-In-Place 
Shelter in Place may be directed should there be a danger in the community that could present a danger to the school community or 
a situation at the school that could harm students or staff if they are outdoors. Incidents could include gas leaks, chemical spills, 
mountain lions or a predator in the neighborhood. 
 
When instructed or when an alerting system triggers a Shelter in Place: 
 
 SHELTER. Go inside the nearest building or classroom and remain there. Lock the door. You are looking for enclosed protection from 
the outside. Teachers should quickly check halls and get students into classrooms. Teachers will keep all students in the classroom 
until the emergency is resolved or directed to evacuate by the Principal and/or Public Safety Responders. 
SHUT. Close all doors and windows. The tighter and more complete the seal the better. Close as many windows and doors between 
the outside and your shelter-in-place room as possible. 
LISTEN. Remain quiet to hear critical instructions from school officials. 

• If there is no direction, continue instructional/work activities until the situation resolves or you directed to do otherwise. 
 
ADDITIONAL STEPS FOR TEACHERS AND STAFF IF APPROPRIATE: 
 
Advise students to cover mouth and nose with a damp cloth or handkerchief to protect from any airborne hazards. 
A school official (or student if no official present) should close all vents and turn off ventilation systems. The goal is to keep inside air 
in and outside air out. Air conditioners and heating systems bring outside air in. 
Turn off all motors and fans. Still, non-moving air is best. Turn off anything that creates wind, generates extra heat, or could 
generate sparks. 
Advise students to remain sheltered until the "all-clear" signal is given by a school or local official. 
 
Intruder on Campus 
The campus intruder is defined as a non-student or a student on suspension who loiters or creates disturbances on school property. 
Intruders are committing the crime of Criminal Trespass. Dangerous and/or concealed weapons are forbidden on school premises 
unless carried by law enforcement officers. 
 
Low Level: 
Have the person(s) under suspicion kept under constant covert surveillance. 
Approach and greet the intruder in a polite and non-threatening manner. 
Identify yourself as a school official. 
Ask the intruder for identification. 
Ask them what their purpose is for being on campus. 
Advise intruder of the trespass laws. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 48 of 49 9/30/24 
 

Ask the intruder to quietly leave the campus or invite him/her to accompany you to the office. If the intruder refuses to respond to 
your requests, inform him/her of your intention to summon law enforcement officers. 
If the intruder gives no indication of voluntarily leaving the premises, notify Police and Administration.  
H. Hostage Situation 
Staff and students should sit quietly if the situation is in their presence. TRY to remain calm. Staff should set the example if the 
armed intruder is in their presence by doing anything possible for the staff member and students to survive. If gun fire starts, staff 
and students should seek cover or begin rapid movement procedures. 
 
 Do not engage in a conversation or try to persuade the intruder to leave your classroom or school. Remember, you are in an illogical 
situation, so any logical argument may go unheard. The intruder is probably aware of the potential danger that he/she would be 
facing if he/she left the classroom. The intruder may perceive himself/herself as being sane. 
 If the intruder speaks to you or to your students, then answer him or her. Do not provoke him or her. Don't try to take matters into 
your own hands. Students should be told not to whisper to one-another, laugh, or to make fun of the intruder. Remember, the 
intruder is disturbed and probably mentally ill, and more than likely paranoid. Any whispering or laughter may be perceived by the 
intruder as directed at him or her. 
 Students should be taught to respond on their own when threatened. Incidents can occur which leave no time for signals. If 
students are outside unable to find access a room, they should, depending on the situation, initiate Action "TAKE COVER" position or 
run in a zig-zag fashion to the staging areas and 
STAY CALM. 
 If and when possible, call Administration and/or 9-1-1.  
 
Emergency Evacuation Procedures 
In an Emergency Building Evacuation all employees will: 
 
Upon emergency alert, secure work area and depart/report to assigned area. 
Perform duties as pre-assigned by the Principal in cooperation with emergency services personnel. 
DO NOT re-enter the building without permission or request of emergency service authorities. 
Remain in the general assembly areas and calm students if not assigned another duty. 
When signaled to re-enter safe areas of the school, quickly do so. 
Upon safe re-entry, report anything amiss to the Operations Chief. 
 
In an Emergency Building Evacuation teachers will also: 
 
Upon alert, assemble students for evacuation using designated routes and account for all students. 
Secure room. 
If possible, leave a note on the door advising where the class evacuated to if other than the standard assembly area. 
Upon arrival at the assembly area, account for all students. 
Secure medical treatment for injured students. 
Report any students missing or left behind because of serious injuries. 
Stay with and calm students. 
If signaled to re-enter school, assure students do so quickly and calmly. Account for all students. 
Check room and report anything amiss to the Team Leader and/or Operations Chief. Debrief students to calm fears about the 
evacuation. 
 
Emergency Campus Evacuation 
 
If it is necessary to evacuate the entire campus to another school or relief center, the Principal will: 
 
Notify the Superintendent of the Campus Evacuation. 
Cooperate with emergency authorities in enlisting students/staff with cars to help transport evacuees. Direct the evacuation, assure 
all students/staff are accounted for as they depart and arrive. 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 49 of 49 9/30/24 
 

 
Emergency Evacuation Map 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 1 of 49 9/30/24 
 

 
 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 
 

2024-2025 
School Year 

 
 

School: Lakeside Middle School 

CDS Code:  37-68189-6038350 

District: Lakeside Union School District 

Address:  11833 Woodside Ave 
Lakeside, CA 92040 

Date of Adoption: October 2024 

Date of Update:  

Date of Review:  

   - with Staff  

   - with Law Enforcement  

   - with Fire Authority  
 

Approved by: 
Name Title Signature Date 

Steve Mull Principal   

Jim Mietzel Assistant Principal   
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2 of 49 9/30/24 
 

 
Table of Contents 

 
Comprehensive School Safety Plan Purpose ..............................................................................................................................................4 

Safety Plan Vision .......................................................................................................................................................................................4 

(A) Child Abuse Reporting Procedures (EC 35294.2 [a] [2]; PC 11166) ..................................................................................................6 

(B) Disaster Procedures (EC 35295-35297; GC 8607 and 3100) .............................................................................................................7 

(C) School Suspension, Expulsion and Mandatory Expulsion Guidelines .............................................................................................18 

(D) Procedures to Notify Teachers of Dangerous Pupils (EC 49079) ....................................................................................................21 

(E) Sexual Harassment Policies (EC 212.6 [b]) ......................................................................................................................................22 

(F) School-wide Dress Code Relating to Gang-Related Apparel (EC 35183) .........................................................................................25 

(G) Procedure for Safe Ingress and Egress of Pupils, Parents, and Staff to and from School (EC 35294.2) .........................................25 

(I) School Discipline Rules and Consequences (EC 35291 and EC 35291.5) .........................................................................................26 

(J) Procedures to Prepare for Active Shooters .....................................................................................................................................27 

Procedures for Preventing Acts of Bullying and Cyber-bullying ...........................................................................................................27 

Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures .................................................................................................................29 

Safety Plan Appendices ............................................................................................................................................................................30 

Emergency Contact Numbers ..............................................................................................................................................................31 

Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures .............................................................................................................32 

Lakeside Middle School Incident Command System ............................................................................................................................33 

Incident Command Team Responsibilities ...........................................................................................................................................34 

Emergency Response Guidelines .........................................................................................................................................................36 

Step One: Identify the Type of Emergency ..........................................................................................................................................36 

Step Two: Identify the Level of Emergency ..........................................................................................................................................36 

Step Three: Determine the Immediate Response Action ....................................................................................................................36 

Step Four: Communicate the Appropriate Response Action ...............................................................................................................36 

Types of Emergencies & Specific Procedures .......................................................................................................................................37 

Armed Assault on Campus ...............................................................................................................................................................37 

Biological or Chemical Release .........................................................................................................................................................37 

Bomb Threat/ Threat Of violence ....................................................................................................................................................43 

Earthquake .......................................................................................................................................................................................44 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 3 of 49 9/30/24 
 

Fire in Surrounding Area ..................................................................................................................................................................44 

Fire on School Grounds ....................................................................................................................................................................45 

Loss or Failure Of Utilities ................................................................................................................................................................45 

Psychological Trauma .......................................................................................................................................................................46 

Tactical Responses to Criminal Incidents .........................................................................................................................................47 

Emergency Evacuation Map .................................................................................................................................................................49 

 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 4 of 49 9/30/24 
 

 
Comprehensive School Safety Plan Purpose 
 
Effective January 1, 2019, Assembly Bill 1747 (Rodriguez), School Safety Plans, became law. This bill requires that during the writing 
and development of the comprehensive school safety plan (CSSP), the school site council or safety committee consult with a fire 
department and other first responder entities in addition to currently required entities. It requires the CSSP and any updates made 
to the plan to be shared with the law enforcement agency, the fire department, and the other first responder entities. 
 
The California Education Code (sections 32280-32288) outlines the requirements of all schools operating any kindergarten and any 
grades 1 to 12, inclusive, to write and develop a school safety plan relevant to the needs and resources of that particular school. 
 
In 2004, the Legislature and Governor recast and renumbered the Comprehensive School Safety Plan provisions in SB 719 and AB 
115. It is the intent ofthe Legislature in enacting the provisions to support California public schools as they develop their mandated 
comprehensive safety plans that are the result of a systematic planning process, that include strategies aimed at the prevention of, 
and education about, potential incidents involving crime and violence on school campuses. 
 
The historical requirement of the Comprehensive School Safety Plan was presented in Senate Bill 187, which was approved by the 
Governor and chaptered in 1997. This legislation contained a sunset clause that stated that this legislation would remain in effect 
only until January I, 2000. Senate Bill 334 was approved and chaptered in 1999 and perpetuated this legislation under the 
requirement of the initial legislation. 
 
Comprehensive School Safety Plans are required under SB 719 & AB 115 and contains the following elements: 
 
Assessment of school crime committed on school campuses and at school-related functions 

• Child abuse reporting procedures 
• Disaster procedures 
• Suspension and expulsion policies 
• Procedures to notify teachers of dangerous pupils 
• Discrimination and harassment policies 
• School wide dress code policies 
• Procedures for safe ingress and egress 
• Policies enacted to maintain a safe and orderly environment 
• Rules and procedures on school discipline 
• Hate crime reporting procedures 

 
The Comprehensive School Safety Plan will be reviewed and updated by March 1st every year. In July of every year, the school will 
report on the status of its school safety plan including a description of its key elements in the annual school accountability report 
card. 
 
A copy of the Comprehensive School Safety Plan is available for review at . 
 
Safety Plan Vision 
The Comprehensive School Safety Plan Process & Templates is designed to be utilized as a school resource for 
prevention/mitigation, preparedness, response and recovery planning and training as well as functioning as a template for meeting 
the requirements for the annual Safety Plan Process under SB 187 and the National incident Management System. It is designed to 
be an electronic or hard-copy Safety Plan. The template is also designed as a living document to be updated as necessary to meet 
site, district and community needs, forms or requirements. 
 
Individual schools in districts over 2,500 students must adopt a comprehensive school safety plan by March 1, 2000, and must 
review and update the plan by March 1 of every year thereafter. (Amended Ed. Codes 35294.1 & 35294.6) 
 
Beginning July 1, 2000, each individual school must report on the status of its school safety plan, including a description of its key 
elements in the school accountability report card, and must continue to do so every July thereafter. (Amended Ed. Code 35294.6) 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 5 of 49 9/30/24 
 

The following guideline may be utilized to support the annual review and evaluation of the individual school safety plan. This guide 
will also provide a time line and related administrative tasks to provide a process to ensure compliance with the requirements of 
Senate Bill 187, Comprehensive School Safety Plan. 
 
The guideline/checklist has been organized into two parts: 
 
An assessment by the School Safety Planning Committee of the School Site Council, the School Site Council or equivalent of the 
school climate in relation to the current status of school crime committed on campus and at school related functions. Based on this 
assessment, safety goals will be set for the upcoming school year 
 
The annual review and evaluation of the school comprehensive safety plan which is certified by the members of the School Safety 
Planning Committee, the School Site Council President, and the school Principal before being presented to the Board of Trustees for 
final review and adoption. This review includes the following mandated components of Senate Bill 187: 
 
Child Abuse reporting procedures 
Policies pursuant to Education Code 48915(c) and other school-designated serious acts which would 
lead to suspension, expulsion, or mandatory expulsion recommendations 
Procedures to notify teachers and counselors of dangerous students 
Sexual Harassment Policy 
Safe ingress and egress to and from school 
Rules and procedures on school discipline in order to create a safe and orderly environment conducive to learning 
Dress Code 
Routine and emergency disaster procedures including natural disasters, human created disasters or power outages. 
 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 6 of 49 9/30/24 
 

 
(A) Child Abuse Reporting Procedures (EC 35294.2 [a] [2]; PC 11166) 
A. Definition of Child Abuse 
 
Child abuse means a physical injury that is inflicted by other than accidental on a child by another person. Child Abuse also means 
the sexual abuse of a child or any act or omission pertaining to child abuse reporting laws (willful cruelty, unjustifiable punishment of 
a child, unlawful corporal punishment or injury). Child abuse also means the physical or emotional neglect of a child or abuse in out-
of-home care. 
 
1. Child Abuse 
Injury inflicted by another person 
Sexual Abuse 
Neglect of child's physical, health, and emotional needs. 
Unusual and willful cruelty; unjustifiable punishment. Unlawful corporal punishment. 
 
2. Not Considered Child Abuse 
Mutual affray between minors 
Injury caused by reasonable and necessary force used by a peace officer: 
To quell a disturbance threatening physical injury to a person or damage property 
To prevent physical injury to another person or damage to property 
For purposes of self-defense 
To obtain possession of weapons or other dangerous objects within the control of a child To apprehend an escapee 
 
B. Mandated Child Abuse Reporting 
Any child care custodian, health practitioner, or employee of a child protective agency who has knowledge of or observes a child in 
his or her professional capacity or within the scope of his or her employment whom he or she knows or reasonably suspects has 
been the victim of child abuse shall report the known or suspected instance of child abuse to a child protective agency by telephone 
and written report: 
The telephone call must be made immediately or as soon as practicably possible by telephone. 
AND 
A written report must be sent within 36 hours of the telephone call to the child protective agency.   Any child care custodian, health 
practitioner, or employee of a child protective agency who has knowledge of or who reasonably suspects mental suffering has been 
inflicted on a child or his or her emotional well-being is endangered in any other way, may report such known or suspected instance 
of child abuse to a child protective agency. 
When two or more persons who are required to report are present and jointly knowledge of a known or suspected instance of child 
abuse, and when there is agreement among them, the telephone report may be made by a member of the team selected by mutual 
agreement and a single report may be made and signed by the selected member of the reporting team. Any member who has 
knowledge that the member designated to make the report failed to do so, shall thereafter make such a report. 
The intent and purpose of the law is to protect children from abuse. The definition of a child is any person under 18 years of age. 
This entire section on Child Abuse was been taken from California Laws Relating To Minors manual. 
 
C. Sexual Activity 
 
Child abuse laws change from time to time. Should you suspect that a student is engaged in unlawful sexual activity, please consult 
with the school social worker and campus officer to determine if particular provisions under this section are current and in effect. 
Involuntary sexual activity is always reportable. 
Incest, even if voluntary is always reportable. Incest is a marriage or act of intercourse between parents and children; ancestors and 
descendants of every degree; brothers and sisters of half and whole blood and uncles and nieces or aunts and nephews. (Family 
Code 2200). 
Voluntary Sexual Activity may or may not be reportable. Even if the behavior voluntary, there are circumstances where the behavior 
is abusive, either by Penal Code definition or because of an exploitative relationship, then this behavior must be reported. If there is 
reasonable suspicion of sexual abuse prior to the consensual activity, the abuse must be reported. 
 
Reportable Sexual Activity if a Child is 14 Years of Age and: 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 7 of 49 9/30/24 
 

Partner is younger than 14 years old, but there is a disparity in chronological or maturational age or indications of intimidation, 
coercion or bribery or other indications of an exploitative relationship. Partner is 14 years or older lewd & lascivious acts committed 
by a partner of any age partner is alleged spouse and over 14 years of age. 
 
Reportable Sexual Activity if the Child is 14 or 15 years and: 
There is unlawful sexual intercourse with a partner older than 14 but less than 21 years of age and there is no indication of abuse or 
evidence of an exploitative relationship there is unlawful sexual intercourse with a partner older than 21 years 
There is lewd and lascivious acts committed by a partner more than 10 years older than the child The partner is the alleged spouse 
and over 21 years of age 
 
Reportable Sexual Activity if the Child is 16 or 17 years and: 
The partner is less than 14 years of age 
There is unlawful sexual intercourse with a partner older than 14 and there is evidence of an exploitative relationship 
The partner is the alleged spouse and there is evidence of an exploitative relationship 
 
Reportable Sexual Activity if the Child is under 18 years: 
Sodomy, oral copulation, penetration of a genital or anal opening by a foreign object, even if consensual, with a partner of any age. 
 
Not Reportable Sexual Activity: 
Child is 14 years or younger and partner is younger than 14 years and of similar age or maturational age. Sexual behavior is voluntary 
and consensual. There are no indications of intimidation, coercion, bribery, or other indications of an exploitative relationship. 
Unlawful sexual intercourse of a child 14 to 15-years old with a partner older than 14 and less than 21 years of age and there is no 
indication of abuse or evidence of an exploitative relationship. 
Unlawful sexual intercourse with a child 16 or 17 years with a partner older than 14 and there is no indication of an exploitative 
relationship. 
 
Mandated reports of sexual activity must be reported to either the Department of Family & Children's Services (DFCS) or to the 
appropriate police jurisdiction. This information will then be cross-reported to the other legal agency. 
 
D. Failure to Report Known or Suspected Child Abuse 
 
Failure to report known or reasonable suspicion of child abuse, including sexual abuse, is a misdemeanor. Mandated reporters are 
provided with immunity from civil or criminal liability as a result of making a mandated report of child abuse. 
 
This information has been taken directly from the San Diego  County Child Abuse Council Informational Handout. 
 
E. Child Abuse Reporting Number: (800) 344-6000 
 
F. Staff Training: All staff engage in mandated child abuse reporting training annually. 
 
 
(B) Disaster Procedures (EC 35295-35297; GC 8607 and 3100) 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 8 of 49 9/30/24 
 

Disaster Plan (See Appendix C-F) 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 9 of 49 9/30/24 
 

. Routine and Emergency Disaster Procedures: Drills 
The Basic Plan 
 
The Basic Plan addresses the Lakeside Union School District 's responsibilities in emergencies associated with natural disaster, 
human-caused emergencies and technological incidents. It provides a framework for coordination of response and recovery efforts 
within the District in coordination and with local, State, and Federal agencies. The Plan establishes an emergency organization to 
direct and control operations at all sites during a period of emergency by assigning responsibilities to specific personnel. The Basic 
Plan: 
 
 Conforms to the Federally mandated National Incident Management System (NIMS), State mandated Standardized Emergency 
Management System (SEMS) and effectively restructures emergency response at all levels in compliance with the Incident Command 
System (ICS). 
Establishes response policies and procedures, providing $district_name$ clear guidance for planning purposes. 
Describes and details procedural steps necessary to protect lives and property. 
Outlines coordination requirements. 
Provides a basis for unified training and response exercises to ensure compliance. 
 
Requirements 
 
The Plan meets the requirements of San Diego County's policies on Emergency Response and Planning, the Standardized Emergency 
Management System (SEMS) Operational Area Response, and defines the primary and support roles of the District and individual 
schools in after-incident damage assessment and reporting requirements. 
 
Protect the safety and welfare of students, employees and staff. 
Provide for a safe and coordinated response to emergencies. 
Protect the District's facilities and properties. 
Enable the District to restore normal conditions with minimal confusion in the shortest time possible. Provide for interface and 
coordination between sites and the District Emergency Operations Center (EOC). 
Provide for interface and coordination between sites and the County or city EOC in which they reside. Provide for the orderly 
conversion of pre-designated District sites to American Red Cross shelters, when necessary. 
 
Schools are required by both federal statute and state regulation to be available for shelters following a disaster. The American Red 
Cross (ARC) has access to schools in damaged areas to set up their mass care facilities, and local governments have a right to use 
schools for the same purposes. This requires close cooperation between school officials and ARC or local government 
representatives, and should be planned and arranged for in advance. 
 
Authorities and References - State of California 
 
California Emergency Services Act (Chapter 7, Division 1, Title 2, California Government Code). 
 
The Act provides the basic authorities for conducting emergency operations following a proclamation of Local Emergency, State of 
Emergency, or State of War Emergency by the Governor and/or appropriate local authorities, consistent with the provisions of this 
Act. 
 
California Government Code, Section 3100, Title 1, Division 4, Chapter 4. 
 
States that public employees are disaster service workers, subject to such disaster service activities as may be assigned to them by 
their superiors or by law. The term "public employees" includes all persons employed by the state or any county, city, city and 
county, state agency or public district, excluding aliens legally employed. 
 
California Emergency Plan 
 
Promulgated by the Governor, and published in accordance with the California Emergency Services Act, it provides overall statewide 
authorities and responsibilities, and describes the functions and operations of government at all levels during extraordinary 
emergencies, including wartime. Section 8568 of the Act states, in part, that "...the State Emergency Plan shall be in effect in each 
political subdivision of the state, and the governing body of each political subdivision shall take such action as may be necessary to 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 10 of 49 9/30/24 
 

carry out the provisions thereof." Therefore, local emergency plans are considered extensions of the California Emergency Plan. 
A. Earthquake Drills 
The earthquake emergency procedure system shall, but not be limited to, all of the following: 
 
A school building disaster plan, ready for implementation at any time, for maintaining the safety and care of students and staffs. 
 
A drop procedure. As used in this article, "drop procedure" means an activity whereby each student and staff member take cover 
under a table or desk, dropping to his or her knees, with the head protected by the arms, and the back to the windows. A drop 
procedure practice shall be held at least once each school quarter in elementary schools and at least once a semester in secondary 
schools. 
 
Protective measures to be taken before, during, and following an earthquake. A program to ensure that the students and that both 
the certificated and classified staff are aware of, and properly trained in, the earthquake emergency procedure system. 
(Code of Regulations, Section 35297) 
 
Whenever an earthquake alarm is sounded, all students, teachers and other employees shall immediately begin Duck, Cover and 
Hold procedures: 
 
DUCK, or DROP down on the floor. 
Take COVER under a sturdy desk, table or other furniture with backs to the windows. Protect head and neck with arms. 
HOLD onto the furniture and be prepared to move with it. 
Stay in this position for at least one minute or, in a real situation, until shaking stops. 
 
Evacuation. An Evacuation should NEVER be automatic. There may be more danger outside the building than there is inside. If 
administrative directions are not forthcoming, the teacher will be responsible for assessing the situation and determining if an 
evacuation is required. 
 
Pre-determined evacuation areas should be in open areas, without overhead hazards and removed from potential danger spots 
(covered walkways, large gas mains, chain linked fences [electric shock potential]). 
 
Make it clear that a post-earthquake route differs from a fire evacuation route, and that appropriate nonhazardous alternate routes 
may be needed. 
 
Practice evacuation using alternate routes to the assembly areas. 
 
Students are to remain with their teacher in the evacuation area. Teachers shall take their roll books, take roll once in the evacuation 
area and be prepared to identify missing students to administrators and/first responders. 
 
The principal or designee shall keep a copy of each drill conducted on the Emergency Drill Report form and file a copy with the 
Superintendent/designee. 
 
Standards for a Successful Earthquake Drill: 
 
The Earthquake Alarm can be heard by all staff and students. 
 
Immediately after the earthquake alarm sounds, all students, teachers and other employees shall: 
 
DUCK, or DROP down on the floor. 
Take COVER under a sturdy desk, table or other furniture with backs to the windows. Protect head and neck with arms. 
HOLD onto the furniture and be prepared to move with it. 
 
Evacuations shall occur when directed over the loud speaker by the Principal/designee. When evacuations are included as part of 
the drill, appropriate non-hazardous alternate routes, avoiding building overhangs, electrical wires, large trees, covered walkways, 
etc., shall be utilized by staff and students in order to reach the designated evacuation areas. 
 
Teachers have taken roll once in the evacuation area. Any missing students are immediately reported to the Principal/designee. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 11 of 49 9/30/24 
 

 
Upon sounding of the all clear students and staff return to their appropriate classroom and the teacher takes roll once more. Missing 
students are reported to the attendance office. 
B. Fire Drills 
Whenever the fire alarm is given, all students, teachers and other employees shall quickly leave the building in an orderly manner. 
Teachers shall ascertain that no student remains in the building. Designated evacuation routes shall be posted in each room. 
Teachers shall be prepared to select alternate exits and direct their classes to these exits in the event the designated evacuation 
route is blocked. 
Evacuation areas will be established away from fire lanes. 
Students are to remain with their teacher in the evacuation area. Teachers shall take their roll books, take roll once in the evacuation 
area and be prepared to identify missing students to administrators and/or fire marshals/designees. 
 The principal or designee shall keep a copy of each drill conducted on the Emergency Drill Report form and file a copy with the 
Superintendent/designee. 
 
Standards for a Successful Fire Drill: 
 
The Fire Alarm can be heard by all staff and students. 
Orderly evacuation begins immediately and is completed within 5 minutes of the initial alarm, with minimal congestion at exit gates. 
Evacuation areas will be established away from fire lanes. 
Teachers and students are staged in an orderly fashion away from fire lanes. 
Teachers have taken roll once in the evacuation area. Any missing students are immediately reported to the Principal/designee. 
Upon sounding of the all clear students and staff return to their appropriate classroom and the teacher takes roll once more. Missing 
students are reported to the attendance office. 
C. Active Shooter/Lockdown Drills 
For sites that have had Active shooter Training, conducting an Active shooter Lockdown Drill initially involves more pre-planning and 
organization than conducting other drills. Middle and high schools should conduct an annual drill, which should take no longer than 
40 minutes and impact class time by 20 minutes. Elementary schools should conduct drills every other year (or annually, if the local 
police department has the resources to support the drills). Drills need to be scheduled with your School Resource or Liaison Officers. 
 
There are a number of steps that are recommended in the Active shooter Training in order to successfully conduct your drill. They 
involve: 
 
 Conduct a staff meeting. Plan on a 20 minute timeframe to review expectations and standards in terms of: 
a. Locking doors 
b. Covering windows 
c. Turning off lights 
d. Building barricades 
e. Reviewing classroom and all clear procedures 
f. Reviewing off site evacuation locations 
Send a follow-up reminder memo to your staff. 
Organize your assessment team. This also provides an excellent opportunity for your Critical Response Team to work together with 
police participants in the drill. 
Conduct the assessment. 
Complete follow-up tasks. 
 
Remember, you are setting the tone for the importance of safety for students and staff on your campus. 
VI. Routine and Emergency Disaster Procedures: Overview 
The Basic Plan 
 
The Basic Plan addresses the Lakeside Union School District 's responsibilities in emergencies associated with natural disaster, 
human-caused emergencies and technological incidents. It provides a framework for coordination of response and recovery efforts 
within the District in coordination and with local, State, and Federal agencies. The Plan establishes an emergency organization to 
direct and control operations at all sites during a period of emergency by assigning responsibilities to specific personnel. The Basic 
Plan: 
 
 Conforms to the Federally mandated National Incident Management System (NIMS), State mandated Standardized Emergency 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 12 of 49 9/30/24 
 

Management System (SEMS) and effectively restructures emergency response at all levels in compliance with the Incident Command 
System (ICS). 
Establishes response policies and procedures, providing Lakeside Union School District clear guidance for planning purposes. 
Describes and details procedural steps necessary to protect lives and property. 
Outlines coordination requirements. 
Provides a basis for unified training and response exercises to ensure compliance. 
 
Requirements 
 
The Plan meets the requirements of San Diego County's policies on Emergency Response and Planning, the Standardized Emergency 
Management System (SEMS) Operational Area Response, and defines the primary and support roles of the District and individual 
schools in after-incident damage assessment and reporting requirements. 
 
Protect the safety and welfare of students, employees and staff. 
Provide for a safe and coordinated response to emergencies. 
Protect the District's facilities and properties. 
Enable the District to restore normal conditions with minimal confusion in the shortest time possible. Provide for interface and 
coordination between sites and the District Emergency Operations Center (EOC). 
Provide for interface and coordination between sites and the County or city EOC in which they reside. Provide for the orderly 
conversion of pre-designated District sites to American Red Cross shelters, when necessary. 
 
Schools are required by both federal statute and state regulation to be available for shelters following a disaster. The American Red 
Cross (ARC) has access to schools in damaged areas to set up their mass care facilities, and local governments have a right to use 
schools for the same purposes. This requires close cooperation between school officials and ARC or local government 
representatives, and should be planned and arranged for in advance. 
 
Authorities and References - State of California 
 
California Emergency Services Act (Chapter 7, Division 1, Title 2, California Government Code). 
 
The Act provides the basic authorities for conducting emergency operations following a proclamation of Local Emergency, State of 
Emergency, or State of War Emergency by the Governor and/or appropriate local authorities, consistent with the provisions of this 
Act. 
 
California Government Code, Section 3100, Title 1, Division 4, Chapter 4. 
 
States that public employees are disaster service workers, subject to such disaster service activities as may be assigned to them by 
their superiors or by law. The term "public employees" includes all persons employed by the state or any county, city, city and 
county, state agency or public district, excluding aliens legally employed. 
 
California Emergency Plan 
 
Promulgated by the Governor, and published in accordance with the California Emergency Services Act, it provides overall statewide 
authorities and responsibilities, and describes the functions and operations of government at all levels during extraordinary 
emergencies, including wartime. Section 8568 of the Act states, in part, that "...the State Emergency Plan shall be in effect in each 
political subdivision of the state, and the governing body of each political subdivision shall take such action as may be necessary to 
carry out the provisions thereof." Therefore, local emergency plans are considered extensions of the California Emergency Plan. 
A. Definition: Incidents, Emergencies, Disasters 
Incident 
 
An incident is an occurrence or event, either human-caused or caused by natural phenomena, that requires action by emergency 
response personnel to prevent or minimize loss of life or damage to property and/or natural resources. 
 
Incidents may result in extreme peril to the safety of persons and property and may lead to, or create conditions of disaster. 
Incidents may also be rapidly mitigated without loss or damage. Although they may not meet disaster level definition, larger 
incidents may call for managers to proclaim a "Local Emergency". 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 13 of 49 9/30/24 
 

 
Incidents are usually a single event that may be small or large. They occur in a defined geographical area and require local resources 
or, sometimes, mutual aid. There is usually one to a few agencies involved in dealing with an ordinary threat to life and property and 
to a limited population. Usually a local emergency is not declared and the jurisdictional EOC is not activated. Incidents are usually of 
short duration, measured in hours or, at most, a few days. Primary command decisions are made at the scene along with strategy, 
tactics, and resource management decisions 
 
Emergency 
 
The term emergency is used in several ways. It is a condition of disaster or of extreme peril to the safety of persons and property. In 
this context, an emergency and an incident could mean the same thing, although an emergency could have more than one incident 
associated with it. 
 
Emergency is also used in Standardized Emergency Management System (SEMS) terminology to describe agencies or facilities, e.g., 
Emergency Response Agency, Emergency Operations Center, etc. 
 
Emergency also defines a conditional state such as a proclamation of "Local Emergency". The California Emergency Services Act, of 
which SEMS is a part, describes three states of emergency: 
 
State of War Emergency 
State of Emergency 
State of Local Emergency 
 
Disaster 
 
A disaster is defined as sudden calamitous emergency event bringing great damage, loss, or destruction. Disasters may occur with 
little or no advance warning, e.g., an earthquake or a flash flood, or they may develop from one or more incidents, e.g., a major 
wildfire or hazardous materials discharge. 
 
Disasters are either single or multiple events that have many separate incidents associated with them. The resource demand goes 
beyond local capabilities and extensive mutual aid and support are needed. There are many agencies and jurisdictions involved 
including multiple layers of government. There is usually an extraordinary threat to life and property affecting a generally 
widespread population and geographical area. A disaster's effects last over a substantial period of time (days to weeks) and local 
government will proclaim a Local Emergency. Emergency Operations Centers are activated to provide centralized overall 
coordination of jurisdictional assets, departments and incident support functions. Initial recovery coordination is also a responsibility 
of the EOCs.  
 
B. Earthquake Overview 
Major Earthquake Threat Summary 
 
Earthquakes are sudden releases of strain energy stored in the earth's bedrock. The great majority of earthquakes are not dangerous 
to life or property either because they occur in sparsely populated areas or because they are small earthquakes that release 
relatively small amounts of energy. However, where urban areas are located in regions of high seismicity, damaging earthquakes are 
expectable, if not predictable, events. Every occupant and developer in San Diego County assumes seismic risk because the County is 
within an area of high seismicity. More than ten severe earthquakes have impacted San Francisco Bay Region during historic times. 
 
The major effects of earthquakes are ground shaking and ground failure. Severe earthquakes are characteristically accompanied by 
surface faulting. Flooding may be triggered by dam or levee failure resulting from an earthquake, or by seismically induced 
settlement or subsidence. All of these geologic effects are capable of causing property damage and, more importantly, risks to life 
and safety of persons. 
 
A fault is a fracture in the earth's crust along which rocks on opposite sides have moved relative to each other. Active faults have 
high probability of future movement. Fault displacement involves forces so great that the only means of limiting damage to man-
made structures is to avoid the traces of active faults. Any movement beneath a structure, even on the order of an inch or two, 
could have catastrophic effects on the structure and its service lines. 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 14 of 49 9/30/24 
 

The overall energy release of an earthquake is its most important characteristic. Other important attributes include an earthquake's 
duration, its related number of significant stress cycles, and its accelerations. 
C. Levels of Response 
Response Levels are used to describe the type of event: 
 
The area(s) affected, the extent of coordination or assistance needed, and the degree of participation expected from the School 
District. Response Levels are closely tied to Emergency Proclamations issued by the head of local government. 
 
Response Level 0 - Readiness & Routine Phase 
 
On-going routine response by the School District to daily emergencies or incidents. Stand-by and alert procedures issued in advance 
of an anticipated or planned event. 
 
Response Level 3 - Local Emergency 
 
A minor to moderate incident in which local resources are adequate and available. This level of emergency response occurs when an 
emergency incident, e.g., gas leak, sewer back-up, assaults, bomb threat, toxic spill, medical emergency, shooting, etc., occurs. A 
Level 3 response requires School/Site Coordinators to implement guidelines in the Emergency Standard Operating Procedures and 
interact with public agencies. 
 
Response Level 2 - Local Disaster 
 
A moderate to severe emergency in which resources are not adequate and mutual aid may be required on a regional, even 
statewide basis with coordination with local police and fire departments of the affected are working in concert with Lakeside Union 
School District to respond. The affected Cities and the County of 
San Diego will proclaim a local emergency. Then, the State of California may declare a state of emergency. 
 
Response Level 1 - Major Disaster 
 
Resources in or near the impacted areas are overwhelmed and extensive State and Federal resources are required. The cities and 
the County of San Diego will proclaim a local emergency. Then, the State of California will declare a State of Emergency. A 
Presidential Declaration of an Emergency or Major Disaster is requested by the State. Examples of major disasters are the Loma 
Prieta Earthquake of 1989 or the Oakland Hills Firestorm of 1991. When local jurisdictions declare a State of Emergency, the district 
board can declare the same. 
D. Emergency Phases 
Some emergencies will be preceded by a build-up or warning period, providing sufficient time to warn the population and 
implement mitigation measures designated to reduce loss of life and property damage. Other emergencies occur with little or no 
advance warning, thus requiring immediate activation of the emergency operations plan and commitment of resources. All 
employees must be prepared to respond promptly and effectively to any foreseeable emergency, including the provision and use of 
mutual aid. 
 
Emergency management activities during peacetime and national security emergencies are often associated with the phases 
indicated below. However, not every disaster necessarily includes all indicated phases. 
 
Prevention/Mitigation Phase 
 
Prevention/Mitigation is perhaps the most important phase of emergency management. However, it is often the least used and 
generally the most cost effective. Mitigation is often thought of as taking actions to strengthen facilities, abatement of nearby 
hazards, and reducing the potential damage either to structures or their contents, while prevention is taking steps to avoid potential 
problems. Both of these elements require education of parents, students and teachers. 
 
While it is not possible to totally eliminate either the destructive force of a potential disaster or its effects, doing what can be done 
to minimize the effects may create a safer environment that will result in lower response costs, and fewer casualties. 
 
Preparedness Phase 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 15 of 49 9/30/24 
 

The preparedness phase involves activities taken in advance of an emergency. These activities develop operational capabilities and 
responses to a disaster. Those identified in this plan as having either a primary or support mission relative to response and recovery 
review Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) or checklists detailing personnel assignments, policies, notification procedures, and 
resource lists. Personnel are acquainted with these SOPs and checklists and periodically are trained in activation and execution. 
 
Response Phase 
 
Pre-Impact: Recognition of the approach of a potential disaster where actions are taken to save lives and protect property. Warning 
systems may be activated, and resources may be mobilized, EOCs may be activated and evacuation may begin. 
 
Immediate Impact: Emphasis is placed on saving lives, controlling the situation, and minimizing the effects of the disaster. Incident 
Command Posts and EOCs may be activated, and emergency instructions may be issued. 
 
Sustained: As the emergency continues, assistance is provided to victims of the disaster and efforts are made to reduce secondary 
damage. Response support facilities may be established. The resource requirements continually change to meet the needs of the 
incident. 
 
Recovery Phase 
 
Recovery is taking all actions necessary to restore the area to pre-event conditions or better, if possible. 
Therefore, mitigation for future hazards plays an important part in the recovery phase for many emergencies. There is no clear time 
separation between response and recovery. In fact, planning for recovery should be a part of the response phase.  
E. First Things First 
Preparing your school for emergencies starts with staff preparedness. The backbone of school planning is dependent on the staff's 
willingness to stay at school during a major community emergency. Personal preparedness makes this much easier. 
 
Each staff member needs 
 
A 72-hour supply kit for the home 
A Car Kit, including comfortable clothes/shoes and medications 
To develop a plan to reunite with their family 
A neighborhood preparedness program 
 
Preparedness Brochures are available from the local chapter of the American Red Cross, San Diego County Office of Emergency 
Services, Lakeside Union School District website, www.redcross.org, www.prepare.org or www.ready.gov. 
 
If the disaster occurs during school time, Emergency Management recommends the child stay at school until the parent or a trusted 
friend (see Emergency Cards) picks up the child. We have no idea, especially in an earthquake, how impacted our neighborhoods 
may be. 
 
This means the school staff will need to stay with the children. You can only do this if you are prepared at home! You must feel that 
your family can activate your Family Plan without you. 
 
Disaster Service Worker Status: California Government Code Section 3100 declares that public employees are disaster services 
workers, subject to such disaster service activities as may be assigned to them by the superiors or by law. The term public employees 
include all persons employed by the state or any county, city, city & county, state agency or public district, excluding aliens legally 
employed. This law applies to public school employees in the following cases: 
 
When a local emergency has been proclaimed, When a state of emergency has been proclaimed, or When a federal disaster 
declaration has been made. 
F. District and Parent Responsibilities 
DISTRICT RESPONSIBILITY 
 
If the superintendent declares a district emergency during the school day, the following procedures will be followed: 
 
IN CASE OF A DECLARED EMERGENCY BY THE SUPERINTENDENT DURING SCHOOL HOURS, 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 16 of 49 9/30/24 
 

ALL STUDENTS WILL BE REQUIRED TO REMAIN AT SCHOOL OR AT AN ALTERNATE SAFE SITE UNDER THE SUPERVISION OF THE 
SCHOOL PRINCIPAL OR OTHER PERSONNEL ASSIGNED BY THE PRINCIPAL. 
 
Until regular dismissal time and released only then if it is considered safe, 
OR 
Until released to an adult authorized by the parent or legal guardian whose name appears on district records. 
a. If students are on their way to school, they will be brought to school if bussed, or they shouldproceed to school if walking. 
b. If students are on their way home from school, they are to continue home. 
 
During a Declared Emergency, those students who have not been picked up by their parents or other authorized person may be 
taken by district personnel to another site where consolidated care facilities can be provided. This information will be given to the 
media stations and posted at the site to keep parents informed. 
 
PARENT RESPONSIBILITY 
 
Parents and legal guardians of students will be provided with a Student Health/Emergency Form each year. 
In case of a Declared Emergency, students will be released ONLY to persons designated on this form. Parents are responsible for 
ensuring that information on the Student Health/Enrollment Form is current at all times. 
 
Parents are asked to share with the schools the responsibility for informing students of what they should do in case of a severe 
earthquake or other major emergency. Parents need to give specific directions to each student to follow the policy outlined above 
and to follow the directions of school personnel. 
 
School authorities will do everything possible to care for each student while he/she is under district supervision. 
 
It is critical that students do not have directions from parents that are contrary to the district's stated policy on retention at school 
and authorized release in case of a severe emergency.  
VII. Emergency Response Procedures 
Section 8 content  
A. Basic Actions 
Most emergency responses are covered by the following Basic Actions: 
 
A. Action: STAND BY 
 
Action: STAND BY consists of bringing students into the classroom or holding them in the classroom pending further instruction. 
 
B. Action: LEAVE BUILDING 
 
ACTION: LEAVE BUILDING consists of the orderly movement of students and staff from inside the school building to outside areas of 
safety or planned evacuation site. 
 
Action: LEAVE BUILDING is appropriate for-but not limited to-the following emergencies: 
 
Fire 
Peacetime Bomb Threat 
Chemical Accident 
Explosion or Threat of an Explosion 
Following an Earthquake 
Other similar occurrences that might make the building uninhabitable 
At the onset of an Active Shooter/Lockdown Alert, when teacher/supervisor has ascertained that leaving is the best option. 
 
C. Action: TAKE COVER 
 
Action: TAKE COVER consists of bringing/keeping students indoors if possible and sheltering in place as appropriate to the situation. 
 
If outdoors, Action: TAKE COVER consists of hiding behind any solid object (large tree, engine block of car, cement wall), in the event 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 17 of 49 9/30/24 
 

a sniper attack, armed intruder, rabid animal, or moving immediately to a location which is upwind and uphill in the event of a 
chemical or biological threat 
 
Action TAKE COVER is appropriate for, but not limited to, the following: 
 
Severe Windstorm (short warning) 
Biological or Chemical Threat 
Sniper Attack 
Rabid Animal on School Grounds 
 
D. Action: DROP 
 
WARNING: The warning for this type of emergency is the beginning of the disaster itself. 
 
Action: DROP consists of: 
 
 Inside school buildings 

• Immediately TAKE COVER under desks or tables and turn away from all windows 
• Remain in a sheltered position for at least 60 seconds silent and listening to/or for instructions Outside of School 

Buildings 
• Earthquake: move away from buildings -Take a protective position, if possible Explosion/Nuclear Attack: 
• Take protective position, OR, 
• Get behind any solid object (ditch, curb, tree, etc.); lie prone with head away from light or blast; cover head, face, and as 

much of the skin surface as possible; close eyes, and cover ears with forearms. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 18 of 49 9/30/24 
 

 
E. ACTION: DIRECTED MAINTENANCE 
 
No school personnel/students are allowed to enter a school facility until inspected by and authorized by appropriate school 
personnel: Maintenance and School Administrators, and if applicable, Police, Fire, or City Inspectors. 
 
In the event that drinking water is unsafe, water valves will be turned off and the drinking fountains sealed. 
 
Water, gas, and electrical shut-off valves will be shut-off for each applicable building under the join authorization of the 
administration and head custodian. 
 
F. ACTION: DIRECTED TRANSPORTATION 
 
WARNING: Under certain disaster conditions, authorized officials may attempt to move an entire community, or portion thereof, 
from an area of danger to another area of safety. 
 
Action: DIRECTED TRANSPORTATION consists of loading students and staff into school buses, cars and other means of 
transportation, and taking them from a danger area to a designated safety area. 
 
Action: DIRECTED TRANSPORTATION is considered appropriate only when directed by the 
Superintendent or designee, Site Administrator, Police, Fire, or OES. It may be appropriate for, but not limited to, movement away 
from: 
 
Fire 
Chemical & Biological Gas Alert 
Flood 
Fallout Area 
Blast Area 
Chemical & Biological Gas Alert 
Specific Man-Made Emergency (shooting, fire, etc.) 
 
G. ACTION: GO HOME 
 
Action: GO HOME consists of: 
 
Dismissal of all classes 
Return of students to their homes by the most expeditious 
 
Action: GO HOME is to be considered only if there is time for students to go safely to their homes and if buses or other 
transportation are available for students who live at a distance from the school. Notification of parents by radio broadcast, local 
television, ALERT website, phone distribution lists, or other means will be requested. 
 
H. ACTION: CONVERT SCHOOL 
 
Action: CONVERT SCHOOL to a Red Cross emergency facility will be initiated by City officials. 
 
 
 
Public Agency Use of School Buildings for Emergency Shelters 
 
 
(C) School Suspension, Expulsion and Mandatory Expulsion Guidelines 
C. Suspension and Expulsion Policies 
Grounds for suspension which fall under Education Code 48900 
Caused, attempted to cause, or threatened to cause physical injury to another person 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 19 of 49 9/30/24 
 

Possessed, sold, or otherwise furnished any firearm, knife, explosive, or other dangerous object unless, in the case of possession of 
any object of this type, the pupil had obtained written permission to possess the item from a certificated school employee, which is 
concurred in by the principal or the designee of the principal. 
Unlawfully possessed, used, sold, or otherwise furnished, or been under the influence of any controlled substance. 
Unlawfully offered, arranged, or negotiated to sell any controlled substance. 
Committed or attempted to commit robbery or extortion. 
Caused or attempted to cause damage to school property or private property. 
Stolen or attempted to steal school or private property. 
Possessed or used tobacco, or any products containing tobacco or 1nicotine products, including, but not limited to, cigarettes, cigars, 
miniature cigars, clove cigarettes, smokeless tobacco, snuff, chew packets, and betel. However, this section does not prohibit use or 
possession by a pupil of his or her own prescription products. 
Committed an obscene act or engaged in habitual profanity or vulgarity. 
Had unlawful possession of, or unlawfully offered, arranged or negotiated to sell any drug paraphernalia. 
Disrupted school activities or otherwise willfully defied the valid authority supervisors, teachers, administrators, school officials, or 
other school personnel engaged in the performance of their duties. 
Knowingly received stolen school property or private property. 
Possessed an imitation firearm. As used in this section, "imitation firearm" means a replica of a firearm as to substantially similar in 
physical properties to an existing firearm as to lead a reasonable person to conclude that the replica is a firearm. 
Committed or attempted to commit sexual assault. 
Harassed, threatened, or intimidated a pupil who is a complaining witness or witness in a school disciplinary proceeding for the 
purpose of either preventing that pupil from being a witness or retaliating against that pupil for being a witness, or both. 
 
A pupil may not be suspended or expelled for any of the acts listed above unless that act is related to school activity or school 
attendance occurring within a school under the jurisdiction of the superintendent or principal or occurring within any other school 
district. A pupil may be suspended or expelled for acts which are enumerated in this section and related to school activity or 
attendance that occur at any time, including but not limited to, any of the following: 
While on school grounds. 
While going to or coming from school. 
During the lunch period, whether on or off the campus. 
During, or in route to and from, a school sponsored activity. 
 
Expulsion Policies under Education Code 48915: 
 
The principal shall recommend the expulsion of a pupil for any of the following committed at school or school activity off school 
grounds, unless the principal or superintendent finds an expulsion is inappropriate, due to the particular circumstance: 
Causing serious physical injury to another person, except in self-defense. 
Possession of any knife, explosive, or other dangerous object of no reasonable use to the pupil. Unlawful possession of any 
controlled substance, as defined under Ed. Code. 
Robbery or extortion. 
Assault or battery on any school employee, as defined in Sections 240 and 242 of the Penal Code. 
 
The principal, or superintendent of schools shall immediately suspend, pursuant to Section 48911, and shall recommend expulsion 
of a pupil that he or she determines has committed any of the following acts at school or at a school activity off school grounds: 
Possessing, selling, or otherwise furnishing a firearm. This subdivision does not apply to an act of possessing a firearm if the pupil has 
obtained prior written permission to possess the firearm from a certificated school employee, which is concurred in by the principal 
or the designee of the principal. This subdivision applies to an act of possessing a firearm only if an employee of a school district 
verifies the possession. 
Brandishing a knife at another person. 
Unlawfully selling a controlled substance as defined by Education Code. 
Committing or attempting to commit a sexual assault as defined in the Education Code. 
 
LUSD has the following Board Policy related to Suspension and Expulsion of Students: BP 5144.1 
The Governing Board desires to provide district students access to educational opportunities in an orderly school environment that 
protects their safety and security, ensures their welfare and well-being, and promotes their learning and development. The Board 
shall develop rules and regulations setting the standards of behavior expected of district students and the disciplinary processes and 
procedures for addressing violations of those standards, including suspension and/or expulsion. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 20 of 49 9/30/24 
 

(cf. 5131 - Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.1 - Bus Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.2 - Bullying) 
 
The grounds for suspension and expulsion and the procedures for considering, recommending, and/or implementing suspension and 
expulsion shall be those specified in law, in policy, and in the accompanying administrative regulation. 
Except when otherwise permitted by law, a student may be suspended or expelled only when his/her behavior is related to a school 
activity or school attendance occurring within any district school or another school district, regardless of when it occurs, including, 
but not limited to, the following: (Education Code 48900(s)) 
 
1. While on school grounds 
2. While going to or coming from school 
3. During the lunch period, whether on or off the school campus 
(cf. 5112.5 - Open/Closed Campus) 
4. During, going to, or coming from a school-sponsored activity 
District staff shall enforce the rules concerning suspension and expulsion of students fairly, consistently, equally, and in accordance 
with the district's nondiscrimination policies. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
 
Appropriate Use of Suspension Authority 
Except when a student's act that violates Education Code 48900(a)-(e), as listed in items #1-5 under "Grounds for Suspension or 
Expulsion: Grades K-12" of the accompanying administrative regulation, or when his/her presence causes a danger to others, 
suspension shall be used only when other means of correction have failed to bring about proper conduct. (Education Code 
48900.5,48900.6) 
(cf. 1020 - Youth Services) 
(cf. 5138 - Conflict Resolution/Peer Mediation) 
(cf. 5144 - Discipline) 
(cf. 6142.4 - Service Learning/Community Service Classes) 
(cf. 6164.2 - Guidance/Counseling Services) 
(cf. 6164.5 - Student Success Teams) 
 
A student's parents/guardians shall be notified as soon as possible when there is an escalating pattern of misbehavior that could 
lead to removal on-campus or off-campus suspension. 
No student in grades K-3 may be suspended for disruption or willful defiance, except by a teacher pursuant to Education Code 
48910. (Education Code 48900) 
Students shall not be suspended or expelled for truancy, tardiness, or absenteeism from assigned school activities. 
(cf. 5113 - Absences and Excuses) 
(cf. 5113.1 - Chronic Absence and Truancy) 
 
On-Campus Suspension 
 
To ensure the proper supervision and ongoing learning of students who are suspended for any of the reasons enumerated in 
Education Code 48900 and 48900.2, but who pose no imminent danger or threat to anyone at school and for whom expulsion 
proceedings have not been initiated, the Superintendent or designee shall establish a supervised suspension classroom program 
which meets the requirements of law. 
Except where a supervised suspension is permitted by law for a student's first offense, supervised suspension shall be imposed only 
when other means of correction have failed to bring about proper conduct. (Education Code 48900.5) 
 
Authority to Expel 
A student may be expelled only by the Board. (Education Code 48918(j)) 
As required by law, the Superintendent or principal shall recommend expulsion and the Board shall expel any student found to have 
committed any of the following "mandatory recommendation and mandatory expulsion" acts at school or at a school activity off 
school grounds: (Education Code 48915) 
1. Possessing a firearm which is not an imitation firearm, as verified by a certificated employee, unless thestudent had obtained prior 
written permission to possess the item from a certificated school employee, with the principal or designee's concurrence 
(cf. 5131.7 - Weapons and Dangerous Instruments) 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 21 of 49 9/30/24 
 

2. Selling or otherwise furnishing a firearm 
3. Brandishing a knife at another person 
4. Unlawfully selling a controlled substance listed in Health and Safety Code 11053-11058 
5. Committing or attempting to commit a sexual assault as defined in Penal Code 261, 266c, 286, 288, 288a,or 289, or committing a 
sexual battery as defined in Penal Code 243.4 6. Possessing an explosive as defined in 18 USC 921 
 
For all other violations listed in the accompanying administrative regulation under "Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades K-
12" and "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 4-12," the Superintendent or principal shall have the discretion 
to recommend expulsion of a student. If expulsion is recommended, the Board shall order the student expelled only if it makes a 
finding of either or both of the following: (Education Code 48915(b) and (e)) 
 
1. That other means of correction are not feasible or have repeatedly failed to bring about proper conduct 
2. That due to the nature of the violation, the presence of the student causes a continuing danger to thephysical safety of the 
student or others 
A vote to expel a student shall be taken in public an open session of a Board meeting. 
The Board may vote to suspend the enforcement of the expulsion order pursuant to the requirements of law and the accompanying 
administrative regulation. (Education Code 48900). 
No student shall be expelled for disruption or willful defiance. (Education Code 48900) 
No child enrolled in a preschool program shall be expelled except under limited circumstances as specified in AR 5148.3 - 
Preschool/Early Childhood Education. 
(cf. 5148.3 - Preschool/Early Childhood Education) 
 
Due Process 
 
The Board shall provide for the fair and equitable treatment of students facing suspension and/or expulsion by affording them their 
due process rights under the law. The Superintendent or designee shall comply with procedures for notices, hearings, and appeals as 
specified in law and administrative regulation. (Education Code 48911, 48915, 48915.5) 
(cf. 5119 - Students Expelled from Other Districts) 
(cf. 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Individuals with Disabilities)) 
 
Maintenance and Monitoring of Outcome Data 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall maintain outcome data related to student suspensions and expulsions in accordance with 
Education Code 48900.8 and 48916.1, including, but not limited to, the number of students recommended for expulsion, the 
grounds for each recommended expulsion, the actions taken by the Board, the types of referral made after each expulsion, and the 
disposition of the students after the expulsion period. For any expulsion that involves the possession of a firearm, such data shall 
include the name of the school and the type of firearm involved, as required pursuant to 20 USC 7961. Suspension and expulsion 
data shall be reported to the Board annually and to the California Department of Education when so required. 
In presenting the report to the Board, the Superintendent or designee shall disaggregate data on suspensions and expulsions by 
school and by numerically significant student subgroups, including, but not limited to, ethnic subgroups, socioeconomically 
disadvantaged students, English learners, students with disabilities, foster youth, and homeless students. Based on the data, the 
Board shall address any identified disparities in the imposition of student discipline and shall determine whether and how the 
district is meeting its goals for improving school climate as specified in its local control and accountability plan. (cf. 0460 - Local 
Control and Accountability Plan) 
 
 
 
(D) Procedures to Notify Teachers of Dangerous Pupils (EC 49079) 
D. Staff Notification of Dangerous Students 
In order to fulfill the requirements made by Education Code 49079 and Welfare and Institutions Code 827 that state teachers must 
be notified of the reason(s) a student has been suspended. The District has incorporated this notification into the student 
information system so that it is easily accessible for teachers on any student level screen. On the flag bar there is a red flag: 49079. 
This flag indicates the student has been suspended under Ed Code 48900. The teacher can access more specific information by 
contacting their site administrator for additional details about the behavior. All information regarding suspension and expulsion is 
CONFIDENTIAL, is not to be shared with any student(s) or parent(s). Teachers are asked to secure the list so students and others may 
not view it. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 22 of 49 9/30/24 
 

Additionally, Pursuant to Welfare & Institution Code 827(b) and Education Code 48267, the Court notifies the Superintendent of the 
Lakeside Union School District regarding students who have engaged in certain criminal conduct. This information is forwarded to 
the site Principal. The site Principal is responsible for prompt notification of the student's teachers. Per Education Code 49079, this 
information must be kept confidential. This information is also forwarded to all administrators and the student's counselor. 
 
 
(E) Sexual Harassment Policies (EC 212.6 [b]) 
B. Sexual Harassment Policy 
A. DEFINITION 
"Sexual Harassment includes 'unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, sexually motivated physical contact, or other 
verbal or physical conduct or communication of a sexual nature,' when any of four conditions are met: 
Submission to the conduct or communication is made a term or condition, either explicitly or implicitly, of obtaining education; 
Submission or rejection of the conduct or communication is used as a factor in decisions affecting that person's education; 
The conduct or communication has either the purpose or effect of 'substantially interfering' with a person's education; 
The conduct or communication creates an 'intimidating, hostile, or offensive' educational environment." 
 
B. Policy Pertaining to Sexual Harassment: LUSD has the following Board Policies on Sexual Harrasment, which can be viewed at 
www.lsusd.net, under Leadership, Board of Trustees, Board Policies: 
Board Poilicy 4119.91 
The following policy shall apply to all district employees, volunteers, contractors, job applicants, and other persons with an 
employment relationship with the district. 
The Governing is committed to providing a safe work environment that is free of harassment and intimidation.  The Board prohibits 
sexual harassment against district employees and retaliatory behavior or action against any persons who complain, testifies or 
otherwise participates in the complaint process established for the purpose of this policy. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
(cf. 4030 - Nondiscrimination in Employment) 
Sexual harassment includes, but is not limited to, harassment that is based on the sex, gender, gender identity, gender expression, 
or sexual orientation of the victim and harassment based on pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions. 
The Superintendent or designee shall take all actions necessary to ensure the prevention, investigation, and correction of sexual 
harassment, including but not limited to: 
1. Providing training to employees in accordance with law and administrative regulation 
2. Publicizing and disseminating the district's sexual harassment policy to employees and others to whom the policy may apply 
3. Ensuring prompt, thorough, fair, and equitable investigation of complaints 
4. Taking timely and appropriate corrective/remedial action(s), which may require interim separation ofthe complainant and the 
alleged harasser and subsequent monitoring of developments 
The Superintendent or designee shall periodically evaluate the effectiveness of the district's strategies to prevent and address 
harassment. Such evaluation may involve conducting regular anonymous employee surveys to assess whether harassment is 
occurring or is perceived to be tolerated, partnering with researchers or other agencies with the needed expertise to evaluate the 
district's prevention strategies, and using any other effective tool for receiving feedback on systems and/or processes. As necessary, 
changes shall be made to the harassment policy, complaint procedures, or training. 
Sexual Harassment Reports and Complaints 
District employees who feel that they have been sexually harassed in the performance of their district responsibilities or who have 
knowledge of any incident of sexual harassment by or against another employee shall immediately report the incident to their direct 
supervisor, a district administrator, or the district's Title IX Coordinator. Employees may bypass their supervisor in filing a complaint 
if the supervisor is the subject of the complaint. A supervisor or administrator who receives a harassment complaint shall promptly 
notify the Title IX Coordinator. 
Once notified, the Title IX Coordinator shall ensure the complaint or allegation is addressed through AR 
4119.12/4219.12/4319.12 - Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures or AR 4030 - 
Nondiscrimination in Employment, as applicable.  Because a complaint or allegation that is dismissed or denied under the Title IX 
complaint procedure may still be subject to consideration under state law, the Title IX Coordinator shall ensure that any 
implementation of AR 4119.12/4219.12/4319.12 concurrently meets the requirements of AR 4030. 
(cf. 4119.12/4219.12/4319.12 - Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaints) 
The Title IX Coordinator shall offer supportive measures to the complainant and respondent, as deemed appropriate under the 
circumstances. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 23 of 49 9/30/24 
 

Upon investigation of a sexual harassment complaint, any district employee found to have engaged or participated in sexual 
harassment or to have aided, abetted, incited, compelled, or coerced another to commit sexual harassment in violation of this policy 
shall be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal, in accordance with law and the applicable collective bargaining 
agreement. 
 
Board Policy 4219.11 
The Governing Board prohibits sexual harassment of district employees and job applicants. The Board also prohibits retaliatory 
behavior or action against district employees or other persons who complain, testify or otherwise participate in the complaint 
process established pursuant to this policy and administrative regulation. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) (cf. 4030 - Nondiscrimination in Employment) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall take all actions necessary to ensure the prevention, investigation, and correction of sexual 
harassment, including but not limited to: 
1. Providing training to employees in accordance with law and administrative regulation 
2. Publicizing and disseminating the district's sexual harassment policy to staff 
(cf. 4112.9/4212.9/4312.9 - Employee Notifications) 
3. Ensuring prompt, thorough, and fair investigation of complaints 
4. Taking timely and appropriate corrective/remedial action(s), which may require interim separation of thecomplainant and the 
alleged harasser and subsequent monitoring of developments 
All complaints and allegations of sexual harassment shall be kept confidential to the extent necessary to carry out the investigation 
or to take other subsequent necessary actions. (5 CCR 4964) 
Any district employee or job applicant who feels that he/she has been sexually harassed or who has knowledge of any incident of 
sexual harassment by or against another employee, a job applicant or a student, 
shall immediately report the incident to his/her supervisor, the principal, district administrator or Superintendent. 
A supervisor, principal or other district administrator who receives a harassment complaint shall promptly notify the Superintendent 
or designee. 
Complaints of sexual harassment shall be filed in accordance with AR 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment. 
An employee may bypass his/her supervisor in filing a complaint where the supervisor is the subject of the complaint. 
(cf. 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment) 
Any district employee who engages or participates in sexual harassment or who aids, abets, incites, compels, or coerces another to 
commit sexual harassment against a district employee, job applicant, or student is in violation of this policy and is subject to 
disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal. 
(cf. 4117.4 - Dismissal) 
(cf. 4118 - Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
(cf. 4218 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
 
Board Policy 4319.11 
The Governing Board prohibits sexual harassment of district employees and job applicants. The Board also prohibits retaliatory 
behavior or action against district employees or other persons who complain, testify or otherwise participate in the complaint 
process established pursuant to this policy and administrative regulation. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
(cf. 4030 - Nondiscrimination in Employment) 
The Superintendent or designee shall take all actions necessary to ensure the prevention, investigation, and correction of sexual 
harassment, including but not limited to: 
1. Providing training to employees in accordance with law and administrative regulation 
2. Publicizing and disseminating the district's sexual harassment policy to staff 
(cf. 4112.9/4212.9/4312.9 - Employee Notifications) 
3. Ensuring prompt, thorough, and fair investigation of complaints 
4. Taking timely and appropriate corrective/remedial action(s), which may require interim separation of thecomplainant and the 
alleged harasser and subsequent monitoring of developments 
All complaints and allegations of sexual harassment shall be kept confidential to the extent necessary to carry out the investigation 
or to take other subsequent necessary actions. (5 CCR 4964) 
Any district employee or job applicant who feels that he/she has been sexually harassed or who has knowledge of any incident of 
sexual harassment by or against another employee, a job applicant or a student, 
shall immediately report the incident to his/her supervisor, the principal, district administrator or Superintendent. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 24 of 49 9/30/24 
 

A supervisor, principal or other district administrator who receives a harassment complaint shall promptly notify the Superintendent 
or designee. 
Complaints of sexual harassment shall be filed in accordance with AR 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment. 
An employee may bypass his/her supervisor in filing a complaint where the supervisor is the subject of the complaint. 
(cf. 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment) 
Any district employee who engages or participates in sexual harassment or who aids, abets, incites, compels, or coerces another to 
commit sexual harassment against a district employee, job applicant, or student is in violation of this policy and is subject to 
disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal. 
 
Board Policy 5145.7 
The Governing Board is committed to maintaining a safe school environment that is free from harassment and discrimination. The 
Board prohibits, at school or at school-sponsored or school-related activities, sexual harassment targeted at any student by anyone. 
The Board also prohibits retaliatory behavior or action against any person who reports, files a complaint or testifies about, or 
otherwise supports a complainant in alleging sexual harassment. 
The district strongly encourages any student who feels that he/she is being or has been sexually harassed on school grounds or at a 
school-sponsored or school-related activity by another student or an adult who has experienced off-campus sexual harassment that 
has a continuing effect on campus to immediately contact his/her teacher, the principal, or any other available school employee. 
Any employee who receives a report or observes an incident of sexual harassment shall notify the principal or a district compliance 
officer. Once notified, the principal or compliance officer shall take the steps to investigate and address the allegation, as specified in 
the accompanying administrative regulations. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
(cf. 1312.1 - Complaints Concerning District Employees) 
(cf. 5131 - Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.2 - Bullying) 
(cf. 5137 - Positive School Climate) 
(cf. 5141.4 - Child Abuse Prevention and Reporting) 
(cf. 5145.3 - Nondiscrimination/Harassment) 
(cf. 6142.1 - Sexual Health and HIV/AIDS Prevention Instruction) 
The Superintendent or designee shall take appropriate actions to reinforce the district's sexual harassment  policy. 
Instruction/Information 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that all district students receive age-appropriate information on sexual harassment. 
Such instruction and information shall include: 
1. What acts and behavior constitute sexual harassment, including the fact that sexual harassment could occur between people of 
the same sex and could involve sexual violence 
2. A clear message that students do not have to endure sexual harassment under any circumstance 
3. Encouragement to report observed incidents of sexual harassment even where the alleged victim of the harassment has not 
complained 
4. A clear message that student safety is the district's primary concern, and that any separate rule violationinvolving an alleged 
victim or any other person reporting a sexual harassment incident will be addressed separately and will not affect the manner in 
which the sexual harassment complaint will be received, investigated, or resolved 
5. A clear message that, regardless of a complainant's noncompliance with the writing, timeline, or otherformal filing requirements, 
every sexual harassment allegation that involves a student, whether as the complainant, respondent, or victim of the harassment, 
shall be investigated and prompt action shall be taken to stop any harassment, prevent recurrence, and address any continuing 
effect on students 
6. Information about the district's procedure for investigating complaints and the person(s) to whom a reportof sexual harassment 
should be made 
7. Information about the rights of students and parents/guardians to file a civil or criminal complaint, asapplicable, including the 
right to file a civil or criminal complaint while the district investigation of a sexual harassment complaint continues 
8. A clear message that, when needed, the district will take interim measures to ensure a safe schoolenvironment for a student who 
is the complainant or victim of sexual harassment and/or other students during an investigation and that, to the extent possible, 
when such interim measures are taken, they shall not disadvantage the complainant or victim of the alleged harassment 
Complaint Process and Disciplinary Actions 
Sexual harassment complaints by and against students shall be investigated and resolved in accordance with law and district 
procedures specified in AR 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint Procedures. Principals are responsible for notifying students and 
parents/guardians that complaints of sexual harassment can be filed under AR 1312.3 and where to obtain a copy of the procedures. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 25 of 49 9/30/24 
 

Upon investigation of a sexual harassment complaint, any student found to have engaged in sexual harassment or sexual violence is 
in violation of this policy shall be subject to disciplinary action. For students in grades 4-12, disciplinary action may include 
suspension and/or expulsion, provided that, in imposing such discipline, the entire circumstances of the incident(s) shall be taken 
into account. 
(cf. 5144 - Discipline) 
(cf. 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process) 
(cf. 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Students with Disabilities)) 
Upon investigation of a sexual harassment complaint, any employee found to have engaged in sexual harassment or sexual violence 
toward any student shall have his/her employment terminated in accordance with laws, and the applicable collective bargaining 
agreement. 
(cf. 4117.4 - Dismissal) 
(cf. 4117.7 - Employment Status Report) 
(cf. 4118 - Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
(cf. 4218 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
(cf. 4119.11/4219.11/4319.11 - Sexual Harassment) 
Record-Keeping 
The Superintendent or designee shall maintain a record of all reported cases of sexual harassment to enable the district to monitor, 
address, and prevent repetitive harassing behavior in district schools. (cf. 3580 - District Records) 
 
 
C. Staff Training: All LUSD staff engage in mandated sexual harassment training annually. 
 
 
(F) School-wide Dress Code Relating to Gang-Related Apparel (EC 35183) 
STUDENT DRESS POLICY 
 
1. Students shall not wear any clothing that is offensive to others, or could harass, or have a negative impact on an individual’s 
performance. Clothing should not create an intimidating, hostile, or offensive educational environment. This includes spiked jewelry, 
chains, and wallet chains. 
2. Attire and personal belongings may not depict sexual connotations, racial terms, tobacco, alcohol, drugs, weapons, profanity/ 
obscenity, violence, or gangs. Logos and clothing with double mixed messages are not permissible. 
3. Writing or drawing on skin or clothing is prohibited 
4. Pants must fit and be worn at the waist and pajama apparel (tops/bottoms) are not allowed. 
5. Dresses, skirts, and shorts length must reach the mid-thigh. They must have a minimum 3 inch inseam. Cut-off shorts are not 
allowed. 
6. No crop tops, bare midriffs, plunging necklines exposing cleavage, sheer shirts, cut-offs, tube/strapless tops, halters, bandeau 
tops, or spaghetti straps are allowed. Sleeveless tanks and shirts must be at least 2 inches wide at the shoulder. A tank top must be 
worn under muscle tanks that are cut low on the sides. 
7. Underwear, boxer shorts, and muscle tank shirts must not be visible. 
8. Hats, beanies, hoods, or other head coverings are not to be worn indoors. 
9. Bandanas and sweatbands shall not be worn unless prior approval is granted by a site administrator. 
10. Appropriate shoes must be worn at all times. Slippers of any kind may not be worn. 
11. Makeup and hair shall be clean and neatly groomed. 
12. Students are not allowed to bring or carry flags or blankets on campus. 
 
 
 
(G) Procedure for Safe Ingress and Egress of Pupils, Parents, and Staff to and from School (EC 35294.2) 
Beyond planning for daily ingress/egress routes and emergency evacuation routes, schools must plan for assisting students, staff and 
visitors with disabilities. Under the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, individuals who are deaf/hard of hearing, blind/partially 
sighted, mobility impaired and/or cognitively/emotionally impaired must be assisted. 
 
B. Planning 
 
It is recommended that schools identify the location of potential evacuation sites based on the potential circumstances that may 
cause movement/relocation of the school population in the event of an emergency. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 26 of 49 9/30/24 
 

On-Campus Evacuation/Assembly Location 
 
Review your school site layout and determine where the safest outdoor location is on campus to assemble your students and staff. 
 
Off-Campus Evacuation/Assembly Location 
 
Determine if there is a facility close to your school that can potentially house your staff and student body. 
 
Prior to an event: 
 
Identify off-campus evacuation site(s). 
Establish a memorandum of agreement with the evacuation site(s). 
 
Provide the addresses of at least two off-campus locations that have agreed to provide an assembly area for your school population. 
 
Primary Off-Site Evacuation/Assembly Location 
 
Organization: [[PRIMARY_OFF-SITE_ORGANIZATION]] 
Address: [[PRIMARY_OFF-SITE_ADDRESS]] 
Contact: [[PRIMARY_OFF-SITE_CONTACT_NAME]] 
Phone Number: [[PRIMARY_OFF-SITE_PHONE_NUMBER]] 
Date of Agreement: [[PRIMARY_OFF-SITE_DATE_OF_AGREEMENT]] 
 
Organization: [[SECONDARY_OFF-SITE_ORGANIZATION]] 
Address: [[SECONDARY_OFF-SITE_ADDRESS]] 
Contact: [[SECONDARY_OFF-SITE_CONTACT_NAME]] 
Phone Number: [[SECONDARY_OFF-SITE_PHONE_NUMBER]] 
Date of Agreement: [[SECONDARY_OFF-SITE_AGREEMENT_DATE]] 
 
In the event of an airborne chemical or biological release, it is safest for students and staff to remain indoors at the school site. 
 
Follow the "Shelter-in-Place" procedures. 
 
C. Staff Training 
 
 
(I) School Discipline Rules and Consequences (EC 35291 and EC 35291.5) 
 
Lakeside Middle School Student Conduct Code 
A. Statement of Rules and Procedures on School Discipline 
 
Education Code 44807: 
 
"Every teacher in the public schools shall hold Pupils to a strict account for their conduct on the way to and from school, on the 
playgrounds, or during recess. A teacher, vice principal, principal, or any other certificated employee of a school district, shall not be 
subject to criminal prosecution or criminal penalties for the exercise, during the performance of his duties, of the same degree of 
physical control over a pupil that a parent would be legally privileged to exercise but which in no event shall exceed the amount of 
physical control reasonably necessary to maintain order, protect property, or protect the health and safety of pupils, or to maintain 
proper and appropriate conditions conducive to learning." 
 
B. Notification to Students and Parents 
 
Education Code 35291: 
Parents and students shall be notified of the District and school site rules pertaining to student discipline at the beginning of the first 
semester, and at the time of enrollment for students who enroll thereafter. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 27 of 49 9/30/24 
 

The discipline policy shall be reviewed annually with input from the Discipline Team, site administrators, campus security, staff, 
students, and parents. 
 
C. Staff Training 
Lakeside Middle School will review Safety Plans and Procedures with all staff in August 2024, Feb 2024. Option-Based Safety 
Planning was provided in January 2024. Tenets from training will be reviewed annually. REMS training was provided Administrative 
Staff on Dec. 2021. 
 
 
 
Conduct Code Procedures 
 
 
(J) Procedures to Prepare for Active Shooters 
 

• Immediately move to the door and check for passing students. Divert as many students as possible into the classroom 
• Lock and close the door 
• DO NOT OPEN THE DOOR FOR ANYONE Law 

Enforcement and/or Site Administrator will use keys to unlock door 
• Close blinds and turn off lights. If door has a window, cover with a pre-cut piece of heavy black 

construction paper 
• Instruct students to stay quiet and out of sight. Relocate against the “Safe Wall,” the wall least visible to the outside and 

most out of the line of fire 
• Turn off television, LCD projector, document camera, etc. The room should be dark and quiet 
• Control all cell phone activity (no outgoing or 

incoming calls) 
• If safe to do so, locate emergency packet and 

attendance roster. Remove staff ID placard and put it on 
• If safe to do so, take attendance and document on appropriate form 
• Remain in the classroom or secured area until further instructions are provided by Site Administrator or 

Law Enforcement 
• If anyone is injured or wounded inside the room and it is safe to do so, alert 911 of the nature and severity of injury or 

injuries. Use classroom phone, cell phone, or Internet to do so. Only in the event that all 
available channels of communication are disabled  
and the injury is life threatening, slide Red Cross  
placard (found in the emergency packet) under the door 

• Do not call office to ask questions; Incident Command will send out periodic updates 
• Maintain order in all areas of shelter or assembly and await the arrival of Law Enforcement. Be ready for 2- Move 

students to nearest available safe location, without drawing attention. If doors are locked, 
continue to look for a safe area. Consider moving  
students off-campus if that seems safest option 

• Do not chase students that run. Let them go 
• Do not go into rooms that cannot be secured and offer no way out 
• If sheltering in a room and it’s safe to do so, contact Incident Commander to document your whereabouts as well as any 

students/staff under your supervision If sheltering in a room, follow procedures for 
LOCKDOWN DURING CLASS TIME 
 
 
 
Procedures for Preventing Acts of Bullying and Cyber-bullying 
BULLYING 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 28 of 49 9/30/24 
 

Harassment or bullying in any form is not tolerated at Lakeside Middle School. Any pupil or school staff member who believes 
he/she has or is being subjected to bullying or cyberbullying, as well as any person who has reason to believe a pupil or school staff 
member is being subjected to or has been subjected to bullying or cyberbullying should immediately make a report to a school staff 
member, teacher, or principal. Students may submit a verbal or written complaint of conduct they consider to be bullying to a 
teacher or administrator. 
Complaints of bullying shall be investigated and resolved in accordance with site-level procedures. Incidents shall be reported per 
Education Code requirements. 
If the bullying or cyberbullying include any aspect of a threat, the Principal or designee may report to local law enforcement. 
The district may provide students with instruction, in the classroom or other educational settings, that promotes communication, 
social skills, and assertiveness skills and educates students about appropriate online behavior and strategies to prevent and respond 
to bullying and cyberbullying. 
School staff shall receive related professional development, including information about early warning signs of 
harassing/intimidating behaviors and effective prevention and intervention strategies. 
Harassing/Bullying behavior is characterized by the following: 
? It is repeated - typically repeated over time. 
? It is intentional - it is intended to hurt the target. 
? It involves an imbalance of power or strength in favor of the individual engaging in the behavior. 
 
DISCIPLINE AND CONSEQUENCES FOR HARASSMENT/BULLYING 
If the Principal or designee believes that a student engaged in cyber bullying or bullying on school premises, or off campus, in a 
manner that causes or is likely to cause a substantial disruption of a school activity or school attendance, he or she shall be subject 
to discipline in accordance with district policies and regulations. (District Policy 5131-student behavior, and 5145-sexual 
harassment).  If the student is using a social networking site or service that has terms of use that prohibit posting of harmful 
material, the Superintendent or designee also may file a complaint with the Internet site or service to have the material removed. 
Some acts of bullying or cyberbullying may be isolated incidents requiring the school district to respond appropriately to the 
individual committing the acts.  Other acts may be so serious or part of a larger pattern of bullying or cyberbullying that requires a 
response either at the classroom, school site, District level, or by law enforcement officials. 
Consequences and appropriate remedial actions for pupils who commit an act of bullying or cyberbullying range from positive 
behavioral interventions up to and including suspension or expulsion.  In addition, bullying or cyberbullying using district technology 
violates Board Policy 6163.4.  Consequences for cyberbullying occurring away from school grounds shall be imposed when the 
conduct materially and substantially disrupts school operations or interferes with the rights of others. 
 
 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 29 of 49 9/30/24 
 

 
Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures 
 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 30 of 49 9/30/24 
 

 
Safety Plan Appendices 
 
  



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 31 of 49 9/30/24 
 

 
Emergency Contact Numbers 
 
Utilities, Responders and Communication Resources 
 

Type Vendor Number Comments 

Law 
Enforcement/Fire/Paramed
ic 

Lakeside Sheriff's Station 619-938-1360  

Law 
Enforcement/Fire/Paramed
ic 

Santee Sheriff's Station 619-956-4000  

Law 
Enforcement/Fire/Paramed
ic 

Lakeside Fire District 619-390-2350  

 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 32 of 49 9/30/24 
 

 
Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures 
 

Activity Description 
(i.e. review steps, meetings conducted, approvals, etc) Date and Time Attached Document 

(description and location) 
Safety Plan review with staff August 2024 / January 

2025 
 

Site council October 2024  

 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 33 of 49 9/30/24 
 

 
Lakeside Middle School Incident Command System 
 

--------     Incident Commander     

--------     Mull--------     

--------           

--------   Safety Officer   Public Information Officer   

--------   Mietzel--------   Olson--------   

--------           

--------   Scribe       

--------   Huden--------       

--------           

--------           

Operations ------- Planning/ 
Intelligence  Logistics  Finance/Administration 

Mull-------- ------- Mietzel--------  Olson--------  Georgi-------- 

--------           

--------           

--------  First Aid & Search 
Teacher A        

--------  Messina--------        

--------           

--------  
Student Release & 

Accountability 
TeacherB 

       

--------  Huden--------        
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 34 of 49 9/30/24 
 

 
Incident Command Team Responsibilities 
 
Standardized Emergency Response Management System Overview 
The California Standardized Emergency Management System (SEMS) is designed to centralize and coordinate emergency response 
through the use of standardized terminology and processes. This greatly facilitates the flow of information and resources among the 
agencies participating in response to an emergency. SEMS consists of five functions: 
INCIDENT COMMAND SYSTEM: OPERATIONS TEAM ASSIGNMENTS 
OPERATIONS CHIEF  ALTERNATE  ALTERNATE 
Steve Mull  Jim MIetzel Sarah Carter 
 
 
SEARCH AND RESCUE/ SITE SECURITY 
TEAM 1  TEAM 2  TEAM 3  TEAM 4 
TEAM LEADER  Huden  Mendoza  Brothers  Lent 
Fearn  Dungan  Smith  Messina 
Seuferer  Farris 
 
 
MEDICAL 
TEAM LEADER  Rico 
TEAM MEMBERS  Cara  Robledo 
 
 
STUDENT CARE AND SUPERVISION 
TEAM LEADER  Olson  Saake 
TEAM MEMBERS  Bush, Velasquez, Wear,  Reyes Leves, McNellen  Fortin, Justeson  Wollitz, Proctor, Ward 
 
 
STUDENT RELEASE 
TEAM LEADER  Georgi 
TEAM MEMBERS  Gee Hudson 
 
 
CRISIS RECOVERY 
TEAM LEADER  Carter 
TEAM MEMBERS  Pamintuan, C. Mull 
 
 
ALTERNATES 
Tenney 
 
 
 
Management 
During an emergency, the Incident Commander directs response actions from a designated Command Post. To effectively do this, 
the Incident Commander must constantly assess the situation, and develop and implement appropriate strategies. The Incident 
Commander must be familiar with the available resources, accurately document all response actions, and effectively communicate 
response strategies to others participating in the response. This function is typically filled by the school principal. The principal is 
assisted in carrying out this function by a Public Information & Liaison Officer and Safety Officer. 
 
Planning & Intelligence 
Planning and Intelligence involves the use of various methods to efficiently gather information, weigh and document the information 
for significance, and actively assess the status of the emergency. This understanding and knowledge about the situation at hand is 
vital to the effective management of a response. These activities are performed by a single person who reports directly to the 
Incident Commander. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 35 of 49 9/30/24 
 

 
Operations 
All response actions are implemented under by Operations. This includes staff performing first aid, crisis intervention, search and 
rescue, site security, damage assessment, evacuations, and the release of students. 
 
Logistics 
Logistics supports the response by coordinating personnel; assembling and deploying volunteers; providing supplies, equipment, and 
services; and facilitating communications among emergency responders. 
 
Finance & Administration 
Finance & Administration involves the purchasing of all necessary materials, tracking financial records, timekeeping for emergency 
responders, and recovering school records following an emergency. These activities are performed by a single person who reports 
directly to the Incident Commander. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 36 of 49 9/30/24 
 

 
Emergency Response Guidelines 
 
Step One: Identify the Type of Emergency 
 
 
 
Step Two: Identify the Level of Emergency 
 
 
 
Step Three: Determine the Immediate Response Action 
 
 
 
Step Four: Communicate the Appropriate Response Action 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 37 of 49 9/30/24 
 

 
Types of Emergencies & Specific Procedures 
 
Armed Assault on Campus 
. Lockdown: Active Shooter 
An Active shooter/Lockdown Alert is sounded if there is a sniper, armed intruder or active shooter on campus. Staff members have a 
very limited amount of time in which to commit to a course of action. Immediately assess both the situation and the surrounding 
environment and responds to the situation based upon the Active shooter Training and drills. This is also true for your students who 
may need to become resources for substitutes or who are alone when an event occurs. 
 
Remember, the Active shooter response is a partnership with local law enforcement. 
 
Immediate actions should include: 
Students and staff go into classrooms/buildings or run to off-site evacuation areas. 
LOCKDOWN includes building door barricades, internal barricades, covering windows and turning off/dimming lights. 
Notify administration 
Call 9-1-1 if you know the location of the shooter, the description or identity of the shooter or if you need medical direction for a 
victim. 
Administration notifies the Superintendent 
 
Intermediate activities: 
 
Place a red card under the door/in a window if you have a serious injury in the classroom. 
Take roll 
Conduct anxiety-reducing activities 
 
Evacuation: 
 
Prepare students and yourself for a quick evacuation 
Follow directions of law enforcement when they arrive 
 
 
Biological or Chemical Release 
Poisoning, Chemical Spills, Hazardous Materials 
POISONING: 
 
If a student ingests a poisonous substance: 
 
Call Poison Control Center Link Line 1-800-222-1222. Take appropriate first aid measures. Call parents. 
Notify the Health Services Office. 
 
Following any emergency, notify the District Superintendents' Office 
 
CHEMICAL SPILL ON SITE: 
 
The following are guidelines for Chemical Spills: 
 
Evacuate the immediate area of personnel 
Determine whether to initiate Shelter In Place Protocol 
Secure the area (block points of entry) 
Identify the chemical and follow the procedures for that particular chemical. Notify the District Office. 
 
CHEMICAL SPILL OFF SITE INVOLVING DISTRICT EQUIPMENT/PROPERTY 
 
 Notify the Todd Owens with the following information: 

• Date, time, and exact location of the release or threatened release 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 38 of 49 9/30/24 
 

• Name and telephone number of person reporting 
• Type of chemical involved and the estimated quantity 
• Description of potential hazards presented by the spill 
• Document time and date notification made 
• Other emergency personnel responding (Highway Patrol, CALTRANS, etc.) 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 39 of 49 9/30/24 
 

Locate a fire extinguisher and have present, should the need arise 
Place reflective triangles or traffic cones if in street or highway. DO NOT LIGHT FLARES! 
If spill response equipment is available use it to take the necessary measures to prevent the spill from spreading. 
 
Reporting Chemical Spills 
 
Once an emergency spill response has been completed, the person reporting the initial spill must complete a SPILL RESPONSE 
EVALUATION. The incident must be reported to the Superintendent WITHIN 24 HOURS OF THE SPILL. 
 
Spill Clean Up 
 
Chemical Spills may not be cleaned up by school personnel. Call the District Office at [Insert District Office Contact Name] and [Insert 
District Office Phone Number]. The cleanup will be coordinated through a designated contractor. 
 
HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES 
 
Hazardous Substances include the following, but is not limited to the following: 
 
Gasoline 
Solvents 
Motor Oil 
Diesel Fuel 
Kerosene 
Anti-Freeze 
Airborne Gases/Fumes 
Lacquer Thinner 
Paint 
Agricultural Spray 
Paint Thinner 
Stain 
Brake Fluid 
 
Always call for assistance and: 
 
Extinguish all ignition sources 
Shut off main emergency switch to fuel pump, if appropriate 
Move appropriate fire extinguishing equipment to area 
If possible, contain the spill to prevent further contamination 
Move people/personnel away or evacuate from contamination area 
 
If the spill is too great to handle, contact the District Office Todd Owens and (619) 390-2800 . 
 
Staff and students will evacuate the area immediately, if appropriate. Move uphill, upwind, upstream if possible. 
 
VEHICLE FUEL SPILL 
 
When a spill has occurred, the first thing to do is to keep the situation from worsening. Follow these steps: 
 
Shut off emergency switch 
Avoid skin contact 
Isolate the spill from people and vehicles by blocking all points of entry 
Stop and evaluate any hazards 
Prevent discharge into storm drains. Divert the flow by sealing off areas with absorbents. Prevent runoff. Use absorbent "socks" or 
"booms" to contain the spill 
Identify the source, estimated quantity spilled and stop further release(s) - IF IT CAN BE DONE 
SAFELY 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 40 of 49 9/30/24 
 

Take care of any injured Notify the District Office. 
If the spill is unmanageable, contact the Fire Department by calling 9-1-1 
 
If, after attempted containment, the release still poses either a present or a potential threat, notify the California Office of 
Emergency Services and local emergency assistance organizations (fire, police, etc.). Give the following information: 
 
Date, time, and exact location of the release 
Name and telephone number of persons reporting the release 
The type of fuel spilled and the estimated quantity 
Description of potential hazards presented by the fuel spill 
Document the time and date notification was made and the information provided 
A written report to the appropriate office of the California Department of Health Services is required within 15 days after the 
incident. Contact the District for assistance with this report. 
 
Bio Terrorism 
Anthrax Threat 
 
How to identify suspicious letters or packages 
 
Some characteristics of suspicious letters or packages include the following: 
 
Excessive postage 
Handwritten or poorly typed addresses 
Incorrect titles 
Title, but no name 
Misspellings of common words 
Oily stains, discolorations or odors 
No return address 
Excessive weight 
Lopsided or uneven envelop 
Protruding wires or aluminum foil 
Excessive security material such as masking tape, string, etc. 
Visual distractions 
Ticking sound 
Marked with restrictive endorsements, such as "Personal" or "Confidential." Shows a city or state in the postmark that does not 
match the return address. 
 
Suspicious unopened letter or package marked with threatening message such as "Anthrax" 
 
Do not shake or empty the contents of any suspicious envelop or package. 
Place the envelope or package in a plastic bag or some other type of container to prevent leakage of contents. 
If you do not have any container, then cover the envelope or package with anything (e.g., clothing, paper, trash can, etc.) and do not 
remove this cover. 
Then leave the room and close the door, or section off the area to prevent others from entering. 
Wash your hands with soap and water to prevent spreading any powder to your face. 
If you are at home, report the incident to the local police. If you are at work, report the incident to the local police and your site 
administrator. 
List all people who were in the room or area when this suspicious letter or package was recognized. Give the list to both the local 
public health authorities and law enforcement officials for follow-up investigations and advice. 
 
Envelope with powder or powder spills out onto a surface 
 
Do not try to clean up the powder. Cover the spilled contents immediately with anything and do not remove this cover. 
Leave the room and close the door or section off the area to prevent others from entering. 
Wash your hands with soap and water to prevent spreading any powder to your face. 
If you are at home, CALL 9-1-1 to report the incident. If you are at work, CALL 9-1-1 and your site administrator to report the 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 41 of 49 9/30/24 
 

incident. 
Remove heavily contaminated clothing as soon as possible and place in a plastic bag, or some other container that can be sealed. 
The clothing bag should be given to the emergency responders for proper disposal. 
Shower with soap and water as soon as possible. Do not use bleach or other disinfectant on your skin. If possible, list all people who 
were in the room or area, especially those who had actual contact with the powder. Give the list to both the local police and public 
health authorities so that proper instructions can be given for medical follow-up and further investigation. 
 
Possible room contamination by aerosol 
 
(Examples: small devices triggered warning that air handling systems is contaminated, or warning that a biological agent is released 
in a public space.) 
 
Turn off local fans or ventilation units in the area. 
Leave the area immediately. 
Close the door or section off the area to prevent others from entering. 
Move upwind, uphill, upstream. 
If you are at home, report the incident to the local police. If you are at work, report the incident to the local police and your site 
administrator. 
Shut down air handling systems in the building if possible. 
If possible, list all people who were in the room or area, especially those who had actual contact with the powder. Give the list to 
both the local police and public health authorities so that proper instructions can be given for medical follow-up and further 
investigation. 
 
DO NOT PANIC 
 
Anthrax organisms can cause infection in the skin, gastrointestinal system, or the lungs. In order for this to happen, the organism 
must be rubbed into abraded skin, swallowed, or inhaled as a fine, aerosolized mist. Disease can be prevented after exposure to the 
anthrax spores by early treatment with the appropriate antibiotics. Anthrax is not spread from one person to another person. 
 
For anthrax to be effective as a covert agent, it must be aerosolized into very small particles. This is difficult to do and requires a 
great deal of technical skill and special equipment. If these small particles are inhaled, life threatening lung infection can occur, but 
prompt recognition and treatment are effective. 
 
Botulism 
 
Botulism infection is extremely rare, with fewer than 200 cases reported in the U.S. each year. There are two forms of botulism 
which are associated with a terrorist act: 
 
Food Borne Botulism 
 
The bacterium is ingested with the contaminated food source. 
 
Symptoms begin within 6 hours to 2 weeks, but most commonly between 12 to 36 hours after eating contaminated foods. 
 
Double or blurred vision, drooping eyelids, slurred speck, difficulty swallowing, dry mouth, and a descending muscle weakness that 
affects the shoulders first, then upper arms, lower arms, thighs, calves, etc. 
 
These symptoms may be proceeded by gastrointestinal disorder such as abdominal cramps, nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea. 
Paralysis of the respiratory muscles will cause death unless the person is assisted by mechanical ventilation. Botulism toxin can occur 
naturally in undercooked food, but the frequency of this is extremely rare. 
 
Inhalational Botulism 
 
Inhalation botulism results from the inhalation of the aerosolized toxin. A small amount of aerosolized toxin released into the wind 
can have a devastating effect on the surrounding population. Notwithstanding, inhalational botulism could be inflicted upon a more 
limited number of victims by introducing a contaminated object into an enclosed area such as inside of a building. The symptoms are 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 42 of 49 9/30/24 
 

indistinguishable from those of food borne botulism, except that the gastrointestinal signs sometimes associated with food borne 
botulism may not occur. 
 
Botulism cannot be transmitted from one person to another. There is no vaccine for botulism treatment at this time. However, 
treatment consists of passive immunization with equine anti-toxins and supportive patient care. 
 
Smallpox 
 
Smallpox infection results from the variola virus. The disease was once worldwide in scope. Before people were vaccinated, almost 
everyone contracted the disease. The virus was effectively eradicated from the world in the late 1970's, and the World Health 
Organization recommended governments cease routine vaccinations in 1980. 
 
Vaccination has proven effective in preventing the disease in exposed persons if administered within 4 days of exposure. 
 
Smallpox is a highly contagious infectious disease that has a mortality rate of about 30%. Since the 
discontinuation of vaccination in the early 1980's, virtually no one is protected against the disease today. The U.S. government is 
currently working to address the need for vaccinations. There is no proven treatment should infection occur.  
 
Immunization and Mass Prophylaxis Pandemic and Bio Terrorism 
This Bio-Terrorism Support Plan (Plan) provides basic steps to guide designated Lakeside Union School District County Public Health 
Department, City of Lakeside and Health Services school district officials in establishing middle and high schools as immunization 
centers (mass prophylaxis centers) contingent upon a Memorandum of Understanding being signed. 
 
This Plan is a living document subject to periodic revisions when needed. 
 
In the event of a bio-terrorism outbreak and based upon the Metropolitan Medical Response Plan, local officials will have 
determined which areas within the city to be quarantined, hot and cold zones. A quarantined area is defined as a specified area 
where isolation is enforced. A hot zone is defined as a contaminated area. A cold zone is an unaffected area. 
 
Once the situation has been assessed and Public Health identifies the need to open an immunization center (mass prophylaxis 
center), then Public Health will contact the city. Subsequently, the City will contact the school district emergency contact to begin 
the process of coordinating the opening of an immunization center (mass prophylaxis center). 
 
Preparedness Steps 
 
The following provides guidelines for school district management in preparing, in advance, issues that need to be addressed during 
non-emergency times to ensure school district and school site readiness. 
Statement of Agreement signed by San Diego County Public Health Department, City and school district 
Examine the Public Health Department's Liability Coverage for using school district sites as mass prophylaxis centers. 
Establish that the City will provide security for the school district site 
Define how long the Immunization center (mass prophylaxis center) can be open and what type of furnishings are needed for the 
center. 
Ensure a manager is provided by the Public Health Department to oversee center operations Identify the need to train site personnel 
in administering inoculations and agree upon how these 
individuals will be compensated for their time by the Public Health Department Establish who will be responsible for clean up 
 
Public Health Department contacts City OES who then initiates contact with appropriate School district authorized contact (see 
emergency contact list for school district) 
 
1) Superintendent's Office: Lisa DeRosier  
 
2) School District Security: Todd Owens  
 
3) Custodial Services or Facilities: Todd Owens  
 
The City OES informs Police Department that authorization has been given to open the appropriate site(s). Only gymnasiums will be 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 43 of 49 9/30/24 
 

utilized. The school district official then follows the guidelines shown below: 
 
Authorized school official contact will inform Superintendent or designee of the opening of the school site(s) as an immunization 
center (mass prophylaxis center). 
If school is not in session or if mass prophylaxis center opening occurs after hours, school site personnel or authorized City Police 
Department will be present to actually unlock the site for Public Health Department 
Establish that the City will provide security for the school district site 
Contact principal of the school site being converted into an immunization center (mass prophylaxis center) 
Prior to turning school site over to the Public Health Department as a mass prophylaxis center, school site personnel will: 

• Perform a site check to record current condition of the area to be used as an immunization center (mass prophylaxis 
center) 

• Inventory usable materials within the center's designated area (see Site Inventory form in this section), i.e. toilet tissues, 
paper towels, soap 

• Ensure all other areas of the school site are not accessible to mass prophylaxis center personnel or public 
SCHOOL DISTRICT site personnel will unlock the school site upon arrival of Public Health Department and their staff 
 
Closing the Center 
 
Upon closing of the center, the Public Health Department ensures the site is secure and center manager has tracked school supplies 
and materials used. 
 
School site personnel compares supplies and materials used, physical property loss and damages 
Both Public Health Department City and school site personnel inspect shelter site for -Material and supplies used 

• Property loss 
• Property damage 

When inspection is completed, school site personnel gives Business Services Department a report of materials used and property 
damaged/loss (photograph) 
Business Services 

• Gives property loss/damage to Risk Management to determine cost of property loss and repair costs 
• Formalizes letter Public Health Department to file a claim covering loss and material usage 

 
 
 
Bomb Threat/ Threat Of violence 
Bomb Threat 
THE PERSON RECEIVING THE BOMB THREAT WILL: 
 
Attempt to gain as much information as possible when the threat is received. Do not hang up on the caller. 
Use the "bomb threat checklist" form (attached) as a guide to collect the information needed. Don't be bashful about asking direct, 
specific questions about the threat. Keep the caller on the phone as long as possible. If the threat is received by phone, attempt to 
gain more information. 
The most important information is: 
When will the bomb explode and where is the bomb located? 
Immediately after receiving the bomb threat, the person receiving the call will verbally notify the building administrator of the threat 
received. Complete the "bomb threat checklist" form (attached). Turn off cellular phones and/or walkie-talkie radios (transmits radio 
waves--could trigger a bomb). 
 
BUILDING ADMINISTRATOR WILL (IF NECESSARY): 
 
 Call 9-1-1. Give the following information: 

• Your name -Your call-back phone number 
• Exact street location with the nearest cross street 
• Nature of incident 
• Number and location of people involved and/or injured Notify Superintendent's Office. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 44 of 49 9/30/24 
 

Evacuate involved buildings using fire drill procedures. Principal must have Superintendent's permission to evacuate the entire site. 
Implement a systematic inspection of the facilities to determine if everyone is out. 
Fire Department or Police Officers shall organize a search team to check for suspicious objects; a bomb can be disguised to look like 
any common object. Site employees should be ready to assist as needed. 
Maintain an open telephone line for communications. 
Secure all exits to prevent re-entry to buildings during the search period. 
Be certain people stay clear of all buildings; a bomb(s) may be planted against an outside wall. The blast will be directed in large part 
away from the building. Re-occupy buildings only when proper authorities give clearance 
 
 
 
Earthquake 
B. Earthquake: Drop, Cover, and Hold 
Earthquake procedures in the classroom or office 
 
At the first indication of ground movement, you should DROP to the ground. It will soon be impossible to stand upright during the 
earthquake. Getting to the ground will prevent being thrown to the ground. 
 
You should seek protective COVER under or near desks, tables, or chairs in a kneeling or sitting position. 
 
You should HOLD onto the table or chair legs. Holding onto the legs will prevent it from moving away from you during the quake. 
Protect your eyes from flying glass and debris with your arm covering your eyes. 
 
You should remain in the DROP position until ground movement ends. Be prepared to DROP, COVER and HOLD during aftershocks. 
 
After ground movement ends, check for injuries and safely evacuate the building. Move to a safe, open area, away from power lines 
and other overhead hazards. 
 
Earthquake procedures in other parts of the building 
 
At the first indication of ground movement, you should DROP to the ground. 
 
Take COVER under any available desk, table, or bench. If in a hallway, drop next to an inside wall in a kneeling position and cover the 
back of the neck with your hands. 
 
After ground movement ends, check for injuries and safely evacuate the building. Move to a safe, open area, away from power lines 
and other overhead hazards. 
 
Earthquake procedures while outside 
 
At the first indication of ground movement, move away from overhead hazards such as power lines, trees, and buildings. DROP to 
the ground and COVER the back of the neck with your hands. Be aware of aftershocks. Do not enter buildings until it is determined 
safe to do so. 
 
If walking to or from school, DO NOT RUN. Stay in the open. If the student is going to school, continue to the school. If going home, 
the student should continue to home. 
 
While in a vehicle or school bus, pull over to the side of the road and stop. If on a bridge, overpass, or under power lines, continue 
on until the vehicle is away from the overhead dangers. Wait until the ground movement stops and check for injuries. Be aware of 
aftershocks, downed wires, or roads blocked by debris. The Bus Driver is legally responsible for the welfare of student riders. 
 
 
Fire in Surrounding Area 
Fire Near School 
 
The Principal or designee shall: 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 45 of 49 9/30/24 
 

 
Determine the need to execute an evacuation if nearby fire poses an immediate threat to the students or the building. 
Notify the Fire Department by calling 911. 
Notify the Superintendent's office. 
Notify students and staff when it is safe to return to the school site under the direction of the Fire Department and in consultation 
with the Superintendent or designee. 
 
 
 
Fire on School Grounds 
Fire 
All classrooms and offices shall have an Emergency Exit sign and Evacuation Chart posted in a prominent location. 
 
Fire Within A School Building: 
 
In the event that a fire is detected within a school building, use the following procedures:  
 The Principal or Designee will: 

• Order an evacuation if the fire alarm doesn't work 
• Call 9-1-1 
• Notify the superintendent 

Teachers will supervise the evacuation of the classrooms to the designated areas according to the Emergency Exit Plan posted in 
every classroom and office. 
Teachers will close doors upon evacuating. 
Teachers will take their roll books to the evacuation site and take roll. Teachers will report any missing student(s) to their Team 
Supervisor/Administrator. 
The Head Custodian or designees shall assist by shutting off gas valves, electricity, etc., or other if necessary for evacuating, putting 
out the fire, etc. 
The Head Custodian or designee shall open necessary gates for fire truck and other emergency vehicle access when appropriate. The 
Head Custodian or designee will also keep access entrances open for emergency vehicles. 
 Notify students and staff when it is safe to return to the school site under the direction of the Fire Department and in consultation 
with the Superintendent or designee. 
 
 
Loss or Failure Of Utilities 
Power Outage/Rolling Blackouts 
IT IS THE DISTRICT'S INTENT THAT SCHOOLS WILL REMAIN OPEN DURING A POWER OUTAGE. 
 
There are several stages of alerts that are being broadcast over the radio: 
 
STAGE 1 EMERGENCY indicates that the operating reserves in the real time market are forecasted to be less than the California 
Independent System Operator (CAISO) Minimum Operating Reserves criteria. 
STAGE 2 EMERGENCY indicates that the operating reserves in the real time market are forecasted to be less than five (5) percent. 
STAGE 3 EMERGENCY indicates that the operating reserves in the real time market are forecasted to be less than 1.5 percent. 
 
If the district is notified of a STAGE 3 EMERGENCY, possible-affected sites will be contacted as soon as practicable. Once notified, 
turn off PCs, monitors, printers, copiers, and lights when not in use or not needed. If you cannot turn off the whole computer, turn 
off the monitor and the printer. Shut off lights in unoccupied rooms. In spite of everyone's best effort to communicate, it is possible 
that an outage will occur with no notice to the district. To keep abreast of the daily situation, listen to 740AM (KCBS) radio station as 
you are driving into work for the status of the day. 
 
PREPARING FOR AN OUTAGE 
 
Update each student's emergency card. 
Determine availability of portable lighting at site, i.e. flashlights & batteries. 
Find out that when power is lost, do emergency lights go on and do the "Exit" signs remain lit? 
Clear away materials and boxes from hallways and pathways. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 46 of 49 9/30/24 
 

Check school district's PG&E Block list to determine in which PG&E block your site is located. As a note, Block 50's power will not be 
interrupted. 
Ask your teachers to have alternative teaching methods and plans to be used at STAGE 3 only. Conduct a survey of your site for the 
classrooms and offices with no windows and prepare relocation plans. 
Plan alternative communication methods that suit your site, such as runners, cell phones, or radios. Develop a site plan such as a 
buddy system or chaperone, for restrooms or any other necessary leave during this period. 
Have flashlights & replacement batteries available for the restrooms and other locations with no windows. 
Ask your staff and students to have seasonal warm clothing available. 
Use surge protectors for all computer equipment, major appliances and electronic devices. If you have electric smoke detectors, use 
a battery-powered smoke detector as a backup. 
 
DURING AN OUTAGE 
 
CONTACT MAINTENANCE & OPERTIONS IMMEDIATELY IF YOUR SITE IS EXPERIENCING A BLACKOUT. 
According to SBC (Telephone Company), phones connected directly to a phone jack will be operable. 
Phones that require power from an electrical outlet will not work. 
If an outage lasts more than 30 minutes, have pre-designated people walk through the campus and check on the status of 
individuals in each building. 
Use a buddy system when going to the restrooms. 
DO NOT USE barbecues, Coleman-type stoves, hibachis and other outdoor-cooking devices indoors. 
DO NOT USE candles or gas lanterns. 
Turn off PCs, monitors, printers, copiers, major appliances and lights when not in use or not needed. If you cannot turn off the whole 
computer, turn off the monitor and the printer. Shut off lights in unoccupied rooms. 
 
The rolling outages should not last more than two hours, and, with some preparation, business can be conducted as close to normal 
as possible. 
 
If a power outage is prolonged, the principal should contact the Superintendent for directions (release students/staff, evacuation to 
another site, etc.). 
 
 
 
Psychological Trauma 
It is critical to provide a mental health response for students, staff and parents after a crisis that has impacted a school. Often, this 
can be provided by district or local community resources. 
 
Victims of a crisis experience a real need to return to normal, but normal as they once knew it is forever gone and changed. 
Counselors and crisis survivors find the concept of a "new normal" to be very reassuring and accurate. 
 
One of the most important actions is simply to listen and allow victims to express his/her own needs and feelings. Encouragement 
and support, while avoiding judgmental remarks, is the goal. 
 
When the needs of the victims exceed the immediate resources available to the school, San Diego County Mental Health and the 
agencies working under its umbrella is available to support schools. 
 
Numerous agencies under the San Diego County Mental Health Department umbrella currently provide ongoing mental health 
services to students and families both at schools and within the neighborhood communities. These services are provided by licensed 
therapists, social workers or supervised interns. The services typically involve a one-on-one or family-oriented approach requiring a 
different skill set than an emergency mental health response to a community or school crisis. 
 
JOINT PROTOCOLS: 
To best prepare for and manage the mental health recovery phase within the San Diego  County though Memorandums of 
Understanding with agencies who would provide crisis responses. The M.O.U. would include the followings: 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 47 of 49 9/30/24 
 

Schools and/or school districts require, as part of their Memorandums of Understanding with agencies and/or universities, all 
interns, therapists and mental health workers complete a crisis response training with the San Diego  County Mental Health 
Department before reporting to their assigned campuses.   In the event of a major crisis at a school site, or multiple school sites, the 
school district will determine if additional mental health support is required or anticipated. The District or School Logistics Officer or 
designee can notify the Ethnic Population Services Specialist at the San Diego  County Mental Health Department. A licensed mental 
health representative will immediately be sent to the incident location to conduct an initial assessment and make recommendations 
to the school/district and Mental Health Department and its partnering agencies as to the requirements for a responding mental 
health team(s). 
The lead supervisor will work in concert with the school/district representative to help identify appropriate teams/agencies that can 
best address the needs of students, staff and families. 
The lead supervisor will work in concert with the school/district representative to ensure that teams have the correct credentials, 
provide appropriate triage services that do not compromise police/fire investigations and are rotated to avoid fatigue. 
In police, fire or district debriefings with school staff, parents and impacted students, a representative from the San Diego  County 
Mental Health Department or one of the partnering agencies will be in attendance in order to make referrals for support services as 
required by the attendees. 
In keeping with research on the predictable response to crisis situations, call center numbers will be provided in order that members 
of the community can access necessary support in the days, weeks and months beyond the event. 
 
 
Tactical Responses to Criminal Incidents 
Shelter-In-Place 
Shelter in Place may be directed should there be a danger in the community that could present a danger to the school community or 
a situation at the school that could harm students or staff if they are outdoors. Incidents could include gas leaks, chemical spills, 
mountain lions or a predator in the neighborhood. 
 
When instructed or when an alerting system triggers a Shelter in Place: 
 
 SHELTER. Go inside the nearest building or classroom and remain there. Lock the door. You are looking for enclosed protection from 
the outside. Teachers should quickly check halls and get students into classrooms. Teachers will keep all students in the classroom 
until the emergency is resolved or directed to evacuate by the Principal and/or Public Safety Responders. 
SHUT. Close all doors and windows. The tighter and more complete the seal the better. Close as many windows and doors between 
the outside and your shelter-in-place room as possible. 
LISTEN. Remain quiet to hear critical instructions from school officials. 

• If there is no direction, continue instructional/work activities until the situation resolves or you directed to do otherwise. 
 
ADDITIONAL STEPS FOR TEACHERS AND STAFF IF APPROPRIATE: 
 
Advise students to cover mouth and nose with a damp cloth or handkerchief to protect from any airborne hazards. 
A school official (or student if no official present) should close all vents and turn off ventilation systems. The goal is to keep inside air 
in and outside air out. Air conditioners and heating systems bring outside air in. 
Turn off all motors and fans. Still, non-moving air is best. Turn off anything that creates wind, generates extra heat, or could 
generate sparks. 
Advise students to remain sheltered until the "all-clear" signal is given by a school or local official. 
 
Intruder on Campus 
The campus intruder is defined as a non-student or a student on suspension who loiters or creates disturbances on school property. 
Intruders are committing the crime of Criminal Trespass. Dangerous and/or concealed weapons are forbidden on school premises 
unless carried by law enforcement officers. 
 
Low Level: 
Have the person(s) under suspicion kept under constant covert surveillance. 
Approach and greet the intruder in a polite and non-threatening manner. 
Identify yourself as a school official. 
Ask the intruder for identification. 
Ask them what their purpose is for being on campus. 
Advise intruder of the trespass laws. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 48 of 49 9/30/24 
 

Ask the intruder to quietly leave the campus or invite him/her to accompany you to the office. If the intruder refuses to respond to 
your requests, inform him/her of your intention to summon law enforcement officers. 
If the intruder gives no indication of voluntarily leaving the premises, notify Police and Administration.  
H. Hostage Situation 
Staff and students should sit quietly if the situation is in their presence. TRY to remain calm. Staff should set the example if the 
armed intruder is in their presence by doing anything possible for the staff member and students to survive. If gun fire starts, staff 
and students should seek cover or begin rapid movement procedures. 
 
 Do not engage in a conversation or try to persuade the intruder to leave your classroom or school. Remember, you are in an illogical 
situation, so any logical argument may go unheard. The intruder is probably aware of the potential danger that he/she would be 
facing if he/she left the classroom. The intruder may perceive himself/herself as being sane. 
 If the intruder speaks to you or to your students, then answer him or her. Do not provoke him or her. Don't try to take matters into 
your own hands. Students should be told not to whisper to one-another, laugh, or to make fun of the intruder. Remember, the 
intruder is disturbed and probably mentally ill, and more than likely paranoid. Any whispering or laughter may be perceived by the 
intruder as directed at him or her. 
 Students should be taught to respond on their own when threatened. Incidents can occur which leave no time for signals. If 
students are outside unable to find access a room, they should, depending on the situation, initiate Action "TAKE COVER" position or 
run in a zig-zag fashion to the staging areas and 
STAY CALM. 
 If and when possible, call Administration and/or 9-1-1.  
 
Emergency Evacuation Procedures 
In an Emergency Building Evacuation all employees will: 
 
Upon emergency alert, secure work area and depart/report to assigned area. 
Perform duties as pre-assigned by the Principal in cooperation with emergency services personnel. 
DO NOT re-enter the building without permission or request of emergency service authorities. 
Remain in the general assembly areas and calm students if not assigned another duty. 
When signaled to re-enter safe areas of the school, quickly do so. 
Upon safe re-entry, report anything amiss to the Operations Chief. 
 
In an Emergency Building Evacuation teachers will also: 
 
Upon alert, assemble students for evacuation using designated routes and account for all students. 
Secure room 
If possible, leave a note on the door advising where the class evacuated to if other than the standard assembly area. 
Upon arrival at the assembly area, account for all students. 
Secure medical treatment for injured students. 
Report any students missing or left behind because of serious injuries. 
Stay with and calm students. 
If signaled to re-enter school, assure students do so quickly and calmly. Account for all students. 
Check room and report anything amiss to the Team Leader and/or Operations Chief. Debrief students to calm fears about the 
evacuation. 
 
Emergency Campus Evacuation 
 
If it is necessary to evacuate the entire campus to another school or relief center, the Principal will: 
 
Notify the Superintendent of the Campus Evacuation. 
Cooperate with emergency authorities in enlisting students/staff with cars to help transport evacuees. Direct the evacuation, assure 
all students/staff are accounted for as they depart and arrive. 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 49 of 49 9/30/24 
 

 
Emergency Evacuation Map 
 



 
1LUSD 2024-2025

Effective January 2024, CA Ed Code 49414.3 Comprehensive School Safety Plans for school 
sites that serve grades 7-12 must include a plan for a response to an opioid overdose.  
 
{SCHOOLNAME} PROCEDURES FOR PREVENTING 
OPIOID AND FENTANYL USE AND OVERDOSE 
{SchoolName} primary goal in the fight against opioids and fentanyl use is prevention.   
 
{SchoolName} will use the following prevention strategies:   

• Distribute materials to and/or discuss with students’ content conducive to preventing drug 
use/abuse such as, but not limited to:  

o How opioids and fentanyl affect the body’s systems. 
o Refusal strategies 
o The signs and symptoms of use/abuse 
o The science of addiction  

• Distribute safety advice to families regarding opioid overdose prevention.    
• Creating a supportive, safe and orderly environment conducive to learning by regularly 

assessing school climate and using data to develop goals and objectives to address gaps.   
• Providing training to staff on building protective factors in students, as well as 

recognizing the signs and symptoms of use/abuse. 
• Add additional strategies used at the school.  

 
{SchoolName} will follow CA Ed Code 49414.3; 49414.8; LUSD’s Administering Medication 
and Monitoring Health Conditions BP 5141.12; AR 5141.21  
 
  

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=EDC&sectionNum=49414.3.


 
2LUSD 2024-2025

FIVE ESSENTIAL STEPS FOR INDIVIDUALS 
RESPONDING TO POSSIBLE OVERDOSE 
The following was developed and taken from The Department of Health and Human Services, 
Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration document SAMHSA Opioid 
Overdose Prevention Toolkit.  
 
Overdose is common among persons who use illicit opioids such as heroin and among those who 
misuse medications prescribed for pain such as oxycodone, hydrocodone, methadone, 
buprenorphine, and morphine. The incidence of opioid overdose is rising nationwide. In 2016, 
more than 42,000 of the drug overdose deaths in the United States involved some type of opioid, 
including heroin.  
 
To address the problem, emergency medical personnel, health care professionals, school 
personnel, people who use drugs, and other community members who may witness and respond 
to an overdose are being trained in the use of the opioid antagonist medication naloxone, which 
can reverse the potentially fatal respiratory depression caused by opioid overdose. (Note that 
naloxone has no effect on non-opioid overdoses, such as those involving cocaine, 
benzodiazepines, or alcohol. 
 
The steps outlined in this section are recommended to reduce the number of deaths resulting 
from opioid overdoses. 
 
STEP 1: EVALUATE FOR SIGNS OF OPIOID OVERDOSE 
 
Signs of OVERDOSE, which often results in death if not treated, include: 

• Unconsciousness or inability to awaken. 
• Slow or shallow breathing or breathing difficulty such as choking sounds or a 

gurgling/snoring noise from a person who cannot be awakened. 
• Fingernails or lips turning blue/purple. 

 
If an opioid overdose is suspected, stimulate the person: 

• Call the person’s name. 
• If this doesn’t work, vigorously grind knuckles into the sternum (the breastbone in 

middle of chest) or rub knuckles on the person’s upper lip. 
• If the person responds, assess whether he or she can maintain responsiveness and 

breathing. 
• Continue to monitor the person, including breathing and alertness, and try to keep the 

person awake and alert. 
If the person does not respond, call 911, provide rescue breathing if the person is not breathing on 
their own, and administer one dose of naloxone. 
 
STEP 2: CALL 911 FOR HELP 
 
AN OPIOID OVERDOSE NEEDS IMMEDIATE MEDICAL ATTENTION.  

https://store.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/five-essential-steps-for-first-responders.pdf
https://store.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/five-essential-steps-for-first-responders.pdf
https://store.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/five-essential-steps-for-first-responders.pdf


 
3LUSD 2024-2025

An essential step is to get someone with medical expertise to see the person as soon as possible. 
If no emergency medical services (EMS) or other trained personnel is on the scene, activate the 
911 emergency system immediately. All you have to say is “Someone is unresponsive and not 
breathing.” Be sure to give a specific address and/or description of your location. After calling 
911, follow the dispatcher’s instructions. If appropriate, the 911 operator will instruct you to 
begin CPR (technique based on rescuer’s level of training). 
 

STEP 3: ADMINISTER NALOXONE 
If the person overdosing does not respond within 2 to 3 minutes after administering a dose of 
naloxone, administer a second dose of naloxone. 
 
Naloxone should be administered to anyone who presents with signs of opioid overdose or when 
opioid overdose is suspected. Naloxone is approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) 
and has been used for decades by EMS personnel to reverse opioid overdose and resuscitate 
individuals who have overdosed on opioids. Research has shown that women, older people, and 
those without obvious signs of opioid use disorder are undertreated with naloxone and, as a 
result, have a higher death rate. Therefore, it is also important to consider naloxone 
administration in women and the elderly found unresponsive with opioid overdose. 
 
Naloxone can be given by intranasal spray and by intramuscular (into the muscle), subcutaneous 
(under the skin), or intravenous injection. 
 
{SchoolName} uses intranasal spray.  
 
All naloxone products are effective in reversing opioid overdose, including fentanyl-involved 
opioid overdoses, although overdoses involving potent (e.g., fentanyl) or large quantities of 
opioids may require more doses of naloxone. 
 
DURATION OF EFFECT. The duration of effect of naloxone depends on dose, route of 
administration, and overdose symptoms and is shorter than the effects of some opioids. The goal 
of naloxone therapy should be to restore adequate spontaneous breathing, but not necessarily 
complete arousal. 
 
More than one dose of naloxone may be needed to revive someone who is overdosing. People 
who have taken longer acting or more potent opioids may require additional intravenous bolus 
doses or an infusion of naloxone. 
 
Comfort the person being treated, as withdrawal triggered by naloxone can feel unpleasant. 
Some people may become agitated or confused, which may improve by providing reassurance 
and explaining what is happening. 
 
SAFETY OF NALOXONE. The safety profile of naloxone is remarkably high, especially when 
used in low doses and titrated to effect. When given to individuals who are not opioid intoxicated 
or opioid dependent, naloxone produces no clinical effects, even at high doses. Moreover, 
although rapid opioid withdrawal in opioid-tolerant individuals may be unpleasant, it is not life 
threatening. 



 
4LUSD 2024-2025

 
Naloxone can be used in life-threatening opioid overdose circumstances in pregnant women. 
 
The FDA has approved an injectable naloxone, an intranasal naloxone, and a naloxone auto-
injector as emergency treatments for opioid overdose. People receiving naloxone kits that 
include a syringe and naloxone ampules or vials should receive brief training on how to assemble 
and administer the naloxone to the victim. The nasal spray is a prefilled, needle-free device that 
requires no assembly and that can deliver a single dose into one nostril. The auto-injector is 
injected into the outer thigh to deliver naloxone to the muscle (intramuscular) or under the skin 
(subcutaneous). Once turned on, the currently available device provides verbal instruction to the 
user describing how to deliver the medication, similar to automated defibrillators. Both the nasal 
spray and naloxone auto-injector are packaged in a carton containing two doses to allow for 
repeat dosing if needed. 
 
FENTANYL-INVOLVED OVERDOSES. Suspected opioid overdoses, including suspected 
fentanyl- involved overdoses, should be treated according to standard protocols. However, 
because of the higher potency of fentanyl and fentanyl analogs compared to that of heroin, 
multiple doses of naloxone may be required to reverse the opioid-induced respiratory depression 
from a fentanyl-involved overdose. 
Many anecdotes report more rapid respiratory depression with fentanyl than with heroin, 
although other reports do not reflect such rapid depression. 
 
Because of these effects, quicker oxygenation efforts and naloxone delivery may be warranted 
with fentanyl-involved overdoses compared with heroin-only overdoses. However, naloxone is 
an appropriate response for all opioid overdoses, including fentanyl-involved overdoses. 
 
STEP 4: SUPPORT THE PERSON’S BREATHING 
Ventilatory support is an important intervention and may be lifesaving on its own. Rescue 
breathing can be very effective in supporting respiration, and chest compressions can provide 
ventilatory support. 
 
Rescue breathing for adults involves the following steps: 

• Be sure the person’s airway is clear (check that nothing inside the person’s mouth or 
throat is blocking the airway). 

• Place one hand on the person’s chin, tilt the head back, and pinch the nose closed. 
• Place your mouth over the person’s mouth to make a seal and give two slow breaths. 
• Watch for the person’s chest (but not the stomach) to rise. 
• Follow up with one breath every 5 seconds. 

 
Chest compressions for adults involve the following steps: 



 
5LUSD 2024-2025

• Place the person on his or her back. 
• Press hard and fast on the center of the chest. 
• Keep your arms extended. 

 
STEP 5: MONITOR THE PERSON’S RESPONSE 
All people should be monitored for recurrence of signs and symptoms of opioid toxicity for at 
least 4 hours from the last dose of naloxone or discontinuation of the naloxone infusion. People 
who have overdosed on long-acting opioids should have more prolonged monitoring. 
 
Most people respond by returning to spontaneous breathing. The response generally occurs 
within 2 to 3 minutes of naloxone administration. (Continue resuscitation while waiting for the 
naloxone to take effect.) 
Because naloxone has a relatively short duration of effect, overdose symptoms may return. 
Therefore, it is essential to get the person to an emergency department or other source of medical 
care as quickly as possible, even if the person revives after the initial dose of naloxone and seems 
to feel better. 
 
SIGNS OF OPIOID WITHDRAWAL. The signs and symptoms of opioid withdrawal in an 
individual who is physically dependent on opioids may include body aches, diarrhea, 
tachycardia, fever, runny nose, sneezing, piloerection (gooseflesh), sweating, yawning, nausea or 
vomiting, nervousness, restlessness or irritability, shivering or trembling, abdominal cramps, 
weakness, tearing, insomnia, opioid craving, dilated pupils, and increased blood pressure. These 
symptoms are uncomfortable, but not life threatening. After an overdose, a person dependent on 
opioids should be medically monitored for safety and offered assistance to get into treatment for 
opioid use disorder. 
 
If a person does not respond to naloxone, an alternative explanation for the clinical symptoms 
should be considered. The most likely explanation is that the person is not overdosing on an 
opioid but rather some other substance or may be experiencing a non-overdose medical 
emergency. 
 
In all cases, support of ventilation, oxygenation, and blood pressure should be sufficient to 
prevent the complications of opioid overdose and should be given priority if the response to 
naloxone is not prompt. 
 



 
6LUSD 2024-2025

DO’S AND DON’TS WHEN RESPONDING TO OPIOID OVERDOSE 
• DO attend to the person’s breathing and cardiovascular support needs by 

administering oxygen or performing rescue breathing and/or chest compressions. 
• DO administer naloxone and utilize a second dose, if no response to the first dose. 
• DO put the person in the “recovery position” on the side, if you must leave the person 

unattended for any reason. 
• DO stay with the person and keep the person warm. 
• DON’T slap or forcefully try to stimulate the person; it will only cause further injury. If 

you cannot wake the person by shouting, rubbing your knuckles on the sternum 
(center of the chest or rib cage), or light pinching, the person may be unconscious. 

• DON’T put the person into a cold bath or shower. This increases the risk of falling, 
drowning, or going into shock. 

• DON’T inject the person with any substance (e.g., saltwater, milk, stimulants). The 
only safe and appropriate treatment is naloxone. 

• DON’T try to make the person vomit drugs that may have been swallowed. Choking 
or inhaling vomit into the lungs can cause a fatal injury. 

• NOTE: All naloxone products have an expiration date, so it is important to check the 
expiration date and obtain replacement naloxone as needed. 

  



 
7LUSD 2024-2025

  



 
8LUSD 2024-2025

OPIOID ANTAGONIST MEDICATION SPECIFICS 
 
TRAINING 
Training is required prior to the administration of Naloxone.  Education Code 49413.3 outlines 
training requirements for K-12 schools, which is required initially and then annually. Topics 
include: 

• Techniques for recognizing symptoms of an opioid overdose 
• Standards and procedures for the storage, restocking, and emergency use of Narcan 
• Basic emergency follow-up procedures, including but not limited to, a requirement for 

the school administration or designee to call emergency medical services and to 
contact the student’s parent/guardian.  Recommendations on the necessity of 
instruction and certification in cardiopulmonary resuscitation  

• Written materials covering the information required under this subdivision 
 
STORAGE 
Naloxone will be stored in accordance with manufacturer’s instructions to avoid extreme cold, 
heat, and direct sunlight. Naloxone has a shelf life of 18 months to two years and should be 
stored between 59 and 86 degrees Fahrenheit and should be kept away from direct sunlight.  It 
should be stored in a secured but unlocked location, where all trained personnel shall have access 
to the medication. Inspection of the naloxone shall be conducted at regular intervals. 
 
OPIOID ANTAGONIST NALOXONE PROCEDURE TRAINING DOCUMENTATION 
The Principal shall designate two more volunteer employees to receive initial and annual 
refresher training based on standards adopted by the SPI regarding the storage and emergency 
use of naloxone hydrochloride, or other opioid antagonist LUSD BP 5141.21, AR 5141.21.  
 
This training will be provided at no cost to the employee, conducted during regular work hours, 
and be provided by a school nurse or other qualified person designated by an authorized 
physician and surgeon. Written materials provided during the training shall be retained at the 
school office for reference CA Ed Code 49414.3 and CA Ed Code 49414.8.  
 
Each volunteer shall meet the minimum standards of training for the administration of an 
emergency opioid antagonist or shall have undergone opioid overdose prevention and treatment 
training and reviewed material available on the California Department of Public Health Website 
CA Ed Code 49414.8 
 
Employees and volunteers that render emergency treatment at the scene of an opioid overdose, or 
suspected opioid overdose, by administering an opioid antagonist shall not be liable for civil 
damages resulting from an act or omission, unless such act constitutes gross negligence or willful 
or wanton misconduct Health and Safety Code 1799.113. 
  



 
9LUSD 2024-2025

OPIOID ANTAGONIST NALOXONE PROCEDURE TRAINING DOCUMENTATION 
 
Lakeside Union School District has elected to make emergency naloxone hydrochloride or 
another opioid antagonist available at schools for the purpose of providing emergency medical 
aid to persons suffering, or reasonably believed to be suffering, from an opioid overdose 
(Administering Medication and Monitoring Health Conditions LUSD BP 5141.12; AR 5141.21 
in accordance with CA Ed Code 49414.3; 49414.8. 
The Principal shall designate two more volunteer employees to receive initial and annual 
refresher training based on standards adopted by the SPI regarding the storage and emergency 
use of naloxone hydrochloride or other opioid antagonist as per LUSD BP 5141.21, AR 5141.21.  
 
 

 
SAMPLE INDIVIDUAL DOCUMENTATION 
 

Lakeside Union School District Health Procedure Training – Opioid Antagonist Naloxone 
Documentation at {SchoolName} 

 
I, ______________________________ have read, been trained and understand the following  
    (Print Full Name)  
procedures for individual with identified opioid overdose:  
 

• Understanding and identifying of signs of overdose 
• Administration of Intra-Nasal Naloxone 
• Emergency Notification procedures 
• Naloxone Administration Report Form 

 
_____  I understand I need to maintain my skills and will be observed on an ongoing basis by the 
Credentialed School Nurse 
______ I have had the opportunity to ask questions and have received satisfactory answers to my 
questions.   
______ I possess a current CPR card, expiration date is: ________________________ 

 

Naloxone Trained Individuals 
NAME POSITION LOCATION (Classroom/Office) 

   

   

   

   

   

   



 
10LUSD 2024-2025

 
 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 1 of 57 9/30/24 
 

 
 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 
 

2024-2025 
School Year 

 
 

School: Riverview Elementary School 

CDS Code:  37-68189-6038384 

District: Lakeside Union School District 

Address:  9308 Winter Gardens Blvd. 
Lakeside, CA 92040 

Date of Adoption: September 30, 2024 

Date of Update: September 30, 2024 

Date of Review:  

   - with Staff 9/6/2023 

   - with Law Enforcement 9/19/2023 

   - with Fire Authority 9/11/2023 
 

Approved by: 
Name Title Signature Date 

John Greenwell Principal 

 

 

Sarah Brooks Teacher Rep 

 

 

Sara Zeller Parent Rep 

 

 

Marisa Chalk Classified Rep 

 

 

Sean O'Rourke Law Enforcement   

Trevar Sidman Fire Marshal   
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2 of 57 9/30/24 
 

 
Table of Contents 

 
Comprehensive School Safety Plan Purpose ..............................................................................................................................................4 

Safety Plan Vision .......................................................................................................................................................................................4 

(A) Child Abuse Reporting Procedures (EC 35294.2 [a] [2]; PC 11166) ..................................................................................................6 

(B) Disaster Procedures (EC 35295-35297; GC 8607 and 3100) .............................................................................................................7 

(C) School Suspension, Expulsion and Mandatory Expulsion Guidelines .............................................................................................18 

(D) Procedures to Notify Teachers of Dangerous Pupils (EC 49079) ....................................................................................................21 

(E) Sexual Harassment Policies (EC 212.6 [b]) ......................................................................................................................................22 

(F) School-wide Dress Code Relating to Gang-Related Apparel (EC 35183) .........................................................................................25 

(G) Procedure for Safe Ingress and Egress of Pupils, Parents, and Staff to and from School (EC 35294.2) .........................................25 

(I) School Discipline Rules and Consequences (EC 35291 and EC 35291.5) .........................................................................................26 

(J) Procedures to Prepare for Active Shooters .....................................................................................................................................28 

Procedures for Preventing Acts of Bullying and Cyber-bullying ...........................................................................................................30 

Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures .................................................................................................................34 

Safety Plan Appendices ............................................................................................................................................................................35 

Emergency Contact Numbers ..............................................................................................................................................................36 

Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures .............................................................................................................37 

Riverview Elementary School Incident Command System ...................................................................................................................38 

Incident Command Team Responsibilities ...........................................................................................................................................40 

Emergency Response Guidelines .........................................................................................................................................................42 

Step One: Identify the Type of Emergency ..........................................................................................................................................42 

Step Two: Identify the Level of Emergency ..........................................................................................................................................42 

Step Three: Determine the Immediate Response Action ....................................................................................................................42 

Step Four: Communicate the Appropriate Response Action ...............................................................................................................43 

Types of Emergencies & Specific Procedures .......................................................................................................................................45 

Armed Assault on Campus ...............................................................................................................................................................45 

Biological or Chemical Release .........................................................................................................................................................45 

Bomb Threat/ Threat Of violence ....................................................................................................................................................51 

Earthquake .......................................................................................................................................................................................52 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 3 of 57 9/30/24 
 

Fire in Surrounding Area ..................................................................................................................................................................52 

Fire on School Grounds ....................................................................................................................................................................53 

Loss or Failure Of Utilities ................................................................................................................................................................53 

Psychological Trauma .......................................................................................................................................................................54 

Tactical Responses to Criminal Incidents .........................................................................................................................................55 

Emergency Evacuation Map .................................................................................................................................................................57 

 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 4 of 57 9/30/24 
 

 
Comprehensive School Safety Plan Purpose 
 
Effective January 1, 2019, Assembly Bill 1747 (Rodriguez), School Safety Plans, became law. This bill requires that during the writing 
and development of the comprehensive school safety plan (CSSP), the school site council or safety committee consult with a fire 
department and other first responder entities in addition to currently required entities. It requires the CSSP and any updates made 
to the plan to be shared with the law enforcement agency, the fire department, and the other first responder entities. 
 
The California Education Code (sections 32280-32288) outlines the requirements of all schools operating any kindergarten and any 
grades 1 to 12, inclusive, to write and develop a school safety plan relevant to the needs and resources of that particular school. 
 
In 2004, the Legislature and Governor recast and renumbered the Comprehensive School Safety Plan provisions in SB 719 and AB 
115. It is the intent ofthe Legislature in enacting the provisions to support California public schools as they develop their mandated 
comprehensive safety plans that are the result of a systematic planning process, that include strategies aimed at the prevention of, 
and education about, potential incidents involving crime and violence on school campuses. 
 
The historical requirement of the Comprehensive School Safety Plan was presented in Senate Bill 187, which was approved by the 
Governor and chaptered in 1997. This legislation contained a sunset clause that stated that this legislation would remain in effect 
only until January I, 2000. Senate Bill 334 was approved and chaptered in 1999 and perpetuated this legislation under the 
requirement of the initial legislation. 
 
Comprehensive School Safety Plans are required under SB 719 & AB 115 and contains the following elements: 
 
Assessment of school crime committed on school campuses and at school-related functions 

• Child abuse reporting procedures 
• Disaster procedures 
• Suspension and expulsion policies 
• Procedures to notify teachers of dangerous pupils 
• Discrimination and harassment policies 
• School wide dress code policies 
• Procedures for safe ingress and egress 
• Policies enacted to maintain a safe and orderly environment 
• Rules and procedures on school discipline 
• Hate crime reporting procedures 

 
The Comprehensive School Safety Plan will be reviewed and updated by March 1st every year. In July of every year, the school will 
report on the status of its school safety plan including a description of its key elements in the annual school accountability report 
card. 
 
A copy of the Comprehensive School Safety Plan is available for review at the Riverview International Academy school offices. 
 
Safety Plan Vision 
The Comprehensive School Safety Plan is designed to be utilized as a school resource for prevention/mitigation, preparedness, 
response and recovery planning and training as well as functioning as a template for meeting the requirements for the annual Safety 
Plan Process under SB 187 and the National incident Management System. It is designed to be an electronic or hard-copy Safety 
Plan. The template is also designed as a living document to be updated as necessary to meet site, district and community needs, 
forms or requirements. 
 
Individual schools in districts over 2,500 students must adopt a comprehensive school safety plan by March 1, 2000, and must 
review and update the plan by March 1 of every year thereafter. (Amended Ed. Codes 35294.1 & 35294.6) 
 
Beginning July 1, 2000, each individual school must report on the status of its school safety plan, including a description of its key 
elements in the school accountability report card, and must continue to do so every July thereafter. (Amended Ed. Code 35294.6) 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 5 of 57 9/30/24 
 

The following guideline may be utilized to support the annual review and evaluation of the individual school safety plan. This guide 
will also provide a time line and related administrative tasks to provide a process to ensure compliance with the requirements of 
Senate Bill 187, Comprehensive School Safety Plan. 
 
The guideline/checklist has been organized into two parts: 
 
An assessment by the School Safety Planning Committee of the School Site Council, the School Site Council or equivalent of the 
school climate in relation to the current status of school crime committed on campus and at school related functions. Based on this 
assessment, safety goals will be set for the upcoming school year 
 
The annual review and evaluation of the school comprehensive safety plan which is certified by the members of the School Safety 
Planning Committee, the School Site Council President, and the school Principal before being presented to the Board of Trustees for 
final review and adoption. This review includes the following mandated components of Senate Bill 187: 
 
Child Abuse reporting procedures 
Policies pursuant to Education Code 48915(c) and other school-designated serious acts which would 
lead to suspension, expulsion, or mandatory expulsion recommendations 
Procedures to notify teachers and counselors of dangerous students 
Sexual Harassment Policy 
Safe ingress and egress to and from school 
Rules and procedures on school discipline in order to create a safe and orderly environment conducive to learning 
Dress Code 
Routine and emergency disaster procedures including natural disasters, human created disasters or power outages. 
 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 6 of 57 9/30/24 
 

 
(A) Child Abuse Reporting Procedures (EC 35294.2 [a] [2]; PC 11166) 
A. Definition of Child Abuse 
 
Child abuse means a physical injury that is inflicted by other than accidental on a child by another person. Child Abuse also means 
the sexual abuse of a child or any act or omission pertaining to child abuse reporting laws (willful cruelty, unjustifiable punishment of 
a child, unlawful corporal punishment or injury). Child abuse also means the physical or emotional neglect of a child or abuse in out-
of-home care. 
 
1. Child Abuse 
Injury inflicted by another person 
Sexual Abuse 
Neglect of child's physical, health, and emotional needs. 
Unusual and willful cruelty; unjustifiable punishment. Unlawful corporal punishment. 
 
2. Not Considered Child Abuse 
Mutual affray between minors 
Injury caused by reasonable and necessary force used by a peace officer: 
To quell a disturbance threatening physical injury to a person or damage property 
To prevent physical injury to another person or damage to property 
For purposes of self-defense 
To obtain possession of weapons or other dangerous objects within the control of a child To apprehend an escapee 
 
B. Mandated Child Abuse Reporting 
Any child care custodian, health practitioner, or employee of a child protective agency who has knowledge of or observes a child in 
his or her professional capacity or within the scope of his or her employment whom he or she knows or reasonably suspects has 
been the victim of child abuse shall report the known or suspected instance of child abuse to a child protective agency by telephone 
and written report: 
The telephone call must be made immediately or as soon as practicably possible by telephone. 
AND 
A written report must be sent within 36 hours of the telephone call to the child protective agency.   Any child care custodian, health 
practitioner, or employee of a child protective agency who has knowledge of or who reasonably suspects mental suffering has been 
inflicted on a child or his or her emotional well-being is endangered in any other way, may report such known or suspected instance 
of child abuse to a child protective agency. 
When two or more persons who are required to report are present and jointly knowledge of a known or suspected instance of child 
abuse, and when there is agreement among them, the telephone report may be made by a member of the team selected by mutual 
agreement and a single report may be made and signed by the selected member of the reporting team. Any member who has 
knowledge that the member designated to make the report failed to do so, shall thereafter make such a report. 
The intent and purpose of the law is to protect children from abuse. The definition of a child is any person under 18 years of age. 
This entire section on Child Abuse was been taken from California Laws Relating To Minors manual. 
 
C. Sexual Activity 
 
Child abuse laws change from time to time. Should you suspect that a student is engaged in unlawful sexual activity, please consult 
with the school social worker and campus officer to determine if particular provisions under this section are current and in effect. 
Involuntary sexual activity is always reportable. 
Incest, even if voluntary is always reportable. Incest is a marriage or act of intercourse between parents and children; ancestors and 
descendants of every degree; brothers and sisters of half and whole blood and uncles and nieces or aunts and nephews. (Family 
Code 2200). 
Voluntary Sexual Activity may or may not be reportable. Even if the behavior voluntary, there are circumstances where the behavior 
is abusive, either by Penal Code definition or because of an exploitative relationship, then this behavior must be reported. If there is 
reasonable suspicion of sexual abuse prior to the consensual activity, the abuse must be reported. 
 
Reportable Sexual Activity if a Child is 14 Years of Age and: 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 7 of 57 9/30/24 
 

Partner is younger than 14 years old, but there is a disparity in chronological or maturational age or indications of intimidation, 
coercion or bribery or other indications of an exploitative relationship. Partner is 14 years or older lewd & lascivious acts committed 
by a partner of any age partner is alleged spouse and over 14 years of age. 
 
Reportable Sexual Activity if the Child is 14 or 15 years and: 
There is unlawful sexual intercourse with a partner older than 14 but less than 21 years of age and there is no indication of abuse or 
evidence of an exploitative relationship there is unlawful sexual intercourse with a partner older than 21 years 
There is lewd and lascivious acts committed by a partner more than 10 years older than the child The partner is the alleged spouse 
and over 21 years of age 
 
Reportable Sexual Activity if the Child is 16 or 17 years and: 
The partner is less than 14 years of age 
There is unlawful sexual intercourse with a partner older than 14 and there is evidence of an exploitative relationship 
The partner is the alleged spouse and there is evidence of an exploitative relationship 
 
Reportable Sexual Activity if the Child is under 18 years: 
Sodomy, oral copulation, penetration of a genital or anal opening by a foreign object, even if consensual, with a partner of any age. 
 
Not Reportable Sexual Activity: 
Child is 14 years or younger and partner is younger than 14 years and of similar age or maturational age. Sexual behavior is voluntary 
and consensual. There are no indications of intimidation, coercion, bribery, or other indications of an exploitative relationship. 
Unlawful sexual intercourse of a child 14 to 15-years old with a partner older than 14 and less than 21 years of age and there is no 
indication of abuse or evidence of an exploitative relationship. 
Unlawful sexual intercourse with a child 16 or 17 years with a partner older than 14 and there is no indication of an exploitative 
relationship. 
 
Mandated reports of sexual activity must be reported to either the Department of Family & Children's Services (DFCS) or to the 
appropriate police jurisdiction. This information will then be cross-reported to the other legal agency. 
 
D. Failure to Report Known or Suspected Child Abuse 
 
Failure to report known or reasonable suspicion of child abuse, including sexual abuse, is a misdemeanor. Mandated reporters are 
provided with immunity from civil or criminal liability as a result of making a mandated report of child abuse. 
 
This information has been taken directly from the San Diego  County Child Abuse Council Informational Handout. 
 
E. Child Abuse Reporting Number: (800) 344-6000 
 
F. Staff Training: All staff engage in mandated child abuse reporting training annually. 
 
 
(B) Disaster Procedures (EC 35295-35297; GC 8607 and 3100) 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 8 of 57 9/30/24 
 

Disaster Plan (See Appendix C-F) 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 9 of 57 9/30/24 
 

. Routine and Emergency Disaster Procedures: Drills 
The Basic Plan 
 
The Basic Plan addresses the Lakeside Union School District 's responsibilities in emergencies associated with natural disaster, 
human-caused emergencies and technological incidents. It provides a framework for coordination of response and recovery efforts 
within the District in coordination and with local, State, and Federal agencies. The Plan establishes an emergency organization to 
direct and control operations at all sites during a period of emergency by assigning responsibilities to specific personnel. The Basic 
Plan: 
 
 Conforms to the Federally mandated National Incident Management System (NIMS), State mandated Standardized Emergency 
Management System (SEMS) and effectively restructures emergency response at all levels in compliance with the Incident Command 
System (ICS). 
Establishes response policies and procedures, providing $district_name$ clear guidance for planning purposes. 
Describes and details procedural steps necessary to protect lives and property. 
Outlines coordination requirements. 
Provides a basis for unified training and response exercises to ensure compliance. 
 
Requirements 
 
The Plan meets the requirements of San Diego County's policies on Emergency Response and Planning, the Standardized Emergency 
Management System (SEMS) Operational Area Response, and defines the primary and support roles of the District and individual 
schools in after-incident damage assessment and reporting requirements. 
 
Protect the safety and welfare of students, employees and staff. 
Provide for a safe and coordinated response to emergencies. 
Protect the District's facilities and properties. 
Enable the District to restore normal conditions with minimal confusion in the shortest time possible. Provide for interface and 
coordination between sites and the District Emergency Operations Center (EOC). 
Provide for interface and coordination between sites and the County or city EOC in which they reside. Provide for the orderly 
conversion of pre-designated District sites to American Red Cross shelters, when necessary. 
 
Schools are required by both federal statute and state regulation to be available for shelters following a disaster. The American Red 
Cross (ARC) has access to schools in damaged areas to set up their mass care facilities, and local governments have a right to use 
schools for the same purposes. This requires close cooperation between school officials and ARC or local government 
representatives, and should be planned and arranged for in advance. 
 
Authorities and References - State of California 
 
California Emergency Services Act (Chapter 7, Division 1, Title 2, California Government Code). 
 
The Act provides the basic authorities for conducting emergency operations following a proclamation of Local Emergency, State of 
Emergency, or State of War Emergency by the Governor and/or appropriate local authorities, consistent with the provisions of this 
Act. 
 
California Government Code, Section 3100, Title 1, Division 4, Chapter 4. 
 
States that public employees are disaster service workers, subject to such disaster service activities as may be assigned to them by 
their superiors or by law. The term "public employees" includes all persons employed by the state or any county, city, city and 
county, state agency or public district, excluding aliens legally employed. 
 
California Emergency Plan 
 
Promulgated by the Governor, and published in accordance with the California Emergency Services Act, it provides overall statewide 
authorities and responsibilities, and describes the functions and operations of government at all levels during extraordinary 
emergencies, including wartime. Section 8568 of the Act states, in part, that "...the State Emergency Plan shall be in effect in each 
political subdivision of the state, and the governing body of each political subdivision shall take such action as may be necessary to 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 10 of 57 9/30/24 
 

carry out the provisions thereof." Therefore, local emergency plans are considered extensions of the California Emergency Plan. 
A. Earthquake Drills 
The earthquake emergency procedure system shall, but not be limited to, all of the following: 
 
A school building disaster plan, ready for implementation at any time, for maintaining the safety and care of students and staffs. 
 
A drop procedure. As used in this article, "drop procedure" means an activity whereby each student and staff member take cover 
under a table or desk, dropping to his or her knees, with the head protected by the arms, and the back to the windows. A drop 
procedure practice shall be held at least once each school quarter in elementary schools and at least once a semester in secondary 
schools. 
 
Protective measures to be taken before, during, and following an earthquake. A program to ensure that the students and that both 
the certificated and classified staff are aware of, and properly trained in, the earthquake emergency procedure system. 
(Code of Regulations, Section 35297) 
 
Whenever an earthquake alarm is sounded, all students, teachers and other employees shall immediately begin Duck, Cover and 
Hold procedures: 
 
DUCK, or DROP down on the floor. 
Take COVER under a sturdy desk, table or other furniture with backs to the windows. Protect head and neck with arms. 
HOLD onto the furniture and be prepared to move with it. 
Stay in this position for at least one minute or, in a real situation, until shaking stops. 
 
Evacuation. An Evacuation should NEVER be automatic. There may be more danger outside the building than there is inside. If 
administrative directions are not forthcoming, the teacher will be responsible for assessing the situation and determining if an 
evacuation is required. 
 
Pre-determined evacuation areas should be in open areas, without overhead hazards and removed from potential danger spots 
(covered walkways, large gas mains, chain linked fences [electric shock potential]). 
 
Make it clear that a post-earthquake route differs from a fire evacuation route, and that appropriate nonhazardous alternate routes 
may be needed. 
 
Practice evacuation using alternate routes to the assembly areas. 
 
Students are to remain with their teacher in the evacuation area. Teachers shall take their roll books, take roll once in the evacuation 
area and be prepared to identify missing students to administrators and/first responders. 
 
The principal or designee shall keep a copy of each drill conducted on the Emergency Drill Report form and file a copy with the 
Superintendent/designee. 
 
Standards for a Successful Earthquake Drill: 
 
The Earthquake Alarm can be heard by all staff and students. 
 
Immediately after the earthquake alarm sounds, all students, teachers and other employees shall: 
 
DUCK, or DROP down on the floor. 
Take COVER under a sturdy desk, table or other furniture with backs to the windows. Protect head and neck with arms. 
HOLD onto the furniture and be prepared to move with it. 
 
Evacuations shall occur when directed over the loud speaker by the Principal/designee. When evacuations are included as part of 
the drill, appropriate non-hazardous alternate routes, avoiding building overhangs, electrical wires, large trees, covered walkways, 
etc., shall be utilized by staff and students in order to reach the designated evacuation areas. 
 
Teachers have taken roll once in the evacuation area. Any missing students are immediately reported to the Principal/designee. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 11 of 57 9/30/24 
 

 
Upon sounding of the all clear students and staff return to their appropriate classroom and the teacher takes roll once more. Missing 
students are reported to the attendance office. 
B. Fire Drills 
Whenever the fire alarm is given, all students, teachers and other employees shall quickly leave the building in an orderly manner. 
Teachers shall ascertain that no student remains in the building. Designated evacuation routes shall be posted in each room. 
Teachers shall be prepared to select alternate exits and direct their classes to these exits in the event the designated evacuation 
route is blocked. 
Evacuation areas will be established away from fire lanes. 
Students are to remain with their teacher in the evacuation area. Teachers shall take their roll books, take roll once in the evacuation 
area and be prepared to identify missing students to administrators and/or fire marshals/designees. 
 The principal or designee shall keep a copy of each drill conducted on the Emergency Drill Report form and file a copy with the 
Superintendent/designee. 
 
Standards for a Successful Fire Drill: 
 
The Fire Alarm can be heard by all staff and students. 
Orderly evacuation begins immediately and is completed within 5 minutes of the initial alarm, with minimal congestion at exit gates. 
Evacuation areas will be established away from fire lanes. 
Teachers and students are staged in an orderly fashion away from fire lanes. 
Teachers have taken roll once in the evacuation area. Any missing students are immediately reported to the Principal/designee. 
Upon sounding of the all clear students and staff return to their appropriate classroom and the teacher takes roll once more. Missing 
students are reported to the attendance office. 
C. Active Shooter/Lockdown Drills 
For sites that have had Active shooter Training, conducting an Active shooter Lockdown Drill initially involves more pre-planning and 
organization than conducting other drills. Middle and high schools should conduct an annual drill, which should take no longer than 
40 minutes and impact class time by 20 minutes. Elementary schools should conduct drills every other year (or annually, if the local 
police department has the resources to support the drills). Drills need to be scheduled with your School Resource or Liaison Officers. 
 
There are a number of steps that are recommended in the Active shooter Training in order to successfully conduct your drill. They 
involve: 
 
 Conduct a staff meeting. Plan on a 20 minute timeframe to review expectations and standards in terms of: 
a. Locking doors 
b. Covering windows 
c. Turning off lights 
d. Building barricades 
e. Reviewing classroom and all clear procedures 
f. Reviewing off site evacuation locations 
Send a follow-up reminder memo to your staff. 
Organize your assessment team. This also provides an excellent opportunity for your Critical Response Team to work together with 
police participants in the drill. 
Conduct the assessment. 
Complete follow-up tasks. 
 
Remember, you are setting the tone for the importance of safety for students and staff on your campus. 
VI. Routine and Emergency Disaster Procedures: Overview 
The Basic Plan 
 
The Basic Plan addresses the Lakeside Union School District 's responsibilities in emergencies associated with natural disaster, 
human-caused emergencies and technological incidents. It provides a framework for coordination of response and recovery efforts 
within the District in coordination and with local, State, and Federal agencies. The Plan establishes an emergency organization to 
direct and control operations at all sites during a period of emergency by assigning responsibilities to specific personnel. The Basic 
Plan: 
 
 Conforms to the Federally mandated National Incident Management System (NIMS), State mandated Standardized Emergency 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 12 of 57 9/30/24 
 

Management System (SEMS) and effectively restructures emergency response at all levels in compliance with the Incident Command 
System (ICS). 
Establishes response policies and procedures, providing Lakeside Union School District clear guidance for planning purposes. 
Describes and details procedural steps necessary to protect lives and property. 
Outlines coordination requirements. 
Provides a basis for unified training and response exercises to ensure compliance. 
 
Requirements 
 
The Plan meets the requirements of San Diego County's policies on Emergency Response and Planning, the Standardized Emergency 
Management System (SEMS) Operational Area Response, and defines the primary and support roles of the District and individual 
schools in after-incident damage assessment and reporting requirements. 
 
Protect the safety and welfare of students, employees and staff. 
Provide for a safe and coordinated response to emergencies. 
Protect the District's facilities and properties. 
Enable the District to restore normal conditions with minimal confusion in the shortest time possible. Provide for interface and 
coordination between sites and the District Emergency Operations Center (EOC). 
Provide for interface and coordination between sites and the County or city EOC in which they reside. Provide for the orderly 
conversion of pre-designated District sites to American Red Cross shelters, when necessary. 
 
Schools are required by both federal statute and state regulation to be available for shelters following a disaster. The American Red 
Cross (ARC) has access to schools in damaged areas to set up their mass care facilities, and local governments have a right to use 
schools for the same purposes. This requires close cooperation between school officials and ARC or local government 
representatives, and should be planned and arranged for in advance. 
 
Authorities and References - State of California 
 
California Emergency Services Act (Chapter 7, Division 1, Title 2, California Government Code). 
 
The Act provides the basic authorities for conducting emergency operations following a proclamation of Local Emergency, State of 
Emergency, or State of War Emergency by the Governor and/or appropriate local authorities, consistent with the provisions of this 
Act. 
 
California Government Code, Section 3100, Title 1, Division 4, Chapter 4. 
 
States that public employees are disaster service workers, subject to such disaster service activities as may be assigned to them by 
their superiors or by law. The term "public employees" includes all persons employed by the state or any county, city, city and 
county, state agency or public district, excluding aliens legally employed. 
 
California Emergency Plan 
 
Promulgated by the Governor, and published in accordance with the California Emergency Services Act, it provides overall statewide 
authorities and responsibilities, and describes the functions and operations of government at all levels during extraordinary 
emergencies, including wartime. Section 8568 of the Act states, in part, that "...the State Emergency Plan shall be in effect in each 
political subdivision of the state, and the governing body of each political subdivision shall take such action as may be necessary to 
carry out the provisions thereof." Therefore, local emergency plans are considered extensions of the California Emergency Plan. 
A. Definition: Incidents, Emergencies, Disasters 
Incident 
 
An incident is an occurrence or event, either human-caused or caused by natural phenomena, that requires action by emergency 
response personnel to prevent or minimize loss of life or damage to property and/or natural resources. 
 
Incidents may result in extreme peril to the safety of persons and property and may lead to, or create conditions of disaster. 
Incidents may also be rapidly mitigated without loss or damage. Although they may not meet disaster level definition, larger 
incidents may call for managers to proclaim a "Local Emergency". 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 13 of 57 9/30/24 
 

 
Incidents are usually a single event that may be small or large. They occur in a defined geographical area and require local resources 
or, sometimes, mutual aid. There is usually one to a few agencies involved in dealing with an ordinary threat to life and property and 
to a limited population. Usually a local emergency is not declared and the jurisdictional EOC is not activated. Incidents are usually of 
short duration, measured in hours or, at most, a few days. Primary command decisions are made at the scene along with strategy, 
tactics, and resource management decisions 
 
Emergency 
 
The term emergency is used in several ways. It is a condition of disaster or of extreme peril to the safety of persons and property. In 
this context, an emergency and an incident could mean the same thing, although an emergency could have more than one incident 
associated with it. 
 
Emergency is also used in Standardized Emergency Management System (SEMS) terminology to describe agencies or facilities, e.g., 
Emergency Response Agency, Emergency Operations Center, etc. 
 
Emergency also defines a conditional state such as a proclamation of "Local Emergency". The California Emergency Services Act, of 
which SEMS is a part, describes three states of emergency: 
 
State of War Emergency 
State of Emergency 
State of Local Emergency 
 
Disaster 
 
A disaster is defined as sudden calamitous emergency event bringing great damage, loss, or destruction. Disasters may occur with 
little or no advance warning, e.g., an earthquake or a flash flood, or they may develop from one or more incidents, e.g., a major 
wildfire or hazardous materials discharge. 
 
Disasters are either single or multiple events that have many separate incidents associated with them. The resource demand goes 
beyond local capabilities and extensive mutual aid and support are needed. There are many agencies and jurisdictions involved 
including multiple layers of government. There is usually an extraordinary threat to life and property affecting a generally 
widespread population and geographical area. A disaster's effects last over a substantial period of time (days to weeks) and local 
government will proclaim a Local Emergency. Emergency Operations Centers are activated to provide centralized overall 
coordination of jurisdictional assets, departments and incident support functions. Initial recovery coordination is also a responsibility 
of the EOCs.  
 
B. Earthquake Overview 
Major Earthquake Threat Summary 
 
Earthquakes are sudden releases of strain energy stored in the earth's bedrock. The great majority of earthquakes are not dangerous 
to life or property either because they occur in sparsely populated areas or because they are small earthquakes that release 
relatively small amounts of energy. However, where urban areas are located in regions of high seismicity, damaging earthquakes are 
expectable, if not predictable, events. Every occupant and developer in San Diego County assumes seismic risk because the County is 
within an area of high seismicity. More than ten severe earthquakes have impacted San Francisco Bay Region during historic times. 
 
The major effects of earthquakes are ground shaking and ground failure. Severe earthquakes are characteristically accompanied by 
surface faulting. Flooding may be triggered by dam or levee failure resulting from an earthquake, or by seismically induced 
settlement or subsidence. All of these geologic effects are capable of causing property damage and, more importantly, risks to life 
and safety of persons. 
 
A fault is a fracture in the earth's crust along which rocks on opposite sides have moved relative to each other. Active faults have 
high probability of future movement. Fault displacement involves forces so great that the only means of limiting damage to man-
made structures is to avoid the traces of active faults. Any movement beneath a structure, even on the order of an inch or two, 
could have catastrophic effects on the structure and its service lines. 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 14 of 57 9/30/24 
 

The overall energy release of an earthquake is its most important characteristic. Other important attributes include an earthquake's 
duration, its related number of significant stress cycles, and its accelerations. 
C. Levels of Response 
Response Levels are used to describe the type of event: 
 
The area(s) affected, the extent of coordination or assistance needed, and the degree of participation expected from the School 
District. Response Levels are closely tied to Emergency Proclamations issued by the head of local government. 
 
Response Level 0 - Readiness & Routine Phase 
 
On-going routine response by the School District to daily emergencies or incidents. Stand-by and alert procedures issued in advance 
of an anticipated or planned event. 
 
Response Level 3 - Local Emergency 
 
A minor to moderate incident in which local resources are adequate and available. This level of emergency response occurs when an 
emergency incident, e.g., gas leak, sewer back-up, assaults, bomb threat, toxic spill, medical emergency, shooting, etc., occurs. A 
Level 3 response requires School/Site Coordinators to implement guidelines in the Emergency Standard Operating Procedures and 
interact with public agencies. 
 
Response Level 2 - Local Disaster 
 
A moderate to severe emergency in which resources are not adequate and mutual aid may be required on a regional, even 
statewide basis with coordination with local police and fire departments of the affected are working in concert with Lakeside Union 
School District to respond. The affected Cities and the County of 
San Diego will proclaim a local emergency. Then, the State of California may declare a state of emergency. 
 
Response Level 1 - Major Disaster 
 
Resources in or near the impacted areas are overwhelmed and extensive State and Federal resources are required. The cities and 
the County of San Diego will proclaim a local emergency. Then, the State of California will declare a State of Emergency. A 
Presidential Declaration of an Emergency or Major Disaster is requested by the State. Examples of major disasters are the Loma 
Prieta Earthquake of 1989 or the Oakland Hills Firestorm of 1991. When local jurisdictions declare a State of Emergency, the district 
board can declare the same. 
D. Emergency Phases 
Some emergencies will be preceded by a build-up or warning period, providing sufficient time to warn the population and 
implement mitigation measures designated to reduce loss of life and property damage. Other emergencies occur with little or no 
advance warning, thus requiring immediate activation of the emergency operations plan and commitment of resources. All 
employees must be prepared to respond promptly and effectively to any foreseeable emergency, including the provision and use of 
mutual aid. 
 
Emergency management activities during peacetime and national security emergencies are often associated with the phases 
indicated below. However, not every disaster necessarily includes all indicated phases. 
 
Prevention/Mitigation Phase 
 
Prevention/Mitigation is perhaps the most important phase of emergency management. However, it is often the least used and 
generally the most cost effective. Mitigation is often thought of as taking actions to strengthen facilities, abatement of nearby 
hazards, and reducing the potential damage either to structures or their contents, while prevention is taking steps to avoid potential 
problems. Both of these elements require education of parents, students and teachers. 
 
While it is not possible to totally eliminate either the destructive force of a potential disaster or its effects, doing what can be done 
to minimize the effects may create a safer environment that will result in lower response costs, and fewer casualties. 
 
Preparedness Phase 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 15 of 57 9/30/24 
 

The preparedness phase involves activities taken in advance of an emergency. These activities develop operational capabilities and 
responses to a disaster. Those identified in this plan as having either a primary or support mission relative to response and recovery 
review Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) or checklists detailing personnel assignments, policies, notification procedures, and 
resource lists. Personnel are acquainted with these SOPs and checklists and periodically are trained in activation and execution. 
 
Response Phase 
 
Pre-Impact: Recognition of the approach of a potential disaster where actions are taken to save lives and protect property. Warning 
systems may be activated, and resources may be mobilized, EOCs may be activated and evacuation may begin. 
 
Immediate Impact: Emphasis is placed on saving lives, controlling the situation, and minimizing the effects of the disaster. Incident 
Command Posts and EOCs may be activated, and emergency instructions may be issued. 
 
Sustained: As the emergency continues, assistance is provided to victims of the disaster and efforts are made to reduce secondary 
damage. Response support facilities may be established. The resource requirements continually change to meet the needs of the 
incident. 
 
Recovery Phase 
 
Recovery is taking all actions necessary to restore the area to pre-event conditions or better, if possible. 
Therefore, mitigation for future hazards plays an important part in the recovery phase for many emergencies. There is no clear time 
separation between response and recovery. In fact, planning for recovery should be a part of the response phase.  
E. First Things First 
Preparing your school for emergencies starts with staff preparedness. The backbone of school planning is dependent on the staff's 
willingness to stay at school during a major community emergency. Personal preparedness makes this much easier. 
 
Each staff member needs 
 
A 72-hour supply kit for the home 
A Car Kit, including comfortable clothes/shoes and medications 
To develop a plan to reunite with their family 
A neighborhood preparedness program 
 
Preparedness Brochures are available from the local chapter of the American Red Cross, San Diego County Office of Emergency 
Services, Lakeside Union School District website, www.redcross.org, www.prepare.org or www.ready.gov. 
 
If the disaster occurs during school time, Emergency Management recommends the child stay at school until the parent or a trusted 
friend (see Emergency Cards) picks up the child. We have no idea, especially in an earthquake, how impacted our neighborhoods 
may be. 
 
This means the school staff will need to stay with the children. You can only do this if you are prepared at home! You must feel that 
your family can activate your Family Plan without you. 
 
Disaster Service Worker Status: California Government Code Section 3100 declares that public employees are disaster services 
workers, subject to such disaster service activities as may be assigned to them by the superiors or by law. The term public employees 
include all persons employed by the state or any county, city, city & county, state agency or public district, excluding aliens legally 
employed. This law applies to public school employees in the following cases: 
 
When a local emergency has been proclaimed, When a state of emergency has been proclaimed, or When a federal disaster 
declaration has been made. 
F. District and Parent Responsibilities 
DISTRICT RESPONSIBILITY 
 
If the superintendent declares a district emergency during the school day, the following procedures will be followed: 
 
IN CASE OF A DECLARED EMERGENCY BY THE SUPERINTENDENT DURING SCHOOL HOURS, 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 16 of 57 9/30/24 
 

ALL STUDENTS WILL BE REQUIRED TO REMAIN AT SCHOOL OR AT AN ALTERNATE SAFE SITE UNDER THE SUPERVISION OF THE 
SCHOOL PRINCIPAL OR OTHER PERSONNEL ASSIGNED BY THE PRINCIPAL. 
 
Until regular dismissal time and released only then if it is considered safe, 
OR 
Until released to an adult authorized by the parent or legal guardian whose name appears on district records. 
a. If students are on their way to school, they will be brought to school if bussed, or they shouldproceed to school if walking. 
b. If students are on their way home from school, they are to continue home. 
 
During a Declared Emergency, those students who have not been picked up by their parents or other authorized person may be 
taken by district personnel to another site where consolidated care facilities can be provided. This information will be given to the 
media stations and posted at the site to keep parents informed. 
 
PARENT RESPONSIBILITY 
 
Parents and legal guardians of students will be provided with a Student Health/Emergency Form each year. 
In case of a Declared Emergency, students will be released ONLY to persons designated on this form. Parents are responsible for 
ensuring that information on the Student Health/Enrollment Form is current at all times. 
 
Parents are asked to share with the schools the responsibility for informing students of what they should do in case of a severe 
earthquake or other major emergency. Parents need to give specific directions to each student to follow the policy outlined above 
and to follow the directions of school personnel. 
 
School authorities will do everything possible to care for each student while he/she is under district supervision. 
 
It is critical that students do not have directions from parents that are contrary to the district's stated policy on retention at school 
and authorized release in case of a severe emergency.  
VII. Emergency Response Procedures 
Section 8 content  
A. Basic Actions 
Most emergency responses are covered by the following Basic Actions: 
 
A. Action: STAND BY 
 
Action: STAND BY consists of bringing students into the classroom or holding them in the classroom pending further instruction. 
 
B. Action: LEAVE BUILDING 
 
ACTION: LEAVE BUILDING consists of the orderly movement of students and staff from inside the school building to outside areas of 
safety or planned evacuation site. 
 
Action: LEAVE BUILDING is appropriate for-but not limited to-the following emergencies: 
 
Fire 
Peacetime Bomb Threat 
Chemical Accident 
Explosion or Threat of an Explosion 
Following an Earthquake 
Other similar occurrences that might make the building uninhabitable 
At the onset of an Active Shooter/Lockdown Alert, when teacher/supervisor has ascertained that leaving is the best option. 
 
C. Action: TAKE COVER 
 
Action: TAKE COVER consists of bringing/keeping students indoors if possible and sheltering in place as appropriate to the situation. 
 
If outdoors, Action: TAKE COVER consists of hiding behind any solid object (large tree, engine block of car, cement wall), in the event 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 17 of 57 9/30/24 
 

a sniper attack, armed intruder, rabid animal, or moving immediately to a location which is upwind and uphill in the event of a 
chemical or biological threat 
 
Action TAKE COVER is appropriate for, but not limited to, the following: 
 
Severe Windstorm (short warning) 
Biological or Chemical Threat 
Sniper Attack 
Rabid Animal on School Grounds 
 
D. Action: DROP 
 
WARNING: The warning for this type of emergency is the beginning of the disaster itself. 
 
Action: DROP consists of: 
 
 Inside school buildings 

• Immediately TAKE COVER under desks or tables and turn away from all windows 
• Remain in a sheltered position for at least 60 seconds silent and listening to/or for instructions Outside of School 

Buildings 
• Earthquake: move away from buildings -Take a protective position, if possible Explosion/Nuclear Attack: 
• Take protective position, OR, 
• Get behind any solid object (ditch, curb, tree, etc.); lie prone with head away from light or blast; cover head, face, and as 

much of the skin surface as possible; close eyes, and cover ears with forearms. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 18 of 57 9/30/24 
 

 
E. ACTION: DIRECTED MAINTENANCE 
 
No school personnel/students are allowed to enter a school facility until inspected by and authorized by appropriate school 
personnel: Maintenance and School Administrators, and if applicable, Police, Fire, or City Inspectors. 
 
In the event that drinking water is unsafe, water valves will be turned off and the drinking fountains sealed. 
 
Water, gas, and electrical shut-off valves will be shut-off for each applicable building under the join authorization of the 
administration and head custodian. 
 
F. ACTION: DIRECTED TRANSPORTATION 
 
WARNING: Under certain disaster conditions, authorized officials may attempt to move an entire community, or portion thereof, 
from an area of danger to another area of safety. 
 
Action: DIRECTED TRANSPORTATION consists of loading students and staff into school buses, cars and other means of 
transportation, and taking them from a danger area to a designated safety area. 
 
Action: DIRECTED TRANSPORTATION is considered appropriate only when directed by the 
Superintendent or designee, Site Administrator, Police, Fire, or OES. It may be appropriate for, but not limited to, movement away 
from: 
 
Fire 
Chemical & Biological Gas Alert 
Flood 
Fallout Area 
Blast Area 
Chemical & Biological Gas Alert 
Specific Man-Made Emergency (shooting, fire, etc.) 
 
G. ACTION: GO HOME 
 
Action: GO HOME consists of: 
 
Dismissal of all classes 
Return of students to their homes by the most expeditious 
 
Action: GO HOME is to be considered only if there is time for students to go safely to their homes and if buses or other 
transportation are available for students who live at a distance from the school. Notification of parents by radio broadcast, local 
television, ALERT website, phone distribution lists, or other means will be requested. 
 
H. ACTION: CONVERT SCHOOL 
 
Action: CONVERT SCHOOL to a Red Cross emergency facility will be initiated by City officials. 
 
 
 
Public Agency Use of School Buildings for Emergency Shelters 
 
 
(C) School Suspension, Expulsion and Mandatory Expulsion Guidelines 
C. Suspension and Expulsion Policies 
Grounds for suspension which fall under Education Code 48900 
Caused, attempted to cause, or threatened to cause physical injury to another person 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 19 of 57 9/30/24 
 

Possessed, sold, or otherwise furnished any firearm, knife, explosive, or other dangerous object unless, in the case of possession of 
any object of this type, the pupil had obtained written permission to possess the item from a certificated school employee, which is 
concurred in by the principal or the designee of the principal. 
Unlawfully possessed, used, sold, or otherwise furnished, or been under the influence of any controlled substance. 
Unlawfully offered, arranged, or negotiated to sell any controlled substance. 
Committed or attempted to commit robbery or extortion. 
Caused or attempted to cause damage to school property or private property. 
Stolen or attempted to steal school or private property. 
Possessed or used tobacco, or any products containing tobacco or 1nicotine products, including, but not limited to, cigarettes, cigars, 
miniature cigars, clove cigarettes, smokeless tobacco, snuff, chew packets, and betel. However, this section does not prohibit use or 
possession by a pupil of his or her own prescription products. 
Committed an obscene act or engaged in habitual profanity or vulgarity. 
Had unlawful possession of, or unlawfully offered, arranged or negotiated to sell any drug paraphernalia. 
Disrupted school activities or otherwise willfully defied the valid authority supervisors, teachers, administrators, school officials, or 
other school personnel engaged in the performance of their duties. 
Knowingly received stolen school property or private property. 
Possessed an imitation firearm. As used in this section, "imitation firearm" means a replica of a firearm as to substantially similar in 
physical properties to an existing firearm as to lead a reasonable person to conclude that the replica is a firearm. 
Committed or attempted to commit sexual assault. 
Harassed, threatened, or intimidated a pupil who is a complaining witness or witness in a school disciplinary proceeding for the 
purpose of either preventing that pupil from being a witness or retaliating against that pupil for being a witness, or both. 
 
A pupil may not be suspended or expelled for any of the acts listed above unless that act is related to school activity or school 
attendance occurring within a school under the jurisdiction of the superintendent or principal or occurring within any other school 
district. A pupil may be suspended or expelled for acts which are enumerated in this section and related to school activity or 
attendance that occur at any time, including but not limited to, any of the following: 
While on school grounds. 
While going to or coming from school. 
During the lunch period, whether on or off the campus. 
During, or in route to and from, a school sponsored activity. 
 
Expulsion Policies under Education Code 48915: 
 
The principal shall recommend the expulsion of a pupil for any of the following committed at school or school activity off school 
grounds, unless the principal or superintendent finds an expulsion is inappropriate, due to the particular circumstance: 
Causing serious physical injury to another person, except in self-defense. 
Possession of any knife, explosive, or other dangerous object of no reasonable use to the pupil. Unlawful possession of any 
controlled substance, as defined under Ed. Code. 
Robbery or extortion. 
Assault or battery on any school employee, as defined in Sections 240 and 242 of the Penal Code. 
 
The principal, or superintendent of schools shall immediately suspend, pursuant to Section 48911, and shall recommend expulsion 
of a pupil that he or she determines has committed any of the following acts at school or at a school activity off school grounds: 
Possessing, selling, or otherwise furnishing a firearm. This subdivision does not apply to an act of possessing a firearm if the pupil has 
obtained prior written permission to possess the firearm from a certificated school employee, which is concurred in by the principal 
or the designee of the principal. This subdivision applies to an act of possessing a firearm only if an employee of a school district 
verifies the possession. 
Brandishing a knife at another person. 
Unlawfully selling a controlled substance as defined by Education Code. 
Committing or attempting to commit a sexual assault as defined in the Education Code. 
 
LUSD has the following Board Policy related to Suspension and Expulsion of Students: BP 5144.1 
The Governing Board desires to provide district students access to educational opportunities in an orderly school environment that 
protects their safety and security, ensures their welfare and well-being, and promotes their learning and development. The Board 
shall develop rules and regulations setting the standards of behavior expected of district students and the disciplinary processes and 
procedures for addressing violations of those standards, including suspension and/or expulsion. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 20 of 57 9/30/24 
 

(cf. 5131 - Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.1 - Bus Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.2 - Bullying) 
 
The grounds for suspension and expulsion and the procedures for considering, recommending, and/or implementing suspension and 
expulsion shall be those specified in law, in policy, and in the accompanying administrative regulation. 
Except when otherwise permitted by law, a student may be suspended or expelled only when his/her behavior is related to a school 
activity or school attendance occurring within any district school or another school district, regardless of when it occurs, including, 
but not limited to, the following: (Education Code 48900(s)) 
 
1. While on school grounds 
2. While going to or coming from school 
3. During the lunch period, whether on or off the school campus 
(cf. 5112.5 - Open/Closed Campus) 
4. During, going to, or coming from a school-sponsored activity 
District staff shall enforce the rules concerning suspension and expulsion of students fairly, consistently, equally, and in accordance 
with the district's nondiscrimination policies. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
 
Appropriate Use of Suspension Authority 
Except when a student's act that violates Education Code 48900(a)-(e), as listed in items #1-5 under "Grounds for Suspension or 
Expulsion: Grades K-12" of the accompanying administrative regulation, or when his/her presence causes a danger to others, 
suspension shall be used only when other means of correction have failed to bring about proper conduct. (Education Code 
48900.5,48900.6) 
(cf. 1020 - Youth Services) 
(cf. 5138 - Conflict Resolution/Peer Mediation) 
(cf. 5144 - Discipline) 
(cf. 6142.4 - Service Learning/Community Service Classes) 
(cf. 6164.2 - Guidance/Counseling Services) 
(cf. 6164.5 - Student Success Teams) 
 
A student's parents/guardians shall be notified as soon as possible when there is an escalating pattern of misbehavior that could 
lead to removal on-campus or off-campus suspension. 
No student in grades K-3 may be suspended for disruption or willful defiance, except by a teacher pursuant to Education Code 
48910. (Education Code 48900) 
Students shall not be suspended or expelled for truancy, tardiness, or absenteeism from assigned school activities. 
(cf. 5113 - Absences and Excuses) 
(cf. 5113.1 - Chronic Absence and Truancy) 
 
On-Campus Suspension 
 
To ensure the proper supervision and ongoing learning of students who are suspended for any of the reasons enumerated in 
Education Code 48900 and 48900.2, but who pose no imminent danger or threat to anyone at school and for whom expulsion 
proceedings have not been initiated, the Superintendent or designee shall establish a supervised suspension classroom program 
which meets the requirements of law. 
Except where a supervised suspension is permitted by law for a student's first offense, supervised suspension shall be imposed only 
when other means of correction have failed to bring about proper conduct. (Education Code 48900.5) 
 
Authority to Expel 
A student may be expelled only by the Board. (Education Code 48918(j)) 
As required by law, the Superintendent or principal shall recommend expulsion and the Board shall expel any student found to have 
committed any of the following "mandatory recommendation and mandatory expulsion" acts at school or at a school activity off 
school grounds: (Education Code 48915) 
1. Possessing a firearm which is not an imitation firearm, as verified by a certificated employee, unless thestudent had obtained prior 
written permission to possess the item from a certificated school employee, with the principal or designee's concurrence 
(cf. 5131.7 - Weapons and Dangerous Instruments) 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 21 of 57 9/30/24 
 

2. Selling or otherwise furnishing a firearm 
3. Brandishing a knife at another person 
4. Unlawfully selling a controlled substance listed in Health and Safety Code 11053-11058 
5. Committing or attempting to commit a sexual assault as defined in Penal Code 261, 266c, 286, 288, 288a,or 289, or committing a 
sexual battery as defined in Penal Code 243.4 6. Possessing an explosive as defined in 18 USC 921 
 
For all other violations listed in the accompanying administrative regulation under "Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades K-
12" and "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 4-12," the Superintendent or principal shall have the discretion 
to recommend expulsion of a student. If expulsion is recommended, the Board shall order the student expelled only if it makes a 
finding of either or both of the following: (Education Code 48915(b) and (e)) 
 
1. That other means of correction are not feasible or have repeatedly failed to bring about proper conduct 
2. That due to the nature of the violation, the presence of the student causes a continuing danger to thephysical safety of the 
student or others 
A vote to expel a student shall be taken in public an open session of a Board meeting. 
The Board may vote to suspend the enforcement of the expulsion order pursuant to the requirements of law and the accompanying 
administrative regulation. (Education Code 48900). 
No student shall be expelled for disruption or willful defiance. (Education Code 48900) 
No child enrolled in a preschool program shall be expelled except under limited circumstances as specified in AR 5148.3 - 
Preschool/Early Childhood Education. 
(cf. 5148.3 - Preschool/Early Childhood Education) 
 
Due Process 
 
The Board shall provide for the fair and equitable treatment of students facing suspension and/or expulsion by affording them their 
due process rights under the law. The Superintendent or designee shall comply with procedures for notices, hearings, and appeals as 
specified in law and administrative regulation. (Education Code 48911, 48915, 48915.5) 
(cf. 5119 - Students Expelled from Other Districts) 
(cf. 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Individuals with Disabilities)) 
 
Maintenance and Monitoring of Outcome Data 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall maintain outcome data related to student suspensions and expulsions in accordance with 
Education Code 48900.8 and 48916.1, including, but not limited to, the number of students recommended for expulsion, the 
grounds for each recommended expulsion, the actions taken by the Board, the types of referral made after each expulsion, and the 
disposition of the students after the expulsion period. For any expulsion that involves the possession of a firearm, such data shall 
include the name of the school and the type of firearm involved, as required pursuant to 20 USC 7961. Suspension and expulsion 
data shall be reported to the Board annually and to the California Department of Education when so required. 
In presenting the report to the Board, the Superintendent or designee shall disaggregate data on suspensions and expulsions by 
school and by numerically significant student subgroups, including, but not limited to, ethnic subgroups, socioeconomically 
disadvantaged students, English learners, students with disabilities, foster youth, and homeless students. Based on the data, the 
Board shall address any identified disparities in the imposition of student discipline and shall determine whether and how the 
district is meeting its goals for improving school climate as specified in its local control and accountability plan. (cf. 0460 - Local 
Control and Accountability Plan) 
 
 
 
(D) Procedures to Notify Teachers of Dangerous Pupils (EC 49079) 
D. Staff Notification of Dangerous Students 
In order to fulfill the requirements made by Education Code 49079 and Welfare and Institutions Code 827 that state teachers must 
be notified of the reason(s) a student has been suspended. The District has incorporated this notification into the student 
information system so that it is easily accessible for teachers on any student level screen. On the flag bar there is a red flag: 49079. 
This flag indicates the student has been suspended under Ed Code 48900. The teacher can access more specific information by 
contacting their site administrator for additional details about the behavior. All information regarding suspension and expulsion is 
CONFIDENTIAL, is not to be shared with any student(s) or parent(s). Teachers are asked to secure the list so students and others may 
not view it. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 22 of 57 9/30/24 
 

Additionally, Pursuant to Welfare & Institution Code 827(b) and Education Code 48267, the Court notifies the Superintendent of the 
Lakeside Union School District regarding students who have engaged in certain criminal conduct. This information is forwarded to 
the site Principal. The site Principal is responsible for prompt notification of the student's teachers. Per Education Code 49079, this 
information must be kept confidential. This information is also forwarded to all administrators and the student's counselor. 
 
 
(E) Sexual Harassment Policies (EC 212.6 [b]) 
B. Sexual Harassment Policy 
A. DEFINITION 
"Sexual Harassment includes 'unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, sexually motivated physical contact, or other 
verbal or physical conduct or communication of a sexual nature,' when any of four conditions are met: 
Submission to the conduct or communication is made a term or condition, either explicitly or implicitly, of obtaining education; 
Submission or rejection of the conduct or communication is used as a factor in decisions affecting that person's education; 
The conduct or communication has either the purpose or effect of 'substantially interfering' with a person's education; 
The conduct or communication creates an 'intimidating, hostile, or offensive' educational environment." 
 
B. Policy Pertaining to Sexual Harassment: LUSD has the following Board Policies on Sexual Harrasment, which can be viewed at 
www.lsusd.net, under Leadership, Board of Trustees, Board Policies: 
Board Poilicy 4119.91 
The following policy shall apply to all district employees, volunteers, contractors, job applicants, and other persons with an 
employment relationship with the district. 
The Governing is committed to providing a safe work environment that is free of harassment and intimidation.  The Board prohibits 
sexual harassment against district employees and retaliatory behavior or action against any persons who complain, testifies or 
otherwise participates in the complaint process established for the purpose of this policy. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
(cf. 4030 - Nondiscrimination in Employment) 
Sexual harassment includes, but is not limited to, harassment that is based on the sex, gender, gender identity, gender expression, 
or sexual orientation of the victim and harassment based on pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions. 
The Superintendent or designee shall take all actions necessary to ensure the prevention, investigation, and correction of sexual 
harassment, including but not limited to: 
1. Providing training to employees in accordance with law and administrative regulation 
2. Publicizing and disseminating the district's sexual harassment policy to employees and others to whom the policy may apply 
3. Ensuring prompt, thorough, fair, and equitable investigation of complaints 
4. Taking timely and appropriate corrective/remedial action(s), which may require interim separation ofthe complainant and the 
alleged harasser and subsequent monitoring of developments 
The Superintendent or designee shall periodically evaluate the effectiveness of the district's strategies to prevent and address 
harassment. Such evaluation may involve conducting regular anonymous employee surveys to assess whether harassment is 
occurring or is perceived to be tolerated, partnering with researchers or other agencies with the needed expertise to evaluate the 
district's prevention strategies, and using any other effective tool for receiving feedback on systems and/or processes. As necessary, 
changes shall be made to the harassment policy, complaint procedures, or training. 
Sexual Harassment Reports and Complaints 
District employees who feel that they have been sexually harassed in the performance of their district responsibilities or who have 
knowledge of any incident of sexual harassment by or against another employee shall immediately report the incident to their direct 
supervisor, a district administrator, or the district's Title IX Coordinator. Employees may bypass their supervisor in filing a complaint 
if the supervisor is the subject of the complaint. A supervisor or administrator who receives a harassment complaint shall promptly 
notify the Title IX Coordinator. 
Once notified, the Title IX Coordinator shall ensure the complaint or allegation is addressed through AR 
4119.12/4219.12/4319.12 - Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures or AR 4030 - 
Nondiscrimination in Employment, as applicable.  Because a complaint or allegation that is dismissed or denied under the Title IX 
complaint procedure may still be subject to consideration under state law, the Title IX Coordinator shall ensure that any 
implementation of AR 4119.12/4219.12/4319.12 concurrently meets the requirements of AR 4030. 
(cf. 4119.12/4219.12/4319.12 - Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaints) 
The Title IX Coordinator shall offer supportive measures to the complainant and respondent, as deemed appropriate under the 
circumstances. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 23 of 57 9/30/24 
 

Upon investigation of a sexual harassment complaint, any district employee found to have engaged or participated in sexual 
harassment or to have aided, abetted, incited, compelled, or coerced another to commit sexual harassment in violation of this policy 
shall be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal, in accordance with law and the applicable collective bargaining 
agreement. 
 
Board Policy 4219.11 
The Governing Board prohibits sexual harassment of district employees and job applicants. The Board also prohibits retaliatory 
behavior or action against district employees or other persons who complain, testify or otherwise participate in the complaint 
process established pursuant to this policy and administrative regulation. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) (cf. 4030 - Nondiscrimination in Employment) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall take all actions necessary to ensure the prevention, investigation, and correction of sexual 
harassment, including but not limited to: 
1. Providing training to employees in accordance with law and administrative regulation 
2. Publicizing and disseminating the district's sexual harassment policy to staff 
(cf. 4112.9/4212.9/4312.9 - Employee Notifications) 
3. Ensuring prompt, thorough, and fair investigation of complaints 
4. Taking timely and appropriate corrective/remedial action(s), which may require interim separation of thecomplainant and the 
alleged harasser and subsequent monitoring of developments 
All complaints and allegations of sexual harassment shall be kept confidential to the extent necessary to carry out the investigation 
or to take other subsequent necessary actions. (5 CCR 4964) 
Any district employee or job applicant who feels that he/she has been sexually harassed or who has knowledge of any incident of 
sexual harassment by or against another employee, a job applicant or a student, 
shall immediately report the incident to his/her supervisor, the principal, district administrator or Superintendent. 
A supervisor, principal or other district administrator who receives a harassment complaint shall promptly notify the Superintendent 
or designee. 
Complaints of sexual harassment shall be filed in accordance with AR 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment. 
An employee may bypass his/her supervisor in filing a complaint where the supervisor is the subject of the complaint. 
(cf. 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment) 
Any district employee who engages or participates in sexual harassment or who aids, abets, incites, compels, or coerces another to 
commit sexual harassment against a district employee, job applicant, or student is in violation of this policy and is subject to 
disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal. 
(cf. 4117.4 - Dismissal) 
(cf. 4118 - Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
(cf. 4218 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
 
Board Policy 4319.11 
The Governing Board prohibits sexual harassment of district employees and job applicants. The Board also prohibits retaliatory 
behavior or action against district employees or other persons who complain, testify or otherwise participate in the complaint 
process established pursuant to this policy and administrative regulation. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
(cf. 4030 - Nondiscrimination in Employment) 
The Superintendent or designee shall take all actions necessary to ensure the prevention, investigation, and correction of sexual 
harassment, including but not limited to: 
1. Providing training to employees in accordance with law and administrative regulation 
2. Publicizing and disseminating the district's sexual harassment policy to staff 
(cf. 4112.9/4212.9/4312.9 - Employee Notifications) 
3. Ensuring prompt, thorough, and fair investigation of complaints 
4. Taking timely and appropriate corrective/remedial action(s), which may require interim separation of thecomplainant and the 
alleged harasser and subsequent monitoring of developments 
All complaints and allegations of sexual harassment shall be kept confidential to the extent necessary to carry out the investigation 
or to take other subsequent necessary actions. (5 CCR 4964) 
Any district employee or job applicant who feels that he/she has been sexually harassed or who has knowledge of any incident of 
sexual harassment by or against another employee, a job applicant or a student, 
shall immediately report the incident to his/her supervisor, the principal, district administrator or Superintendent. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 24 of 57 9/30/24 
 

A supervisor, principal or other district administrator who receives a harassment complaint shall promptly notify the Superintendent 
or designee. 
Complaints of sexual harassment shall be filed in accordance with AR 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment. 
An employee may bypass his/her supervisor in filing a complaint where the supervisor is the subject of the complaint. 
(cf. 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment) 
Any district employee who engages or participates in sexual harassment or who aids, abets, incites, compels, or coerces another to 
commit sexual harassment against a district employee, job applicant, or student is in violation of this policy and is subject to 
disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal. 
 
Board Policy 5145.7 
The Governing Board is committed to maintaining a safe school environment that is free from harassment and discrimination. The 
Board prohibits, at school or at school-sponsored or school-related activities, sexual harassment targeted at any student by anyone. 
The Board also prohibits retaliatory behavior or action against any person who reports, files a complaint or testifies about, or 
otherwise supports a complainant in alleging sexual harassment. 
The district strongly encourages any student who feels that he/she is being or has been sexually harassed on school grounds or at a 
school-sponsored or school-related activity by another student or an adult who has experienced off-campus sexual harassment that 
has a continuing effect on campus to immediately contact his/her teacher, the principal, or any other available school employee. 
Any employee who receives a report or observes an incident of sexual harassment shall notify the principal or a district compliance 
officer. Once notified, the principal or compliance officer shall take the steps to investigate and address the allegation, as specified in 
the accompanying administrative regulations. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
(cf. 1312.1 - Complaints Concerning District Employees) 
(cf. 5131 - Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.2 - Bullying) 
(cf. 5137 - Positive School Climate) 
(cf. 5141.4 - Child Abuse Prevention and Reporting) 
(cf. 5145.3 - Nondiscrimination/Harassment) 
(cf. 6142.1 - Sexual Health and HIV/AIDS Prevention Instruction) 
The Superintendent or designee shall take appropriate actions to reinforce the district's sexual harassment  policy. 
Instruction/Information 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that all district students receive age-appropriate information on sexual harassment. 
Such instruction and information shall include: 
1. What acts and behavior constitute sexual harassment, including the fact that sexual harassment could occur between people of 
the same sex and could involve sexual violence 
2. A clear message that students do not have to endure sexual harassment under any circumstance 
3. Encouragement to report observed incidents of sexual harassment even where the alleged victim of the harassment has not 
complained 
4. A clear message that student safety is the district's primary concern, and that any separate rule violationinvolving an alleged 
victim or any other person reporting a sexual harassment incident will be addressed separately and will not affect the manner in 
which the sexual harassment complaint will be received, investigated, or resolved 
5. A clear message that, regardless of a complainant's noncompliance with the writing, timeline, or otherformal filing requirements, 
every sexual harassment allegation that involves a student, whether as the complainant, respondent, or victim of the harassment, 
shall be investigated and prompt action shall be taken to stop any harassment, prevent recurrence, and address any continuing 
effect on students 
6. Information about the district's procedure for investigating complaints and the person(s) to whom a reportof sexual harassment 
should be made 
7. Information about the rights of students and parents/guardians to file a civil or criminal complaint, asapplicable, including the 
right to file a civil or criminal complaint while the district investigation of a sexual harassment complaint continues 
8. A clear message that, when needed, the district will take interim measures to ensure a safe schoolenvironment for a student who 
is the complainant or victim of sexual harassment and/or other students during an investigation and that, to the extent possible, 
when such interim measures are taken, they shall not disadvantage the complainant or victim of the alleged harassment 
Complaint Process and Disciplinary Actions 
Sexual harassment complaints by and against students shall be investigated and resolved in accordance with law and district 
procedures specified in AR 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint Procedures. Principals are responsible for notifying students and 
parents/guardians that complaints of sexual harassment can be filed under AR 1312.3 and where to obtain a copy of the procedures. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 25 of 57 9/30/24 
 

Upon investigation of a sexual harassment complaint, any student found to have engaged in sexual harassment or sexual violence is 
in violation of this policy shall be subject to disciplinary action. For students in grades 4-12, disciplinary action may include 
suspension and/or expulsion, provided that, in imposing such discipline, the entire circumstances of the incident(s) shall be taken 
into account. 
(cf. 5144 - Discipline) 
(cf. 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process) 
(cf. 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Students with Disabilities)) 
Upon investigation of a sexual harassment complaint, any employee found to have engaged in sexual harassment or sexual violence 
toward any student shall have his/her employment terminated in accordance with laws, and the applicable collective bargaining 
agreement. 
(cf. 4117.4 - Dismissal) 
(cf. 4117.7 - Employment Status Report) 
(cf. 4118 - Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
(cf. 4218 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
(cf. 4119.11/4219.11/4319.11 - Sexual Harassment) 
Record-Keeping 
The Superintendent or designee shall maintain a record of all reported cases of sexual harassment to enable the district to monitor, 
address, and prevent repetitive harassing behavior in district schools. (cf. 3580 - District Records) 
 
 
C. Staff Training: All LUSD staff engage in mandated sexual harassment training annually. 
 
 
(F) School-wide Dress Code Relating to Gang-Related Apparel (EC 35183) 
Schools care about the well-being of their students, which is why we have implemented dress codes to ensure safety and minimize 
distractions during class. While it may seem like a minor issue, a student's clothing can impact their ability to focus and learn. To 
support outdoor activities, sun-protective clothing is allowed, and shoes with heel straps are required for added safety during 
physical education and recess. When it comes to clothing, jewelry, and personal items, our school has a strict policy for images or 
language that is crude, vulgar, profane, or sexually suggestive, as well as any references to drugs, alcohol, or tobacco. It's also 
important that clothing is sufficient to conceal undergarments and that hair is clean and groomed. These guidelines are in place to 
promote a safe and respectful learning environment free from distractions. Schools also have a strict policy against gang-related 
apparel to ensure student safety and discourage gang activity. In following these guidelines, students can focus on what truly 
matters – learning and growing as individuals. For more information, please see LUSD Regulation 5132: Dressing And Grooming. 
 
(G) Procedure for Safe Ingress and Egress of Pupils, Parents, and Staff to and from School (EC 35294.2) 
Beyond planning for daily ingress/egress routes and emergency evacuation routes, schools must plan for assisting students, staff and 
visitors with disabilities. Under the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, individuals who are deaf/hard of hearing, blind/partially 
sighted, mobility impaired and/or cognitively/emotionally impaired must be assisted. 
 
B. Planning 
 
It is recommended that schools identify the location of potential evacuation sites based on the potential circumstances that may 
cause movement/relocation of the school population in the event of an emergency. 
 
On-Campus Evacuation/Assembly Location 
 
Review your school site layout and determine where the safest outdoor location is on campus to assemble your students and staff. 
 
Off-Campus Evacuation/Assembly Location 
 
Determine if there is a facility close to your school that can potentially house your staff and student body. 
 
Prior to an event: 
 
Identify off-campus evacuation site(s). 
Establish a memorandum of agreement with the evacuation site(s). 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 26 of 57 9/30/24 
 

 
Provide the addresses of at least two off-campus locations that have agreed to provide an assembly area for your school population. 
 
Primary Off-Site Evacuation/Assembly Location 
 
Organization: Albertson, Lakeside 
Address: 9560 Winter Gardens Blvd, Lakeside, CA 92040 
Contact: Store Manager 
Phone Number:  (619) 561-5521 
Date of Agreement: 2019 
 
Organization: Lakeside Middle School 
Address: 11833 Woodside Ave, Lakeside, CA 92040 
Contact: School Principal - Steve Mull 
Phone Number: (619) 390-2636 
Date of Agreement: 2019 
 
In the event of an airborne chemical or biological release, it is safest for students and staff to remain indoors at the school site. 
 
Follow the "Shelter-in-Place" procedures. 
 
C. Staff Training 
 
 
(I) School Discipline Rules and Consequences (EC 35291 and EC 35291.5) 
 
Riverview Elementary School Student Conduct Code 
A. Statement of Rules and Procedures on School Discipline 
 
Education Code 44807: 
 
"Every teacher in the public schools shall hold Pupils to a strict account for their conduct on the way to and from school, on the 
playgrounds, or during recess. A teacher, vice principal, principal, or any other certificated employee of a school district, shall not be 
subject to criminal prosecution or criminal penalties for the exercise, during the performance of his duties, of the same degree of 
physical control over a pupil that a parent would be legally privileged to exercise but which in no event shall exceed the amount of 
physical control reasonably necessary to maintain order, protect property, or protect the health and safety of pupils, or to maintain 
proper and appropriate conditions conducive to learning." 
 
B. Notification to Students and Parents 
 
Education Code 35291: 
Parents and students shall be notified of the District and school site rules pertaining to student discipline at the beginning of the first 
semester, and at the time of enrollment for students who enroll thereafter. 
The discipline policy shall be reviewed annually with input from the Discipline Team, site administrators, campus security, staff, 
students, and parents. 
 
C. Staff Training 
Lakeside Farms Elementary School will review Safety Plans and Procedures with all staff in August 2022, Feb 2023, Mar 2023. 
Option-Based Safety Planning was provided in 2022. Tenets from training will be reviewed annually. REMS training was provided 
Adminstrative Staff on Dec. 2021. School Site Council was debriefed on REMS Training on Jan 2022. 
D. School Discipline Chart and/or Selected Disciplinary Policies and Procedures. 
(INSERT LOW LEVEL REFERRAL CHART) 
 
 
Conduct Code Procedures 
A. Statement of Rules and Procedures on School Discipline 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 27 of 57 9/30/24 
 

 
Education Code 44807: 
 
"Every teacher in the public schools shall hold Pupils to a strict account for their conduct on the way to and from school, on the 
playgrounds, or during recess. A teacher, vice principal, principal, or any other certificated employee of a school district, shall not be 
subject to criminal prosecution or criminal penalties for the exercise, during the performance of his duties, of the same degree of 
physical control over a pupil that a parent would be legally privileged to exercise but which in no event shall exceed the amount of 
physical control reasonably necessary to maintain order, protect property, or protect the health and safety of pupils, or to maintain 
proper and appropriate conditions conducive to learning." 
 
B. Notification to Students and Parents 
 
Education Code 35291: 
Parents and students shall be notified of the District and school site rules pertaining to student discipline at the beginning of the first 
semester, and at the time of enrollment for students who enroll thereafter. 
The discipline policy shall be reviewed annually with input from the Discipline Team, site administrators, campus security, staff, 
students, and parents. 
 
C. Staff Training 
The first step in creating a successful school discipline program is to define what behavior is unacceptable in your school community. 
Once you have determined this, it is important to create a clear and concise set of rules that reflect these standards. These rules 
should be posted in a visible location in the school, and students should be made aware of them at the beginning of the school year. 
It is important to enforce these rules consistently and fairly. This may require the use of a discipline matrix or other system that 
outlines the consequences for specific types of infractions. It is also important to provide support for students who are struggling 
with their behavior and to help them understand why their actions were inappropriate. 
Staff should also be familiar with Positive Behavioral Interventions and Supports (PBIS), a framework for creating effective 
behavioral interventions. PBIS focuses on rewarding positive behavior rather than punishing negative behavior and has been shown 
to be effective in improving student behavior. 
 
D. School Discipline Chart and/or Selected Disciplinary Policies and Procedures. 
School-wide means that educators support appropriate behavior in classroom and non-classroom (bathrooms, assemblies, hallways) 
areas. This support happens along a continuum from Tier 1 for all students and Tier 2 for a small group of students to Tier 3 for 
individual students. The goal is to create an environment that sets up ALL students for success. 
An important aspect of SW-PBIS is the understanding that appropriate behavior and social competence is a skill that requires direct 
teaching to students just like math and reading. There is no assumption, in SWPBIS, that students will learn social behavior 
automatically or pick it up as they go through life. This critical feature in SW-PBIS leads to its effectiveness. 
Behavioral Expectations 
Riverview International Academy has three main behavioral expectations: Be Respectful, Be Responsible, Be Safe. 
Behavior matrix: a matrix with settings, events, or classroom routines in the left column with the behavioral expectations along the 
top. Each matrix junction (box) contains the behavior indicators, or what the behavior expectation looks like in that particular setting 
or event. 
Behavior indicators: what the behavioral expectations look like in a particular school-wide setting, event, or classroom routine. 
Procedures: specific ways for students to complete tasks. An example of this is how to behave responsibly during transitions: 1. 
Clean up your area, 2. Stand and push in your chair, 3. Eyes are on me. 
 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 28 of 57 9/30/24 
 

(J) Procedures to Prepare for Active Shooters 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 29 of 57 9/30/24 
 

Active Shooter / Armed Assailant Situations 
“Active shooter situations” are defined as those where an individual or individuals is “actively engaged in killing or attempting to kill 
people in a confined and populated area.” Active shooters / armed assailants frequently use firearms but attacks of this type can 
also be made with other types of weapons (knifes, swords, etc.). These situations are unpredictable and evolve quickly. Because of 
this, individuals must be prepared to deal with an active shooter / armed assailant situation before law enforcement personnel 
arrive on the scene. 
 
No single response fits all active shooter / armed assailant situations; therefore it is essential all members of the school staff know 
their options for response and are prepared to act decisively to protect their students and themselves. 
 
Respond Immediately 
It is not uncommon for people confronted with a threat to first deny the possible danger rather than respond. An investigation by 
the National Institute of Standards and Technology (2005) into the collapse of the World Trade Center towers on September 11, 
2001, found that people close to the floors impacted waited longer to start evacuating than those on unaffected floors.21 Similarly, 
during the Virginia Tech shooting, individuals on campus responded to the shooting with varying degrees of urgency.22 These 
studies highlight this delayed response or denial. For example, some people report hearing firecrackers when in fact they heard 
gunfire. 
 
Train staff to overcome denial and to respond immediately, including fulfilling their responsibilities for individuals in their charge. For 
example, train staff to recognize the sounds of danger, act, and forcefully communicate the danger and necessary action (e.g., “Gun! 
Get out!”) to those in their charge. In addition, those closest to the public address or other communications system, or otherwise 
able to alert others, should communicate the danger and necessary action. Repetition in training and preparedness shortens the 
time it takes to orient, observe, and act. 
 
Upon recognizing the danger, as soon as it is safe to do so, staff or others must alert responders by contacting 911 with as clear and 
accurate information as possible. 
 
Run 
If it is safe to do so for yourself and those in your care, the first course of action that should be taken is to run out of the building and 
far away until you are in a safe location. 
 
Students and staff should be trained to 
 
Leave personal belongings behind; 
Visualize possible escape routes, including physically accessible routes for students and staff with disabilities as well as persons with 
access and functional needs; 
Avoid escalators and elevators; 
Take others with them, but not to stay behind because others will not go; 
Call 911 when safe to do so; and 
Let a responsible adult know where they are. 
Hide 
If running is not a safe option, hide in as safe a place as possible. 
 
Students and staff should be trained to hide in a location where the walls might be thicker and have fewer windows. In addition: 
 
Lock the doors; 
Barricade the doors with heavy furniture; 
Close and lock windows and close blinds or cover windows; 
Turn off lights; 
Silence all electronic devices; 
Remain silent; 
Hide along the wall closest to the exit but out of the view from the hallway (allowing for an ambush of the shooter and for possible 
escape if the shooter enters the room); 
Use strategies to silently communicate with first responders if possible, for example, in rooms with exterior windows make signs to 
silently signal law enforcement officers and emergency responders to indicate the status of the room's occupants; and 
Remain in place until given an all clear by identifiable law enforcement officers. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 30 of 57 9/30/24 
 

 
Fight 
If neither running nor hiding is a safe option, as a last resort when confronted by the shooter, adults in immediate danger should 
consider trying to disrupt or incapacitate the shooter by using aggressive force and items in their environment, such as fire 
extinguishers, and chairs. In a study of 41 active shooter events that ended before law enforcement officers arrived, the potential 
victims stopped the attacker themselves in 16 instances. In 13 of those cases they physically subdued the attacker.23 While talking 
to staff about confronting a shooter may be daunting and upsetting for some, they should know that they may be able to 
successfully take action to save lives. To be clear, confronting an active shooter should never be a requirement in any school 
employee’s job description; how each staff member chooses to respond if directly confronted by an active shooter is up to him or 
her. Further, the possibility of an active shooter situation is not justification for the presence of firearms on campus in the hands of 
any personnel other than law enforcement officers. 
 
20 As part of its preparedness mission, Ready Houston produces “Run, Hide, Fight” videos, handouts, and trainings to promote 
preparedness among residents of the Houston region. These materials are not specific to a school setting but may still be helpful. 
These videos are not recommended for viewing by minors. All of these items are available free of charge, and many are available at 
http://www.readyhoustontx.gov/videos.html 
 
21 Occupants of both towers delayed initiating their evacuation after World Trade Center 1 was hit. In World Trade Center 1, the 
median time to initiate evacuation was 3 minutes for occupants from the ground floor to floor 76, and 5 minutes for occupants near 
the impact region (floors 77 to 91). See National Institute of Standards and Technology, 2005. Federal Building and Fire Safety 
Investigation of the World Trade Center Disaster Occupant Behavior, Egress, and Emergency Communications. Available at 
http://www.mingerfoundation.org/downloads/mobility/nist world trade center.pdf 
 
 
 
 
Procedures for Preventing Acts of Bullying and Cyber-bullying 
The Governing Board recognizes the harmful effects of bullying on student learning and school attendance and desires to provide a 
safe school environment that protects students from physical and emotional harm. District employees shall establish student safety 
as a high priority and shall not tolerate bullying of any student. 
 
No individual or group shall, through physical, written, verbal, or other means, harass, sexually harass, threaten, intimidate, 
retaliate, cyberbully, cause bodily injury to, or commit hate violence against any student or school personnel. 
 
(cf. 5131 - Conduct) 
 
(cf. 5136 - Gangs) 
 
(cf. 5145.3 - Nondiscrimination/Harassment) 
 
(cf. 5145.7 - Sexual Harassment) 
 
(cf. 5145.9 - Hate-Motivated Behavior) 
 
Cyberbullying includes the electronic creation or transmission of harassing communications, direct threats, or other harmful texts, 
sounds, or images as defined in Education Code 48900. Cyberbullying also includes breaking into another person's electronic account 
and assuming that person's identity in order to damage that person's reputation. 
 
(cf. 5145.2 - Freedom of Speech/Expression) 
 
(cf. 6163.4 - Student Use of Technology) 
 
Strategies for addressing bullying in district schools shall be developed with involvement of key stakeholders, including students, 
parents/guardians, and staff, and may be incorporated into the comprehensive safety plan, the local control and accountability plan, 
and other applicable district and school plans. 
 

http://www.readyhoustontx.gov/videos.html
http://www.mingerfoundation.org/downloads/mobility/nist


 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 31 of 57 9/30/24 
 

(cf. 0420 - School Plans/Site Councils) 
 
(cf. 0450 - Comprehensive Safety Plan) 
 
(cf. 0460 - Local Control and Accountability Plan) 
 
(cf. 1220 - Citizen Advisory Committees) 
 
(cf. 6020 - Parent Involvement) 
 
As appropriate, the Superintendent or designee may collaborate with law enforcement, courts, social services, mental health 
services, other agencies, and community organizations in the development and implementation of joint strategies to promote safety 
in schools and the community and to provide services for alleged victims and perpetrators of bullying. 
 
(cf. 1020 - Youth Services) 
 
Bullying Prevention 
 
To the extent possible, district schools shall focus on the prevention of bullying by establishing clear rules for student conduct and 
implementing strategies to promote a positive, collaborative school climate. Students shall be informed, through student handbooks 
and other appropriate means, of district and school rules related to bullying, mechanisms available for reporting incidents or threats, 
and the consequences for engaging in bullying. 
 
(cf. 5137 - Positive School Climate) 
 
As appropriate, the district shall provide students with instruction, in the classroom or other educational settings, that promotes 
social-emotional learning, effective communication and conflict resolution skills, character/values education, respect for cultural and 
individual differences, self-esteem development, assertiveness skills, and appropriate online behavior. 
 
(cf. 6142.8 - Comprehensive Health Education) 
 
(cf. 6142.94 - History-Social Science Instruction) 
 
Such instruction shall also educate students about the negative impact of bullying, discrimination, intimidation, and harassment 
based on actual or perceived immigration status, religious beliefs and customs, or any other individual bias or prejudice. 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall provide training to teachers and other school staff to raise their awareness about the legal 
obligation of the district and its employees to prevent discrimination, harassment, intimidation, and bullying of district students. 
Such training shall be designed to provide staff with the skills to: 
 
1. Discuss the diversity of the student body and school community, including their varying immigration experiences 
 
2. Discuss bullying prevention strategies with students, and teach students to recognize the behavior and characteristics of bullying 
perpetrators and victims 
 
3. Identify the signs of bullying or harassing behavior 
 
4. Take immediate corrective action when bullying is observed 
 
5. Report incidents to the appropriate authorities, including law enforcement in instances of criminal behavior 
 
(cf. 4131 - Staff Development) 
 
(cf. 4231 - Staff Development) 
 
(cf. 4331 - Staff Development) 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 32 of 57 9/30/24 
 

 
Based on an assessment of bullying incidents at school, the Superintendent or designee may increase supervision and security in 
areas where bullying most often occurs, such as classrooms, playgrounds, hallways, restrooms, and cafeterias. 
 
Intervention 
 
Students are encouraged to notify school staff when they are being bullied or suspect that another student is being victimized. In 
addition, the Superintendent or designee shall develop means for students to report threats or incidents confidentially and 
anonymously. 
 
School staff who witness an act of bullying shall immediately intervene to stop the incident when it is safe to do so. (Education Code 
234.1) 
 
When appropriate based on the severity or pervasiveness of the bullying, the Superintendent or designee shall notify the 
parents/guardians of victims and perpetrators and may contact law enforcement. 
 
The Superintendent, principal, or principal's designee may refer a victim, witness, perpetrator, or other student affected by an act of 
bullying to a school counselor, school psychologist, social worker, child welfare attendance personnel, school nurse, or other school 
support service personnel for case management, counseling, and/or participation in a restorative justice program as appropriate. 
(Education Code 48900.9) 
 
(cf. 6164.2 - Guidance/Counseling Services) 
 
Reporting and Filing of Complaints 
 
Any student, parent/guardian, or other individual who believes that a student has been subjected to bullying or who has witnessed 
bullying may report the incident to a teacher, the principal, a compliance officer, or any other available school employee. Within one 
business day of receiving such a report, a staff member shall notify the principal of the report, whether or not a uniform complaint is 
filed. In addition, any school employee who observes an incident of bullying involving a student shall, within one business day, 
report his/her observation to the principal or a district compliance officer, whether or not the alleged victim files a complaint. 
 
Within two business days of receiving a report of bullying, the principal shall notify a district compliance officer identified in AR 
1312.3. 
 
When the circumstances involve cyberbullying, individuals with information about the activity shall be encouraged to save and print 
any electronic or digital messages that they feel constitute cyberbullying and to notify a teacher, the principal, or other employee so 
that the matter may be investigated. When a student uses a social networking site or service to bully or harass another student, the 
Superintendent or designee may file a request with the networking site or service to suspend the privileges of the student and to 
have the material removed. 
 
When a report of bullying is submitted, the principal or a district compliance officer shall inform the student or parent/guardian of 
the right to file a formal written complaint in accordance with AR 1312.3. The student who is the alleged victim of the bullying shall 
be given an opportunity to describe the incident, identify witnesses who may have relevant information, and provide other evidence 
of bullying. 
 
Investigation and Resolution of Complaints 
 
Any complaint of bullying shall be investigated and, if determined to be discriminatory, resolved in accordance with law and the 
district's uniform complaint procedures specified in AR 1312.3. 
 
If, during the investigation, it is determined that a complaint is about nondiscriminatory bullying, the principal or designee shall 
inform the complainant and shall take all necessary actions to resolve the complaint. 
 
Discipline 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 33 of 57 9/30/24 
 

Corrective actions for a student who commits an act of bullying of any type may include counseling, behavioral intervention and 
education, and, if the behavior is severe or pervasive as defined in Education Code 48900, may include suspension or expulsion in 
accordance with district policies and regulations. 
 
(cf. 5138 - Conflict Resolution/Peer Mediation) 
 
(cf. 5144 - Discipline) 
 
(cf. 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process) 
 
(cf. 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Students with Disabilities)) 
 
(cf. 6159.4 - Behavioral Interventions for Special Education Students) 
 
Any employee who permits or engages in bullying or retaliation related to bullying shall be subject to disciplinary action, up to and 
including dismissal. 
 
(cf. 4117.3 - Dismissal) 
 
(cf. 4118 - Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
 
(cf. 4119.21/4219.21/4319.21 - Professional Standards) 
 
(cf. 4218 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
 
 
 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 34 of 57 9/30/24 
 

 
Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures 
 
Education Code 32281 below describes participation of specific members of the school community in the writing and development 
of the Comprehensive School Safety Plan. 
 
Education Code 32281 
(a) Each school district and county office of education is responsible for the overall development of all comprehensive school safety 
plans for its schools operating kindergarten or any of grades 1 to 12, inclusive. 
(b) (1) Except as provided in subdivision (d) with regard to a small school district, the schoolsite council established pursuant to 
former Section 52012, as it existed before July 1, 2005, or Section 52852 shall write and develop a comprehensive school safety plan 
relevant to the needs and resources of that particular school. 
(2) The schoolsite council may delegate this responsibility to a school safety planning committee made up of the following members: 
(A) The principal or the principal’s designee. 
(B) One teacher who is a representative of the recognized certificated employee organization. 
(C) One parent whose child attends the school. 
(D) One classified employee who is a representative of the recognized classified employee organization. 
(E) Other members, if desired. 
(3) The schoolsite council shall consult with a representative from a law enforcement agency, a fire department, and other first 
responder entities in the writing and development of the comprehensive school safety plan. The comprehensive school safety plan 
and any updates to the plan shall be shared with the law enforcement agency, the fire department, and the other first responder 
entities. 
(4) In the absence of a schoolsite council, the members specified in paragraph (2) shall serve as the school safety planning 
committee. 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 35 of 57 9/30/24 
 

 
Safety Plan Appendices 
 
  



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 36 of 57 9/30/24 
 

 
Emergency Contact Numbers 
 
Utilities, Responders and Communication Resources 
 

Type Vendor Number Comments 

School District Lakeside Union School 
District (619) 390-2600  

Law 
Enforcement/Fire/Paramed
ic 

Lakeside Substation (619) 938-1360 858-565-5200 (Dispatch) 619-938-1360 
(Business) 

 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 37 of 57 9/30/24 
 

 
Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures 
 

Activity Description 
(i.e. review steps, meetings conducted, approvals, etc) Date and Time Attached Document 

(description and location) 
Safety plan review with staff 9/06/2023  

Safety plan review with fire marshal 9/19/2023  

Safety plan review with fire marshal 9/11/2023  

 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 38 of 57 9/30/24 
 

 
Riverview Elementary School Incident Command System 
 

--------     Incident Commander     

--------     John Greenwell--------     

--------           

--------   Safety Officer   Public Information Officer   

--------   
Carolyn Hood 

Sara Zeller 
-------- 

  
Sam Wooster 

Emily Okerlund 
-------- 

  

--------           

--------   Scribe       

--------   Maria Chalk--------       

--------           

--------           

Operations ------- Planning/ 
Intelligence  Logistics  Finance/Administration 

Andrea Casas 
Gina Nuñez 

-------- 
------- Diana Luu--------  Vanessa Cochran--------  Marisa Chalk-------- 

--------           

--------           

--------  First Aid & Search 
Teacher A        

--------  
Alex Chavez 

Adriana Huffine 
-------- 

       

--------           

--------  
Student Release & 

Accountability 
TeacherB 

       



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 39 of 57 9/30/24 
 

--------  
Aaron Ramos 
Amy Galeano 

-------- 
       

 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 40 of 57 9/30/24 
 

 
Incident Command Team Responsibilities 
 
Standardized Emergency Response Management System Overview 
The California Standardized Emergency Management System (SEMS) is designed to centralize and coordinate emergency response 
through the use of standardized terminology and processes. This greatly facilitates the flow of information and resources among the 
agencies participating in response to an emergency. SEMS consists of five functions: 
Site Incident Commander – responsible for overseeing onsite emergency operations.  Responsible for keeping the Emergency 
Operations Center (Operations Section) briefed on a regular basis. Typically, also assumes responsibilities of the Safety Officer, 
Liaison Officer, and Public Information Officer duties 
Safety Officer - ensures all activities are conducted in as safe a manner as possible 
 
Public Information Officer – acts as official spokesperson for the site in an emergency situation, until the District’s Communications 
Officer is available 
 
Liaison Officer – serves as the point-of-contact for agencies outside of the District’s organization 
 
Operations Chief – manages direct response to the onsite emergency and report status to the Site Incident Commander 
 
Site Facility Check & Security – lead damage assessment, control utilities, restrict access to unsafe areas, and provide traffic control 
 
Search & Rescue Leader and Team – conduct search and rescue operations once accountability process has identified missing 
persons.  It’s important that the Team Leader remain at the 
Site Command Post where communication with the Buddy Teams is maintained via walkie-talkie. 
 
First Aid & Medical Leader and Team – provide first aid and medical response including Critical Incident Stress Management (CISM).  
It’s important that the Team Leader remain at the Site Command Post where communication with the Buddy Teams is maintained 
via walkie-talkie. 
 
Assembly Area Leader – ensure the care and safety of all students, staff, and visitors during an on- or offsite evacuation (except 
those who are in the Medical Treatment Area) and relay information regarding attendance and other information pertaining to the 
well-being of the evacuees. 
 
Student/Parent Reunification 
 
Request Area – process requests by parents or authorized adults for release of students 
 
Release Gate – release student to parent or authorized adult 
 
Planning & Intelligence Chief – in charge of collection, evaluation and documentation of information about the incident 
 
Logistics Chief – provide facilities, services, staff, equipment and materials to support response – including food and transportation 
services 
 
Finance & Administration Chief – responsible for accountability of campus occupants (attendance) during an emergency, tracks 
purchases, staff hours and costs 
 
This Plan provides position guides for each of the above assignments.  The ICT will report to the Site Incident Commander at the 
Incident Command Post.  Any staff may be assigned to assist each of the above positions depending upon the circumstances and 
demands of the incident and care of the students and staff. 
 
The District’s Emergency Operations Center (EOC) may be activated to support onsite emergency operations.  In the event that the 
District EOC is activated, the Site Incident Commander will establish communications and coordinate closely with the District EOC 
(Operations Section). 
 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 41 of 57 9/30/24 
 

Management 
During an emergency, the Incident Commander directs response actions from a designated Command Post. To effectively do this, 
the Incident Commander must constantly assess the situation, and develop and implement appropriate strategies. The Incident 
Commander must be familiar with the available resources, accurately document all response actions, and effectively communicate 
response strategies to others participating in the response. This function is typically filled by the school principal. The principal is 
assisted in carrying out this function by a Public Information & Liaison Officer and Safety Officer. 
 
Planning & Intelligence 
Planning and Intelligence involves the use of various methods to efficiently gather information, weigh and document the information 
for significance, and actively assess the status of the emergency. This understanding and knowledge about the situation at hand is 
vital to the effective management of a response. These activities are performed by a single person who reports directly to the 
Incident Commander. 
 
Operations 
All response actions are implemented under by Operations. This includes staff performing first aid, crisis intervention, search and 
rescue, site security, damage assessment, evacuations, and the release of students. 
 
Logistics 
Logistics supports the response by coordinating personnel; assembling and deploying volunteers; providing supplies, equipment, and 
services; and facilitating communications among emergency responders. 
 
Finance & Administration 
Finance & Administration involves the purchasing of all necessary materials, tracking financial records, timekeeping for emergency 
responders, and recovering school records following an emergency. These activities are performed by a single person who reports 
directly to the Incident Commander. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 42 of 57 9/30/24 
 

 
Emergency Response Guidelines 
 
Step One: Identify the Type of Emergency 
ON-SITE EVACUATION: Evacuation is implemented when conditions make it unsafe to remain inside the building(s). This action 
provides for the orderly movement of students and staff along prescribed routes from inside school buildings to a designated 
outside area of safety.  Evacuation is considered appropriate for, but is not limited to, the following types of emergencies: Fire, 
Explosion or threat of explosion, Bomb threat, Post earthquake 
 
OFF-SITE EVACUATION is implemented when it is unsafe to remain on the school campus, and evacuation to an off-site assembly 
area is required.  This action provides for the orderly movement of students and staff along prescribed routes from inside school 
buildings to a designated area of safety.  Off-Site Evacuation is considered appropriate for, but is not limited to, the following types 
of emergencies: Fire, Explosion or threat of explosion, Bomb threat, Post earthquake, Chemical accident 
 
DUCK, COVER AND HOLD ON is the action taken during an earthquake to protect students and staff from flying and falling debris.  
DUCK, COVER AND HOLD ON is an appropriate action for use during an earthquake or explosion.  Immediate EVACUATION and an 
emergency damage assessment must be performed prior to occupancy of any of the site’s buildings, following any event prompting 
the use of DUCK, COVER AND HOLD ON. 
 
SHELTER IN PLACE is implemented when there is a need to isolate students and staff from the outdoor environment to prevent 
exposure to airborne contaminants. The procedures include closing and sealing doors, windows and vents; shutting down the 
classroom/building heating, ventilation and air conditioning systems to prevent exposure to the outside air; and turning off pilot 
lights.  SHELTER IN PLACE allows for the free movement of staff and students within the building, although one should not leave the 
room until further instructions are received.  Those in bungalows and buildings with exterior passageways must remain in the 
classroom while SHELTER IN PLACE is instituted.  It is appropriate for, but not limited to, gas leaks, external chemical release, dirty 
bombs and hazardous material spills. 
 
SECURE CAMPUS is implemented as a precautionary measure to ensure the safety of students and staff when there is danger in the 
surrounding community or a bomb threat is made against the school.  Secure Campus requires that all students and staff take 
shelter in school buildings and lock all exterior doors.  Classroom instruction and/or activity may continue as long as all classroom 
and office doors are locked and all students and staff remain inside through the duration of that event. The school perimeter should 
be secured. 
 
LOCKDOWN is initiated to isolate students and school staff from danger on or near the campus when movement within the school 
and within rooms on the campus might put students and staff in jeopardy.  LOCKDOWN is used to prevent intruders from entering 
occupied areas of the buildings. 
Lock the doors; 
Close and lock windows, and close blinds or cover windows; 
Turn off lights; 
Silence all electronic devices; 
Remain silent; 
Use strategies to silently communicate with first responders if possible, 
Hide along the wall closest to the exit but out of the view from the hallway (allowing for an ambush of the intruder and for possible 
escape if the intruder enters the room); and 
Remain in place until the release from lockdown by school administration or evacuated by law enforcement. 
 
ALL CLEAR communicates to students and staff that the emergency is over and normal school operations can resume. 
 
 
 
Step Two: Identify the Level of Emergency 
 
 
 
Step Three: Determine the Immediate Response Action 
Evacuation - Fire Alarm (P.A. System) 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 43 of 57 9/30/24 
 

Duck, Cover, Hold On - P.A. System (n the case of earthquake, individuals should not wait for any notification to Duck, Cover and 
Hold On.  ) 
Shelter-In-Place - P.A. System (If P.A. system is not working, use email or written notes to classes) 
Secure Campus - P.A. System 
Lockdown - P.A. System 
All-Clear - P.A. System 
 
 
 
Step Four: Communicate the Appropriate Response Action 
ALL CLEAR communicates to students and staff that the emergency is over and normal school operations can resume. 
emergency damage assessment is the inspection process used immediately following an emergency (typically will students and staff 
are under an EVACUATION order) to determine if it is safe to resume occupancy of school facilities.  An emergency damage 
assessment should be performed following any event with the potential to cause damage school facilities or equipment. 
 
"LOCKDOWN is initiated to isolate students and school staff from danger on or near the campus when movement within the school 
and within rooms on the campus might put students and staff in jeopardy.  LOCKDOWN is used to prevent intruders from entering 
occupied areas of the buildings. 
Lock the doors; 
Close and lock windows, and close blinds or cover windows; 
Turn off lights; 
Silence all electronic devices; 
Remain silent; 
Use strategies to silently communicate with first responders if possible, 
Hide along the wall closest to the exit but out of the view from the hallway (allowing for an ambush of the intruder and for possible 
escape if the intruder enters the room); and 
Remain in place until the release from lockdown by school administration or evacuated by law enforcement. " 
 
Secure Campus is implemented as a precautionary measure to ensure the safety of students and staff when there is danger in the 
surrounding community or a bomb threat is made against the school.  Secure Campus requires that all students and staff take 
shelter in school buildings and lock all exterior doors.  Classroom instruction and/or activity may continue as long as all classroom 
and office doors are locked and all students and staff remain inside through the duration of that event. The school perimeter should 
be secured. 
 
SHELTER IN PLACE is implemented when there is a need to isolate students and staff from the outdoor environment to prevent 
exposure to airborne contaminants. The procedures include closing and sealing doors, windows and vents; shutting down the 
classroom/building heating, ventilation and air conditioning systems to prevent exposure to the outside air; and turning off pilot 
lights.  SHELTER IN PLACE allows for the free movement of staff and students within the building, although one should not leave the 
room until further instructions are received.  Those in bungalows and buildings with exterior passageways must remain in the 
classroom while SHELTER IN PLACE is instituted.  It is appropriate for, but not limited to, gas leaks, external chemical release, dirty 
bombs and hazardous material spills. 
 
"TAKE COVER is implemented when it is necessary to move to and take refuge in the best shielded areas within the school buildings.  
It is appropriate for, but not limited to, severe windstorms and tornados. 
Move students and staff into the school’s permanent buildings, on the ground floor. 
Group students/staff together at the furthest point away from windows on the floor. 
Face the wall with backs to the windows 
Crouch down on knees and elbows 
Hands  covering the back of their head/neck 
If a tornado warning or potentially damaging windstorm occurs at dismissal, delay dismissal. 
An order to TAKE COVER should remain in place until the National Weather Service has lifted the warning.  " 
 
DUCK, COVER AND HOLD ON is the action taken during an earthquake to protect students and staff from flying and falling debris.  
DUCK, COVER AND HOLD ON is an appropriate action for use during an earthquake or explosion.  Immediate EVACUATION and an 
emergency damage assessment must be performed prior to occupancy of any of the site’s buildings, following any event prompting 
the use of DUCK, COVER AND HOLD ON. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 44 of 57 9/30/24 
 

 
EVACUATION is implemented when conditions make it unsafe to remain inside the building(s). This action provides for the orderly 
movement of students and staff along prescribed routes from inside school buildings to a designated outside area of safety. 
 
OFF-SITE EVACUATION is implemented when it is unsafe to remain on the school campus, and evacuation to an off-site assembly 
area is required.  This action provides for the orderly movement of students and staff along prescribed routes from inside school 
buildings to a designated area of safety off campus.  In some situations OFF-SITE EVACUATION may require the use of busing.  
Structured Reunification should be used following any OFF-SITE EVACUATION. 
 
EARLY RELEASE   Certain situations may require releasing students from school at a time when parents expect their children to be at 
the school site.  EARLY RELEASE may be implemented when circumstances make keeping students at school inadvisable. EARLY 
RELEASE must be authorized by the district superintendent or designee.  During an EARLY RELEASE, students follow normal dismissal 
procedures. 
 
"Structured Reunification is the process used to reunify children with their parents, guardians or caregivers, following a school 
emergency.  Regular dismissal procedures are not followed.  Structured Reunification requires: 
Maintaining accurate information on the location of each child. 
Preventing unauthorized individuals from having access to or removing children. 
Verifying the identity of individuals coming to take custody of children. 
Verifying each individual has the legal right to take custody the child for which they have asked. 
Keeping record of who each student is released to, the method used to verify their identity and the time of the pick-up." 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 45 of 57 9/30/24 
 

 
Types of Emergencies & Specific Procedures 
 
Armed Assault on Campus 
Lockdown: Active Shooter 
An Active shooter/Lockdown Alert is sounded if there is a sniper, armed intruder or active shooter on campus. Staff members have a 
very limited amount of time in which to commit to a course of action. Immediately assess both the situation and the surrounding 
environment and responds to the situation based upon the Active shooter Training and drills. This is also true for your students who 
may need to become resources for substitutes or who are alone when an event occurs. 
 
Remember, the Active shooter response is a partnership with local law enforcement. 
 
Immediate actions should include: 
 
Students and staff go into classrooms/buildings or run to off-site evacuation areas. 
LOCKDOWN includes building door barricades, internal barricades, covering windows and turning off/dimming lights. 
Notify administration 
Call 9-1-1 if you know the location of the shooter, the description or identity of the shooter or if you need medical direction for a 
victim. 
Administration notifies the Superintendent 
 
Intermediate activities: 
 
Place a red card under the door/in a window if you have a serious injury in the classroom. 
Take roll 
Conduct anxiety-reducing activities 
 
Evacuation: 
 
Prepare students and yourself for a quick evacuation 
Follow directions of law enforcement when they arrive 
 
 
Biological or Chemical Release 
Poisoning, Chemical Spills, Hazardous Materials 
POISONING: 
 
If a student ingests a poisonous substance: 
 
Call Poison Control Center Link Line 1-800-222-1222. Take appropriate first aid measures. Call parents. 
Notify the Health Services Office. 
 
Following any emergency, notify the District Superintendents' Office 
 
CHEMICAL SPILL ON SITE: 
 
The following are guidelines for Chemical Spills: 
 
Evacuate the immediate area of personnel 
Determine whether to initiate Shelter In Place Protocol 
Secure the area (block points of entry) 
Identify the chemical and follow the procedures for that particular chemical. Notify the District Office. 
 
CHEMICAL SPILL OFF SITE INVOLVING DISTRICT EQUIPMENT/PROPERTY 
 
 Notify the Todd Owens with the following information: 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 46 of 57 9/30/24 
 

• Date, time, and exact location of the release or threatened release 
• Name and telephone number of person reporting 
• Type of chemical involved and the estimated quantity 
• Description of potential hazards presented by the spill 
• Document time and date notification made 
• Other emergency personnel responding (Highway Patrol, CALTRANS, etc.) 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 47 of 57 9/30/24 
 

Locate a fire extinguisher and have present, should the need arise 
Place reflective triangles or traffic cones if in street or highway. DO NOT LIGHT FLARES! 
If spill response equipment is available use it to take the necessary measures to prevent the spill from spreading. 
 
Reporting Chemical Spills 
 
Once an emergency spill response has been completed, the person reporting the initial spill must complete a SPILL RESPONSE 
EVALUATION. The incident must be reported to the Superintendent WITHIN 24 HOURS OF THE SPILL. 
 
Spill Clean Up 
 
Chemical Spills may not be cleaned up by school personnel. Call the District Office at [Insert District Office Contact Name] and [Insert 
District Office Phone Number]. The cleanup will be coordinated through a designated contractor. 
 
HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES 
 
Hazardous Substances include the following, but is not limited to the following: 
 
Gasoline 
Solvents 
Motor Oil 
Diesel Fuel 
Kerosene 
Anti-Freeze 
Airborne Gases/Fumes 
Lacquer Thinner 
Paint 
Agricultural Spray 
Paint Thinner 
Stain 
Brake Fluid 
 
Always call for assistance and: 
 
Extinguish all ignition sources 
Shut off main emergency switch to fuel pump, if appropriate 
Move appropriate fire extinguishing equipment to area 
If possible, contain the spill to prevent further contamination 
Move people/personnel away or evacuate from contamination area 
 
If the spill is too great to handle, contact the District Office Todd Owens and (619) 390-2800 . 
 
Staff and students will evacuate the area immediately, if appropriate. Move uphill, upwind, upstream if possible. 
 
VEHICLE FUEL SPILL 
 
When a spill has occurred, the first thing to do is to keep the situation from worsening. Follow these steps: 
 
Shut off emergency switch 
Avoid skin contact 
Isolate the spill from people and vehicles by blocking all points of entry 
Stop and evaluate any hazards 
Prevent discharge into storm drains. Divert the flow by sealing off areas with absorbents. Prevent runoff. Use absorbent "socks" or 
"booms" to contain the spill 
Identify the source, estimated quantity spilled and stop further release(s) - IF IT CAN BE DONE 
SAFELY 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 48 of 57 9/30/24 
 

Take care of any injured Notify the District Office. 
If the spill is unmanageable, contact the Fire Department by calling 9-1-1 
 
If, after attempted containment, the release still poses either a present or a potential threat, notify the California Office of 
Emergency Services and local emergency assistance organizations (fire, police, etc.). Give the following information: 
 
Date, time, and exact location of the release 
Name and telephone number of persons reporting the release 
The type of fuel spilled and the estimated quantity 
Description of potential hazards presented by the fuel spill 
Document the time and date notification was made and the information provided 
A written report to the appropriate office of the California Department of Health Services is required within 15 days after the 
incident. Contact the District for assistance with this report. 
 
Bio Terrorism 
Anthrax Threat 
 
How to identify suspicious letters or packages 
 
Some characteristics of suspicious letters or packages include the following: 
 
Excessive postage 
Handwritten or poorly typed addresses 
Incorrect titles 
Title, but no name 
Misspellings of common words 
Oily stains, discolorations or odors 
No return address 
Excessive weight 
Lopsided or uneven envelop 
Protruding wires or aluminum foil 
Excessive security material such as masking tape, string, etc. 
Visual distractions 
Ticking sound 
Marked with restrictive endorsements, such as "Personal" or "Confidential." Shows a city or state in the postmark that does not 
match the return address. 
 
Suspicious unopened letter or package marked with threatening message such as "Anthrax" 
 
Do not shake or empty the contents of any suspicious envelop or package. 
Place the envelope or package in a plastic bag or some other type of container to prevent leakage of contents. 
If you do not have any container, then cover the envelope or package with anything (e.g., clothing, paper, trash can, etc.) and do not 
remove this cover. 
Then leave the room and close the door, or section off the area to prevent others from entering. 
Wash your hands with soap and water to prevent spreading any powder to your face. 
If you are at home, report the incident to the local police. If you are at work, report the incident to the local police and your site 
administrator. 
List all people who were in the room or area when this suspicious letter or package was recognized. Give the list to both the local 
public health authorities and law enforcement officials for follow-up investigations and advice. 
 
Envelope with powder or powder spills out onto a surface 
 
Do not try to clean up the powder. Cover the spilled contents immediately with anything and do not remove this cover. 
Leave the room and close the door or section off the area to prevent others from entering. 
Wash your hands with soap and water to prevent spreading any powder to your face. 
If you are at home, CALL 9-1-1 to report the incident. If you are at work, CALL 9-1-1 and your site administrator to report the 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 49 of 57 9/30/24 
 

incident. 
Remove heavily contaminated clothing as soon as possible and place in a plastic bag, or some other container that can be sealed. 
The clothing bag should be given to the emergency responders for proper disposal. 
Shower with soap and water as soon as possible. Do not use bleach or other disinfectant on your skin. If possible, list all people who 
were in the room or area, especially those who had actual contact with the powder. Give the list to both the local police and public 
health authorities so that proper instructions can be given for medical follow-up and further investigation. 
 
Possible room contamination by aerosol 
 
(Examples: small devices triggered warning that air handling systems is contaminated, or warning that a biological agent is released 
in a public space.) 
 
Turn off local fans or ventilation units in the area. 
Leave the area immediately. 
Close the door or section off the area to prevent others from entering. 
Move upwind, uphill, upstream. 
If you are at home, report the incident to the local police. If you are at work, report the incident to the local police and your site 
administrator. 
Shut down air handling systems in the building if possible. 
If possible, list all people who were in the room or area, especially those who had actual contact with the powder. Give the list to 
both the local police and public health authorities so that proper instructions can be given for medical follow-up and further 
investigation. 
 
DO NOT PANIC 
 
Anthrax organisms can cause infection in the skin, gastrointestinal system, or the lungs. In order for this to happen, the organism 
must be rubbed into abraded skin, swallowed, or inhaled as a fine, aerosolized mist. Disease can be prevented after exposure to the 
anthrax spores by early treatment with the appropriate antibiotics. Anthrax is not spread from one person to another person. 
 
For anthrax to be effective as a covert agent, it must be aerosolized into very small particles. This is difficult to do and requires a 
great deal of technical skill and special equipment. If these small particles are inhaled, life threatening lung infection can occur, but 
prompt recognition and treatment are effective. 
 
Botulism 
 
Botulism infection is extremely rare, with fewer than 200 cases reported in the U.S. each year. There are two forms of botulism 
which are associated with a terrorist act: 
 
Food Borne Botulism 
 
The bacterium is ingested with the contaminated food source. 
 
Symptoms begin within 6 hours to 2 weeks, but most commonly between 12 to 36 hours after eating contaminated foods. 
 
Double or blurred vision, drooping eyelids, slurred speck, difficulty swallowing, dry mouth, and a descending muscle weakness that 
affects the shoulders first, then upper arms, lower arms, thighs, calves, etc. 
 
These symptoms may be proceeded by gastrointestinal disorder such as abdominal cramps, nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea. 
Paralysis of the respiratory muscles will cause death unless the person is assisted by mechanical ventilation. Botulism toxin can occur 
naturally in undercooked food, but the frequency of this is extremely rare. 
 
Inhalational Botulism 
 
Inhalation botulism results from the inhalation of the aerosolized toxin. A small amount of aerosolized toxin released into the wind 
can have a devastating effect on the surrounding population. Notwithstanding, inhalational botulism could be inflicted upon a more 
limited number of victims by introducing a contaminated object into an enclosed area such as inside of a building. The symptoms are 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 50 of 57 9/30/24 
 

indistinguishable from those of food borne botulism, except that the gastrointestinal signs sometimes associated with food borne 
botulism may not occur. 
 
Botulism cannot be transmitted from one person to another. There is no vaccine for botulism treatment at this time. However, 
treatment consists of passive immunization with equine anti-toxins and supportive patient care. 
 
Smallpox 
 
Smallpox infection results from the variola virus. The disease was once worldwide in scope. Before people were vaccinated, almost 
everyone contracted the disease. The virus was effectively eradicated from the world in the late 1970's, and the World Health 
Organization recommended governments cease routine vaccinations in 1980. 
 
Vaccination has proven effective in preventing the disease in exposed persons if administered within 4 days of exposure. 
 
Smallpox is a highly contagious infectious disease that has a mortality rate of about 30%. Since the 
discontinuation of vaccination in the early 1980's, virtually no one is protected against the disease today. The U.S. government is 
currently working to address the need for vaccinations. There is no proven treatment should infection occur.  
 
Immunization and Mass Prophylaxis Pandemic and Bio Terrorism 
This Bio-Terrorism Support Plan (Plan) provides basic steps to guide designated Lakeside Union School District County Public Health 
Department, City of Lakeside and Health Services school district officials in establishing middle and high schools as immunization 
centers (mass prophylaxis centers) contingent upon a Memorandum of Understanding being signed. 
 
This Plan is a living document subject to periodic revisions when needed. 
 
In the event of a bio-terrorism outbreak and based upon the Metropolitan Medical Response Plan, local officials will have 
determined which areas within the city to be quarantined, hot and cold zones. A quarantined area is defined as a specified area 
where isolation is enforced. A hot zone is defined as a contaminated area. A cold zone is an unaffected area. 
 
Once the situation has been assessed and Public Health identifies the need to open an immunization center (mass prophylaxis 
center), then Public Health will contact the city. Subsequently, the City will contact the school district emergency contact to begin 
the process of coordinating the opening of an immunization center (mass prophylaxis center). 
 
Preparedness Steps 
 
The following provides guidelines for school district management in preparing, in advance, issues that need to be addressed during 
non-emergency times to ensure school district and school site readiness. 
Statement of Agreement signed by San Diego County Public Health Department, City and school district 
Examine the Public Health Department's Liability Coverage for using school district sites as mass prophylaxis centers. 
Establish that the City will provide security for the school district site 
Define how long the Immunization center (mass prophylaxis center) can be open and what type of furnishings are needed for the 
center. 
Ensure a manager is provided by the Public Health Department to oversee center operations Identify the need to train site personnel 
in administering inoculations and agree upon how these 
individuals will be compensated for their time by the Public Health Department Establish who will be responsible for clean up 
 
Public Health Department contacts City OES who then initiates contact with appropriate School district authorized contact (see 
emergency contact list for school district) 
 
1) Superintendent's Office: Lisa DeRosier  
 
2) School District Security: Todd Owens  
 
3) Custodial Services or Facilities: Todd Owens  
 
The City OES informs Police Department that authorization has been given to open the appropriate site(s). Only gymnasiums will be 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 51 of 57 9/30/24 
 

utilized. The school district official then follows the guidelines shown below: 
 
Authorized school official contact will inform Superintendent or designee of the opening of the school site(s) as an immunization 
center (mass prophylaxis center). 
If school is not in session or if mass prophylaxis center opening occurs after hours, school site personnel or authorized City Police 
Department will be present to actually unlock the site for Public Health Department 
Establish that the City will provide security for the school district site 
Contact principal of the school site being converted into an immunization center (mass prophylaxis center) 
Prior to turning school site over to the Public Health Department as a mass prophylaxis center, school site personnel will: 

• Perform a site check to record current condition of the area to be used as an immunization center (mass prophylaxis 
center) 

• Inventory usable materials within the center's designated area (see Site Inventory form in this section), i.e. toilet tissues, 
paper towels, soap 

• Ensure all other areas of the school site are not accessible to mass prophylaxis center personnel or public 
SCHOOL DISTRICT site personnel will unlock the school site upon arrival of Public Health Department and their staff 
 
Closing the Center 
 
Upon closing of the center, the Public Health Department ensures the site is secure and center manager has tracked school supplies 
and materials used. 
 
School site personnel compares supplies and materials used, physical property loss and damages 
Both Public Health Department City and school site personnel inspect shelter site for -Material and supplies used 

• Property loss 
• Property damage 

When inspection is completed, school site personnel gives Business Services Department a report of materials used and property 
damaged/loss (photograph) 
Business Services 

• Gives property loss/damage to Risk Management to determine cost of property loss and repair costs 
• Formalizes letter Public Health Department to file a claim covering loss and material usage 

 
 
 
Bomb Threat/ Threat Of violence 
Bomb Threat 
THE PERSON RECEIVING THE BOMB THREAT WILL: 
 
Attempt to gain as much information as possible when the threat is received. Do not hang up on the caller. 
Use the "bomb threat checklist" form (attached) as a guide to collect the information needed. Don't be bashful about asking direct, 
specific questions about the threat. Keep the caller on the phone as long as possible. If the threat is received by phone, attempt to 
gain more information. 
The most important information is: 
When will the bomb explode and where is the bomb located? 
Immediately after receiving the bomb threat, the person receiving the call will verbally notify the building administrator of the threat 
received. Complete the "bomb threat checklist" form (attached). Turn off cellular phones and/or walkie-talkie radios (transmits radio 
waves--could trigger a bomb). 
 
BUILDING ADMINISTRATOR WILL (IF NECESSARY): 
 
 Call 9-1-1. Give the following information: 

• Your name -Your call-back phone number 
• Exact street location with the nearest cross street 
• Nature of incident 
• Number and location of people involved and/or injured Notify Superintendent's Office. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 52 of 57 9/30/24 
 

Evacuate involved buildings using fire drill procedures. Principal must have Superintendent's permission to evacuate the entire site. 
Implement a systematic inspection of the facilities to determine if everyone is out. 
Fire Department or Police Officers shall organize a search team to check for suspicious objects; a bomb can be disguised to look like 
any common object. Site employees should be ready to assist as needed. 
Maintain an open telephone line for communications. 
Secure all exits to prevent re-entry to buildings during the search period. 
Be certain people stay clear of all buildings; a bomb(s) may be planted against an outside wall. The blast will be directed in large part 
away from the building. Re-occupy buildings only when proper authorities give clearance 
 
 
 
Earthquake 
B. Earthquake: Drop, Cover, and Hold 
Earthquake procedures in the classroom or office 
 
At the first indication of ground movement, you should DROP to the ground. It will soon be impossible to stand upright during the 
earthquake. Getting to the ground will prevent being thrown to the ground. 
 
You should seek protective COVER under or near desks, tables, or chairs in a kneeling or sitting position. 
 
You should HOLD onto the table or chair legs. Holding onto the legs will prevent it from moving away from you during the quake. 
Protect your eyes from flying glass and debris with your arm covering your eyes. 
 
You should remain in the DROP position until ground movement ends. Be prepared to DROP, COVER and HOLD during aftershocks. 
 
After ground movement ends, check for injuries and safely evacuate the building. Move to a safe, open area, away from power lines 
and other overhead hazards. 
 
Earthquake procedures in other parts of the building 
 
At the first indication of ground movement, you should DROP to the ground. 
 
Take COVER under any available desk, table, or bench. If in a hallway, drop next to an inside wall in a kneeling position and cover the 
back of the neck with your hands. 
 
After ground movement ends, check for injuries and safely evacuate the building. Move to a safe, open area, away from power lines 
and other overhead hazards. 
 
Earthquake procedures while outside 
 
At the first indication of ground movement, move away from overhead hazards such as power lines, trees, and buildings. DROP to 
the ground and COVER the back of the neck with your hands. Be aware of aftershocks. Do not enter buildings until it is determined 
safe to do so. 
 
If walking to or from school, DO NOT RUN. Stay in the open. If the student is going to school, continue to the school. If going home, 
the student should continue to home. 
 
While in a vehicle or school bus, pull over to the side of the road and stop. If on a bridge, overpass, or under power lines, continue 
on until the vehicle is away from the overhead dangers. Wait until the ground movement stops and check for injuries. Be aware of 
aftershocks, downed wires, or roads blocked by debris. The Bus Driver is legally responsible for the welfare of student riders. 
 
 
Fire in Surrounding Area 
Fire Near School 
 
The Principal or designee shall: 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 53 of 57 9/30/24 
 

 
Determine the need to execute an evacuation if nearby fire poses an immediate threat to the students or the building. 
Notify the Fire Department by calling 911. 
Notify the Superintendent's office. 
Notify students and staff when it is safe to return to the school site under the direction of the Fire Department and in consultation 
with the Superintendent or designee. 
 
 
 
Fire on School Grounds 
Fire 
All classrooms and offices shall have an Emergency Exit sign and Evacuation Chart posted in a prominent location. 
 
Fire Within A School Building: 
 
In the event that a fire is detected within a school building, use the following procedures: 
 
 The Principal or Designee will: 

• Order an evacuation if the fire alarm doesn't work 
• Call 9-1-1 
• Notify the superintendent 

Teachers will supervise the evacuation of the classrooms to the designated areas according to the Emergency Exit Plan posted in 
every classroom and office. 
Teachers will close doors upon evacuating. 
Search and rescue teams will assist any child or adult with mobility issues. 
Teachers will take their roll books to the evacuation site and take roll. Teachers will report any missing student(s) to their Team 
Supervisor/Administrator. 
The Head Custodian or designees shall assist by shutting off gas valves, electricity, etc., or other if necessary for evacuating, putting 
out the fire, etc. 
The Head Custodian or designee shall open necessary gates for fire truck and other emergency vehicle access when appropriate. The 
Head Custodian or designee will also keep access entrances open for emergency vehicles. 
 Notify students and staff when it is safe to return to the school site under the direction of the Fire Department and in consultation 
with the Superintendent or designee. 
 
 
Loss or Failure Of Utilities 
Power Outage/Rolling Blackouts 
IT IS THE DISTRICT'S INTENT THAT SCHOOLS WILL REMAIN OPEN DURING A POWER OUTAGE. 
 
There are several stages of alerts that are being broadcast over the radio: 
 
STAGE 1 EMERGENCY indicates that the operating reserves in the real time market are forecasted to be less than the California 
Independent System Operator (CAISO) Minimum Operating Reserves criteria. 
STAGE 2 EMERGENCY indicates that the operating reserves in the real time market are forecasted to be less than five (5) percent. 
STAGE 3 EMERGENCY indicates that the operating reserves in the real time market are forecasted to be less than 1.5 percent. 
 
If the district is notified of a STAGE 3 EMERGENCY, possible-affected sites will be contacted as soon as practicable. Once notified, 
turn off PCs, monitors, printers, copiers, and lights when not in use or not needed. If you cannot turn off the whole computer, turn 
off the monitor and the printer. Shut off lights in unoccupied rooms. In spite of everyone's best effort to communicate, it is possible 
that an outage will occur with no notice to the district. To keep abreast of the daily situation, listen to 740AM (KCBS) radio station as 
you are driving into work for the status of the day. 
 
PREPARING FOR AN OUTAGE 
 
Update each student's emergency card. 
Determine availability of portable lighting at site, i.e. flashlights & batteries. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 54 of 57 9/30/24 
 

Find out that when power is lost, do emergency lights go on and do the "Exit" signs remain lit? 
Clear away materials and boxes from hallways and pathways. 
Check school district's PG&E Block list to determine in which PG&E block your site is located. As a note, Block 50's power will not be 
interrupted. 
Ask your teachers to have alternative teaching methods and plans to be used at STAGE 3 only. Conduct a survey of your site for the 
classrooms and offices with no windows and prepare relocation plans. 
Plan alternative communication methods that suit your site, such as runners, cell phones, or radios. Develop a site plan such as a 
buddy system or chaperone, for restrooms or any other necessary leave during this period. 
Have flashlights & replacement batteries available for the restrooms and other locations with no windows. 
Ask your staff and students to have seasonal warm clothing available. 
Use surge protectors for all computer equipment, major appliances and electronic devices. If you have electric smoke detectors, use 
a battery-powered smoke detector as a backup. 
 
DURING AN OUTAGE 
 
CONTACT MAINTENANCE & OPERTIONS IMMEDIATELY IF YOUR SITE IS EXPERIENCING A BLACKOUT. 
According to SBC (Telephone Company), phones connected directly to a phone jack will be operable. 
Phones that require power from an electrical outlet will not work. 
If an outage lasts more than 30 minutes, have pre-designated people walk through the campus and check on the status of 
individuals in each building. 
Use a buddy system when going to the restrooms. 
DO NOT USE barbecues, Coleman-type stoves, hibachis and other outdoor-cooking devices indoors. 
DO NOT USE candles or gas lanterns. 
Turn off PCs, monitors, printers, copiers, major appliances and lights when not in use or not needed. If you cannot turn off the whole 
computer, turn off the monitor and the printer. Shut off lights in unoccupied rooms. 
 
The rolling outages should not last more than two hours, and, with some preparation, business can be conducted as close to normal 
as possible. 
 
If a power outage is prolonged, the principal should contact the Superintendent for directions (release students/staff, evacuation to 
another site, etc.). 
 
 
 
Psychological Trauma 
It is critical to provide a mental health response for students, staff and parents after a crisis that has impacted a school. Often, this 
can be provided by district or local community resources. 
 
Victims of a crisis experience a real need to return to normal, but normal as they once knew it is forever gone and changed. 
Counselors and crisis survivors find the concept of a "new normal" to be very reassuring and accurate. 
 
One of the most important actions is simply to listen and allow victims to express his/her own needs and feelings. Encouragement 
and support, while avoiding judgmental remarks, is the goal. 
 
When the needs of the victims exceed the immediate resources available to the school, San Diego County Mental Health and the 
agencies working under its umbrella is available to support schools. 
 
Numerous agencies under the San Diego County Mental Health Department umbrella currently provide ongoing mental health 
services to students and families both at schools and within the neighborhood communities. These services are provided by licensed 
therapists, social workers or supervised interns. The services typically involve a one-on-one or family-oriented approach requiring a 
different skill set than an emergency mental health response to a community or school crisis. 
 
JOINT PROTOCOLS: 
 
To best prepare for and manage the mental health recovery phase within the San Diego  County though Memorandums of 
Understanding with agencies who would provide crisis responses. The M.O.U. would include the followings: 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 55 of 57 9/30/24 
 

 
Schools and/or school districts require, as part of their Memorandums of Understanding with agencies and/or universities, all 
interns, therapists and mental health workers complete a crisis response training with the San Diego  County Mental Health 
Department before reporting to their assigned campuses.   In the event of a major crisis at a school site, or multiple school sites, the 
school district will determine if additional mental health support is required or anticipated. The District or School Logistics Officer or 
designee can notify the Ethnic Population Services Specialist at the San Diego  County Mental Health Department. A licensed mental 
health representative will immediately be sent to the incident location to conduct an initial assessment and make recommendations 
to the school/district and Mental Health Department and its partnering agencies as to the requirements for a responding mental 
health team(s). 
The lead supervisor will work in concert with the school/district representative to help identify appropriate teams/agencies that can 
best address the needs of students, staff and families. 
The lead supervisor will work in concert with the school/district representative to ensure that teams have the correct credentials, 
provide appropriate triage services that do not compromise police/fire investigations and are rotated to avoid fatigue. 
In police, fire or district debriefings with school staff, parents and impacted students, a representative from the San Diego  County 
Mental Health Department or one of the partnering agencies will be in attendance in order to make referrals for support services as 
required by the attendees. 
In keeping with research on the predictable response to crisis situations, call center numbers will be provided in order that members 
of the community can access necessary support in the days, weeks and months beyond the event. 
 
 
Tactical Responses to Criminal Incidents 
Shelter-In-Place 
Shelter in Place may be directed should there be a danger in the community that could present a danger to the school community or 
a situation at the school that could harm students or staff if they are outdoors. Incidents could include gas leaks, chemical spills, 
mountain lions or a predator in the neighborhood. 
 
When instructed or when an alerting system triggers a Shelter in Place: 
 
 SHELTER. Go inside the nearest building or classroom and remain there. Lock the door. You are looking for enclosed protection from 
the outside. Teachers should quickly check halls and get students into classrooms. Teachers will keep all students in the classroom 
until the emergency is resolved or directed to evacuate by the Principal and/or Public Safety Responders. 
SHUT. Close all doors and windows. The tighter and more complete the seal the better. Close as many windows and doors between 
the outside and your shelter-in-place room as possible. 
LISTEN. Remain quiet to hear critical instructions from school officials. 

• If there is no direction, continue instructional/work activities until the situation resolves or you directed to do otherwise. 
 
ADDITIONAL STEPS FOR TEACHERS AND STAFF IF APPROPRIATE: 
 
Advise students to cover mouth and nose with a damp cloth or handkerchief to protect from any airborne hazards. 
A school official (or student if no official present) should close all vents and turn off ventilation systems. The goal is to keep inside air 
in and outside air out. Air conditioners and heating systems bring outside air in. 
Turn off all motors and fans. Still, non-moving air is best. Turn off anything that creates wind, generates extra heat, or could 
generate sparks. 
Advise students to remain sheltered until the "all-clear" signal is given by a school or local official. 
 
Intruder on Campus 
The campus intruder is defined as a non-student or a student on suspension who loiters or creates disturbances on school property. 
Intruders are committing the crime of Criminal Trespass. Dangerous and/or concealed weapons are forbidden on school premises 
unless carried by law enforcement officers. 
 
Low Level: 
Have the person(s) under suspicion kept under constant covert surveillance. 
Approach and greet the intruder in a polite and non-threatening manner. 
Identify yourself as a school official. 
Ask the intruder for identification. 
Ask them what their purpose is for being on campus. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 56 of 57 9/30/24 
 

Advise intruder of the trespass laws. 
Ask the intruder to quietly leave the campus or invite him/her to accompany you to the office. If the intruder refuses to respond to 
your requests, inform him/her of your intention to summon law enforcement officers. 
If the intruder gives no indication of voluntarily leaving the premises, notify Police and Administration.  
H. Hostage Situation 
Staff and students should sit quietly if the situation is in their presence. TRY to remain calm. Staff should set the example if the 
armed intruder is in their presence by doing anything possible for the staff member and students to survive. If gun fire starts, staff 
and students should seek cover or begin rapid movement procedures. 
 
 Do not engage in a conversation or try to persuade the intruder to leave your classroom or school. Remember, you are in an illogical 
situation, so any logical argument may go unheard. The intruder is probably aware of the potential danger that he/she would be 
facing if he/she left the classroom. The intruder may perceive himself/herself as being sane. 
 If the intruder speaks to you or to your students, then answer him or her. Do not provoke him or her. Don't try to take matters into 
your own hands. Students should be told not to whisper to one-another, laugh, or to make fun of the intruder. Remember, the 
intruder is disturbed and probably mentally ill, and more than likely paranoid. Any whispering or laughter may be perceived by the 
intruder as directed at him or her. 
 Students should be taught to respond on their own when threatened. Incidents can occur which leave no time for signals. If 
students are outside unable to find access a room, they should, depending on the situation, initiate Action "TAKE COVER" position or 
run in a zig-zag fashion to the staging areas and 
STAY CALM. 
 If and when possible, call Administration and/or 9-1-1.  
 
Emergency Evacuation Procedures 
In an Emergency Building Evacuation all employees will: 
 
Upon emergency alert, secure work area and depart/report to assigned area. 
Perform duties as pre-assigned by the Principal in cooperation with emergency services personnel. 
DO NOT re-enter the building without permission or request of emergency service authorities. 
Remain in the general assembly areas and calm students if not assigned another duty. 
When signaled to re-enter safe areas of the school, quickly do so. 
Upon safe re-entry, report anything amiss to the Operations Chief. 
 
In an Emergency Building Evacuation teachers will also: 
 
Upon alert, assemble students for evacuation using designated routes and account for all students. 
Secure room. 
If possible, leave a note on the door advising where the class evacuated to if other than the standard assembly area. 
Upon arrival at the assembly area, account for all students. 
Secure medical treatment for injured students. 
Report any students missing or left behind because of serious injuries. 
Stay with and calm students. 
If signaled to re-enter school, assure students do so quickly and calmly. Account for all students. 
Check room and report anything amiss to the Team Leader and/or Operations Chief. Debrief students to calm fears about the 
evacuation. 
 
Emergency Campus Evacuation 
 
If it is necessary to evacuate the entire campus to another school or relief center, the Principal will: 
 
Notify the Superintendent of the Campus Evacuation. 
Cooperate with emergency authorities in enlisting students/staff with cars to help transport evacuees. Direct the evacuation, assure 
all students/staff are accounted for as they depart and arrive. 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 57 of 57 9/30/24 
 

 
Emergency Evacuation Map 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 1 of 54 9/30/24 
 

 
 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 
 

2024-2025 
School Year 

 
 

School: Tierra del Sol Middle School 

CDS Code:  37-68189-6085047 

District: Lakeside Union School District 

Address:  9611 Petite Ln. 
Lakeside, CA 92040 

Date of Adoption: October 2017 

Date of Update: September 25,2024 

Date of Review:  

   - with Staff 9/26/24 

   - with Law Enforcement  

   - with Fire Authority  
 

Approved by: 
Name Title Signature Date 

Leslie Hardiman Principal 

 

 

Paula Macias Vice-Principal   

Nickie Corley Counselor   

Beverly Warford Attendance Clerk   

Kim Klinko Teacher   

Eva Johnson Teacher   
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2 of 54 9/30/24 
 

 
Table of Contents 

 
Comprehensive School Safety Plan Purpose ..............................................................................................................................................4 

Safety Plan Vision .......................................................................................................................................................................................4 

(A) Child Abuse Reporting Procedures (EC 35294.2 [a] [2]; PC 11166) ..................................................................................................6 

(B) Disaster Procedures (EC 35295-35297; GC 8607 and 3100) .............................................................................................................7 

(C) School Suspension, Expulsion and Mandatory Expulsion Guidelines .............................................................................................18 

(D) Procedures to Notify Teachers of Dangerous Pupils (EC 49079) ....................................................................................................22 

(E) Sexual Harassment Policies (EC 212.6 [b]) ......................................................................................................................................22 

(F) School-wide Dress Code Relating to Gang-Related Apparel (EC 35183) .........................................................................................25 

(G) Procedure for Safe Ingress and Egress of Pupils, Parents, and Staff to and from School (EC 35294.2) .........................................26 

(I) School Discipline Rules and Consequences (EC 35291 and EC 35291.5) .........................................................................................27 

(J) Procedures to Prepare for Active Shooters .....................................................................................................................................29 

Procedures for Preventing Acts of Bullying and Cyber-bullying ...........................................................................................................31 

Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures .................................................................................................................35 

Safety Plan Appendices ............................................................................................................................................................................36 

Emergency Contact Numbers ..............................................................................................................................................................37 

Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures .............................................................................................................38 

Tierra del Sol Middle School Incident Command System ....................................................................................................................39 

Incident Command Team Responsibilities ...........................................................................................................................................40 

Emergency Response Guidelines .........................................................................................................................................................41 

Step One: Identify the Type of Emergency ..........................................................................................................................................41 

Step Two: Identify the Level of Emergency ..........................................................................................................................................41 

Step Three: Determine the Immediate Response Action ....................................................................................................................41 

Step Four: Communicate the Appropriate Response Action ...............................................................................................................41 

Types of Emergencies & Specific Procedures .......................................................................................................................................42 

Armed Assault on Campus ...............................................................................................................................................................42 

Biological or Chemical Release .........................................................................................................................................................42 

Bomb Threat/ Threat Of violence ....................................................................................................................................................48 

Earthquake .......................................................................................................................................................................................49 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 3 of 54 9/30/24 
 

Fire in Surrounding Area ..................................................................................................................................................................49 

Fire on School Grounds ....................................................................................................................................................................50 

Loss or Failure Of Utilities ................................................................................................................................................................50 

Psychological Trauma .......................................................................................................................................................................51 

Tactical Responses to Criminal Incidents .........................................................................................................................................52 

Emergency Evacuation Map .................................................................................................................................................................54 

 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 4 of 54 9/30/24 
 

 
Comprehensive School Safety Plan Purpose 
 
Effective January 1, 2019, Assembly Bill 1747 (Rodriguez), School Safety Plans, became law. This bill requires that during the writing 
and development of the comprehensive school safety plan (CSSP), the school site council or safety committee consult with a fire 
department and other first responder entities in addition to currently required entities. It requires the CSSP and any updates made 
to the plan to be shared with the law enforcement agency, the fire department, and the other first responder entities. 
 
The California Education Code (sections 32280-32288) outlines the requirements of all schools operating any kindergarten and any 
grades 1 to 12, inclusive, to write and develop a school safety plan relevant to the needs and resources of that particular school. 
 
In 2004, the Legislature and Governor recast and renumbered the Comprehensive School Safety Plan provisions in SB 719 and AB 
115. It is the intent ofthe Legislature in enacting the provisions to support California public schools as they develop their mandated 
comprehensive safety plans that are the result of a systematic planning process, that include strategies aimed at the prevention of, 
and education about, potential incidents involving crime and violence on school campuses. 
 
The historical requirement of the Comprehensive School Safety Plan was presented in Senate Bill 187, which was approved by the 
Governor and chaptered in 1997. This legislation contained a sunset clause that stated that this legislation would remain in effect 
only until January I, 2000. Senate Bill 334 was approved and chaptered in 1999 and perpetuated this legislation under the 
requirement of the initial legislation. 
 
Comprehensive School Safety Plans are required under SB 719 & AB 115 and contains the following elements: 
 
Assessment of school crime committed on school campuses and at school-related functions 

• Child abuse reporting procedures 
• Disaster procedures 
• Suspension and expulsion policies 
• Procedures to notify teachers of dangerous pupils 
• Discrimination and harassment policies 
• School wide dress code policies 
• Procedures for safe ingress and egress 
• Policies enacted to maintain a safe and orderly environment 
• Rules and procedures on school discipline 
• Hate crime reporting procedures 

 
The Comprehensive School Safety Plan will be reviewed and updated by March 1st every year. In July of every year, the school will 
report on the status of its school safety plan including a description of its key elements in the annual school accountability report 
card. 
 
A copy of the Comprehensive School Safety Plan is available for review at . 
 
Safety Plan Vision 
The Comprehensive School Safety Plan Process & Templates is designed to be utilized as a school resource for 
prevention/mitigation, preparedness, response and recovery planning and training as well as functioning as a template for meeting 
the requirements for the annual Safety Plan Process under SB 187 and the National incident Management System. It is designed to 
be an electronic or hard-copy Safety Plan. The template is also designed as a living document to be updated as necessary to meet 
site, district and community needs, forms or requirements. 
 
Individual schools in districts over 2,500 students must adopt a comprehensive school safety plan by March 1, 2000, and must 
review and update the plan by March 1 of every year thereafter. (Amended Ed. Codes 35294.1 & 35294.6) 
 
Beginning July 1, 2000, each individual school must report on the status of its school safety plan, including a description of its key 
elements in the school accountability report card, and must continue to do so every July thereafter. (Amended Ed. Code 35294.6) 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 5 of 54 9/30/24 
 

The following guideline may be utilized to support the annual review and evaluation of the individual school safety plan. This guide 
will also provide a time line and related administrative tasks to provide a process to ensure compliance with the requirements of 
Senate Bill 187, Comprehensive School Safety Plan. 
 
The guideline/checklist has been organized into two parts: 
 
An assessment by the School Safety Planning Committee of the School Site Council, the School Site Council or equivalent of the 
school climate in relation to the current status of school crime committed on campus and at school related functions. Based on this 
assessment, safety goals will be set for the upcoming school year 
 
The annual review and evaluation of the school comprehensive safety plan which is certified by the members of the School Safety 
Planning Committee, the School Site Council President, and the school Principal before being presented to the Board of Trustees for 
final review and adoption. This review includes the following mandated components of Senate Bill 187: 
 
Child Abuse reporting procedures 
Policies pursuant to Education Code 48915(c) and other school-designated serious acts which would 
lead to suspension, expulsion, or mandatory expulsion recommendations 
Procedures to notify teachers and counselors of dangerous students 
Sexual Harassment Policy 
Safe ingress and egress to and from school 
Rules and procedures on school discipline in order to create a safe and orderly environment conducive to learning 
Dress Code 
Routine and emergency disaster procedures including natural disasters, human created disasters or power outages. 
 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 6 of 54 9/30/24 
 

 
(A) Child Abuse Reporting Procedures (EC 35294.2 [a] [2]; PC 11166) 
A. Definition of Child Abuse 
 
Child abuse means a physical injury that is inflicted by other than accidental on a child by another person. Child Abuse also means 
the sexual abuse of a child or any act or omission pertaining to child abuse reporting laws (willful cruelty, unjustifiable punishment of 
a child, unlawful corporal punishment or injury). Child abuse also means the physical or emotional neglect of a child or abuse in out-
of-home care. 
 
1. Child Abuse 
Injury inflicted by another person 
Sexual Abuse 
Neglect of child's physical, health, and emotional needs. 
Unusual and willful cruelty; unjustifiable punishment. Unlawful corporal punishment. 
 
2. Not Considered Child Abuse 
Mutual affray between minors 
Injury caused by reasonable and necessary force used by a peace officer: 
To quell a disturbance threatening physical injury to a person or damage property 
To prevent physical injury to another person or damage to property 
For purposes of self-defense 
To obtain possession of weapons or other dangerous objects within the control of a child To apprehend an escapee 
 
B. Mandated Child Abuse Reporting 
Any child care custodian, health practitioner, or employee of a child protective agency who has knowledge of or observes a child in 
his or her professional capacity or within the scope of his or her employment whom he or she knows or reasonably suspects has 
been the victim of child abuse shall report the known or suspected instance of child abuse to a child protective agency by telephone 
and written report: 
The telephone call must be made immediately or as soon as practicably possible by telephone. 
AND 
A written report must be sent within 36 hours of the telephone call to the child protective agency.   Any child care custodian, health 
practitioner, or employee of a child protective agency who has knowledge of or who reasonably suspects mental suffering has been 
inflicted on a child or his or her emotional well-being is endangered in any other way, may report such known or suspected instance 
of child abuse to a child protective agency. 
When two or more persons who are required to report are present and jointly knowledge of a known or suspected instance of child 
abuse, and when there is agreement among them, the telephone report may be made by a member of the team selected by mutual 
agreement and a single report may be made and signed by the selected member of the reporting team. Any member who has 
knowledge that the member designated to make the report failed to do so, shall thereafter make such a report. 
The intent and purpose of the law is to protect children from abuse. The definition of a child is any person under 18 years of age. 
This entire section on Child Abuse was been taken from California Laws Relating To Minors manual. 
 
C. Sexual Activity 
 
Child abuse laws change from time to time. Should you suspect that a student is engaged in unlawful sexual activity, please consult 
with the school social worker and campus officer to determine if particular provisions under this section are current and in effect. 
Involuntary sexual activity is always reportable. 
Incest, even if voluntary is always reportable. Incest is a marriage or act of intercourse between parents and children; ancestors and 
descendants of every degree; brothers and sisters of half and whole blood and uncles and nieces or aunts and nephews. (Family 
Code 2200). 
Voluntary Sexual Activity may or may not be reportable. Even if the behavior voluntary, there are circumstances where the behavior 
is abusive, either by Penal Code definition or because of an exploitative relationship, then this behavior must be reported. If there is 
reasonable suspicion of sexual abuse prior to the consensual activity, the abuse must be reported. 
 
Reportable Sexual Activity if a Child is 14 Years of Age and: 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 7 of 54 9/30/24 
 

Partner is younger than 14 years old, but there is a disparity in chronological or maturational age or indications of intimidation, 
coercion or bribery or other indications of an exploitative relationship. Partner is 14 years or older lewd & lascivious acts committed 
by a partner of any age partner is alleged spouse and over 14 years of age. 
 
Reportable Sexual Activity if the Child is 14 or 15 years and: 
There is unlawful sexual intercourse with a partner older than 14 but less than 21 years of age and there is no indication of abuse or 
evidence of an exploitative relationship there is unlawful sexual intercourse with a partner older than 21 years 
There is lewd and lascivious acts committed by a partner more than 10 years older than the child The partner is the alleged spouse 
and over 21 years of age 
 
Reportable Sexual Activity if the Child is 16 or 17 years and: 
The partner is less than 14 years of age 
There is unlawful sexual intercourse with a partner older than 14 and there is evidence of an exploitative relationship 
The partner is the alleged spouse and there is evidence of an exploitative relationship 
 
Reportable Sexual Activity if the Child is under 18 years: 
Sodomy, oral copulation, penetration of a genital or anal opening by a foreign object, even if consensual, with a partner of any age. 
 
Not Reportable Sexual Activity: 
Child is 14 years or younger and partner is younger than 14 years and of similar age or maturational age. Sexual behavior is voluntary 
and consensual. There are no indications of intimidation, coercion, bribery, or other indications of an exploitative relationship. 
Unlawful sexual intercourse of a child 14 to 15-years old with a partner older than 14 and less than 21 years of age and there is no 
indication of abuse or evidence of an exploitative relationship. 
Unlawful sexual intercourse with a child 16 or 17 years with a partner older than 14 and there is no indication of an exploitative 
relationship. 
 
Mandated reports of sexual activity must be reported to either the Department of Family & Children's Services (DFCS) or to the 
appropriate police jurisdiction. This information will then be cross-reported to the other legal agency. 
 
D. Failure to Report Known or Suspected Child Abuse 
 
Failure to report known or reasonable suspicion of child abuse, including sexual abuse, is a misdemeanor. Mandated reporters are 
provided with immunity from civil or criminal liability as a result of making a mandated report of child abuse. 
 
This information has been taken directly from the San Diego  County Child Abuse Council Informational Handout. 
 
E. Child Abuse Reporting Number: (800) 344-6000 
 
F. Staff Training: All staff engage in mandated child abuse reporting training annually. 
 
 
(B) Disaster Procedures (EC 35295-35297; GC 8607 and 3100) 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 8 of 54 9/30/24 
 

Disaster Plan (See Appendix C-F) 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 9 of 54 9/30/24 
 

. Routine and Emergency Disaster Procedures: Drills 
The Basic Plan 
 
The Basic Plan addresses the Lakeside Union School District 's responsibilities in emergencies associated with natural disaster, 
human-caused emergencies and technological incidents. It provides a framework for coordination of response and recovery efforts 
within the District in coordination and with local, State, and Federal agencies. The Plan establishes an emergency organization to 
direct and control operations at all sites during a period of emergency by assigning responsibilities to specific personnel. The Basic 
Plan: 
 
 Conforms to the Federally mandated National Incident Management System (NIMS), State mandated Standardized Emergency 
Management System (SEMS) and effectively restructures emergency response at all levels in compliance with the Incident Command 
System (ICS). 
Establishes response policies and procedures, providing $district_name$ clear guidance for planning purposes. 
Describes and details procedural steps necessary to protect lives and property. 
Outlines coordination requirements. 
Provides a basis for unified training and response exercises to ensure compliance. 
 
Requirements 
 
The Plan meets the requirements of San Diego County's policies on Emergency Response and Planning, the Standardized Emergency 
Management System (SEMS) Operational Area Response, and defines the primary and support roles of the District and individual 
schools in after-incident damage assessment and reporting requirements. 
 
Protect the safety and welfare of students, employees and staff. 
Provide for a safe and coordinated response to emergencies. 
Protect the District's facilities and properties. 
Enable the District to restore normal conditions with minimal confusion in the shortest time possible. Provide for interface and 
coordination between sites and the District Emergency Operations Center (EOC). 
Provide for interface and coordination between sites and the County or city EOC in which they reside. Provide for the orderly 
conversion of pre-designated District sites to American Red Cross shelters, when necessary. 
 
Schools are required by both federal statute and state regulation to be available for shelters following a disaster. The American Red 
Cross (ARC) has access to schools in damaged areas to set up their mass care facilities, and local governments have a right to use 
schools for the same purposes. This requires close cooperation between school officials and ARC or local government 
representatives, and should be planned and arranged for in advance. 
 
Authorities and References - State of California 
 
California Emergency Services Act (Chapter 7, Division 1, Title 2, California Government Code). 
 
The Act provides the basic authorities for conducting emergency operations following a proclamation of Local Emergency, State of 
Emergency, or State of War Emergency by the Governor and/or appropriate local authorities, consistent with the provisions of this 
Act. 
 
California Government Code, Section 3100, Title 1, Division 4, Chapter 4. 
 
States that public employees are disaster service workers, subject to such disaster service activities as may be assigned to them by 
their superiors or by law. The term "public employees" includes all persons employed by the state or any county, city, city and 
county, state agency or public district, excluding aliens legally employed. 
 
California Emergency Plan 
 
Promulgated by the Governor, and published in accordance with the California Emergency Services Act, it provides overall statewide 
authorities and responsibilities, and describes the functions and operations of government at all levels during extraordinary 
emergencies, including wartime. Section 8568 of the Act states, in part, that "...the State Emergency Plan shall be in effect in each 
political subdivision of the state, and the governing body of each political subdivision shall take such action as may be necessary to 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 10 of 54 9/30/24 
 

carry out the provisions thereof." Therefore, local emergency plans are considered extensions of the California Emergency Plan. 
A. Earthquake Drills 
The earthquake emergency procedure system shall, but not be limited to, all of the following: 
 
A school building disaster plan, ready for implementation at any time, for maintaining the safety and care of students and staffs. 
 
A drop procedure. As used in this article, "drop procedure" means an activity whereby each student and staff member take cover 
under a table or desk, dropping to his or her knees, with the head protected by the arms, and the back to the windows. A drop 
procedure practice shall be held at least once each school quarter in elementary schools and at least once a semester in secondary 
schools. 
 
Protective measures to be taken before, during, and following an earthquake. A program to ensure that the students and that both 
the certificated and classified staff are aware of, and properly trained in, the earthquake emergency procedure system. 
(Code of Regulations, Section 35297) 
 
Whenever an earthquake alarm is sounded, all students, teachers and other employees shall immediately begin Duck, Cover and 
Hold procedures: 
 
DUCK, or DROP down on the floor. 
Take COVER under a sturdy desk, table or other furniture with backs to the windows. Protect head and neck with arms. 
HOLD onto the furniture and be prepared to move with it. 
Stay in this position for at least one minute or, in a real situation, until shaking stops. 
 
Evacuation. An Evacuation should NEVER be automatic. There may be more danger outside the building than there is inside. If 
administrative directions are not forthcoming, the teacher will be responsible for assessing the situation and determining if an 
evacuation is required. 
 
Pre-determined evacuation areas should be in open areas, without overhead hazards and removed from potential danger spots 
(covered walkways, large gas mains, chain linked fences [electric shock potential]). 
 
Make it clear that a post-earthquake route differs from a fire evacuation route, and that appropriate nonhazardous alternate routes 
may be needed. 
 
Practice evacuation using alternate routes to the assembly areas. 
 
Students are to remain with their teacher in the evacuation area. Teachers shall take their roll books, take roll once in the evacuation 
area and be prepared to identify missing students to administrators and/first responders. 
 
The principal or designee shall keep a copy of each drill conducted on the Emergency Drill Report form and file a copy with the 
Superintendent/designee. 
 
Standards for a Successful Earthquake Drill: 
 
The Earthquake Alarm can be heard by all staff and students. 
 
Immediately after the earthquake alarm sounds, all students, teachers and other employees shall: 
 
DUCK, or DROP down on the floor. 
Take COVER under a sturdy desk, table or other furniture with backs to the windows. Protect head and neck with arms. 
HOLD onto the furniture and be prepared to move with it. 
 
Evacuations shall occur when directed over the loud speaker by the Principal/designee. When evacuations are included as part of 
the drill, appropriate non-hazardous alternate routes, avoiding building overhangs, electrical wires, large trees, covered walkways, 
etc., shall be utilized by staff and students in order to reach the designated evacuation areas. 
 
Teachers have taken roll once in the evacuation area. Any missing students are immediately reported to the Principal/designee. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 11 of 54 9/30/24 
 

 
Upon sounding of the all clear students and staff return to their appropriate classroom and the teacher takes roll once more. Missing 
students are reported to the attendance office. 
B. Fire Drills 
Whenever the fire alarm is given, all students, teachers and other employees shall quickly leave the building in an orderly manner. 
Teachers shall ascertain that no student remains in the building. Designated evacuation routes shall be posted in each room. 
Teachers shall be prepared to select alternate exits and direct their classes to these exits in the event the designated evacuation 
route is blocked. 
Evacuation areas will be established away from fire lanes. 
Students are to remain with their teacher in the evacuation area. Teachers shall take their roll books, take roll once in the evacuation 
area and be prepared to identify missing students to administrators and/or fire marshals/designees. 
 The principal or designee shall keep a copy of each drill conducted on the Emergency Drill Report form and file a copy with the 
Superintendent/designee. 
 
Standards for a Successful Fire Drill: 
 
The Fire Alarm can be heard by all staff and students. 
Orderly evacuation begins immediately and is completed within 5 minutes of the initial alarm, with minimal congestion at exit gates. 
Evacuation areas will be established away from fire lanes. 
Teachers and students are staged in an orderly fashion away from fire lanes. 
Teachers have taken roll once in the evacuation area. Any missing students are immediately reported to the Principal/designee. 
Upon sounding of the all clear students and staff return to their appropriate classroom and the teacher takes roll once more. Missing 
students are reported to the attendance office. 
C. Active Shooter/Lockdown Drills 
For sites that have had Active shooter Training, conducting an Active shooter Lockdown Drill initially involves more pre-planning and 
organization than conducting other drills. Middle and high schools should conduct an annual drill, which should take no longer than 
40 minutes and impact class time by 20 minutes. Elementary schools should conduct drills every other year (or annually, if the local 
police department has the resources to support the drills). Drills need to be scheduled with your School Resource or Liaison Officers. 
 
There are a number of steps that are recommended in the Active shooter Training in order to successfully conduct your drill. They 
involve: 
 
 Conduct a staff meeting. Plan on a 20 minute timeframe to review expectations and standards in terms of: 
a. Locking doors 
b. Covering windows 
c. Turning off lights 
d. Building barricades 
e. Reviewing classroom and all clear procedures 
f. Reviewing off site evacuation locations 
Send a follow-up reminder memo to your staff. 
Organize your assessment team. This also provides an excellent opportunity for your Critical Response Team to work together with 
police participants in the drill. 
Conduct the assessment. 
Complete follow-up tasks. 
 
Remember, you are setting the tone for the importance of safety for students and staff on your campus. 
VI. Routine and Emergency Disaster Procedures: Overview 
The Basic Plan 
 
The Basic Plan addresses the Lakeside Union School District 's responsibilities in emergencies associated with natural disaster, 
human-caused emergencies and technological incidents. It provides a framework for coordination of response and recovery efforts 
within the District in coordination and with local, State, and Federal agencies. The Plan establishes an emergency organization to 
direct and control operations at all sites during a period of emergency by assigning responsibilities to specific personnel. The Basic 
Plan: 
 
 Conforms to the Federally mandated National Incident Management System (NIMS), State mandated Standardized Emergency 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 12 of 54 9/30/24 
 

Management System (SEMS) and effectively restructures emergency response at all levels in compliance with the Incident Command 
System (ICS). 
Establishes response policies and procedures, providing Lakeside Union School District clear guidance for planning purposes. 
Describes and details procedural steps necessary to protect lives and property. 
Outlines coordination requirements. 
Provides a basis for unified training and response exercises to ensure compliance. 
 
Requirements 
 
The Plan meets the requirements of San Diego County's policies on Emergency Response and Planning, the Standardized Emergency 
Management System (SEMS) Operational Area Response, and defines the primary and support roles of the District and individual 
schools in after-incident damage assessment and reporting requirements. 
 
Protect the safety and welfare of students, employees and staff. 
Provide for a safe and coordinated response to emergencies. 
Protect the District's facilities and properties. 
Enable the District to restore normal conditions with minimal confusion in the shortest time possible. Provide for interface and 
coordination between sites and the District Emergency Operations Center (EOC). 
Provide for interface and coordination between sites and the County or city EOC in which they reside. Provide for the orderly 
conversion of pre-designated District sites to American Red Cross shelters, when necessary. 
 
Schools are required by both federal statute and state regulation to be available for shelters following a disaster. The American Red 
Cross (ARC) has access to schools in damaged areas to set up their mass care facilities, and local governments have a right to use 
schools for the same purposes. This requires close cooperation between school officials and ARC or local government 
representatives, and should be planned and arranged for in advance. 
 
Authorities and References - State of California 
 
California Emergency Services Act (Chapter 7, Division 1, Title 2, California Government Code). 
 
The Act provides the basic authorities for conducting emergency operations following a proclamation of Local Emergency, State of 
Emergency, or State of War Emergency by the Governor and/or appropriate local authorities, consistent with the provisions of this 
Act. 
 
California Government Code, Section 3100, Title 1, Division 4, Chapter 4. 
 
States that public employees are disaster service workers, subject to such disaster service activities as may be assigned to them by 
their superiors or by law. The term "public employees" includes all persons employed by the state or any county, city, city and 
county, state agency or public district, excluding aliens legally employed. 
 
California Emergency Plan 
 
Promulgated by the Governor, and published in accordance with the California Emergency Services Act, it provides overall statewide 
authorities and responsibilities, and describes the functions and operations of government at all levels during extraordinary 
emergencies, including wartime. Section 8568 of the Act states, in part, that "...the State Emergency Plan shall be in effect in each 
political subdivision of the state, and the governing body of each political subdivision shall take such action as may be necessary to 
carry out the provisions thereof." Therefore, local emergency plans are considered extensions of the California Emergency Plan. 
A. Definition: Incidents, Emergencies, Disasters 
Incident 
 
An incident is an occurrence or event, either human-caused or caused by natural phenomena, that requires action by emergency 
response personnel to prevent or minimize loss of life or damage to property and/or natural resources. 
 
Incidents may result in extreme peril to the safety of persons and property and may lead to, or create conditions of disaster. 
Incidents may also be rapidly mitigated without loss or damage. Although they may not meet disaster level definition, larger 
incidents may call for managers to proclaim a "Local Emergency". 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 13 of 54 9/30/24 
 

 
Incidents are usually a single event that may be small or large. They occur in a defined geographical area and require local resources 
or, sometimes, mutual aid. There is usually one to a few agencies involved in dealing with an ordinary threat to life and property and 
to a limited population. Usually a local emergency is not declared and the jurisdictional EOC is not activated. Incidents are usually of 
short duration, measured in hours or, at most, a few days. Primary command decisions are made at the scene along with strategy, 
tactics, and resource management decisions 
 
Emergency 
 
The term emergency is used in several ways. It is a condition of disaster or of extreme peril to the safety of persons and property. In 
this context, an emergency and an incident could mean the same thing, although an emergency could have more than one incident 
associated with it. 
 
Emergency is also used in Standardized Emergency Management System (SEMS) terminology to describe agencies or facilities, e.g., 
Emergency Response Agency, Emergency Operations Center, etc. 
 
Emergency also defines a conditional state such as a proclamation of "Local Emergency". The California Emergency Services Act, of 
which SEMS is a part, describes three states of emergency: 
 
State of War Emergency 
State of Emergency 
State of Local Emergency 
 
Disaster 
 
A disaster is defined as sudden calamitous emergency event bringing great damage, loss, or destruction. Disasters may occur with 
little or no advance warning, e.g., an earthquake or a flash flood, or they may develop from one or more incidents, e.g., a major 
wildfire or hazardous materials discharge. 
 
Disasters are either single or multiple events that have many separate incidents associated with them. The resource demand goes 
beyond local capabilities and extensive mutual aid and support are needed. There are many agencies and jurisdictions involved 
including multiple layers of government. There is usually an extraordinary threat to life and property affecting a generally 
widespread population and geographical area. A disaster's effects last over a substantial period of time (days to weeks) and local 
government will proclaim a Local Emergency. Emergency Operations Centers are activated to provide centralized overall 
coordination of jurisdictional assets, departments and incident support functions. Initial recovery coordination is also a responsibility 
of the EOCs.  
 
B. Earthquake Overview 
Major Earthquake Threat Summary 
 
Earthquakes are sudden releases of strain energy stored in the earth's bedrock. The great majority of earthquakes are not dangerous 
to life or property either because they occur in sparsely populated areas or because they are small earthquakes that release 
relatively small amounts of energy. However, where urban areas are located in regions of high seismicity, damaging earthquakes are 
expectable, if not predictable, events. Every occupant and developer in San Diego County assumes seismic risk because the County is 
within an area of high seismicity. More than ten severe earthquakes have impacted San Francisco Bay Region during historic times. 
 
The major effects of earthquakes are ground shaking and ground failure. Severe earthquakes are characteristically accompanied by 
surface faulting. Flooding may be triggered by dam or levee failure resulting from an earthquake, or by seismically induced 
settlement or subsidence. All of these geologic effects are capable of causing property damage and, more importantly, risks to life 
and safety of persons. 
 
A fault is a fracture in the earth's crust along which rocks on opposite sides have moved relative to each other. Active faults have 
high probability of future movement. Fault displacement involves forces so great that the only means of limiting damage to man-
made structures is to avoid the traces of active faults. Any movement beneath a structure, even on the order of an inch or two, 
could have catastrophic effects on the structure and its service lines. 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 14 of 54 9/30/24 
 

The overall energy release of an earthquake is its most important characteristic. Other important attributes include an earthquake's 
duration, its related number of significant stress cycles, and its accelerations. 
C. Levels of Response 
Response Levels are used to describe the type of event: 
 
The area(s) affected, the extent of coordination or assistance needed, and the degree of participation expected from the School 
District. Response Levels are closely tied to Emergency Proclamations issued by the head of local government. 
 
Response Level 0 - Readiness & Routine Phase 
 
On-going routine response by the School District to daily emergencies or incidents. Stand-by and alert procedures issued in advance 
of an anticipated or planned event. 
 
Response Level 3 - Local Emergency 
 
A minor to moderate incident in which local resources are adequate and available. This level of emergency response occurs when an 
emergency incident, e.g., gas leak, sewer back-up, assaults, bomb threat, toxic spill, medical emergency, shooting, etc., occurs. A 
Level 3 response requires School/Site Coordinators to implement guidelines in the Emergency Standard Operating Procedures and 
interact with public agencies. 
 
Response Level 2 - Local Disaster 
 
A moderate to severe emergency in which resources are not adequate and mutual aid may be required on a regional, even 
statewide basis with coordination with local police and fire departments of the affected are working in concert with Lakeside Union 
School District to respond. The affected Cities and the County of 
San Diego will proclaim a local emergency. Then, the State of California may declare a state of emergency. 
 
Response Level 1 - Major Disaster 
 
Resources in or near the impacted areas are overwhelmed and extensive State and Federal resources are required. The cities and 
the County of San Diego will proclaim a local emergency. Then, the State of California will declare a State of Emergency. A 
Presidential Declaration of an Emergency or Major Disaster is requested by the State. Examples of major disasters are the Loma 
Prieta Earthquake of 1989 or the Oakland Hills Firestorm of 1991. When local jurisdictions declare a State of Emergency, the district 
board can declare the same. 
D. Emergency Phases 
Some emergencies will be preceded by a build-up or warning period, providing sufficient time to warn the population and 
implement mitigation measures designated to reduce loss of life and property damage. Other emergencies occur with little or no 
advance warning, thus requiring immediate activation of the emergency operations plan and commitment of resources. All 
employees must be prepared to respond promptly and effectively to any foreseeable emergency, including the provision and use of 
mutual aid. 
 
Emergency management activities during peacetime and national security emergencies are often associated with the phases 
indicated below. However, not every disaster necessarily includes all indicated phases. 
 
Prevention/Mitigation Phase 
 
Prevention/Mitigation is perhaps the most important phase of emergency management. However, it is often the least used and 
generally the most cost effective. Mitigation is often thought of as taking actions to strengthen facilities, abatement of nearby 
hazards, and reducing the potential damage either to structures or their contents, while prevention is taking steps to avoid potential 
problems. Both of these elements require education of parents, students and teachers. 
 
While it is not possible to totally eliminate either the destructive force of a potential disaster or its effects, doing what can be done 
to minimize the effects may create a safer environment that will result in lower response costs, and fewer casualties. 
 
Preparedness Phase 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 15 of 54 9/30/24 
 

The preparedness phase involves activities taken in advance of an emergency. These activities develop operational capabilities and 
responses to a disaster. Those identified in this plan as having either a primary or support mission relative to response and recovery 
review Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) or checklists detailing personnel assignments, policies, notification procedures, and 
resource lists. Personnel are acquainted with these SOPs and checklists and periodically are trained in activation and execution. 
 
Response Phase 
 
Pre-Impact: Recognition of the approach of a potential disaster where actions are taken to save lives and protect property. Warning 
systems may be activated, and resources may be mobilized, EOCs may be activated and evacuation may begin. 
 
Immediate Impact: Emphasis is placed on saving lives, controlling the situation, and minimizing the effects of the disaster. Incident 
Command Posts and EOCs may be activated, and emergency instructions may be issued. 
 
Sustained: As the emergency continues, assistance is provided to victims of the disaster and efforts are made to reduce secondary 
damage. Response support facilities may be established. The resource requirements continually change to meet the needs of the 
incident. 
 
Recovery Phase 
 
Recovery is taking all actions necessary to restore the area to pre-event conditions or better, if possible. 
Therefore, mitigation for future hazards plays an important part in the recovery phase for many emergencies. There is no clear time 
separation between response and recovery. In fact, planning for recovery should be a part of the response phase.  
E. First Things First 
Preparing your school for emergencies starts with staff preparedness. The backbone of school planning is dependent on the staff's 
willingness to stay at school during a major community emergency. Personal preparedness makes this much easier. 
 
Each staff member needs 
 
A 72-hour supply kit for the home 
A Car Kit, including comfortable clothes/shoes and medications 
To develop a plan to reunite with their family 
A neighborhood preparedness program 
 
Preparedness Brochures are available from the local chapter of the American Red Cross, San Diego County Office of Emergency 
Services, Lakeside Union School District website, www.redcross.org, www.prepare.org or www.ready.gov. 
 
If the disaster occurs during school time, Emergency Management recommends the child stay at school until the parent or a trusted 
friend (see Emergency Cards) picks up the child. We have no idea, especially in an earthquake, how impacted our neighborhoods 
may be. 
 
This means the school staff will need to stay with the children. You can only do this if you are prepared at home! You must feel that 
your family can activate your Family Plan without you. 
 
Disaster Service Worker Status: California Government Code Section 3100 declares that public employees are disaster services 
workers, subject to such disaster service activities as may be assigned to them by the superiors or by law. The term public employees 
include all persons employed by the state or any county, city, city & county, state agency or public district, excluding aliens legally 
employed. This law applies to public school employees in the following cases: 
 
When a local emergency has been proclaimed, When a state of emergency has been proclaimed, or When a federal disaster 
declaration has been made. 
F. District and Parent Responsibilities 
DISTRICT RESPONSIBILITY 
 
If the superintendent declares a district emergency during the school day, the following procedures will be followed: 
 
IN CASE OF A DECLARED EMERGENCY BY THE SUPERINTENDENT DURING SCHOOL HOURS, 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 16 of 54 9/30/24 
 

ALL STUDENTS WILL BE REQUIRED TO REMAIN AT SCHOOL OR AT AN ALTERNATE SAFE SITE UNDER THE SUPERVISION OF THE 
SCHOOL PRINCIPAL OR OTHER PERSONNEL ASSIGNED BY THE PRINCIPAL. 
 
Until regular dismissal time and released only then if it is considered safe, 
OR 
Until released to an adult authorized by the parent or legal guardian whose name appears on district records. 
a. If students are on their way to school, they will be brought to school if bussed, or they shouldproceed to school if walking. 
b. If students are on their way home from school, they are to continue home. 
 
During a Declared Emergency, those students who have not been picked up by their parents or other authorized person may be 
taken by district personnel to another site where consolidated care facilities can be provided. This information will be given to the 
media stations and posted at the site to keep parents informed. 
 
PARENT RESPONSIBILITY 
 
Parents and legal guardians of students will be provided with a Student Health/Emergency Form each year. 
In case of a Declared Emergency, students will be released ONLY to persons designated on this form. Parents are responsible for 
ensuring that information on the Student Health/Enrollment Form is current at all times. 
 
Parents are asked to share with the schools the responsibility for informing students of what they should do in case of a severe 
earthquake or other major emergency. Parents need to give specific directions to each student to follow the policy outlined above 
and to follow the directions of school personnel. 
 
School authorities will do everything possible to care for each student while he/she is under district supervision. 
 
It is critical that students do not have directions from parents that are contrary to the district's stated policy on retention at school 
and authorized release in case of a severe emergency.  
VII. Emergency Response Procedures 
Section 8 content  
A. Basic Actions 
Most emergency responses are covered by the following Basic Actions: 
 
A. Action: STAND BY 
 
Action: STAND BY consists of bringing students into the classroom or holding them in the classroom pending further instruction. 
 
B. Action: LEAVE BUILDING 
 
ACTION: LEAVE BUILDING consists of the orderly movement of students and staff from inside the school building to outside areas of 
safety or planned evacuation site. 
 
Action: LEAVE BUILDING is appropriate for-but not limited to-the following emergencies: 
 
Fire 
Peacetime Bomb Threat 
Chemical Accident 
Explosion or Threat of an Explosion 
Following an Earthquake 
Other similar occurrences that might make the building uninhabitable 
At the onset of an Active Shooter/Lockdown Alert, when teacher/supervisor has ascertained that leaving is the best option. 
 
C. Action: TAKE COVER 
 
Action: TAKE COVER consists of bringing/keeping students indoors if possible and sheltering in place as appropriate to the situation. 
 
If outdoors, Action: TAKE COVER consists of hiding behind any solid object (large tree, engine block of car, cement wall), in the event 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 17 of 54 9/30/24 
 

a sniper attack, armed intruder, rabid animal, or moving immediately to a location which is upwind and uphill in the event of a 
chemical or biological threat 
 
Action TAKE COVER is appropriate for, but not limited to, the following: 
 
Severe Windstorm (short warning) 
Biological or Chemical Threat 
Sniper Attack 
Rabid Animal on School Grounds 
 
D. Action: DROP 
 
WARNING: The warning for this type of emergency is the beginning of the disaster itself. 
 
Action: DROP consists of: 
 
 Inside school buildings 

• Immediately TAKE COVER under desks or tables and turn away from all windows 
• Remain in a sheltered position for at least 60 seconds silent and listening to/or for instructions Outside of School 

Buildings 
• Earthquake: move away from buildings -Take a protective position, if possible Explosion/Nuclear Attack: 
• Take protective position, OR, 
• Get behind any solid object (ditch, curb, tree, etc.); lie prone with head away from light or blast; cover head, face, and as 

much of the skin surface as possible; close eyes, and cover ears with forearms. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 18 of 54 9/30/24 
 

 
E. ACTION: DIRECTED MAINTENANCE 
 
No school personnel/students are allowed to enter a school facility until inspected by and authorized by appropriate school 
personnel: Maintenance and School Administrators, and if applicable, Police, Fire, or City Inspectors. 
 
In the event that drinking water is unsafe, water valves will be turned off and the drinking fountains sealed. 
 
Water, gas, and electrical shut-off valves will be shut-off for each applicable building under the join authorization of the 
administration and head custodian. 
 
F. ACTION: DIRECTED TRANSPORTATION 
 
WARNING: Under certain disaster conditions, authorized officials may attempt to move an entire community, or portion thereof, 
from an area of danger to another area of safety. 
 
Action: DIRECTED TRANSPORTATION consists of loading students and staff into school buses, cars and other means of 
transportation, and taking them from a danger area to a designated safety area. 
 
Action: DIRECTED TRANSPORTATION is considered appropriate only when directed by the 
Superintendent or designee, Site Administrator, Police, Fire, or OES. It may be appropriate for, but not limited to, movement away 
from: 
 
Fire 
Chemical & Biological Gas Alert 
Flood 
Fallout Area 
Blast Area 
Chemical & Biological Gas Alert 
Specific Man-Made Emergency (shooting, fire, etc.) 
 
G. ACTION: GO HOME 
 
Action: GO HOME consists of: 
 
Dismissal of all classes 
Return of students to their homes by the most expeditious 
 
Action: GO HOME is to be considered only if there is time for students to go safely to their homes and if buses or other 
transportation are available for students who live at a distance from the school. Notification of parents by radio broadcast, local 
television, ALERT website, phone distribution lists, or other means will be requested. 
 
H. ACTION: CONVERT SCHOOL 
 
Action: CONVERT SCHOOL to a Red Cross emergency facility will be initiated by City officials. 
 
 
 
Public Agency Use of School Buildings for Emergency Shelters 
 
 
(C) School Suspension, Expulsion and Mandatory Expulsion Guidelines 
Tierra del Sol Middle School adheres to Lakeside Union School Districts Board Policy 5132: Dress And Grooming. The Governing 
Board believes that appropriate dress and grooming contribute to a productive learning environment. The Board expects students to 
give proper attention to personal cleanliness and to wear clothes that are suitable for the school activities in which they participate. 
Students' clothing must not present a health or safety hazard or a distraction which would interfere with the educational process. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 19 of 54 9/30/24 
 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall develop effective, age-appropriate strategies for maintaining a positive school climate and 
correcting student misbehavior at district schools. 
 
The strategies shall focus on providing students with needed supports; communicating clear, appropriate, and consistent 
expectations and consequences for student conduct; and ensuring equity and continuous improvement in the implementation of 
district discipline policies and practices. 
 
Board policies and administrative regulations shall outline acceptable student conduct and provide the basis for sound disciplinary 
practices. Each school shall develop disciplinary rules to meet the school's particular needs. 
 
C. Suspension and Expulsion Policies 
Grounds for suspension which fall under Education Code 48900 
Caused, attempted to cause, or threatened to cause physical injury to another person 
Possessed, sold, or otherwise furnished any firearm, knife, explosive, or other dangerous object unless, in the case of possession of 
any object of this type, the pupil had obtained written permission to possess the item from a certificated school employee, which is 
concurred in by the principal or the designee of the principal. 
Unlawfully possessed, used, sold, or otherwise furnished, or been under the influence of any controlled substance. 
Unlawfully offered, arranged, or negotiated to sell any controlled substance. 
Committed or attempted to commit robbery or extortion. 
Caused or attempted to cause damage to school property or private property. 
Stolen or attempted to steal school or private property. 
Possessed or used tobacco, or any products containing tobacco or 1nicotine products, including, but not limited to, cigarettes, cigars, 
miniature cigars, clove cigarettes, smokeless tobacco, snuff, chew packets, and betel. However, this section does not prohibit use or 
possession by a pupil of his or her own prescription products. 
Committed an obscene act or engaged in habitual profanity or vulgarity. 
Had unlawful possession of, or unlawfully offered, arranged or negotiated to sell any drug paraphernalia. 
Disrupted school activities or otherwise willfully defied the valid authority supervisors, teachers, administrators, school officials, or 
other school personnel engaged in the performance of their duties. 
Knowingly received stolen school property or private property. 
Possessed an imitation firearm. As used in this section, "imitation firearm" means a replica of a firearm as to substantially similar in 
physical properties to an existing firearm as to lead a reasonable person to conclude that the replica is a firearm. 
Committed or attempted to commit sexual assault. 
Harassed, threatened, or intimidated a pupil who is a complaining witness or witness in a school disciplinary proceeding for the 
purpose of either preventing that pupil from being a witness or retaliating against that pupil for being a witness, or both. 
 
A pupil may not be suspended or expelled for any of the acts listed above unless that act is related to school activity or school 
attendance occurring within a school under the jurisdiction of the superintendent or principal or occurring within any other school 
district. A pupil may be suspended or expelled for acts which are enumerated in this section and related to school activity or 
attendance that occur at any time, including but not limited to, any of the following: 
While on school grounds. 
While going to or coming from school. 
During the lunch period, whether on or off the campus. 
During, or in route to and from, a school sponsored activity. 
 
Expulsion Policies under Education Code 48915: 
 
The principal shall recommend the expulsion of a pupil for any of the following committed at school or school activity off school 
grounds, unless the principal or superintendent finds an expulsion is inappropriate, due to the particular circumstance: 
Causing serious physical injury to another person, except in self-defense. 
Possession of any knife, explosive, or other dangerous object of no reasonable use to the pupil. Unlawful possession of any 
controlled substance, as defined under Ed. Code. 
Robbery or extortion. 
Assault or battery on any school employee, as defined in Sections 240 and 242 of the Penal Code. 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 20 of 54 9/30/24 
 

The principal, or superintendent of schools shall immediately suspend, pursuant to Section 48911, and shall recommend expulsion 
of a pupil that he or she determines has committed any of the following acts at school or at a school activity off school grounds: 
Possessing, selling, or otherwise furnishing a firearm. This subdivision does not apply to an act of possessing a firearm if the pupil has 
obtained prior written permission to possess the firearm from a certificated school employee, which is concurred in by the principal 
or the designee of the principal. This subdivision applies to an act of possessing a firearm only if an employee of a school district 
verifies the possession. 
Brandishing a knife at another person. 
Unlawfully selling a controlled substance as defined by Education Code. 
Committing or attempting to commit a sexual assault as defined in the Education Code. 
 
LUSD has the following Board Policy related to Suspension and Expulsion of Students: BP 5144.1 
The Governing Board desires to provide district students access to educational opportunities in an orderly school environment that 
protects their safety and security, ensures their welfare and well-being, and promotes their learning and development. The Board 
shall develop rules and regulations setting the standards of behavior expected of district students and the disciplinary processes and 
procedures for addressing violations of those standards, including suspension and/or expulsion. 
(cf. 5131 - Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.1 - Bus Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.2 - Bullying) 
 
The grounds for suspension and expulsion and the procedures for considering, recommending, and/or implementing suspension and 
expulsion shall be those specified in law, in policy, and in the accompanying administrative regulation. 
Except when otherwise permitted by law, a student may be suspended or expelled only when his/her behavior is related to a school 
activity or school attendance occurring within any district school or another school district, regardless of when it occurs, including, 
but not limited to, the following: (Education Code 48900(s)) 
 
1. While on school grounds 
2. While going to or coming from school 
3. During the lunch period, whether on or off the school campus 
(cf. 5112.5 - Open/Closed Campus) 
4. During, going to, or coming from a school-sponsored activity 
District staff shall enforce the rules concerning suspension and expulsion of students fairly, consistently, equally, and in accordance 
with the district's nondiscrimination policies. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
 
Appropriate Use of Suspension Authority 
Except when a student's act that violates Education Code 48900(a)-(e), as listed in items #1-5 under "Grounds for Suspension or 
Expulsion: Grades K-12" of the accompanying administrative regulation, or when his/her presence causes a danger to others, 
suspension shall be used only when other means of correction have failed to bring about proper conduct. (Education Code 
48900.5,48900.6) 
(cf. 1020 - Youth Services) 
(cf. 5138 - Conflict Resolution/Peer Mediation) 
(cf. 5144 - Discipline) 
(cf. 6142.4 - Service Learning/Community Service Classes) 
(cf. 6164.2 - Guidance/Counseling Services) 
(cf. 6164.5 - Student Success Teams) 
 
A student's parents/guardians shall be notified as soon as possible when there is an escalating pattern of misbehavior that could 
lead to removal on-campus or off-campus suspension. 
No student in grades K-3 may be suspended for disruption or willful defiance, except by a teacher pursuant to Education Code 
48910. (Education Code 48900) 
Students shall not be suspended or expelled for truancy, tardiness, or absenteeism from assigned school activities. 
(cf. 5113 - Absences and Excuses) 
(cf. 5113.1 - Chronic Absence and Truancy) 
 
On-Campus Suspension 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 21 of 54 9/30/24 
 

To ensure the proper supervision and ongoing learning of students who are suspended for any of the reasons enumerated in 
Education Code 48900 and 48900.2, but who pose no imminent danger or threat to anyone at school and for whom expulsion 
proceedings have not been initiated, the Superintendent or designee shall establish a supervised suspension classroom program 
which meets the requirements of law. 
Except where a supervised suspension is permitted by law for a student's first offense, supervised suspension shall be imposed only 
when other means of correction have failed to bring about proper conduct. (Education Code 48900.5) 
 
Authority to Expel 
A student may be expelled only by the Board. (Education Code 48918(j)) 
As required by law, the Superintendent or principal shall recommend expulsion and the Board shall expel any student found to have 
committed any of the following "mandatory recommendation and mandatory expulsion" acts at school or at a school activity off 
school grounds: (Education Code 48915) 
1. Possessing a firearm which is not an imitation firearm, as verified by a certificated employee, unless thestudent had obtained prior 
written permission to possess the item from a certificated school employee, with the principal or designee's concurrence 
(cf. 5131.7 - Weapons and Dangerous Instruments) 
2. Selling or otherwise furnishing a firearm 
3. Brandishing a knife at another person 
4. Unlawfully selling a controlled substance listed in Health and Safety Code 11053-11058 
5. Committing or attempting to commit a sexual assault as defined in Penal Code 261, 266c, 286, 288, 288a,or 289, or committing a 
sexual battery as defined in Penal Code 243.4 6. Possessing an explosive as defined in 18 USC 921 
 
For all other violations listed in the accompanying administrative regulation under "Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades K-
12" and "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 4-12," the Superintendent or principal shall have the discretion 
to recommend expulsion of a student. If expulsion is recommended, the Board shall order the student expelled only if it makes a 
finding of either or both of the following: (Education Code 48915(b) and (e)) 
 
1. That other means of correction are not feasible or have repeatedly failed to bring about proper conduct 
2. That due to the nature of the violation, the presence of the student causes a continuing danger to thephysical safety of the 
student or others 
A vote to expel a student shall be taken in public an open session of a Board meeting. 
The Board may vote to suspend the enforcement of the expulsion order pursuant to the requirements of law and the accompanying 
administrative regulation. (Education Code 48900). 
No student shall be expelled for disruption or willful defiance. (Education Code 48900) 
No child enrolled in a preschool program shall be expelled except under limited circumstances as specified in AR 5148.3 - 
Preschool/Early Childhood Education. 
(cf. 5148.3 - Preschool/Early Childhood Education) 
 
Due Process 
 
The Board shall provide for the fair and equitable treatment of students facing suspension and/or expulsion by affording them their 
due process rights under the law. The Superintendent or designee shall comply with procedures for notices, hearings, and appeals as 
specified in law and administrative regulation. (Education Code 48911, 48915, 48915.5) 
(cf. 5119 - Students Expelled from Other Districts) 
(cf. 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Individuals with Disabilities)) 
 
Maintenance and Monitoring of Outcome Data 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall maintain outcome data related to student suspensions and expulsions in accordance with 
Education Code 48900.8 and 48916.1, including, but not limited to, the number of students recommended for expulsion, the 
grounds for each recommended expulsion, the actions taken by the Board, the types of referral made after each expulsion, and the 
disposition of the students after the expulsion period. For any expulsion that involves the possession of a firearm, such data shall 
include the name of the school and the type of firearm involved, as required pursuant to 20 USC 7961. Suspension and expulsion 
data shall be reported to the Board annually and to the California Department of Education when so required. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 22 of 54 9/30/24 
 

In presenting the report to the Board, the Superintendent or designee shall disaggregate data on suspensions and expulsions by 
school and by numerically significant student subgroups, including, but not limited to, ethnic subgroups, socioeconomically 
disadvantaged students, English learners, students with disabilities, foster youth, and homeless students. Based on the data, the 
Board shall address any identified disparities in the imposition of student discipline and shall determine whether and how the 
district is meeting its goals for improving school climate as specified in its local control and accountability plan. (cf. 0460 - Local 
Control and Accountability Plan) 
 
 
 
(D) Procedures to Notify Teachers of Dangerous Pupils (EC 49079) 
D. Staff Notification of Dangerous Students 
In order to fulfill the requirements made by Education Code 49079 and Welfare and Institutions Code 827 that state teachers must 
be notified of the reason(s) a student has been suspended. The District has incorporated this notification into the student 
information system so that it is easily accessible for teachers on any student level screen. On the flag bar there is a red flag: 49079. 
This flag indicates the student has been suspended under Ed Code 48900. The teacher can access more specific information by 
contacting their site administrator for additional details about the behavior. All information regarding suspension and expulsion is 
CONFIDENTIAL, is not to be shared with any student(s) or parent(s). Teachers are asked to secure the list so students and others may 
not view it. 
Additionally, Pursuant to Welfare & Institution Code 827(b) and Education Code 48267, the Court notifies the Superintendent of the 
Lakeside Union School District regarding students who have engaged in certain criminal conduct. This information is forwarded to 
the site Principal. The site Principal is responsible for prompt notification of the student's teachers. Per Education Code 49079, this 
information must be kept confidential. This information is also forwarded to all administrators and the student's counselor. 
 
 
(E) Sexual Harassment Policies (EC 212.6 [b]) 
B. Sexual Harassment Policy 
A. DEFINITION 
"Sexual Harassment includes 'unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, sexually motivated physical contact, or other 
verbal or physical conduct or communication of a sexual nature,' when any of four conditions are met: 
Submission to the conduct or communication is made a term or condition, either explicitly or implicitly, of obtaining education; 
Submission or rejection of the conduct or communication is used as a factor in decisions affecting that person's education; 
The conduct or communication has either the purpose or effect of 'substantially interfering' with a person's education; 
The conduct or communication creates an 'intimidating, hostile, or offensive' educational environment." 
 
B. Policy Pertaining to Sexual Harassment: LUSD has the following Board Policies on Sexual Harrasment, which can be viewed at 
www.lsusd.net, under Leadership, Board of Trustees, Board Policies: 
Board Poilicy 4119.91 
The following policy shall apply to all district employees, volunteers, contractors, job applicants, and other persons with an 
employment relationship with the district. 
The Governing is committed to providing a safe work environment that is free of harassment and intimidation.  The Board prohibits 
sexual harassment against district employees and retaliatory behavior or action against any persons who complain, testifies or 
otherwise participates in the complaint process established for the purpose of this policy. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
(cf. 4030 - Nondiscrimination in Employment) 
Sexual harassment includes, but is not limited to, harassment that is based on the sex, gender, gender identity, gender expression, 
or sexual orientation of the victim and harassment based on pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions. 
The Superintendent or designee shall take all actions necessary to ensure the prevention, investigation, and correction of sexual 
harassment, including but not limited to: 
1. Providing training to employees in accordance with law and administrative regulation 
2. Publicizing and disseminating the district's sexual harassment policy to employees and others to whom the policy may apply 
3. Ensuring prompt, thorough, fair, and equitable investigation of complaints 
4. Taking timely and appropriate corrective/remedial action(s), which may require interim separation ofthe complainant and the 
alleged harasser and subsequent monitoring of developments 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 23 of 54 9/30/24 
 

The Superintendent or designee shall periodically evaluate the effectiveness of the district's strategies to prevent and address 
harassment. Such evaluation may involve conducting regular anonymous employee surveys to assess whether harassment is 
occurring or is perceived to be tolerated, partnering with researchers or other agencies with the needed expertise to evaluate the 
district's prevention strategies, and using any other effective tool for receiving feedback on systems and/or processes. As necessary, 
changes shall be made to the harassment policy, complaint procedures, or training. 
Sexual Harassment Reports and Complaints 
District employees who feel that they have been sexually harassed in the performance of their district responsibilities or who have 
knowledge of any incident of sexual harassment by or against another employee shall immediately report the incident to their direct 
supervisor, a district administrator, or the district's Title IX Coordinator. Employees may bypass their supervisor in filing a complaint 
if the supervisor is the subject of the complaint. A supervisor or administrator who receives a harassment complaint shall promptly 
notify the Title IX Coordinator. 
Once notified, the Title IX Coordinator shall ensure the complaint or allegation is addressed through AR 
4119.12/4219.12/4319.12 - Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures or AR 4030 - 
Nondiscrimination in Employment, as applicable.  Because a complaint or allegation that is dismissed or denied under the Title IX 
complaint procedure may still be subject to consideration under state law, the Title IX Coordinator shall ensure that any 
implementation of AR 4119.12/4219.12/4319.12 concurrently meets the requirements of AR 4030. 
(cf. 4119.12/4219.12/4319.12 - Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaints) 
The Title IX Coordinator shall offer supportive measures to the complainant and respondent, as deemed appropriate under the 
circumstances. 
Upon investigation of a sexual harassment complaint, any district employee found to have engaged or participated in sexual 
harassment or to have aided, abetted, incited, compelled, or coerced another to commit sexual harassment in violation of this policy 
shall be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal, in accordance with law and the applicable collective bargaining 
agreement. 
 
Board Policy 4219.11 
The Governing Board prohibits sexual harassment of district employees and job applicants. The Board also prohibits retaliatory 
behavior or action against district employees or other persons who complain, testify or otherwise participate in the complaint 
process established pursuant to this policy and administrative regulation. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) (cf. 4030 - Nondiscrimination in Employment) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall take all actions necessary to ensure the prevention, investigation, and correction of sexual 
harassment, including but not limited to: 
1. Providing training to employees in accordance with law and administrative regulation 
2. Publicizing and disseminating the district's sexual harassment policy to staff 
(cf. 4112.9/4212.9/4312.9 - Employee Notifications) 
3. Ensuring prompt, thorough, and fair investigation of complaints 
4. Taking timely and appropriate corrective/remedial action(s), which may require interim separation of thecomplainant and the 
alleged harasser and subsequent monitoring of developments 
All complaints and allegations of sexual harassment shall be kept confidential to the extent necessary to carry out the investigation 
or to take other subsequent necessary actions. (5 CCR 4964) 
Any district employee or job applicant who feels that he/she has been sexually harassed or who has knowledge of any incident of 
sexual harassment by or against another employee, a job applicant or a student, 
shall immediately report the incident to his/her supervisor, the principal, district administrator or Superintendent. 
A supervisor, principal or other district administrator who receives a harassment complaint shall promptly notify the Superintendent 
or designee. 
Complaints of sexual harassment shall be filed in accordance with AR 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment. 
An employee may bypass his/her supervisor in filing a complaint where the supervisor is the subject of the complaint. 
(cf. 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment) 
Any district employee who engages or participates in sexual harassment or who aids, abets, incites, compels, or coerces another to 
commit sexual harassment against a district employee, job applicant, or student is in violation of this policy and is subject to 
disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal. 
(cf. 4117.4 - Dismissal) 
(cf. 4118 - Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
(cf. 4218 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
 
Board Policy 4319.11 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 24 of 54 9/30/24 
 

The Governing Board prohibits sexual harassment of district employees and job applicants. The Board also prohibits retaliatory 
behavior or action against district employees or other persons who complain, testify or otherwise participate in the complaint 
process established pursuant to this policy and administrative regulation. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
(cf. 4030 - Nondiscrimination in Employment) 
The Superintendent or designee shall take all actions necessary to ensure the prevention, investigation, and correction of sexual 
harassment, including but not limited to: 
1. Providing training to employees in accordance with law and administrative regulation 
2. Publicizing and disseminating the district's sexual harassment policy to staff 
(cf. 4112.9/4212.9/4312.9 - Employee Notifications) 
3. Ensuring prompt, thorough, and fair investigation of complaints 
4. Taking timely and appropriate corrective/remedial action(s), which may require interim separation of thecomplainant and the 
alleged harasser and subsequent monitoring of developments 
All complaints and allegations of sexual harassment shall be kept confidential to the extent necessary to carry out the investigation 
or to take other subsequent necessary actions. (5 CCR 4964) 
Any district employee or job applicant who feels that he/she has been sexually harassed or who has knowledge of any incident of 
sexual harassment by or against another employee, a job applicant or a student, 
shall immediately report the incident to his/her supervisor, the principal, district administrator or Superintendent. 
A supervisor, principal or other district administrator who receives a harassment complaint shall promptly notify the Superintendent 
or designee. 
Complaints of sexual harassment shall be filed in accordance with AR 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment. 
An employee may bypass his/her supervisor in filing a complaint where the supervisor is the subject of the complaint. 
(cf. 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment) 
Any district employee who engages or participates in sexual harassment or who aids, abets, incites, compels, or coerces another to 
commit sexual harassment against a district employee, job applicant, or student is in violation of this policy and is subject to 
disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal. 
 
Board Policy 5145.7 
The Governing Board is committed to maintaining a safe school environment that is free from harassment and discrimination. The 
Board prohibits, at school or at school-sponsored or school-related activities, sexual harassment targeted at any student by anyone. 
The Board also prohibits retaliatory behavior or action against any person who reports, files a complaint or testifies about, or 
otherwise supports a complainant in alleging sexual harassment. 
The district strongly encourages any student who feels that he/she is being or has been sexually harassed on school grounds or at a 
school-sponsored or school-related activity by another student or an adult who has experienced off-campus sexual harassment that 
has a continuing effect on campus to immediately contact his/her teacher, the principal, or any other available school employee. 
Any employee who receives a report or observes an incident of sexual harassment shall notify the principal or a district compliance 
officer. Once notified, the principal or compliance officer shall take the steps to investigate and address the allegation, as specified in 
the accompanying administrative regulations. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
(cf. 1312.1 - Complaints Concerning District Employees) 
(cf. 5131 - Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.2 - Bullying) 
(cf. 5137 - Positive School Climate) 
(cf. 5141.4 - Child Abuse Prevention and Reporting) 
(cf. 5145.3 - Nondiscrimination/Harassment) 
(cf. 6142.1 - Sexual Health and HIV/AIDS Prevention Instruction) 
The Superintendent or designee shall take appropriate actions to reinforce the district's sexual harassment  policy. 
Instruction/Information 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that all district students receive age-appropriate information on sexual harassment. 
Such instruction and information shall include: 
1. What acts and behavior constitute sexual harassment, including the fact that sexual harassment could occur between people of 
the same sex and could involve sexual violence 
2. A clear message that students do not have to endure sexual harassment under any circumstance 
3. Encouragement to report observed incidents of sexual harassment even where the alleged victim of the harassment has not 
complained 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 25 of 54 9/30/24 
 

4. A clear message that student safety is the district's primary concern, and that any separate rule violationinvolving an alleged 
victim or any other person reporting a sexual harassment incident will be addressed separately and will not affect the manner in 
which the sexual harassment complaint will be received, investigated, or resolved 
5. A clear message that, regardless of a complainant's noncompliance with the writing, timeline, or otherformal filing requirements, 
every sexual harassment allegation that involves a student, whether as the complainant, respondent, or victim of the harassment, 
shall be investigated and prompt action shall be taken to stop any harassment, prevent recurrence, and address any continuing 
effect on students 
6. Information about the district's procedure for investigating complaints and the person(s) to whom a reportof sexual harassment 
should be made 
7. Information about the rights of students and parents/guardians to file a civil or criminal complaint, asapplicable, including the 
right to file a civil or criminal complaint while the district investigation of a sexual harassment complaint continues 
8. A clear message that, when needed, the district will take interim measures to ensure a safe schoolenvironment for a student who 
is the complainant or victim of sexual harassment and/or other students during an investigation and that, to the extent possible, 
when such interim measures are taken, they shall not disadvantage the complainant or victim of the alleged harassment 
Complaint Process and Disciplinary Actions 
Sexual harassment complaints by and against students shall be investigated and resolved in accordance with law and district 
procedures specified in AR 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint Procedures. Principals are responsible for notifying students and 
parents/guardians that complaints of sexual harassment can be filed under AR 1312.3 and where to obtain a copy of the procedures. 
Upon investigation of a sexual harassment complaint, any student found to have engaged in sexual harassment or sexual violence is 
in violation of this policy shall be subject to disciplinary action. For students in grades 4-12, disciplinary action may include 
suspension and/or expulsion, provided that, in imposing such discipline, the entire circumstances of the incident(s) shall be taken 
into account. 
(cf. 5144 - Discipline) 
(cf. 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process) 
(cf. 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Students with Disabilities)) 
Upon investigation of a sexual harassment complaint, any employee found to have engaged in sexual harassment or sexual violence 
toward any student shall have his/her employment terminated in accordance with laws, and the applicable collective bargaining 
agreement. 
(cf. 4117.4 - Dismissal) 
(cf. 4117.7 - Employment Status Report) 
(cf. 4118 - Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
(cf. 4218 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
(cf. 4119.11/4219.11/4319.11 - Sexual Harassment) 
Record-Keeping 
The Superintendent or designee shall maintain a record of all reported cases of sexual harassment to enable the district to monitor, 
address, and prevent repetitive harassing behavior in district schools. (cf. 3580 - District Records) 
 
 
C. Staff Training: All LUSD staff engage in mandated sexual harassment training annually. 
 
 
(F) School-wide Dress Code Relating to Gang-Related Apparel (EC 35183) 
TDS Dress Code Policy 
 
Tierra del Sol Middle School is a place of learning.  Student appearance and dress should be a reflection of a serious learning 
environment. The following middle school dress code has been adopted in accordance with California Education Code, Section 
48907, as well as Title IX requirements.  We appreciate your support and adherence to these guidelines. 
 
Why is there a dress code? The purpose of a dress code is to provide guidance to students and parents as to appropriate attire for 
school and at any school function. In addition, the dress code is a primary means of helping students learn a skill, which is required 
for success in getting and keeping employment linked to attire.  As adults we know that there is a difference between dressing for 
our jobs and dressing for recreation, and therefore having students practice this distinction while at TdS is a way to promote long-
term success. Our guiding principles for the dress code are based on clothing that does not distract from the learning environment, 
disrupt school activities, or create a safety hazard. 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 26 of 54 9/30/24 
 

How did TdS create this dress code? TdS worked with teachers, staff members and students to update our current dress code. At the 
end of the 2021-2022 school year, students discussed the dress code in their CREW classes. In June, each CREW class sent one 
representative to discuss their class thoughts with Dr. Hardiman and Mrs. Macias-Gonzalez. The dress code was developed from that 
student feedback and teacher feedback as well. 
 
What happens if my child is in violation of the dress code? Students who are in violation of the dress code will be asked to change 
into their PE clothes or they may call parents to have them bring a change of clothes. Administration also has loaner shirts and 
shorts that we have available for students who do not want to wear their PE clothes. 
 
1. Clothing, jewelry, and personal items (backpacks, fanny packs, gym bags, water bottles, purses, etc.) shall be free of writing, 
pictures or any insignia which are crude, vulgar, profane or sexually suggestive, which bear drug, alcohol or tobacco company 
advertising, promotions, and likeness, or which advocate death, violence, racial, ethnic or gender bias, or religious prejudice. 
 
2. Clothes shall be sufficient to cover undergarments at all times.  Plunging necklines exposing cleavage, strapless or tube tops  and 
bare midriffs are prohibited.  Skirts and shorts worn by boys or girls that are inappropriate in length (they must reach the bottom of 
the hands when fisted with arms straight to the sides) are strictly prohibited. Undergarments such as bras, and boys and girls’ 
underwear (including boxers)  must not be visible. 
 
3. Jewelry with sharp, jagged, or pointed parts which could injure students are not allowed.  Chains that hang from pockets or belts 
are not allowed. 
 
4. Airpods are not permitted in student ears during school hours. While sweaters with hoodies are permitted, hoods will remain off 
during class time. Religious headwear is always permitted. 
 
5. Students must do their best to come to school clean, as to promote a healthy school environment. Students who need help with 
improving hygiene issues may visit our student pantry that is located in Mrs. Macias’ office.  We have showers on campus for 
students who need extra support with hygiene issues. We are here to support all students. 
 
6. Writing on skin or clothing is prohibited. 
 
 
(G) Procedure for Safe Ingress and Egress of Pupils, Parents, and Staff to and from School (EC 35294.2) 
Beyond planning for daily ingress/egress routes and emergency evacuation routes, schools must plan for assisting students, staff and 
visitors with disabilities. Under the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, individuals who are deaf/hard of hearing, blind/partially 
sighted, mobility impaired and/or cognitively/emotionally impaired must be assisted. 
 
B. Planning 
 
It is recommended that schools identify the location of potential evacuation sites based on the potential circumstances that may 
cause movement/relocation of the school population in the event of an emergency. 
 
On-Campus Evacuation/Assembly Location 
 
Review your school site layout and determine where the safest outdoor location is on campus to assemble your students and staff. 
 
Off-Campus Evacuation/Assembly Location 
 
Determine if there is a facility close to your school that can potentially house your staff and student body. 
 
Prior to an event: 
 
Identify off-campus evacuation site(s). 
Establish a memorandum of agreement with the evacuation site(s). 
 
Provide the addresses of at least two off-campus locations that have agreed to provide an assembly area for your school population. 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 27 of 54 9/30/24 
 

Primary Off-Site Evacuation/Assembly Location 
 
Organization: OLPH Church 
Address: 13208 Lakeshore Dr. Lakeside, CA 92040 
Contact: Karen Woolard, Office Manager 
Phone Number: 619-443-1412 
Date of Agreement: December 2021 
 
Organization: VFW Carter-Smith Post 5867 
Address:12650 Lindo Lane Lakeside, CA 92040 
Contact: Wendy Calderon 
Phone Number:  619-259-9727 
Date of Agreement: December 2021 
 
In the event of an airborne chemical or biological release, it is safest for students and staff to remain indoors at the school site. 
 
Follow the "Shelter-in-Place" procedures. 
 
C. Staff Training Date: 
 
 
(I) School Discipline Rules and Consequences (EC 35291 and EC 35291.5) 
 
Tierra del Sol Middle School Student Conduct Code 
A. Statement of Rules and Procedures on School Discipline 
 
Education Code 44807: 
 
"Every teacher in the public schools shall hold Pupils to a strict account for their conduct on the way to and from school, on the 
playgrounds, or during recess. A teacher, vice principal, principal, or any other certificated employee of a school district, shall not be 
subject to criminal prosecution or criminal penalties for the exercise, during the performance of his duties, of the same degree of 
physical control over a pupil that a parent would be legally privileged to exercise but which in no event shall exceed the amount of 
physical control reasonably necessary to maintain order, protect property, or protect the health and safety of pupils, or to maintain 
proper and appropriate conditions conducive to learning." 
 
B. Notification to Students and Parents 
 
Education Code 35291: 
 Parents and students shall be notified of the District and school site rules pertaining to student discipline at the beginning of the 
first semester, and at the time of enrollment for students who enroll thereafter. 
 The discipline policy shall be reviewed annually with input from the Discipline Team, site administrators, campus security, staff, 
students, and parents. 
 
C. Staff Training  
Tierra del Sol Middle School will review Safety Plans and Procedures with all staff in August 2022, Feb 2023, Mar 2023. Option-Based 
Safety Planning was provided in 2022. Tenets from training will be reviewed annually. REMS training was provided Adminstrative 
Staff on Dec. 2021. School Site Council was debriefed on REMS Training on Jan 2022. 
D. School Discipline Chart and/or Selected Disciplinary Policies and Procedures. 
 
A link to our Discipline Chart and Disciplinary Policies are located at: 
https://docs.google.com/document/d/18xSbiLMi95OdxGn8eDr3tLFfIJx45IyVJ_3n4LE4lJU/edit?usp=sharing 
 
 
 
Conduct Code Procedures 
A. Statement of Rules and Procedures on School Discipline 

https://docs.google.com/document/d/18xSbiLMi95OdxGn8eDr3tLFfIJx45IyVJ_3n4LE4lJU/edit?usp=sharing


 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 28 of 54 9/30/24 
 

 
Education Code 44807: 
 
"Every teacher in the public schools shall hold Pupils to a strict account for their conduct on the way to and from school, on the 
playgrounds, or during recess. A teacher, vice principal, principal, or any other certificated employee of a school district, shall not be 
subject to criminal prosecution or criminal penalties for the exercise, during the performance of his duties, of the same degree of 
physical control over a pupil that a parent would be legally privileged to exercise but which in no event shall exceed the amount of 
physical control reasonably necessary to maintain order, protect property, or protect the health and safety of pupils, or to maintain 
proper and appropriate conditions conducive to learning." 
 
B. Notification to Students and Parents 
 
Education Code 35291: 
Parents and students shall be notified of the District and school site rules pertaining to student discipline at the beginning of the first 
semester, and at the time of enrollment for students who enroll thereafter. 
The discipline policy shall be reviewed annually with input from the Discipline Team, site administrators, campus security, staff, 
students, and parents. 
 
C. Staff Training 
 
D. School Discipline Chart and/or Selected Disciplinary Policies and Procedures. 
 
 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 29 of 54 9/30/24 
 

(J) Procedures to Prepare for Active Shooters 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 30 of 54 9/30/24 
 

Active Shooter / Armed Assailant Situations 
“Active shooter situations” are defined as those where an individual or individuals is “actively engaged in killing or attempting to kill 
people in a confined and populated area.” Active shooters / armed assailants frequently use firearms but attacks of this type can 
also be made with other types of weapons (knifes, swords, etc.). These situations are unpredictable and evolve quickly. Because of 
this, individuals must be prepared to deal with an active shooter / armed assailant situation before law enforcement personnel 
arrive on the scene. 
 
No single response fits all active shooter / armed assailant situations; therefore it is essential all members of the school staff know 
their options for response and are prepared to act decisively to protect their students and themselves. 
 
Respond Immediately 
It is not uncommon for people confronted with a threat to first deny the possible danger rather than respond. An investigation by 
the National Institute of Standards and Technology (2005) into the collapse of the World Trade Center towers on September 11, 
2001, found that people close to the floors impacted waited longer to start evacuating than those on unaffected floors.21 Similarly, 
during the Virginia Tech shooting, individuals on campus responded to the shooting with varying degrees of urgency.22 These 
studies highlight this delayed response or denial. For example, some people report hearing firecrackers when in fact they heard 
gunfire. 
 
Train staff to overcome denial and to respond immediately, including fulfilling their responsibilities for individuals in their charge. For 
example, train staff to recognize the sounds of danger, act, and forcefully communicate the danger and necessary action (e.g., “Gun! 
Get out!”) to those in their charge. In addition, those closest to the public address or other communications system, or otherwise 
able to alert others, should communicate the danger and necessary action. Repetition in training and preparedness shortens the 
time it takes to orient, observe, and act. 
 
Upon recognizing the danger, as soon as it is safe to do so, staff or others must alert responders by contacting 911 with as clear and 
accurate information as possible. 
 
Run 
If it is safe to do so for yourself and those in your care, the first course of action that should be taken is to run out of the building and 
far away until you are in a safe location. 
 
Students and staff should be trained to 
 
Leave personal belongings behind; 
Visualize possible escape routes, including physically accessible routes for students and staff with disabilities as well as persons with 
access and functional needs; 
Avoid escalators and elevators; 
Take others with them, but not to stay behind because others will not go; 
Call 911 when safe to do so; and 
Let a responsible adult know where they are. 
Hide 
If running is not a safe option, hide in as safe a place as possible. 
 
Students and staff should be trained to hide in a location where the walls might be thicker and have fewer windows. In addition: 
 
Lock the doors; 
Barricade the doors with heavy furniture; 
Close and lock windows and close blinds or cover windows; 
Turn off lights; 
Silence all electronic devices; 
Remain silent; 
Hide along the wall closest to the exit but out of the view from the hallway (allowing for an ambush of the shooter and for possible 
escape if the shooter enters the room); 
Use strategies to silently communicate with first responders if possible, for example, in rooms with exterior windows make signs to 
silently signal law enforcement officers and emergency responders to indicate the status of the room's occupants; and 
Remain in place until given an all clear by identifiable law enforcement officers. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 31 of 54 9/30/24 
 

 
Fight 
If neither running nor hiding is a safe option, as a last resort when confronted by the shooter, adults in immediate danger should 
consider trying to disrupt or incapacitate the shooter by using aggressive force and items in their environment, such as fire 
extinguishers, and chairs. In a study of 41 active shooter events that ended before law enforcement officers arrived, the potential 
victims stopped the attacker themselves in 16 instances. In 13 of those cases they physically subdued the attacker.23 While talking 
to staff about confronting a shooter may be daunting and upsetting for some, they should know that they may be able to 
successfully take action to save lives. To be clear, confronting an active shooter should never be a requirement in any school 
employee’s job description; how each staff member chooses to respond if directly confronted by an active shooter is up to him or 
her. Further, the possibility of an active shooter situation is not justification for the presence of firearms on campus in the hands of 
any personnel other than law enforcement officers. 
 
20 As part of its preparedness mission, Ready Houston produces “Run, Hide, Fight” videos, handouts, and trainings to promote 
preparedness among residents of the Houston region. These materials are not specific to a school setting but may still be helpful. 
These videos are not recommended for viewing by minors. All of these items are available free of charge, and many are available at 
http://www.readyhoustontx.gov/videos.html 
 
21 Occupants of both towers delayed initiating their evacuation after World Trade Center 1 was hit. In World Trade Center 1, the 
median time to initiate evacuation was 3 minutes for occupants from the ground floor to floor 76, and 5 minutes for occupants near 
the impact region (floors 77 to 91). See National Institute of Standards and Technology, 2005. Federal Building and Fire Safety 
Investigation of the World Trade Center Disaster Occupant Behavior, Egress, and Emergency Communications. Available at 
http://www.mingerfoundation.org/downloads/mobility/nist world trade center.pdf 
 
 
Procedures for Preventing Acts of Bullying and Cyber-bullying 
The Governing Board recognizes the harmful effects of bullying on student learning and school attendance and desires to provide a 
safe school environment that protects students from physical and emotional harm. District employees shall establish student safety 
as a high priority and shall not tolerate bullying of any student. 
 
No individual or group shall, through physical, written, verbal, or other means, harass, sexually harass, threaten, intimidate, 
retaliate, cyberbully, cause bodily injury to, or commit hate violence against any student or school personnel. 
 
(cf. 5131 - Conduct) 
 
(cf. 5136 - Gangs) 
 
(cf. 5145.3 - Nondiscrimination/Harassment) 
 
(cf. 5145.7 - Sexual Harassment) 
 
(cf. 5145.9 - Hate-Motivated Behavior) 
 
Cyberbullying includes the electronic creation or transmission of harassing communications, direct threats, or other harmful texts, 
sounds, or images as defined in Education Code 48900. Cyberbullying also includes breaking into another person's electronic account 
and assuming that person's identity in order to damage that person's reputation. 
 
(cf. 5145.2 - Freedom of Speech/Expression) 
 
(cf. 6163.4 - Student Use of Technology) 
 
Strategies for addressing bullying in district schools shall be developed with involvement of key stakeholders, including students, 
parents/guardians, and staff, and may be incorporated into the comprehensive safety plan, the local control and accountability plan, 
and other applicable district and school plans. 
 
(cf. 0420 - School Plans/Site Councils) 
 

http://www.readyhoustontx.gov/videos.html
http://www.mingerfoundation.org/downloads/mobility/nist


 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 32 of 54 9/30/24 
 

(cf. 0450 - Comprehensive Safety Plan) 
 
(cf. 0460 - Local Control and Accountability Plan) 
 
(cf. 1220 - Citizen Advisory Committees) 
 
(cf. 6020 - Parent Involvement) 
 
As appropriate, the Superintendent or designee may collaborate with law enforcement, courts, social services, mental health 
services, other agencies, and community organizations in the development and implementation of joint strategies to promote safety 
in schools and the community and to provide services for alleged victims and perpetrators of bullying. 
 
(cf. 1020 - Youth Services) 
 
Bullying Prevention 
 
To the extent possible, district schools shall focus on the prevention of bullying by establishing clear rules for student conduct and 
implementing strategies to promote a positive, collaborative school climate. Students shall be informed, through student handbooks 
and other appropriate means, of district and school rules related to bullying, mechanisms available for reporting incidents or threats, 
and the consequences for engaging in bullying. 
 
(cf. 5137 - Positive School Climate) 
 
As appropriate, the district shall provide students with instruction, in the classroom or other educational settings, that promotes 
social-emotional learning, effective communication and conflict resolution skills, character/values education, respect for cultural and 
individual differences, self-esteem development, assertiveness skills, and appropriate online behavior. 
 
(cf. 6142.8 - Comprehensive Health Education) 
 
(cf. 6142.94 - History-Social Science Instruction) 
 
Such instruction shall also educate students about the negative impact of bullying, discrimination, intimidation, and harassment 
based on actual or perceived immigration status, religious beliefs and customs, or any other individual bias or prejudice. 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall provide training to teachers and other school staff to raise their awareness about the legal 
obligation of the district and its employees to prevent discrimination, harassment, intimidation, and bullying of district students. 
Such training shall be designed to provide staff with the skills to: 
 
1. Discuss the diversity of the student body and school community, including their varying immigration experiences 
 
2. Discuss bullying prevention strategies with students, and teach students to recognize the behavior and characteristics of bullying 
perpetrators and victims 
 
3. Identify the signs of bullying or harassing behavior 
 
4. Take immediate corrective action when bullying is observed 
 
5. Report incidents to the appropriate authorities, including law enforcement in instances of criminal behavior 
 
(cf. 4131 - Staff Development) 
 
(cf. 4231 - Staff Development) 
 
(cf. 4331 - Staff Development) 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 33 of 54 9/30/24 
 

Based on an assessment of bullying incidents at school, the Superintendent or designee may increase supervision and security in 
areas where bullying most often occurs, such as classrooms, playgrounds, hallways, restrooms, and cafeterias. 
 
Intervention 
 
Students are encouraged to notify school staff when they are being bullied or suspect that another student is being victimized. In 
addition, the Superintendent or designee shall develop means for students to report threats or incidents confidentially and 
anonymously. 
 
School staff who witness an act of bullying shall immediately intervene to stop the incident when it is safe to do so. (Education Code 
234.1) 
 
When appropriate based on the severity or pervasiveness of the bullying, the Superintendent or designee shall notify the 
parents/guardians of victims and perpetrators and may contact law enforcement. 
 
The Superintendent, principal, or principal's designee may refer a victim, witness, perpetrator, or other student affected by an act of 
bullying to a school counselor, school psychologist, social worker, child welfare attendance personnel, school nurse, or other school 
support service personnel for case management, counseling, and/or participation in a restorative justice program as appropriate. 
(Education Code 48900.9) 
 
(cf. 6164.2 - Guidance/Counseling Services) 
 
Reporting and Filing of Complaints 
 
Any student, parent/guardian, or other individual who believes that a student has been subjected to bullying or who has witnessed 
bullying may report the incident to a teacher, the principal, a compliance officer, or any other available school employee. Within one 
business day of receiving such a report, a staff member shall notify the principal of the report, whether or not a uniform complaint is 
filed. In addition, any school employee who observes an incident of bullying involving a student shall, within one business day, 
report his/her observation to the principal or a district compliance officer, whether or not the alleged victim files a complaint. 
 
Within two business days of receiving a report of bullying, the principal shall notify a district compliance officer identified in AR 
1312.3. 
 
When the circumstances involve cyberbullying, individuals with information about the activity shall be encouraged to save and print 
any electronic or digital messages that they feel constitute cyberbullying and to notify a teacher, the principal, or other employee so 
that the matter may be investigated. When a student uses a social networking site or service to bully or harass another student, the 
Superintendent or designee may file a request with the networking site or service to suspend the privileges of the student and to 
have the material removed. 
 
When a report of bullying is submitted, the principal or a district compliance officer shall inform the student or parent/guardian of 
the right to file a formal written complaint in accordance with AR 1312.3. The student who is the alleged victim of the bullying shall 
be given an opportunity to describe the incident, identify witnesses who may have relevant information, and provide other evidence 
of bullying. 
 
Investigation and Resolution of Complaints 
 
Any complaint of bullying shall be investigated and, if determined to be discriminatory, resolved in accordance with law and the 
district's uniform complaint procedures specified in AR 1312.3. 
 
If, during the investigation, it is determined that a complaint is about nondiscriminatory bullying, the principal or designee shall 
inform the complainant and shall take all necessary actions to resolve the complaint. 
 
Discipline 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 34 of 54 9/30/24 
 

Corrective actions for a student who commits an act of bullying of any type may include counseling, behavioral intervention and 
education, and, if the behavior is severe or pervasive as defined in Education Code 48900, may include suspension or expulsion in 
accordance with district policies and regulations. 
 
(cf. 5138 - Conflict Resolution/Peer Mediation) 
 
(cf. 5144 - Discipline) 
 
(cf. 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process) 
 
(cf. 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Students with Disabilities)) 
 
(cf. 6159.4 - Behavioral Interventions for Special Education Students) 
 
Any employee who permits or engages in bullying or retaliation related to bullying shall be subject to disciplinary action, up to and 
including dismissal. 
 
(cf. 4117.3 - Dismissal) 
 
(cf. 4118 - Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
 
(cf. 4119.21/4219.21/4319.21 - Professional Standards) 
 
(cf. 4218 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 35 of 54 9/30/24 
 

 
Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures 
 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 36 of 54 9/30/24 
 

 
Safety Plan Appendices 
 
  



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 37 of 54 9/30/24 
 

 
Emergency Contact Numbers 
 
Utilities, Responders and Communication Resources 
 

Type Vendor Number Comments 

Law 
Enforcement/Fire/Paramed
ic 

Lakeside Sheriff's Station 619-938-1360  

Law 
Enforcement/Fire/Paramed
ic 

Santee Sheriff's Station 619-956-4000  

Law 
Enforcement/Fire/Paramed
ic 

Lakeside Fire District 619-390-2350  

Local Hospitals Sharp Grossmont Hospital   

Local Hospitals Kaiser Permanente Hospital   

School District Lakeside Union School 
District 619-390-2600  

Public Utilities San Diego Gas & Electric 800-411-7343  

Other Animal Control 800-222-1222  

Other Poison Control 858-565-5173  

City Services San Diego Public Health 
and Human Services 858-292-3500  

 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 38 of 54 9/30/24 
 

 
Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures 
 

Activity Description 
(i.e. review steps, meetings conducted, approvals, etc) Date and Time Attached Document 

(description and location) 
Safety Plan Review August 28, 2024 B-Multi during Staff Meeting 

Safety Meeting #1 September 26 2024 A-Conference after school 

Safety Plan Review November 6, 2024 B-Multi during Staff Meeting 

Safety Meeting #2 January 29, 2025 A-Conference after school 

Safety Plan Review/Evaluation of drills February 5, 2025 B-Multi during Staff Meeting 

Safety Meeting #3 March 19, 2025 A-Conference after school 

Safety Plan Review April 9, 2025 B-Multi during Staff Meeting 

Safety Meeting #4 May 21, 2025 A-Conference after school 

End of year Safety Plan Evaluation June 4, 2025 B-Multi during Staff Meeting 

 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 39 of 54 9/30/24 
 

 
Tierra del Sol Middle School Incident Command System 
 

--------     Incident Commander     

--------     Leslie Hardiman--------     

--------           

--------   Safety Officer   Public Information Officer   

--------   Darin Curtis--------   Paula Macias--------   

--------           

--------   Scribe       

--------   --------       

--------           

--------           

Operations ------- Planning/ 
Intelligence  Logistics  Finance/Administration 

Michael Bishop-------- ------- Kim Klinko--------  Cynthia Stroman--------  Lisa Ruiz-------- 

--------           

--------           

--------  First Aid & Search 
Teacher A        

--------  Ira Stevens--------        

--------           

--------  
Student Release & 

Accountability 
TeacherB 

       

--------  Gina Henke--------        
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 40 of 54 9/30/24 
 

 
Incident Command Team Responsibilities 
 
Standardized Emergency Response Management System Overview 
The California Standardized Emergency Management System (SEMS) is designed to centralize and coordinate emergency response 
through the use of standardized terminology and processes. This greatly facilitates the flow of information and resources among the 
agencies participating in response to an emergency. SEMS consists of five functions: 
 
 
Management 
During an emergency, the Incident Commander directs response actions from a designated Command Post. To effectively do this, 
the Incident Commander must constantly assess the situation, and develop and implement appropriate strategies. The Incident 
Commander must be familiar with the available resources, accurately document all response actions, and effectively communicate 
response strategies to others participating in the response. This function is typically filled by the school principal. The principal is 
assisted in carrying out this function by a Public Information & Liaison Officer and Safety Officer. 
 
Planning & Intelligence 
Planning and Intelligence involves the use of various methods to efficiently gather information, weigh and document the information 
for significance, and actively assess the status of the emergency. This understanding and knowledge about the situation at hand is 
vital to the effective management of a response. These activities are performed by a single person who reports directly to the 
Incident Commander. 
 
Operations 
All response actions are implemented under by Operations. This includes staff performing first aid, crisis intervention, search and 
rescue, site security, damage assessment, evacuations, and the release of students. 
 
Logistics 
Logistics supports the response by coordinating personnel; assembling and deploying volunteers; providing supplies, equipment, and 
services; and facilitating communications among emergency responders. 
 
Finance & Administration 
Finance & Administration involves the purchasing of all necessary materials, tracking financial records, timekeeping for emergency 
responders, and recovering school records following an emergency. These activities are performed by a single person who reports 
directly to the Incident Commander. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 41 of 54 9/30/24 
 

 
Emergency Response Guidelines 
 
Step One: Identify the Type of Emergency 
Procedures for reporting: We are encouraging anyone who identifies a threat to immediately inform a school administrator, security 
personnel, or call 911 if appropriate. 
Observation guidelines: The person identifying the threat needs to describe what constitutes a threat (suspicious individuals, unsafe 
situations, verbal threats, etc.). 
Documentation: We will keep a record of the threat or incident with specifics (who, what, where, when, and how). 
 
 
 
Step Two: Identify the Level of Emergency 
Levels of emergencies: Minor (e.g., medical emergencies), moderate (e.g., fights), severe (e.g., fire, active shooter). 
Criteria for assessment: We are determining the level based on immediate danger, potential harm, and the scale of the event. 
Team roles: Identify which members of the staff will assess the situation (administrators, police officers, etc.). 
 
 
 
Step Three: Determine the Immediate Response Action 
Low-Level Threats: Call emergency services, follow routine response (e.g., first aid for injury). 
Moderate Threats: Evacuate affected areas, initiate a lockdown or shelter-in-place as necessary. 
Severe Threats: Evacuate the building or execute a full lockdown, contact emergency responders immediately. 
Response Teams: Detail who will be responsible for leading each type of action (e.g., administrator to call 911, teachers to secure 
students). 
 
 
 
Step Four: Communicate the Appropriate Response Action 
Communication Channels: PA system, Google Chat, email, texts, phone calls, social media, etc. 
Message Guidelines: Ensure communication is clear, concise, and provides instructions (e.g., "This is a lockdown. Remain in your 
rooms until further notice"). 
Chain of Command: We will decide who is responsible for sending out notifications (principal, vice-principal, district 
communication). 
Parent Communication: We will notify parents of any emergency and updates on the status of students via Infinite Campus and/or 
Jupiter Grades. 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 42 of 54 9/30/24 
 

 
Types of Emergencies & Specific Procedures 
 
Armed Assault on Campus 
. Lockdown: Active Shooter 
An Active shooter/Lockdown Alert is sounded if there is a sniper, armed intruder or active shooter on campus. Staff members have a 
very limited amount of time in which to commit to a course of action. Immediately assess both the situation and the surrounding 
environment and responds to the situation based upon the Active shooter Training and drills. This is also true for your students who 
may need to become resources for substitutes or who are alone when an event occurs. 
 
Remember, the Active shooter response is a partnership with local law enforcement. 
 
Immediate actions should include: 
 
Students and staff go into classrooms/buildings or run to off-site evacuation areas. 
LOCKDOWN includes building door barricades, internal barricades, covering windows and turning off/dimming lights. 
Notify administration 
Call 9-1-1 if you know the location of the shooter, the description or identity of the shooter or if you need medical direction for a 
victim. 
Administration notifies the Superintendent 
 
Intermediate activities: 
 
Place a red card under the door/in a window if you have a serious injury in the classroom. 
Take roll 
Conduct anxiety-reducing activities 
 
Evacuation: 
 
Prepare students and yourself for a quick evacuation 
Follow directions of law enforcement when they arrive 
 
 
Biological or Chemical Release 
Poisoning, Chemical Spills, Hazardous Materials 
POISONING: 
 
If a student ingests a poisonous substance: 
 
Call Poison Control Center Link Line 1-800-222-1222. Take appropriate first aid measures. Call parents. 
Notify the Health Services Office. 
 
Following any emergency, notify the District Superintendents' Office 
 
CHEMICAL SPILL ON SITE: 
 
The following are guidelines for Chemical Spills: 
 
Evacuate the immediate area of personnel 
Determine whether to initiate Shelter In Place Protocol 
Secure the area (block points of entry) 
Identify the chemical and follow the procedures for that particular chemical. Notify the District Office. 
 
CHEMICAL SPILL OFF SITE INVOLVING DISTRICT EQUIPMENT/PROPERTY 
 
 Notify the Todd Owens with the following information: 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 43 of 54 9/30/24 
 

• Date, time, and exact location of the release or threatened release 
• Name and telephone number of person reporting 
• Type of chemical involved and the estimated quantity 
• Description of potential hazards presented by the spill 
• Document time and date notification made 
• Other emergency personnel responding (Highway Patrol, CALTRANS, etc.) 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 44 of 54 9/30/24 
 

Locate a fire extinguisher and have present, should the need arise 
Place reflective triangles or traffic cones if in street or highway. DO NOT LIGHT FLARES! 
If spill response equipment is available use it to take the necessary measures to prevent the spill from spreading. 
 
Reporting Chemical Spills 
 
Once an emergency spill response has been completed, the person reporting the initial spill must complete a SPILL RESPONSE 
EVALUATION. The incident must be reported to the Superintendent WITHIN 24 HOURS OF THE SPILL. 
 
Spill Clean Up 
 
Chemical Spills may not be cleaned up by school personnel. Call the District Office at [Insert District Office Contact Name] and [Insert 
District Office Phone Number]. The cleanup will be coordinated through a designated contractor. 
 
HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES 
 
Hazardous Substances include the following, but is not limited to the following: 
 
Gasoline 
Solvents 
Motor Oil 
Diesel Fuel 
Kerosene 
Anti-Freeze 
Airborne Gases/Fumes 
Lacquer Thinner 
Paint 
Agricultural Spray 
Paint Thinner 
Stain 
Brake Fluid 
 
Always call for assistance and: 
 
Extinguish all ignition sources 
Shut off main emergency switch to fuel pump, if appropriate 
Move appropriate fire extinguishing equipment to area 
If possible, contain the spill to prevent further contamination 
Move people/personnel away or evacuate from contamination area 
 
If the spill is too great to handle, contact the District Office Todd Owens and (619) 390-2800 . 
 
Staff and students will evacuate the area immediately, if appropriate. Move uphill, upwind, upstream if possible. 
 
VEHICLE FUEL SPILL 
 
When a spill has occurred, the first thing to do is to keep the situation from worsening. Follow these steps: 
 
Shut off emergency switch 
Avoid skin contact 
Isolate the spill from people and vehicles by blocking all points of entry 
Stop and evaluate any hazards 
Prevent discharge into storm drains. Divert the flow by sealing off areas with absorbents. Prevent runoff. Use absorbent "socks" or 
"booms" to contain the spill 
Identify the source, estimated quantity spilled and stop further release(s) - IF IT CAN BE DONE 
SAFELY 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 45 of 54 9/30/24 
 

Take care of any injured Notify the District Office. 
If the spill is unmanageable, contact the Fire Department by calling 9-1-1 
 
If, after attempted containment, the release still poses either a present or a potential threat, notify the California Office of 
Emergency Services and local emergency assistance organizations (fire, police, etc.). Give the following information: 
 
Date, time, and exact location of the release 
Name and telephone number of persons reporting the release 
The type of fuel spilled and the estimated quantity 
Description of potential hazards presented by the fuel spill 
Document the time and date notification was made and the information provided 
A written report to the appropriate office of the California Department of Health Services is required within 15 days after the 
incident. Contact the District for assistance with this report. 
 
Bio Terrorism 
Anthrax Threat 
 
How to identify suspicious letters or packages 
 
Some characteristics of suspicious letters or packages include the following: 
 
Excessive postage 
Handwritten or poorly typed addresses 
Incorrect titles 
Title, but no name 
Misspellings of common words 
Oily stains, discolorations or odors 
No return address 
Excessive weight 
Lopsided or uneven envelop 
Protruding wires or aluminum foil 
Excessive security material such as masking tape, string, etc. 
Visual distractions 
Ticking sound 
Marked with restrictive endorsements, such as "Personal" or "Confidential." Shows a city or state in the postmark that does not 
match the return address. 
 
Suspicious unopened letter or package marked with threatening message such as "Anthrax" 
 
Do not shake or empty the contents of any suspicious envelop or package. 
Place the envelope or package in a plastic bag or some other type of container to prevent leakage of contents. 
If you do not have any container, then cover the envelope or package with anything (e.g., clothing, paper, trash can, etc.) and do not 
remove this cover. 
Then leave the room and close the door, or section off the area to prevent others from entering. 
Wash your hands with soap and water to prevent spreading any powder to your face. 
If you are at home, report the incident to the local police. If you are at work, report the incident to the local police and your site 
administrator. 
List all people who were in the room or area when this suspicious letter or package was recognized. Give the list to both the local 
public health authorities and law enforcement officials for follow-up investigations and advice. 
 
Envelope with powder or powder spills out onto a surface 
 
Do not try to clean up the powder. Cover the spilled contents immediately with anything and do not remove this cover. 
Leave the room and close the door or section off the area to prevent others from entering. 
Wash your hands with soap and water to prevent spreading any powder to your face. 
If you are at home, CALL 9-1-1 to report the incident. If you are at work, CALL 9-1-1 and your site administrator to report the 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 46 of 54 9/30/24 
 

incident. 
Remove heavily contaminated clothing as soon as possible and place in a plastic bag, or some other container that can be sealed. 
The clothing bag should be given to the emergency responders for proper disposal. 
Shower with soap and water as soon as possible. Do not use bleach or other disinfectant on your skin. If possible, list all people who 
were in the room or area, especially those who had actual contact with the powder. Give the list to both the local police and public 
health authorities so that proper instructions can be given for medical follow-up and further investigation. 
 
Possible room contamination by aerosol 
 
(Examples: small devices triggered warning that air handling systems is contaminated, or warning that a biological agent is released 
in a public space.) 
 
Turn off local fans or ventilation units in the area. 
Leave the area immediately. 
Close the door or section off the area to prevent others from entering. 
Move upwind, uphill, upstream. 
If you are at home, report the incident to the local police. If you are at work, report the incident to the local police and your site 
administrator. 
Shut down air handling systems in the building if possible. 
If possible, list all people who were in the room or area, especially those who had actual contact with the powder. Give the list to 
both the local police and public health authorities so that proper instructions can be given for medical follow-up and further 
investigation. 
 
DO NOT PANIC 
 
Anthrax organisms can cause infection in the skin, gastrointestinal system, or the lungs. In order for this to happen, the organism 
must be rubbed into abraded skin, swallowed, or inhaled as a fine, aerosolized mist. Disease can be prevented after exposure to the 
anthrax spores by early treatment with the appropriate antibiotics. Anthrax is not spread from one person to another person. 
 
For anthrax to be effective as a covert agent, it must be aerosolized into very small particles. This is difficult to do and requires a 
great deal of technical skill and special equipment. If these small particles are inhaled, life threatening lung infection can occur, but 
prompt recognition and treatment are effective. 
 
Botulism 
 
Botulism infection is extremely rare, with fewer than 200 cases reported in the U.S. each year. There are two forms of botulism 
which are associated with a terrorist act: 
 
Food Borne Botulism 
 
The bacterium is ingested with the contaminated food source. 
 
Symptoms begin within 6 hours to 2 weeks, but most commonly between 12 to 36 hours after eating contaminated foods. 
 
Double or blurred vision, drooping eyelids, slurred speck, difficulty swallowing, dry mouth, and a descending muscle weakness that 
affects the shoulders first, then upper arms, lower arms, thighs, calves, etc. 
 
These symptoms may be proceeded by gastrointestinal disorder such as abdominal cramps, nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea. 
Paralysis of the respiratory muscles will cause death unless the person is assisted by mechanical ventilation. Botulism toxin can occur 
naturally in undercooked food, but the frequency of this is extremely rare. 
 
Inhalational Botulism 
 
Inhalation botulism results from the inhalation of the aerosolized toxin. A small amount of aerosolized toxin released into the wind 
can have a devastating effect on the surrounding population. Notwithstanding, inhalational botulism could be inflicted upon a more 
limited number of victims by introducing a contaminated object into an enclosed area such as inside of a building. The symptoms are 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 47 of 54 9/30/24 
 

indistinguishable from those of food borne botulism, except that the gastrointestinal signs sometimes associated with food borne 
botulism may not occur. 
 
Botulism cannot be transmitted from one person to another. There is no vaccine for botulism treatment at this time. However, 
treatment consists of passive immunization with equine anti-toxins and supportive patient care. 
 
Smallpox 
 
Smallpox infection results from the variola virus. The disease was once worldwide in scope. Before people were vaccinated, almost 
everyone contracted the disease. The virus was effectively eradicated from the world in the late 1970's, and the World Health 
Organization recommended governments cease routine vaccinations in 1980. 
 
Vaccination has proven effective in preventing the disease in exposed persons if administered within 4 days of exposure. 
 
Smallpox is a highly contagious infectious disease that has a mortality rate of about 30%. Since the 
discontinuation of vaccination in the early 1980's, virtually no one is protected against the disease today. The U.S. government is 
currently working to address the need for vaccinations. There is no proven treatment should infection occur.  
 
Immunization and Mass Prophylaxis Pandemic and Bio Terrorism 
This Bio-Terrorism Support Plan (Plan) provides basic steps to guide designated Lakeside Union School District County Public Health 
Department, City of Lakeside and Health Services school district officials in establishing middle and high schools as immunization 
centers (mass prophylaxis centers) contingent upon a Memorandum of Understanding being signed. 
 
This Plan is a living document subject to periodic revisions when needed. 
 
In the event of a bio-terrorism outbreak and based upon the Metropolitan Medical Response Plan, local officials will have 
determined which areas within the city to be quarantined, hot and cold zones. A quarantined area is defined as a specified area 
where isolation is enforced. A hot zone is defined as a contaminated area. A cold zone is an unaffected area. 
 
Once the situation has been assessed and Public Health identifies the need to open an immunization center (mass prophylaxis 
center), then Public Health will contact the city. Subsequently, the City will contact the school district emergency contact to begin 
the process of coordinating the opening of an immunization center (mass prophylaxis center). 
 
Preparedness Steps 
 
The following provides guidelines for school district management in preparing, in advance, issues that need to be addressed during 
non-emergency times to ensure school district and school site readiness. 
Statement of Agreement signed by San Diego County Public Health Department, City and school district 
Examine the Public Health Department's Liability Coverage for using school district sites as mass prophylaxis centers. 
Establish that the City will provide security for the school district site 
Define how long the Immunization center (mass prophylaxis center) can be open and what type of furnishings are needed for the 
center. 
Ensure a manager is provided by the Public Health Department to oversee center operations Identify the need to train site personnel 
in administering inoculations and agree upon how these 
individuals will be compensated for their time by the Public Health Department Establish who will be responsible for clean up 
 
Public Health Department contacts City OES who then initiates contact with appropriate School district authorized contact (see 
emergency contact list for school district) 
 
1) Superintendent's Office: Lisa DeRosier  
 
2) School District Security: Todd Owens  
 
3) Custodial Services or Facilities: Todd Owens  
 
The City OES informs Police Department that authorization has been given to open the appropriate site(s). Only gymnasiums will be 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 48 of 54 9/30/24 
 

utilized. The school district official then follows the guidelines shown below: 
 
Authorized school official contact will inform Superintendent or designee of the opening of the school site(s) as an immunization 
center (mass prophylaxis center). 
If school is not in session or if mass prophylaxis center opening occurs after hours, school site personnel or authorized City Police 
Department will be present to actually unlock the site for Public Health Department 
Establish that the City will provide security for the school district site 
Contact principal of the school site being converted into an immunization center (mass prophylaxis center) 
Prior to turning school site over to the Public Health Department as a mass prophylaxis center, school site personnel will: 

• Perform a site check to record current condition of the area to be used as an immunization center (mass prophylaxis 
center) 

• Inventory usable materials within the center's designated area (see Site Inventory form in this section), i.e. toilet tissues, 
paper towels, soap 

• Ensure all other areas of the school site are not accessible to mass prophylaxis center personnel or public 
SCHOOL DISTRICT site personnel will unlock the school site upon arrival of Public Health Department and their staff 
 
Closing the Center 
 
Upon closing of the center, the Public Health Department ensures the site is secure and center manager has tracked school supplies 
and materials used. 
 
School site personnel compares supplies and materials used, physical property loss and damages 
Both Public Health Department City and school site personnel inspect shelter site for -Material and supplies used 

• Property loss 
• Property damage 

When inspection is completed, school site personnel gives Business Services Department a report of materials used and property 
damaged/loss (photograph) 
Business Services 

• Gives property loss/damage to Risk Management to determine cost of property loss and repair costs 
• Formalizes letter Public Health Department to file a claim covering loss and material usage 

 
 
 
Bomb Threat/ Threat Of violence 
Bomb Threat 
THE PERSON RECEIVING THE BOMB THREAT WILL: 
 
Attempt to gain as much information as possible when the threat is received. Do not hang up on the caller. 
Use the "bomb threat checklist" form (attached) as a guide to collect the information needed. Don't be bashful about asking direct, 
specific questions about the threat. Keep the caller on the phone as long as possible. If the threat is received by phone, attempt to 
gain more information. 
The most important information is: 
When will the bomb explode and where is the bomb located? 
Immediately after receiving the bomb threat, the person receiving the call will verbally notify the building administrator of the threat 
received. Complete the "bomb threat checklist" form (attached). Turn off cellular phones and/or walkie-talkie radios (transmits radio 
waves--could trigger a bomb). 
 
BUILDING ADMINISTRATOR WILL (IF NECESSARY): 
 
 Call 9-1-1. Give the following information: 

• Your name -Your call-back phone number 
• Exact street location with the nearest cross street 
• Nature of incident 
• Number and location of people involved and/or injured Notify Superintendent's Office. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 49 of 54 9/30/24 
 

Evacuate involved buildings using fire drill procedures. Principal must have Superintendent's permission to evacuate the entire site. 
Implement a systematic inspection of the facilities to determine if everyone is out. 
Fire Department or Police Officers shall organize a search team to check for suspicious objects; a bomb can be disguised to look like 
any common object. Site employees should be ready to assist as needed. 
Maintain an open telephone line for communications. 
Secure all exits to prevent re-entry to buildings during the search period. 
Be certain people stay clear of all buildings; a bomb(s) may be planted against an outside wall. The blast will be directed in large part 
away from the building. Re-occupy buildings only when proper authorities give clearance 
 
 
 
Earthquake 
B. Earthquake: Drop, Cover, and Hold 
Earthquake procedures in the classroom or office 
 
At the first indication of ground movement, you should DROP to the ground. It will soon be impossible to stand upright during the 
earthquake. Getting to the ground will prevent being thrown to the ground. 
 
You should seek protective COVER under or near desks, tables, or chairs in a kneeling or sitting position. 
 
You should HOLD onto the table or chair legs. Holding onto the legs will prevent it from moving away from you during the quake. 
Protect your eyes from flying glass and debris with your arm covering your eyes. 
 
You should remain in the DROP position until ground movement ends. Be prepared to DROP, COVER and HOLD during aftershocks. 
 
After ground movement ends, check for injuries and safely evacuate the building. Move to a safe, open area, away from power lines 
and other overhead hazards. 
 
Earthquake procedures in other parts of the building 
 
At the first indication of ground movement, you should DROP to the ground. 
 
Take COVER under any available desk, table, or bench. If in a hallway, drop next to an inside wall in a kneeling position and cover the 
back of the neck with your hands. 
 
After ground movement ends, check for injuries and safely evacuate the building. Move to a safe, open area, away from power lines 
and other overhead hazards. 
 
Earthquake procedures while outside 
 
At the first indication of ground movement, move away from overhead hazards such as power lines, trees, and buildings. DROP to 
the ground and COVER the back of the neck with your hands. Be aware of aftershocks. Do not enter buildings until it is determined 
safe to do so. 
 
If walking to or from school, DO NOT RUN. Stay in the open. If the student is going to school, continue to the school. If going home, 
the student should continue to home. 
 
While in a vehicle or school bus, pull over to the side of the road and stop. If on a bridge, overpass, or under power lines, continue 
on until the vehicle is away from the overhead dangers. Wait until the ground movement stops and check for injuries. Be aware of 
aftershocks, downed wires, or roads blocked by debris. The Bus Driver is legally responsible for the welfare of student riders. 
 
 
Fire in Surrounding Area 
Fire Near School 
 
The Principal or designee shall: 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 50 of 54 9/30/24 
 

 
Determine the need to execute an evacuation if nearby fire poses an immediate threat to the students or the building. 
Notify the Fire Department by calling 911. 
Notify the Superintendent's office. 
Notify students and staff when it is safe to return to the school site under the direction of the Fire Department and in consultation 
with the Superintendent or designee. 
 
 
 
Fire on School Grounds 
Fire 
All classrooms and offices shall have an Emergency Exit sign and Evacuation Chart posted in a prominent location. 
 
Fire Within A School Building: 
 
In the event that a fire is detected within a school building, use the following procedures: 
 
 The Principal or Designee will: 

• Order an evacuation if the fire alarm doesn't work 
• Call 9-1-1 
• Notify the superintendent 

Teachers will supervise the evacuation of the classrooms to the designated areas according to the Emergency Exit Plan posted in 
every classroom and office. 
Teachers will close doors upon evacuating. 
Teachers will take their roll books to the evacuation site and take roll. Teachers will report any missing student(s) to their Team 
Supervisor/Administrator. 
The Head Custodian or designees shall assist by shutting off gas valves, electricity, etc., or other if necessary for evacuating, putting 
out the fire, etc. 
The Head Custodian or designee shall open necessary gates for fire truck and other emergency vehicle access when appropriate. The 
Head Custodian or designee will also keep access entrances open for emergency vehicles. 
 Notify students and staff when it is safe to return to the school site under the direction of the Fire Department and in consultation 
with the Superintendent or designee. 
 
 
Loss or Failure Of Utilities 
Power Outage/Rolling Blackouts 
IT IS THE DISTRICT'S INTENT THAT SCHOOLS WILL REMAIN OPEN DURING A POWER OUTAGE. 
 
There are several stages of alerts that are being broadcast over the radio: 
 
STAGE 1 EMERGENCY indicates that the operating reserves in the real time market are forecasted to be less than the California 
Independent System Operator (CAISO) Minimum Operating Reserves criteria. 
STAGE 2 EMERGENCY indicates that the operating reserves in the real time market are forecasted to be less than five (5) percent. 
STAGE 3 EMERGENCY indicates that the operating reserves in the real time market are forecasted to be less than 1.5 percent. 
 
If the district is notified of a STAGE 3 EMERGENCY, possible-affected sites will be contacted as soon as practicable. Once notified, 
turn off PCs, monitors, printers, copiers, and lights when not in use or not needed. If you cannot turn off the whole computer, turn 
off the monitor and the printer. Shut off lights in unoccupied rooms. In spite of everyone's best effort to communicate, it is possible 
that an outage will occur with no notice to the district. To keep abreast of the daily situation, listen to 740AM (KCBS) radio station as 
you are driving into work for the status of the day. 
 
PREPARING FOR AN OUTAGE 
 
Update each student's emergency card. 
Determine availability of portable lighting at site, i.e. flashlights & batteries. 
Find out that when power is lost, do emergency lights go on and do the "Exit" signs remain lit? 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 51 of 54 9/30/24 
 

Clear away materials and boxes from hallways and pathways. 
Check school district's PG&E Block list to determine in which PG&E block your site is located. As a note, Block 50's power will not be 
interrupted. 
Ask your teachers to have alternative teaching methods and plans to be used at STAGE 3 only. Conduct a survey of your site for the 
classrooms and offices with no windows and prepare relocation plans. 
Plan alternative communication methods that suit your site, such as runners, cell phones, or radios. Develop a site plan such as a 
buddy system or chaperone, for restrooms or any other necessary leave during this period. 
Have flashlights & replacement batteries available for the restrooms and other locations with no windows. 
Ask your staff and students to have seasonal warm clothing available. 
Use surge protectors for all computer equipment, major appliances and electronic devices. If you have electric smoke detectors, use 
a battery-powered smoke detector as a backup. 
 
DURING AN OUTAGE 
 
CONTACT MAINTENANCE & OPERTIONS IMMEDIATELY IF YOUR SITE IS EXPERIENCING A BLACKOUT. 
According to SBC (Telephone Company), phones connected directly to a phone jack will be operable. 
Phones that require power from an electrical outlet will not work. 
If an outage lasts more than 30 minutes, have pre-designated people walk through the campus and check on the status of 
individuals in each building. 
Use a buddy system when going to the restrooms. 
DO NOT USE barbecues, Coleman-type stoves, hibachis and other outdoor-cooking devices indoors. 
DO NOT USE candles or gas lanterns. 
Turn off PCs, monitors, printers, copiers, major appliances and lights when not in use or not needed. If you cannot turn off the whole 
computer, turn off the monitor and the printer. Shut off lights in unoccupied rooms. 
 
The rolling outages should not last more than two hours, and, with some preparation, business can be conducted as close to normal 
as possible. 
 
If a power outage is prolonged, the principal should contact the Superintendent for directions (release students/staff, evacuation to 
another site, etc.). 
 
 
 
Psychological Trauma 
It is critical to provide a mental health response for students, staff and parents after a crisis that has impacted a school. Often, this 
can be provided by district or local community resources. 
 
Victims of a crisis experience a real need to return to normal, but normal as they once knew it is forever gone and changed. 
Counselors and crisis survivors find the concept of a "new normal" to be very reassuring and accurate. 
 
One of the most important actions is simply to listen and allow victims to express his/her own needs and feelings. Encouragement 
and support, while avoiding judgmental remarks, is the goal. 
 
When the needs of the victims exceed the immediate resources available to the school, San Diego County Mental Health and the 
agencies working under its umbrella is available to support schools. 
 
Numerous agencies under the San Diego County Mental Health Department umbrella currently provide ongoing mental health 
services to students and families both at schools and within the neighborhood communities. These services are provided by licensed 
therapists, social workers or supervised interns. The services typically involve a one-on-one or family-oriented approach requiring a 
different skill set than an emergency mental health response to a community or school crisis. 
 
JOINT PROTOCOLS: 
 
To best prepare for and manage the mental health recovery phase within the San Diego  County though Memorandums of 
Understanding with agencies who would provide crisis responses. The M.O.U. would include the followings: 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 52 of 54 9/30/24 
 

Schools and/or school districts require, as part of their Memorandums of Understanding with agencies and/or universities, all 
interns, therapists and mental health workers complete a crisis response training with the San Diego  County Mental Health 
Department before reporting to their assigned campuses.   In the event of a major crisis at a school site, or multiple school sites, the 
school district will determine if additional mental health support is required or anticipated. The District or School Logistics Officer or 
designee can notify the Ethnic Population Services Specialist at the San Diego  County Mental Health Department. A licensed mental 
health representative will immediately be sent to the incident location to conduct an initial assessment and make recommendations 
to the school/district and Mental Health Department and its partnering agencies as to the requirements for a responding mental 
health team(s). 
The lead supervisor will work in concert with the school/district representative to help identify appropriate teams/agencies that can 
best address the needs of students, staff and families. 
The lead supervisor will work in concert with the school/district representative to ensure that teams have the correct credentials, 
provide appropriate triage services that do not compromise police/fire investigations and are rotated to avoid fatigue. 
In police, fire or district debriefings with school staff, parents and impacted students, a representative from the San Diego  County 
Mental Health Department or one of the partnering agencies will be in attendance in order to make referrals for support services as 
required by the attendees. 
In keeping with research on the predictable response to crisis situations, call center numbers will be provided in order that members 
of the community can access necessary support in the days, weeks and months beyond the event. 
 
 
Tactical Responses to Criminal Incidents 
Shelter-In-Place 
Shelter in Place may be directed should there be a danger in the community that could present a danger to the school community or 
a situation at the school that could harm students or staff if they are outdoors. Incidents could include gas leaks, chemical spills, 
mountain lions or a predator in the neighborhood. 
 
When instructed or when an alerting system triggers a Shelter in Place: 
 
 SHELTER. Go inside the nearest building or classroom and remain there. Lock the door. You are looking for enclosed protection from 
the outside. Teachers should quickly check halls and get students into classrooms. Teachers will keep all students in the classroom 
until the emergency is resolved or directed to evacuate by the Principal and/or Public Safety Responders. 
SHUT. Close all doors and windows. The tighter and more complete the seal the better. Close as many windows and doors between 
the outside and your shelter-in-place room as possible. 
LISTEN. Remain quiet to hear critical instructions from school officials. 

• If there is no direction, continue instructional/work activities until the situation resolves or you directed to do otherwise. 
 
ADDITIONAL STEPS FOR TEACHERS AND STAFF IF APPROPRIATE: 
 
Advise students to cover mouth and nose with a damp cloth or handkerchief to protect from any airborne hazards. 
A school official (or student if no official present) should close all vents and turn off ventilation systems. The goal is to keep inside air 
in and outside air out. Air conditioners and heating systems bring outside air in. 
Turn off all motors and fans. Still, non-moving air is best. Turn off anything that creates wind, generates extra heat, or could 
generate sparks. 
Advise students to remain sheltered until the "all-clear" signal is given by a school or local official. 
 
Intruder on Campus 
The campus intruder is defined as a non-student or a student on suspension who loiters or creates disturbances on school property. 
Intruders are committing the crime of Criminal Trespass. Dangerous and/or concealed weapons are forbidden on school premises 
unless carried by law enforcement officers. 
 
Low Level: 
Have the person(s) under suspicion kept under constant covert surveillance. 
Approach and greet the intruder in a polite and non-threatening manner. 
Identify yourself as a school official. 
Ask the intruder for identification. 
Ask them what their purpose is for being on campus. 
Advise intruder of the trespass laws. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 53 of 54 9/30/24 
 

Ask the intruder to quietly leave the campus or invite him/her to accompany you to the office. If the intruder refuses to respond to 
your requests, inform him/her of your intention to summon law enforcement officers. 
If the intruder gives no indication of voluntarily leaving the premises, notify Police and Administration.  
H. Hostage Situation 
Staff and students should sit quietly if the situation is in their presence. TRY to remain calm. Staff should set the example if the 
armed intruder is in their presence by doing anything possible for the staff member and students to survive. If gun fire starts, staff 
and students should seek cover or begin rapid movement procedures. 
 
 Do not engage in a conversation or try to persuade the intruder to leave your classroom or school. Remember, you are in an illogical 
situation, so any logical argument may go unheard. The intruder is probably aware of the potential danger that he/she would be 
facing if he/she left the classroom. The intruder may perceive himself/herself as being sane. 
 If the intruder speaks to you or to your students, then answer him or her. Do not provoke him or her. Don't try to take matters into 
your own hands. Students should be told not to whisper to one-another, laugh, or to make fun of the intruder. Remember, the 
intruder is disturbed and probably mentally ill, and more than likely paranoid. Any whispering or laughter may be perceived by the 
intruder as directed at him or her. 
 Students should be taught to respond on their own when threatened. Incidents can occur which leave no time for signals. If 
students are outside unable to find access a room, they should, depending on the situation, initiate Action "TAKE COVER" position or 
run in a zig-zag fashion to the staging areas and 
STAY CALM. 
 If and when possible, call Administration and/or 9-1-1.  
 
Emergency Evacuation Procedures 
In an Emergency Building Evacuation all employees will: 
 
Upon emergency alert, secure work area and depart/report to assigned area. 
Perform duties as pre-assigned by the Principal in cooperation with emergency services personnel. 
DO NOT re-enter the building without permission or request of emergency service authorities. 
Remain in the general assembly areas and calm students if not assigned another duty. 
When signaled to re-enter safe areas of the school, quickly do so. 
Upon safe re-entry, report anything amiss to the Operations Chief. 
 
In an Emergency Building Evacuation teachers will also: 
 
Upon alert, assemble students for evacuation using designated routes and account for all students. 
Secure room. 
If possible, leave a note on the door advising where the class evacuated to if other than the standard assembly area. 
Upon arrival at the assembly area, account for all students. 
Secure medical treatment for injured students. 
Report any students missing or left behind because of serious injuries. 
Stay with and calm students. 
If signaled to re-enter school, assure students do so quickly and calmly. Account for all students. 
Check room and report anything amiss to the Team Leader and/or Operations Chief. Debrief students to calm fears about the 
evacuation. 
 
Emergency Campus Evacuation 
 
If it is necessary to evacuate the entire campus to another school or relief center, the Principal will: 
 
Notify the Superintendent of the Campus Evacuation. 
Cooperate with emergency authorities in enlisting students/staff with cars to help transport evacuees. Direct the evacuation, assure 
all students/staff are accounted for as they depart and arrive. 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 54 of 54 9/30/24 
 

 
Emergency Evacuation Map 
 



 
1LUSD 2024-2025

Effective January 2024, CA Ed Code 49414.3 Comprehensive School Safety Plans for school 
sites that serve grades 7-12 must include a plan for a response to an opioid overdose.  
 
Tierra del Sol Middle School PROCEDURES FOR 
PREVENTING OPIOID AND FENTANYL USE AND 
OVERDOSE 
Tierra del Sol’s primary goal in the fight against opioids and fentanyl use is prevention.   
 
Tierra del Sol Middle School will use the following prevention strategies:   

• Distribute materials to and/or discuss with students’ content conducive to preventing drug 
use/abuse such as, but not limited to:  

o How opioids and fentanyl affect the body’s systems. 
o Refusal strategies 
o The signs and symptoms of use/abuse 
o The science of addiction  

• Distribute safety advice to families regarding opioid overdose prevention.    
• Creating a supportive, safe and orderly environment conducive to learning by regularly 

assessing school climate and using data to develop goals and objectives to address gaps.   
• Providing training to staff on building protective factors in students, as well as 

recognizing the signs and symptoms of use/abuse. 
• Add additional strategies used at the school.  

 
Tierra del Sol Middle School will follow CA Ed Code 49414.3; 49414.8; LUSD’s Administering 
Medication and Monitoring Health Conditions BP 5141.12; AR 5141.21  
 
  

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=EDC&sectionNum=49414.3.


 
2LUSD 2024-2025

FIVE ESSENTIAL STEPS FOR INDIVIDUALS 
RESPONDING TO POSSIBLE OVERDOSE 
The following was developed and taken from The Department of Health and Human Services, 
Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration document SAMHSA Opioid 
Overdose Prevention Toolkit.  
 
Overdose is common among persons who use illicit opioids such as heroin and among those who 
misuse medications prescribed for pain such as oxycodone, hydrocodone, methadone, 
buprenorphine, and morphine. The incidence of opioid overdose is rising nationwide. In 2016, 
more than 42,000 of the drug overdose deaths in the United States involved some type of opioid, 
including heroin.  
 
To address the problem, emergency medical personnel, health care professionals, school 
personnel, people who use drugs, and other community members who may witness and respond 
to an overdose are being trained in the use of the opioid antagonist medication naloxone, which 
can reverse the potentially fatal respiratory depression caused by opioid overdose. (Note that 
naloxone has no effect on non-opioid overdoses, such as those involving cocaine, 
benzodiazepines, or alcohol. 
 
The steps outlined in this section are recommended to reduce the number of deaths resulting 
from opioid overdoses. 
 
STEP 1: EVALUATE FOR SIGNS OF OPIOID OVERDOSE 
 
Signs of OVERDOSE, which often results in death if not treated, include: 

• Unconsciousness or inability to awaken. 
• Slow or shallow breathing or breathing difficulty such as choking sounds or a 

gurgling/snoring noise from a person who cannot be awakened. 
• Fingernails or lips turning blue/purple. 

 
If an opioid overdose is suspected, stimulate the person: 

• Call the person’s name. 
• If this doesn’t work, vigorously grind knuckles into the sternum (the breastbone in 

middle of chest) or rub knuckles on the person’s upper lip. 
• If the person responds, assess whether he or she can maintain responsiveness and 

breathing. 
• Continue to monitor the person, including breathing and alertness, and try to keep the 

person awake and alert. 
If the person does not respond, call 911, provide rescue breathing if the person is not breathing on 
their own, and administer one dose of naloxone. 
 
STEP 2: CALL 911 FOR HELP 
 
AN OPIOID OVERDOSE NEEDS IMMEDIATE MEDICAL ATTENTION.  

https://store.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/five-essential-steps-for-first-responders.pdf
https://store.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/five-essential-steps-for-first-responders.pdf
https://store.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/five-essential-steps-for-first-responders.pdf


 
3LUSD 2024-2025

An essential step is to get someone with medical expertise to see the person as soon as possible. 
If no emergency medical services (EMS) or other trained personnel is on the scene, activate the 
911 emergency system immediately. All you have to say is “Someone is unresponsive and not 
breathing.” Be sure to give a specific address and/or description of your location. After calling 
911, follow the dispatcher’s instructions. If appropriate, the 911 operator will instruct you to 
begin CPR (technique based on rescuer’s level of training). 
 

STEP 3: ADMINISTER NALOXONE 
If the person overdosing does not respond within 2 to 3 minutes after administering a dose of 
naloxone, administer a second dose of naloxone. 
 
Naloxone should be administered to anyone who presents with signs of opioid overdose or when 
opioid overdose is suspected. Naloxone is approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) 
and has been used for decades by EMS personnel to reverse opioid overdose and resuscitate 
individuals who have overdosed on opioids. Research has shown that women, older people, and 
those without obvious signs of opioid use disorder are undertreated with naloxone and, as a 
result, have a higher death rate. Therefore, it is also important to consider naloxone 
administration in women and the elderly found unresponsive with opioid overdose. 
 
Naloxone can be given by intranasal spray and by intramuscular (into the muscle), subcutaneous 
(under the skin), or intravenous injection. 
 
Tierra del Sol Middle School uses intranasal spray.  
 
All naloxone products are effective in reversing opioid overdose, including fentanyl-involved 
opioid overdoses, although overdoses involving potent (e.g., fentanyl) or large quantities of 
opioids may require more doses of naloxone. 
 
DURATION OF EFFECT. The duration of effect of naloxone depends on dose, route of 
administration, and overdose symptoms and is shorter than the effects of some opioids. The goal 
of naloxone therapy should be to restore adequate spontaneous breathing, but not necessarily 
complete arousal. 
 
More than one dose of naloxone may be needed to revive someone who is overdosing. People 
who have taken longer acting or more potent opioids may require additional intravenous bolus 
doses or an infusion of naloxone. 
 
Comfort the person being treated, as withdrawal triggered by naloxone can feel unpleasant. 
Some people may become agitated or confused, which may improve by providing reassurance 
and explaining what is happening. 
 
SAFETY OF NALOXONE. The safety profile of naloxone is remarkably high, especially when 
used in low doses and titrated to effect. When given to individuals who are not opioid intoxicated 
or opioid dependent, naloxone produces no clinical effects, even at high doses. Moreover, 
although rapid opioid withdrawal in opioid-tolerant individuals may be unpleasant, it is not life 
threatening. 



 
4LUSD 2024-2025

 
Naloxone can be used in life-threatening opioid overdose circumstances in pregnant women. 
 
The FDA has approved an injectable naloxone, an intranasal naloxone, and a naloxone auto-
injector as emergency treatments for opioid overdose. People receiving naloxone kits that 
include a syringe and naloxone ampules or vials should receive brief training on how to assemble 
and administer the naloxone to the victim. The nasal spray is a prefilled, needle-free device that 
requires no assembly and that can deliver a single dose into one nostril. The auto-injector is 
injected into the outer thigh to deliver naloxone to the muscle (intramuscular) or under the skin 
(subcutaneous). Once turned on, the currently available device provides verbal instruction to the 
user describing how to deliver the medication, similar to automated defibrillators. Both the nasal 
spray and naloxone auto-injector are packaged in a carton containing two doses to allow for 
repeat dosing if needed. 
 
FENTANYL-INVOLVED OVERDOSES. Suspected opioid overdoses, including suspected 
fentanyl- involved overdoses, should be treated according to standard protocols. However, 
because of the higher potency of fentanyl and fentanyl analogs compared to that of heroin, 
multiple doses of naloxone may be required to reverse the opioid-induced respiratory depression 
from a fentanyl-involved overdose. 
Many anecdotes report more rapid respiratory depression with fentanyl than with heroin, 
although other reports do not reflect such rapid depression. 
 
Because of these effects, quicker oxygenation efforts and naloxone delivery may be warranted 
with fentanyl-involved overdoses compared with heroin-only overdoses. However, naloxone is 
an appropriate response for all opioid overdoses, including fentanyl-involved overdoses. 
 
STEP 4: SUPPORT THE PERSON’S BREATHING 
Ventilatory support is an important intervention and may be lifesaving on its own. Rescue 
breathing can be very effective in supporting respiration, and chest compressions can provide 
ventilatory support. 
 
Rescue breathing for adults involves the following steps: 

• Be sure the person’s airway is clear (check that nothing inside the person’s mouth or 
throat is blocking the airway). 

• Place one hand on the person’s chin, tilt the head back, and pinch the nose closed. 
• Place your mouth over the person’s mouth to make a seal and give two slow breaths. 
• Watch for the person’s chest (but not the stomach) to rise. 
• Follow up with one breath every 5 seconds. 

 
Chest compressions for adults involve the following steps: 



 
5LUSD 2024-2025

• Place the person on his or her back. 
• Press hard and fast on the center of the chest. 
• Keep your arms extended. 

 
STEP 5: MONITOR THE PERSON’S RESPONSE 
All people should be monitored for recurrence of signs and symptoms of opioid toxicity for at 
least 4 hours from the last dose of naloxone or discontinuation of the naloxone infusion. People 
who have overdosed on long-acting opioids should have more prolonged monitoring. 
 
Most people respond by returning to spontaneous breathing. The response generally occurs 
within 2 to 3 minutes of naloxone administration. (Continue resuscitation while waiting for the 
naloxone to take effect.) 
Because naloxone has a relatively short duration of effect, overdose symptoms may return. 
Therefore, it is essential to get the person to an emergency department or other source of medical 
care as quickly as possible, even if the person revives after the initial dose of naloxone and seems 
to feel better. 
 
SIGNS OF OPIOID WITHDRAWAL. The signs and symptoms of opioid withdrawal in an 
individual who is physically dependent on opioids may include body aches, diarrhea, 
tachycardia, fever, runny nose, sneezing, piloerection (gooseflesh), sweating, yawning, nausea or 
vomiting, nervousness, restlessness or irritability, shivering or trembling, abdominal cramps, 
weakness, tearing, insomnia, opioid craving, dilated pupils, and increased blood pressure. These 
symptoms are uncomfortable, but not life threatening. After an overdose, a person dependent on 
opioids should be medically monitored for safety and offered assistance to get into treatment for 
opioid use disorder. 
 
If a person does not respond to naloxone, an alternative explanation for the clinical symptoms 
should be considered. The most likely explanation is that the person is not overdosing on an 
opioid but rather some other substance or may be experiencing a non-overdose medical 
emergency. 
 
In all cases, support of ventilation, oxygenation, and blood pressure should be sufficient to 
prevent the complications of opioid overdose and should be given priority if the response to 
naloxone is not prompt. 
 



 
6LUSD 2024-2025

DO’S AND DON’TS WHEN RESPONDING TO OPIOID OVERDOSE 
• DO attend to the person’s breathing and cardiovascular support needs by 

administering oxygen or performing rescue breathing and/or chest compressions. 
• DO administer naloxone and utilize a second dose, if no response to the first dose. 
• DO put the person in the “recovery position” on the side, if you must leave the person 

unattended for any reason. 
• DO stay with the person and keep the person warm. 
• DON’T slap or forcefully try to stimulate the person; it will only cause further injury. If 

you cannot wake the person by shouting, rubbing your knuckles on the sternum 
(center of the chest or rib cage), or light pinching, the person may be unconscious. 

• DON’T put the person into a cold bath or shower. This increases the risk of falling, 
drowning, or going into shock. 

• DON’T inject the person with any substance (e.g., saltwater, milk, stimulants). The 
only safe and appropriate treatment is naloxone. 

• DON’T try to make the person vomit drugs that may have been swallowed. Choking 
or inhaling vomit into the lungs can cause a fatal injury. 

• NOTE: All naloxone products have an expiration date, so it is important to check the 
expiration date and obtain replacement naloxone as needed. 

  



 
7LUSD 2024-2025

  



 
8LUSD 2024-2025

OPIOID ANTAGONIST MEDICATION SPECIFICS 
 
TRAINING 
Training is required prior to the administration of Naloxone.  Education Code 49413.3 outlines 
training requirements for K-12 schools, which is required initially and then annually. Topics 
include: 

• Techniques for recognizing symptoms of an opioid overdose 
• Standards and procedures for the storage, restocking, and emergency use of Narcan 
• Basic emergency follow-up procedures, including but not limited to, a requirement for 

the school administration or designee to call emergency medical services and to 
contact the student’s parent/guardian.  Recommendations on the necessity of 
instruction and certification in cardiopulmonary resuscitation  

• Written materials covering the information required under this subdivision 
 
STORAGE 
Naloxone will be stored in accordance with manufacturer’s instructions to avoid extreme cold, 
heat, and direct sunlight. Naloxone has a shelf life of 18 months to two years and should be 
stored between 59 and 86 degrees Fahrenheit and should be kept away from direct sunlight.  It 
should be stored in a secured but unlocked location, where all trained personnel shall have access 
to the medication. Inspection of the naloxone shall be conducted at regular intervals. 
 
OPIOID ANTAGONIST NALOXONE PROCEDURE TRAINING DOCUMENTATION 
The Principal shall designate two more volunteer employees to receive initial and annual 
refresher training based on standards adopted by the SPI regarding the storage and emergency 
use of naloxone hydrochloride, or other opioid antagonist LUSD BP 5141.21, AR 5141.21.  
 
This training will be provided at no cost to the employee, conducted during regular work hours, 
and be provided by a school nurse or other qualified person designated by an authorized 
physician and surgeon. Written materials provided during the training shall be retained at the 
school office for reference CA Ed Code 49414.3 and CA Ed Code 49414.8.  
 
Each volunteer shall meet the minimum standards of training for the administration of an 
emergency opioid antagonist or shall have undergone opioid overdose prevention and treatment 
training and reviewed material available on the California Department of Public Health Website 
CA Ed Code 49414.8 
 
Employees and volunteers that render emergency treatment at the scene of an opioid overdose, or 
suspected opioid overdose, by administering an opioid antagonist shall not be liable for civil 
damages resulting from an act or omission, unless such act constitutes gross negligence or willful 
or wanton misconduct Health and Safety Code 1799.113. 
  



 
9LUSD 2024-2025

OPIOID ANTAGONIST NALOXONE PROCEDURE TRAINING DOCUMENTATION 
 
Lakeside Union School District has elected to make emergency naloxone hydrochloride or 
another opioid antagonist available at schools for the purpose of providing emergency medical 
aid to persons suffering, or reasonably believed to be suffering, from an opioid overdose 
(Administering Medication and Monitoring Health Conditions LUSD BP 5141.12; AR 5141.21 
in accordance with CA Ed Code 49414.3; 49414.8. 
The Principal shall designate two more volunteer employees to receive initial and annual 
refresher training based on standards adopted by the SPI regarding the storage and emergency 
use of naloxone hydrochloride or other opioid antagonist as per LUSD BP 5141.21, AR 5141.21.  
 
 

 
SAMPLE INDIVIDUAL DOCUMENTATION 
 

Lakeside Union School District Health Procedure Training – Opioid Antagonist Naloxone 
Documentation at Tierra del Sol Middle School 

 
I, ______________________________ have read, been trained and understand the following  
    (Print Full Name)  
procedures for individual with identified opioid overdose:  
 

• Understanding and identifying of signs of overdose 
• Administration of Intra-Nasal Naloxone 
• Emergency Notification procedures 
• Naloxone Administration Report Form 

 
_____  I understand I need to maintain my skills and will be observed on an ongoing basis by the 
Credentialed School Nurse 
______ I have had the opportunity to ask questions and have received satisfactory answers to my 
questions.   
______ I possess a current CPR card, expiration date is: ________________________ 

 

Naloxone Trained Individuals 
NAME POSITION LOCATION (Classroom/Office) 

   

   

   

   

   

   



 
10LUSD 2024-2025

 
 
 



TIERRA DEL SOL MIDDLE SCHOOL PRIMARY EVACUATION ROUTE EAGLE’S NEST 
2023-2024 

GRASS FIELD 

EVACUATION ROUTES MAP 

Courts

  3  2  1  Kitchen 
 Band.  Vildibill 

B Science B     Stage 
Lappin 
  4  5  6 
Curtis  Lopez 

 Staff 
Lounge    Office 

4 King      3Rinck 

A 
5 Dance       2 JNguyen

 Robbins  
6  Art Room 

1Danks Spencer  6 
Johnson 

2 sNguyenC         Frost  5 
 Library 

   Grossett     4
3 Wu  
      C Science    Speech  

Koch  

6       5   4   Psych.
 Gonzalez  Castaneda  Herrera 

Grosskreutz/
r  

D      D  Science 
 Klinko 

Will   Stevens  McCoy 
1       2  3 

P 1 
Yeung 

P5 
Schmitz 

8  

S
e
a 
C
a
d
e

PARKING 

Bike 
Rack 

Curtis 
Farren   Schwuchow

PE
Boys      Girls

Girls

Am
phitheater 

P 3 
Mooney 

    P4 
Tupper 

D 
I 
R 
T 

F 
I 
E 
L 
D 

P6 
Bishop 

P 2 
Tran 

P8 
Pauko
vitz 

P7 
Henke 

Command Post #1

Mass Care Center #1

Mass Care Center #2

Evacuation Center #1

Command
Post #2

Evacuation Center: Off Campus

Woestman  

lhardiman
Highlight

lhardiman
Highlight

lhardiman
Highlight

lhardiman
Highlight

lhardiman
Highlight

lhardiman
Highlight



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 1 of 56 9/30/24 
 

 
 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 
 

2024-2025 
School Year 

 
 

School: Winter Gardens Elementary School 

CDS Code:  37681896038392 

District: Lakeside Union School District 

Address:  8501 Pueblo Rd. 
Lakeside, CA 92040 

Date of Adoption: October 24, 2018 

Date of Update: October 2, 2024 

Date of Review:  

   - with Staff Sept. 27, 2024 

   - with Law Enforcement Sept. 27, 2024 

   - with Fire Authority Sept. 27, 2024 
 

Approved by: 
Name Title Signature Date 

John Greenwell Principal 

 

 

Fabiola Benito Parent Rep   

Mariam Mitlich Certificated Rep   

Michelle Castrejon Classified Rep   

Sean O'Rourke Law Enforcement   

Trevar Sidman Fire Marshal   
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2 of 56 9/30/24 
 

 
Table of Contents 

 
Comprehensive School Safety Plan Purpose ..............................................................................................................................................4 

Safety Plan Vision .......................................................................................................................................................................................4 

(A) Child Abuse Reporting Procedures (EC 35294.2 [a] [2]; PC 11166) ..................................................................................................6 

(B) Disaster Procedures (EC 35295-35297; GC 8607 and 3100) .............................................................................................................7 

(C) School Suspension, Expulsion and Mandatory Expulsion Guidelines .............................................................................................18 

(D) Procedures to Notify Teachers of Dangerous Pupils (EC 49079) ....................................................................................................21 

(E) Sexual Harassment Policies (EC 212.6 [b]) ......................................................................................................................................22 

(F) School-wide Dress Code Relating to Gang-Related Apparel (EC 35183) .........................................................................................25 

(G) Procedure for Safe Ingress and Egress of Pupils, Parents, and Staff to and from School (EC 35294.2) .........................................25 

(I) School Discipline Rules and Consequences (EC 35291 and EC 35291.5) .........................................................................................26 

(J) Procedures to Prepare for Active Shooters .....................................................................................................................................28 

Procedures for Preventing Acts of Bullying and Cyber-bullying ...........................................................................................................30 

Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures .................................................................................................................33 

Safety Plan Appendices ............................................................................................................................................................................34 

Emergency Contact Numbers ..............................................................................................................................................................35 

Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures .............................................................................................................36 

Winter Gardens Elementary School Incident Command System .........................................................................................................37 

Incident Command Team Responsibilities ...........................................................................................................................................39 

Emergency Response Guidelines .........................................................................................................................................................41 

Step One: Identify the Type of Emergency ..........................................................................................................................................41 

Step Two: Identify the Level of Emergency ..........................................................................................................................................41 

Step Three: Determine the Immediate Response Action ....................................................................................................................41 

Step Four: Communicate the Appropriate Response Action ...............................................................................................................42 

Types of Emergencies & Specific Procedures .......................................................................................................................................44 

Armed Assault on Campus ...............................................................................................................................................................44 

Biological or Chemical Release .........................................................................................................................................................44 

Bomb Threat/ Threat Of violence ....................................................................................................................................................50 

Earthquake .......................................................................................................................................................................................51 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 3 of 56 9/30/24 
 

Fire in Surrounding Area ..................................................................................................................................................................51 

Fire on School Grounds ....................................................................................................................................................................52 

Loss or Failure Of Utilities ................................................................................................................................................................52 

Psychological Trauma .......................................................................................................................................................................53 

Tactical Responses to Criminal Incidents .........................................................................................................................................54 

Emergency Evacuation Map .................................................................................................................................................................56 

 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 4 of 56 9/30/24 
 

 
Comprehensive School Safety Plan Purpose 
 
Effective January 1, 2019, Assembly Bill 1747 (Rodriguez), School Safety Plans, became law. This bill requires that during the writing 
and development of the comprehensive school safety plan (CSSP), the school site council or safety committee consult with a fire 
department and other first responder entities in addition to currently required entities. It requires the CSSP and any updates made 
to the plan to be shared with the law enforcement agency, the fire department, and the other first responder entities. 
 
The California Education Code (sections 32280-32288) outlines the requirements of all schools operating any kindergarten and any 
grades 1 to 12, inclusive, to write and develop a school safety plan relevant to the needs and resources of that particular school. 
 
In 2004, the Legislature and Governor recast and renumbered the Comprehensive School Safety Plan provisions in SB 719 and AB 
115. It is the intent ofthe Legislature in enacting the provisions to support California public schools as they develop their mandated 
comprehensive safety plans that are the result of a systematic planning process, that include strategies aimed at the prevention of, 
and education about, potential incidents involving crime and violence on school campuses. 
 
The historical requirement of the Comprehensive School Safety Plan was presented in Senate Bill 187, which was approved by the 
Governor and chaptered in 1997. This legislation contained a sunset clause that stated that this legislation would remain in effect 
only until January I, 2000. Senate Bill 334 was approved and chaptered in 1999 and perpetuated this legislation under the 
requirement of the initial legislation. 
 
Comprehensive School Safety Plans are required under SB 719 & AB 115 and contains the following elements: 
 
Assessment of school crime committed on school campuses and at school-related functions 

• Child abuse reporting procedures 
• Disaster procedures 
• Suspension and expulsion policies 
• Procedures to notify teachers of dangerous pupils 
• Discrimination and harassment policies 
• School wide dress code policies 
• Procedures for safe ingress and egress 
• Policies enacted to maintain a safe and orderly environment 
• Rules and procedures on school discipline 
• Hate crime reporting procedures 

 
The Comprehensive School Safety Plan will be reviewed and updated by March 1st every year. In July of every year, the school will 
report on the status of its school safety plan including a description of its key elements in the annual school accountability report 
card. 
 
A copy of the Comprehensive School Safety Plan is available for review at school office. 
 
Safety Plan Vision 
The Comprehensive School Safety Plan Process & Templates is designed to be utilized as a school resource for 
prevention/mitigation, preparedness, response and recovery planning and training as well as functioning as a template for meeting 
the requirements for the annual Safety Plan Process under SB 187 and the National incident Management System. It is designed to 
be an electronic or hard-copy Safety Plan. The template is also designed as a living document to be updated as necessary to meet 
site, district and community needs, forms or requirements. 
 
Individual schools in districts over 2,500 students must adopt a comprehensive school safety plan by March 1, 2000, and must 
review and update the plan by March 1 of every year thereafter. (Amended Ed. Codes 35294.1 & 35294.6) 
 
Beginning July 1, 2000, each individual school must report on the status of its school safety plan, including a description of its key 
elements in the school accountability report card, and must continue to do so every July thereafter. (Amended Ed. Code 35294.6) 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 5 of 56 9/30/24 
 

The following guideline may be utilized to support the annual review and evaluation of the individual school safety plan. This guide 
will also provide a time line and related administrative tasks to provide a process to ensure compliance with the requirements of 
Senate Bill 187, Comprehensive School Safety Plan. 
 
The guideline/checklist has been organized into two parts: 
 
An assessment by the School Safety Planning Committee of the School Site Council, the School Site Council or equivalent of the 
school climate in relation to the current status of school crime committed on campus and at school related functions. Based on this 
assessment, safety goals will be set for the upcoming school year 
 
The annual review and evaluation of the school comprehensive safety plan which is certified by the members of the School Safety 
Planning Committee, the School Site Council President, and the school Principal before being presented to the Board of Trustees for 
final review and adoption. This review includes the following mandated components of Senate Bill 187: 
 
Child Abuse reporting procedures 
Policies pursuant to Education Code 48915(c) and other school-designated serious acts which would 
lead to suspension, expulsion, or mandatory expulsion recommendations 
Procedures to notify teachers and counselors of dangerous students 
Sexual Harassment Policy 
Safe ingress and egress to and from school 
Rules and procedures on school discipline in order to create a safe and orderly environment conducive to learning 
Dress Code 
Routine and emergency disaster procedures including natural disasters, human created disasters or power outages. 
 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 6 of 56 9/30/24 
 

 
(A) Child Abuse Reporting Procedures (EC 35294.2 [a] [2]; PC 11166) 
A. Definition of Child Abuse 
 
Child abuse means a physical injury that is inflicted by other than accidental on a child by another person. Child Abuse also means 
the sexual abuse of a child or any act or omission pertaining to child abuse reporting laws (willful cruelty, unjustifiable punishment of 
a child, unlawful corporal punishment or injury). Child abuse also means the physical or emotional neglect of a child or abuse in out-
of-home care. 
 
1. Child Abuse 
Injury inflicted by another person 
Sexual Abuse 
Neglect of child's physical, health, and emotional needs. 
Unusual and willful cruelty; unjustifiable punishment. Unlawful corporal punishment. 
 
2. Not Considered Child Abuse 
Mutual affray between minors 
Injury caused by reasonable and necessary force used by a peace officer: 
To quell a disturbance threatening physical injury to a person or damage property 
To prevent physical injury to another person or damage to property 
For purposes of self-defense 
To obtain possession of weapons or other dangerous objects within the control of a child To apprehend an escapee 
 
B. Mandated Child Abuse Reporting 
Any child care custodian, health practitioner, or employee of a child protective agency who has knowledge of or observes a child in 
his or her professional capacity or within the scope of his or her employment whom he or she knows or reasonably suspects has 
been the victim of child abuse shall report the known or suspected instance of child abuse to a child protective agency by telephone 
and written report: 
The telephone call must be made immediately or as soon as practicably possible by telephone. 
AND 
A written report must be sent within 36 hours of the telephone call to the child protective agency.   Any child care custodian, health 
practitioner, or employee of a child protective agency who has knowledge of or who reasonably suspects mental suffering has been 
inflicted on a child or his or her emotional well-being is endangered in any other way, may report such known or suspected instance 
of child abuse to a child protective agency. 
When two or more persons who are required to report are present and jointly knowledge of a known or suspected instance of child 
abuse, and when there is agreement among them, the telephone report may be made by a member of the team selected by mutual 
agreement and a single report may be made and signed by the selected member of the reporting team. Any member who has 
knowledge that the member designated to make the report failed to do so, shall thereafter make such a report. 
The intent and purpose of the law is to protect children from abuse. The definition of a child is any person under 18 years of age. 
This entire section on Child Abuse was been taken from California Laws Relating To Minors manual. 
 
C. Sexual Activity 
 
Child abuse laws change from time to time. Should you suspect that a student is engaged in unlawful sexual activity, please consult 
with the school social worker and campus officer to determine if particular provisions under this section are current and in effect. 
Involuntary sexual activity is always reportable. 
Incest, even if voluntary is always reportable. Incest is a marriage or act of intercourse between parents and children; ancestors and 
descendants of every degree; brothers and sisters of half and whole blood and uncles and nieces or aunts and nephews. (Family 
Code 2200). 
Voluntary Sexual Activity may or may not be reportable. Even if the behavior voluntary, there are circumstances where the behavior 
is abusive, either by Penal Code definition or because of an exploitative relationship, then this behavior must be reported. If there is 
reasonable suspicion of sexual abuse prior to the consensual activity, the abuse must be reported. 
 
Reportable Sexual Activity if a Child is 14 Years of Age and: 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 7 of 56 9/30/24 
 

Partner is younger than 14 years old, but there is a disparity in chronological or maturational age or indications of intimidation, 
coercion or bribery or other indications of an exploitative relationship. Partner is 14 years or older lewd & lascivious acts committed 
by a partner of any age partner is alleged spouse and over 14 years of age. 
 
Reportable Sexual Activity if the Child is 14 or 15 years and: 
There is unlawful sexual intercourse with a partner older than 14 but less than 21 years of age and there is no indication of abuse or 
evidence of an exploitative relationship there is unlawful sexual intercourse with a partner older than 21 years 
There is lewd and lascivious acts committed by a partner more than 10 years older than the child The partner is the alleged spouse 
and over 21 years of age 
 
Reportable Sexual Activity if the Child is 16 or 17 years and: 
The partner is less than 14 years of age 
There is unlawful sexual intercourse with a partner older than 14 and there is evidence of an exploitative relationship 
The partner is the alleged spouse and there is evidence of an exploitative relationship 
 
Reportable Sexual Activity if the Child is under 18 years: 
Sodomy, oral copulation, penetration of a genital or anal opening by a foreign object, even if consensual, with a partner of any age. 
 
Not Reportable Sexual Activity: 
Child is 14 years or younger and partner is younger than 14 years and of similar age or maturational age. Sexual behavior is voluntary 
and consensual. There are no indications of intimidation, coercion, bribery, or other indications of an exploitative relationship. 
Unlawful sexual intercourse of a child 14 to 15-years old with a partner older than 14 and less than 21 years of age and there is no 
indication of abuse or evidence of an exploitative relationship. 
Unlawful sexual intercourse with a child 16 or 17 years with a partner older than 14 and there is no indication of an exploitative 
relationship. 
 
Mandated reports of sexual activity must be reported to either the Department of Family & Children's Services (DFCS) or to the 
appropriate police jurisdiction. This information will then be cross-reported to the other legal agency. 
 
D. Failure to Report Known or Suspected Child Abuse 
 
Failure to report known or reasonable suspicion of child abuse, including sexual abuse, is a misdemeanor. Mandated reporters are 
provided with immunity from civil or criminal liability as a result of making a mandated report of child abuse. 
 
This information has been taken directly from the San Diego  County Child Abuse Council Informational Handout. 
 
E. Child Abuse Reporting Number: (800) 344-6000 
 
F. Staff Training: All staff engage in mandated child abuse reporting training annually. 
 
 
(B) Disaster Procedures (EC 35295-35297; GC 8607 and 3100) 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 8 of 56 9/30/24 
 

Disaster Plan (See Appendix C-F) 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 9 of 56 9/30/24 
 

. Routine and Emergency Disaster Procedures: Drills 
The Basic Plan 
 
The Basic Plan addresses the Lakeside Union School District 's responsibilities in emergencies associated with natural disaster, 
human-caused emergencies and technological incidents. It provides a framework for coordination of response and recovery efforts 
within the District in coordination and with local, State, and Federal agencies. The Plan establishes an emergency organization to 
direct and control operations at all sites during a period of emergency by assigning responsibilities to specific personnel. The Basic 
Plan: 
 
 Conforms to the Federally mandated National Incident Management System (NIMS), State mandated Standardized Emergency 
Management System (SEMS) and effectively restructures emergency response at all levels in compliance with the Incident Command 
System (ICS). 
Establishes response policies and procedures, providing $district_name$ clear guidance for planning purposes. 
Describes and details procedural steps necessary to protect lives and property. 
Outlines coordination requirements. 
Provides a basis for unified training and response exercises to ensure compliance. 
 
Requirements 
 
The Plan meets the requirements of San Diego County's policies on Emergency Response and Planning, the Standardized Emergency 
Management System (SEMS) Operational Area Response, and defines the primary and support roles of the District and individual 
schools in after-incident damage assessment and reporting requirements. 
 
Protect the safety and welfare of students, employees and staff. 
Provide for a safe and coordinated response to emergencies. 
Protect the District's facilities and properties. 
Enable the District to restore normal conditions with minimal confusion in the shortest time possible. Provide for interface and 
coordination between sites and the District Emergency Operations Center (EOC). 
Provide for interface and coordination between sites and the County or city EOC in which they reside. Provide for the orderly 
conversion of pre-designated District sites to American Red Cross shelters, when necessary. 
 
Schools are required by both federal statute and state regulation to be available for shelters following a disaster. The American Red 
Cross (ARC) has access to schools in damaged areas to set up their mass care facilities, and local governments have a right to use 
schools for the same purposes. This requires close cooperation between school officials and ARC or local government 
representatives, and should be planned and arranged for in advance. 
 
Authorities and References - State of California 
 
California Emergency Services Act (Chapter 7, Division 1, Title 2, California Government Code). 
 
The Act provides the basic authorities for conducting emergency operations following a proclamation of Local Emergency, State of 
Emergency, or State of War Emergency by the Governor and/or appropriate local authorities, consistent with the provisions of this 
Act. 
 
California Government Code, Section 3100, Title 1, Division 4, Chapter 4. 
 
States that public employees are disaster service workers, subject to such disaster service activities as may be assigned to them by 
their superiors or by law. The term "public employees" includes all persons employed by the state or any county, city, city and 
county, state agency or public district, excluding aliens legally employed. 
 
California Emergency Plan 
 
Promulgated by the Governor, and published in accordance with the California Emergency Services Act, it provides overall statewide 
authorities and responsibilities, and describes the functions and operations of government at all levels during extraordinary 
emergencies, including wartime. Section 8568 of the Act states, in part, that "...the State Emergency Plan shall be in effect in each 
political subdivision of the state, and the governing body of each political subdivision shall take such action as may be necessary to 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 10 of 56 9/30/24 
 

carry out the provisions thereof." Therefore, local emergency plans are considered extensions of the California Emergency Plan. 
A. Earthquake Drills 
The earthquake emergency procedure system shall, but not be limited to, all of the following: 
 
A school building disaster plan, ready for implementation at any time, for maintaining the safety and care of students and staffs. 
 
A drop procedure. As used in this article, "drop procedure" means an activity whereby each student and staff member take cover 
under a table or desk, dropping to his or her knees, with the head protected by the arms, and the back to the windows. A drop 
procedure practice shall be held at least once each school quarter in elementary schools and at least once a semester in secondary 
schools. 
 
Protective measures to be taken before, during, and following an earthquake. A program to ensure that the students and that both 
the certificated and classified staff are aware of, and properly trained in, the earthquake emergency procedure system. 
(Code of Regulations, Section 35297) 
 
Whenever an earthquake alarm is sounded, all students, teachers and other employees shall immediately begin Duck, Cover and 
Hold procedures: 
 
DUCK, or DROP down on the floor. 
Take COVER under a sturdy desk, table or other furniture with backs to the windows. Protect head and neck with arms. 
HOLD onto the furniture and be prepared to move with it. 
Stay in this position for at least one minute or, in a real situation, until shaking stops. 
 
Evacuation. An Evacuation should NEVER be automatic. There may be more danger outside the building than there is inside. If 
administrative directions are not forthcoming, the teacher will be responsible for assessing the situation and determining if an 
evacuation is required. 
 
Pre-determined evacuation areas should be in open areas, without overhead hazards and removed from potential danger spots 
(covered walkways, large gas mains, chain linked fences [electric shock potential]). 
 
Make it clear that a post-earthquake route differs from a fire evacuation route, and that appropriate nonhazardous alternate routes 
may be needed. 
 
Practice evacuation using alternate routes to the assembly areas. 
 
Students are to remain with their teacher in the evacuation area. Teachers shall take their roll books, take roll once in the evacuation 
area and be prepared to identify missing students to administrators and/first responders. 
 
The principal or designee shall keep a copy of each drill conducted on the Emergency Drill Report form and file a copy with the 
Superintendent/designee. 
 
Standards for a Successful Earthquake Drill: 
 
The Earthquake Alarm can be heard by all staff and students. 
 
Immediately after the earthquake alarm sounds, all students, teachers and other employees shall: 
 
DUCK, or DROP down on the floor. 
Take COVER under a sturdy desk, table or other furniture with backs to the windows. Protect head and neck with arms. 
HOLD onto the furniture and be prepared to move with it. 
 
Evacuations shall occur when directed over the loud speaker by the Principal/designee. When evacuations are included as part of 
the drill, appropriate non-hazardous alternate routes, avoiding building overhangs, electrical wires, large trees, covered walkways, 
etc., shall be utilized by staff and students in order to reach the designated evacuation areas. 
 
Teachers have taken roll once in the evacuation area. Any missing students are immediately reported to the Principal/designee. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 11 of 56 9/30/24 
 

 
Upon sounding of the all clear students and staff return to their appropriate classroom and the teacher takes roll once more. Missing 
students are reported to the attendance office. 
B. Fire Drills 
Whenever the fire alarm is given, all students, teachers and other employees shall quickly leave the building in an orderly manner. 
Teachers shall ascertain that no student remains in the building. Designated evacuation routes shall be posted in each room. 
Teachers shall be prepared to select alternate exits and direct their classes to these exits in the event the designated evacuation 
route is blocked. 
Evacuation areas will be established away from fire lanes. 
Students are to remain with their teacher in the evacuation area. Teachers shall take their roll books, take roll once in the evacuation 
area and be prepared to identify missing students to administrators and/or fire marshals/designees. 
 The principal or designee shall keep a copy of each drill conducted on the Emergency Drill Report form and file a copy with the 
Superintendent/designee. 
 
Standards for a Successful Fire Drill: 
 
The Fire Alarm can be heard by all staff and students. 
Orderly evacuation begins immediately and is completed within 5 minutes of the initial alarm, with minimal congestion at exit gates. 
Evacuation areas will be established away from fire lanes. 
Teachers and students are staged in an orderly fashion away from fire lanes. 
Teachers have taken roll once in the evacuation area. Any missing students are immediately reported to the Principal/designee. 
Upon sounding of the all clear students and staff return to their appropriate classroom and the teacher takes roll once more. Missing 
students are reported to the attendance office. 
C. Active Shooter/Lockdown Drills 
For sites that have had Active shooter Training, conducting an Active shooter Lockdown Drill initially involves more pre-planning and 
organization than conducting other drills. Middle and high schools should conduct an annual drill, which should take no longer than 
40 minutes and impact class time by 20 minutes. Elementary schools should conduct drills every other year (or annually, if the local 
police department has the resources to support the drills). Drills need to be scheduled with your School Resource or Liaison Officers. 
 
There are a number of steps that are recommended in the Active shooter Training in order to successfully conduct your drill. They 
involve: 
 
 Conduct a staff meeting. Plan on a 20 minute timeframe to review expectations and standards in terms of: 
a. Locking doors 
b. Covering windows 
c. Turning off lights 
d. Building barricades 
e. Reviewing classroom and all clear procedures 
f. Reviewing off site evacuation locations 
Send a follow-up reminder memo to your staff. 
Organize your assessment team. This also provides an excellent opportunity for your Critical Response Team to work together with 
police participants in the drill. 
Conduct the assessment. 
Complete follow-up tasks. 
 
Remember, you are setting the tone for the importance of safety for students and staff on your campus. 
VI. Routine and Emergency Disaster Procedures: Overview 
The Basic Plan 
 
The Basic Plan addresses the Lakeside Union School District 's responsibilities in emergencies associated with natural disaster, 
human-caused emergencies and technological incidents. It provides a framework for coordination of response and recovery efforts 
within the District in coordination and with local, State, and Federal agencies. The Plan establishes an emergency organization to 
direct and control operations at all sites during a period of emergency by assigning responsibilities to specific personnel. The Basic 
Plan: 
 
 Conforms to the Federally mandated National Incident Management System (NIMS), State mandated Standardized Emergency 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 12 of 56 9/30/24 
 

Management System (SEMS) and effectively restructures emergency response at all levels in compliance with the Incident Command 
System (ICS). 
Establishes response policies and procedures, providing Lakeside Union School District clear guidance for planning purposes. 
Describes and details procedural steps necessary to protect lives and property. 
Outlines coordination requirements. 
Provides a basis for unified training and response exercises to ensure compliance. 
 
Requirements 
 
The Plan meets the requirements of San Diego County's policies on Emergency Response and Planning, the Standardized Emergency 
Management System (SEMS) Operational Area Response, and defines the primary and support roles of the District and individual 
schools in after-incident damage assessment and reporting requirements. 
 
Protect the safety and welfare of students, employees and staff. 
Provide for a safe and coordinated response to emergencies. 
Protect the District's facilities and properties. 
Enable the District to restore normal conditions with minimal confusion in the shortest time possible. Provide for interface and 
coordination between sites and the District Emergency Operations Center (EOC). 
Provide for interface and coordination between sites and the County or city EOC in which they reside. Provide for the orderly 
conversion of pre-designated District sites to American Red Cross shelters, when necessary. 
 
Schools are required by both federal statute and state regulation to be available for shelters following a disaster. The American Red 
Cross (ARC) has access to schools in damaged areas to set up their mass care facilities, and local governments have a right to use 
schools for the same purposes. This requires close cooperation between school officials and ARC or local government 
representatives, and should be planned and arranged for in advance. 
 
Authorities and References - State of California 
 
California Emergency Services Act (Chapter 7, Division 1, Title 2, California Government Code). 
 
The Act provides the basic authorities for conducting emergency operations following a proclamation of Local Emergency, State of 
Emergency, or State of War Emergency by the Governor and/or appropriate local authorities, consistent with the provisions of this 
Act. 
 
California Government Code, Section 3100, Title 1, Division 4, Chapter 4. 
 
States that public employees are disaster service workers, subject to such disaster service activities as may be assigned to them by 
their superiors or by law. The term "public employees" includes all persons employed by the state or any county, city, city and 
county, state agency or public district, excluding aliens legally employed. 
 
California Emergency Plan 
 
Promulgated by the Governor, and published in accordance with the California Emergency Services Act, it provides overall statewide 
authorities and responsibilities, and describes the functions and operations of government at all levels during extraordinary 
emergencies, including wartime. Section 8568 of the Act states, in part, that "...the State Emergency Plan shall be in effect in each 
political subdivision of the state, and the governing body of each political subdivision shall take such action as may be necessary to 
carry out the provisions thereof." Therefore, local emergency plans are considered extensions of the California Emergency Plan. 
A. Definition: Incidents, Emergencies, Disasters 
Incident 
 
An incident is an occurrence or event, either human-caused or caused by natural phenomena, that requires action by emergency 
response personnel to prevent or minimize loss of life or damage to property and/or natural resources. 
 
Incidents may result in extreme peril to the safety of persons and property and may lead to, or create conditions of disaster. 
Incidents may also be rapidly mitigated without loss or damage. Although they may not meet disaster level definition, larger 
incidents may call for managers to proclaim a "Local Emergency". 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 13 of 56 9/30/24 
 

 
Incidents are usually a single event that may be small or large. They occur in a defined geographical area and require local resources 
or, sometimes, mutual aid. There is usually one to a few agencies involved in dealing with an ordinary threat to life and property and 
to a limited population. Usually a local emergency is not declared and the jurisdictional EOC is not activated. Incidents are usually of 
short duration, measured in hours or, at most, a few days. Primary command decisions are made at the scene along with strategy, 
tactics, and resource management decisions 
 
Emergency 
 
The term emergency is used in several ways. It is a condition of disaster or of extreme peril to the safety of persons and property. In 
this context, an emergency and an incident could mean the same thing, although an emergency could have more than one incident 
associated with it. 
 
Emergency is also used in Standardized Emergency Management System (SEMS) terminology to describe agencies or facilities, e.g., 
Emergency Response Agency, Emergency Operations Center, etc. 
 
Emergency also defines a conditional state such as a proclamation of "Local Emergency". The California Emergency Services Act, of 
which SEMS is a part, describes three states of emergency: 
 
State of War Emergency 
State of Emergency 
State of Local Emergency 
 
Disaster 
 
A disaster is defined as sudden calamitous emergency event bringing great damage, loss, or destruction. Disasters may occur with 
little or no advance warning, e.g., an earthquake or a flash flood, or they may develop from one or more incidents, e.g., a major 
wildfire or hazardous materials discharge. 
 
Disasters are either single or multiple events that have many separate incidents associated with them. The resource demand goes 
beyond local capabilities and extensive mutual aid and support are needed. There are many agencies and jurisdictions involved 
including multiple layers of government. There is usually an extraordinary threat to life and property affecting a generally 
widespread population and geographical area. A disaster's effects last over a substantial period of time (days to weeks) and local 
government will proclaim a Local Emergency. Emergency Operations Centers are activated to provide centralized overall 
coordination of jurisdictional assets, departments and incident support functions. Initial recovery coordination is also a responsibility 
of the EOCs.  
 
B. Earthquake Overview 
Major Earthquake Threat Summary 
 
Earthquakes are sudden releases of strain energy stored in the earth's bedrock. The great majority of earthquakes are not dangerous 
to life or property either because they occur in sparsely populated areas or because they are small earthquakes that release 
relatively small amounts of energy. However, where urban areas are located in regions of high seismicity, damaging earthquakes are 
expectable, if not predictable, events. Every occupant and developer in San Diego County assumes seismic risk because the County is 
within an area of high seismicity. More than ten severe earthquakes have impacted San Francisco Bay Region during historic times. 
 
The major effects of earthquakes are ground shaking and ground failure. Severe earthquakes are characteristically accompanied by 
surface faulting. Flooding may be triggered by dam or levee failure resulting from an earthquake, or by seismically induced 
settlement or subsidence. All of these geologic effects are capable of causing property damage and, more importantly, risks to life 
and safety of persons. 
 
A fault is a fracture in the earth's crust along which rocks on opposite sides have moved relative to each other. Active faults have 
high probability of future movement. Fault displacement involves forces so great that the only means of limiting damage to man-
made structures is to avoid the traces of active faults. Any movement beneath a structure, even on the order of an inch or two, 
could have catastrophic effects on the structure and its service lines. 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 14 of 56 9/30/24 
 

The overall energy release of an earthquake is its most important characteristic. Other important attributes include an earthquake's 
duration, its related number of significant stress cycles, and its accelerations. 
C. Levels of Response 
Response Levels are used to describe the type of event: 
 
The area(s) affected, the extent of coordination or assistance needed, and the degree of participation expected from the School 
District. Response Levels are closely tied to Emergency Proclamations issued by the head of local government. 
 
Response Level 0 - Readiness & Routine Phase 
 
On-going routine response by the School District to daily emergencies or incidents. Stand-by and alert procedures issued in advance 
of an anticipated or planned event. 
 
Response Level 3 - Local Emergency 
 
A minor to moderate incident in which local resources are adequate and available. This level of emergency response occurs when an 
emergency incident, e.g., gas leak, sewer back-up, assaults, bomb threat, toxic spill, medical emergency, shooting, etc., occurs. A 
Level 3 response requires School/Site Coordinators to implement guidelines in the Emergency Standard Operating Procedures and 
interact with public agencies. 
 
Response Level 2 - Local Disaster 
 
A moderate to severe emergency in which resources are not adequate and mutual aid may be required on a regional, even 
statewide basis with coordination with local police and fire departments of the affected are working in concert with Lakeside Union 
School District to respond. The affected Cities and the County of 
San Diego will proclaim a local emergency. Then, the State of California may declare a state of emergency. 
 
Response Level 1 - Major Disaster 
 
Resources in or near the impacted areas are overwhelmed and extensive State and Federal resources are required. The cities and 
the County of San Diego will proclaim a local emergency. Then, the State of California will declare a State of Emergency. A 
Presidential Declaration of an Emergency or Major Disaster is requested by the State. Examples of major disasters are the Loma 
Prieta Earthquake of 1989 or the Oakland Hills Firestorm of 1991. When local jurisdictions declare a State of Emergency, the district 
board can declare the same. 
D. Emergency Phases 
Some emergencies will be preceded by a build-up or warning period, providing sufficient time to warn the population and 
implement mitigation measures designated to reduce loss of life and property damage. Other emergencies occur with little or no 
advance warning, thus requiring immediate activation of the emergency operations plan and commitment of resources. All 
employees must be prepared to respond promptly and effectively to any foreseeable emergency, including the provision and use of 
mutual aid. 
 
Emergency management activities during peacetime and national security emergencies are often associated with the phases 
indicated below. However, not every disaster necessarily includes all indicated phases. 
 
Prevention/Mitigation Phase 
 
Prevention/Mitigation is perhaps the most important phase of emergency management. However, it is often the least used and 
generally the most cost effective. Mitigation is often thought of as taking actions to strengthen facilities, abatement of nearby 
hazards, and reducing the potential damage either to structures or their contents, while prevention is taking steps to avoid potential 
problems. Both of these elements require education of parents, students and teachers. 
 
While it is not possible to totally eliminate either the destructive force of a potential disaster or its effects, doing what can be done 
to minimize the effects may create a safer environment that will result in lower response costs, and fewer casualties. 
 
Preparedness Phase 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 15 of 56 9/30/24 
 

The preparedness phase involves activities taken in advance of an emergency. These activities develop operational capabilities and 
responses to a disaster. Those identified in this plan as having either a primary or support mission relative to response and recovery 
review Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) or checklists detailing personnel assignments, policies, notification procedures, and 
resource lists. Personnel are acquainted with these SOPs and checklists and periodically are trained in activation and execution. 
 
Response Phase 
 
Pre-Impact: Recognition of the approach of a potential disaster where actions are taken to save lives and protect property. Warning 
systems may be activated, and resources may be mobilized, EOCs may be activated and evacuation may begin. 
 
Immediate Impact: Emphasis is placed on saving lives, controlling the situation, and minimizing the effects of the disaster. Incident 
Command Posts and EOCs may be activated, and emergency instructions may be issued. 
 
Sustained: As the emergency continues, assistance is provided to victims of the disaster and efforts are made to reduce secondary 
damage. Response support facilities may be established. The resource requirements continually change to meet the needs of the 
incident. 
 
Recovery Phase 
 
Recovery is taking all actions necessary to restore the area to pre-event conditions or better, if possible. 
Therefore, mitigation for future hazards plays an important part in the recovery phase for many emergencies. There is no clear time 
separation between response and recovery. In fact, planning for recovery should be a part of the response phase.  
E. First Things First 
Preparing your school for emergencies starts with staff preparedness. The backbone of school planning is dependent on the staff's 
willingness to stay at school during a major community emergency. Personal preparedness makes this much easier. 
 
Each staff member needs 
 
A 72-hour supply kit for the home 
A Car Kit, including comfortable clothes/shoes and medications 
To develop a plan to reunite with their family 
A neighborhood preparedness program 
 
Preparedness Brochures are available from the local chapter of the American Red Cross, San Diego County Office of Emergency 
Services, Lakeside Union School District website, www.redcross.org, www.prepare.org or www.ready.gov. 
 
If the disaster occurs during school time, Emergency Management recommends the child stay at school until the parent or a trusted 
friend (see Emergency Cards) picks up the child. We have no idea, especially in an earthquake, how impacted our neighborhoods 
may be. 
 
This means the school staff will need to stay with the children. You can only do this if you are prepared at home! You must feel that 
your family can activate your Family Plan without you. 
 
Disaster Service Worker Status: California Government Code Section 3100 declares that public employees are disaster services 
workers, subject to such disaster service activities as may be assigned to them by the superiors or by law. The term public employees 
include all persons employed by the state or any county, city, city & county, state agency or public district, excluding aliens legally 
employed. This law applies to public school employees in the following cases: 
 
When a local emergency has been proclaimed, When a state of emergency has been proclaimed, or When a federal disaster 
declaration has been made. 
F. District and Parent Responsibilities 
DISTRICT RESPONSIBILITY 
 
If the superintendent declares a district emergency during the school day, the following procedures will be followed: 
 
IN CASE OF A DECLARED EMERGENCY BY THE SUPERINTENDENT DURING SCHOOL HOURS, 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 16 of 56 9/30/24 
 

ALL STUDENTS WILL BE REQUIRED TO REMAIN AT SCHOOL OR AT AN ALTERNATE SAFE SITE UNDER THE SUPERVISION OF THE 
SCHOOL PRINCIPAL OR OTHER PERSONNEL ASSIGNED BY THE PRINCIPAL. 
 
Until regular dismissal time and released only then if it is considered safe, 
OR 
Until released to an adult authorized by the parent or legal guardian whose name appears on district records. 
a. If students are on their way to school, they will be brought to school if bussed, or they shouldproceed to school if walking. 
b. If students are on their way home from school, they are to continue home. 
 
During a Declared Emergency, those students who have not been picked up by their parents or other authorized person may be 
taken by district personnel to another site where consolidated care facilities can be provided. This information will be given to the 
media stations and posted at the site to keep parents informed. 
 
PARENT RESPONSIBILITY 
 
Parents and legal guardians of students will be provided with a Student Health/Emergency Form each year. 
In case of a Declared Emergency, students will be released ONLY to persons designated on this form. Parents are responsible for 
ensuring that information on the Student Health/Enrollment Form is current at all times. 
 
Parents are asked to share with the schools the responsibility for informing students of what they should do in case of a severe 
earthquake or other major emergency. Parents need to give specific directions to each student to follow the policy outlined above 
and to follow the directions of school personnel. 
 
School authorities will do everything possible to care for each student while he/she is under district supervision. 
 
It is critical that students do not have directions from parents that are contrary to the district's stated policy on retention at school 
and authorized release in case of a severe emergency.  
VII. Emergency Response Procedures 
Section 8 content  
A. Basic Actions 
Most emergency responses are covered by the following Basic Actions: 
 
A. Action: STAND BY 
 
Action: STAND BY consists of bringing students into the classroom or holding them in the classroom pending further instruction. 
 
B. Action: LEAVE BUILDING 
 
ACTION: LEAVE BUILDING consists of the orderly movement of students and staff from inside the school building to outside areas of 
safety or planned evacuation site. 
 
Action: LEAVE BUILDING is appropriate for-but not limited to-the following emergencies: 
 
Fire 
Peacetime Bomb Threat 
Chemical Accident 
Explosion or Threat of an Explosion 
Following an Earthquake 
Other similar occurrences that might make the building uninhabitable 
At the onset of an Active Shooter/Lockdown Alert, when teacher/supervisor has ascertained that leaving is the best option. 
 
C. Action: TAKE COVER 
 
Action: TAKE COVER consists of bringing/keeping students indoors if possible and sheltering in place as appropriate to the situation. 
 
If outdoors, Action: TAKE COVER consists of hiding behind any solid object (large tree, engine block of car, cement wall), in the event 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 17 of 56 9/30/24 
 

a sniper attack, armed intruder, rabid animal, or moving immediately to a location which is upwind and uphill in the event of a 
chemical or biological threat 
 
Action TAKE COVER is appropriate for, but not limited to, the following: 
 
Severe Windstorm (short warning) 
Biological or Chemical Threat 
Sniper Attack 
Rabid Animal on School Grounds 
 
D. Action: DROP 
 
WARNING: The warning for this type of emergency is the beginning of the disaster itself. 
 
Action: DROP consists of: 
 
 Inside school buildings 

• Immediately TAKE COVER under desks or tables and turn away from all windows 
• Remain in a sheltered position for at least 60 seconds silent and listening to/or for instructions Outside of School 

Buildings 
• Earthquake: move away from buildings -Take a protective position, if possible Explosion/Nuclear Attack: 
• Take protective position, OR, 
• Get behind any solid object (ditch, curb, tree, etc.); lie prone with head away from light or blast; cover head, face, and as 

much of the skin surface as possible; close eyes, and cover ears with forearms. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 18 of 56 9/30/24 
 

 
E. ACTION: DIRECTED MAINTENANCE 
 
No school personnel/students are allowed to enter a school facility until inspected by and authorized by appropriate school 
personnel: Maintenance and School Administrators, and if applicable, Police, Fire, or City Inspectors. 
 
In the event that drinking water is unsafe, water valves will be turned off and the drinking fountains sealed. 
 
Water, gas, and electrical shut-off valves will be shut-off for each applicable building under the join authorization of the 
administration and head custodian. 
 
F. ACTION: DIRECTED TRANSPORTATION 
 
WARNING: Under certain disaster conditions, authorized officials may attempt to move an entire community, or portion thereof, 
from an area of danger to another area of safety. 
 
Action: DIRECTED TRANSPORTATION consists of loading students and staff into school buses, cars and other means of 
transportation, and taking them from a danger area to a designated safety area. 
 
Action: DIRECTED TRANSPORTATION is considered appropriate only when directed by the 
Superintendent or designee, Site Administrator, Police, Fire, or OES. It may be appropriate for, but not limited to, movement away 
from: 
 
Fire 
Chemical & Biological Gas Alert 
Flood 
Fallout Area 
Blast Area 
Chemical & Biological Gas Alert 
Specific Man-Made Emergency (shooting, fire, etc.) 
 
G. ACTION: GO HOME 
 
Action: GO HOME consists of: 
 
Dismissal of all classes 
Return of students to their homes by the most expeditious 
 
Action: GO HOME is to be considered only if there is time for students to go safely to their homes and if buses or other 
transportation are available for students who live at a distance from the school. Notification of parents by radio broadcast, local 
television, ALERT website, phone distribution lists, or other means will be requested. 
 
H. ACTION: CONVERT SCHOOL 
 
Action: CONVERT SCHOOL to a Red Cross emergency facility will be initiated by City officials. 
 
 
 
Public Agency Use of School Buildings for Emergency Shelters 
 
 
(C) School Suspension, Expulsion and Mandatory Expulsion Guidelines 
C. Suspension and Expulsion Policies 
Grounds for suspension which fall under Education Code 48900 
Caused, attempted to cause, or threatened to cause physical injury to another person 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 19 of 56 9/30/24 
 

Possessed, sold, or otherwise furnished any firearm, knife, explosive, or other dangerous object unless, in the case of possession of 
any object of this type, the pupil had obtained written permission to possess the item from a certificated school employee, which is 
concurred in by the principal or the designee of the principal. 
Unlawfully possessed, used, sold, or otherwise furnished, or been under the influence of any controlled substance. 
Unlawfully offered, arranged, or negotiated to sell any controlled substance. 
Committed or attempted to commit robbery or extortion. 
Caused or attempted to cause damage to school property or private property. 
Stolen or attempted to steal school or private property. 
Possessed or used tobacco, or any products containing tobacco or 1nicotine products, including, but not limited to, cigarettes, cigars, 
miniature cigars, clove cigarettes, smokeless tobacco, snuff, chew packets, and betel. However, this section does not prohibit use or 
possession by a pupil of his or her own prescription products. 
Committed an obscene act or engaged in habitual profanity or vulgarity. 
Had unlawful possession of, or unlawfully offered, arranged or negotiated to sell any drug paraphernalia. 
Disrupted school activities or otherwise willfully defied the valid authority supervisors, teachers, administrators, school officials, or 
other school personnel engaged in the performance of their duties. 
Knowingly received stolen school property or private property. 
Possessed an imitation firearm. As used in this section, "imitation firearm" means a replica of a firearm as to substantially similar in 
physical properties to an existing firearm as to lead a reasonable person to conclude that the replica is a firearm. 
Committed or attempted to commit sexual assault. 
Harassed, threatened, or intimidated a pupil who is a complaining witness or witness in a school disciplinary proceeding for the 
purpose of either preventing that pupil from being a witness or retaliating against that pupil for being a witness, or both. 
 
A pupil may not be suspended or expelled for any of the acts listed above unless that act is related to school activity or school 
attendance occurring within a school under the jurisdiction of the superintendent or principal or occurring within any other school 
district. A pupil may be suspended or expelled for acts which are enumerated in this section and related to school activity or 
attendance that occur at any time, including but not limited to, any of the following: 
While on school grounds. 
While going to or coming from school. 
During the lunch period, whether on or off the campus. 
During, or in route to and from, a school sponsored activity. 
 
Expulsion Policies under Education Code 48915: 
 
The principal shall recommend the expulsion of a pupil for any of the following committed at school or school activity off school 
grounds, unless the principal or superintendent finds an expulsion is inappropriate, due to the particular circumstance: 
Causing serious physical injury to another person, except in self-defense. 
Possession of any knife, explosive, or other dangerous object of no reasonable use to the pupil. Unlawful possession of any 
controlled substance, as defined under Ed. Code. 
Robbery or extortion. 
Assault or battery on any school employee, as defined in Sections 240 and 242 of the Penal Code. 
 
The principal, or superintendent of schools shall immediately suspend, pursuant to Section 48911, and shall recommend expulsion 
of a pupil that he or she determines has committed any of the following acts at school or at a school activity off school grounds: 
Possessing, selling, or otherwise furnishing a firearm. This subdivision does not apply to an act of possessing a firearm if the pupil has 
obtained prior written permission to possess the firearm from a certificated school employee, which is concurred in by the principal 
or the designee of the principal. This subdivision applies to an act of possessing a firearm only if an employee of a school district 
verifies the possession. 
Brandishing a knife at another person. 
Unlawfully selling a controlled substance as defined by Education Code. 
Committing or attempting to commit a sexual assault as defined in the Education Code. 
 
LUSD has the following Board Policy related to Suspension and Expulsion of Students: BP 5144.1 
The Governing Board desires to provide district students access to educational opportunities in an orderly school environment that 
protects their safety and security, ensures their welfare and well-being, and promotes their learning and development. The Board 
shall develop rules and regulations setting the standards of behavior expected of district students and the disciplinary processes and 
procedures for addressing violations of those standards, including suspension and/or expulsion. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 20 of 56 9/30/24 
 

(cf. 5131 - Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.1 - Bus Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.2 - Bullying) 
 
The grounds for suspension and expulsion and the procedures for considering, recommending, and/or implementing suspension and 
expulsion shall be those specified in law, in policy, and in the accompanying administrative regulation. 
Except when otherwise permitted by law, a student may be suspended or expelled only when his/her behavior is related to a school 
activity or school attendance occurring within any district school or another school district, regardless of when it occurs, including, 
but not limited to, the following: (Education Code 48900(s)) 
 
1. While on school grounds 
2. While going to or coming from school 
3. During the lunch period, whether on or off the school campus 
(cf. 5112.5 - Open/Closed Campus) 
4. During, going to, or coming from a school-sponsored activity 
District staff shall enforce the rules concerning suspension and expulsion of students fairly, consistently, equally, and in accordance 
with the district's nondiscrimination policies. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
 
Appropriate Use of Suspension Authority 
Except when a student's act that violates Education Code 48900(a)-(e), as listed in items #1-5 under "Grounds for Suspension or 
Expulsion: Grades K-12" of the accompanying administrative regulation, or when his/her presence causes a danger to others, 
suspension shall be used only when other means of correction have failed to bring about proper conduct. (Education Code 
48900.5,48900.6) 
(cf. 1020 - Youth Services) 
(cf. 5138 - Conflict Resolution/Peer Mediation) 
(cf. 5144 - Discipline) 
(cf. 6142.4 - Service Learning/Community Service Classes) 
(cf. 6164.2 - Guidance/Counseling Services) 
(cf. 6164.5 - Student Success Teams) 
 
A student's parents/guardians shall be notified as soon as possible when there is an escalating pattern of misbehavior that could 
lead to removal on-campus or off-campus suspension. 
No student in grades K-3 may be suspended for disruption or willful defiance, except by a teacher pursuant to Education Code 
48910. (Education Code 48900) 
Students shall not be suspended or expelled for truancy, tardiness, or absenteeism from assigned school activities. 
(cf. 5113 - Absences and Excuses) 
(cf. 5113.1 - Chronic Absence and Truancy) 
 
On-Campus Suspension 
 
To ensure the proper supervision and ongoing learning of students who are suspended for any of the reasons enumerated in 
Education Code 48900 and 48900.2, but who pose no imminent danger or threat to anyone at school and for whom expulsion 
proceedings have not been initiated, the Superintendent or designee shall establish a supervised suspension classroom program 
which meets the requirements of law. 
Except where a supervised suspension is permitted by law for a student's first offense, supervised suspension shall be imposed only 
when other means of correction have failed to bring about proper conduct. (Education Code 48900.5) 
 
Authority to Expel 
A student may be expelled only by the Board. (Education Code 48918(j)) 
As required by law, the Superintendent or principal shall recommend expulsion and the Board shall expel any student found to have 
committed any of the following "mandatory recommendation and mandatory expulsion" acts at school or at a school activity off 
school grounds: (Education Code 48915) 
1. Possessing a firearm which is not an imitation firearm, as verified by a certificated employee, unless thestudent had obtained prior 
written permission to possess the item from a certificated school employee, with the principal or designee's concurrence 
(cf. 5131.7 - Weapons and Dangerous Instruments) 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 21 of 56 9/30/24 
 

2. Selling or otherwise furnishing a firearm 
3. Brandishing a knife at another person 
4. Unlawfully selling a controlled substance listed in Health and Safety Code 11053-11058 
5. Committing or attempting to commit a sexual assault as defined in Penal Code 261, 266c, 286, 288, 288a,or 289, or committing a 
sexual battery as defined in Penal Code 243.4 6. Possessing an explosive as defined in 18 USC 921 
 
For all other violations listed in the accompanying administrative regulation under "Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades K-
12" and "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 4-12," the Superintendent or principal shall have the discretion 
to recommend expulsion of a student. If expulsion is recommended, the Board shall order the student expelled only if it makes a 
finding of either or both of the following: (Education Code 48915(b) and (e)) 
 
1. That other means of correction are not feasible or have repeatedly failed to bring about proper conduct 
2. That due to the nature of the violation, the presence of the student causes a continuing danger to thephysical safety of the 
student or others 
A vote to expel a student shall be taken in public an open session of a Board meeting. 
The Board may vote to suspend the enforcement of the expulsion order pursuant to the requirements of law and the accompanying 
administrative regulation. (Education Code 48900). 
No student shall be expelled for disruption or willful defiance. (Education Code 48900) 
No child enrolled in a preschool program shall be expelled except under limited circumstances as specified in AR 5148.3 - 
Preschool/Early Childhood Education. 
(cf. 5148.3 - Preschool/Early Childhood Education) 
 
Due Process 
 
The Board shall provide for the fair and equitable treatment of students facing suspension and/or expulsion by affording them their 
due process rights under the law. The Superintendent or designee shall comply with procedures for notices, hearings, and appeals as 
specified in law and administrative regulation. (Education Code 48911, 48915, 48915.5) 
(cf. 5119 - Students Expelled from Other Districts) 
(cf. 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Individuals with Disabilities)) 
 
Maintenance and Monitoring of Outcome Data 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall maintain outcome data related to student suspensions and expulsions in accordance with 
Education Code 48900.8 and 48916.1, including, but not limited to, the number of students recommended for expulsion, the 
grounds for each recommended expulsion, the actions taken by the Board, the types of referral made after each expulsion, and the 
disposition of the students after the expulsion period. For any expulsion that involves the possession of a firearm, such data shall 
include the name of the school and the type of firearm involved, as required pursuant to 20 USC 7961. Suspension and expulsion 
data shall be reported to the Board annually and to the California Department of Education when so required. 
In presenting the report to the Board, the Superintendent or designee shall disaggregate data on suspensions and expulsions by 
school and by numerically significant student subgroups, including, but not limited to, ethnic subgroups, socioeconomically 
disadvantaged students, English learners, students with disabilities, foster youth, and homeless students. Based on the data, the 
Board shall address any identified disparities in the imposition of student discipline and shall determine whether and how the 
district is meeting its goals for improving school climate as specified in its local control and accountability plan. (cf. 0460 - Local 
Control and Accountability Plan) 
 
 
 
(D) Procedures to Notify Teachers of Dangerous Pupils (EC 49079) 
D. Staff Notification of Dangerous Students 
In order to fulfill the requirements made by Education Code 49079 and Welfare and Institutions Code 827 that state teachers must 
be notified of the reason(s) a student has been suspended. The District has incorporated this notification into the student 
information system so that it is easily accessible for teachers on any student level screen. On the flag bar there is a red flag: 49079. 
This flag indicates the student has been suspended under Ed Code 48900. The teacher can access more specific information by 
contacting their site administrator for additional details about the behavior. All information regarding suspension and expulsion is 
CONFIDENTIAL, is not to be shared with any student(s) or parent(s). Teachers are asked to secure the list so students and others may 
not view it. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 22 of 56 9/30/24 
 

Additionally, Pursuant to Welfare & Institution Code 827(b) and Education Code 48267, the Court notifies the Superintendent of the 
Lakeside Union School District regarding students who have engaged in certain criminal conduct. This information is forwarded to 
the site Principal. The site Principal is responsible for prompt notification of the student's teachers. Per Education Code 49079, this 
information must be kept confidential. This information is also forwarded to all administrators and the student's counselor. 
 
 
(E) Sexual Harassment Policies (EC 212.6 [b]) 
B. Sexual Harassment Policy 
A. DEFINITION 
"Sexual Harassment includes 'unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, sexually motivated physical contact, or other 
verbal or physical conduct or communication of a sexual nature,' when any of four conditions are met: 
Submission to the conduct or communication is made a term or condition, either explicitly or implicitly, of obtaining education; 
Submission or rejection of the conduct or communication is used as a factor in decisions affecting that person's education; 
The conduct or communication has either the purpose or effect of 'substantially interfering' with a person's education; 
The conduct or communication creates an 'intimidating, hostile, or offensive' educational environment." 
 
B. Policy Pertaining to Sexual Harassment: LUSD has the following Board Policies on Sexual Harrasment, which can be viewed at 
www.lsusd.net, under Leadership, Board of Trustees, Board Policies: 
Board Poilicy 4119.91 
The following policy shall apply to all district employees, volunteers, contractors, job applicants, and other persons with an 
employment relationship with the district. 
The Governing is committed to providing a safe work environment that is free of harassment and intimidation.  The Board prohibits 
sexual harassment against district employees and retaliatory behavior or action against any persons who complain, testifies or 
otherwise participates in the complaint process established for the purpose of this policy. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
(cf. 4030 - Nondiscrimination in Employment) 
Sexual harassment includes, but is not limited to, harassment that is based on the sex, gender, gender identity, gender expression, 
or sexual orientation of the victim and harassment based on pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions. 
The Superintendent or designee shall take all actions necessary to ensure the prevention, investigation, and correction of sexual 
harassment, including but not limited to: 
1. Providing training to employees in accordance with law and administrative regulation 
2. Publicizing and disseminating the district's sexual harassment policy to employees and others to whom the policy may apply 
3. Ensuring prompt, thorough, fair, and equitable investigation of complaints 
4. Taking timely and appropriate corrective/remedial action(s), which may require interim separation ofthe complainant and the 
alleged harasser and subsequent monitoring of developments 
The Superintendent or designee shall periodically evaluate the effectiveness of the district's strategies to prevent and address 
harassment. Such evaluation may involve conducting regular anonymous employee surveys to assess whether harassment is 
occurring or is perceived to be tolerated, partnering with researchers or other agencies with the needed expertise to evaluate the 
district's prevention strategies, and using any other effective tool for receiving feedback on systems and/or processes. As necessary, 
changes shall be made to the harassment policy, complaint procedures, or training. 
Sexual Harassment Reports and Complaints 
District employees who feel that they have been sexually harassed in the performance of their district responsibilities or who have 
knowledge of any incident of sexual harassment by or against another employee shall immediately report the incident to their direct 
supervisor, a district administrator, or the district's Title IX Coordinator. Employees may bypass their supervisor in filing a complaint 
if the supervisor is the subject of the complaint. A supervisor or administrator who receives a harassment complaint shall promptly 
notify the Title IX Coordinator. 
Once notified, the Title IX Coordinator shall ensure the complaint or allegation is addressed through AR 
4119.12/4219.12/4319.12 - Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures or AR 4030 - 
Nondiscrimination in Employment, as applicable.  Because a complaint or allegation that is dismissed or denied under the Title IX 
complaint procedure may still be subject to consideration under state law, the Title IX Coordinator shall ensure that any 
implementation of AR 4119.12/4219.12/4319.12 concurrently meets the requirements of AR 4030. 
(cf. 4119.12/4219.12/4319.12 - Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaints) 
The Title IX Coordinator shall offer supportive measures to the complainant and respondent, as deemed appropriate under the 
circumstances. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 23 of 56 9/30/24 
 

Upon investigation of a sexual harassment complaint, any district employee found to have engaged or participated in sexual 
harassment or to have aided, abetted, incited, compelled, or coerced another to commit sexual harassment in violation of this policy 
shall be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal, in accordance with law and the applicable collective bargaining 
agreement. 
 
Board Policy 4219.11 
The Governing Board prohibits sexual harassment of district employees and job applicants. The Board also prohibits retaliatory 
behavior or action against district employees or other persons who complain, testify or otherwise participate in the complaint 
process established pursuant to this policy and administrative regulation. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) (cf. 4030 - Nondiscrimination in Employment) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall take all actions necessary to ensure the prevention, investigation, and correction of sexual 
harassment, including but not limited to: 
1. Providing training to employees in accordance with law and administrative regulation 
2. Publicizing and disseminating the district's sexual harassment policy to staff 
(cf. 4112.9/4212.9/4312.9 - Employee Notifications) 
3. Ensuring prompt, thorough, and fair investigation of complaints 
4. Taking timely and appropriate corrective/remedial action(s), which may require interim separation of thecomplainant and the 
alleged harasser and subsequent monitoring of developments 
All complaints and allegations of sexual harassment shall be kept confidential to the extent necessary to carry out the investigation 
or to take other subsequent necessary actions. (5 CCR 4964) 
Any district employee or job applicant who feels that he/she has been sexually harassed or who has knowledge of any incident of 
sexual harassment by or against another employee, a job applicant or a student, 
shall immediately report the incident to his/her supervisor, the principal, district administrator or Superintendent. 
A supervisor, principal or other district administrator who receives a harassment complaint shall promptly notify the Superintendent 
or designee. 
Complaints of sexual harassment shall be filed in accordance with AR 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment. 
An employee may bypass his/her supervisor in filing a complaint where the supervisor is the subject of the complaint. 
(cf. 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment) 
Any district employee who engages or participates in sexual harassment or who aids, abets, incites, compels, or coerces another to 
commit sexual harassment against a district employee, job applicant, or student is in violation of this policy and is subject to 
disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal. 
(cf. 4117.4 - Dismissal) 
(cf. 4118 - Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
(cf. 4218 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
 
Board Policy 4319.11 
The Governing Board prohibits sexual harassment of district employees and job applicants. The Board also prohibits retaliatory 
behavior or action against district employees or other persons who complain, testify or otherwise participate in the complaint 
process established pursuant to this policy and administrative regulation. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
(cf. 4030 - Nondiscrimination in Employment) 
The Superintendent or designee shall take all actions necessary to ensure the prevention, investigation, and correction of sexual 
harassment, including but not limited to: 
1. Providing training to employees in accordance with law and administrative regulation 
2. Publicizing and disseminating the district's sexual harassment policy to staff 
(cf. 4112.9/4212.9/4312.9 - Employee Notifications) 
3. Ensuring prompt, thorough, and fair investigation of complaints 
4. Taking timely and appropriate corrective/remedial action(s), which may require interim separation of thecomplainant and the 
alleged harasser and subsequent monitoring of developments 
All complaints and allegations of sexual harassment shall be kept confidential to the extent necessary to carry out the investigation 
or to take other subsequent necessary actions. (5 CCR 4964) 
Any district employee or job applicant who feels that he/she has been sexually harassed or who has knowledge of any incident of 
sexual harassment by or against another employee, a job applicant or a student, 
shall immediately report the incident to his/her supervisor, the principal, district administrator or Superintendent. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 24 of 56 9/30/24 
 

A supervisor, principal or other district administrator who receives a harassment complaint shall promptly notify the Superintendent 
or designee. 
Complaints of sexual harassment shall be filed in accordance with AR 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment. 
An employee may bypass his/her supervisor in filing a complaint where the supervisor is the subject of the complaint. 
(cf. 4031 - Complaints Concerning Discrimination in Employment) 
Any district employee who engages or participates in sexual harassment or who aids, abets, incites, compels, or coerces another to 
commit sexual harassment against a district employee, job applicant, or student is in violation of this policy and is subject to 
disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal. 
 
Board Policy 5145.7 
The Governing Board is committed to maintaining a safe school environment that is free from harassment and discrimination. The 
Board prohibits, at school or at school-sponsored or school-related activities, sexual harassment targeted at any student by anyone. 
The Board also prohibits retaliatory behavior or action against any person who reports, files a complaint or testifies about, or 
otherwise supports a complainant in alleging sexual harassment. 
The district strongly encourages any student who feels that he/she is being or has been sexually harassed on school grounds or at a 
school-sponsored or school-related activity by another student or an adult who has experienced off-campus sexual harassment that 
has a continuing effect on campus to immediately contact his/her teacher, the principal, or any other available school employee. 
Any employee who receives a report or observes an incident of sexual harassment shall notify the principal or a district compliance 
officer. Once notified, the principal or compliance officer shall take the steps to investigate and address the allegation, as specified in 
the accompanying administrative regulations. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
(cf. 1312.1 - Complaints Concerning District Employees) 
(cf. 5131 - Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.2 - Bullying) 
(cf. 5137 - Positive School Climate) 
(cf. 5141.4 - Child Abuse Prevention and Reporting) 
(cf. 5145.3 - Nondiscrimination/Harassment) 
(cf. 6142.1 - Sexual Health and HIV/AIDS Prevention Instruction) 
The Superintendent or designee shall take appropriate actions to reinforce the district's sexual harassment  policy. 
Instruction/Information 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that all district students receive age-appropriate information on sexual harassment. 
Such instruction and information shall include: 
1. What acts and behavior constitute sexual harassment, including the fact that sexual harassment could occur between people of 
the same sex and could involve sexual violence 
2. A clear message that students do not have to endure sexual harassment under any circumstance 
3. Encouragement to report observed incidents of sexual harassment even where the alleged victim of the harassment has not 
complained 
4. A clear message that student safety is the district's primary concern, and that any separate rule violationinvolving an alleged 
victim or any other person reporting a sexual harassment incident will be addressed separately and will not affect the manner in 
which the sexual harassment complaint will be received, investigated, or resolved 
5. A clear message that, regardless of a complainant's noncompliance with the writing, timeline, or otherformal filing requirements, 
every sexual harassment allegation that involves a student, whether as the complainant, respondent, or victim of the harassment, 
shall be investigated and prompt action shall be taken to stop any harassment, prevent recurrence, and address any continuing 
effect on students 
6. Information about the district's procedure for investigating complaints and the person(s) to whom a reportof sexual harassment 
should be made 
7. Information about the rights of students and parents/guardians to file a civil or criminal complaint, asapplicable, including the 
right to file a civil or criminal complaint while the district investigation of a sexual harassment complaint continues 
8. A clear message that, when needed, the district will take interim measures to ensure a safe schoolenvironment for a student who 
is the complainant or victim of sexual harassment and/or other students during an investigation and that, to the extent possible, 
when such interim measures are taken, they shall not disadvantage the complainant or victim of the alleged harassment 
Complaint Process and Disciplinary Actions 
Sexual harassment complaints by and against students shall be investigated and resolved in accordance with law and district 
procedures specified in AR 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint Procedures. Principals are responsible for notifying students and 
parents/guardians that complaints of sexual harassment can be filed under AR 1312.3 and where to obtain a copy of the procedures. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 25 of 56 9/30/24 
 

Upon investigation of a sexual harassment complaint, any student found to have engaged in sexual harassment or sexual violence is 
in violation of this policy shall be subject to disciplinary action. For students in grades 4-12, disciplinary action may include 
suspension and/or expulsion, provided that, in imposing such discipline, the entire circumstances of the incident(s) shall be taken 
into account. 
(cf. 5144 - Discipline) 
(cf. 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process) 
(cf. 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Students with Disabilities)) 
Upon investigation of a sexual harassment complaint, any employee found to have engaged in sexual harassment or sexual violence 
toward any student shall have his/her employment terminated in accordance with laws, and the applicable collective bargaining 
agreement. 
(cf. 4117.4 - Dismissal) 
(cf. 4117.7 - Employment Status Report) 
(cf. 4118 - Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
(cf. 4218 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
(cf. 4119.11/4219.11/4319.11 - Sexual Harassment) 
Record-Keeping 
The Superintendent or designee shall maintain a record of all reported cases of sexual harassment to enable the district to monitor, 
address, and prevent repetitive harassing behavior in district schools. (cf. 3580 - District Records) 
 
 
C. Staff Training: All LUSD staff engage in mandated sexual harassment training annually. 
 
 
(F) School-wide Dress Code Relating to Gang-Related Apparel (EC 35183) 
Schools care about the well-being of their students, which is why we have implemented dress codes to ensure safety and minimize 
distractions during class. While it may seem like a minor issue, a student's clothing can impact their ability to focus and learn. To 
support outdoor activities, sun-protective clothing is allowed, and shoes with heel straps are required for added safety during 
physical education and recess. When it comes to clothing, jewelry, and personal items, our school has a strict policy for images or 
language that is crude, vulgar, profane, or sexually suggestive, as well as any references to drugs, alcohol, or tobacco. It's also 
important that clothing is sufficient to conceal undergarments and that hair is clean and groomed. These guidelines are in place to 
promote a safe and respectful learning environment free from distractions. Schools also have a strict policy against gang-related 
apparel to ensure student safety and discourage gang activity. In following these guidelines, students can focus on what truly 
matters – learning and growing as individuals. For more information, please see LUSD Regulation 5132: Dressing And Grooming. 
 
(G) Procedure for Safe Ingress and Egress of Pupils, Parents, and Staff to and from School (EC 35294.2) 
Beyond planning for daily ingress/egress routes and emergency evacuation routes, schools must plan for assisting students, staff and 
visitors with disabilities. Under the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, individuals who are deaf/hard of hearing, blind/partially 
sighted, mobility impaired and/or cognitively/emotionally impaired must be assisted. 
 
B. Planning 
 
It is recommended that schools identify the location of potential evacuation sites based on the potential circumstances that may 
cause movement/relocation of the school population in the event of an emergency. 
 
On-Campus Evacuation/Assembly Location 
 
Review your school site layout and determine where the safest outdoor location is on campus to assemble your students and staff. 
 
Off-Campus Evacuation/Assembly Location 
 
Determine if there is a facility close to your school that can potentially house your staff and student body. 
 
Prior to an event: 
 
Identify off-campus evacuation site(s). 
Establish a memorandum of agreement with the evacuation site(s). 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 26 of 56 9/30/24 
 

 
Provide the addresses of at least two off-campus locations that have agreed to provide an assembly area for your school population. 
 
Primary Off-Site Evacuation/Assembly Location 
 
Organization: Wings & Mix Restaurant 
Address: 12016 Short Street, Lakeside, CA 92040 
Contact: Restaurant Owner 
Phone Number: 619-443-0995 
Date of Agreement: 9/2019 
 
Organization: Riverview Elementary 
Address: 9308 Winter Gardens Blvd., CA 92040 
Contact: Grace Cox 
Phone Number: 619-390-2992 
Date of Agreement: 9.11.2022 
 
In the event of an airborne chemical or biological release, it is safest for students and staff to remain indoors at the school site. 
 
Follow the "Shelter-in-Place" procedures. 
 
C. Staff Training 
 
 
(I) School Discipline Rules and Consequences (EC 35291 and EC 35291.5) 
 
Winter Gardens Elementary School Student Conduct Code 
A. Statement of Rules and Procedures on School Discipline 
 
Education Code 44807: 
 
"Every teacher in the public schools shall hold Pupils to a strict account for their conduct on the way to and from school, on the 
playgrounds, or during recess. A teacher, vice principal, principal, or any other certificated employee of a school district, shall not be 
subject to criminal prosecution or criminal penalties for the exercise, during the performance of his duties, of the same degree of 
physical control over a pupil that a parent would be legally privileged to exercise but which in no event shall exceed the amount of 
physical control reasonably necessary to maintain order, protect property, or protect the health and safety of pupils, or to maintain 
proper and appropriate conditions conducive to learning." 
 
B. Notification to Students and Parents 
 
Education Code 35291: 
Parents and students shall be notified of the District and school site rules pertaining to student discipline at the beginning of the first 
semester, and at the time of enrollment for students who enroll thereafter. 
The discipline policy shall be reviewed annually with input from the Discipline Team, site administrators, campus security, staff, 
students, and parents. 
 
C. Staff Training 
Lakeside Farms Elementary School will review Safety Plans and Procedures with all staff in August 2022, Feb 2023, Mar 2023. 
Option-Based Safety Planning was provided in 2022. Tenets from training will be reviewed annually. REMS training was provided 
Adminstrative Staff on Dec. 2021. School Site Council was debriefed on REMS Training on Jan 2022. 
D. School Discipline Chart and/or Selected Disciplinary Policies and Procedures. 
(INSERT LOW LEVEL REFERRAL CHART) 
 
 
Conduct Code Procedures 
A. Statement of Rules and Procedures on School Discipline 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 27 of 56 9/30/24 
 

Education Code 44807: 
"Every teacher in the public schools shall hold Pupils to a strict account for their conduct on the way to and from school, on the 
playgrounds, or during recess. A teacher, vice principal, principal, or any other certificated employee of a school district, shall not be 
subject to criminal prosecution or criminal penalties for the exercise, during the performance of his duties, of the same degree of 
physical control over a pupil that a parent would be legally privileged to exercise but which in no event shall exceed the amount of 
physical control reasonably necessary to maintain order, protect property, or protect the health and safety of pupils, or to maintain 
proper and appropriate conditions conducive to learning." 
 
B. Notification to Students and Parents 
Education Code 35291: 
Parents and students shall be notified of the District and school site rules pertaining to student discipline at the beginning of the first 
semester, and at the time of enrollment for students who enroll thereafter. 
The discipline policy shall be reviewed annually with input from the Discipline Team, site administrators, campus security, staff, 
students, and parents. 
C. Staff Training 
D. School Discipline Chart and/or Selected Disciplinary Policies and Procedures. 
 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 28 of 56 9/30/24 
 

(J) Procedures to Prepare for Active Shooters 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 29 of 56 9/30/24 
 

“Active shooter situations” are defined as those where an individual or individuals is “actively engaged in killing or attempting to kill 
people in a confined and populated area.” Active shooters / armed assailants frequently use firearms but attacks of this type can 
also be made with other types of weapons (knifes, swords, etc.). These situations are unpredictable and evolve quickly. Because of 
this, individuals must be prepared to deal with an active shooter / armed assailant situation before law enforcement personnel 
arrive on the scene. 
 
No single response fits all active shooter / armed assailant situations; therefore it is essential all members of the school staff know 
their options for response and are prepared to act decisively to protect their students and themselves. 
 
Respond Immediately It is not uncommon for people confronted with a threat to first deny the possible danger rather than respond. 
An investigation by the National Institute of Standards and Technology (2005) into the collapse of the World Trade Center towers on 
September 11, 2001, found that people close to the floors impacted waited longer to start evacuating than those on unaffected 
floors.21 Similarly, during the Virginia Tech shooting, individuals on campus responded to the shooting with varying degrees of 
urgency.22 These studies highlight this delayed response or denial. For example, some people report hearing firecrackers when in 
fact they heard gunfire. 
 
Train staff to overcome denial and to respond immediately, including fulfilling their responsibilities for individuals in their charge. For 
example, train staff to recognize the sounds of danger, act, and forcefully communicate the danger and necessary action (e.g., “Gun! 
Get out!”) to those in their charge. In addition, those closest to the public address or other communications system, or otherwise 
able to alert others, should communicate the danger and necessary action. Repetition in training and preparedness shortens the 
time it takes to orient, observe, and act. 
 
Upon recognizing the danger, as soon as it is safe to do so, staff or others must alert responders by contacting 911 with as clear and 
accurate information as possible. 
 
Run 
If it is safe to do so for yourself and those in your care, the first course of action that should be taken is to run out of the building and 
far away until you are in a safe location. 
Students and staff should be trained to 
Leave personal belongings behind; 
Visualize possible escape routes, including physically accessible routes for students and staff with disabilities as well as persons with 
access and functional needs; 
Avoid escalators and elevators; 
Take others with them, but not to stay behind because others will not go; 
Call 911 when safe to do so; and 
Let a responsible adult know where they are. 
 
Hide 
 
If running is not a safe option, hide in as safe a place as possible. Students and staff should be trained to hide in a location where the 
walls might be thicker and have fewer windows. In addition: 
Lock the doors; 
Barricade the doors with heavy furniture; 
Close and lock windows and close blinds or cover windows; 
Turn off lights; 
Silence all electronic devices; 
Remain silent; 
Hide along the wall closest to the exit but out of the view from the hallway (allowing for an ambush of the shooter and for possible 
escape if the shooter enters the room); 
 
Use strategies to silently communicate with first responders if possible, for example, in rooms with exterior windows make signs to 
silently signal law enforcement officers and emergency responders to indicate the status of the room's occupants; and Remain in 
place until given an all clear by identifiable law enforcement officers. 
 
Fight 
If neither running nor hiding is a safe option, as a last resort when confronted by the shooter, adults in immediate danger should 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 30 of 56 9/30/24 
 

consider trying to disrupt or incapacitate the shooter by using aggressive force and items in their environment, such as fire 
extinguishers, and chairs. In a study of 41 active shooter events that ended before law enforcement officers arrived, the potential 
victims stopped the attacker themselves in 16 instances. In 13 of those cases they physically subdued the attacker.23 While talking 
to staff about confronting a shooter may be daunting and upsetting for some, they should know that they may be able to 
successfully take action to save lives. To be clear, confronting an active shooter should never be a requirement in any school 
employee’s job description; how each staff member chooses to respond if directly confronted by an active shooter is up to him or 
her. Further, the possibility of an active shooter situation is not justification for the presence of firearms on campus in the hands of 
any personnel other than law enforcement officers. 
 
20 As part of its preparedness mission, Ready Houston produces “Run, Hide, Fight” videos, handouts, and trainings to promote 
preparedness among residents of the Houston region. These materials are not specific to a school setting but may still be helpful. 
These videos are not recommended for viewing by minors. All of these items are available free of charge, and many are available at 
http://www.readyhoustontx.gov/videos.html 
 
21 Occupants of both towers delayed initiating their evacuation after World Trade Center 1 was hit. In World Trade Center 1, the 
median time to initiate evacuation was 3 minutes for occupants from the ground floor to floor 76, and 5 minutes for occupants near 
the impact region (floors 77 to 91). See National Institute of Standards and Technology, 2005. Federal Building and Fire Safety 
Investigation of the World Trade Center Disaster Occupant Behavior, Egress, and Emergency Communications. Available at 
http://www.mingerfoundation.org/downloads/mobility/nist world trade center.pdf 
 
Procedures for Preventing Acts of Bullying and Cyber-bullying 
The Governing Board recognizes the harmful effects of bullying on student learning and school attendance and desires to provide a 
safe school environment that protects students from physical and emotional harm. District employees shall establish student safety 
as a high priority and shall not tolerate bullying of any student. 
No individual or group shall, through physical, written, verbal, or other means, harass, sexually harass, threaten, intimidate, 
retaliate, cyberbully, cause bodily injury to, or commit hate violence against any student or school personnel. 
(cf. 5131 - Conduct) 
(cf. 5136 - Gangs) 
(cf. 5145.3 - Nondiscrimination/Harassment) 
(cf. 5145.7 - Sexual Harassment) 
(cf. 5145.9 - Hate-Motivated Behavior) 
 
Cyberbullying includes the electronic creation or transmission of harassing communications, direct threats, or other harmful texts, 
sounds, or images as defined in Education Code 48900. Cyberbullying also includes breaking into another person's electronic account 
and assuming that person's identity in order to damage that person's reputation. 
(cf. 5145.2 - Freedom of Speech/Expression) 
(cf. 6163.4 - Student Use of Technology) 
 
Strategies for addressing bullying in district schools shall be developed with involvement of key stakeholders, including students, 
parents/guardians, and staff, and may be incorporated into the comprehensive safety plan, the local control and accountability plan, 
and other applicable district and school plans. 
 
(cf. 0420 - School Plans/Site Councils) 
(cf. 0450 - Comprehensive Safety Plan) 
(cf. 0460 - Local Control and Accountability Plan) 
(cf. 1220 - Citizen Advisory Committees) 
(cf. 6020 - Parent Involvement) 
 
As appropriate, the Superintendent or designee may collaborate with law enforcement, courts, social services, mental health 
services, other agencies, and community organizations in the development and implementation of joint strategies to promote safety 
in schools and the community and to provide services for alleged victims and perpetrators of bullying. 
(cf. 1020 - Youth Services) 
 
Bullying Prevention 

http://www.readyhoustontx.gov/videos.html
http://www.mingerfoundation.org/downloads/mobility/nist


 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 31 of 56 9/30/24 
 

To the extent possible, district schools shall focus on the prevention of bullying by establishing clear rules for student conduct and 
implementing strategies to promote a positive, collaborative school climate. Students shall be informed, through student handbooks 
and other appropriate means, of district and school rules related to bullying, mechanisms available for reporting incidents or threats, 
and the consequences for engaging in bullying. 
(cf. 5137 - Positive School Climate) 
 
As appropriate, the district shall provide students with instruction, in the classroom or other educational settings, that promotes 
social-emotional learning, effective communication and conflict resolution skills, character/values education, respect for cultural and 
individual differences, self-esteem development, assertiveness skills, and appropriate online behavior. 
(cf. 6142.8 - Comprehensive Health Education) 
(cf. 6142.94 - History-Social Science Instruction) 
 
Such instruction shall also educate students about the negative impact of bullying, discrimination, intimidation, and harassment 
based on actual or perceived immigration status, religious beliefs and customs, or any other individual bias or prejudice. 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall provide training to teachers and other school staff to raise their awareness about the legal 
obligation of the district and its employees to prevent discrimination, harassment, intimidation, and bullying of district students. 
 
Such training shall be designed to provide staff with the skills to: 
1. Discuss the diversity of the student body and school community, including their varying immigration experiences 
2. Discuss bullying prevention strategies with students, and teach students to recognize the behavior and characteristics of bullying 
perpetrators and victims 
3. Identify the signs of bullying or harassing behavior 
4. Take immediate corrective action when bullying is observed 
5. Report incidents to the appropriate authorities, including law enforcement in instances of criminal behavior 
(cf. 4131 - Staff Development) 
(cf. 4231 - Staff Development) 
(cf. 4331 - Staff Development) 
 
Based on an assessment of bullying incidents at school, the Superintendent or designee may increase supervision and security in 
areas where bullying most often occurs, such as classrooms, playgrounds, hallways, restrooms, and cafeterias. 
Intervention 
Students are encouraged to notify school staff when they are being bullied or suspect that another student is being victimized. In 
addition, the Superintendent or designee shall develop means for students to report threats or incidents confidentially and 
anonymously. 
School staff who witness an act of bullying shall immediately intervene to stop the incident when it is safe to do so. (Education Code 
234.1) 
 
When appropriate based on the severity or pervasiveness of the bullying, the Superintendent or designee shall notify the 
parents/guardians of victims and perpetrators and may contact law enforcement. 
The Superintendent, principal, or principal's designee may refer a victim, witness, perpetrator, or other student affected by an act of 
bullying to a school counselor, school psychologist, social worker, child welfare attendance personnel, school nurse, or other school 
support service personnel for case management, counseling, and/or participation in a restorative justice program as appropriate. 
(Education Code 48900.9) 
(cf. 6164.2 - Guidance/Counseling Services) 
 
Reporting and Filing of Complaints 
Any student, parent/guardian, or other individual who believes that a student has been subjected to bullying or who has witnessed 
bullying may report the incident to a teacher, the principal, a compliance officer, or any other available school employee. Within one 
business day of receiving such a report, a staff member shall notify the principal of the report, whether or not a uniform complaint is 
filed. In addition, any school employee who observes an incident of bullying involving a student shall, within one business day, 
report his/her observation to the principal or a district compliance officer, whether or not the alleged victim files a complaint. 
Within two business days of receiving a report of bullying, the principal shall notify a district compliance officer identified in AR 
1312.3. 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 32 of 56 9/30/24 
 

When the circumstances involve cyberbullying, individuals with information about the activity shall be encouraged to save and print 
any electronic or digital messages that they feel constitute cyberbullying and to notify a teacher, the principal, or other employee so 
that the matter may be investigated. When a student uses a social networking site or service to bully or harass another student, the 
Superintendent or designee may file a request with the networking site or service to suspend the privileges of the student and to 
have the material removed. 
 
When a report of bullying is submitted, the principal or a district compliance officer shall inform the student or parent/guardian of 
the right to file a formal written complaint in accordance with AR 1312.3. The student who is the alleged victim of the bullying shall 
be given an opportunity to describe the incident, identify witnesses who may have relevant information, and provide other evidence 
of bullying. 
 
Investigation and Resolution of Complaints 
Any complaint of bullying shall be investigated and, if determined to be discriminatory, resolved in accordance with law and the 
district's uniform complaint procedures specified in AR 1312.3. 
If, during the investigation, it is determined that a complaint is about nondiscriminatory bullying, the principal or designee shall 
inform the complainant and shall take all necessary actions to resolve the complaint. 
 
Discipline 
Corrective actions for a student who commits an act of bullying of any type may include counseling, behavioral intervention and 
education, and, if the behavior is severe or pervasive as defined in Education Code 48900, may include suspension or expulsion in 
accordance with district policies and regulations. 
(cf. 5138 - Conflict Resolution/Peer Mediation) 
(cf. 5144 - Discipline) 
(cf. 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process) 
(cf. 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Students with Disabilities)) 
(cf. 6159.4 - Behavioral Interventions for Special Education Students) 
 
Any employee who permits or engages in bullying or retaliation related to bullying shall be subject to disciplinary action, up to and 
including dismissal. 
(cf. 4117.3 - Dismissal) 
(cf. 4118 - Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
(cf. 4119.21/4219.21/4319.21 - Professional Standards) 
(cf. 4218 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action) 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 33 of 56 9/30/24 
 

 
Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures 
 
Education Code 32281 below describes participation of specific members of the school community in the writing and development 
of the Comprehensive School Safety Plan. 
 
Education Code 32281 
(a) Each school district and county office of education is responsible for the overall development of all comprehensive school safety 
plans for its schools operating kindergarten or any of grades 1 to 12, inclusive. 
(b) (1) Except as provided in subdivision (d) with regard to a small school district, the schoolsite council established pursuant to 
former Section 52012, as it existed before July 1, 2005, or Section 52852 shall write and develop a comprehensive school safety plan 
relevant to the needs and resources of that particular school. 
(2) The schoolsite council may delegate this responsibility to a school safety planning committee made up of the following members: 
 
(A) The principal or the principal’s designee. 
(B) One teacher who is a representative of the recognized certificated employee organization. 
(C) One parent whose child attends the school. 
(D) One classified employee who is a representative of the recognized classified employee organization. 
(E) Other members, if desired. 
(3) The schoolsite council shall consult with a representative from a law enforcement agency, a fire department, and other first 
responder entities in the writing and development of the comprehensive school safety plan. The comprehensive school safety plan 
and any updates to the plan shall be shared with the law enforcement agency, the fire department, and the other first responder 
entities. 
(4) In the absence of a schoolsite council, the members specified in paragraph (2) shall serve as the school safety planning 
committee. 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 34 of 56 9/30/24 
 

 
Safety Plan Appendices 
 
  



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 35 of 56 9/30/24 
 

 
Emergency Contact Numbers 
 
Utilities, Responders and Communication Resources 
 

Type Vendor Number Comments 

School District Lakeside Union School 
District 619-390-2600  

Law 
Enforcement/Fire/Paramed
ic 

Lakeside Substation 619-938-1360 858-565-5200 (Dispatch) 619-938-1360 
(Business) 

 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 36 of 56 9/30/24 
 

 
Safety Plan Review, Evaluation and Amendment Procedures 
 

Activity Description 
(i.e. review steps, meetings conducted, approvals, etc) Date and Time Attached Document 

(description and location) 
Reviewed safety plan with staff September 27, 2024 WG Staff Safety Plan 

Reviewed safety plan with fire marshal September 27, 2024  

Reviewed safety plan with law enforcement September 27, 2024  

 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 37 of 56 9/30/24 
 

 
Winter Gardens Elementary School Incident Command System 
 

--------     Incident Commander     

--------     John Greenwell--------     

--------           

--------   Safety Officer   Public Information Officer   

--------   

Carolyn Hood 
Frances Mendoza 

 
-------- 

  
Emily Okerlund 

Lei Li 
-------- 

  

--------           

--------   Scribe       

--------   Michelle Castrejon--------       

--------           

--------           

Operations ------- Planning/ 
Intelligence  Logistics  Finance/Administration 

Maria Arias-------- ------- Fabiola Benito--------  Anna Johnson--------  Michelle Castrejon-------- 

--------           

--------           

--------  First Aid & Search 
Teacher A        

--------  
Devonne Donahue 

Mariam Alverez 
-------- 

       

--------           

--------  
Student Release & 

Accountability 
TeacherB 

       



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 38 of 56 9/30/24 
 

--------  
Diego Guajardo 

Ishuan Wu 
-------- 

       

 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 39 of 56 9/30/24 
 

 
Incident Command Team Responsibilities 
 
Standardized Emergency Response Management System Overview 
The California Standardized Emergency Management System (SEMS) is designed to centralize and coordinate emergency response 
through the use of standardized terminology and processes. This greatly facilitates the flow of information and resources among the 
agencies participating in response to an emergency. SEMS consists of five functions: 
Site Incident Commander – responsible for overseeing onsite emergency operations. Responsible for keeping the Emergency 
 
Operations Center (Operations Section) briefed on a regular basis. Typically, also assumes responsibilities of the Safety Officer, 
Liaison Officer, and Public Information Officer duties 
Safety Officer - ensures all activities are conducted in as safe a manner as possible 
Public Information Officer – acts as official spokesperson for the site in an emergency situation, until the District’s Communications 
Officer is available 
 
Liaison Officer – serves as the point-of-contact for agencies outside of the District’s organization 
 
Operations Chief – manages direct response to the onsite emergency and report status to the Site Incident Commander 
Site Facility Check & Security – lead damage assessment, control utilities, restrict access to unsafe areas, and provide traffic control 
 
Search & Rescue Leader and Team – conduct search and rescue operations once accountability process has identified missing 
persons. It’s important that the Team Leader remain at the 
Site Command Post where communication with the Buddy Teams is maintained via walkie-talkie. 
 
First Aid & Medical Leader and Team – provide first aid and medical response including Critical Incident Stress 
 
Management (CISM). 
It’s important that the Team Leader remain at the Site Command Post where communication with the Buddy Teams is maintained 
via walkie-talkie. 
Assembly Area Leader – ensure the care and safety of all students, staff, and visitors during an on- or offsite evacuation (except 
those who are in the Medical Treatment Area) and relay information regarding attendance and other information pertaining to the 
well-being of the evacuees. 
Student/Parent Reunification 
Request Area – process requests by parents or authorized adults for release of students 
 
Release Gate – release student to parent or authorized adult 
 
Planning & Intelligence Chief – in charge of collection, evaluation and documentation of information about the incident 
 
Logistics Chief – provide facilities, services, staff, equipment and materials to support response – including food and transportation 
services 
 
Finance & Administration Chief – responsible for accountability of campus occupants (attendance) during an emergency, tracks 
purchases, staff hours and costs 
 
This Plan provides position guides for each of the above assignments. The ICT will report to the Site Incident Commander at the 
Incident Command Post. Any staff may be assigned to assist each of the above positions depending upon the circumstances and 
demands of the incident and care of the students and staff. 
The District’s Emergency Operations Center (EOC) may be activated to support onsite emergency operations. In the event that the 
District EOC is activated, the Site Incident Commander will establish communications and coordinate closely with the District EOC 
(Operations Section). 
 
 
Management 
During an emergency, the Incident Commander directs response actions from a designated Command Post. To effectively do this, 
the Incident Commander must constantly assess the situation, and develop and implement appropriate strategies. The Incident 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 40 of 56 9/30/24 
 

Commander must be familiar with the available resources, accurately document all response actions, and effectively communicate 
response strategies to others participating in the response. This function is typically filled by the school principal. The principal is 
assisted in carrying out this function by a Public Information & Liaison Officer and Safety Officer. 
 
Planning & Intelligence 
Planning and Intelligence involves the use of various methods to efficiently gather information, weigh and document the information 
for significance, and actively assess the status of the emergency. This understanding and knowledge about the situation at hand is 
vital to the effective management of a response. These activities are performed by a single person who reports directly to the 
Incident Commander. 
 
Operations 
All response actions are implemented under by Operations. This includes staff performing first aid, crisis intervention, search and 
rescue, site security, damage assessment, evacuations, and the release of students. 
 
Logistics 
Logistics supports the response by coordinating personnel; assembling and deploying volunteers; providing supplies, equipment, and 
services; and facilitating communications among emergency responders. 
 
Finance & Administration 
Finance & Administration involves the purchasing of all necessary materials, tracking financial records, timekeeping for emergency 
responders, and recovering school records following an emergency. These activities are performed by a single person who reports 
directly to the Incident Commander. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 41 of 56 9/30/24 
 

 
Emergency Response Guidelines 
 
Step One: Identify the Type of Emergency 
ON-SITE EVACUATION: Evacuation is implemented when conditions make it unsafe to remain inside the building(s). This action 
provides for the orderly movement of students and staff along prescribed routes from inside school buildings to a designated 
outside area of safety. Evacuation is considered appropriate for, but is not limited to, the following types of emergencies: Fire, 
Explosion or threat of explosion, Bomb threat, Post earthquake 
 
OFF-SITE EVACUATION is implemented when it is unsafe to remain on the school campus, and evacuation to an off-site assembly 
area is required. This action provides for the orderly movement of students and staff along prescribed routes from inside school 
buildings to a designated area of safety. Off-Site Evacuation is considered appropriate for, but is not limited to, the following types of 
emergencies: Fire, Explosion or threat of explosion, Bomb threat, Post earthquake, Chemical accident 
 
DUCK, COVER AND HOLD ON is the action taken during an earthquake to protect students and staff from flying and falling debris. 
DUCK, COVER AND HOLD ON is an appropriate action for use during an earthquake or explosion. Immediate EVACUATION and an 
emergency damage assessment must be performed prior to occupancy of any of the site’s buildings, following any event prompting 
the use of DUCK, COVER AND HOLD ON. 
 
SHELTER IN PLACE is implemented when there is a need to isolate students and staff from the outdoor environment to prevent 
exposure to airborne contaminants. The procedures include closing and sealing doors, windows and vents; shutting down the 
classroom/building heating, ventilation and air conditioning systems to prevent exposure to the outside air; and turning off pilot 
lights. SHELTER IN PLACE allows for the free movement of staff and students within the building, although one should not leave the 
room until further instructions are received. Those in bungalows and buildings with exterior passageways must remain in the 
classroom while SHELTER IN PLACE is instituted. It is appropriate for, but not limited to, gas leaks, external chemical release, dirty 
bombs and hazardous material spills. 
 
SECURE CAMPUS is implemented as a precautionary measure to ensure the safety of students and staff when there is danger in the 
surrounding community or a bomb threat is made against the school. Secure Campus requires that all students and staff take shelter 
in school buildings and lock all exterior doors. Classroom instruction and/or activity may continue as long as all classroom and office 
doors are locked and all students and staff remain inside through the duration of that event. The school perimeter should be 
secured. 
 
LOCKDOWN is initiated to isolate students and school staff from danger on or near the campus when movement within the school 
and within rooms on the campus might put students and staff in jeopardy. LOCKDOWN is used to prevent intruders from entering 
occupied areas of the buildings. 
Lock the doors; 
Close and lock windows, and close blinds or cover windows; 
Turn off lights; 
Silence all electronic devices; 
Remain silent; 
Use strategies to silently communicate with first responders if possible, 
Hide along the wall closest to the exit but out of the view from the hallway (allowing for an ambush of the intruder and for possible 
escape if the intruder enters the room); and 
Remain in place until the release from lockdown by school administration or evacuated by law enforcement. 
 
ALL CLEAR communicates to students and staff that the emergency is over and normal school operations can resume. 
 
 
 
Step Two: Identify the Level of Emergency 
 
 
 
Step Three: Determine the Immediate Response Action 
Evacuation - Fire Alarm (P.A. System) 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 42 of 56 9/30/24 
 

Duck, Cover, Hold On - P.A. System (n the case of earthquake, individuals should not wait for any notification to Duck, Cover and 
Hold On. ) 
Shelter-In-Place - P.A. System (If P.A. system is not working, use email or written notes to classes) 
Secure Campus - P.A. System 
Lockdown - P.A. System 
All-Clear - P.A. System 
 
 
 
Step Four: Communicate the Appropriate Response Action 
ALL CLEAR communicates to students and staff that the emergency is over and normal school operations can resume. 
emergency damage assessment is the inspection process used immediately following an emergency (typically will students and staff 
are under an EVACUATION order) to determine if it is safe to resume occupancy of school facilities. An emergency damage 
assessment should be performed following any event with the potential to cause damage school facilities or equipment. 
 
"LOCKDOWN is initiated to isolate students and school staff from danger on or near the campus when movement within the school 
and within rooms on the campus might put students and staff in jeopardy. LOCKDOWN is used to prevent intruders from entering 
occupied areas of the buildings. 
Lock the doors; 
Close and lock windows, and close blinds or cover windows; 
Turn off lights; 
Silence all electronic devices; 
Remain silent; 
Use strategies to silently communicate with first responders if possible, 
Hide along the wall closest to the exit but out of the view from the hallway (allowing for an ambush of the intruder and for possible 
escape if the intruder enters the room); and Remain in place until the release from lockdown by school administration or evacuated 
by law enforcement. " 
 
Secure Campus is implemented as a precautionary measure to ensure the safety of students and staff when there is danger in the 
surrounding community or a bomb threat is made against the school. Secure Campus requires that all students and staff take shelter 
in school buildings and lock all exterior doors. Classroom instruction and/or activity may continue as long as all classroom and office 
doors are locked and all students and staff remain inside through the duration of that event. The school perimeter should be 
secured. 
 
SHELTER IN PLACE is implemented when there is a need to isolate students and staff from the outdoor environment to prevent 
exposure to airborne contaminants. The procedures include closing and sealing doors, windows and vents; shutting down the 
classroom/building heating, ventilation and air conditioning systems to prevent exposure to the outside air; and turning off pilot 
lights. SHELTER IN PLACE allows for the free movement of staff and students within the building, although one should not leave the 
room until further instructions are received. Those in bungalows and buildings with exterior passageways must remain in the 
classroom while SHELTER IN PLACE is instituted. It is appropriate for, but not limited to, gas leaks, external chemical release, dirty 
bombs and hazardous material spills. 
"TAKE COVER is implemented when it is necessary to move to and take refuge in the best shielded areas within the school buildings. 
 
It is appropriate for, but not limited to, severe windstorms and tornados. 
Move students and staff into the school’s permanent buildings, on the ground floor. 
Group students/staff together at the furthest point away from windows on the floor. 
Face the wall with backs to the windows 
Crouch down on knees and elbows 
Hands covering the back of their head/neck 
If a tornado warning or potentially damaging windstorm occurs at dismissal, delay dismissal. 
An order to TAKE COVER should remain in place until the National Weather Service has lifted the warning. " 
 
DUCK, COVER AND HOLD ON is the action taken during an earthquake to protect students and staff from flying and falling debris. 
DUCK, COVER AND HOLD ON is an appropriate action for use during an earthquake or explosion. Immediate EVACUATION and an 
emergency damage assessment must be performed prior to occupancy of any of the site’s buildings, following any event prompting 
the use of DUCK, COVER AND HOLD ON. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 43 of 56 9/30/24 
 

 
EVACUATION is implemented when conditions make it unsafe to remain inside the building(s). This action provides for the orderly 
movement of students and staff along prescribed routes from inside school buildings to a designated outside area of safety. 
 
OFF-SITE EVACUATION is implemented when it is unsafe to remain on the school campus, and evacuation to an off-site assembly 
area is required. This action provides for the orderly movement of students and staff along prescribed routes from inside school 
buildings to a designated area of safety off campus. In some situations OFF-SITE EVACUATION may require the use of busing. 
Structured Reunification should be used following any OFF-SITE EVACUATION. 
 
EARLY RELEASE Certain situations may require releasing students from school at a time when parents expect their children to be at 
the school site. EARLY RELEASE may be implemented when circumstances make keeping students at school inadvisable. EARLY 
RELEASE must be authorized by the district superintendent or designee. During an EARLY RELEASE, students follow normal dismissal 
procedures. 
"Structured Reunification is the process used to reunify children with their parents, guardians or caregivers, following a school 
emergency. Regular dismissal procedures are not followed. Structured Reunification requires: 
Maintaining accurate information on the location of each child. 
Preventing unauthorized individuals from having access to or removing children. 
Verifying the identity of individuals coming to take custody of children. 
Verifying each individual has the legal right to take custody the child for which they have asked. 
Keeping record of who each student is released to, the method used to verify their identity and the time of the pick-up. 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 44 of 56 9/30/24 
 

 
Types of Emergencies & Specific Procedures 
 
Armed Assault on Campus 
Lockdown: Active Shooter 
An Active shooter/Lockdown Alert is sounded if there is a sniper, armed intruder or active shooter on campus. Staff members have a 
very limited amount of time in which to commit to a course of action. Immediately assess both the situation and the surrounding 
environment and responds to the situation based upon the Active shooter Training and drills. This is also true for your students who 
may need to become resources for substitutes or who are alone when an event occurs. 
 
Remember, the Active shooter response is a partnership with local law enforcement. 
 
Immediate actions should include: 
 
Students and staff go into classrooms/buildings or run to off-site evacuation areas. 
LOCKDOWN includes building door barricades, internal barricades, covering windows and turning off/dimming lights. 
Notify administration 
Call 9-1-1 if you know the location of the shooter, the description or identity of the shooter or if you need medical direction for a 
victim. 
Administration notifies the Superintendent 
 
Intermediate activities: 
 
Place a red card under the door/in a window if you have a serious injury in the classroom. 
Take roll 
Conduct anxiety-reducing activities 
 
Evacuation: 
 
Prepare students and yourself for a quick evacuation 
Follow directions of law enforcement when they arrive 
 
 
Biological or Chemical Release 
Poisoning, Chemical Spills, Hazardous Materials 
POISONING: 
 
If a student ingests a poisonous substance: 
 
Call Poison Control Center Link Line 1-800-222-1222. Take appropriate first aid measures. Call parents. 
Notify the Health Services Office. 
 
Following any emergency, notify the District Superintendents' Office 
 
CHEMICAL SPILL ON SITE: 
 
The following are guidelines for Chemical Spills: 
 
Evacuate the immediate area of personnel 
Determine whether to initiate Shelter In Place Protocol 
Secure the area (block points of entry) 
Identify the chemical and follow the procedures for that particular chemical. Notify the District Office. 
 
CHEMICAL SPILL OFF SITE INVOLVING DISTRICT EQUIPMENT/PROPERTY 
 
 Notify the Todd Owens with the following information: 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 45 of 56 9/30/24 
 

• Date, time, and exact location of the release or threatened release 
• Name and telephone number of person reporting 
• Type of chemical involved and the estimated quantity 
• Description of potential hazards presented by the spill 
• Document time and date notification made 
• Other emergency personnel responding (Highway Patrol, CALTRANS, etc.) 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 46 of 56 9/30/24 
 

Locate a fire extinguisher and have present, should the need arise 
Place reflective triangles or traffic cones if in street or highway. DO NOT LIGHT FLARES! 
If spill response equipment is available use it to take the necessary measures to prevent the spill from spreading. 
 
Reporting Chemical Spills 
 
Once an emergency spill response has been completed, the person reporting the initial spill must complete a SPILL RESPONSE 
EVALUATION. The incident must be reported to the Superintendent WITHIN 24 HOURS OF THE SPILL. 
 
Spill Clean Up 
 
Chemical Spills may not be cleaned up by school personnel. Call the District Office at [Insert District Office Contact Name] and [Insert 
District Office Phone Number]. The cleanup will be coordinated through a designated contractor. 
 
HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES 
 
Hazardous Substances include the following, but is not limited to the following: 
 
Gasoline 
Solvents 
Motor Oil 
Diesel Fuel 
Kerosene 
Anti-Freeze 
Airborne Gases/Fumes 
Lacquer Thinner 
Paint 
Agricultural Spray 
Paint Thinner 
Stain 
Brake Fluid 
 
Always call for assistance and: 
 
Extinguish all ignition sources 
Shut off main emergency switch to fuel pump, if appropriate 
Move appropriate fire extinguishing equipment to area 
If possible, contain the spill to prevent further contamination 
Move people/personnel away or evacuate from contamination area 
 
If the spill is too great to handle, contact the District Office Todd Owens and (619) 390-2800 . 
 
Staff and students will evacuate the area immediately, if appropriate. Move uphill, upwind, upstream if possible. 
 
VEHICLE FUEL SPILL 
 
When a spill has occurred, the first thing to do is to keep the situation from worsening. Follow these steps: 
 
Shut off emergency switch 
Avoid skin contact 
Isolate the spill from people and vehicles by blocking all points of entry 
Stop and evaluate any hazards 
Prevent discharge into storm drains. Divert the flow by sealing off areas with absorbents. Prevent runoff. Use absorbent "socks" or 
"booms" to contain the spill 
Identify the source, estimated quantity spilled and stop further release(s) - IF IT CAN BE DONE 
SAFELY 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 47 of 56 9/30/24 
 

Take care of any injured Notify the District Office. 
If the spill is unmanageable, contact the Fire Department by calling 9-1-1 
 
If, after attempted containment, the release still poses either a present or a potential threat, notify the California Office of 
Emergency Services and local emergency assistance organizations (fire, police, etc.). Give the following information: 
 
Date, time, and exact location of the release 
Name and telephone number of persons reporting the release 
The type of fuel spilled and the estimated quantity 
Description of potential hazards presented by the fuel spill 
Document the time and date notification was made and the information provided 
A written report to the appropriate office of the California Department of Health Services is required within 15 days after the 
incident. Contact the District for assistance with this report. 
 
Bio Terrorism 
Anthrax Threat 
 
How to identify suspicious letters or packages 
 
Some characteristics of suspicious letters or packages include the following: 
 
Excessive postage 
Handwritten or poorly typed addresses 
Incorrect titles 
Title, but no name 
Misspellings of common words 
Oily stains, discolorations or odors 
No return address 
Excessive weight 
Lopsided or uneven envelop 
Protruding wires or aluminum foil 
Excessive security material such as masking tape, string, etc. 
Visual distractions 
Ticking sound 
Marked with restrictive endorsements, such as "Personal" or "Confidential." Shows a city or state in the postmark that does not 
match the return address. 
 
Suspicious unopened letter or package marked with threatening message such as "Anthrax" 
 
Do not shake or empty the contents of any suspicious envelop or package. 
Place the envelope or package in a plastic bag or some other type of container to prevent leakage of contents. 
If you do not have any container, then cover the envelope or package with anything (e.g., clothing, paper, trash can, etc.) and do not 
remove this cover. 
Then leave the room and close the door, or section off the area to prevent others from entering. 
Wash your hands with soap and water to prevent spreading any powder to your face. 
If you are at home, report the incident to the local police. If you are at work, report the incident to the local police and your site 
administrator. 
List all people who were in the room or area when this suspicious letter or package was recognized. Give the list to both the local 
public health authorities and law enforcement officials for follow-up investigations and advice. 
 
Envelope with powder or powder spills out onto a surface 
 
Do not try to clean up the powder. Cover the spilled contents immediately with anything and do not remove this cover. 
Leave the room and close the door or section off the area to prevent others from entering. 
Wash your hands with soap and water to prevent spreading any powder to your face. 
If you are at home, CALL 9-1-1 to report the incident. If you are at work, CALL 9-1-1 and your site administrator to report the 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 48 of 56 9/30/24 
 

incident. 
Remove heavily contaminated clothing as soon as possible and place in a plastic bag, or some other container that can be sealed. 
The clothing bag should be given to the emergency responders for proper disposal. 
Shower with soap and water as soon as possible. Do not use bleach or other disinfectant on your skin. If possible, list all people who 
were in the room or area, especially those who had actual contact with the powder. Give the list to both the local police and public 
health authorities so that proper instructions can be given for medical follow-up and further investigation. 
 
Possible room contamination by aerosol 
 
(Examples: small devices triggered warning that air handling systems is contaminated, or warning that a biological agent is released 
in a public space.) 
 
Turn off local fans or ventilation units in the area. 
Leave the area immediately. 
Close the door or section off the area to prevent others from entering. 
Move upwind, uphill, upstream. 
If you are at home, report the incident to the local police. If you are at work, report the incident to the local police and your site 
administrator. 
Shut down air handling systems in the building if possible. 
If possible, list all people who were in the room or area, especially those who had actual contact with the powder. Give the list to 
both the local police and public health authorities so that proper instructions can be given for medical follow-up and further 
investigation. 
 
DO NOT PANIC 
 
Anthrax organisms can cause infection in the skin, gastrointestinal system, or the lungs. In order for this to happen, the organism 
must be rubbed into abraded skin, swallowed, or inhaled as a fine, aerosolized mist. Disease can be prevented after exposure to the 
anthrax spores by early treatment with the appropriate antibiotics. Anthrax is not spread from one person to another person. 
 
For anthrax to be effective as a covert agent, it must be aerosolized into very small particles. This is difficult to do and requires a 
great deal of technical skill and special equipment. If these small particles are inhaled, life threatening lung infection can occur, but 
prompt recognition and treatment are effective. 
 
Botulism 
 
Botulism infection is extremely rare, with fewer than 200 cases reported in the U.S. each year. There are two forms of botulism 
which are associated with a terrorist act: 
 
Food Borne Botulism 
 
The bacterium is ingested with the contaminated food source. 
 
Symptoms begin within 6 hours to 2 weeks, but most commonly between 12 to 36 hours after eating contaminated foods. 
 
Double or blurred vision, drooping eyelids, slurred speck, difficulty swallowing, dry mouth, and a descending muscle weakness that 
affects the shoulders first, then upper arms, lower arms, thighs, calves, etc. 
 
These symptoms may be proceeded by gastrointestinal disorder such as abdominal cramps, nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea. 
Paralysis of the respiratory muscles will cause death unless the person is assisted by mechanical ventilation. Botulism toxin can occur 
naturally in undercooked food, but the frequency of this is extremely rare. 
 
Inhalational Botulism 
 
Inhalation botulism results from the inhalation of the aerosolized toxin. A small amount of aerosolized toxin released into the wind 
can have a devastating effect on the surrounding population. Notwithstanding, inhalational botulism could be inflicted upon a more 
limited number of victims by introducing a contaminated object into an enclosed area such as inside of a building. The symptoms are 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 49 of 56 9/30/24 
 

indistinguishable from those of food borne botulism, except that the gastrointestinal signs sometimes associated with food borne 
botulism may not occur. 
 
Botulism cannot be transmitted from one person to another. There is no vaccine for botulism treatment at this time. However, 
treatment consists of passive immunization with equine anti-toxins and supportive patient care. 
 
Smallpox 
 
Smallpox infection results from the variola virus. The disease was once worldwide in scope. Before people were vaccinated, almost 
everyone contracted the disease. The virus was effectively eradicated from the world in the late 1970's, and the World Health 
Organization recommended governments cease routine vaccinations in 1980. 
 
Vaccination has proven effective in preventing the disease in exposed persons if administered within 4 days of exposure. 
 
Smallpox is a highly contagious infectious disease that has a mortality rate of about 30%. Since the 
discontinuation of vaccination in the early 1980's, virtually no one is protected against the disease today. The U.S. government is 
currently working to address the need for vaccinations. There is no proven treatment should infection occur.  
 
Immunization and Mass Prophylaxis Pandemic and Bio Terrorism 
This Bio-Terrorism Support Plan (Plan) provides basic steps to guide designated Lakeside Union School District County Public Health 
Department, City of Lakeside and Health Services school district officials in establishing middle and high schools as immunization 
centers (mass prophylaxis centers) contingent upon a Memorandum of Understanding being signed. 
 
This Plan is a living document subject to periodic revisions when needed. 
 
In the event of a bio-terrorism outbreak and based upon the Metropolitan Medical Response Plan, local officials will have 
determined which areas within the city to be quarantined, hot and cold zones. A quarantined area is defined as a specified area 
where isolation is enforced. A hot zone is defined as a contaminated area. A cold zone is an unaffected area. 
 
Once the situation has been assessed and Public Health identifies the need to open an immunization center (mass prophylaxis 
center), then Public Health will contact the city. Subsequently, the City will contact the school district emergency contact to begin 
the process of coordinating the opening of an immunization center (mass prophylaxis center). 
 
Preparedness Steps 
 
The following provides guidelines for school district management in preparing, in advance, issues that need to be addressed during 
non-emergency times to ensure school district and school site readiness. 
Statement of Agreement signed by San Diego County Public Health Department, City and school district 
Examine the Public Health Department's Liability Coverage for using school district sites as mass prophylaxis centers. 
Establish that the City will provide security for the school district site 
Define how long the Immunization center (mass prophylaxis center) can be open and what type of furnishings are needed for the 
center. 
Ensure a manager is provided by the Public Health Department to oversee center operations Identify the need to train site personnel 
in administering inoculations and agree upon how these 
individuals will be compensated for their time by the Public Health Department Establish who will be responsible for clean up 
 
Public Health Department contacts City OES who then initiates contact with appropriate School district authorized contact (see 
emergency contact list for school district) 
 
1) Superintendent's Office: Lisa DeRosier  
 
2) School District Security: Todd Owens  
 
3) Custodial Services or Facilities: Todd Owens  
 
The City OES informs Police Department that authorization has been given to open the appropriate site(s). Only gymnasiums will be 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 50 of 56 9/30/24 
 

utilized. The school district official then follows the guidelines shown below: 
 
Authorized school official contact will inform Superintendent or designee of the opening of the school site(s) as an immunization 
center (mass prophylaxis center). 
If school is not in session or if mass prophylaxis center opening occurs after hours, school site personnel or authorized City Police 
Department will be present to actually unlock the site for Public Health Department 
Establish that the City will provide security for the school district site 
Contact principal of the school site being converted into an immunization center (mass prophylaxis center) 
Prior to turning school site over to the Public Health Department as a mass prophylaxis center, school site personnel will: 

• Perform a site check to record current condition of the area to be used as an immunization center (mass prophylaxis 
center) 

• Inventory usable materials within the center's designated area (see Site Inventory form in this section), i.e. toilet tissues, 
paper towels, soap 

• Ensure all other areas of the school site are not accessible to mass prophylaxis center personnel or public 
SCHOOL DISTRICT site personnel will unlock the school site upon arrival of Public Health Department and their staff 
 
Closing the Center 
 
Upon closing of the center, the Public Health Department ensures the site is secure and center manager has tracked school supplies 
and materials used. 
 
School site personnel compares supplies and materials used, physical property loss and damages 
Both Public Health Department City and school site personnel inspect shelter site for -Material and supplies used 

• Property loss 
• Property damage 

When inspection is completed, school site personnel gives Business Services Department a report of materials used and property 
damaged/loss (photograph) 
Business Services 

• Gives property loss/damage to Risk Management to determine cost of property loss and repair costs 
• Formalizes letter Public Health Department to file a claim covering loss and material usage 

 
 
 
Bomb Threat/ Threat Of violence 
Bomb Threat 
THE PERSON RECEIVING THE BOMB THREAT WILL: 
 
Attempt to gain as much information as possible when the threat is received. Do not hang up on the caller. 
Use the "bomb threat checklist" form (attached) as a guide to collect the information needed. Don't be bashful about asking direct, 
specific questions about the threat. Keep the caller on the phone as long as possible. If the threat is received by phone, attempt to 
gain more information. 
The most important information is: 
When will the bomb explode and where is the bomb located? 
Immediately after receiving the bomb threat, the person receiving the call will verbally notify the building administrator of the threat 
received. Complete the "bomb threat checklist" form (attached). Turn off cellular phones and/or walkie-talkie radios (transmits radio 
waves--could trigger a bomb). 
 
BUILDING ADMINISTRATOR WILL (IF NECESSARY): 
 
 Call 9-1-1. Give the following information: 

• Your name -Your call-back phone number 
• Exact street location with the nearest cross street 
• Nature of incident 
• Number and location of people involved and/or injured Notify Superintendent's Office. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 51 of 56 9/30/24 
 

Evacuate involved buildings using fire drill procedures. Principal must have Superintendent's permission to evacuate the entire site. 
Implement a systematic inspection of the facilities to determine if everyone is out. 
Fire Department or Police Officers shall organize a search team to check for suspicious objects; a bomb can be disguised to look like 
any common object. Site employees should be ready to assist as needed. 
Maintain an open telephone line for communications. 
Secure all exits to prevent re-entry to buildings during the search period. 
Be certain people stay clear of all buildings; a bomb(s) may be planted against an outside wall. The blast will be directed in large part 
away from the building. Re-occupy buildings only when proper authorities give clearance 
 
 
 
Earthquake 
B. Earthquake: Drop, Cover, and Hold 
Earthquake procedures in the classroom or office 
 
At the first indication of ground movement, you should DROP to the ground. It will soon be impossible to stand upright during the 
earthquake. Getting to the ground will prevent being thrown to the ground. 
 
You should seek protective COVER under or near desks, tables, or chairs in a kneeling or sitting position. 
 
You should HOLD onto the table or chair legs. Holding onto the legs will prevent it from moving away from you during the quake. 
Protect your eyes from flying glass and debris with your arm covering your eyes. 
 
You should remain in the DROP position until ground movement ends. Be prepared to DROP, COVER and HOLD during aftershocks. 
 
After ground movement ends, check for injuries and safely evacuate the building. Move to a safe, open area, away from power lines 
and other overhead hazards. 
 
Earthquake procedures in other parts of the building 
 
At the first indication of ground movement, you should DROP to the ground. 
 
Take COVER under any available desk, table, or bench. If in a hallway, drop next to an inside wall in a kneeling position and cover the 
back of the neck with your hands. 
 
After ground movement ends, check for injuries and safely evacuate the building. Move to a safe, open area, away from power lines 
and other overhead hazards. 
 
Earthquake procedures while outside 
 
At the first indication of ground movement, move away from overhead hazards such as power lines, trees, and buildings. DROP to 
the ground and COVER the back of the neck with your hands. Be aware of aftershocks. Do not enter buildings until it is determined 
safe to do so. 
 
If walking to or from school, DO NOT RUN. Stay in the open. If the student is going to school, continue to the school. If going home, 
the student should continue to home. 
 
While in a vehicle or school bus, pull over to the side of the road and stop. If on a bridge, overpass, or under power lines, continue 
on until the vehicle is away from the overhead dangers. Wait until the ground movement stops and check for injuries. Be aware of 
aftershocks, downed wires, or roads blocked by debris. The Bus Driver is legally responsible for the welfare of student riders. 
 
 
Fire in Surrounding Area 
Fire Near School 
 
The Principal or designee shall: 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 52 of 56 9/30/24 
 

 
Determine the need to execute an evacuation if nearby fire poses an immediate threat to the students or the building. 
Notify the Fire Department by calling 911. 
Notify the Superintendent's office. 
Notify students and staff when it is safe to return to the school site under the direction of the Fire Department and in consultation 
with the Superintendent or designee. 
 
 
 
Fire on School Grounds 
Fire 
All classrooms and offices shall have an Emergency Exit sign and Evacuation Chart posted in a prominent location. 
 
Fire Within A School Building: 
 
In the event that a fire is detected within a school building, use the following procedures: 
 
 The Principal or Designee will: 

• Order an evacuation if the fire alarm doesn't work 
• Call 9-1-1 
• Notify the superintendent 

Teachers will supervise the evacuation of the classrooms to the designated areas according to the Emergency Exit Plan posted in 
every classroom and office. 
Teachers will close doors upon evacuating. 
Teachers will take their roll books to the evacuation site and take roll. Teachers will report any missing student(s) to their Team 
Supervisor/Administrator. 
Search and rescue teams will assist any child or adult with mobility issues. 
The Head Custodian or designees shall assist by shutting off gas valves, electricity, etc., or other if necessary for evacuating, putting 
out the fire, etc. 
The Head Custodian or designee shall open necessary gates for fire truck and other emergency vehicle access when appropriate. The 
Head Custodian or designee will also keep access entrances open for emergency vehicles. 
 Notify students and staff when it is safe to return to the school site under the direction of the Fire Department and in consultation 
with the Superintendent or designee. 
 
 
Loss or Failure Of Utilities 
Power Outage/Rolling Blackouts 
IT IS THE DISTRICT'S INTENT THAT SCHOOLS WILL REMAIN OPEN DURING A POWER OUTAGE. 
 
There are several stages of alerts that are being broadcast over the radio: 
 
STAGE 1 EMERGENCY indicates that the operating reserves in the real time market are forecasted to be less than the California 
Independent System Operator (CAISO) Minimum Operating Reserves criteria. 
STAGE 2 EMERGENCY indicates that the operating reserves in the real time market are forecasted to be less than five (5) percent. 
STAGE 3 EMERGENCY indicates that the operating reserves in the real time market are forecasted to be less than 1.5 percent. 
 
If the district is notified of a STAGE 3 EMERGENCY, possible-affected sites will be contacted as soon as practicable. Once notified, 
turn off PCs, monitors, printers, copiers, and lights when not in use or not needed. If you cannot turn off the whole computer, turn 
off the monitor and the printer. Shut off lights in unoccupied rooms. In spite of everyone's best effort to communicate, it is possible 
that an outage will occur with no notice to the district. To keep abreast of the daily situation, listen to 740AM (KCBS) radio station as 
you are driving into work for the status of the day. 
 
PREPARING FOR AN OUTAGE 
 
Update each student's emergency card. 
Determine availability of portable lighting at site, i.e. flashlights & batteries. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 53 of 56 9/30/24 
 

Find out that when power is lost, do emergency lights go on and do the "Exit" signs remain lit? 
Clear away materials and boxes from hallways and pathways. 
Check school district's PG&E Block list to determine in which PG&E block your site is located. As a note, Block 50's power will not be 
interrupted. 
Ask your teachers to have alternative teaching methods and plans to be used at STAGE 3 only. Conduct a survey of your site for the 
classrooms and offices with no windows and prepare relocation plans. 
Plan alternative communication methods that suit your site, such as runners, cell phones, or radios. Develop a site plan such as a 
buddy system or chaperone, for restrooms or any other necessary leave during this period. 
Have flashlights & replacement batteries available for the restrooms and other locations with no windows. 
Ask your staff and students to have seasonal warm clothing available. 
Use surge protectors for all computer equipment, major appliances and electronic devices. If you have electric smoke detectors, use 
a battery-powered smoke detector as a backup. 
 
DURING AN OUTAGE 
 
CONTACT MAINTENANCE & OPERTIONS IMMEDIATELY IF YOUR SITE IS EXPERIENCING A BLACKOUT. 
According to SBC (Telephone Company), phones connected directly to a phone jack will be operable. 
Phones that require power from an electrical outlet will not work. 
If an outage lasts more than 30 minutes, have pre-designated people walk through the campus and check on the status of 
individuals in each building. 
Use a buddy system when going to the restrooms. 
DO NOT USE barbecues, Coleman-type stoves, hibachis and other outdoor-cooking devices indoors. 
DO NOT USE candles or gas lanterns. 
Turn off PCs, monitors, printers, copiers, major appliances and lights when not in use or not needed. If you cannot turn off the whole 
computer, turn off the monitor and the printer. Shut off lights in unoccupied rooms. 
 
The rolling outages should not last more than two hours, and, with some preparation, business can be conducted as close to normal 
as possible. 
 
If a power outage is prolonged, the principal should contact the Superintendent for directions (release students/staff, evacuation to 
another site, etc.). 
 
 
 
Psychological Trauma 
It is critical to provide a mental health response for students, staff and parents after a crisis that has impacted a school. Often, this 
can be provided by district or local community resources. 
 
Victims of a crisis experience a real need to return to normal, but normal as they once knew it is forever gone and changed. 
Counselors and crisis survivors find the concept of a "new normal" to be very reassuring and accurate. 
 
One of the most important actions is simply to listen and allow victims to express his/her own needs and feelings. Encouragement 
and support, while avoiding judgmental remarks, is the goal. 
 
When the needs of the victims exceed the immediate resources available to the school, San Diego County Mental Health and the 
agencies working under its umbrella is available to support schools. 
 
Numerous agencies under the San Diego County Mental Health Department umbrella currently provide ongoing mental health 
services to students and families both at schools and within the neighborhood communities. These services are provided by licensed 
therapists, social workers or supervised interns. The services typically involve a one-on-one or family-oriented approach requiring a 
different skill set than an emergency mental health response to a community or school crisis. 
 
JOINT PROTOCOLS: 
 
To best prepare for and manage the mental health recovery phase within the San Diego  County though Memorandums of 
Understanding with agencies who would provide crisis responses. The M.O.U. would include the followings: 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 54 of 56 9/30/24 
 

 
Schools and/or school districts require, as part of their Memorandums of Understanding with agencies and/or universities, all 
interns, therapists and mental health workers complete a crisis response training with the San Diego  County Mental Health 
Department before reporting to their assigned campuses.   In the event of a major crisis at a school site, or multiple school sites, the 
school district will determine if additional mental health support is required or anticipated. The District or School Logistics Officer or 
designee can notify the Ethnic Population Services Specialist at the San Diego  County Mental Health Department. A licensed mental 
health representative will immediately be sent to the incident location to conduct an initial assessment and make recommendations 
to the school/district and Mental Health Department and its partnering agencies as to the requirements for a responding mental 
health team(s). 
The lead supervisor will work in concert with the school/district representative to help identify appropriate teams/agencies that can 
best address the needs of students, staff and families. 
The lead supervisor will work in concert with the school/district representative to ensure that teams have the correct credentials, 
provide appropriate triage services that do not compromise police/fire investigations and are rotated to avoid fatigue. 
In police, fire or district debriefings with school staff, parents and impacted students, a representative from the San Diego  County 
Mental Health Department or one of the partnering agencies will be in attendance in order to make referrals for support services as 
required by the attendees. 
In keeping with research on the predictable response to crisis situations, call center numbers will be provided in order that members 
of the community can access necessary support in the days, weeks and months beyond the event. 
 
 
Tactical Responses to Criminal Incidents 
Shelter-In-Place 
Shelter in Place may be directed should there be a danger in the community that could present a danger to the school community or 
a situation at the school that could harm students or staff if they are outdoors. Incidents could include gas leaks, chemical spills, 
mountain lions or a predator in the neighborhood. 
 
When instructed or when an alerting system triggers a Shelter in Place: 
 
 SHELTER. Go inside the nearest building or classroom and remain there. Lock the door. You are looking for enclosed protection from 
the outside. Teachers should quickly check halls and get students into classrooms. Teachers will keep all students in the classroom 
until the emergency is resolved or directed to evacuate by the Principal and/or Public Safety Responders. 
SHUT. Close all doors and windows. The tighter and more complete the seal the better. Close as many windows and doors between 
the outside and your shelter-in-place room as possible. 
LISTEN. Remain quiet to hear critical instructions from school officials. 

• If there is no direction, continue instructional/work activities until the situation resolves or you directed to do otherwise. 
 
ADDITIONAL STEPS FOR TEACHERS AND STAFF IF APPROPRIATE: 
 
Advise students to cover mouth and nose with a damp cloth or handkerchief to protect from any airborne hazards. 
A school official (or student if no official present) should close all vents and turn off ventilation systems. The goal is to keep inside air 
in and outside air out. Air conditioners and heating systems bring outside air in. 
Turn off all motors and fans. Still, non-moving air is best. Turn off anything that creates wind, generates extra heat, or could 
generate sparks. 
Advise students to remain sheltered until the "all-clear" signal is given by a school or local official. 
 
Intruder on Campus 
The campus intruder is defined as a non-student or a student on suspension who loiters or creates disturbances on school property. 
Intruders are committing the crime of Criminal Trespass. Dangerous and/or concealed weapons are forbidden on school premises 
unless carried by law enforcement officers. 
 
Low Level: 
Have the person(s) under suspicion kept under constant covert surveillance. 
Approach and greet the intruder in a polite and non-threatening manner. 
Identify yourself as a school official. 
Ask the intruder for identification. 
Ask them what their purpose is for being on campus. 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 55 of 56 9/30/24 
 

Advise intruder of the trespass laws. 
Ask the intruder to quietly leave the campus or invite him/her to accompany you to the office. If the intruder refuses to respond to 
your requests, inform him/her of your intention to summon law enforcement officers. 
If the intruder gives no indication of voluntarily leaving the premises, notify Police and Administration.  
H. Hostage Situation 
Staff and students should sit quietly if the situation is in their presence. TRY to remain calm. Staff should set the example if the 
armed intruder is in their presence by doing anything possible for the staff member and students to survive. If gun fire starts, staff 
and students should seek cover or begin rapid movement procedures. 
 
 Do not engage in a conversation or try to persuade the intruder to leave your classroom or school. Remember, you are in an illogical 
situation, so any logical argument may go unheard. The intruder is probably aware of the potential danger that he/she would be 
facing if he/she left the classroom. The intruder may perceive himself/herself as being sane. 
 If the intruder speaks to you or to your students, then answer him or her. Do not provoke him or her. Don't try to take matters into 
your own hands. Students should be told not to whisper to one-another, laugh, or to make fun of the intruder. Remember, the 
intruder is disturbed and probably mentally ill, and more than likely paranoid. Any whispering or laughter may be perceived by the 
intruder as directed at him or her. 
 Students should be taught to respond on their own when threatened. Incidents can occur which leave no time for signals. If 
students are outside unable to find access a room, they should, depending on the situation, initiate Action "TAKE COVER" position or 
run in a zig-zag fashion to the staging areas and 
STAY CALM. 
 If and when possible, call Administration and/or 9-1-1.  
 
Emergency Evacuation Procedures 
In an Emergency Building Evacuation all employees will: 
 
Upon emergency alert, secure work area and depart/report to assigned area. 
Perform duties as pre-assigned by the Principal in cooperation with emergency services personnel. 
DO NOT re-enter the building without permission or request of emergency service authorities. 
Remain in the general assembly areas and calm students if not assigned another duty. 
When signaled to re-enter safe areas of the school, quickly do so. 
Upon safe re-entry, report anything amiss to the Operations Chief. 
 
In an Emergency Building Evacuation teachers will also: 
 
Upon alert, assemble students for evacuation using designated routes and account for all students. 
Secure room. 
If possible, leave a note on the door advising where the class evacuated to if other than the standard assembly area. 
Upon arrival at the assembly area, account for all students. 
Secure medical treatment for injured students. 
Report any students missing or left behind because of serious injuries. 
Stay with and calm students. 
If signaled to re-enter school, assure students do so quickly and calmly. Account for all students. 
Check room and report anything amiss to the Team Leader and/or Operations Chief. Debrief students to calm fears about the 
evacuation. 
 
Emergency Campus Evacuation 
 
If it is necessary to evacuate the entire campus to another school or relief center, the Principal will: 
 
Notify the Superintendent of the Campus Evacuation. 
Cooperate with emergency authorities in enlisting students/staff with cars to help transport evacuees. Direct the evacuation, assure 
all students/staff are accounted for as they depart and arrive. 
 



 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 56 of 56 9/30/24 
 

 
Emergency Evacuation Map 
 






















































































































































	10.10.24 LUSD Board Packet.pdf
	10.10.24 Agenda
	10.10.24 Board Packet
	Public Hearing-Textbooks
	Resolution 2025-06 Sufficiency of Inst. Materials
	**Sept. 12, 2024 Minutes
	**Sept. 16, 2024 Minutes
	Resolution 2025-07-CSPP State Preschool Contract
	Resolution 2025-05 Red Ribbon Week
	Personnel Assignment Order 2025-05
	Commericial Warrant List
	Revolving Cash Register
	Purchase Order-Change Order Listing
	Pcard Report
	Resolution 2025-04-Gold Star Foods
	American Produce Award
	AMS Change Order-Credit
	GEM Change Order-Technology Building
	GEM Change Order-Lakeside Farms-ESS
	GEM Change Order-Lakeview ESS
	GEM Change Order TDS Fence Project 
	GEM Change Order Central Kitchen 
	Settlement Agreement
	Climatec Final Completion
	Contracts 2024-25
	Out of County Field Trip-Knotts Berry Farm
	Approval of SPSA 2024-25
	Approval of CSSP 2024-25 
	**CSSP DREAM 
	**CSSP Lakeside Farms
	**CSSP Lakeview
	**CSSP Lemon Crest
	**CSSP Lindo Park
	**CSSP LMS
	**CSSP Riverview
	**CSSP TDS
	**CSSP Winter Gardens
	Adoption BP/AR 4030
	Adoption BP/AR 4119.11/4219/11/43119/11
	Enrollment Report Month 1
	2nd Reading BP 4033: Lactation
	2nd Reading AR and Exhibit 4119.12: Title IX Sex Discrimination Procedures
	1st Reading BP/AR 1114: Social Media
	1st Reading AR 3580: District Records
	1st Reading BP 6158: Independent Study





